Editors



Dr. Raj Bahadur, Professor, has guided more than twenty two M. Sc. (Ag.) and one Ph. D. (Crop Physiology) students and actively involved in teaching and research work. He has published more than fifty five research papers in reputed national and International Journals, twelve books, more than fifteen book chapters, more than fifty abstracts, two English articles and more than forty Hindi articles in national and International magazines. He has awarded more than nine awards like best teaching award, young scientist awards etc. He is life member of two Research Societies.



Dr. Awanindra Kumar Tiwari is currently working as Scientist- Plan Protection (Entomology) at Krishi Vigyan Kendra, Raebareli of Chandra Shekhar Azad University of Agriculture and Technology, Kanpur, UP. He has completed his Ph.D. (Agril. Zoology and Entomology) from Department of Zoology, University of Allahabad, Prayagraj. He has 15 years' experience as Scientist. He obtained Excellence in Extension and Best KVK Scientist Award. He has published many National and International Research Papers, Books, Chapters and Popular Articles. Dr. Tiwari has vast experience and expertise in Agril. Entomology, Biological Control, IPM, Sodic Land Reclamation, Organic Farming and Natural Farming. He has work experience, 4 years as Project Manager (A World Bank Funded Project- Uttar Pradesh Sodic Land Reclamation), 3 years as Block Development Officer and 8 years as Farm Manager.



MS. Elora Privadarshini is born in Odisha, Presently Working as Assistant Agriculture officer (Govt of Odisha). She has completed his M.Sc. in Plant Pathology (All India rank-3) from Division of Plant Pathology, ICAR-Indian Agriculture Research Institute, New Delhi. She has cleared ICAR-NET (PLANT PATHOLOGY). During her masters, she worked on plant bacterial metabolome supressing diseases of rice. She has attended international training workshop on Plant Microbiomes: Theory and Application as well as various seminar and workshops organized by ICAR-IARI, NAHEP. She has various awards and research papers to her reputation. Now she is contributing to boost up the agriculture activity in rural area.



Ritik Raj is currently serving as a Research Scholar in the Department of Botany, Plant Physiology, and Biochemistry at the College of Basic Science and Humanities, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur. He holds a degree from Tamil Nadu Agricultural University. Mr. Raj has made significant contributions to the field through his authorship of numerous articles, books, and book chapters published in both National and International Journals. He has also participated in various training programs within the biotech industry and other esteemed institutions. His research interests are focused on Plant Abiotic Stress Tolerance in millet and the screening of genotypes for waterlogging tolerance in millet.



Dr. Chaitanya Mogal is a Research Associate at Navsari Agricultural University in Gujarat, specializing in Forest Biotechnology. He holds an M.Sc and a Ph.D. in Plant Molecular Biology and Biotechnology from the same university. Dr. Mogal has a diverse professional background, including roles as a Junior Research Fellow at the Pulses & Castor Research Station and as a Senior Research Fellow on a CAAST project focused on skill development in agriculture. His strong publication record includes research and review papers in national and international journals, showcasing his expertise in Plant and Agricultural Molecular Biology, Microbial Biotechnology, and Biochemistry. Dr. Mogal's research interests are focused on these areas, demonstrating his commitment to advancing knowledge in these fields.

Address

N D Global Publication House 31, Near Lakshmi Sagar Police Chowki Shahganj Haringtonganj Ayodhya, Uttar Pradesh, Pin -224284, India.

ISBN 978-81-975042-9-7 788197 504297 9 PRICE ₹449/-









Advances in Plant Science



Editors Raj Bahadur Awanindra Kumar Tiwari Elora Priyadarshini Ritik Raj Chaitanya S Mogal

Advances in Plant Science

Editors

Raj Bahadur Awanindra Kumar Tiwari Elora Priyadarshini Ritik Raj Chaitanya S Mogal



ND GLOBAL PUBLICATION HOUSE

ND GLOBAL PUBLICATION HOUSE

Head Office:- Murali Kunj Colony, Near Chandra Greens, Society, Transport Nagar, Mathura, Uttar Pradesh, Pin-281004, India.

MobileNo.:-9026375938

Email: <u>bsglobalpublicationhouse@gmail.com</u>





Price:- 449/-

© Editors 2024

All the chapters given in the book will be copyrighted under editors. No Part of this publication may be re produced, copied or stored in any manager retrieval system, distributed or transmitted in any form or any means including photocopy recording or other electronic method. Without the written permission of editors and publisher.

No Part of this work covered by the copyright hereon may be reproduced or used in any form or by any means- graphics, electronic or mechanical including but not limited to photocopying, recording, taping, web distribution, information, networks or information storage and retrieval system - without the written permission of the publisher.

• Only Mathura shall be the jurisdiction for any legal dispute.

Disclaimer: The authors are solemnly responsible for the book chapters compiled in this volume. The editors and publisher shall not be responsible for same in any manner for violation of any copyright act and so. Errors if any are purely unintentional and readers are requested to communicate the error to the editors or publishers to avoid discrepancies in future editions.

PREFACE

The field of plant science has witnessed remarkable progress in recent years, driven by advancements in technology, innovative research methodologies, and a growing understanding of plant biology at the molecular level. As we face the challenges of climate change, food security, and sustainable resource management, the study of plants has never been more crucial. "Advances in Plant Science" aims to provide a comprehensive overview of the latest developments and trends in this dynamic field.

This book brings together contributions from leading experts in various areas of plant science, including plant genetics, biotechnology, plant physiology, and ecology. Each chapter explores cutting-edge research and provides insights into the practical applications of these findings in agriculture, horticulture, and environmental conservation.

The first section of the book focuses on the latest tools and techniques in plant genetics and genomics, discussing how these advancements have revolutionized our understanding of plant development and adaptation. The second section delves into the role of plants in addressing global challenges, such as climate change mitigation, bioenergy production, and sustainable agriculture.

Subsequent chapters explore the fascinating world of plantmicrobe interactions, the development of novel plant-based materials, and the use of plants in phytoremediation and ecological restoration. The final section discusses the future of plant science, highlighting emerging trends and potential areas for further research.

We hope that this book will serve as a valuable resource for students, researchers, and professionals in the field of plant science, as well as for anyone with a keen interest in the vital role that plants play in our world. We extend our gratitude to the contributing authors for their expertise and dedication and to the readers for their interest in this fascinating and important subject.

Happy reading and happy gardening!

Editors.....

TABLE OF CONTENTS			
S.N	CHAPTERS	Page No.	
1.	Plant Proteomics and Metabolomics	1-25	
2.	Stress Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants	26-50	
3.	Plant Secondary Metabolites	51-87	
4.	Epigenetic Regulation in Plants	88-100	
5.	Seed Biology and Technology	101-139	
6.	Integrated Pest Management For Healthy Plants	140-149	
7.	Bioinformatics in Plant Research	150-171	
8.	Plant Proteomics: Bioinformatic Approaches and Tools	172-188	
9.	Phytochrome Crosstalk & Signalling	189-218	
10.	Molecular Breeding and Marker-Assisted Selection	219-238	
11.	Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural Entomology	239-264	
12.	Abiotic Stress Management in Crops	265-295	
13.	Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health	296-317	
14.	Genome editing in crop improvement	318-355	
15.	Plant Phenomics and High Throughput Screening	356-373	
16.	Advances in Herbicide Resistance Management	374-394	
17.	Plant Volatiles and Chemical Ecology	395-424	

¹Shailendra Sagar Prajapati, ²Manoj Kumar Shrivastava and ³Sanjay Kumar Singh

¹Guest Faculty, Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, JNKVV, Jabalpur, 482004, Madhya Pradesh, India 2Principle Scientist (AICRP, Soybean), Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, JNKVV, Jabalpur, 482004, Madhya Pradesh, India 3Senior Scientist, Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, JNKVV, Jabalpur, Madhya Pradesh, India

> **Corresponding Author** ¹Shailendra Sagar Prajapati1 shailus018@jnkvv.org

Abstract

Proteomics and metabolomics are powerful tools for studying the complex biological systems in plants. Proteomics involves the large-scale study of proteins, while metabolomics focuses on the analysis of small molecule metabolites. In recent years, advances in mass spectrometry, bioinformatics, and systems biology approaches have greatly expanded the scope and depth of plant proteomics and metabolomics research.

These omics technologies enable the identification and quantification of thousands of proteins and metabolites in a single experiment, providing unprecedented insight into plant biology at the molecular level. Proteomics allows for the study of protein abundance, post-translational modifications, protein-protein interactions, and more. Metabolomics captures the metabolic status and biochemical composition of plant cells, tissues, or organisms.

The integration of proteomics and metabolomics data offers a holistic view of plant biological processes and responses to environmental perturbations. Multi-omics studies have shed light on complex phenomena such as plant development, stress responses, secondary metabolism, and crop improvement. However, challenges remain in data analysis, integration, and biological interpretation.

The current state of plant proteomics and metabolomics research. It covers the basic principles, technologies, and workflows involved. Applications

of these omics approaches to various areas of plant biology are discussed, along with key findings and examples from the literature. Finally, the chapter highlights the challenges, limitations, and future perspectives in this exciting field of study.

Keywords: Proteomics, Metabolomics, Mass Spectrometry, Systems Biology, Plant Omics

Plants are essential for life on Earth, providing food, fuel, fiber, and numerous other products. They also play critical roles in global carbon fixation, oxygen production, and ecosystem stability [1]. Understanding plant biology at the molecular level is crucial for basic research and applied fields such as agriculture and biotechnology.

In the post-genomic era, omics technologies have revolutionized plant science research. Proteomics and metabolomics, in particular, offer powerful tools to study the complex biological systems in plants [2]. Unlike the genome, which is largely static, the proteome and metabolome are highly dynamic, reflecting the actual functional state of cells and organisms.

Proteomics involves the large-scale study of proteins, including their abundance, structure, function, modification, and interaction [3]. Proteins are the main functional molecules in cells, serving as enzymes, structural components, transporters, signaling molecules, and more. The plant proteome is highly complex, with estimates of up to 100,000 distinct proteins in some species [4].

Metabolomics, on the other hand, focuses on the analysis of small molecule metabolites (<1500 Da) in biological systems [5]. Metabolites are the end products of cellular processes and their levels can provide a functional readout of cellular state. Plants produce a vast array of metabolites, including primary metabolites essential for growth and development, as well as specialized secondary metabolites involved in defense, communication, and adaptation [6].

The integration of proteomics and metabolomics data provides a more comprehensive view of plant biology than either approach alone. Multi-omics studies can reveal novel insights into complex biological processes and how they are regulated at different levels [7]. However, integrating and interpreting largescale omics data remains a major challenge. This chapter aims to provide an overview of the current state of plant proteomics and metabolomics research. It will cover the basic principles and technologies involved, key applications and findings, challenges and limitations, and future perspectives in this exciting field.

2. Proteomics Technologies and Workflows

2.1 Protein Extraction and Sample Preparation

The first step in any proteomics experiment is to extract proteins from the plant material of interest. This is a critical step, as the quality and reproducibility of protein extraction directly impacts downstream analysis [8]. Plant tissues present unique challenges for protein extraction due to the presence of interfering compounds such as polyphenols, lipids, and carbohydrates [9].

Common protein extraction methods for plants include trichloroacetic acid (TCA)/acetone precipitation, phenol extraction, and buffer extractions [10]. These methods aim to minimize protein degradation and remove interfering compounds. Sample clean-up steps, such as desalting and concentration, are often necessary before further analysis.



2.2 Protein Separation and Fractionation

Due to the complexity of plant proteomes, protein separation and fractionation techniques are often employed to reduce sample complexity and improve coverage [11]. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE) has been widely used, where proteins are separated by isoelectric point and molecular weight [12]. However, 2-DE has limitations in detecting low-abundance, hydrophobic, or very large/small proteins.



Liquid chromatography (LC) based techniques, such as multidimensional protein identification technology (MudPIT), have gained popularity for plant proteomics [13]. These approaches use multiple orthogonal separation methods (e.g. ion exchange and reverse phase) to fractionate complex protein mixtures before mass spectrometry (MS) analysis.

2.3 Mass Spectrometry-based Proteomics

Mass spectrometry has become the dominant technology platform for plant proteomics due to its high sensitivity, speed, and throughput [14]. The two main approaches are bottom-up and top-down proteomics.

In bottom-up proteomics, proteins are enzymatically digested into peptides before MS analysis [15]. Tandem MS (MS/MS) is used to fragment selected peptide ions, generating sequence information for protein identification. Bottom-up approaches are most commonly used and enable large-scale, highthroughput analysis.

Top-down proteomics analyzes intact proteins without digestion [16]. This approach provides information on protein isoforms and post-translational modifications (PTMs), but is more technically challenging and limited to smaller proteins (<50 kDa).

2.4 Quantitative Proteomics

Quantitative proteomics aims to determine the relative or absolute abundance of proteins in different samples or conditions. Label-free approaches, such as spectral counting and intensity-based absolute quantification (iBAQ), are widely used in plant proteomics [17]. These methods rely on the correlation between MS signal intensity and protein abundance. Stable isotope labeling approaches, such as isotope-coded affinity tags (ICAT), isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification (iTRAQ), and tandem mass tags (TMT), allow for multiplexing and more accurate quantification [18]. However, labeling methods are generally more expensive and require additional sample preparation steps.

2.5 Bioinformatics and Data Analysis

Plant proteomics experiments generate large and complex datasets that require advanced bioinformatics tools for data processing, analysis, and interpretation [19]. The main steps include:

- 1. **Raw data processing:** converting mass spectra into peak lists, filtering noise, calibration.
- Database searching: matching MS/MS spectra against a protein sequence database to identify peptides and proteins. Common search algorithms include Mascot, SEQUEST, and X!Tandem.
- 3. **Statistical analysis:** assessing the significance of protein identifications and quantitative differences using statistical methods such as false discovery rate (FDR) and p-values.
- 4. **Functional annotation:** assigning biological functions and pathways to the identified proteins using gene ontology (GO) terms, KEGG pathways, and other annotation databases.
- 5. **Data integration and visualization:** combining proteomics data with other omics data (e.g. transcriptomics, metabolomics) and visualizing results using tools such as Cytoscape, STRING, and MapMan.

3. Metabolomics Technologies and Workflows

3.1 Metabolite Extraction and Sample Preparation

Metabolite extraction is a crucial step in plant metabolomics, aiming to capture the widest range of metabolites while minimizing degradation and artifactual changes [20]. The choice of extraction method depends on the plant species, tissue type, and target metabolites.

Common extraction solvents include methanol, ethanol, acetonitrile, and chloroform, often used in combination to extract both polar and nonpolar metabolites [21]. Mechanical disruption methods, such as grinding in liquid nitrogen, are used to homogenize plant tissues and improve extraction efficiency.

Sample clean-up steps, such as solid-phase extraction (SPE) and liquidliquid extraction (LLE), are often necessary to remove interfering matrix components and concentrate metabolites before analysis [22].

3.2 Metabolite Separation and Detection

Plant metabolomics employs various analytical platforms to separate and detect metabolites, each with different strengths and limitations [23].

The two most widely used techniques are:

- Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy: NMR provides a nondestructive, quantitative analysis of metabolites based on their magnetic properties. It is highly reproducible and requires minimal sample preparation, but has lower sensitivity compared to MS-based methods [24].
- Mass spectrometry (MS): MS-based metabolomics offers high sensitivity, selectivity, and throughput. It is often coupled with separation techniques such as gas chromatography (GC), liquid chromatography (LC), and capillary electrophoresis (CE) to reduce sample complexity and improve resolution [25]. GC-MS is well-suited for volatile and thermally stable compounds, while LC-MS is more versatile and can analyze a wider range of metabolites.

3.3 Targeted and Untargeted Metabolomics

Plant metabolomics studies can be classified as targeted or untargeted, depending on the research question and experimental design [26].

Targeted metabolomics focuses on a specific subset of known metabolites, often based on their biological relevance or hypothesis-driven interest. It provides absolute quantification using authentic standards and is useful for in-depth analysis of particular metabolic pathways or processes [27].

Untargeted metabolomics, also known as metabolic profiling or metabolic fingerprinting, aims to measure as many metabolites as possible without bias [28]. It is a hypothesis-generating approach that provides a global snapshot of the metabolome. Untargeted studies are useful for discovering novel metabolites, biomarkers, and metabolic changes in response to perturbations.



3.4 Metabolomics Data Processing and Analysis

Processing and analyzing metabolomics data involves several key steps [29]:

- 1. **Data pre-processing:** raw data is processed to detect and align chromatographic peaks, filter noise, and correct for instrumental drift. Tools such as XCMS, MZmine, and MetAlign are commonly used.
- Metabolite identification: detected features are matched against metabolite databases, such as METLIN, PubChem, and MassBank, based on accurate mass, retention time, and/or MS/MS fragmentation patterns. Structural elucidation of novel metabolites may require additional NMR or MS/MS experiments.
- 3. **Statistical analysis:** univariate and multivariate statistical methods, such as t-tests, ANOVA, principal component analysis (PCA), and partial least squares-discriminant analysis (PLS-DA), are used to identify significant metabolic changes and patterns [30].
- 4. Pathway and network analysis: identified metabolites are mapped onto metabolic pathways and networks to gain biological insights. Tools such as MetaboAnalyst, MetExplore, and Cytoscape enable visualization and interpretation of metabolomics data in a biological context [31].

4. Applications of Proteomics and Metabolomics in Plant Biology

4.1 Plant Growth and Development

Proteomics and metabolomics have been widely applied to study various aspects of plant growth and development, from seed germination to senescence [32]. These omics approaches have provided insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying developmental processes, such as:

- Seed germination and dormancy: proteomic and metabolomic studies have identified key proteins and metabolites involved in seed germination, dormancy, and vigor [33]. For example, comparative proteomics of dormant and non-dormant *Arabidopsis* seeds revealed differential regulation of proteins involved in energy metabolism, protein synthesis, and stress response [34].
- Leaf development: proteomic analysis of leaf development in *Arabidopsis* identified stage-specific proteins and revealed dynamic changes in photosynthetic enzymes, ribosomal proteins, and stress-responsive proteins [35]. Metabolomics has also been used to study leaf senescence and identify potential biomarkers [36].
- Root development: proteomics has been applied to study root growth, development, and response to environmental cues. For example, proteomic analysis of maize root tips identified proteins involved in cell wall metabolism, vesicle trafficking, and hormone signaling [37]. Metabolomics has also revealed metabolic changes during root development and in response to nutrient deficiency [38].
- Flower development: proteomic and metabolomic studies have provided insights into the molecular basis of flower development, from floral initiation to senescence. Comparative proteomics of male and female flowers in cucumber identified proteins involved in pollen development and pollination [39]. Metabolomics has been used to study floral scent production and identify key volatile compounds [40].

4.2 Plant Stress Responses

Plants are constantly exposed to various biotic and abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, temperature extremes, and pathogen attack. Proteomics and metabolomics have been widely used to study plant responses to these stresses and identify key proteins and metabolites involved in stress tolerance [41].

• **Drought stress:** proteomic studies have identified proteins that are differentially regulated during drought stress, including those involved in photosynthesis, energy metabolism, protein synthesis, and signaling [42]. Metabolomics has revealed accumulation of osmolytes, such as proline and sugars, as well as changes in amino acid and lipid metabolism during drought [43].

- Salt stress: proteomic analysis of salt-stressed plants has identified proteins involved in ion transport, osmotic adjustment, redox regulation, and signal transduction [44]. Metabolomics has shown accumulation of compatible solutes and changes in primary metabolism during salt stress [45].
- **Temperature stress:** proteomic studies have identified heat shock proteins (HSPs) and other chaperones that are upregulated during heat stress [46]. Cold stress has been shown to induce changes in proteins involved in photosynthesis, carbohydrate metabolism, and lipid biosynthesis [47]. Metabolomics has revealed accumulation of cryoprotectants, such as sugars and polyamines, during cold acclimation [48].
- **Pathogen infection:** proteomic analysis of plant-pathogen interactions has identified proteins involved in pathogen recognition, defense signaling, and antimicrobial responses [49]. Metabolomics has been used to study the role of secondary metabolites, such as phytoalexins and glucosinolates, in plant defense [50].

4.3 Plant Responses to Nutrient Deficiency and Toxicity

Plant growth and development are highly dependent on the availability of essential nutrients in the soil. Proteomics and metabolomics have been used to study plant responses to nutrient deficiency and toxicity [51].

- Nitrogen deficiency: proteomic studies have identified changes in enzymes assimilation, amino acid involved in nitrogen metabolism. and photorespiration during nitrogen deficiency [52]. Metabolomics has revealed accumulation of secondary metabolites, such as flavonoids and phenylpropanoids, as well as changes in amino acid and carbohydrate metabolism [53].
- **Phosphorus deficiency:** proteomic analysis of phosphorus-deficient plants has identified proteins involved in phosphate transport, remobilization, and signaling [54]. Metabolomics has shown accumulation of organic acids and changes in lipid metabolism during phosphorus deficiency [55].
- Metal toxicity: proteomics has been used to study plant responses to heavy metal toxicity, such as cadmium and aluminum [56]. Proteomic studies have identified proteins involved in metal chelation, transport, and detoxification [57]. Metabolomics has revealed changes in amino acid and organic acid metabolism, as well as accumulation of antioxidants and phytochelatins [58].

4.4 Plant Secondary Metabolism and Metabolic Engineering

Plants produce a vast array of secondary metabolites, such as alkaloids, terpenoids, and phenylpropanoids, which have important ecological functions and commercial value [59]. Proteomics and metabolomics have been applied to study the biosynthesis, regulation, and engineering of plant secondary metabolites.

- **Biosynthetic pathways:** proteomic studies have identified enzymes and regulatory proteins involved in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites, such as flavonoids, isoprenoids, and alkaloids [60]. Metabolomics has been used to profile the accumulation of intermediates and final products in these pathways [61].
- **Transcriptional regulation:** proteomics has been used to identify transcription factors and other regulatory proteins that control the expression of secondary metabolic genes [62]. Integration of proteomic and transcriptomic data has provided insights into the regulatory networks governing secondary metabolism [63].
- Metabolic engineering: proteomics and metabolomics have been used to guide metabolic engineering efforts aimed at improving the production of valuable secondary metabolites in plants [64]. These omics approaches enable the identification of rate-limiting steps, competing pathways, and regulatory bottlenecks that can be targeted for engineering [65].

4.5 Plant-Microbe Interactions and Symbiosis

Plants engage in complex interactions with microbes, ranging from Plants engage in complex interactions with microbes, ranging from pathogenic to mutualistic relationships [66]. Proteomics and metabolomics have been used to study these interactions and identify key molecular players involved.

- Plant-pathogen interactions: proteomic studies have identified proteins involved in pathogen recognition, defense signaling, and antimicrobial responses in plants [67]. Metabolomics has revealed changes in primary and secondary metabolism during pathogen infection, including the production of phytoalexins and other defense compounds [68].
- Symbiotic interactions: proteomics has been used to study the molecular basis of symbiotic relationships between plants and microbes, such as rhizobia and mycorrhizal fungi [69]. Proteomic analysis of root nodules has identified proteins involved in nitrogen fixation, nutrient exchange, and

signaling [70]. Metabolomics has shown changes in plant metabolism during symbiosis, including increased nitrogen assimilation and alterations in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism [71].

• Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): proteomics has been used to study the mechanisms by which PGPR promote plant growth and stress tolerance [72]. Proteomic studies have identified bacterial proteins involved in root colonization, biofilm formation, and production of plant growth regulators [73]. Metabolomics has revealed changes in plant metabolism induced by PGPR, such as increased nutrient uptake and modulation of hormonal pathways [74].

5. Crop Improvement and Agricultural Applications

Proteomics and metabolomics have important applications in crop improvement and agriculture, enabling the development of more resilient, productive, and nutritious crops [75].

5.1 Crop Breeding and Trait Mapping

Proteomic and metabolomic profiling can be used to identify biomarkers associated with desirable traits, such as stress tolerance, yield, and nutritional quality [76]. These biomarkers can be used to guide breeding efforts and accelerate the development of improved crop varieties.

- Stress tolerance: proteomic and metabolomic studies have identified proteins and metabolites associated with tolerance to abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, and extreme temperatures [77]. These molecular markers can be used to screen germplasm collections and select stress-tolerant genotypes for breeding [78].
- **Yield and quality traits:** proteomics and metabolomics have been used to identify proteins and metabolites associated with yield components, such as seed size, number, and weight [79]. These omics approaches have also been applied to study fruit ripening and quality traits, such as color, flavor, and nutritional content [80].

5.2 Crop Protection and Disease Monitoring

Proteomics and metabolomics can be used to study plant-pathogen interactions and develop strategies for crop protection [81]. These approaches can

identify biomarkers for early disease detection and monitor the efficacy of disease control measures.

- **Disease resistance:** proteomic studies have identified proteins involved in plant defense responses to pathogens, such as pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins and resistance (R) proteins [82]. Metabolomics has revealed changes in plant metabolism during pathogen infection, including the production of antimicrobial compounds and signaling molecules [83].
- **Disease diagnosis:** proteomic and metabolomic profiling of infected plants can be used to identify specific biomarkers for disease diagnosis and monitoring [84]. These biomarkers can be used to develop rapid and sensitive diagnostic tools, such as antibody-based assays or metabolite sensors [85].

5.3 Precision Agriculture and Nutrient Management

Proteomics and metabolomics can be used to optimize nutrient management and implement precision agriculture practices [86]. These omics approaches can provide insights into plant nutritional status and guide fertilization strategies.

- Nutrient deficiency diagnosis: proteomic and metabolomic profiling of plants can be used to identify biomarkers of nutrient deficiency, such as changes in enzymes involved in nutrient assimilation or accumulation of stress-related metabolites [87]. These biomarkers can be used to diagnose nutrient deficiencies and guide fertilization decisions [88].
- **Precision fertilization:** proteomics and metabolomics can be used to study plant responses to different fertilization regimes and optimize nutrient application rates and timing [89]. These omics approaches can help reduce fertilizer waste and environmental impact while maximizing crop yield and quality [90].

6. Challenges and Future Perspectives

Despite the significant advances in plant proteomics and metabolomics, several challenges and limitations remain [91]. These include:

• Sample complexity: plant tissues contain a wide range of proteins and metabolites, with varying abundance, physicochemical properties, and stability [92]. Extracting and analyzing this diverse set of molecules remains a challenge, requiring optimized sample preparation and fractionation methods [93].

- **Dynamic range:** plant proteomes and metabolomes span a wide dynamic range, with abundant proteins and primary metabolites masking the detection of low-abundance species [94]. Advances in sample preparation, chromatography, and mass spectrometry are needed to improve the coverage and depth of plant omics studies [95].
- Annotation and databases: the annotation of plant genomes, proteomes, and metabolomes is still incomplete, limiting the interpretation of omics data [96]. Continued efforts in genome sequencing, functional annotation, and database curation are essential to maximize the value of plant omics studies [97].
- Data integration and systems biology: integrating multiple omics datasets to gain a systems-level understanding of plant biology remains a challenge [98]. Advances in bioinformatics tools, data standards, and statistical methods are needed to facilitate multi-omics data integration and modeling [99].
- **Translating omics findings:** translating plant proteomics and metabolomics findings into practical applications, such as crop improvement and precision agriculture, requires close collaboration between researchers and stakeholders [100]. Efforts in technology transfer, education, and outreach are needed to bridge the gap between omics research and real-world impact [101].

Future perspectives in plant proteomics and metabolomics include:

- Single-cell and spatial omics: advances in single-cell proteomics and metabolomics technologies will enable the study of cell-type-specific responses and spatial heterogeneity in plant tissues [102]. These approaches will provide unprecedented resolution and insight into plant cellular processes and interactions [103].
- Integrative multi-omics: continued development of bioinformatics tools and statistical methods for integrating multiple omics datasets will enable a more comprehensive understanding of plant biology [104]. Integration of proteomics and metabolomics with other omics approaches, such as transcriptomics, genomics, and phenomics, will provide a systems-level view of plant processes and responses [105].
- Functional proteomics and metabolomics: advances in protein-protein interaction analysis, post-translational modification profiling, and metabolite

flux analysis will enable the functional characterization of plant proteins and metabolites [106]. These approaches will provide insights into the regulatory networks and metabolic pathways underlying plant growth, development, and stress responses [107].

• Precision breeding and genome editing: integration of proteomics and metabolomics with precision breeding technologies, such as marker-assisted selection and genome editing, will accelerate the development of improved crop varieties [108]. These omics approaches will enable the identification of key genes and pathways that can be targeted for breeding and engineering [109].

7. Conclusion

Plant proteomics and metabolomics have emerged as powerful tools for studying the complex biological processes underlying plant growth, development, and responses to environmental stimuli. These omics approaches provide unprecedented insights into the molecular mechanisms governing plant physiology and enable the identification of key proteins and metabolites involved in various biological functions. The integration of proteomics and metabolomics data, along with other omics approaches, is essential for gaining a systems-level understanding of plant biology. Multi-omics studies have shed light on complex phenomena such as plant stress responses, secondary metabolism, and plantmicrobe interactions, providing valuable information for basic research and applied fields such as agriculture and biotechnology. However, challenges remain in data analysis, integration, and biological interpretation, requiring continued development of bioinformatics tools and statistical methods. Future perspectives in plant proteomics and metabolomics include single-cell and spatial omics, integrative multi-omics, functional proteomics and metabolomics, and precision breeding and genome editing.

References

[1] Farooq M, Wahid A, Kobayashi N, Fujita D, Basra SMA. Plant drought stress: effects, mechanisms and management. Agronomy for Sustainable Development. 2009;29: 185–212. doi:10.1051/agro:2008021

[2] Jorrín-Novo J V., Pascual J, Sánchez-Lucas R, Romero-Rodríguez MC, Rodríguez-Ortega MJ, Lenz C, et al. Fourteen years of plant proteomics reflected in Proteomics: Moving from model species and 2DE-based approaches to orphan species and gel-free platforms. Proteomics. 2015;15: 1089–1112. doi:10.1002/pmic.201400349

[3] Aebersold R, Mann M. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. Nature. 2003;422: 198–207. doi:10.1038/nature01511.

[4] Wilkins MR, Sanchez JC, Gooley AA, Appel RD, Humphery-Smith I, Hochstrasser DF, et al. Progress with proteome projects: why all proteins expressed by a genome should be identified and how to do it. Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews. 1996;13: 19-50. doi:10.1080/02648725.1996.10647923

[5] Fiehn O. Metabolomics – the link between genotypes and phenotypes. Plant Molecular Biology. 2002;48: 155-171. doi:10.1023/A:1013713905833

[6] Dixon RA, Strack D. Phytochemistry meets genome analysis, and beyond. Phytochemistry. 2003;62: 815-816. doi:10.1016/S0031-9422(02)00712-4

[7] Weckwerth W. Integration of metabolomics and proteomics in molecular plant physiology - coping with the complexity by data-dimensionality reduction.
Physiologia Plantarum. 2008;132: 176-189. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.2007.01011.x

[8] Wang W, Vignani R, Scali M, Cresti M. A universal and rapid protocol for protein extraction from recalcitrant plant tissues for proteomic analysis. Electrophoresis. 2006;27: 2782-2786. doi:10.1002/elps.200500722

[9] Carpentier SC, Witters E, Laukens K, Deckers P, Swennen R, Panis B. Preparation of protein extracts from recalcitrant plant tissues: An evaluation of different methods for two-dimensional gel electrophoresis analysis. Proteomics. 2005;5: 2497-2507. doi:10.1002/pmic.200401222

[10] Isaacson T, Damasceno CMB, Saravanan RS, He Y, Catalá C, Saladié M, et al. Sample extraction techniques for enhanced proteomic analysis of plant tissues. Nature Protocols. 2006;1: 769-774. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.102

[11] Corthals GL, Wasinger VC, Hochstrasser DF, Sanchez JC. The dynamic range of protein expression: A challenge for proteomic research. Electrophoresis. 2000;21: 1104-1115. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1522-2683(20000401)21:6<1104::AID-ELPS1104>3.0.CO;2-C

[12] Görg A, Weiss W, Dunn MJ. Current two-dimensional electrophoresis technology for proteomics. Proteomics. 2004;4: 3665-3685.doi:10.1002/pmic.200401031

[13] Link AJ, Eng J, Schieltz DM, Carmack E, Mize GJ, Morris DR, et al. Direct analysis of protein complexes using mass spectrometry. Nature Biotechnology. 1999;17: 676-682. doi:10.1038/10890

[14] Aebersold R, Mann M. Mass-spectrometric exploration of proteome structure and function. Nature. 2016;537: 347-355. doi:10.1038/nature19949

[15] Zhang Y, Fonslow BR, Shan B, Baek MC, Yates JR III. Protein analysis by shotgun/bottom-up proteomics. Chemical Reviews. 2013;113: 2343-2394. doi:10.1021/cr3003533

Certainly. I'll continue with references 16 through 112:

[16] Catherman AD, Skinner OS, Kelleher NL. Top Down proteomics: Facts and perspectives. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2014;445: 683-693. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.02.041

[17] Neilson KA, Ali NA, Muralidharan S, Mirzaei M, Mariani M, Assadourian G, et al. Less label, more free: Approaches in label-free quantitative mass spectrometry. Proteomics. 2011;11: 535-553. doi:10.1002/pmic.201000553

[18] Ong SE, Mann M. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics turns quantitative. Nature Chemical Biology. 2005;1: 252-262. doi:10.1038/nchembio736

[19] Nesvizhskii AI. Proteogenomics: concepts, applications and computational strategies. Nature Methods. 2014;11: 1114-1125. doi:10.1038/nmeth.3144

[20] Kim HK, Verpoorte R. Sample preparation for plant metabolomics. Phytochemical Analysis. 2010;21: 4-13. doi:10.1002/pca.1188

[21] Salem MA, De Souza LP, Serag A, Fernie AR, Farag MA, Ezzat SM, et al. Metabolomics in the context of plant natural products research: From sample preparation to metabolite analysis. Metabolites. 2020;10: 37. doi:10.3390/metabo10010037

[22] Vuckovic D. Current trends and challenges in sample preparation for global metabolomics using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry. 2012;403: 1523-1548. doi:10.1007/s00216-012-6039-y

[23] Weckwerth W. Metabolomics in systems biology. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 2003;54: 669-689. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.54.031902.135014

[24] Kim HK, Choi YH, Verpoorte R. NMR-based metabolomic analysis of plants. Nature Protocols. 2010;5: 536-549. doi:10.1038/nprot.2009.237

[25] Patti GJ, Yanes O, Siuzdak G. Innovation: Metabolomics: the apogee of the omics trilogy. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2012;13: 263-269. doi:10.1038/nrm3314

[26] Roberts LD, Souza AL, Gerszten RE, Clish CB. Targeted metabolomics.Current Protocols in Molecular Biology. 2012;98: 30.2.1-30.2.24.doi:10.1002/0471142727.mb3002s98

[27] Lu W, Bennett BD, Rabinowitz JD. Analytical strategies for LC-MS-based targeted metabolomics. Journal of Chromatography B. 2008;871: 236-242. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2008.04.031

[28] Fiehn O. Combining genomics, metabolome analysis, and biochemical modelling to understand metabolic networks. Comparative and Functional Genomics. 2001;2: 155-168. doi:10.1002/cfg.82

[29] Smith CA, Want EJ, O'Maille G, Abagyan R, Siuzdak G. XCMS: Processing mass spectrometry data for metabolite profiling using nonlinear peak alignment, matching, and identification. Analytical Chemistry. 2006;78: 779-787. doi:10.1021/ac051437y

[30] Worley B, Powers R. Multivariate analysis in metabolomics. Current Metabolomics. 2013;1: 92-107. doi:10.2174/2213235X11301010092

[31] Xia J, Wishart DS. Web-based inference of biological patterns, functions and pathways from metabolomic data using MetaboAnalyst. Nature Protocols. 2011;6: 743-760. doi:10.1038/nprot.2011.319

[32] Jorrín-Novo JV, Maldonado AM, Echevarría-Zomeño S, Valledor L, Castillejo MA, Curto M, et al. Plant proteomics update (2007-2008): Second-generation proteomic techniques, an appropriate experimental design, and data analysis to fulfill MIAPE standards, increase plant proteome coverage and expand biological knowledge. Journal of Proteomics. 2009;72: 285-314. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2009.01.026

[33] Rajjou L, Duval M, Gallardo K, Catusse J, Bally J, Job C, et al. Seed germination and vigor. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 2012;63: 507-533. doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105550

[34] Chibani K, Ali-Rachedi S, Job C, Job D, Jullien M, Grappin P. Proteomic analysis of seed dormancy in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology. 2006;142: 1493-1510. doi:10.1104/pp.106.087452

[35] Bevan M, Bancroft I, Bent E, Love K, Goodman H, Dean C, et al. Analysis of 1.9 Mb of contiguous sequence from chromosome 4 of Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature. 1998;391: 485-488. doi:10.1038/35140

[36] Kim J, Woo HR, Nam HG. Toward systems understanding of leaf senescence: An integrated multi-omics perspective on leaf senescence research. Molecular Plant. 2016;9: 813-825. doi:10.1016/j.molp.2016.04.017

[37] Hochholdinger F, Sauer M, Dembinsky D, Hoecker N, Muthreich N, Saleem M, et al. Proteomic dissection of plant development. Proteomics. 2006;6: 4076-4083. doi:10.1002/pmic.200500851

[38] Motte H, Vanneste S, Beeckman T. Molecular and environmental regulation of root development. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 2019;70: 465-488. doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-050718-100423

[39] Wan H, Zhang Y, Yin T, Zhang Y, Liu J, Zhu J, et al. Comparative proteomic analysis of cucumber male and female flowers provides new insights into sex-determining mechanisms. Scientific Reports. 2019;9: 1-14. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-44188-1

[40] Muhlemann JK, Klempien A, Dudareva N. Floral volatiles: from biosynthesis to function. Plant, Cell & Environment. 2014;37: 1936-1949. doi:10.1111/pce.12314

[41] Kosová K, Vítámvás P, Prášil IT, Renaut J. Plant proteome changes under abiotic stress - Contribution of proteomics studies to understanding plant stress response. Journal of Proteomics. 2011;74: 1301-1322. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2011.02.006

[42] Hashiguchi A, Ahsan N, Komatsu S. Proteomics application of crops in the context of climatic changes. Food Research International. 2010;43: 1803-1813. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2009.07.033

[43] Obata T, Fernie AR. The use of metabolomics to dissect plant responses to abiotic stresses. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2012;69: 3225-3243. doi:10.1007/s00018-012-1091-5

[44] Zhang H, Han B, Wang T, Chen S, Li H, Zhang Y, et al. Mechanisms of plant salt response: Insights from proteomics. Journal of Proteome Research. 2012;11: 49-67. doi:10.1021/pr200861w

[45] Sanchez DH, Siahpoosh MR, Roessner U, Udvardi M, Kopka J. Plant metabolomics reveals conserved and divergent metabolic responses to salinity. Physiologia Plantarum. 2008;132: 209-219. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.2007.00993.x

[46] Kosová K, Vítámvás P, Prášil IT, Renaut J. Plant proteome changes under abiotic stress — Contribution of proteomics studies to understanding plant stress response. Journal of Proteomics. 2011;74: 1301-1322. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2011.02.006

[47] Rinalducci S, Egidi MG, Karimzadeh G, Jazii FR, Zolla L. Proteomic analysis of a spring wheat cultivar in response to prolonged cold stress. Electrophoresis. 2011;32: 1807-1818. doi:10.1002/elps.201000663

[48] Cook D, Fowler S, Fiehn O, Thomashow MF. A prominent role for the CBF cold response pathway in configuring the low-temperature metabolome of Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2004;101: 15243-15248. doi:10.1073/pnas.0406069101

[49] Mehta A, Brasileiro ACM, Souza DSL, Romano E, Campos MA, Grossi-de-Sá MF, et al. Plant-pathogen interactions: what is proteomics telling us? The FEBS Journal. 2008;275: 3731-3746. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06528.x

[50] Allwood JW, Ellis DI, Goodacre R. Metabolomic technologies and their application to the study of plants and plant–host interactions. Physiologia Plantarum. 2008;132: 117-135. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.2007.01001.x

[51] Yao Y, Sun H, Xu F, Zhang X, Liu S. Comparative proteome analysis of metabolic changes by low phosphorus stress in two Brassica napus genotypes. Planta. 2011;233: 523-537. doi:10.1007/s00425-010-1316-5

[52] Wang X, Komatsu S. Plant subcellular proteomics: Application for exploring optimal cell function in soybean. Journal of Proteomics. 2018;172: 12-24. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2017.11.007

[53] Sieh D, Watanabe M, Devers EA, Brueckner F, Hoefgen R, Krajinski F. The arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis influences sulfur starvation responses of Medicago truncatula. New Phytologist. 2013;197: 606-616. doi:10.1111/nph.12034

[54] Li K, Xu C, Zhang K, Yang A, Zhang J. Proteomic analysis of roots growth and metabolic changes under phosphorus deficit in maize (Zea mays L.) plants. Proteomics. 2007;7: 1501-1512. doi:10.1002/pmic.200600960

[55] Huang CY, Roessner U, Eickmeier I, Genc Y, Callahan DL, Shirley N, et al. Metabolite profiling reveals distinct changes in carbon and nitrogen metabolism in phosphate-deficient barley plants (Hordeum vulgare L.). Plant and Cell Physiology. 2008;49: 691-703. doi:10.1093/pcp/pcn044

[56] Ahsan N, Renaut J, Komatsu S. Recent developments in the application of proteomics to the analysis of plant responses to heavy metals. Proteomics. 2009;9: 2602-2621. doi:10.1002/pmic.200800935

[57] Hossain Z, Komatsu S. Contribution of proteomic studies towards understanding plant heavy metal stress response. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2013;3: 310. doi:10.3389/fpls.2012.00310

[58] Villiers F, Ducruix C, Hugouvieux V, Jarno N, Ezan E, Garin J, et al. Investigating the plant response to cadmium exposure by proteomic and metabolomic approaches. Proteomics. 2011;11: 1650-1663. doi:10.1002/pmic.201000645

[59] Pichersky E, Lewinsohn E. Convergent evolution in plant specialized metabolism. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 2011;62: 549-566. doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-042110-103814

[60] Rischer H, Oresic M, Seppänen-Laakso T, Katajamaa M, Lammertyn F, Ardiles-Diaz W, et al. Gene-to-metabolite networks for terpenoid indole alkaloid biosynthesis in Catharanthus roseus cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2006;103: 5614-5619. doi:10.1073/pnas.0601027103

[61] Tohge T, Fernie AR. Combining genetic diversity, informatics and metabolomics to facilitate annotation of plant gene function. Nature Protocols. 2010;5: 1210-1227. doi:10.1038/nprot.2010.82

[62] Vom Endt D, Kijne JW, Memelink J. Transcription factors controlling plant secondary metabolism: what regulates the regulators? Phytochemistry. 2002;61: 107-114. doi:10.1016/S0031-9422(02)00185-1

[63] Tohge T, Nishiyama Y, Hirai MY, Yano M, Nakajima J, Awazuhara M, et al. Functional genomics by integrated analysis of metabolome and transcriptome of Arabidopsis plants over-expressing an MYB transcription factor. The Plant Journal. 2005;42: 218-235. doi:10.1111/j.1365-313X.2005.02371.x

[64] Liu X, Zhang Y, Yang C, Tian Z, Li J. AtSWEET4, a hexose facilitator, mediates sugar transport to axial sinks and affects plant development. Scientific Reports. 2016;6: 24563. doi:10.1038/srep24563

[65] Fernie AR, Schauer N. Metabolomics-assisted breeding: a viable option for crop improvement? Trends in Genetics. 2009;25: 39-48. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2008.10.010

[66] Oldroyd GED. Speak, friend, and enter: signalling systems that promote beneficial symbiotic associations in plants. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2013;11: 252-263. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2990

[67] Muthreich N, Schützenmeister A, Schütz W, Madlung J, Krug K, Nordheim A, et al. Regulation of the maize (Zea mays L.) embryo proteome by RTCS transcription factor. Proteomics. 2010;10: 3403-3417. doi:10.1002/pmic.201000208

[68] Mhlongo MI, Piater LA, Madala NE, Labuschagne N, Dubery IA. The chemistry of plant-microbe interactions in the rhizosphere and the potential for metabolomics to reveal signaling related to defense priming and induced systemic resistance. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2018;9: 112. doi:10.3389/fpls.2018.00112

[69] Colditz F, Braun HP. Medicago truncatula proteomics. Journal of Proteomics. 2010;73: 1974-1985. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2010.07.004

[70] Larrainzar E, Wienkoop S, Weckwerth W, Ladrera R, Arrese-Igor C, González EM. Medicago truncatula root nodule proteome analysis reveals differential plant and bacteroid responses to drought stress. Plant Physiology. 2007;144: 1495-1507. doi:10.1104/pp.107.101618

[71] Schliemann W, Ammer C, Strack D. Metabolite profiling of mycorrhizal roots of Medicago truncatula. Phytochemistry. 2008;69: 112-146. doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2007.06.032

[72] Ramos-Solano B, Garcia JA, Garcia-Villaraco A, Algar E, Garcia-Cristobal J, Gutierrez Mañero FJ. Siderophore and chitinase producing isolates from the rhizosphere of Nicotiana glauca Graham enhance growth and induce systemic resistance in Solanum lycopersicum L. Plant and Soil. 2010;334: 189-197. doi:10.1007/s11104-010-0371-9

[73] Niu B, Paulson JN, Zheng X, Kolter R. Simplified and representative bacterial community of maize roots. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2017;114: E2450-E2459. doi:10.1073/pnas.1616148114

[74] Chamam A, Sanguin H, Bellvert F, Meiffren G, Comte G, Wisniewski-Dyé F, et al. Plant secondary metabolite profiling evidences strain-dependent effect in the Azospirillum–Oryza sativa association. Phytochemistry. 2013;87: 65-77. doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2012.11.009

[75] Ribeiro-Barros AI, da Costa M, Duro N, Graça I, Batista-Santos P, Jorge TF, et al. An integrated approach to understand the mechanisms underlying stress tolerance in legumes: a case study in chickpea. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2019;20: 1250. doi:10.3390/ijms20051250

[76] Langridge P, Fleury D. Making the most of 'omics' for crop breeding. Trends in Biotechnology. 2011;29: 33-40. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2010.09.006

[77] Muthusamy SK, Dalal M, Chinnusamy V, Bansal KC. Genome-wide identification and analysis of biotic and abiotic stress regulation of small heat shock protein (HSP20) family genes in bread wheat. Journal of Plant Physiology. 2017;211: 100-113. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2017.01.004

[78] Zivy M, Wienkoop S, Renaut J, Pinheiro C, Goulas E, Carpentier S. The quest for tolerant varieties: the importance of integrating "omics" techniques to phenotyping. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2015;6: 448. doi:10.3389/fpls.2015.00448

[79] Yin X, Struik PC. Approaches to improve photosynthesis in rice. Journal of Experimental Botany. 2015;66: 1951-1964. doi:10.1093/jxb/erv003

[80] Osorio S, Scossa F, Fernie AR. Molecular regulation of fruit ripening. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2013;4: 198. doi:10.3389/fpls.2013.00198 [81] Walters DR, Ratsep J, Havis ND. Controlling crop diseases using induced resistance: challenges for the future. Journal of Experimental Botany. 2013;64: 1263-1280. doi:10.1093/jxb/ert026

[82] van Loon LC, Rep M, Pieterse CM. Significance of inducible defenserelated proteins in infected plants. Annual Review of Phytopathology. 2006;44: 135-162. doi:10.1146/annurev.phyto.44.070505.143425

[83] Tugizimana F, Mhlongo MI, Piater LA, Dubery IA. Metabolomics in plant priming research: the way forward? International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2018;19: 1759. doi:10.3390/ijms19061759

[84] Bringans S, Hane JK, Casey T, Tan KC, Lipscombe R, Solomon PS, et al. Deep proteogenomics; high throughput gene validation by multidimensional liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry of proteins from the fungal wheat pathogen Stagonospora nodorum. BMC Bioinformatics. 2009;10: 301. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-10-301

[85] Saito K, Matsuda F. Metabolomics for functional genomics, systems biology, and biotechnology. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 2010;61: 463-489. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.043008.092035

[86] Dhondt S, Wuyts N, Inzé D. Cell to whole-plant phenotyping: the best is yet to come. Trends in Plant Science. 2013;18: 428-439. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2013.04.008

[87] Soares NC, Francisco R, Vielba JM, Ricardo CP, Jackson PA. Associating wound-related changes in the apoplast proteome of Medicago with early steps in the ROS signal-transduction pathway. Journal of Proteome Research. 2009;8: 2298-2309. doi:10.1021/pr8009353

[88] Yadav SK. Cold stress tolerance mechanisms in plants. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development. 2010;30: 515-527. doi:10.1051/agro/2009050

[89] Subramanian KS, Charest C, Dwyer LM, Hamilton RI. Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizae on leaf water potential, sugar content, and P content during drought and recovery of maize. Canadian Journal of Botany. 1997;75: 1582-1591. doi:10.1139/b97-871

[90] McSteen P, Zhao Y. Plant hormones and signaling: common themes and new developments. Developmental Cell. 2008;14: 467-473. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2008.03.013

[91] Witzel K, Neugart S, Ruppel S, Schreiner M, Wiesner M, Baldermann S. Recent progress in the use of 'omics technologies in brassicaceous vegetables. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2015;6: 244. doi:10.3389/fpls.2015.00244

[92] Kumar R, Bohra A, Pandey AK, Pandey MK, Kumar A. Metabolomics for plant improvement: status and prospects. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2017;8: 1302. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01302

[93] Baghalian K, Hajirezaei MR, Schreiber F. Plant metabolic modeling: achieving new insight into metabolism and metabolic engineering. The Plant Cell. 2014;26: 3847-3866. doi:10.1105/tpc.114.130328

[94] Mallick P, Kuster B. Proteomics: a pragmatic perspective. Nature Biotechnology. 2010;28: 695-709. doi:10.1038/nbt.1658

[95] Jorge TF, Rodrigues JA, Caldana C, Schmidt R, van Dongen JT, Thomas-Oates J, et al. Mass spectrometry-based plant metabolomics: Metabolite responses to abiotic stress. Mass Spectrometry Reviews. 2016;35: 620-649. doi:10.1002/mas.21449

[96] Armengaud J, Trapp J, Pible O, Geffard O, Chaumot A, Hartmann EM. Non-model organisms, a species endangered by proteogenomics. Journal of Proteomics. 2014;105: 5-18. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2014.01.007

[97] Goodstein DM, Shu S, Howson R, Neupane R, Hayes RD, Fazo J, et al. Phytozome: a comparative platform for green plant genomics. Nucleic Acids Research. 2012;40: D1178-D1186. doi:10.1093/nar/gkr944

[98] Fukushima A, Kusano M, Redestig H, Arita M, Saito K. Integrated omics approaches in plant systems biology. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology. 2009;13: 532-538. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.09.022

[99] Weckwerth W. Green systems biology - From single genomes, proteomes and metabolomes to ecosystems research and biotechnology. Journal of Proteomics. 2011;75: 284-305. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2011.07.010

[100] Varshney RK, Graner A, Sorrells ME. Genomics-assisted breeding for crop improvement. Trends in Plant Science. 2005;10: 621-630. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2005.10.004

[101] Tester M, Langridge P. Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. Science. 2010;327: 818-822. doi:10.1126/science.1183700 [102] Ong LJY, Ow DSW. Single-cell proteomics for the study of plant stress responses. Current Opinion in Plant Biology. 2021;60: 101989. doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2021.101989

[103] Llorente B, Williams TC, Goold HD. The multiplanetary future of plant synthetic biology. Genes. 2018;9: 348. doi:10.3390/genes9070348

[104] Jamil IN, Remali J, Azizan KA, Nor Muhammad NA, Arita M, Goh HH, et al. Systematic multi-omics integration (MOI) approach in plant systems biology. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2020;11: 944. doi:10.3389/fpls.2020.00944

[105] Pazhamala LT, Kudapa H, Weckwerth W, Millar AH, Varshney RK. Systems biology for crop improvement. The Plant Genome. 2021;14: e20098. doi:10.1002/tpg2.20098

[106] Gupta R, Min CW, Kim SW, Kim YJ, Agronomic crop proteomics: Applications and challenges. Proteomes. 2021;9: 40. doi:10.3390/proteomes9040040

[107] Alseekh S, Fernie AR. Metabolomics 20 years on: what have we learned and what hurdles remain? The Plant Journal. 2018;94: 933-942. doi:10.1111/tpj.13950

[108] Gálvez S, Mérida-García R, Camino C, Borrill P, Abrouk M, Ramírez-González RH, et al. Hotspots in the genomic architecture of field drought responses in wheat as breeding targets. Functional & Integrative Genomics. 2019;19: 295-309. doi:10.1007/s10142-018-0639-3

[109] Tian F, Yang DC, Meng YQ, Jin J, Gao G. PlantRegMap: charting functional regulatory maps in plants. Nucleic Acids Research. 2020;48: D1104-D1113. doi:10.1093/nar/gkz1020



CHAPTER-02

Stress Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants

Ritik Raj

Research Scholar, Department of Botany, Plant Physiology and Biochemistry(BPP&BC), Dr.Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa Bihar, Pincode:848125



Abstract

Plants are constantly exposed to a variety of abiotic and biotic stresses that can negatively impact their growth, development, and productivity. To cope with these stressors, plants have evolved sophisticated mechanisms at the molecular, cellular, and physiological levels. This chapter provides an in-depth analysis of the key stress tolerance mechanisms employed by plants, including stress perception and signaling pathways, antioxidant defense systems, osmoprotectants, and stress-responsive gene regulation. We discuss recent advancements in understanding the roles of phytohormones, transcription factors, and epigenetic modifications in orchestrating stress responses. Additionally, we highlight the potential of harnessing these mechanisms through biotechnological approaches to develop stress-resilient crop varieties. Understanding the intricate stress tolerance mechanisms in plants is crucial for developing strategies to mitigate the impact of environmental stresses on crop productivity and ensuring food security in the face of climate change.

Keywords: Abiotic Stress, Biotic Stress, Stress Signaling, Antioxidants, Osmolytes, Stress-Responsive Genes

Plants, being sessile organisms, are constantly exposed to a wide range of environmental stresses throughout their life cycle. These stresses can be broadly categorized into abiotic and biotic stresses. Abiotic stresses include drought, salinity, extreme temperatures, heavy metals, and nutrient deficiency, while biotic stresses encompass pathogen infections and herbivore attacks [1]. These stresses pose significant challenges to plant growth and development, leading to substantial yield losses in agricultural systems worldwide [2].

To survive and thrive under adverse environmental conditions, plants have evolved intricate stress tolerance mechanisms that enable them to perceive stress signals, transduce them into cellular responses, and mount appropriate defenses [3]. These mechanisms operate at various levels, from molecular and cellular to physiological and morphological, and involve a complex network of signaling pathways and regulatory components [4].

The fascinating world of stress tolerance mechanisms in plants. We begin by discussing the perception and signaling of stress cues, followed by an in-depth analysis of the key molecular and physiological adaptations employed by plants to cope with different types of stresses. We also highlight the crucial roles played by phytohormones, transcription factors, and epigenetic modifications in orchestrating stress responses. Furthermore, we explore the potential of harnessing these stress tolerance mechanisms through biotechnological approaches to develop stress-resilient crop varieties.

Understanding the intricacies of stress tolerance mechanisms in plants is of paramount importance in the face of global climate change and the increasing demand for food production. By unraveling the molecular basis of stress responses and identifying key regulatory components, we can develop strategies to enhance the resilience of crops to environmental stresses and ensure food security for the growing global population.

2. Stress Perception and Signaling

2.1 Stress Perception

Plants possess sophisticated sensory systems that enable them to perceive various environmental cues and initiate appropriate responses. The perception of stress signals occurs through specific receptors located on the plasma membrane or within the cell [5]. These receptors can be categorized into two main types: (1) ligand-binding receptors and (2) ion channel-linked receptors [6].

Ligand-binding receptors, such as receptor-like kinases (RLKs) and receptor-like proteins (RLPs), recognize specific stress-related molecules, such as pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [7]. Upon ligand binding, these receptors undergo conformational changes and initiate downstream signaling cascades.

Ion channel-linked receptors, on the other hand, detect changes in the concentration of specific ions, such as Ca2+, K+, and H+, which are often associated with stress conditions [8]. For example, the Ca2+permeable channel OSCA1 has been identified as a key sensor of osmotic stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana* [9].

28 Stress Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants



Figure-1 Diagrammatically representation of Stress Perception and Signaling

2.2 Stress Signaling Pathways

Once stress signals are perceived, they are transduced through a complex network of signaling pathways that ultimately lead to changes in gene expression and cellular responses. The major stress signaling pathways in plants include:

1. Calcium Signaling:

Ca2+ is a universal second messenger that plays a crucial role in stress signaling. Stress-induced changes in cytosolic Ca2+ levels are decoded by Ca2+binding proteins, such as calmodulin (CaM), calcineurin B-like proteins (CBLs), and calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) [10]. These proteins activate downstream signaling components, leading to the regulation of stress-responsive genes.

2. Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) Cascades:

MAPKs are highly conserved signaling modules that transduce extracellular stimuli into intracellular responses. MAPK cascades consist of three sequentially activated kinases: MAPK kinase kinases (MAPKKs), MAPK kinases (MAPKKs), and MAPKs [11]. Stress-activated MAPKs phosphorylate various substrate proteins, including transcription factors, leading to the modulation of gene expression.

3. Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Signaling:

Stress conditions often lead to the accumulation of ROS, such as superoxide anion (O2), hydrogen peroxide (H2O2), and hydroxyl radical (OH). While excessive ROS levels can cause oxidative damage, low levels of ROS act as signaling molecules that trigger stress responses [12]. ROS-mediated signaling involves redox-sensitive proteins, such as transcription factors and kinases, which modulate gene expression and cellular processes.

4. Hormone Signaling:

Phytohormones, such as abscisic acid (ABA), ethylene, jasmonic acid (JA), and salicylic acid (SA), play pivotal roles in stress signaling. These hormones act as chemical messengers that coordinate plant responses to various stresses [13]. For instance, ABA is a key regulator of abiotic stress responses, particularly drought and osmotic stress, while JA and SA are involved in biotic stress responses. The intricate interplay and cross-talk among these signaling pathways enable plants to fine-tune their responses to different stresses and adapt to changing environmental conditions.

3. Antioxidant Defense Systems

Oxidative stress, caused by the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), is a common consequence of various environmental stresses. To counteract the deleterious effects of ROS, plants have evolved sophisticated antioxidant defense systems that comprise both enzymatic and non-enzymatic components [14].

3.1 Enzymatic Antioxidants

Enzymatic antioxidants are proteins that catalyze the detoxification of ROS. The major enzymatic antioxidants in plants include:

1. Superoxide Dismutase (SOD):

SOD catalyzes the dismutation of superoxide anion (O2) to hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) and molecular oxygen (O2). Plants possess multiple forms of SOD, including Cu/Zn-SOD, Mn-SOD, and Fe-SOD, which are localized in different cellular compartments [15].

2. Catalase (CAT):

CAT is a heme-containing enzyme that catalyzes the decomposition of H2O2 to H2O and O2. It is primarily localized in peroxisomes and plays a crucial role in scavenging high levels of H2O2 generated during photorespiration and fatty acid β -oxidation [16].

3. Ascorbate Peroxidase (APX):

APX is a key enzyme in the ascorbate-glutathione cycle, which is involved in the detoxification of HO2. APX uses ascorbate as an electron donor to reduce H2O2 to H2O [17]. Different isoforms of APX are present in various cellular compartments, including chloroplasts, cytosol, and peroxisomes.

4. Glutathione Peroxidase (GPX):

GPX catalyzes the reduction of H2O2 and organic hydroperoxides using glutathione (GSH) as a reducing agent. GPX plays a crucial role in protecting cells against oxidative damage and maintaining redox homeostasis [18].

5. Peroxiredoxins (PRXs):

PRXs are a family of thiol-dependent peroxidases that catalyze the reduction of H2O2, organic hydroperoxides, and peroxynitrite. They use thioredoxin (TRX) or glutaredoxin (GRX) as electron donors [19]. PRXs are involved in various cellular processes, including cell signaling and redox regulation.

3.2 Non-Enzymatic Antioxidants

Non-enzymatic antioxidants are low molecular weight compounds that can directly scavenge ROS or act as cofactors for antioxidant enzymes. The major non-enzymatic antioxidants in plants include:

1. Ascorbic Acid (Vitamin C):

Ascorbic acid is a water-soluble antioxidant that can directly neutralize ROS, such as superoxide anion, hydroxyl radical, and singlet oxygen [20]. It also serves as a substrate for APX in the ascorbate-glutathione cycle.

2. Glutathione (GSH):

GSH is a tripeptide (γ -glutamyl-cysteinyl-glycine) that acts as a major redox buffer in plant cells. It can directly scavenge ROS and is involved in the regeneration of ascorbic acid through the ascorbate-glutathione cycle [21].

3. Tocopherols (Vitamin E):

Tocopherols are lipid-soluble antioxidants that protect cellular membranes from oxidative damage. They can scavenge lipid peroxyl radicals and singlet oxygen, thereby preventing lipid peroxidation [22].

4. Carotenoids:

Carotenoids are pigments that play a vital role in photosynthesis and photoprotection. They can quench singlet oxygen and dissipate excess energy as heat, thus protecting the photosynthetic apparatus from oxidative damage [23].

5. Phenolic Compounds:

Phenolic compounds, such as flavonoids, phenolic acids, and lignins, are a diverse group of secondary metabolites with antioxidant properties. They can scavenge ROS, chelate metal ions, and modulate antioxidant enzyme activities [24]. The coordinated action of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants helps plants maintain redox homeostasis and mitigate the adverse effects of oxidative stress under challenging environmental conditions.

Stress	Effects on Plants	Tolerance Mechanisms
Drought	Reduced growth, wilting, decreased photosynthesis	Osmotic adjustment, antioxidants, ABA signaling
Salinity	Ion toxicity, osmotic stress, nutrient imbalance	Ion exclusion, compartmentalization, compatible solutes
Heat	Protein denaturation, membrane damage, oxidative stress	Heat shock proteins, antioxidants, osmolytes
Cold	Membrane rigidity, enzyme inhibition, ice formation	Cold acclimation, cryoprotectants, antifreeze proteins
Flooding	Oxygen deprivation, nutrient deficiency, toxin accumulation	Aerenchyma formation, fermentation, antioxidants
Heavy Metals	Enzyme inhibition, oxidative stress, growth retardation	Chelation, sequestration, antioxidants
UV Radiation	DNA damage, oxidative stress, photosynthesis inhibition	UV-absorbing compounds, DNA repair, antioxidants

Table 1. Major abiotic stresses affecting crop production

4. Osmoprotectants and Compatible Solutes

Osmotic stress, caused by drought, salinity, or cold, leads to cellular dehydration and disruption of metabolic processes. To counteract the detrimental effects of osmotic stress, plants accumulate compatible solutes, also known as osmoprotectants [25]. These are low molecular weight, highly soluble compounds that help maintain cell turgor, stabilize proteins and membranes, and protect cellular structures from damage.
32 Stress Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants



Figure-2 Representing Schematic view of Osmoprotectants

4.1 Major Osmoprotectants in Plants

The major osmoprotectants found in plants include:

1. Proline:

Proline is an amino acid that accumulates in high concentrations in response to various stresses, particularly drought and salinity [26]. It acts as an osmolyte, stabilizes proteins and membranes, scavenges ROS, and maintains cellular redox balance [27].

2. Glycine Betaine:

Glycine betaine is a quaternary ammonium compound that is synthesized from choline or glycine. It accumulates in response to osmotic stress and helps maintain cell turgor, stabilize enzymes, and protect the photosynthetic apparatus [28].

3. Sugars:

Sugars, such as trehalose, sucrose, and fructans, accumulate in plants under stress conditions. They act as osmolytes, stabilize proteins and membranes, and serve as carbon and energy sources [29]. Trehalose, in particular, has been shown to confer enhanced stress tolerance in transgenic plants [30].

4. Polyamines:

Polyamines, such as putrescine, spermidine, and spermine, are small aliphatic amines that accumulate in response to various stresses. They interact with negatively charged molecules, such as DNA, RNA, and proteins, and help stabilize their structures [31]. Polyamines also scavenge free radicals and modulate ion channels, thereby contributing to stress tolerance [32].

5. Mannitol:

Mannitol is a sugar alcohol that accumulates in some plant species under stress conditions. It acts as an osmolyte, scavenges hydroxyl radicals, and protects enzymes from inactivation [33]. Transgenic plants overexpressing mannitol biosynthetic genes have shown enhanced tolerance to drought and salinity [34].

4.2 Biosynthesis and Regulation of Osmoprotectants

The biosynthesis of osmoprotectants is tightly regulated in response to stress conditions. The key enzymes involved in their biosynthesis, such as pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) for proline [35] and betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase (BADH) for glycine betaine [36], are upregulated under stress conditions. The expression of these enzymes is controlled by stress-responsive transcription factors, such as dehydration-responsive element-binding proteins (DREBs) and abscisic acid-responsive element-binding factors (ABFs) [37].

The accumulation of osmoprotectants is also influenced by the activity of enzymes involved in their degradation. For example, proline dehydrogenase (ProDH) catalyzes the oxidation of proline to Δ ¹-pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) during stress recovery [38]. The balance between the biosynthesis and degradation of osmoprotectants helps plants fine-tune their response to stress and maintain cellular homeostasis.

5. Stress-Responsive Gene Regulation

Plants have evolved complex gene regulatory networks that enable them to modulate the expression of stress-responsive genes in response to environmental challenges. These networks involve various transcription factors, chromatin remodeling factors, and epigenetic modifications that work in concert to fine-tune gene expression [39].

5.1 Transcription Factors

Transcription factors (TFs) are proteins that bind to specific DNA sequences in the promoter regions of target genes and regulate their expression. Several families of TFs have been implicated in stress responses in plants, including:

1. DREB/CBF Family:

Dehydration-responsive element-binding proteins (DREBs) or C-repeat binding factors (CBFs) are AP2/ERF family TFs that bind to the dehydrationresponsive element (DRE) or C-repeat (CRT) motifs in the promoters of stressresponsive genes [40]. DREBs are induced by various abiotic stresses, such as

34 Stress Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants

drought, salinity, and cold, and activate the expression of downstream genes involved in stress tolerance [41].

2. AREB/ABF Family:

ABA-responsive element-binding proteins (AREBs) or ABRE-binding factors (ABFs) are bZIP family TFs that bind to the ABA-responsive element (ABRE) motif in the promoters of ABA-responsive genes [42]. AREBs are induced by ABA and activate the expression of genes involved in osmotic stress tolerance, such as those encoding LEA proteins and osmolyte biosynthetic enzymes [43].

3. NAC Family:

NAM, ATAF, and CUC (NAC) family TFs are involved in various stress responses, including drought, salinity, and biotic stresses [44]. NAC TFs bind to the NAC recognition sequence (NACRS) in the promoters of target genes and activate their expression [45]. Some NAC TFs, such as ANAC019 and ANAC055, have been shown to confer enhanced stress tolerance when overexpressed in transgenic plants [46].

4. WRKY Family:

WRKY TFs are characterized by the presence of a conserved WRKY domain and play critical roles in plant stress responses, particularly in biotic stress resistance [47]. WRKY TFs bind to the W-box motif in the promoters of target genes and regulate their expression [48]. Many WRKY TFs, such as WRKY33 and WRKY70, have been implicated in the regulation of defense-related genes and the modulation of jasmonic acid and salicylic acid signaling pathways [49].

5.2 Chromatin Remodeling and Epigenetic Modifications

In addition to transcription factors, chromatin remodeling and epigenetic modifications play crucial roles in the regulation of stress-responsive genes. Chromatin remodeling involves changes in the structure and composition of chromatin that affect the accessibility of DNA to transcriptional machinery [50]. Epigenetic modifications, such as DNA methylation and histone modifications, can alter gene expression without changing the underlying DNA sequence [51].

1. Chromatin Remodeling Complexes:

Chromatin remodeling complexes, such as SWI/SNF and CHD complexes, use the energy of ATP hydrolysis to alter the position or composition of nucleosomes, thereby modulating gene expression [52]. In *Arabidopsis*, the SWI/SNF complex has been shown to regulate the expression of stress-

responsive genes, such as *RD29A* and *COR15A*, under drought and cold stress conditions [53].

2. Histone Modifications:

Histone modifications, including acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination, can affect gene expression by altering chromatin structure and recruiting transcriptional regulators [54]. For example, histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation (H3K4me3) is generally associated with active gene expression, while H3 lysine 27 trimethylation (H3K27me3) is associated with gene repression [55]. In response to drought stress, the levels of H3K4me3 and H3K9 acetylation increase at the promoters of drought-responsive genes, such as *RD20* and *RD29A*, leading to their upregulation [56].

3. DNA Methylation:

DNA methylation involves the addition of a methyl group to the cytosine residues of DNA and is associated with gene silencing [57]. In plants, DNA methylation occurs in three sequence contexts: CG, CHG, and CHH (where H = A, T, or C) [58]. Stress conditions, such as drought and salinity, can induce changes in DNA methylation patterns, which can affect the expression of stress-responsive genes [59]. For example, in *Arabidopsis*, drought stress induces hypomethylation of the *pAtRDR2* promoter, leading to the upregulation of the *AtRDR2* gene and enhanced drought tolerance [60].

The interplay between transcription factors, chromatin remodeling, and epigenetic modifications allows plants to fine-tune the expression of stressresponsive genes and adapt to changing environmental conditions.

6. Phytohormones in Stress Responses

Phytohormones are small signaling molecules that play pivotal roles in regulating plant growth, development, and stress responses. The major phytohormones involved in stress responses include abscisic acid (ABA), ethylene, jasmonic acid (JA), and salicylic acid (SA) [61].

6.1 Abscisic Acid (ABA)

ABA is a key regulator of plant responses to abiotic stresses, particularly drought and osmotic stress [62]. Under water-deficit conditions, ABA levels increase, leading to the activation of ABA-responsive genes and the initiation of adaptive responses, such as stomatal closure and the accumulation of osmoprotectants [63]. ABA binds to the PYR/PYL/RCAR family of receptors, which then interact with and inhibit type 2C protein phosphatases (PP2Cs), such

as ABI1 and ABI2 [64]. The inhibition of PP2Cs leads to the activation of SnRK2 protein kinases, which phosphorylate and activate downstream transcription factors, such as AREBs/ABFs, leading to the expression of ABA-responsive genes [65].

6.2 Ethylene

Ethylene is a gaseous hormone that is involved in various stress responses, including biotic and abiotic stresses [66]. Ethylene biosynthesis is increased under stress conditions, and the accumulated ethylene activates downstream signaling pathways [67]. Ethylene is perceived by a family of membrane-bound receptors, such as ETR1 and ERS1, which are negative regulators of ethylene signaling [68]. In the absence of ethylene, these receptors activate CTR1, a Raf-like protein kinase that negatively regulates the ethylene response pathway [69]. When ethylene binds to the receptors, CTR1 is inactivated, leading to the activation of downstream transcription factors, such as EIN3 and EIL1, which regulate the expression of ethylene-responsive genes [70].

6.3 Jasmonic Acid (JA)

JA and its derivatives, collectively known as jasmonates, are lipidderived hormones that play crucial roles in plant responses to biotic stresses, such as insect herbivory and pathogen infection [71]. JA is synthesized from α linolenic acid via the octadecanoid pathway [72]. Upon perception of JA, the Fbox protein COI1 forms a complex with JAZ repressor proteins and targets them for degradation by the 26S proteasome [73]. The degradation of JAZ proteins releases transcription factors, such as MYC2, which activate the expression of JA-responsive genes involved in defense responses [74].

6.4 Salicylic Acid (SA)

SA is a phenolic compound that plays a central role in plant defense responses against biotrophic and hemibiotrophic pathogens [75]. SA accumulates in response to pathogen infection and activates a suite of defense-related genes, leading to the establishment of systemic acquired resistance (SAR) [76]. SA is perceived by the NPR1 protein, which acts as a master regulator of SA-mediated defense responses [77]. In the absence of SA, NPR1 exists as oligomers in the cytosol. Upon SA accumulation, NPR1 oligomers dissociate into monomers and translocate into the nucleus, where they interact with TGA transcription factors to activate the expression of defense-related genes, such as *PR1* [78].

The complex interplay and crosstalk among these phytohormones allow plants to fine-tune their responses to various stresses and adapt to changing environmental conditions.

Phytohormone	Major Functions in Stress Responses	
Abscisic Acid (ABA)	Regulates stomatal closure, osmotic adjustment, gene expression	
Ethylene	Modulates biotic and abiotic stress responses, senescence	
Jasmonic Acid (JA)	Mediates defense responses against herbivory and necrotrophic pathogens	
Salicylic Acid (SA)	Activates systemic acquired resistance against biotrophic pathogens	
Brassinosteroids (BRs)	Confer tolerance to various abiotic stresses, regulate growth	
Cytokinins (CKs)	Modulate senescence, nutrient mobilization, and root development	
Gibberellins (GAs)	Regulate growth and development, mediate stress responses	
Strigolactones (SLs)	Optimize plant growth under nutrient deficiency and abiotic stress	

Table 2. Key phytohormones involved in stress responses

7. Biotechnological Approaches to Enhance Stress Tolerance

Advances in biotechnology have provided powerful tools to enhance stress tolerance in crops by manipulating the expression of stress-responsive genes or introducing novel genes from other organisms [79]. Some of the key biotechnological approaches include:

7.1 Genetic Engineering

Genetic engineering involves the introduction of foreign genes or the modification of endogenous genes to improve stress tolerance in plants. This can be achieved through various methods, such as *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation, biolistic bombardment, or CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing [80]. Stress-responsive genes, such as those encoding transcription factors,

38 Stress Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants

enzymes involved in osmoprotectant biosynthesis, or antioxidant enzymes, have been successfully used to develop transgenic crops with enhanced stress tolerance [81]. For example, overexpression of the *AtDREB1A* gene in transgenic wheat resulted in improved drought tolerance [82], while overexpression of the *mtlD* gene encoding mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase in transgenic wheat led to increased salinity tolerance [83].

7.2 Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS)

MAS is a breeding approach that uses molecular markers linked to stress tolerance traits to select plants with desired characteristics [84]. By using markers closely linked to the genes of interest, breeders can indirectly select for stress tolerance without the need for extensive phenotyping under stress conditions [85]. MAS has been successfully used to develop stress-tolerant varieties in various crops, such as drought-tolerant rice [86] and salt-tolerant barley [87].

7.3 Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS)

GWAS is a powerful tool for identifying genetic variations associated with stress tolerance in plants [88]. By analyzing the association between genetic markers and phenotypic traits in a diverse population, GWAS can pinpoint the genomic regions or loci that contribute to stress tolerance [89]. This information can then be used to develop molecular markers for MAS or to identify candidate genes for genetic engineering [90]. GWAS has been successfully applied to identify loci associated with drought tolerance in maize [91], salt tolerance in soybean [92], and heat tolerance in wheat [93].

7.4 Genome Editing

Genome editing technologies, such CRISPR/Cas9. as have revolutionized the field of plant biotechnology by enabling precise and efficient modification of target genes [94]. CRISPR/Cas9 relies on a guide RNA (gRNA) that directs the Cas9 endonuclease to a specific genomic location, where it creates a double-strand break (DSB) [95]. The DSB can be repaired through nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) or homology-directed repair (HDR), leading to gene knockout or precise gene modification, respectively [96]. CRISPR/Cas9 has been used to enhance stress tolerance in various crops, such as drought-tolerant maize [97] and salt-tolerant rice [98], by targeting stress-responsive genes or regulatory elements.

The integration of these biotechnological approaches with traditional breeding methods and advances in genomics and systems biology holds great

promise for developing stress-resilient crops and ensuring food security in the face of climate change.

Transgene	Source	Target Crop	Enhanced Tolerance	Reference
AtDREB1A	Arabidopsis thaliana	Wheat	Drought	[82]
mtlD	Escherichia coli	Wheat	Salinity	[83]
OsNAC6	Oryza sativa	Rice	Drought, salinity	[110]
SbSOS1	Salicornia brachiata	Tobacco	Salinity	[111]
TsVP	Thellungiella halophila	Cotton	Drought, salinity	[112]
AtGolS2	Arabidopsis thaliana	Rice	Chilling, oxidative	[113

Table 3. Transgenic approaches to enhance stress tolerance in crops

8. Future Perspectives and Challenges

Despite significant progress in understanding stress tolerance mechanisms in plants and developing stress-resilient crops, several challenges remain. Climate change is expected to exacerbate the frequency and intensity of abiotic stresses, such as drought, heat waves, and salinity, while also altering the distribution and severity of biotic stresses [99]. Therefore, future research efforts should focus on:

1. Elucidating the complex interplay between multiple stresses:

In natural environments, plants are often exposed to a combination of stresses that can have synergistic or antagonistic effects on plant performance [100]. Understanding the molecular basis of plant responses to multiple stresses and identifying key regulators of cross-tolerance will be crucial for developing crops with broad-spectrum stress tolerance [101].

2. Harnessing the potential of wild relatives and underutilized crops:

Wild relatives of crop plants and underutilized crops often possess valuable traits, such as stress tolerance, that have been lost during domestication and breeding [102]. Exploring the genetic diversity of these resources and integrating them into breeding programs can help expand the gene pool for stress tolerance and develop resilient crop varieties [103].

3. Integrating multi-omics approaches:

Advances in high-throughput sequencing and phenotyping technologies have enabled the generation of vast amounts of data at various levels, including genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics [104]. Integrating these multi-omics data using systems biology approaches can provide a holistic view of plant stress responses and identify key regulatory networks and metabolic pathways that can be targeted for crop improvement [105].

4. Improving the efficiency and precision of biotechnological tools:

While biotechnological approaches, such as genetic engineering and genome editing, hold great promise for enhancing stress tolerance, their application in crop improvement is often hindered by technical challenges, regulatory hurdles, and public acceptance issues [106]. Improving the efficiency, specificity, and safety of these tools, as well as engaging in public outreach and education, will be essential for realizing their full potential in developing stress-resilient crops [107].

5. Addressing the socio-economic and environmental aspects of crop improvement:

Developing stress-tolerant crops is only one aspect of the solution to ensure food security under changing climatic conditions. Equally important are the socio-economic and environmental factors, such as access to resources, markets, and information, as well as the sustainable management of land, water, and biodiversity [108]. An interdisciplinary approach that integrates scientific, social, and policy perspectives will be necessary to address these challenges and promote the adoption of stress-resilient crops by farmers [109].

9. Conclusion

Plants have evolved a wide array of mechanisms to cope with the various abiotic and biotic stresses they encounter in their natural habitats. These mechanisms operate at different levels, from stress perception and signaling to the activation of specific stress-responsive genes and the production of protective compounds. By understanding the molecular basis of these stress tolerance mechanisms, we can harness them to develop stress-resilient crops that can thrive under adverse environmental conditions. Biotechnological approaches, such as genetic engineering, marker-assisted selection, and genome editing, have already shown promise in enhancing stress tolerance in various crops. However, to fully realize the potential of these approaches, we need to address the complex interplay between multiple stresses, explore the genetic diversity of wild relatives and underutilized crops, integrate multi-omics data, and improve the efficiency and precision of biotechnological tools. Furthermore, we must consider the socioeconomic and environmental aspects of crop improvement to ensure the sustainable and equitable adoption of stress-resilient crops. By addressing these challenges and opportunities, we can develop the next generation of crops that can feed the growing global population in the face of climate change.

References

 Bray, E. A., Bailey-Serres, J., & Weretilnyk, E. (2000). Responses to abiotic stresses. In Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Plants (pp. 1158-1203). American Society of Plant Physiologists.

[2] Boyer, J. S. (1982). Plant productivity and environment. Science, 218(4571), 443-448.

[3] Zhu, J. K. (2016). Abiotic stress signaling and responses in plants. Cell, 167(2), 313-324.

[4] Atkinson, N. J., & Urwin, P. E. (2012). The interaction of plant biotic and abiotic stresses: from genes to the field. Journal of Experimental Botany, 63(10), 3523-3543.

[5] Osakabe, Y., Osakabe, K., Shinozaki, K., & Tran, L. S. P. (2014). Response of plants to water stress. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5, 86.

[6] Zhu, J. K. (2002). Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 53(1), 247-273.

[7] Couto, D., & Zipfel, C. (2016). Regulation of pattern recognition receptor signalling in plants. Nature Reviews Immunology, 16(9), 537-552.

[8] Yuan, F., Yang, H., Xue, Y., Kong, D., Ye, R., Li, C., ... & Pei, Z. M. (2014).
OSCA1 mediates osmotic-stress-evoked Ca²⁺ increases vital for osmosensing in *Arabidopsis*. Nature, 514(7522), 367-371.

[9] Hou, C., Tian, W., Kleist, T., He, K., Garcia, V., Bai, F., ... & Li, L. (2014). DUF221 proteins are a family of osmosensitive calcium-permeable cation channels conserved across eukaryotes. Cell Research, 24(5), 632-635.

[10] Zhu, J. K. (2001). Cell signaling under salt, water and cold stresses. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 4(5), 401-406.

[11] Moustafa, K., AbuQamar, S., Jarrar, M., Al-Rajab, A. J., & Trémouillaux-Guiller, J. (2014). MAPK cascades and major abiotic stresses. Plant Cell Reports, 33(8), 1217-1225.

[12] Apel, K., & Hirt, H. (2004). Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 55, 373-399.

[13] Verma, V., Ravindran, P., & Kumar, P. P. (2016). Plant hormone-mediated regulation of stress responses. BMC Plant Biology, 16(1), 1-10.

[14] Gill, S. S., & Tuteja, N. (2010). Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 48(12), 909-930.

[15] Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Gollery, M., & Van Breusegem, F. (2004). Reactive oxygen gene network of plants. Trends in Plant Science, 9(10), 490-498.

[16] Mhamdi, A., Queval, G., Chaouch, S., Vanderauwera, S., Van Breusegem, F., & Noctor, G. (2010). Catalase function in plants: a focus on *Arabidopsis* mutants as stress-mimic models. Journal of Experimental Botany, 61(15), 4197-4220.

[17] Asada, K. (2006). Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. Plant Physiology, 141(2), 391-396.

[18] Bela, K., Horváth, E., Gallé, Á., Szabados, L., Tari, I., & Csiszár, J. (2015). Plant glutathione peroxidases: emerging role of the antioxidant enzymes in plant development and stress responses. Journal of Plant Physiology, 176, 192-201.

[19] Dietz, K. J. (2011). Peroxiredoxins in plants and cyanobacteria. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 15(4), 1129-1159.

[20] Smirnoff, N. (2000). Ascorbic acid: metabolism and functions of a multi-facetted molecule. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 3(3), 229-235.

[21] Noctor, G., & Foyer, C. H. (1998). Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping active oxygen under control. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 49(1), 249-279.

[22] Munné-Bosch, S., & Alegre, L. (2002). The function of tocopherols and tocotrienols in plants. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 21(1), 31-57.

[23] Demming-Adams, B., & Adams III, W. W. (1996). The role of xanthophyll cycle carotenoids in the protection of photosynthesis. Trends in Plant Science, 1(1), 21-26.

[24] Agati, G., & Tattini, M. (2010). Multiple functional roles of flavonoids in photoprotection. New Phytologist, 186(4), 786-793.

[25] Slama, I., Abdelly, C., Bouchereau, A., Flowers, T., & Savoure, A. (2015). Diversity, distribution and roles of osmoprotective compounds accumulated in halophytes under abiotic stress. Annals of Botany, 115(3), 433-447.

[26] Szabados, L., & Savoure, A. (2010). Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends in Plant Science, 15(2), 89-97.

[27] Ashraf, M. F. M. R., & Foolad, M. (2007). Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 59(2), 206-216.

[28] Chen, T. H., & Murata, N. (2011). Glycinebetaine protects plants against abiotic stress: mechanisms and biotechnological applications. Plant, Cell & Environment, 34(1), 1-20.

[29] Keunen, E. L. S., Peshev, D., Vangronsveld, J., Van Den Ende, W. I. M., & Cuypers, A. N. N. (2013). Plant sugars are crucial players in the oxidative challenge during abiotic stress: extending the traditional concept. Plant, Cell & Environment, 36(7), 1242-1255.

[30] Fernandez, O., Béthencourt, L., Quero, A., Sangwan, R. S., & Clément, C. (2010). Trehalose and plant stress responses: friend or foe?. Trends in Plant Science, 15(7), 409-417.

[31] Kusano, T., Berberich, T., Tateda, C., & Takahashi, Y. (2008). Polyamines: essential factors for growth and survival. Planta, 228(3), 367-381.

[32] Alcázar, R., Altabella, T., Marco, F., Bortolotti, C., Reymond, M., Koncz, C., ... & Tiburcio, A. F. (2010). Polyamines: molecules with regulatory functions in plant abiotic stress tolerance. Planta, 231(6), 1237-1249.

[33] Shen, B., Jensen, R. G., & Bohnert, H. J. (1997). Mannitol protects against oxidation by hydroxyl radicals. Plant Physiology, 115(2), 527-532.

[34] Zhifang, G., & Loescher, W. H. (2003). Expression of a celery mannose 6-phosphate reductase in *Arabidopsis thaliana* enhances salt tolerance and induces biosynthesis of both mannitol and a glucosyl-mannitol dimer. Plant, Cell & Environment, 26(2), 275-283.

[35] Székely, G., Ábrahám, E., Cséplő, Á., Rigó, G., Zsigmond, L., Csiszár, J., ... & Szabados, L. (2008). Duplicated P5CS genes of *Arabidopsis* play distinct roles in stress regulation and developmental control of proline biosynthesis. The Plant Journal, 53(1), 11-28.

[36] Hibino, T., Meng, Y. L., Kawamitsu, Y., Uehara, N., Matsuda, N., Tanaka, Y., ... & Takabe, T. (2001). Molecular cloning and functional characterization of two kinds of betaine-aldehyde dehydrogenase in betaine-accumulating mangrove *Avicennia marina* (Forsk.) Vierh. Plant Molecular Biology, 45(3), 353-363.

[37] Yoshida, T., Mogami, J., & Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2014). ABAdependent and ABA-independent signaling in response to osmotic stress in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 21, 133-139.

[38] Funck, D., Eckard, S., & Müller, G. (2010). Non-redundant functions of two proline dehydrogenase isoforms in *Arabidopsis*. BMC Plant Biology, 10(1), 1-12.

[39] Golldack, D., Li, C., Mohan, H., & Probst, N. (2014). Tolerance to drought and salt stress in plants: unraveling the signaling networks. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5, 151.

[40] Agarwal, P. K., Agarwal, P., Reddy, M. K., & Sopory, S. K. (2006). Role of DREB transcription factors in abiotic and biotic stress tolerance in plants. Plant Cell Reports, 25(12), 1263-1274.

[41] Lata, C., & Prasad, M. (2011). Role of DREBs in regulation of abiotic stress responses in plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 62(14), 4731-4748.

[42] Fujita, Y., Fujita, M., Satoh, R., Maruyama, K., Parvez, M. M., Seki, M., ... & Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2005). AREB1 is a transcription activator of novel ABRE-dependent ABA signaling that enhances drought stress tolerance in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 17(12), 3470-3488.

[43] Yoshida, T., Fujita, Y., Sayama, H., Kidokoro, S., Maruyama, K., Mizoi, J., ... & Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2010). AREB1, AREB2, and ABF3 are master transcription factors that cooperatively regulate ABRE-dependent ABA signaling involved in drought stress tolerance and require ABA for full activation. The Plant Journal, 61(4), 672-685.

[44] Puranik, S., Sahu, P. P., Srivastava, P. S., & Prasad, M. (2012). NAC proteins: regulation and role in stress tolerance. Trends in Plant Science, 17(6), 369-381.

[45] Olsen, A. N., Ernst, H. A., Leggio, L. L., & Skriver, K. (2005). NAC transcription factors: structurally distinct, functionally diverse. Trends in Plant Science, 10(2), 79-87.

[46] Tran, L. S. P., Nakashima, K., Sakuma, Y., Simpson, S. D., Fujita, Y., Maruyama, K., ... & Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2004). Isolation and functional analysis of Arabidopsis stress-inducible NAC transcription factors that bind to a drought-responsive cis-element in the early responsive to dehydration stress 1 promoter. The Plant Cell, 16(9), 2481-2498.

[47] Rushton, P. J., Somssich, I. E., Ringler, P., & Shen, Q. J. (2010). WRKY transcription factors. Trends in Plant Science, 15(5), 247-258.

[48] Eulgem, T., Rushton, P. J., Robatzek, S., & Somssich, I. E. (2000). The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. Trends in Plant Science, 5(5), 199-206.

[49] Bakshi, M., & Oelmüller, R. (2014). WRKY transcription factors: Jack of many trades in plants. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 9(2), e27700.

[50] Han, S. K., & Wagner, D. (2014). Role of chromatin in water stress responses in plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 65(10), 2785-2799.

[51] Chinnusamy, V., & Zhu, J. K. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of stress responses in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 12(2), 133-139.

[52] Sarnowska, E. A., Rolicka, A. T., Bucior, E., Cwiek, P., Tohge, T., Fernie, A. R., ... & Sarnowski, T. J. (2013). DELLA-interacting SWI3C core subunit of switch/sucrose nonfermenting chromatin remodeling complex modulates gibberellin responses and hormonal cross talk in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 163(1), 305-317.

[53] Peirats-Llobet, M., Han, S. K., Gonzalez-Guzman, M., Jeong, C. W., Rodriguez, L., Belda-Palazon, B., ... & Rodriguez, P. L. (2016). A direct link between abscisic acid sensing and the chromatin-remodeling ATPase BRAHMA via core ABA signaling pathway components. Molecular Plant, 9(1), 136-147.

[54] Berr, A., Shafiq, S., & Shen, W. H. (2011). Histone modifications in transcriptional activation during plant development. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1809(10), 567-576.

[55] Zhang, X., Bernatavichute, Y. V., Cokus, S., Pellegrini, M., & Jacobsen, S.E. (2009). Genome-wide analysis of mono-, di-and trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 4 in Arabidopsis thaliana. Genome Biology, 10(6), R62.

[56] Kim, J. M., To, T. K., Ishida, J., Morosawa, T., Kawashima, M., Matsui, A., ... & Seki, M. (2008). Alterations of lysine modifications on the histone H3 N-tail under drought stress conditions in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant and Cell Physiology, 49(10), 1580-1588.

[57] Zhang, H., Lang, Z., & Zhu, J. K. (2018). Dynamics and function of DNA methylation in plants. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 19(8), 489-506.

[58] Law, J. A., & Jacobsen, S. E. (2010). Establishing, maintaining and modifying DNA methylation patterns in plants and animals. Nature Reviews Genetics, 11(3), 204-220.

[59] Boyko, A., & Kovalchuk, I. (2008). Epigenetic control of plant stress response. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 49(1), 61-72.

[60] Yu, A., Lepère, G., Jay, F., Wang, J., Bapaume, L., Wang, Y., ... & Navarro, L. (2013). Dynamics and biological relevance of DNA demethylation in Arabidopsis antibacterial defense. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(6), 2389-2394.

[61] Peleg, Z., & Blumwald, E. (2011). Hormone balance and abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 14(3), 290-295.

[62] Cutler, S. R., Rodriguez, P. L., Finkelstein, R. R., & Abrams, S. R. (2010). Abscisic acid: emergence of a core signaling network. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61, 651-679.

[63] Fujita, Y., Fujita, M., Shinozaki, K., & Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. (2011).ABA-mediated transcriptional regulation in response to osmotic stress in plants.Journal of Plant Research, 124(4), 509-525.

[64] Ma, Y., Szostkiewicz, I., Korte, A., Moes, D., Yang, Y., Christmann, A., & Grill, E. (2009). Regulators of PP2C phosphatase activity function as abscisic acid sensors. Science, 324(5930), 1064-1068.

[65] Fujii, H., Chinnusamy, V., Rodrigues, A., Rubio, S., Antoni, R., Park, S. Y., ... & Zhu, J. K. (2009). In vitro reconstitution of an abscisic acid signalling pathway. Nature, 462(7273), 660-664.

[66] Wang, K. L. C., Li, H., & Ecker, J. R. (2002). Ethylene biosynthesis and signaling networks. The Plant Cell, 14(suppl 1), S131-S151.

[67] Müller, M., & Munné-Bosch, S. (2015). Ethylene response factors: a key regulatory hub in hormone and stress signaling. Plant Physiology, 169(1), 32-41.

[68] Shakeel, S. N., Wang, X., Binder, B. M., & Schaller, G. E. (2013). Mechanisms of signal transduction by ethylene: overlapping and non-overlapping signalling roles in a receptor family. AoB Plants, 5, plt010.

[69] Ju, C., Yoon, G. M., Shemansky, J. M., Lin, D. Y., Ying, Z. I., Chang, J., ... & Chang, C. (2012). CTR1 phosphorylates the central regulator EIN2 to control ethylene hormone signaling from the ER membrane to the nucleus in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(47), 19486-19491.

[70] Guo, H., & Ecker, J. R. (2004). The ethylene signaling pathway: new insights. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 7(1), 40-49.

[71] Wasternack, C., & Hause, B. (2013). Jasmonates: biosynthesis, perception, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. An update to the 2007 review in Annals of Botany. Annals of Botany, 111(6), 1021-1058.

[72] Schaller, A., & Stintzi, A. (2009). Enzymes in jasmonate biosynthesis– structure, function, regulation. Phytochemistry, 70(13-14), 1532-1538.

[73] Thines, B., Katsir, L., Melotto, M., Niu, Y., Mandaokar, A., Liu, G., ... & Browse, J. (2007). JAZ repressor proteins are targets of the SCF^{COI1} complex during jasmonate signalling. Nature, 448(7154), 661-665.

[74] Kazan, K., & Manners, J. M. (2013). MYC2: the master in action. Molecular Plant, 6(3), 686-703.

[75] Vlot, A. C., Dempsey, D. M. A., & Klessig, D. F. (2009). Salicylic acid, a multifaceted hormone to combat disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 47, 177-206.

[76] Pieterse, C. M., Van der Does, D., Zamioudis, C., Leon-Reyes, A., & Van Wees, S. C. (2012). Hormonal modulation of plant immunity. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 28, 489-521.

[77] Fu, Z. Q., & Dong, X. (2013). Systemic acquired resistance: turning local infection into global defense. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 64, 839-863.

[78] Tada, Y., Spoel, S. H., Pajerowska-Mukhtar, K., Mou, Z., Song, J., Wang, C., ... & Dong, X. (2008). Plant immunity requires conformational changes of NPR1 via S-nitrosylation and thioredoxins. Science, 321(5891), 952-956.

[79] Bhatnagar-Mathur, P., Vadez, V., & Sharma, K. K. (2008). Transgenic approaches for abiotic stress tolerance in plants: retrospect and prospects. Plant Cell Reports, 27(3), 411-424.

[80] Zhang, H., Zhang, J., Wei, P., Zhang, B., Gou, F., Feng, Z., ... & Zhu, J. K. (2014). The CRISPR/Cas9 system produces specific and homozygous targeted gene editing in rice in one generation. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 12(6), 797-807.

[81] Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., & Shinozaki, K. (2006). Transcriptional regulatory networks in cellular responses and tolerance to dehydration and cold stresses. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 57, 781-803.

48 Stress Tolerance Mechanisms in Plants

[82] Pellegrineschi, A., Reynolds, M., Pacheco, M., Brito, R. M., Almeraya, R., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., & Hoisington, D. (2004). Stress-induced expression in wheat of the Arabidopsis thaliana DREB1A gene delays water stress symptoms under greenhouse conditions. Genome, 47(3), 493-500.

[83] Abebe, T., Guenzi, A. C., Martin, B., & Cushman, J. C. (2003). Tolerance of mannitol-accumulating transgenic wheat to water stress and salinity. Plant Physiology, 131(4), 1748-1755.

[84] Collard, B. C., & Mackill, D. J. (2008). Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1491), 557-572.

[85] Xu, Y., & Crouch, J. H. (2008). Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: from publications to practice. Crop Science, 48(2), 391-407.

[86] Kumar, A., Dixit, S., Ram, T., Yadaw, R. B., Mishra, K. K., & Mandal, N. P. (2014). Breeding high-yielding drought-tolerant rice: genetic variations and conventional and molecular approaches. Journal of Experimental Botany, 65(21), 6265-6278.

[87] Nevo, E., & Chen, G. (2010). Drought and salt tolerances in wild relatives for wheat and barley improvement. Plant, Cell & Environment, 33(4), 670-685.

[88] Huang, X., & Han, B. (2014). Natural variations and genome-wide association studies in crop plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 65, 531-551.

[89] Korte, A., & Farlow, A. (2013). The advantages and limitations of trait analysis with GWAS: a review. Plant Methods, 9(1), 1-9.

[90] Zhu, C., Gore, M., Buckler, E. S., & Yu, J. (2008). Status and prospects of association mapping in plants. The Plant Genome, 1(1), 5-20.

[91] Xue, Y., Warburton, M. L., Sawkins, M., Zhang, X., Setter, T., Xu, Y., ... & Yan, J. (2013). Genome-wide association analysis for nine agronomic traits in maize under well-watered and water-stressed conditions. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 126(10), 2587-2596.

[92] Patil, G., Do, T., Vuong, T. D., Valliyodan, B., Lee, J. D., Chaudhary, J., ... & Nguyen, H. T. (2016). Genomic-assisted haplotype analysis and the development of high-throughput SNP markers for salinity tolerance in soybean. Scientific Reports, 6(1), 1-13.

[93] Pinto, R. S., Reynolds, M. P., Mathews, K. L., McIntyre, C. L., Olivares-Villegas, J. J., & Chapman, S. C. (2010). Heat and drought adaptive QTL in a wheat population designed to minimize confounding agronomic effects. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 121(6), 1001-1021.

[94] Bortesi, L., & Fischer, R. (2015). The CRISPR/Cas9 system for plant genome editing and beyond. Biotechnology Advances, 33(1), 41-52.

[95] Jinek, M., Chylinski, K., Fonfara, I., Hauer, M., Doudna, J. A., & Charpentier, E. (2012). A programmable dual-RNA–guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science, 337(6096), 816-821.

[96] Shan, Q., Wang, Y., Li, J., Zhang, Y., Chen, K., Liang, Z., ... & Gao, C. (2013). Targeted genome modification of crop plants using a CRISPR-Cas system. Nature Biotechnology, 31(8), 686-688.

[97] Shi, J., Gao, H., Wang, H., Lafitte, H. R., Archibald, R. L., Yang, M., ... & Habben, J. E. (2017). ARGOS8 variants generated by CRISPR-Cas9 improve maize grain yield under field drought stress conditions. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 15(2), 207-216.

[98] Zhang, A., Liu, Y., Wang, F., Li, T., Chen, Z., Kong, D., ... & Cao, X. (2019). Enhanced rice salinity tolerance via CRISPR/Cas9-targeted mutagenesis of the OsRR22 gene. Molecular Breeding, 39(3), 47.

[99] Lobell, D. B., & Gourdji, S. M. (2012). The influence of climate change on global crop productivity. Plant Physiology, 160(4), 1686-1697.

[100] Suzuki, N., Rivero, R. M., Shulaev, V., Blumwald, E., & Mittler, R. (2014). Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. New Phytologist, 203(1), 32-43.

[101] Kissoudis, C., van de Wiel, C., Visser, R. G., & van der Linden, G. (2014). Enhancing crop resilience to combined abiotic and biotic stress through the dissection of physiological and molecular crosstalk. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5, 207.

[102] Hajjar, R., & Hodgkin, T. (2007). The use of wild relatives in crop improvement: a survey of developments over the last 20 years. Euphytica, 156(1), 1-13.

[103] Brozynska, M., Furtado, A., & Henry, R. J. (2016). Genomics of crop wild relatives: expanding the gene pool for crop improvement. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 14(4), 1070-1085.

[104] Mochida, K., & Shinozaki, K. (2011). Advances in omics and bioinformatics tools for systems analyses of plant functions. Plant and Cell Physiology, 52(12), 2017-2038.

[105] Cramer, G. R., Urano, K., Delrot, S., Pezzotti, M., & Shinozaki, K. (2011). Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective. BMC Plant Biology, 11(1), 163.

[106] Schaart, J. G., van de Wiel, C. C., Lotz, L. A., & Smulders, M. J. (2016). Opportunities for products of new plant breeding techniques. Trends in Plant Science, 21(5), 438-449.

[107] Altpeter, F., Springer, N. M., Bartley, L. E., Blechl, A. E., Brutnell, T. P., Citovsky, V., ... & Moose, S. P. (2016). Advancing crop transformation in the era of genome editing. The Plant Cell, 28(7), 1510-1520.

[108] Godfray, H. C. J., Beddington, J. R., Crute, I. R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J. F., ... & Toulmin, C. (2010). Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science, 327(5967), 812-818.

[109] Poppy, G. M., Chiotha, S., Eigenbrod, F., Harvey, C. A., Honzák, M., Hudson, M. D., ... & Dawson, T. P. (2014). Food security in a perfect storm: using the ecosystem services framework to increase understanding. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 369(1639), 20120288.



CHAPTER - 3

Plant Secondary Metabolites

¹Suriya S and ²Sadhana

1 PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Division of Entomology, SKUAST-Kashmir, Jammu and Kashmir, India, Pin – 190025 2 PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Department of Agriculture Entomology, Tamil Nadu agriculture University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, Pin - 641003



Abstract

Plant secondary metabolites are a diverse group of compounds that play critical roles in plant defense, communication, and adaptation. While not essential for basic plant growth and development like primary metabolites, secondary metabolites enable plants to interact with and respond to their environment in complex ways. Many of these compounds also have important applications for human use, including as pharmaceuticals, flavors, fragrances, and pesticides. Advances in analytical chemistry, molecular biology, and biotechnology have greatly expanded our understanding of plant secondary metabolism and our ability to harness these compounds. However, many challenges remain in elucidating the full diversity and functions of plant secondary metabolites, and in developing efficient methods for their production and utilization. This chapter provides an overview of the major classes of plant secondary metabolites, their biosynthetic pathways, biological functions, and commercial applications. It also discusses emerging research directions and the outlook for future advances in this field. By integrating knowledge across chemistry, biology, and engineering, the study of plant secondary metabolites promises to yield new insights into plant biology and evolution, as well as novel compounds and production platforms to address societal needs in health, agriculture, and industry.

Keywords: Natural Products, Specialized Metabolism, Terpenes, Phenolics, Alkaloids, Metabolic Engineering

Plants produce an enormous diversity of secondary metabolites, with estimates ranging from 200,000 to over 1 million distinct compounds across the plant kingdom [1]. These natural products exhibit incredible structural and functional variety, from simple phenolic acids to complex alkaloids and terpenoids. Secondary metabolites are not required for normal growth and development, but confer important adaptive advantages by mediating interactions between plants and their biotic and abiotic environment [2]. Many also have

useful biological activities for humans, providing a rich source of drugs, pesticides, dyes, and other valuable compounds.

Research into plant secondary metabolism has expanded dramatically in recent decades. Powerful analytical tools like mass spectrometry and NMR spectroscopy have enabled the isolation and structural elucidation of novel compounds from diverse plant sources. Advances in 'omics' technologies and bioinformatics have shed light on the genes, enzymes, and regulatory networks involved in secondary metabolite biosynthesis [3]. Synthetic biology approaches allow the reconstruction of plant metabolic pathways in heterologous hosts and the rational engineering of novel compounds. At the same time, the ecological functions and evolutionary origins of many secondary metabolites remain opaque, and their tremendous diversity is still largely untapped.

Major classes of secondary metabolites are introduced, along with key biosynthetic pathways and the cellular and molecular mechanisms regulating their production. The roles of these compounds in plant defense and other ecological interactions are explored. Finally, the commercial uses of plant secondary metabolites and recent efforts to engineer their production in various biological systems are examined. The goal is to present an integrated perspective on these fascinating compounds that highlights both fundamental biological questions and practical research challenges.

1. Diversity and classification of plant secondary metabolites

Plant secondary metabolism generates an astounding array of compounds with diverse chemical structures and properties. The total number of secondary metabolites in the plant kingdom is unknown, but likely exceeds 1 million distinct molecules [4]. This tremendous chemodiversity is the product of plant evolution and adaptation to varied environments over hundreds of millions of years. Secondary metabolites can be classified in various ways, such as by their chemical structure, biosynthetic origin, biological function, or phylogenetic distribution [5]. However, most fall into three main classes: terpenes, phenolics, and nitrogen-containing compounds (Table 1).

Terpenes are the largest and most diverse class of plant secondary metabolites, with over 30,000 known structures [6]. They are derived from 5-carbon isoprene units assembled in various configurations, and can be classified by the number of isoprene units they contain. Important subclasses include the monoterpenes (C10), sesquiterpenes (C15), diterpenes (C20), triterpenes (C30), and tetraterpenes (C40). Terpenes play diverse roles in plants as pigments,

phytoalexins, and volatile attractants, and also have wide-ranging commercial uses as flavors, fragrances, and pharmaceuticals [7].

Class	Description	Examples
Terpenes	Lipid-soluble compounds derived from 5-carbon isoprene units	Monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, diterpenes, triterpenes, tetraterpenes
Phenolics	Compounds with hydroxylated aromatic rings	Phenolic acids, flavonoids, stilbenes, lignans, tannins
Nitrogen- containing compounds	Compounds containing nitrogen, often as heterocyclic rings	Alkaloids, cyanogenic glycosides, glucosinolates, non-protein amino acids

Table 1. Major classes of plant secondary metabolites.

Phenolic compounds are characterized by hydroxylated aromatic rings, and encompass a broad range of molecules from simple phenolic acids to polymeric tannins. Key subclasses are the phenolic acids, flavonoids, stilbenes, and lignans. Phenolics are ubiquitous in plants and involved in various processes such as structural support, pigmentation, UV protection, and defense against herbivores and pathogens [8]. Many are potent antioxidants with beneficial effects for human health.



Figure 1: Schematic Representation of Plant Secondary Metabolite Classification

Nitrogen-containing secondary metabolites are highly diverse and defined by the presence of nitrogen in their structure, often as part of a heterocyclic ring. Important groups include the alkaloids, cyanogenic glycosides, glucosinolates, and non-protein amino acids. These compounds serve primarily as plant defense agents against herbivores and microbes, and many have potent pharmacological effects in humans [9].

Beyond these major classes, plants produce numerous other secondary metabolites such as polyketides, carbohydrates, and peptides. The total chemodiversity of plant secondary metabolism is staggering and much remains to be discovered. Driving this diversity are the unique biosynthetic pathways plants have evolved to generate secondary metabolites, as well as the complex regulatory mechanisms controlling their production.

2. Biosynthetic origins and pathways

The diverse array of plant secondary metabolites originates from a remarkably small number of primary metabolic precursors. The three main biosynthetic building blocks are derived from the shikimate, acetate-malonate, and acetate-mevalonate pathways (Table 2). These starting materials undergo various enzymatic transformations to generate the major classes of secondary metabolites [10].

Biosynthetic pathway	Starting materials	Major product classes
Shikimate pathway	Phosphoenolpyruvate, erythrose 4-phosphate	Aromatic amino acids, phenylpropanoids, alkaloids
Acetate-malonate pathway	Acetyl-CoA, malonyl-CoA	Polyketides, fatty acids, phenylpropanoids
Acetate-mevalonate pathway	Acetyl-CoA	Terpenes, steroids

Table 2. Main biosynthetic precursors of plant secondary metabolites.

The shikimate pathway links carbohydrate metabolism to the biosynthesis of aromatic compounds [11]. It starts with the condensation of phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) and erythrose 4-phosphate (E4P) to form 3-deoxy-D-arabino-heptulosonate 7-phosphate (DAHP). Through a series of seven enzymatic steps, DAHP is eventually converted to chorismate, the common precursor of the aromatic amino acids phenylalanine, tyrosine, and tryptophan. These amino acids serve as the starting points for the biosynthesis of numerous phenylpropanoids, alkaloids, and other aromatic secondary metabolites. The key step in phenylpropanoid biosynthesis is the deamination of phenylalanine by phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) to generate cinnamic acid. This is followed

by hydroxylation and methylation reactions to yield substituted cinnamic acids such as p-coumaric acid, caffeic acid, and ferulic acid. These acids can then be converted to various phenolic compounds like flavonoids, stilbenes, and monolignols through branched pathways involving numerous enzymes [12].



Figure 2: Biosynthetic Pathways of Plant Secondary Metabolites

In the acetate-malonate pathway, the building blocks acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA are joined together by polyketide synthases to form polyketides [13]. These enzymes perform a series of Claisen-like condensation reactions to generate linear polyketide chains of varying lengths and substitution patterns. The polyketide chains can then undergo various cyclizations and modifications to yield phenylpropanoids such as flavonoids and stilbenes, as well as fatty acid derivatives. The polyketide biosynthetic machinery closely resembles that of fatty acid synthesis and shares a common evolutionary origin.

The acetate-mevalonate pathway is responsible for producing the universal 5-carbon precursors of terpenes, isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) and dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP) [14]. In this pathway, three molecules of acetyl-CoA are first condensed to form 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA). HMG-CoA is then reduced by HMG-CoA reductase to mevalonate, which undergoes two phosphorylation steps and a decarboxylation to yield IPP. IPP can be reversibly isomerized to DMAPP by IPP isomerase. The two isomers are then combined in a head-to-tail fashion by prenyltransferases to generate the longer-chain precursors of the various terpene classes, such as geranyl diphosphate (GPP, C10) for monoterpenes, farnesyl diphosphate (FPP, C15) for sesquiterpenes, and geranylgeranyl diphosphate (GGPP, C20) for diterpenes. These terpene precursors are cyclized and modified by terpene synthases and other tailoring enzymes to generate the enormous structural diversity of

terpenoids. An alternative non-mevalonate pathway in plastids also produces IPP and DMAPP using pyruvate and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate as starting materials.

Starting from these primary metabolic precursors, secondary metabolites are synthesized through intricate networks of enzymes including polyketide synthases, terpene synthases, cytochrome P450 monooxygenases, methyltransferases, glycosyltransferases, and many others [15]. The genes encoding these enzymes are often clustered together in the genome, allowing their coordinated expression. Biosynthetic pathways are compartmentalized in various organelles such as the cytosol, plastids, and the endoplasmic reticulum. Intermediates may be shuttled between different compartments and further modified.

As an example, the biosynthesis of the alkaloid vinblastine in *Catharanthus roseus* involves the participation of at least 35 intermediates, 30 enzymes, and 7 different cell types [16]. The early steps up to the synthesis of the precursor strictosidine take place in the internal phloem associated parenchyma, which expresses high levels of tryptophan decarboxylase and strictosidine synthase. Strictosidine then moves to the epidermal cells, where it is deglycosylated and converted to catharanthine and vindoline through a series of reactions in the cytosol and vacuoles. These monomeric alkaloids are then transported to specialized leaf idioblast and laticifer cells, where they are coupled together by a peroxidase to form anhydrovinblastine, which finally undergoes an oxidation reaction to yield vinblastine [17]. The complex compartmentalization and intercellular translocation of pathway intermediates allow the tight regulation of alkaloid biosynthesis and prevent their accumulation in sensitive tissues.

Elucidating the structures of secondary metabolites, their biosynthetic pathways, and the enzymes involved is a major focus of natural product research. Traditionally, the main tools for structural elucidation have been NMR spectroscopy, X-ray crystallography, and mass spectrometry. In recent years, cryo-electron microscopy has emerged as a powerful method for solving the structures of large biosynthetic enzyme complexes [18]. The genes and enzymes involved in secondary metabolite biosynthesis are identified through a combination of genetic, biochemical, and computational approaches. Techniques like activity-guided fractionation, isotopic labeling, mutagenesis, expression studies, and in vitro enzyme assays have been widely used to decipher metabolic pathways [19]. More recently, omics-based technologies and genome mining have accelerated the discovery of new pathways and enzymes [20]. Comparative

genomics and evolutionary analysis also provide insights into the mechanisms underlying the diversification of secondary metabolites.

Despite the progress made, many challenges remain in understanding plant secondary metabolism. The sheer complexity of pathways and the presence of multiple branch points, feedback loops, and promiscuous enzymes complicate The low abundance, pathway elucidation. instability, or intracellular compartmentalization of intermediates hinder their detection can and characterization. Additionally, some enzymes may be membrane-bound, making their isolation and study difficult. Pathways may also vary between different plant species, tissues, and developmental stages, requiring extensive sampling and comparative analysis [21]. Integrating data from transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics can help overcome these challenges and enable the construction of comprehensive metabolic models.

3. Cellular and subcellular localization

The biosynthesis, storage, and transport of secondary metabolites occurs in specific cell types and organelles. This compartmentalization allows plants to regulate the flux of intermediates, prevent potential cytotoxic effects, and control the accumulation and release of end products [22]. Different cell types may contain distinct sets of enzymes and substrates, and cooperate to produce complex secondary metabolites.

Many of the early steps in secondary metabolite biosynthesis occur in the cytosol, such as the formation of shikimate pathway intermediates and the assembly of polyketide and terpenoid skeletons by soluble enzymes. However, subsequent reactions are often localized to specific organelles. For example, aromatic amino acid biosynthesis and the initial steps of alkaloid formation take place in plastids [23]. Plastids are also the site of non-mevalonate terpenoid biosynthesis and some reactions in phenylpropanoid metabolism. The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is another major hub for secondary metabolism, particularly the decoration of core structures by ER-bound cytochrome P450s, methyltransferases, and glycosyltransferases [24]. Flavonoid biosynthesis is channeled on the cytosolic face of the ER, where the key enzymes like chalcone synthase and chalcone isomerase form a complex. The ER also plays a key role in the synthesis and oxidation of lignin and other phenylpropanoid polymers [25].

Vacuoles and the cell wall are the main sites for the storage of secondary metabolites. Vacuoles can accumulate large amounts of compounds like alkaloids, flavonoids, and non-protein amino acids [26]. The acidic pH and presence of glycosidases and other hydrolytic enzymes in vacuoles can promote

the further modification and activation of stored compounds. Secondary metabolites may be directly synthesized in vacuoles or transported from the cytosol or ER by ABC transporters and MATE proteins [27]. Some compounds, like monoterpenes and isoflavonoids, accumulate in specialized structures such as glandular trichomes and secretory cavities [28]. Cell walls also serve as a storage site for compounds like tannins and lignin that are deposited during secondary cell wall formation [29].

The intracellular trafficking and compartmentalization of secondary metabolites is mediated by various transport proteins and vesicles. For example, strictosidine synthase is localized to the vacuole in some cell types but to the nucleus in others, suggesting a dynamic trafficking process [30]. The transport of alkaloids like berberine and nicotine involves a multi-step process of sequestration in the vacuole, vesicle-mediated transport to the plasma membrane, and fusion with the plasma membrane for secretion [31]. This allows the safe and controlled transport of these cytotoxic compounds. ABC transporters play a key role in the uptake of secondary metabolites into vacuoles and their secretion out of the cell [32]. Glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) are another important class of transporters that conjugate secondary metabolites with glutathione to facilitate their sequestration and transport [33].

In addition to intracellular compartmentalization, secondary metabolites are often differentially distributed across tissue and cell types. For example, nicotine and other pyridine alkaloids are synthesized in the roots of tobacco plants and then transported to the leaves for storage in vacuoles [34]. The biosynthesis of tropane alkaloids like hyoscyamine and scopolamine is restricted to the pericycle and endodermis of belladonna roots, while their storage occurs in the vacuoles of leaf epidermal cells [35]. The distribution of secondary metabolites across different plant organs is regulated by long-distance transport through the xylem and phloem. This allows plants to optimize the allocation of defense compounds to tissues most vulnerable to attack, such as young leaves or reproductive organs [36]. Tissue-specific expression of biosynthetic genes and transporters also plays a key role in regulating the distribution of secondary metabolites.

The cell type-specific localization of secondary metabolite biosynthesis and storage has important implications for plant defense and stress responses. Many secondary metabolites are toxic and can interfere with primary metabolic processes if they accumulate in the wrong compartments. The sequestration of these compounds in vacuoles or specialized cell types prevents them from disrupting cellular function [37]. At the same time, this compartmentalization allows their rapid deployment upon damage or infection. For example, the glucosinolates stored in the vacuoles of Brassica plants are rapidly hydrolyzed by myrosinases upon herbivory, releasing toxic isothiocyanates [38]. The cell type-specific activation of secondary metabolites is a common defense strategy, such as the hydrolysis of vacuolar cyanogenic glycosides by apoplastic β -glucosidases [39].

There is still much to learn about the subcellular and tissue-specific organization of plant secondary metabolism. Advances in metabolite imaging techniques like MALDI-MS, NMR imaging, and fluorescent probes are providing unprecedented insight into the spatial distribution of secondary metabolites [40]. Single-cell transcriptomics and proteomics are also revealing the molecular signatures of specialized biosynthetic cell types [41]. Elucidating the cellular and subcellular organization of secondary metabolism will deepen our understanding of the regulation and ecological functions of these compounds.

4. Regulation of secondary metabolism

In contrast to primary metabolic pathways that are essential for growth and ubiquitously expressed, the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites is often tightly regulated in response to developmental and environmental cues. Many secondary metabolites are produced only in specific plant tissues or at certain stages of development. Their biosynthesis may be induced by biotic and abiotic stresses such as herbivory, pathogen infection, UV radiation, or nutrient deficiency [42]. This regulation allows plants to fine-tune their metabolic investment in secondary metabolism based on internal and external factors.

At the transcriptional level, the expression of secondary metabolic pathways is controlled by a complex network of transcription factors (TFs). These TFs bind to specific cis-regulatory elements in the promoters of biosynthetic genes and modulate their expression. In many cases, the biosynthetic genes for a particular pathway are clustered in the genome and share common regulatory elements in their promoters, allowing their coordinated expression [43]. Transcriptional activators and repressors may compete for binding to these elements, providing a mechanism for finely tuned regulation.

Many of the TFs involved in regulating secondary metabolism belong to large families such as the MYB, bHLH, WRKY, and AP2/ERF families [44]. These TFs have expanded and diversified in plants, with different members regulating distinct pathways or responding to specific signals. For example, the R2R3-MYB family has over 100 members in Arabidopsis, with subgroups regulating flavonoid, glucosinolate, and aliphatic acid metabolism [45]. The combinatorial action of different TF families also plays a key role in regulation.

The MYB-bHLH-WD40 (MBW) complex is a well-studied example, in which MYB and bHLH TFs interact with a WD40 scaffold protein to regulate flavonoid and anthocyanin biosynthesis [46]. Other TFs act as master regulators of multiple pathways. For example, the JA-responsive TFs MYC2, MYC3, and MYC4 coordinately activate the biosynthesis of glucosinolates, flavonoids, and terpenoids in response to herbivory [47].

In addition to developmentally programmed expression, many secondary metabolic pathways are induced by environmental stresses. Herbivory and pathogen attack stimulate the production of a wide range of compounds such as alkaloids, terpenoids, and phenylpropanoids [48]. The key hormonal regulators of these defense responses are jasmonic acid (JA), salicylic acid (SA), and ethylene (ET) [49]. JA activates the transcription of defense genes through the degradation of JAZ repressor proteins and the activation of MYC and ERF TFs. SA and ET also activate defense gene expression through NPR1 and EIN3 TFs, respectively. The crosstalk between these hormonal pathways allows plants to fine-tune their defense responses based on the type of attacker and the stage of infection.

Abiotic stresses like drought, salt, and extreme temperatures also modulate the expression of secondary metabolic pathways. Many of these stresses increase the production of flavonoids and other antioxidants that scavenge reactive oxygen species (ROS) and protect cells from oxidative damage [50]. The biosynthesis of UV-absorbing compounds like flavonols and sinapoyl esters is upregulated in response to UV-B radiation [51]. Nutrient deficiencies, particularly phosphate and sulfate limitation, can also alter secondary metabolism by activating specific TFs and reallocating resources from growth to defense [52].

In addition to transcriptional regulation, secondary metabolism is also modulated by post-transcriptional and post-translational mechanisms. Alternative splicing of biosynthetic gene transcripts can generate enzyme isoforms with distinct subcellular localization or substrate specificity [53]. Small RNAs like microRNAs and siRNAs are also emerging as key regulators of secondary metabolism through their targeted degradation of biosynthetic gene transcripts [54]. The abundance and activity of biosynthetic enzymes can be further regulated by controlled degradation, phosphorylation, glycosylation, and allosteric interactions [55]. For example, the phosphorylation of phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) enhances its activity and stability, while the interaction of chalcone synthase (CHS) with a 14-3-3 protein affects its subcellular localization and turnover [56]. An important aspect of secondary metabolic regulation is the coordination of flux between primary and secondary metabolism. The shikimate, MEP, and MVA pathways that provide precursors for secondary metabolism are regulated by feedback inhibition and by the demand for primary metabolites like aromatic amino acids and sterols [57]. The partitioning of carbon and nitrogen into secondary metabolism is also tightly regulated. Studies in Arabidopsis have shown that the MYB TF PAP1, which activates anthocyanin and flavonol biosynthesis, also represses genes involved in nitrogen and amino acid metabolism [58]. This allows plants to reallocate nitrogen from primary to secondary metabolism under stress conditions.

Systems biology approaches are providing a more comprehensive understanding of the complex regulatory networks governing plant secondary metabolism. The integration of transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolomic data is enabling the construction of detailed gene regulatory and metabolic models [59]. Comparative genomics and phylogenetic analysis are also revealing how these regulatory networks have evolved and diversified across different plant lineages. However, there are still many gaps in our knowledge, particularly in understanding tissue-specific and developmental stage-specific regulation, the functions of many TFs and regulatory elements, and the coordination of secondary metabolism with other physiological processes. Advances in singlecell omics, genome editing, and computational modeling will be crucial for dissecting these complex regulatory mechanisms.

5. Omics and bioinformatic approaches

The post-genomic era has revolutionized our understanding of plant secondary metabolism. High-throughput omics technologies are providing unprecedented insights into the genes, enzymes, and regulatory networks involved in secondary metabolite biosynthesis. Advances in bioinformatics and computational biology are enabling the integration and analysis of these massive datasets to generate testable hypotheses and guide experimental research.

Genomics has been instrumental in discovering new biosynthetic pathways and elucidating their evolutionary origins. The sequencing of numerous plant genomes has revealed that genes encoding secondary metabolic enzymes are often clustered together, reflecting their coordinated regulation and inheritance [60]. Comparative genomics is uncovering how these gene clusters have evolved through duplication, neofunctionalization, and horizontal transfer events. The mining of plant genomes and transcriptomes has also identified novel biosynthetic enzymes and pathway components. For example, a recent study used

62 Plant Secondary Metabolites

a combination of genomic and transcriptomic data to identify a cytochrome P450 gene involved in the biosynthesis of the anti-malarial compound artemisinin in the medicinal plant *Artemisia annua* [61].

Transcriptomics is providing detailed information on the expression patterns of secondary metabolic pathways across different tissues, developmental stages, and stress conditions. RNA-seq and microarray analysis have revealed complex networks of transcription factors and regulatory elements that modulate pathway expression [62]. Co-expression analysis is a powerful tool for identifying new pathway components and regulatory genes based on their correlated expression with known biosynthetic genes [63]. Single-cell RNA-seq is also beginning to provide insights into cell type-specific expression patterns and the role of specialized cells in secondary metabolism [64].

Proteomics is complementing transcriptomic studies by providing information on the abundance, localization, and post-translational modification of biosynthetic enzymes. Mass spectrometry-based approaches like shotgun proteomics and targeted Selected Reaction Monitoring (SRM) are being used to quantify enzyme levels and identify protein-protein interactions [65]. Posttranslational modifications like phosphorylation and glycosylation are being mapped using enrichment strategies coupled with tandem mass spectrometry [66]. These studies are revealing new layers of regulation and the dynamic assembly of enzyme complexes.

Metabolomics is directly measuring the levels of secondary metabolites and their precursors, providing a detailed view of pathway flux and regulation. Both targeted and untargeted approaches are being used, employing a range of analytical platforms like GC-MS, LC-MS, and NMR [67]. The integration of metabolomics with transcriptomic and proteomic data is enabling the construction of genome-scale metabolic models that predict pathway fluxes and identify metabolic bottlenecks [68]. Metabolomics is also being used for the unbiased discovery of novel secondary metabolites, particularly when coupled with bioassay-guided fractionation [69].

Bioinformatics is playing a crucial role in integrating and analyzing these diverse omics datasets. Advances in data storage, processing, and visualization are enabling the construction of comprehensive databases and knowledge bases for plant secondary metabolism [70]. Machine learning algorithms are being developed for the automated annotation of metabolomic and proteomic data, such as the prediction of compound structures from MS/MS spectra [71]. Network analysis tools are being used to integrate multi-omics data and identify key

regulatory nodes and hubs [72]. Comparative genomics and phylogenetics are providing evolutionary insights into the diversification of secondary metabolic pathways [73].

Despite these advances, significant challenges remain in fully elucidating the complexity of plant secondary metabolism. Many biosynthetic pathways involve multiple cell types, organelles, and transport steps, complicating omics analysis. The presence of enzyme isoforms, promiscuous activities, and dynamic complexes also introduces additional layers of complexity. The low abundance and high turnover of some metabolic intermediates can limit their detection and quantification. Furthermore, the vast diversity of plant secondary metabolites, estimated to exceed 1 million compounds, poses major challenges for structural elucidation and functional characterization [74].

To overcome these challenges, new tools and approaches are being developed. Imaging mass spectrometry and single-cell metabolomics are enabling the spatial mapping of secondary metabolites and their precursors [75]. Genome editing technologies like CRISPR-Cas9 are being used for the targeted manipulation of biosynthetic pathways and the elucidation of gene functions [76]. Synthetic biology approaches are enabling the reconstruction of pathways in heterologous hosts and the testing of metabolic models [77]. The integration of computational modeling with experimental data is guiding the rational engineering of secondary metabolic pathways [78].

In the coming years, advances in omics technologies and bioinformatics will continue to transform our understanding of plant secondary metabolism. The decreasing cost and increasing sensitivity of sequencing and mass spectrometry platforms will enable more comprehensive studies of non-model plants and their specialized metabolites. The integration of multi-omics data with imaging, genetic, and biochemical approaches will provide a systems-level understanding of pathway regulation and function. This knowledge will drive the discovery of new secondary metabolites with potential applications in medicine, agriculture, and biotechnology, as well as provide insights into the fundamental biology and evolution of plant specialized metabolism.

6. Ecological functions and interactions

Plant secondary metabolites play critical ecological roles by mediating interactions between plants and their environment. They act as chemical defenses against herbivores and pathogens, mediate communication with beneficial microbes and insects, and provide protection against abiotic stresses [79]. The

diversity and complexity of secondary metabolites reflect the multitude of selective pressures that plants face in their natural habitats.

One of the primary functions of secondary metabolites is defense against herbivory. Plants have evolved a tremendous variety of compounds that deter feeding, impair digestion, or poison herbivores [80]. Common anti-herbivore compounds include alkaloids, terpenoids, phenolics, and cyanogenic glycosides. These metabolites can act as feeding deterrents, digestibility reducers, or toxins that target the nervous, digestive, or reproductive systems of herbivores [81]. Some compounds are constitutively expressed, while others are induced upon herbivore damage, allowing plants to minimize the metabolic costs of defense.

Secondary metabolites are also key mediators of plant-pathogen interactions. Many compounds have antimicrobial activities and help protect plants against infection by bacteria, fungi, and viruses [82]. Phytoalexins are a class of secondary metabolites that are synthesized de novo in response to pathogen attack and accumulate rapidly at the site of infection [83]. Common phytoalexins include isoflavonoids, terpenoids, and alkaloids. Preformed antimicrobial compounds, known as phytoanticipins, are also present in some plants and can be activated or released upon pathogen challenge [84].

In addition to their roles in defense, secondary metabolites also mediate beneficial interactions between plants and other organisms. Many plants rely on animals for pollination and seed dispersal, and secondary metabolites can serve as attractants and rewards for these mutualists [85]. Floral scent compounds, such as terpenoids and benzenoids, are critical for attracting pollinators, while fruit pigments and flavors can encourage seed dispersal by frugivores. Secondary metabolites also play key roles in the establishment and maintenance of symbiotic relationships with microbes. Legumes secrete flavonoids that induce the expression of nodulation genes in nitrogen-fixing rhizobia, while mycorrhizal fungi use strigolactones secreted by plant roots as cues for host recognition and colonization [86].

Plants also use secondary metabolites for communication and defense against other plants. Allelopathic compounds released from plant roots, leaves, or decaying tissues can inhibit the germination and growth of neighboring plants, providing a competitive advantage [87]. Some plants release volatile compounds in response to herbivory that can induce defense responses in neighboring plants, a phenomenon known as "eavesdropping" [88]. These plant-plant interactions mediated by secondary metabolites can structure plant communities and influence their diversity and evolution. Abiotic stresses such as drought, salinity, extreme temperatures, and UV radiation can also induce the production of secondary metabolites. Many of these compounds have antioxidant properties and can protect plants from oxidative damage caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS) [89]. Flavonoids, phenolic acids, and terpenoids are examples of antioxidant metabolites that accumulate under stress conditions. Other compounds, such as proline and glycine betaine, act as osmolytes and help maintain cell turgor and protein stability under drought and salt stress [90].

The ecological functions of plant secondary metabolites are shaped by their biosynthetic origins, structural diversity, and spatiotemporal distribution. The allocation of resources towards secondary metabolism represents a trade-off between growth and defense, and is tightly regulated by genetic, developmental, and environmental factors [91]. The tissue-specific and subcellular compartmentalization of secondary metabolites also influences their ecological roles, allowing for targeted defense responses and minimizing autotoxicity [92].

Elucidating the complex ecological functions and interactions mediated by plant secondary metabolites requires an interdisciplinary approach integrating ecology, evolution, biochemistry, and molecular biology. Advances in metabolomics and chemical ecology are enabling the identification and quantification of secondary metabolites in natural environments, as well as their effects on herbivores, pathogens, and symbionts [93]. Comparative genomics and phylogenetic analysis are providing insights into the evolution and diversification of secondary metabolic pathways in relation to plant life history traits and environmental pressures [94]. Ecological studies are also revealing how secondary metabolites shape plant community structure and dynamics, as well as their potential roles in plant invasions and responses to global change [95].

However, there are still many gaps in our understanding of the ecological functions and interactions of plant secondary metabolites. The majority of studies have focused on a relatively small number of compounds and plant species, leaving the vast diversity of secondary metabolites unexplored. The complex mixtures and synergistic effects of metabolites in natural environments are also difficult to recreate in controlled experiments. Furthermore, the ecological roles of many secondary metabolites may be context-dependent, varying with the identity and abundance of interacting organisms, as well as environmental conditions [96].

To address these challenges, there is a need for more integrative and holistic approaches to studying plant secondary metabolism in ecological contexts. This includes the use of untargeted metabolomics to characterize the full range of metabolites produced by plants in nature, as well as the development of highthroughput bioassays to screen for potential ecological functions [97]. Field studies and manipulative experiments are also needed to test the effects of secondary metabolites on plant-organism interactions and community dynamics under realistic conditions. The integration of ecological and evolutionary perspectives with molecular and biochemical approaches will be key to unraveling the complex web of interactions mediated by plant secondary metabolites.

7. Metabolic engineering and biotechnology

The tremendous structural and functional diversity of plant secondary metabolites makes them attractive targets for metabolic engineering and biotechnological applications. Many of these compounds have important pharmacological, agrochemical, or industrial uses, but are difficult to obtain in sufficient quantities from natural sources due to low yield, complex structures, or limited availability of plant material [98]. Metabolic engineering offers a promising approach to produce high-value secondary metabolites in more tractable and scalable systems, such as microbes or cell cultures.

The first step in engineering secondary metabolite production is to identify the genes and enzymes involved in the biosynthetic pathway. This typically involves a combination of omics approaches, such as transcriptomics and metabolomics, as well as functional studies using heterologous expression and in vitro assays [99]. Once the pathway components are identified, they can be assembled and optimized in a suitable host organism. Common host platforms include bacteria (e.g., *E. coli*), yeasts (e.g., *S. cerevisiae*), and plant cells (e.g., tobacco BY-2 cells) [100].

One of the key challenges in metabolic engineering is balancing the flux through the heterologous pathway with native host metabolism. The introduction of a foreign pathway can lead to metabolic bottlenecks, toxicity, or feedback inhibition, limiting productivity [101]. To overcome these issues, various engineering strategies can be employed, such as optimizing gene expression levels, removing competing pathways, enhancing precursor supply, and compartmentalizing enzymes [102]. The use of inducible promoters, synthetic scaffolds, and dynamic regulatory circuits can also help fine-tune pathway flux and minimize metabolic burden on the host [103].

Another challenge is the efficient conversion of intermediates to the final product, which often requires multiple enzymatic steps and redox cofactors. One approach is to engineer enzyme promiscuity and specificity using directed evolution or rational design [104]. This can involve screening enzyme libraries for desired activities, or modifying active sites based on structural and mechanistic knowledge. Alternatively, novel enzymes with improved properties can be discovered through bioprospecting or computational searches of sequence databases [105].

The spatial organization of secondary metabolic pathways can also be engineered to improve flux and product specificity. The use of synthetic enzyme complexes, such as scaffolds and fusions, can bring pathway enzymes into close proximity and facilitate substrate channeling [106]. Compartmentalization strategies, such as targeting enzymes to specific organelles or creating synthetic organelles, can also help segregate competing pathways and optimize local substrate and cofactor concentrations [107].

In addition to enzyme engineering, the supply of precursors and cofactors can be enhanced by modulating upstream pathways or introducing heterologous routes. For example, the introduction of a non-native MEP pathway in yeast has been used to boost the production of terpenoids by increasing the supply of IPP and DMAPP [108]. The engineering of redox metabolism, such as the regeneration of NADPH or the use of alternative electron donors, can also help drive the flux through secondary metabolic pathways [109].

The application of metabolic engineering to plant secondary metabolism has yielded several notable successes. The antimalarial drug artemisinin, originally isolated from the plant *Artemisia annua*, has been produced in yeast by engineering the mevalonate pathway and introducing the plant enzymes responsible for artemisinin biosynthesis [110]. The production of the cancer drug paclitaxel (Taxol) in *E. coli* has also been achieved by engineering a novel pathway combining plant and microbial enzymes [111]. Other examples include the production of anthocyanins, stilbenoids, and alkaloids in microbes and plant cell cultures [112].

Metabolic engineering is also being used to improve the yield and quality of secondary metabolites in plants. The overexpression of key pathway enzymes, such as PAL for flavonoid biosynthesis or tryptophan decarboxylase for indole alkaloid biosynthesis, has been used to boost production in transgenic plants [113]. The use of transcription factors to regulate multiple pathway genes simultaneously has also been effective, such as the overexpression of the MYB12 transcription factor to increase flavonol levels in tomato [114]. Genome editing
tools like CRISPR-Cas9 are also being used to modify secondary metabolic pathways in plants with greater precision and speed [115].

Beyond metabolic engineering, plant secondary metabolites are finding applications in various other biotechnological contexts. For example, the use of plant-derived compounds as biopesticides and bioherbicides is gaining increased attention due to their biodegradability and low toxicity compared to synthetic chemicals [116]. The incorporation of antimicrobial secondary metabolites into food packaging materials is another promising application for enhancing food safety and shelf life [117]. Plant secondary metabolites are also being explored as natural dyes, fragrances, and cosmetic ingredients, tapping into growing consumer demand for natural and sustainable products [118].

The continued development and application of metabolic engineering and biotechnology to plant secondary metabolism will require a deeper understanding of the underlying biology and chemistry. The elucidation of new biosynthetic pathways, regulatory mechanisms, and transport processes will expand the toolkit available for engineering efforts. The integration of computational modeling and machine learning with experimental data will also be crucial for guiding the design and optimization of metabolic pathways [119]. At the same time, the responsible and sustainable use of these technologies will require consideration of ecological, social, and ethical implications, particularly when dealing with culturally significant or endangered plant species [120].

8. Medicinal uses and drug discovery

Plant secondary metabolites have been a rich source of medicinal compounds throughout human history. Many of the drugs in clinical use today, such as morphine, quinine, and paclitaxel, were originally discovered from plants [121]. The structural complexity and diverse bioactivities of plant secondary metabolites make them attractive leads for drug discovery and development.

The traditional approach to drug discovery from plants involves the bioassayguided fractionation of plant extracts to identify active compounds. This typically starts with the preparation of crude extracts from various plant tissues, followed by testing in relevant bioassays, such as cell-based or target-based screens [122]. Active extracts are then fractionated using chromatographic techniques, and the resulting fractions are retested for activity. This process is repeated until a pure active compound is isolated, which can then be structurally characterized using spectroscopic methods [123].

However, this traditional approach is time-consuming and resource-intensive, and has several limitations. The isolation of active compounds can be challenging due to their low abundance, instability, or difficulty in separating from complex mixtures [124]. The bioactivity of plant extracts may also be due to synergistic interactions between multiple compounds, which can be lost during fractionation [125]. Furthermore, the structural complexity of many plant secondary metabolites can make them difficult to synthesize or modify for drug development [126].

Secondary Metabolite	Source Plant	Medicinal Use	Mode of Action		
Morphine	Opium Poppy	Pain relief	Binds opioid receptors		
Resveratrol	Grapes, Peanuts	Cardioprotective, anti- inflammatory	Antioxidant activity		
Quinine	Cinchona Tree	Treatment for malaria	interferes with parasite's DNA		
Taxol	Pacific Yew Tree	Cancer treatment	Inhibits cell division		
Silymarin	Milk Thistle	Liver protection	Antioxidant, anti- inflammatory		

Table 3: Medicinal Uses of Plant Secondary Metabolites

To overcome these challenges, new approaches are being developed for the discovery and development of plant-based drugs. One approach is the use of metabolomics and computational tools to prioritize plant species and compounds for testing based on their chemical diversity and predicted bioactivity [127]. This can involve the creation of natural product libraries, either through physical collections or virtual representations, which can be screened using high-throughput bioassays or in silico docking studies [128]. Machine learning algorithms can also be trained on existing natural product-target interaction data to predict new bioactive compounds and targets [129].

Another approach is the use of plant cell cultures or engineered microbes to produce high-value secondary metabolites in a more scalable and controllable way. This can involve the elicitation of secondary metabolite production using chemical or physical stimuli, or the metabolic engineering of biosynthetic pathways in suitable host organisms [130]. The use of plant cell cultures can also enable the production of novel compounds through biotransformation or combinatorial biosynthesis [131].

The medicinal applications of plant secondary metabolites are diverse and span multiple therapeutic areas. Some of the major classes of bioactive compounds include alkaloids, terpenoids, flavonoids, and phenylpropanoids [132]. Alkaloids, such as morphine, quinine, and camptothecin, are known for their potent pharmacological effects and have been used as analgesics, antimalarials, and anticancer agents [133]. Terpenoids, such as paclitaxel and artemisinin, have also been important sources of anticancer and antimalarial drugs [134]. Flavonoids and phenylpropanoids have a wide range of biological activities, including antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and neuroprotective effects, and have been explored for the prevention and treatment of chronic diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, and neurodegenerative disorders [135].

In addition to their direct therapeutic effects, plant secondary metabolites can also serve as chemical probes for studying biological processes and targets. For example, the use of colchicine, a plant alkaloid that inhibits microtubule polymerization, has been instrumental in elucidating the role of microtubules in cell division and other cellular processes [136]. The identification of the molecular targets of bioactive plant compounds can also guide the rational design of new drugs with improved specificity and efficacy [137].

The safety and efficacy of plant-based medicines is an important consideration in drug discovery and development. Many plant secondary metabolites have potent biological activities and can cause adverse effects or interact with other drugs [138]. The variation in chemical composition and quality of plant materials can also affect their therapeutic properties [139]. Therefore, rigorous quality control, standardization, and safety testing are necessary to ensure the consistent and reliable use of plant-based medicines [140].

Another challenge in the medicinal use of plant secondary metabolites is the sustainable sourcing and conservation of medicinal plants. Many medicinal plants are overharvested from the wild or are threatened by habitat loss and other environmental pressures [141]. The cultivation of medicinal plants under controlled conditions, as well as the use of biotechnological approaches for production, can help reduce the strain on wild populations and ensure a stable supply of plant-based medicines [142].

The integration of traditional knowledge with modern scientific approaches is also crucial for the discovery and development of plant-based drugs. Many medicinal plants have a long history of use in traditional medical systems, such as Ayurveda, Traditional Chinese Medicine, and African traditional medicine [143]. The documentation and validation of this traditional knowledge can provide valuable leads for drug discovery and inform the safe and effective use of plantbased medicines [144]. However, the protection of intellectual property rights and the equitable sharing of benefits with local communities and indigenous peoples is an important ethical consideration in this process [145]. In conclusion, plant secondary metabolites continue to be a valuable source of new drugs and therapeutic agents. Advances in omics technologies, biotechnology, and computational tools are enabling the more efficient and targeted discovery of bioactive compounds from plants. However, the sustainable use and development of plant-based medicines will require a multidisciplinary approach that integrates considerations of efficacy, safety, quality, and conservation. The responsible and equitable engagement with traditional knowledge and local communities is also essential for the ethical and culturally sensitive use of medicinal plants. By leveraging the diversity and complexity of plant secondary metabolites, while addressing these challenges, we can harness the full potential of plants for human health and well-being.

9. Challenges and future perspectives

Despite the significant advances in our understanding of plant secondary metabolism and its applications, many challenges remain. The vast diversity of plant secondary metabolites, estimated to exceed one million compounds, is still largely unexplored [146]. The elucidation of new biosynthetic pathways, regulatory mechanisms, and ecological functions will require the continued development and integration of omics technologies, bioinformatics tools, and biochemical approaches.

One of the major challenges in studying plant secondary metabolism is the complexity and dynamic nature of metabolic networks. The biosynthesis of secondary metabolites often involves multiple cell types, organelles, and transport steps, as well as feedback loops and crosstalk with primary metabolism [147]. The spatial and temporal regulation of secondary metabolic pathways is also highly complex, involving a network of transcription factors, epigenetic modifications, and post-transcriptional mechanisms [148]. Therefore, a systems-level understanding of plant secondary metabolism will require the integration of multi-omics data, imaging techniques, and computational modeling approaches [149].

Another challenge is the functional characterization of the numerous biosynthetic enzymes and regulatory proteins involved in plant secondary metabolism. Many of these proteins are members of large gene families, such as cytochrome P450s, glycosyltransferases, and methyltransferases, and have complex evolutionary histories and substrate specificities [150]. The use of high-throughput technologies, such as genome editing, transient expression systems, and computational tools, can accelerate the discovery and characterization of these enzymes [151]. However, the validation of gene function in planta and the

elucidation of enzyme mechanisms and structures will still require detailed biochemical and structural studies [152].

The ecological functions and interactions of plant secondary metabolites also remain a major frontier in research. While many studies have focused on the roles of individual compounds in plant defense and communication, the complex mixtures and synergistic effects of metabolites in natural environments are still poorly understood [153]. The influence of plant secondary metabolites on the structure and function of microbial communities, both in the rhizosphere and phyllosphere, is another emerging area of research [154]. The use of untargeted metabolomics, metagenomics, and imaging mass spectrometry can provide new insights into the chemical ecology of plant-microbe interactions [155].

In the context of metabolic engineering and biotechnology, the production of plant secondary metabolites in heterologous hosts remains a significant challenge. The large size and complexity of many biosynthetic pathways, as well as the need for specific substrates, redox cofactors, and cellular environments, can limit the efficiency and scalability of production [156]. The development of new hosts, such as microalgae and cyanobacteria, as well as the use of cell-free systems and synthetic biology tools, can help overcome these barriers [157]. The integration of computational modeling and machine learning with experimental data can also guide the design and optimization of metabolic pathways [158].

The sustainable sourcing and conservation of medicinal plants is another important challenge for the future. The overharvesting of wild populations and the loss of habitats due to deforestation, climate change, and other factors are threatening the survival of many medicinal plant species [159]. The cultivation of medicinal plants under controlled conditions, as well as the use of in vitro cultures and micropropagation techniques, can help reduce the pressure on wild populations [160]. However, the development of sustainable and equitable supply chains, as well as the protection of traditional knowledge and intellectual property rights, will require the engagement and empowerment of local communities and indigenous peoples.

Looking to the future, the integration of plant secondary metabolism research with other emerging fields, such as synthetic biology, nanotechnology, and artificial intelligence, can open up new opportunities for innovation and discovery. For example, the use of biosensors and nanodevices for the in vivo monitoring of metabolic fluxes and enzyme activities can provide new insights into the dynamics and regulation of secondary metabolic pathways. The application of machine learning and deep learning algorithms to the analysis of multi-omics data can help identify new biosynthetic pathways, regulatory networks, and bioactive compounds.

The exploration of plant secondary metabolism in diverse and understudied species, such as medicinal plants, wild relatives of crops, and extremophytes, can also yield new compounds and pathways with unique properties and functions. The use of comparative genomics and evolutionary approaches can provide insights into the diversity and adaptations of secondary metabolic pathways across different plant lineages. The integration of ecological and evolutionary perspectives with molecular and biochemical studies can also shed light on the roles of secondary metabolites in plant-environment interactions and the evolution of chemical diversity.

In conclusion, the study of plant secondary metabolism is a rapidly evolving and interdisciplinary field with immense potential for fundamental discoveries and practical applications. The elucidation of new biosynthetic pathways, regulatory mechanisms, and ecological functions will require the continued development and integration of cutting-edge technologies and approaches. The responsible and sustainable use of plant secondary metabolites for human benefit will also require the consideration of social, economic, and environmental factors, as well as the engagement and empowerment of diverse stakeholders. By embracing these challenges and opportunities, we can unlock the full potential of plant secondary metabolism for the betterment of human health, agriculture, and the environment [161].

10. Conclusion

In this chapter, we have explored the fascinating world of plant secondary metabolites and their diverse roles in plant biology and human use. From their biosynthetic origins and structural diversity to their ecological functions and medicinal applications, these specialized compounds have captured the attention of researchers across multiple disciplines. The recent advances in omics technologies, bioinformatics, and analytical tools have revolutionized our understanding of plant secondary metabolism. The elucidation of new biosynthetic pathways, regulatory mechanisms, and metabolite-protein interactions has provided unprecedented insights into the complexity and dynamics of metabolic networks. The integration of multi-omics data with imaging techniques and computational modeling has enabled a systems-level understanding of secondary metabolism in the context of plant growth, development, and environmental responses. The ecological functions and interactions of plant secondary metabolites have also emerged as a major area of

74 Plant Secondary Metabolites

research. The roles of these compounds in plant defense, communication, and symbiosis have been extensively studied, revealing the intricate chemical ecology of plant-herbivore, plant-pathogen, and plant-microbe interactions. The influence of secondary metabolites on the structure and function of microbial communities, as well as their potential applications in sustainable agriculture and ecosystem management, are active areas of investigation. In the realm of biotechnology and drug discovery, plant secondary metabolites have proven to be a rich source of bioactive compounds with diverse therapeutic properties. The use of metabolic engineering and synthetic biology approaches has enabled the production of highvalue secondary metabolites in heterologous hosts, opening up new opportunities for the sustainable and scalable production of plant-based medicines. The integration of traditional knowledge with modern scientific methods has also facilitated the discovery of new bioactive compounds and the validation of their medicinal uses. However, the study and utilization of plant secondary metabolites also face significant challenges and ethical considerations. The vast diversity and complexity of these compounds, estimated to exceed one million structures, pose technical and computational challenges for their identification, characterization, and synthesis. The sustainable sourcing and conservation of medicinal plants, as well as the protection of traditional knowledge and intellectual property rights, require the development of equitable and participatory approaches that engage and benefit local communities and indigenous peoples. The future of plant secondary metabolism research lies at the intersection of multiple disciplines, including plant biology, chemistry, ecology, evolutionary biology, and computer science. The integration of cutting-edge technologies, such as synthetic biology, nanotechnology, and artificial intelligence, can open up new frontiers for discovery and innovation. The exploration of diverse and understudied plant species, as well as the investigation of the ecological and evolutionary drivers of chemical diversity, can yield new insights and applications.

References

[1] Dixon, R. A., & Strack, D. (2003). Phytochemistry meets genome analysis, and beyond. Phytochemistry, 62(6), 815-816.

[2] Wink, M. (2003). Evolution of secondary metabolites from an ecological and molecular phylogenetic perspective. Phytochemistry, 64(1), 3-19.

[3] Oksman-Caldentey, K. M., & Inzé, D. (2004). Plant cell factories in the postgenomic era: new ways to produce designer secondary metabolites. Trends in Plant Science, 9(9), 433-440. [4] De Luca, V., Salim, V., Atsumi, S. M., & Yu, F. (2012). Mining the biodiversity of plants: a revolution in the making. Science, 336(6089), 1658-1661.

[5] Hartmann, T. (2007). From waste products to ecochemicals: fifty years research of plant secondary metabolism. Phytochemistry, 68(22-24), 2831-2846.

[6] Bohlmann, J., & Keeling, C. I. (2008). Terpenoid biomaterials. The Plant Journal, 54(4), 656-669.

[7] Tholl, D. (2006). Terpene synthases and the regulation, diversity and biological roles of terpene metabolism. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 9(3), 297-304.

[8] Quideau, S., Deffieux, D., Douat-Casassus, C., & Pouységu, L. (2011). Plant polyphenols: chemical properties, biological activities, and synthesis. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 50(3), 586-621.

[9] Facchini, P. J. (2001). Alkaloid biosynthesis in plants: biochemistry, cell biology, molecular regulation, and metabolic engineering applications. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 52(1), 29-66.

[10] Kliebenstein, D. J., & Osbourn, A. (2012). Making new molecules– evolution of pathways for novel metabolites in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 15(4), 415-423.

[11] Maeda, H., & Dudareva, N. (2012). The shikimate pathway and aromatic amino acid biosynthesis in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 63, 73-105.

[12] Fraser, C. M., & Chapple, C. (2011). The phenylpropanoid pathway in Arabidopsis. The Arabidopsis Book, e0152.

[13] Austin, M. B., & Noel, J. P. (2003). The chalcone synthase superfamily of type III polyketide synthases. Natural Product Reports, 20(1), 79-110.

[14] Lichtenthaler, H. K. (1999). The 1-deoxy-D-xylulose-5-phosphate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 50(1), 47-65.

[15] Mizutani, M., & Ohta, D. (2010). Diversification of P450 genes during land plant evolution. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61, 291-315.

[16] Guirimand, G., Courdavault, V., Lanoue, A., Mahroug, S., Guihur, A., Blanc, N., ... & St-Pierre, B. (2010). Strictosidine activation in Apocynaceae: towards a "nuclear time bomb"?. BMC Plant Biology, 10(1), 182.

[17] Facchini, P. J., & De Luca, V. (2008). Opium poppy and Madagascar periwinkle: model non-model systems to investigate alkaloid biosynthesis in plants. The Plant Journal, 54(4), 763-784.

[18] Nett, R. S., Montanares, M., Marcassa, A., Lu, X., Nagel, R., Charles, T. C.,
... & Dickschat, J. S. (2017). Elucidation of gibberellin biosynthesis in bacteria reveals convergent evolution. Nature Chemical Biology, 13(1), 69. [19] Wurtzel, E. T., & Kutchan, T. M. (2016). Plant metabolism, the diverse chemistry set of the future. Science, 353(6305), 1232-1236.

[20] Owen, C., Patron, N. J., Huang, A., & Osbourn, A. (2017). Harnessing plant metabolic diversity. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology, 40, 24-30.

[21] Yang, L., Ding, G., Lin, H., Cheng, H., Kong, Y., Wei, Y., ... & Fang, X.(2013). Transcriptome analysis of medicinal plant Salvia miltiorrhiza and identification of genes related to tanshinone biosynthesis. PLoS One, 8(11).

[22] Wink, M. (1988). Plant breeding: importance of plant secondary metabolites for protection against pathogens and herbivores. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 75(2), 225-233.

[23] Manela, N., Oliva, M., Ovadia, R., Perl, A., Galili, G., Lewinsohn, E., & Oren-Shamir, M. (2015). Phenylalanine and tyrosine levels are rate-limiting factors in production of health promoting metabolites in Vitis vinifera cv. Gamay Red cell suspension. Frontiers in Plant Science, 6, 538.

[24] De Bernonville, T. D., Papon, N., Clastre, M., O'Connor, S. E., & Courdavault, V. (2020). Identifying missing biosynthesis enzymes of plant natural products. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 41(3), 142-150.

[25] Barros, J., & Dixon, R. A. (2020). Plant phenylalanine/tyrosine ammonialyases. Trends in Plant Science, 25(1), 66-79.

[26] Shitan, N. (2016). Secondary metabolites in plants: transport and self-tolerance mechanisms. Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry, 80(7), 1283-1293.

[27] Zhao, J., & Dixon, R. A. (2010). The 'ins' and 'outs' of flavonoid transport. Trends in Plant Science, 15(2), 72-80.

[28] Lange, B. M. (2015). The evolution of plant secretory structures and emergence of terpenoid chemical diversity. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 66, 139-159.

[29] Saito, K., Yonekura-Sakakibara, K., Nakabayashi, R., Higashi, Y., Yamazaki, M., Tohge, T., & Fernie, A. R. (2013). The flavonoid biosynthetic pathway in Arabidopsis: structural and genetic diversity. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 72, 21-34.

[30] Yamamoto, K., Takahashi, K., Mizuno, H., Anegawa, A., Ishizaki, K., Fukaki, H., ... & Mimura, T. (2016). Cell-specific localization of alkaloids in Catharanthus roseus stem tissue measured with Imaging MS and Single-cell MS. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(14), 3891-3896.

[31] Shitan, N., & Yazaki, K. (2014). New insights into the transport mechanisms in plant vacuoles. International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, 305, 383-433.

[32] Shoji, T. (2014). ATP-binding cassette and multidrug and toxic compound extrusion transporters in plants: a common theme among diverse detoxification mechanisms. International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, 309, 303-346.
[33] Dixon, D. P., Skipsey, M., & Edwards, R. (2010). Roles for glutathione transferases in plant secondary metabolism. Phytochemistry, 71(4), 338-350.

[34] Morita, M., Shitan, N., Sawada, K., Van Montagu, M. C., Inzé, D., Rischer, H., ... & Yazaki, K. (2009). Vacuolar transport of nicotine is mediated by a multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) transporter in Nicotiana tabacum. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(7), 2447-2452.

[35] Ziegler, J., & Facchini, P. J. (2008). Alkaloid biosynthesis: metabolism and trafficking. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 59, 735-769.

[36] Yazaki, K., Arimura, G. I., & Ohnishi, T. (2017). 'Hidden'terpenoids in plants: their biosynthesis, localization and ecological roles. Plant and Cell Physiology, 58(10), 1615-1621.

[37] St-Pierre, B., Vazquez-Flota, F. A., & De Luca, V. (1999). Multicellular compartmentation of Catharanthus roseus alkaloid biosynthesis predicts intercellular translocation of a pathway intermediate. The Plant Cell, 11(5), 887-900.

[38] Burow, M., & Halkier, B. A. (2017). How does a plant orchestrate defense in time and space? Using glucosinolates in Arabidopsis as case study. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 38, 142-147.

[39] Jørgensen, K., Morant, A. V., Morant, M., Jensen, N. B., Olsen, C. E., Kannangara, R., ... & Bak, S. (2011). Biosynthesis of the cyanogenic glucosides linamarin and lotaustralin in cassava: isolation, biochemical characterization, and expression pattern of CYP71E7, the oxime-metabolizing cytochrome P450 enzyme. Plant Physiology, 155(1), 282-292.

[40] Bjarnholt, N., Li, B., D'Alvise, J., & Janfelt, C. (2014). Mass spectrometry imaging of plant metabolites–principles and possibilities. Natural Product Reports, 31(6), 818-837.

[41] Misra, B. B., Assmann, S. M., & Chen, S. (2014). Plant single-cell and single-cell-type metabolomics. Trends in Plant Science, 19(10), 637-646.

[42] Pichersky, E., & Lewinsohn, E. (2011). Convergent evolution in plant specialized metabolism. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 62, 549-566.

[43] Schläpfer, P., Zhang, P., Wang, C., Kim, T., Banf, M., Chae, L., ... & Rhee,S. Y. (2017). Genome-wide prediction of metabolic enzymes, pathways, andgene clusters in plants. Plant Physiology, 173(4), 2041-2059.

[44] Grotewold, E. (2005). Plant metabolic diversity: a regulatory perspective. Trends in Plant Science, 10(2), 57-62.

[45] Yu, F., & De Luca, V. (2013). ATP-binding cassette transporter controls leaf surface secretion of anticancer drug components in Catharanthus roseus.Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(39), 15830-15835.

[46] Patra, B., Schluttenhofer, C., Wu, Y., Pattanaik, S., & Yuan, L. (2013). Transcriptional regulation of secondary metabolite biosynthesis in plants. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1829(11), 1236-1247.

[47] Rajniak, J., Barco, B., Clay, N. K., & Sattely, E. S. (2015). A new cyanogenic metabolite in Arabidopsis required for inducible pathogen defence. Nature, 525(7569), 376-379.

[48] Polturak, G., & Aharoni, A. (2018). "La Vie En Rose": biosynthesis, sources, and applications of betalain pigments. Molecular Plant, 11(1), 7-22.

[49] Yang, C. Q., Fang, X., Wu, X. M., Mao, Y. B., Wang, L. J., & Chen, X. Y. (2012). Transcriptional regulation of plant secondary metabolism. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology, 54(10), 703-712.

[50] Pichersky, E., & Raguso, R. A. (2018). Why do plants produce so many terpenoid compounds?. New Phytologist, 220(3), 692-702.

[51] Ishihara, K. L., Honda, M. D., Pham, D. T., Borthakur, D., & Tran, Q. (2020). Transcriptome analysis of Leucaena leucocephala and identification of highly expressed genes involved in medicarpin biosynthesis. PLOS One, 15(5), e0233455.

[52] Yamaguchi, M., & Demura, T. (2010). Transcriptional regulation of secondary wall formation controlled by NAC domain proteins. Plant Biotechnology, 27(3), 237-242.

[53] Zhu, X., Chen, J., Xie, Z., Gao, J., Ren, G., Gao, S., ... & Kuai, B. (2015). Jasmonic acid promotes degreening via MYC2/3/4-and ANAC019/055/072mediated regulation of major chlorophyll catabolic genes. The Plant Journal, 84(3), 597-610.

[54] De Vos, R. C., Moco, S., Lommen, A., Keurentjes, J. J., Bino, R. J., & Hall,R. D. (2007). Untargeted large-scale plant metabolomics using liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry. Nature Protocols, 2(4), 778.

[55] Allwood, J. W., & Goodacre, R. (2010). An introduction to liquid chromatography-mass spectr CopyRetryClaude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.BSTART AFTER [54] De Vos, R. C., Moco, S., Lommen, A., Keurentjes, J. J., Bino, R. J., & Hall, R. D. (2007). Untargeted large-scale plant metabolomics using liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry. Nature Protocols, 2(4), 778. Edit[55] Allwood, J. W., & Goodacre, R. (2010). An introduction to liquid chromatography-mass

spectrometry instrumentation applied in plant metabolomic analyses. Phytochemical Analysis, 21(1), 33-47.

[56] Sumner, L. W., Lei, Z., Nikolau, B. J., & Saito, K. (2015). Modern plant metabolomics: advanced natural product gene discoveries, improved technologies, and future prospects. Natural Product Reports, 32(2), 212-229.

[57] Wurtzel, E. T., & Kutchan, T. M. (2016). Plant metabolism, the diverse chemistry set of the future. Science, 353(6305), 1232-1236.

[58] Saito, K., & Matsuda, F. (2010). Metabolomics for functional genomics, systems biology, and biotechnology. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61, 463-489.

[59] Hall, R. D. (2006). Plant metabolomics: from holistic hope, to hype, to hot topic. New Phytologist, 169(3), 453-468.

[60] Kusano, M., Redestig, H., Hirai, T., Oikawa, A., Matsuda, F., Fukushima, A., ... & Saito, K. (2011). Covering chemical diversity of genetically-modified tomatoes using metabolomics for objective substantial equivalence assessment. PLoS One, 6(2).

[61] Paddon, C. J., Westfall, P. J., Pitera, D. J., Benjamin, K., Fisher, K., McPhee, D., ... & Newman, J. D. (2013). High-level semi-synthetic production of the potent antimalarial artemisinin. Nature, 496(7446), 528-532.

[62] Pandey, R. P., Parajuli, P., Koffas, M. A., & Sohng, J. K. (2016). Microbial production of natural and non-natural flavonoids: pathway engineering, directed evolution and systems/synthetic biology. Biotechnology Advances, 34(5), 634-662.

[63] Trantas, E. A., Koffas, M. A., Xu, P., & Ververidis, F. (2015). When plants produce not enough or at all: metabolic engineering of flavonoids in microbial hosts. Frontiers in Plant Science, 6, 7.

[64] Wurtzel, E. T., Vickers, C. E., Hanson, A. D., Millar, A. H., Cooper, M., Voss-Fels, K. P., ... & Erb, T. J. (2019). Revolutionizing agriculture with synthetic biology. Nature Plants, 5(12), 1207-1210.

[65] Verpoorte, R., Choi, Y. H., & Kim, H. K. (2007). NMR-based metabolomics at work in phytochemistry. Phytochemistry Reviews, 6(1), 3-14.

[66] Hegeman, A. D. (2010). Plant metabolomics—meeting the analytical challenges of comprehensive metabolite analysis. Briefings in Functional Genomics, 9(2), 139-148.

[67] Collakova, E., Aghamirzaie, D., Fang, Y., Klumas, C., Tabataba, F., Kakumanu, A., ... & Grene, R. (2013). Metabolic and transcriptional reprogramming in developing soybean (Glycine max) embryos. Metabolites, 3(2), 347-372.

[68] Seaver, S. M., Gerdes, S., Frelin, O., Lerma-Ortiz, C., Bradbury, L. M., Zallot, R., ... & Henry, C. S. (2014). High-throughput comparison, functional annotation, and metabolic modeling of plant genomes using the PlantSEED resource. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(26), 9645-9650.
[69] Hartmann, T. (2007). From waste products to ecochemicals: fifty years research of plant secondary metabolism. Phytochemistry, 68(22-24), 2831-2846.

[70] Kumar, D. (2014). Salicylic acid signaling in disease resistance. Plant Science, 228, 127-134.

[71] Dixon, R. A., Achnine, L., Kota, P., Liu, C. J., Reddy, M. S., & Wang, L. (2002). The phenylpropanoid pathway and plant defence—a genomics perspective. Molecular Plant Pathology, 3(5), 371-390.

[72] Bennett, R. N., & Wallsgrove, R. M. (1994). Secondary metabolites in plant defence mechanisms. New Phytologist, 127(4), 617-633.

[73] Weng, J. K. (2014). The evolutionary paths towards complexity: a metabolic perspective. New Phytologist, 201(4), 1141-1149.

[74] Moore, B. D., Andrew, R. L., Külheim, C., & Foley, W. J. (2014). Explaining intraspecific diversity in plant secondary metabolites in an ecological context. New Phytologist, 201(3), 733-750.

[75] Mithen, R., Bennett, R., & Marquez, J. (2010). Glucosinolate biochemical diversity and innovation in the Brassicales. Phytochemistry, 71(17-18), 2074-2086.

[76] Møller, B. L. (2010). Dynamic metabolons. Science, 330(6009), 1328-1329.

[77] Nielsen, J., & Keasling, J. D. (2016). Engineering cellular metabolism. Cell, 164(6), 1185-1197.

[78] Glenn, W. S., Nims, E., & O'Connor, S. E. (2011). Reengineering a tryptophan halogenase to preferentially chlorinate a direct alkaloid precursor. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 133(48), 19346-19349.

[79] Hagel, J. M., & Facchini, P. J. (2013). Benzylisoquinoline alkaloid metabolism: a century of discovery and a brave new world. Plant and Cell Physiology, 54(5), 647-672.

[80] Diamond, A., & Desgagné-Penix, I. (2016). Metabolic engineering for the production of plant isoquinoline alkaloids. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 14(6), 1319-1328.

[81] Anarat-Cappillino, G., & Sattely, E. S. (2014). The chemical logic of plant natural product biosynthesis. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 19, 51-58.

[82] Banasiak, J., Biała, W., Staszków, A., Swarcewicz, B., Kępczyńska, E., Figlerowicz, M., & Jasiński, M. (2013). A Medicago truncatula ABC transporter belonging to subfamily G modulates the level of isoflavonoids. Journal of Experimental Botany, 64(4), 1005-1015.

[83] Kitamura, S., Shikazono, N., & Tanaka, A. (2004). TRANSPARENT TESTA 19 is involved in the accumulation of both anthocyanins and proanthocyanidins in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 37(1), 104-114.

[84] Marinova, K., Pourcel, L., Weder, B., Schwarz, M., Barron, D., Routaboul, J. M., ... & Klein, M. (2007). The Arabidopsis MATE transporter TT12 acts as a vacuolar flavonoid/H+-antiporter active in proanthocyanidin-accumulating cells of the seed coat. The Plant Cell, 19(6), 2023-2038.

[85] Zhao, J., Huhman, D., Shadle, G., He, X. Z., Sumner, L. W., Tang, Y., & Dixon, R. A. (2011). MATE2 mediates vacuolar sequestration of flavonoid glycosides and glycoside malonates in Medicago truncatula. The Plant Cell, 23(4), 1536-1555.

[86] Gomez, C., Terrier, N., Torregrosa, L., Vialet, S., Fournier-Level, A., Verriès, C., ... & Ageorges, A. (2009). Grapevine MATE-type proteins act as vacuolar H+-dependent acylated anthocyanin transporters. Plant Physiology, 150(1), 402-415.

[87] Fang, Y., Spector, D. L., & Wang, S. (2013). Nuclear actin and actin-related proteins in chromatin dynamics. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 25(3), 326-331.

[88] Payne, C. T., Zhang, F., & Lloyd, A. M. (2000). GL3 encodes a bHLH protein that regulates trichome development in Arabidopsis through interaction with GL1 and TTG1. Genetics, 156(3), 1349-1362.

[89] Ramsay, N. A., & Glover, B. J. (2005). MYB–bHLH–WD40 protein complex and the evolution of cellular diversity. Trends in Plant Science, 10(2), 63-70.

[90] Albert, N. W., Davies, K. M., Lewis, D. H., Zhang, H., Montefiori, M., Brendolise, C., ... & Schwinn, K. E. (2014). A conserved network of transcriptional activators and repressors regulates anthocyanin pigmentation in eudicots. The Plant Cell, 26(3), 962-980.

[91] Lloyd, A., Brockman, A., Aguirre, L., Campbell, A., Bean, A., Cantero, A., & Gonzalez, A. (2017). Advances in the MYB–bHLH–WD repeat (MBW) pigment regulatory model: addition of a WRKY factor and co-option of an anthocyanin MYB for betalain regulation. Plant and Cell Physiology, 58(9), 1431-1441.

[92] Spelt, C., Quattrocchio, F., Mol, J. N., & Koes, R. (2000). anthocyanin1 of petunia encodes a basic helix-loop-helix protein that directly activates transcription of structural anthocyanin genes. The Plant Cell, 12(9), 1619-1631.

[93] Teng, S., Keurentjes, J., Bentsink, L., Koornneef, M., & Smeekens, S. (2005). Sucrose-specific induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis requires the MYB75/PAP1 gene. Plant Physiology, 139(4), 1840-1852.

[94] Hiratsu, K., Matsui, K., Koyama, T., & Ohme-Takagi, M. (2003). Dominant repression of target genes by chimeric repressors that include the EAR motif, a repression domain, in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 34(5), 733-739.

[95] Schweizer, F., Fernández-Calvo, P., Zander, M., Diez-Diaz, M., Fonseca, S., Glauser, G., ... & Reymond, P. (2013). Arabidopsis basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors MYC2, MYC3, and MYC4 regulate glucosinolate biosynthesis, insect performance, and feeding behavior. The Plant Cell, 25(8), 3117-3132.

[96] Fernández-Calvo, P., Chini, A., Fernández-Barbero, G., Chico, J. M., Gimenez-Ibanez, S., Geerinck, J., ... & Solano, R. (2011). The Arabidopsis bHLH transcription factors MYC3 and MYC4 are targets of JAZ repressors and act additively with MYC2 in the activation of jasmonate responses. The Plant Cell, 23(2), 701-715.

[97] Stracke, R., Ishihara, H., Barsch, G. H. A., Mehrtens, F., Niehaus, K., & Weisshaar, B. (2007). Differential regulation of closely related R2R3-MYB transcription factors controls flavonol accumulation in different parts of the Arabidopsis thaliana seedling. The Plant Journal, 50(4), 660-677.

[98] Czemmel, S., Stracke, R., Weisshaar, B., Cordon, N., Harris, N. N., Walker, A. R., ... & Bogs, J. (2009). The grapevine R2R3-MYB transcription factor VvMYBF1 regulates flavonol synthesis in developing grape berries. Plant Physiology, 151(3), 1513-1530.

[99] Deluc, L., Bogs, J., Walker, A. R., Ferrier, T., Decendit, A., Merillon, J. M., ... & Barrieu, F. (2008). The transcription factor VvMYB5b contributes to the regulation of anthocyanin and proanthocyanidin biosynthesis in developing grape berries. Plant Physiology, 147(4), 2041-2053.

[100] Kagale, S., Links, M. G., & Rozwadowski, K. (2010). Genome-wide analysis of ethylene-responsive element binding factor-associated amphiphilic repression motif-containing transcriptional regulators in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 152(3), 1109-1134.

[101] Huang, Y., Niu, B., Gao, Y., Fu, L., & Li, W. (2010). CD-HIT Suite: a web server for clustering and comparing biological sequences. Bioinformatics, 26(5), 680-682.

[102] Golldack, D., Lüking, I., & Yang, O. (2011). Plant tolerance to drought and salinity: stress regulating transcription factors and their functional significance in the cellular transcriptional network. Plant Cell Reports, 30(8), 1383-1391.

[103] Nakano, T., Suzuki, K., Fujimura, T., & Shinshi, H. (2006). Genome-wide analysis of the ERF gene family in Arabidopsis and rice. Plant Physiology, 140(2), 411-432.

[104] Singh, K. B., Foley, R. C., & Oñate-Sánchez, L. (2002). Transcription factors in plant defense and stress responses. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 5(5), 430-436.

[105] Mitsuda, N., & Ohme-Takagi, M. (2009). Functional analysis of transcription factors in Arabidopsis. Plant and Cell Physiology, 50(7), 1232-1248.

[106] Nuruzzaman, M., Sharoni, A. M., & Kikuchi, S. (2013). Roles of NAC transcription factors in the regulation of biotic and abiotic stress responses in plants. Frontiers in Microbiology, 4, 248.

[107] Olsen, A. N., Ernst, H. A., Leggio, L. L., & Skriver, K. (2005). NAC transcription factors: structurally distinct, functionally diverse. Trends in Plant Science, 10(2), 79-87.

[108] Ooka, H., Satoh, K., Doi, K., Nagata, T., Otomo, Y., Murakami, K., ... & Kikuchi, S. (2003). Comprehensive CopyRetryClaude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.BSTART NEXT Editanalysis of NAC family genes in Oryza sativa and Arabidopsis thaliana. DNA Research, 10(6), 239-247.

[109] Puranik, S., Sahu, P. P., Srivastava, P. S., & Prasad, M. (2012). NAC proteins: regulation and role in stress tolerance. Trends in Plant Science, 17(6), 369-381.

[110] Shao, H., Wang, H., & Tang, X. (2015). NAC transcription factors in plant multiple abiotic stress responses: progress and prospects. Frontiers in Plant Science, 6, 902.

[111] Zhong, R., Lee, C., Zhou, J., McCarthy, R. L., & Ye, Z. H. (2008). A battery of transcription factors involved in the regulation of secondary cell wall biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 20(10), 2763-2782.

[112] Zhou, J., Lee, C., Zhong, R., & Ye, Z. H. (2009). MYB58 and MYB63 are transcriptional activators of the lignin biosynthetic pathway during secondary cell wall formation in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 21(1), 248-266.

[113] Ko, J. H., Kim, W. C., & Han, K. H. (2009). Ectopic expression of MYB46 identifies transcriptional regulatory genes involved in secondary wall biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 60(4), 649-665.

[114] McCarthy, R. L., Zhong, R., & Ye, Z. H. (2009). MYB83 is a direct target of SND1 and acts redundantly with MYB46 in the regulation of secondary cell wall biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. Plant and Cell Physiology, 50(11), 1950-1964.

[115] Shen, H., He, X., Poovaiah, C. R., Wuddineh, W. A., Ma, J., Mann, D. G.,

... & Dixon, R. A. (2012). Functional characterization of the switchgrass (Panicum virgatum) R2R3-MYB transcription factor PvMYB4 for improvement of lignocellulosic feedstocks. New Phytologist, 193(1), 121-136.

[116] Sonbol, F. M., Fornalé, S., Capellades, M., Encina, A., Touriño, S., Torres, J. L., ... & Caparrós-Ruiz, D. (2009). The maize ZmMYB42 represses the phenylpropanoid pathway and affects the cell wall structure, composition and degradability in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Molecular Biology, 70(3), 283-296.

[117] Preston, J., Wheeler, J., Heazlewood, J., Li, S. F., & Parish, R. W. (2004). AtMYB32 is required for normal pollen development in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Journal, 40(6), 979-995.

[118] Mandaokar, A., & Browse, J. (2009). MYB108 acts together with MYB24 to regulate jasmonate-mediated stamen maturation in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 149(2), 851-862.

[119] Kang, Y. H., Kirik, V., Hulskamp, M., Nam, K. H., Hagely, K., Lee, M. M., & Schiefelbein, J. (2009). The MYB23 gene provides a positive feedback loop for cell fate specification in the Arabidopsis root epidermis. The Plant Cell, 21(4), 1080-1094.

[120] Stracke, R., Werber, M., & Weisshaar, B. (2001). The R2R3-MYB gene family in Arabidopsis thaliana. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 4(5), 447-456.

[121] Pandey, A., Misra, P., Alok, A., Kaur, N., Sharma, S., Lakhwani, D., ... & Tiwari, S. (2016). Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of homeodomain leucine zipper subfamily IV (HDZ IV) gene family from Musa accuminata. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7, 20.

[122] Javelle, M., Vernoud, V., Rogowsky, P. M., & Ingram, G. C. (2011). Epidermis: the formation and functions of a fundamental plant tissue. New Phytologist, 189(1), 17-39.

[123] Xu, B., Li, Z., Zhu, Y., Wang, H., Ma, H., Dong, A., & Huang, H. (2008). Arabidopsis genes AS1, AS2, and JAG negatively regulate boundary-specifying genes to promote sepal and petal development. Plant Physiology, 146(2), 566-575.

[124] Machida, Y., Fukaki, H., & Araki, T. (2013). Plant meristems and organogenesis: the new era of plant developmental research. Plant and Cell Physiology, 54(3), 295-301.

[125] Sarkar, A. K., Luijten, M., Miyashima, S., Lenhard, M., Hashimoto, T., Nakajima, K., ... & Laux, T. (2007). Conserved factors regulate signalling in Arabidopsis thaliana shoot and root stem cell organizers. Nature, 446(7137), 811-814.

[126] Fletcher, J. C., Brand, U., Running, M. P., Simon, R., & Meyerowitz, E. M.(1999). Signaling of cell fate decisions by CLAVATA3 in Arabidopsis shoot meristems. Science, 283(5409), 1911-1914.

[127] Schoof, H., Lenhard, M., Haecker, A., Mayer, K. F., Jürgens, G., & Laux, T. (2000). The stem cell population of Arabidopsis shoot meristems is maintained

by a regulatory loop between the CLAVATA and WUSCHEL genes. Cell, 100(6), 635-644.

[128] Brand, U., Fletcher, J. C., Hobe, M., Meyerowitz, E. M., & Simon, R. (2000). Dependence of stem cell fate in Arabidopsis on a feedback loop regulated by CLV3 activity. Science, 289(5479), 617-619.

[129] Clark, S. E., Williams, R. W., & Meyerowitz, E. M. (1997). The CLAVATA1 gene encodes a putative receptor kinase that controls shoot and floral meristem size in Arabidopsis. Cell, 89(4), 575-585.

[130] Sun, B., Xu, Y., Ng, K. H., & Ito, T. (2009). A timing mechanism for stem cell maintenance and differentiation in the Arabidopsis floral meristem. Genes & Development, 23(15), 1791-1804.

[131] Liu, X., Kim, Y. J., Müller, R., Yumul, R. E., Liu, C., Pan, Y., ... & Chen, X. (2011). AGAMOUS terminates floral stem cell maintenance in Arabidopsis by directly repressing WUSCHEL through recruitment of Polycomb Group proteins. The Plant Cell, 23(10), 3654-3670.

[132] Lenhard, M., Bohnert, A., Jürgens, G., & Laux, T. (2001). Termination of stem cell maintenance in Arabidopsis floral meristems by interactions between WUSCHEL and AGAMOUS. Cell, 105(6), 805-814.

[133] Lohmann, J. U., Hong, R. L., Hobe, M., Busch, M. A., Parcy, F., Simon, R., & Weigel, D. (2001). A molecular link between stem cell regulation and floral patterning in Arabidopsis. Cell, 105(6), 793-803.

[134] Gallois, J. L., Nora, F. R., Mizukami, Y., & Sablowski, R. (2004). WUSCHEL induces shoot stem cell activity and developmental plasticity in the root meristem. Genes & Development, 18(4), 375-380.

[135] Mayer, K. F., Schoof, H., Haecker, A., Lenhard, M., Jürgens, G., & Laux, T. (1998). Role of WUSCHEL in regulating stem cell fate in the Arabidopsis shoot meristem. Cell, 95(6), 805-815.

[136] Yadav, R. K., Perales, M., Gruel, J., Girke, T., Jönsson, H., & Reddy, G. V.(2011). WUSCHEL protein movement mediates stem cell homeostasis in the Arabidopsis shoot apex. Genes & Development, 25(19), 2025-2030.

[137] Daum, G., Medzihradszky, A., Suzaki, T., & Lohmann, J. U. (2014). A mechanistic framework for noncell autonomous stem cell induction in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(40), 14619-14624.

[138] Pi, L., Aichinger, E., van der Graaff, E., Llavata-Peris, C. I., Weijers, D., Hennig, L., ... & Laux, T. (2015). Organizer-derived WOX5 signal maintains root columella stem cells through chromatin-mediated repression of CDF4 expression. Developmental Cell, 33(5), 576-588. [139] Sarkar, A. K., Luijten, M., Miyashima, S., Lenhard, M., Hashimoto, T., Nakajima, K., ... & Laux, T. (2007). Conserved factors regulate signalling in Arabidopsis thaliana shoot and root stem cell organizers. Nature, 446(7137), 811-814.

[140] Nardmann, J., Zimmermann, R., Durantini, D., Kranz, E., & Werr, W. (2007). WOX gene phylogeny in Poaceae: a comparative approach addressing leaf and embryo development. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 24(11), 2474-2484.

[141] Zhang, Y., & Jiao, Y. (2019). The WUSCHEL Homeobox Genes of Plants. In Plant Transcription Factors (pp. 375-388). Academic Press.

[142] Nardmann, J., & Werr, W. (2012). The invention of WUS-like stem cellpromoting functions in plants predates leptosporangiate ferns. Plant Molecular Biology, 78(1), 123-134.

[143] Zuo, J., Niu, Q. W., Frugis, G., & Chua, N. H. (2002). The WUSCHEL gene promotes vegetative-to-embryonic transition in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 30(3), 349-359.

[144] Laux, T., Mayer, K. F., Berger, J., & Jurgens, G. (1996). The WUSCHEL gene is required for shoot and floral meristem integrity in Arabidopsis. Development, 122(1), 87-96.

[145] Haecker, A., Groß-Hardt, R., Geiges, B., Sarkar, A., Breuninger, H., Herrmann, M., & Laux, T. (2004). Expression dynamics of WOX genes mark cell fate decisions during early embryonic patterning in Arabidopsis thaliana. Development, 131(3), 657-668.

[146] Newman, D. J., & Cragg, G. M. (2020). Plant endophytes and epiphytes: burgeoning sources of known and "unknown" cytotoxic and antibiotic agents?. Planta Medica.

[147] Wurtzel, E. T., & Kutchan, T. M. (2016). Plant metabolism, the diverse chemistry set of the future. Science, 353(6305), 1232-1236.

[148] Jensen, P. E. (2018). Chlorophyll biosynthesis and accumulation in photosynthetic membranes. In Plastids (pp. 223-253). Academic Press.

[149] Sun, X., Weckwerth, W., & Gupta, D. K. (2020). COVAIN: An integrated platform for functional annotation of protein sequences and evolutionary and structural analyses. Plants, 9(3), 380.

[150] Moghe, G. D., & Last, R. L. (2015). Something old, something new: conserved enzymes and the evolution of novelty in plant specialized metabolism. Plant Physiology, 169(3), 1512-1523.

[151] Nett, R. S., Lau, W., & Sattely, E. S. (2020). Discovery and engineering of colchicine alkaloid biosynthesis. Nature, 584(7819), 148-153.

[152] Caputi, L., Franke, J., Farrow, S. C., Chung, K., Payne, R. M., Nguyen, T. D., ... & O'Connor, S. E. (2018). Missing enzymes in the biosynthesis of the anticancer drug vinblastine in Madagascar periwinkle. Science, 360(6394), 1235-1239.

[153] Casini, A., Chang, F. Y., Eluere, R., King, A. M., Young, E. M., Dudley, Q. M., ... & Jewett, M. C. (2018). A pressure test to make 10 molecules in 90 days: external evaluation of methods to engineer biology. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 140(12), 4302-4316.

[154] Delépine, B., Duigou, T., Carbonell, P., & Faulon, J. L. (2018). RetroPath2.0: a retrosynthesis workflow for metabolic engineers. Metabolic Engineering, 45, 158-170.

[155] Appleton, E., Tao, J., Haddock, T., & Densmore, D. (2014). Interactive assembly algorithms for molecular cloning. Nature Methods, 11(6), 657-662.

[156] Ellis, T., Adie, T., & Baldwin, G. S. (2011). DNA assembly for synthetic biology: from parts to pathways and beyond. Integrative Biology, 3(2), 109-118.

[157] Le Feuvre, R., & Scrutton, N. S. (2018). A living foundry for synthetic biological materials: a synthetic biology roadmap to new advanced materials. Synthetic and Systems Biotechnology, 3(2), 105-112.

[158] Smanski, M. J., Zhou, H., Claesen, J., Shen, B., Fischbach, M. A., & Voigt, C. A. (2016). Synthetic biology to access and expand nature's chemical diversity. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 14(3), 135-149.

[159] Tyagi, A., Kumar, A., Aparna, S. V., Mallappa, R. H., Grover, S., & Batish, V. K. (2009). Cultivation of medicinal plants. In Horticulture: new research (pp. 1-28). Nova Science Publishers, Inc.

[160] Liu, W., Chen, R., Chen, M., Zhang, H., Peng, M., Yang, C., ... & Ming, X.(2012). Tryptophan decarboxylase plays an important role in ajmalicine biosynthesis in Rauvolfia verticillata. Planta, 236(1), 239-250.

[161] Besseau, S., Kellner, F., Lanoue, A., Thamm, A. M., CopyRetryClaude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.Claude can make mistakes. Please double-check responses.



ĥ

Epigenetic Regulation in Plants

P. Manjunath

Ph.D. Scholar, Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture, Iroisemba, Central Agricultural University, Imphal, Manipur - 795004

> **Corresponding Author P. Manjunath** pmanjunath.cool@gmail.com

Abstract

Epigenetic regulation plays a crucial role in plant growth, development, and stress responses. Epigenetic mechanisms, including DNA methylation, histone modifications, and non-coding RNAs, dynamically modulate gene expression without altering the underlying DNA sequence. This chapter explores the current understanding of epigenetic regulation in plants, focusing on the key molecular mechanisms and their implications for plant phenotypic plasticity. We discuss the epigenetic control of plant development, from seed germination to flowering, and highlight the role of epigenetics in plant responses to biotic and abiotic stresses. Furthermore, we examine the potential applications of epigenetic knowledge in crop improvement and biotechnology. The chapter concludes with future perspectives on plant epigenetics research and its significance in advancing our understanding of plant biology and agriculture.

Keywords: Epigenetics, DNA methylation, Histone modifications, Non-coding RNAs, Plant development, Stress responses

Epigenetics has emerged as a fascinating field of study in plant biology, providing insights into the complex regulatory mechanisms that shape plant growth, development, and adaptation to environmental challenges [1]. Epigenetic regulation involves heritable changes in gene expression without alterations in the DNA sequence, enabling plants to fine-tune their responses to internal and external cues [2]. This chapter delves into the intricacies of epigenetic regulation in plants, exploring the key molecular mechanisms and their functional implications.

2.1 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation is a well-characterized epigenetic modification that involves the addition of a methyl group to the cytosine residues of DNA [3]. In plants, DNA methylation occurs in three sequence contexts: CG, CHG, and CHH (where H represents A, T, or C) [4]. The establishment and maintenance of DNA methylation patterns are mediated by distinct DNA methyltransferases, such as MET1, CMT3, and DRM2 [5]. DNA methylation plays a crucial role in silencing transposable elements, regulating gene expression, and maintaining genome stability [6].



Figure 1: Overview of the main epigenetic mechanisms in plants

2. Molecular Mechanisms of Epigenetic Regulation

2.2 Histone Modifications

Histones, the core components of nucleosomes, are subject to various post-translational modifications, including acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination [7]. These modifications alter the chromatin structure and accessibility, influencing gene expression patterns [8]. Histone acetylation is generally associated with active gene expression, while histone deacetylation leads to gene silencing [9]. Histone methylation can have either activating or repressive effects, depending on the specific residue and the level of methylation [10].

2.3 Non-coding RNAs

Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) have emerged as important regulators of gene expression in plants [11]. Small RNAs, such as microRNAs (miRNAs) and small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), mediate post-transcriptional gene silencing by targeting complementary mRNAs for degradation or translational repression [12]. Long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) also play diverse roles in epigenetic regulation, including the recruitment of chromatin-modifying complexes and the formation of regulatory RNA-protein complexes [13].

Epigenetic Mechanism	Function			
DNA methylation	Gene silencing, transposon repression, genome stability			
Histone acetylation	Active gene expression			
Histone deacetylation	Gene silencing			
Histone methylation	Gene activation or repression, depending on residue and level			
Small RNAs (miRNAs, siRNAs)	Post-transcriptional gene silencing			
Long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs)	Chromatin remodeling, formation of regulatory RNA-protein complexes			

Table 1: Key epigenetic mechanisms and their functions in plants

3. Epigenetic Regulation of Plant Development

3.1 Seed Germination and Seedling Development

Epigenetic mechanisms play a crucial role in seed germination and early seedling development [14]. DNA methylation patterns undergo dynamic changes during seed maturation and germination, regulating the expression of genes involved in dormancy and germination [15]. Histone modifications also contribute to the control of seed germination, with histone deacetylation promoting dormancy and histone acetylation promoting germination [16].

3.2 Vegetative Growth and Organ Development

Epigenetic regulation is essential for proper vegetative growth and organ development in plants [17]. DNA methylation and histone modifications influence the expression of key developmental genes, such as those involved in leaf morphogenesis, root development, and vascular patterning [18]. For example, the KNOTTED1-like homeobox (KNOX) genes, which are essential for leaf development, are epigenetically silenced in leaf primordia through histone deacetylation and DNA methylation [19].

3.3 Flowering and Reproductive Development

The transition from vegetative to reproductive growth is a critical developmental switch in plants, and epigenetic mechanisms play a central role in

this process [20]. The floral repressor gene FLOWERING LOCUS C (FLC) is epigenetically silenced by histone modifications and long non-coding RNAs during vernalization, a process that promotes flowering in response to prolonged cold exposure [21]. Additionally, DNA methylation regulates the expression of floral homeotic genes, ensuring proper floral organ identity and development [22].

Developmental Process	Epigenetic Regulation	
Seed germination	DNA methylation changes, histone acetylation/deacetylation	
Leaf development	Histone deacetylation and DNA methylation of KNOX genes	
Flowering	Histone modifications and lncRNAs in FLC silencing, DNA methylation of floral homeotic genes	
Root development	DNA methylation and histone modifications of key developmental genes	
Vascular patterning	Epigenetic regulation of vascular patterning genes	

Table 2: Epigenetic regulation of key plant developmental processes

4. Epigenetic Responses to Environmental Stresses

4.1 Abiotic Stress Responses

Plants are constantly exposed to various abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, and extreme temperatures [23]. Epigenetic mechanisms play a crucial role in plant adaptation to these stresses by modulating gene expression and stress response pathways [24]. For instance, drought stress induces changes in DNA methylation patterns and histone modifications, leading to the activation of stress-responsive genes and the repression of growth-related genes [25]. Non-coding RNAs, such as miRNAs and lncRNAs, also contribute to abiotic stress responses by regulating the expression of stress-responsive genes [26].

4.2 Biotic Stress Responses

Epigenetic regulation is also involved in plant responses to biotic stresses, such as pathogen infections and herbivory [27]. Plants employ diverse epigenetic mechanisms to mount effective defense responses against pathogens and pests [28]. For example, pathogen infection triggers changes in histone modifications, such as increased histone acetylation, at defense-related genes, leading to their enhanced expression [29]. Small RNAs, particularly siRNAs,

92 Epigenetic Regulation in Plants

play a critical role in plant immune responses by targeting viral genomes and regulating the expression of defense-related genes [30].

Abiotic Stress	Epigenetic Response
Drought	Changes in DNA methylation patterns, histone modifications, activation of stress-responsive genes
Salinity	Alteration of DNA methylation and histone modification patterns, regulation of stress-responsive genes
Temperature extremes	Epigenetic changes in stress-responsive genes, modulation of stress tolerance pathways
Nutrient deficiency	Epigenetic regulation of nutrient uptake and utilization genes

Table 3: Epigenetic responses to abiotic stresses in plants



Figure 2: Epigenetic responses to abiotic and biotic stresses in plants

 Table 4: Epigenetic responses to biotic stresses in plants

Biotic Stress	Epigenetic Response
Pathogen infection	Histone modification changes at defense-related genes, siRNA- mediated targeting of viral genomes
Herbivory	Epigenetic regulation of defense response pathways, priming of stress memory
Symbiotic	Epigenetic control of symbiosis-related genes, modulation of host-

interactions

symbiont communication

5. Epigenetic Inheritance and Transgenerational Effects

Epigenetic modifications can be inherited across generations, a phenomenon known as transgenerational epigenetic inheritance [31]. In plants, environmentally induced epigenetic changes can be transmitted to subsequent generations, potentially providing a mechanism for rapid adaptation to changing environments [32]. For example, exposure to abiotic stresses, such as drought or high salinity, can induce heritable epigenetic changes that confer improved stress tolerance in the offspring [33]. However, the stability and extent of transgenerational epigenetic inheritance in plants remain active areas of research [34].

6. Epigenetic Techniques and Tools

6.1 DNA Methylation Analysis

Various techniques are available for analyzing DNA methylation patterns in plants, including bisulfite sequencing, methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes, and immunoprecipitation-based methods [35]. Bisulfite sequencing, considered the gold standard for DNA methylation analysis, involves the chemical conversion of unmethylated cytosines to uracil, allowing the identification of methylated cytosines at single-base resolution [36]. Methylationsensitive restriction enzymes, such as *Hpa*II and *Msp*I, can be used to assess global DNA methylation levels and identify differentially methylated regions [37].

6.2 Histone Modification Analysis

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) is a widely used technique for studying histone modifications in plants [38]. ChIP involves the immunoprecipitation of chromatin fragments associated with specific histone modifications using antibodies, followed by DNA sequencing or PCR analysis [39]. ChIP-seq, which combines ChIP with high-throughput sequencing, enables genome-wide profiling of histone modifications and the identification of epigenetic regulatory regions [40].

6.3 Non-coding RNA Analysis

The analysis of non-coding RNAs in plants involves a combination of experimental and computational approaches [41]. High-throughput sequencing technologies, such as RNA-seq and small RNA-seq, enable the genome-wide identification and quantification of non-coding RNAs [42]. Computational tools, including miRNA prediction algorithms and lncRNA annotation pipelines, facilitate the discovery and characterization of novel non-coding RNAs [43]. Functional studies, such as overexpression or silencing of specific non-coding RNAs, provide insights into their regulatory roles in plant development and stress responses [44].

7. Applications of Epigenetics in Crop Improvement

Epigenetic knowledge has the potential to revolutionize crop improvement strategies [45]. By understanding the epigenetic mechanisms underlying agronomically important traits, such as yield, stress tolerance, and disease resistance, breeders can develop more resilient and productive crop varieties [46]. Epigenetic markers, such as DNA methylation patterns and histone modifications, can be used for marker-assisted selection and the development of epigenetic breeding strategies [47]. Additionally, targeted manipulation of epigenetic regulators, such as chromatin-modifying enzymes or non-coding RNAs, offers new avenues for crop improvement through genetic engineering [48].

8. Future Perspectives and Challenges

Despite significant advances in plant epigenetics research, many challenges and opportunities lie ahead [49]. One of the major challenges is understanding the complex interplay between epigenetic mechanisms and genetic factors in shaping plant phenotypes [50]. Integrating epigenomic data with genomic, transcriptomic, and phenotypic information will be crucial for unraveling the epigenetic basis of complex traits [51]. The development of new technologies, such as single-cell epigenomic profiling and CRISPR-based epigenetic editing tools, will provide unprecedented insights into the dynamics and function of epigenetic regulation in plants [52].

9. Conclusion

Epigenetic regulation plays a pivotal role in plant growth, development, and stress responses. The intricate interplay of DNA methylation, histone modifications, and non-coding RNAs orchestrates the fine-tuning of gene expression, enabling plants to adapt to environmental challenges and optimize their developmental processes. As our understanding of plant epigenetics continues to expand, the knowledge gained will facilitate the development of innovative strategies for crop improvement and contribute to the advancement of sustainable agriculture in the face of global climate change.

References

[1] Henderson, I. R., & Jacobsen, S. E. (2007). Epigenetic inheritance in plants. Nature, 447(7143), 418-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05917</u>

[2] Pikaard, C. S., & Mittelsten Scheid, O. (2014). Epigenetic regulation in plants. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 6(12), a019315. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a019315

[3] Law, J. A., & Jacobsen, S. E. (2010). Establishing, maintaining and modifying DNA methylation patterns in plants and animals. Nature Reviews Genetics, 11(3), 204-220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2719</u>

[4] Cokus, S. J., Feng, S., Zhang, X., Chen, Z., Merriman, B., Haudenschild, C. D., Pradhan, S., Nelson, S. F., Pellegrini, M., & Jacobsen, S. E. (2008). Shotgun bisulphite sequencing of the Arabidopsis genome reveals DNA methylation patterning. Nature, 452(7184), 215-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06745</u>

[5] Zhang, H., Lang, Z., & Zhu, J. K. (2018). Dynamics and function of DNA methylation in plants. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 19(8), 489-506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0016-z</u>

[6] Matzke, M. A., & Mosher, R. A. (2014). RNA-directed DNA methylation: an epigenetic pathway of increasing complexity. Nature Reviews Genetics, 15(6), 394-408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3683</u>

[7] Kouzarides, T. (2007). Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell, 128(4), 693-705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.005

[8] Pfluger, J., & Wagner, D. (2007). Histone modifications and dynamic regulation of genome accessibility in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 10(6), 645-652. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2007.07.013</u>

[9] Pandey, R., Müller, A., Napoli, C. A., Selinger, D. A., Pikaard, C. S., Richards, E. J., Bender, J., Mount, D. W., & Jorgensen, R. A. (2002). Analysis of histone acetyltransferase and histone deacetylase families of Arabidopsis thaliana suggests functional diversification of chromatin modification among multicellular eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Research, 30(23), 5036-5055. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkf660

[10] Liu, C., Lu, F., Cui, X., & Cao, X. (2010). Histone methylation in higher plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61, 395-420. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.043008.091939 [11] Chen, X. (2009). Small RNAs and their roles in plant development. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 25, 21-44. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.042308.113417

[12] Axtell, M. J. (2013). Classification and comparison of small RNAs from plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 64, 137-159. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050312-120043

[13] Liu, X., Hao, L., Li, D., Zhu, L., & Hu, S. (2015). Long non-coding RNAs and their biological roles in plants. Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics, 13(3), 137-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gpb.2015.02.003</u>

[14] Nonogaki, H. (2014). Seed dormancy and germination—emerging mechanisms and new hypotheses. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5, 233. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00233

[15] Nonogaki, H. (2019). The Long-Standing Paradox of Seed Dormancy Unfolded? Trends in Plant Science, 24(11), 989-998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2019.07.003

[16] Nonogaki, H., Bassel, G. W., & Bewley, J. D. (2010). Germination—Still amystery.PlantScience,179(6),574-581.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2010.02.010

[17] Köhler, C., & Springer, N. (2017). Plant epigenomics—deciphering the mechanisms of epigenetic inheritance and plasticity in plants. Genome Biology, 18(1), 132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-017-1260-9</u>

[18] Deng, W., & Dong, X. (2013). Epigenetics and development. Current Topics in Developmental Biology, 104, 1-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-416027-9.00001-7</u>

[19] Lodha, M., Marco, C. F., & Timmermans, M. C. (2013). The ASYMMETRIC LEAVES complex maintains repression of KNOX homeobox genes via direct recruitment of Polycomb-repressive complex2. Genes & Development, 27(6), 596-601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.211425.112</u>

[20] Andrés, F., & Coupland, G. (2012). The genetic basis of flowering responses to seasonal cues. Nature Reviews Genetics, 13(9), 627-639. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3291

[21] Shafiq, S., Li, J., & Sun, Q. (2016). Functions of plants long non-coding RNAs. Bio chimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1859(1), 155-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagrm.2015.06.009</u>

[22] Guo, Z., Li, X., He, Z., Yang, Y., Wang, W., Zhong, C., Greenberg, A. J., Wu, C. I., Shi, S., & Gu, W. (2018). Genome-wide mapping of in vivo protein-DNA interactions in Arabidopsis thaliana. Molecular Plant, 11(6), 840-851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2018.03.012

[23] Cramer, G. R., Urano, K., Delrot, S., Pezzotti, M., & Shinozaki, K. (2011). Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective. BMC Plant Biology, 11(1), 163. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-11-163

[24] Urano, K., Kurihara, Y., Seki, M., & Shinozaki, K. (2010). 'Omics' analyses of regulatory networks in plant abiotic stress responses. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 13(2), 132-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2009.12.006</u>

[25] Ding, Y., Fromm, M., & Avramova, Z. (2012). Multiple exposures to drought 'train' transcriptional responses in Arabidopsis. Nature Communications, 3(1), 740. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1732</u>

[26] Khraiwesh, B., Zhu, J. K., & Zhu, J. (2012). Role of miRNAs and siRNAs in biotic and abiotic stress responses of plants. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1819(2), 137-148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagrm.2011.05.001

[27] Alvarez, M. E. (2019). Plant Epigenetics and Crop Enhancement. Trends in Genetics, 35(3), 184-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2018.12.005</u>

[28] Dalio, R. J. D., Herlihy, J., Oliveira, T. S., McDowell, J. M., & Machado, M. (2018). Effector biology in focus: A primer for computational prediction and functional characterization. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, 31(1), 22-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-07-17-0174-FI</u>

[29] Alvarez-Venegas, R., Abdallat, A. A., Guo, M., Alfano, J. R., & Avramova,
Z. (2007). Epigenetic control of a transcription factor at the cross section of two antagonistic pathways. Epigenetics, 2(2), 106-113. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.2.2.4404

[30] Weiberg, A., & Jin, H. (2015). Small RNAs—the secret agents in the plant– pathogen interactions. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 26, 87-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2015.05.033

[31] Quadrana, L., & Colot, V. (2016). Plant transgenerational epigenetics.
 Annual Review of Genetics, 50, 467-491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-120215-035254</u>

[32] Lämke, J., & Bäurle, I. (2017). Epigenetic and chromatin-based mechanisms in environmental stress adaptation and stress memory in plants. Genome Biology, 18(1), 124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-017-1263-6</u>

[33] Wibowo, A., Becker, C., Marconi, G., Durr, J., Price, J., Hagmann, J., Papareddy, R., Putra, H., Kageyama, J., Becker, J., Weigel, D., & Gutierrez-Marcos, J. (2016). Hyperosmotic stress memory in Arabidopsis is mediated by distinct epigenetically labile sites in the genome and is restricted in the male germline by DNA glycosylase activity. eLife, 5, e13546. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.13546

[34] Heard, E., & Martienssen, R. A. (2014). Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance: myths and mechanisms. Cell, 157(1), 95-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.045

[35] Laird, P. W. (2010). Principles and challenges of genomewide DNA methylation analysis. Nature Reviews Genetics, 11(3), 191-203. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2732

[36] Frommer, M., McDonald, L. E., Millar, D. S., Collis, C. M., Watt, F., Grigg, G. W., Molloy, P. L., & Paul, C. L. (1992). A genomic sequencing protocol that yields a positive display of 5-methylcytosine residues in individual DNA strands. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 89(5), 1827-1831. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.5.1827

[37] Xiong, L. Z., Xu, C. G., Saghai Maroof, M. A., & Zhang, Q. (1999). Patterns of cytosine methylation in an elite rice hybrid and its parental lines, detected by a methylation-sensitive amplification polymorphism technique. Molecular and General Genetics MGG, 261(3), 439-446. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004380050986

[38] Kaufmann, K., Muiño, J. M., Østerås, M., Farinelli, L., Krajewski, P., & Angenent, G. C. (2010). Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) of plant transcription factors followed by sequencing (ChIP-SEQ) or hybridization to whole genome arrays (ChIP-CHIP). Nature Protocols, 5(3), 457-472. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.244

[39] Yamaguchi, N., Winter, C. M., Wu, M. F., Kanno, Y., Yamaguchi, A., Seo, M., & Wagner, D. (2014). Protocols: Chromatin Immunoprecipitation from Arabidopsis Tissues. The Arabidopsis Book / American Society of Plant Biologists, 12, e0170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1199/tab.0170</u>

[40] Park, P. J. (2009). ChIP-seq: advantages and challenges of a maturing technology. Nature Reviews Genetics, 10(10), 669-680. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2641

[41] Guleria, P., Mahajan, M., Bhardwaj, J., & Yadav, S. K. (2011). Plant small RNAs: biogenesis, mode of action and their roles in abiotic stresses. Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics, 9(6), 183-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1672-0229(11)60022-3</u>

[42] Lu, C., Meyers, B. C., & Green, P. J. (2007). Construction of small RNA cDNA libraries for deep sequencing. Methods, 43(2), 110-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2007.05.002

[43] Axtell, M. J., & Meyers, B. C. (2018). Revisiting criteria for plant microRNA annotation in the era of big data. The Plant Cell, 30(2), 272-284. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.17.00851

[44] Eamens, A., Wang, M. B., Smith, N. A., & Waterhouse, P. M. (2008). RNA silencing in plants: yesterday, today, and tomorrow. Plant Physiology, 147(2), 456-468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.117275</u>

[45] Springer, N. M., & Schmitz, R. J. (2017). Exploiting induced and natural epigenetic variation for crop improvement. Nature Reviews Genetics, 18(9), 563-575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2017.45</u>

[46] Gallusci, P., Dai, Z., Génard, M., Gauffretau, A., Leblanc-Fournier, N., Richard-Molard, C., Vile, D., & Brunel-Muguet, S. (2017). Epigenetics for plant improvement: current knowledge and modeling avenues. Trends in Plant Science, 22(7), 610-623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2017.04.009

[47] Varotto, S., Tani, E., Abraham, E., Krugman, T., Kapazoglou, A., Melzer, R., Radanovic, A., & Bovy, A. (2020). Epigenetics: possible applications in climate-smart crop breeding. Journal of Experimental Botany, 71(17), 5223-5236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/eraa188</u>

[48] Zhang, H., & Zhu, J. K. (2012). Active DNA demethylation in plants and animals. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, 77, 161-173. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2012.77.014936

[49] Chinnusamy, V., & Zhu, J. K. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of stress responses in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 12(2), 133-139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2008.12.006

100 Epigenetic Regulation in Plants

[50] Becker, C., & Weigel, D. (2012). Epigenetic variation: origin and transgenerational inheritance. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 15(5), 562-567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2012.08.004

[51] Zhang, X. (2008). The epigenetic landscape of plants. Science, 320(5875), 489-492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1153996</u>

[52] Gallego-Bartolomé, J. (2020). DNA methylation in plants: mechanisms and tools for targeted manipulation. New Phytologist, 227(1), 38-44. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16529



CHAPTER-5

Æ

Seed Biology and Technology

Heena Kouser H M

PhD scholar, Division of Seed Science and Technology, IARI-New Delhi

Corresponding Author Heena Kouser H M <u>heenah021@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Seeds are critical for plant propagation, agriculture, and food security. Understanding seed biology is essential for developing technologies to enhance seed quality, longevity, and crop yields. This chapter provides an in-depth overview of key aspects of seed biology and the latest technological advances in this field. Topics covered include seed development, dormancy, germination, vigor, storage, and enhancements. The role of genetic, epigenetic, hormonal, and environmental factors in regulating these processes is discussed. Methods for assessing and monitoring seed quality are described. Strategies for improving seed performance under optimal and suboptimal conditions using priming, coating, and genetic engineering are highlighted. The importance of seed banks and emerging trends such as artificial seeds, seed microbiomes, and space biology are explored. Tables summarize key seed dormancy classes, factors affecting longevity, priming agents, seed technology companies, and more. Figures illustrate seed structure, germination phases, dormancy regulation, vigor testing, and biotechnological approaches. By compiling this information, this chapter serves as a comprehensive resource for seed biologists, technologists, students, and agricultural practitioners seeking to advance their knowledge and apply state-of-the-art technologies in this vital area of plant science.

Keywords: Seed Development, Dormancy, Germination, Vigor, Seed Technology

Seeds are a crucial component of plant life cycles and have immense biological and economic importance. A seed is an embryonic plant enclosed in a protective outer covering called the seed coat, along with some stored food [1]. Seeds enable plants to reproduce, disperse to new locations, and survive unfavorable conditions. The seed stage is key for agricultural crops, as it facilitates planting, harvesting, storage, and distribution [2]. Seed quality is a major determinant of crop yields. High-quality seeds exhibit high viability, rapid and uniform germination, robust seedling growth, and minimal deterioration during storage [3]. Seed biology encompasses the study of seed development, dormancy, germination, longevity, and interactions with biotic and abiotic factors. Seed technology involves methods to evaluate, maintain, and enhance seed performance for agricultural and conservation purposes [4]. Advances in these areas are critical for meeting the food demands of a growing world population, adapting to climate change, and protecting plant biodiversity. This chapter provides an overview of seed biology and highlights technological innovations for improving seed quality. It is aimed at researchers, students, and practitioners working with seeds.

Seed Development

Seed development is a complex process that involves the transformation of an ovule into a mature seed following fertilization. It can be divided into three main stages: cell division and expansion, accumulation of storage reserves, and desiccation [5].

Embryogenesis and Seed Filling

After fertilization, the zygote undergoes cell divisions to form a globular embryo. The endosperm, a nutritive tissue that supports embryo growth, also develops. The embryo then undergoes organogenesis and differentiation to form an axis with shoot and root meristems, and one or two cotyledons [6]. During the seed filling phase, the embryo and endosperm accumulate storage macromolecules such as starch, proteins, and lipids. These reserves support germination and early seedling growth. Transcriptional regulators, including LEAFY COTYLEDON and ABSCISIC ACID INSENSITIVE3, control the seed maturation program [7].

Maturation Drying and Dormancy Inception

In the final stage of development, seeds undergo maturation drying, losing most of their water content. Desiccation protectants such as non-reducing sugars, heat shock proteins, and late embryogenesis abundant proteins are synthesized to minimize damage from water loss [8]. Abscisic acid (ABA) plays a key role in inducing desiccation tolerance and dormancy. The surrounding maternal tissues, such as seed coat and pericarp, also undergo structural changes and accumulate phenolic compounds, contributing to physical dormancy [9]. The mature dry seed enters a quiescent state until conditions are suitable for germination.

Factors Influencing Seed Development

Seed development is regulated by complex interactions between genetic, metabolic, hormonal, and environmental factors [10]. Seed size, composition, and dormancy are genetically controlled traits that vary among species and cultivars. Mutations in genes involved in endosperm and embryo development, such as *HAIKU2* and *MINISEED3*, can alter seed size [11]. Imprinting, an epigenetic phenomenon where genes are expressed in a parent-of-origin-specific manner, also influences endosperm development and seed size [12].

Table	1.	Major	events	during	seed of	deve	lopment
-------	----	-------	--------	--------	---------	------	---------

Developmental Stage	Key Events
Embryogenesis	Zygote division, globular embryo formation
Morphogenesis	Cotyledon and axis differentiation
Maturation	Storage reserve accumulation, desiccation tolerance acquisition
Desiccation	Water loss, dormancy induction

Environmental conditions during seed development, such as temperature, water availability, and nutrient supply, can significantly impact seed quality. Heat and drought stress can reduce seed size and viability, while suboptimal nutrient levels can impair storage reserve accumulation [13]. Therefore, optimizing maternal plant growth conditions is important for producing high-quality seeds.



Figure 1. Overview of seed development stages.

Seed Dormancy

Seed dormancy is an evolutionary adaptation that prevents germination during unfavorable conditions and enables temporal dispersal. Dormancy is defined as the inability of a viable seed to germinate under otherwise favorable
conditions [14]. Dormancy can be classified into different types based on the physiological state of the seed and the environmental factors that regulate it.

Types of Seed Dormancy

The most widely accepted classification system categorizes seed dormancy into five classes: physiological, morphological, morphophysiological, physical, and combinational [15].

- 1. Physiological dormancy (PD) is the most prevalent form and is caused by physiological inhibiting mechanisms in the embryo. It can be further divided into deep, intermediate, and non-deep levels based on the intensity of dormancy.
- 2. Morphological dormancy (MD) occurs in seeds with underdeveloped embryos that need to grow before germination can occur.
- 3. Morphophysiological dormancy (MPD) combines MD and PD, where seeds have underdeveloped embryos and physiological inhibiting mechanisms.
- 4. Physical dormancy is caused by water-impermeable layers in the seed coat that prevent imbibition.
- 5. Combinational dormancy refers to seeds with both physical and physiological dormancy.

Dormancy Class	Embryo Type	Physiological Inhibiting Mechanism	Water Impermeability
Physiological (PD)	Fully developed	Present	Absent
Morphological (MD)	Underdeveloped	Absent	Absent
Morphophysiological (MPD)	Underdeveloped	Present	Absent
Physical (PY)	Fully developed	Absent	Present
Combinational (PY+PD)	Fully developed	Present	Present

Table 2. Seed dormancy classes and their characteristics

Regulation of Seed Dormancy

Seed dormancy is regulated by the complex interplay between hormones, particularly abscisic acid (ABA) and gibberellins (GA). ABA induces and

maintains dormancy, while GA promotes germination [16]. The balance between ABA and GA levels and sensitivity determines the dormancy status. Environmental factors such as temperature, light, and moisture can alter this balance by modulating hormone biosynthesis and signaling pathways.

At the molecular level, dormancy is controlled by a network of transcription factors that respond to hormonal and environmental signals. The master regulators ABSCISIC ACID INSENSITIVE3 (ABI3), FUSCA3 (FUS3), and LEAFY COTYLEDON2 (LEC2) promote dormancy by activating ABA biosynthesis and repressing GA signaling [17]. Other transcription factors such as DELAY OF GERMINATION1 (DOG1) and MOTHER OF FT AND TFL1 (MFT) also play important roles in dormancy regulation [18].



Figure 2. Hormonal regulation of seed dormancy and germination.

Dormancy Release

Dormancy can be released by various environmental and chemical treatments that mimic natural conditions or alter hormone levels. Cold stratification, which involves exposing seeds to moist chilling, is commonly used to break dormancy in species adapted to temperate climates [19]. Dry afterripening, where seeds are stored at ambient temperatures, can also progressively release dormancy in some species. Other treatments such as scarification, hot water, and chemicals like nitrates, furans, and karikins can break physical or physiological dormancy [20]. Understanding the types and regulation of seed dormancy is crucial for managing seed germination in agricultural and ecological contexts. Manipulating dormancy can help synchronize germination, prevent pre-harvest sprouting, and facilitate restoration of native species.

Seed Germination

Germination begins with imbibition and ends with radicle emergence from the seed coat. It is a complex process involving the reactivation of metabolic pathways, the mobilization of stored reserves, and the resumption of growth by the embryo.

Phases of Germination

Germination can be divided into three phases based on the pattern of water uptake and metabolic activity [21].

- 1. **Phase I (Imbibition):** Dry seeds rapidly absorb water, leading to the activation of enzymes, initiation of repair processes, and release from dormancy. This phase is characterized by a rapid increase in respiration rate.
- Phase II (Lag phase): Water uptake slows down and reaches a plateau. Metabolic activities increase, including the synthesis of proteins and DNA. The embryo expands and radicle cells elongate. This phase ends with radicle emergence.
- 3. **Phase III** (**Growth**): Water uptake resumes and the radicle elongates, followed by the emergence of the shoot. Stored reserves are mobilized to support seedling growth until it becomes photosynthetically active.

Table 3. Physiological and metabolic events during seed germination phases

Germination Phase	Water Uptake	Metabolic Activity	Cellular Events
I (Imbibition)	Rapid	Respiration increase, enzyme activation	DNA repair, protein synthesis
II (Lag phase)	Slow	Continued respiration, reserve mobilization	Radicle elongation
III (Growth)	Rapid	Respiration decline, photosynthesis initiation	Radicle emergence, shoot growth

Factors Affecting Germination

Germination is influenced by various internal and external factors that determine the timing and success of the process.

- 1. **Seed Viability:** Viable seeds are metabolically active and able to germinate under favorable conditions. Viability is influenced by genetic factors, maturity at harvest, and storage conditions [22].
- 2. **Dormancy Status:** Seeds may not germinate even under favorable conditions if dormancy is not broken. Dormancy is regulated by genetic and environmental factors as discussed earlier.

3. Environmental Factors:

- **Water:** Adequate moisture is necessary for imbibition and metabolic reactivation. However, excess water can lead to anoxia and seed rot.
- Temperature: Species have specific temperature requirements for germination. Optimal temperatures enable efficient enzyme activity and metabolic processes.
- **Oxygen:** Aerobic respiration is essential for generating ATP to support germination. Adequate oxygen levels in the soil are necessary.
- Light: Some species require light for germination, while others are inhibited by it. Light response is mediated by phytochromes and other photoreceptors [23].

Factor	Effect on Germination
Water	Enables imbibition, activates metabolism
Temperature	Determines enzyme activity and growth rates
Oxygen	Supports aerobic respiration
Light	Stimulates or inhibits germination in a species-specific manner

Table 4. Environmental factors affecting seed germination

Hormonal Regulation of Germination

Germination is tightly regulated by plant hormones, particularly gibberellins (GA) and abscisic acid (ABA). GA promotes germination by inducing the production of hydrolytic enzymes that weaken the seed coat and mobilize stored reserves [24]. GA also counteracts the inhibitory effects of ABA. ABA, on the other hand, maintains dormancy and prevents precocious

germination. The balance between GA and ABA levels determines the timing of germination [25].

Other hormones such as ethylene, brassinosteroids, and cytokinins also influence germination. Ethylene promotes germination by antagonizing ABA effects and enhancing GA signaling [26]. Brassinosteroids stimulate cell elongation and interact with GA pathways [27]. Cytokinins may promote germination by modulating ABA levels [28].

Mobilization of Seed Reserves

During germination, the quiescent seed transitions from a heterotrophic to an autotrophic state. This transition requires the mobilization of stored reserves in the endosperm or cotyledons to support embryo growth until the seedling becomes photosynthetically active.

Starch, proteins, and lipids are the major seed storage compounds. Their breakdown is catalyzed by hydrolytic enzymes such as α -amylases, proteases, and lipases [29]. The activity of these enzymes increases dramatically during germination, and their expression is induced by GA and suppressed by ABA [30]. The released sugars, amino acids, and fatty acids are used for energy production and the synthesis of new cellular components.



Figure 3. Mobilization of seed storage reserves during germination.

Enhancing Germination

Various treatments can be used to promote germination and overcome dormancy or suboptimal environmental conditions.

- 1. **Priming:** Seed priming involves the controlled hydration of seeds to initiate metabolic processes without allowing radicle emergence [31]. Primed seeds often exhibit faster and more uniform germination. Common priming techniques include osmopriming, hydropriming, and matrix priming.
- 2. **Scarification:** Mechanical or chemical scarification can be used to break physical dormancy caused by hard seed coats. Nicking, sandpaper abrasion, and acid treatments are examples of scarification methods [32].
- 3. **Stratification:** Cold or warm stratification involves exposing seeds to specific temperature and moisture conditions to break physiological dormancy. The duration and temperature of stratification vary among species [33].
- 4. **Chemical Stimulants:** Compounds such as gibberellins, nitrates, smoke compounds, and karrikins can be used to promote germination by overcoming dormancy or replacing light requirements [34].

Treatment	Method	Effect
Priming	Controlled hydration	Faster and uniform germination
Scarification	Mechanical or chemical	Breaks physical dormancy
Stratification	Cold or warm exposure	Breaks physiological dormancy
Chemical stimulants	Exogenous application	Promotes germination, replaces environmental cues

Table 5. Seed treatments for enhancing germination

By understanding the physiological and molecular basis of seed germination and the factors that influence it, researchers and growers can develop strategies to optimize germination and seedling establishment in various contexts, from crop production to ecological restoration.

Seed Vigor

Seed Vigor refers to the ability of a seed lot to germinate rapidly, uniformly, and produce robust seedlings under diverse conditions [35]. It is a complex trait that reflects the seed's physiological potential and is influenced by genetic, environmental, and storage factors.

Seed Vigor is determined by several interrelated components:

- 1. **Germination Speed:** Vigorous seeds germinate faster, allowing early seedling establishment and competitive advantage [36].
- 2. **Germination Uniformity:** Uniform emergence is important for even crop stands and efficient resource utilization.
- 3. **Stress Tolerance:** Vigorous seeds can germinate and establish under suboptimal conditions such as cold, drought, or salinity [37].
- 4. **Seedling Growth:** Vigorous seeds produce seedlings with greater biomass, root and shoot length, and leaf area [38].
- 5. **Storage Potential:** Vigorous seeds maintain their viability and performance during storage better than low-vigor seeds [39].

Vigor Component	Relevance
Germination speed	Early seedling establishment, competitive advantage
Germination uniformity	Even crop stands, efficient resource utilization
Stress tolerance	Establishment under suboptimal conditions
Seedling growth	Greater biomass, leaf area, root and shoot length
Storage potential	Maintenance of viability and performance during storage

Table 6. Components of seed vigor and their relevance

Factors Affecting Seed Vigor

Seed vigor is influenced by various factors throughout the seed life cycle, from development to storage.

- 1. **Genetic Factors:** Seed vigor is a heritable trait that varies among species, cultivars, and seed lots. Genes involved in stress tolerance, nutrient use efficiency, and reserve accumulation contribute to vigor [40].
- 2. **Maternal Environment:** The growing conditions of the maternal plant, such as temperature, water availability, and nutrient status, can significantly impact seed vigor [41]. Optimal maternal environments promote the production of high-vigor seeds.
- 3. Seed Maturity: Seeds harvested at physiological maturity typically have the highest vigor. Immature or overripe seeds may have lower germination and vigor [42].

- 4. **Harvest and Processing:** Mechanical damage during harvesting, threshing, and cleaning can reduce seed vigor. Gentle handling and proper equipment adjustment are important to minimize damage [43].
- 5. **Storage Conditions:** Seed vigor declines during storage, particularly under high temperature and humidity. Proper storage conditions, such as cool and dry environments, can help maintain vigor [44].





Assessing Seed Vigor

Several methods have been developed to assess seed vigor, ranging from standard germination tests to biochemical and molecular assays.

- 1. **Germination Tests:** Standard germination tests under optimal conditions can provide a baseline measure of seed vigor. Additional tests under suboptimal conditions, such as cold or accelerated aging tests, can further differentiate vigor levels [45].
- Seedling Growth Tests: Measurements of seedling growth rate, uniformity, and biomass can indicate seed vigor. Vigor indices based on combinations of germination percentage and seedling length or weight are commonly used [46].
- 3. **Conductivity Tests**: Conductivity tests measure the amount of electrolytes leached from seeds during imbibition. Higher conductivity indicates greater membrane damage and lower vigor [47].

- 4. **Respiration Tests**: Measuring the respiratory activity of seeds during imbibition can provide a rapid assessment of vigor. Oxygen consumption or carbon dioxide production rates correlate with vigor levels [48].
- 5. Enzyme Activity Assays: The activity of enzymes involved in reserve mobilization, such as α -amylase or dehydrogenases, can be used as indicators of seed vigor [49].
- 6. **Molecular Markers**: Molecular markers associated with vigor traits, such as stress tolerance or reserve accumulation, can potentially be used for vigor assessment [50]. However, their application is still limited and requires further research.

Method	Principle	Measurements
Germination tests	Germination under optimal or suboptimal conditions	Germination percentage, rate, uniformity
Seedling growth tests	Seedling performance	Seedling length, weight, vigor index
Conductivity tests	Electrolyte leakage	Conductivity of seed steep water
Respiration tests	Respiratory activity	Oxygen consumption, carbon dioxide production
Enzyme activity assays	Activity of enzymes involved in reserve mobilization	α-amylase, dehydrogenase activity
Molecular markers	Association with vigor traits	Polymorphisms in vigor-related genes

Table 7. Methods for assessing seed vigor

Enhancing Seed Vigor

Several strategies can be used to enhance seed vigor during production, processing, and storage.

 Genetic Improvement: Breeding programs can select for high-vigor traits such as stress tolerance, nutrient use efficiency, and reserve accumulation [51]. Molecular markers and genomic tools can assist in identifying and incorporating vigor-related genes.

- 2. **Optimal Maternal Environment**: Providing optimal growing conditions for maternal plants, including appropriate temperature, water, and nutrient management, can promote the production of high-vigor seeds [52].
- 3. **Timely Harvest:** Harvesting seeds at the proper stage of maturity, typically at physiological maturity, can ensure maximum vigor [53].
- 4. Gentle Processing: Using appropriate harvesting, threshing, and cleaning equipment and settings can minimize mechanical damage to seeds and preserve vigor [54].
- 5. **Priming**: Seed priming techniques, such as osmopriming or hydropriming, can enhance vigor by promoting rapid and uniform germination [55]. Priming can also improve stress tolerance and seedling growth.
- 6. **Seed Coating**: Applying protective coatings to seeds, such as polymers or biostimulants, can enhance vigor by improving moisture retention, nutrient supply, and pest and disease resistance [56].
- 7. **Optimal Storage**: Storing seeds under cool, dry conditions can slow the rate of vigor decline. Monitoring and controlling storage temperature and humidity are critical for maintaining seed quality [57].

By understanding the factors that influence seed vigor and implementing appropriate management practices, seed producers and growers can optimize crop performance and resilience under diverse growing conditions.

Seed Longevity and Storage

Seed longevity refers to the ability of seeds to remain viable and maintain their vigor during storage. It is a critical factor in seed conservation, germplasm preservation, and agricultural productivity.

Factors Affecting Seed Longevity

Seed longevity is influenced by a complex interplay of genetic, physiological, and environmental factors.

- Genetic Factors: Longevity varies widely among species and genotypes. Some species, such as many legumes and malvaceae, have inherently longlived seeds, while others, such as some brassicas and asteraceae, have shorter-lived seeds [58]. Longevity is a heritable trait, and genes involved in protective mechanisms, such as antioxidants and heat shock proteins, contribute to seed lifespan [59].
- 2. Seed Moisture Content: Seed moisture content is a critical determinant of longevity. Seeds stored at high moisture content are prone to rapid

deterioration due to increased metabolic activity, fungal growth, and lipid peroxidation [60]. Drying seeds to low moisture content (typically 5-8% for orthodox seeds) is essential for long-term storage.

- 3. **Storage Temperature**: Storage temperature strongly influences the rate of seed aging. Higher temperatures accelerate metabolic processes and the rate of deterioration [61]. Lowering the storage temperature can significantly extend seed longevity, with every 5°C reduction in temperature nearly doubling the storage life [62].
- 4. **Oxygen and Relative Humidity:** High oxygen levels and relative humidity promote oxidative damage and fungal growth, leading to faster seed deterioration [63]. Storing seeds in sealed containers with low oxygen levels and desiccants can help maintain viability.
- 5. Seed Quality: The initial quality of seeds, including their maturity, vigor, and integrity, sets the stage for their longevity. High-quality seeds with minimal damage and high vigor tend to store better than low-quality seeds [64].

Factor	Effect on Longevity	Management
Genetic factors	Determines inherent longevity	Select for longevity traits in breeding programs
Seed moisture content	High moisture accelerates deterioration	Dry seeds to low moisture content (5-8%)
Storage temperature	Higher temperature accelerates aging	Store seeds at low temperature (preferably below 0° C)
Oxygen and relative humidity	High levels promote oxidative damage and fungal growth	Store seeds in sealed containers with desiccants
Seed quality	High initial quality favors longevity	Ensure proper development, harvesting, and processing

Table 8. Factors affecting seed longevity and their management

Mechanisms of Seed Deterioration

During storage, seeds undergo a gradual process of deterioration that leads to the loss of viability and vigor. Several mechanisms contribute to this deterioration:

- 1. Lipid Peroxidation: The oxidation of unsaturated fatty acids in seed membranes generates free radicals that damage cellular components and lead to membrane leakiness [65]. Antioxidant systems, such as superoxide dismutase and glutathione reductase, help scavenge free radicals and mitigate oxidative damage [66].
- 2. **Protein Degradation**: The breakdown of functional proteins, including enzymes involved in metabolic processes and protective mechanisms, impairs seed performance [67]. Heat shock proteins and late embryogenesis abundant proteins help stabilize protein structure and prevent aggregation [68].
- Nucleic Acid Damage: Oxidative stress and spontaneous mutations can damage DNA and RNA, leading to errors in transcription and translation [69]. DNA repair mechanisms, such as base excision repair and nucleotide excision repair, help maintain genome integrity [70].
- 4. **Maillard Reactions**: The non-enzymatic reaction between reducing sugars and amino acids produces advanced glycation end products that can cross-link proteins and impair their function [71].
- 5. **Fungal Growth**: Fungal growth on stored seeds can lead to the production of mycotoxins and the depletion of seed reserves [72]. Proper drying and storage conditions are essential to prevent fungal proliferation.

Estimating Seed Longevity

Predicting seed longevity is important for managing seed stocks and determining appropriate storage conditions. Several methods have been developed to estimate seed longevity:

- Accelerated Aging Tests: Accelerated aging tests involve exposing seeds to high temperature and humidity conditions to simulate the aging process [73]. The time taken for seeds to lose viability under these conditions can be used to predict their storage life under normal conditions.
- Controlled Deterioration Tests: Controlled deterioration tests involve storing seeds at specific moisture content and temperature combinations to induce aging [74]. The rate of viability loss can be used to estimate seed longevity.
- Viability Equations: Viability equations, such as the Ellis-Roberts equation, use species-specific constants and storage conditions (temperature and moisture content) to predict the time taken for seeds to lose viability [75]. These equations can guide storage management decisions.

- Oxygen Consumption Tests: Measuring the rate of oxygen consumption by seeds can provide an indication of their metabolic activity and potential longevity [76]. Higher oxygen consumption rates are associated with faster aging.
- 5. Volatile Compound Analysis: The analysis of volatile compounds released by seeds, such as aldehydes and alcohols, can provide a non-invasive assessment of seed deterioration [77]. Certain volatile profiles are associated with reduced viability and vigor.

Method	Principle	Outcome
Accelerated aging tests	Exposure to high temperature and humidity	Prediction of storage life under normal conditions
Controlled deterioration tests	Storage at specific moisture and temperature combinations	Estimation of viability loss rate
Viability equations	Species-specific constants and storage conditions	Prediction of time to viability loss
Oxygen consumption tests	Measurement of metabolic activity	Indication of potential longevity
Volatile compound analysis	Detection of deterioration-related compounds	Non-invasive assessment of seed quality

Table 9. Methods for estimating seed longevity

Seed Storage Practices

Proper seed storage practices are essential for maintaining seed viability and vigor over time. The optimal storage conditions depend on the species, seed moisture content, and intended storage duration.

- Orthodox Seeds: Orthodox seeds, which can tolerate desiccation and low temperatures, are typically stored at low moisture content (5-8%) and low temperature (0-5°C for medium-term storage, -18°C or lower for long-term storage) [78]. Sealed containers with desiccants are used to maintain low moisture levels.
- Recalcitrant Seeds: Recalcitrant seeds, which are sensitive to desiccation, are typically stored at high moisture content (20-50%) and moderate temperatures (5-15°C) [79]. Specialized storage techniques, such as cryopreservation or partial drying, may be used for longer-term preservation.

- 3. **Intermediate Seeds**: Intermediate seeds, which have limited desiccation tolerance, are typically stored at intermediate moisture content (10-12%) and cool temperatures (5-10°C) [80]. Careful monitoring and adjustment of storage conditions are necessary to prevent viability loss.
- 4. Seed Banks: Seed banks are facilities that store seeds for long-term conservation and research purposes. They typically maintain seeds under optimal conditions for their category (orthodox, recalcitrant, or intermediate) and monitor viability over time [81]. Seed banks play a crucial role in preserving plant genetic diversity and providing a backup for crop breeding and restoration efforts.

Seed Category	Moisture Content	Storage Temperature	Container
Orthodox	5-8%	0-5°C (medium-term), -18°C or lower (long-term)	Sealed with desiccants
Recalcitrant	20-50%	5-15°C	Specialized (e.g., cryopreservation)
Intermediate	10-12%	5-10°C	Sealed with monitoring

Table 10. Seed storage practices based on seed category

By understanding the factors that influence seed longevity and implementing appropriate storage practices, seed managers can extend the viability of seeds and ensure their availability for future use in agriculture, research, and conservation.

Seed Enhancement Technologies

Seed enhancement technologies are methods used to improve seed performance, including germination, vigor, uniformity, and stress tolerance. These technologies can help overcome the limitations of seed quality and expand the range of conditions under which seeds can successfully establish.

Seed Priming

Seed priming involves the controlled hydration of seeds to initiate metabolic processes without allowing radicle emergence [82]. Primed seeds often exhibit faster and more uniform germination, particularly under suboptimal conditions. Several priming techniques have been developed:

1. **Osmopriming**: Seeds are soaked in an osmotic solution (e.g., polyethylene glycol, mannitol) that allows controlled water uptake [83]. The low water

potential of the solution prevents radicle emergence while allowing metabolic activation.

- Hydropriming: Seeds are soaked in water and then dried back to their original moisture content [84]. This simple technique can improve germination and vigor in some species.
- 3. **Matrix Priming**: Seeds are mixed with a solid matrix (e.g., vermiculite, peat moss) and water, allowing controlled hydration [85]. The matrix provides a reservoir of water and prevents radicle emergence.
- Biopriming: Seeds are treated with beneficial microorganisms, such as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria or fungi, during priming [86]. These microorganisms can enhance seed performance and provide protection against pathogens.

Seed Coating and Pelleting

Seed coating and pelleting involve the application of materials to the seed surface to improve handling, protection, and performance.

- 1. **Seed Coating:** A thin layer of materials, such as polymers, biostimulants, or pesticides, is applied to the seed surface [87]. Coatings can improve moisture retention, nutrient supply, and pest and disease resistance.
- Seed Pelleting: Seeds are encased in a pellet of inert materials, such as clay or lime, to increase their size and weight [88]. Pelleting can improve seed singulation and precision planting, particularly for small or irregularly shaped seeds.
- 3. **Seed Encrusting**: A thicker layer of materials is applied to the seed surface, creating a smooth, uniform shape [89]. Encrusting can enhance seed flowability and protect against mechanical damage.

Seed Invigoration

Seed invigoration techniques aim to reverse the effects of aging and improve seed Vigor.

- 1. **Humidification**: Controlled hydration of seeds at high relative humidity can restore membrane integrity and enzyme activity [90]. This technique can improve the germination of aged seeds.
- Hormonal Treatments: The application of plant growth regulators, such as gibberellins or cytokinins, can stimulate germination and overcome dormancy [91]. Hormonal treatments can be particularly useful for species with deep physiological dormancy.

- 3. **Seed Irradiation:** Exposure to low doses of gamma or UV radiation can stimulate germination and improve vigor [92]. The mechanism of action may involve the activation of antioxidant systems and DNA repair pathways.
- 4. **Magnetic Field Treatment**: Exposure to magnetic fields has been shown to improve germination and seedling growth in some species [93]. The mechanism of action is not fully understood but may involve changes in ion flux and enzyme activity.

Artificial Seeds

Artificial seeds are synthetic seed-like structures that encapsulate somatic embryos, shoot buds, or other propagules in a protective coating [94]. They offer a potential alternative to traditional seeds for clonal propagation and germplasm storage.

- 1. **Encapsulation**: Propagules are encapsulated in a gel matrix, such as alginate or gellan gum, that provides physical protection and nutrient supply [95]. The matrix can be supplemented with growth regulators, antimicrobial agents, or biostimulants.
- 2. **Synthetic Seed Coat**: An artificial seed coat, made of materials such as wax or polymer, is applied to the encapsulated propagule to mimic the functions of a natural seed coat [96]. The synthetic coat can regulate water uptake, provide mechanical protection, and allow for the controlled release of additives.
- 3. **Cryopreservation**: Artificial seeds can be cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen for long-term storage and germplasm conservation [97]. Cryopreservation can extend the shelf life of artificial seeds and facilitate their distribution and exchange.

Seed enhancement technologies offer powerful tools for improving seed quality and performance. By manipulating the physiological, physical, and biological properties of seeds, these technologies can help address the challenges of seed-based crop production and conservation. However, their successful application requires a thorough understanding of seed biology and the specific requirements of each species.

Seed-Microbe Interactions

Seeds are not sterile entities but host diverse microbial communities that can influence their germination, growth, and stress tolerance. The seed microbiome, also known as the spermosphere microbiome, includes bacteria, fungi, and other microorganisms that colonize the seed surface, endosphere, and surrounding soil [98].

Assembly of the Seed Microbiome

The seed microbiome is shaped by various factors, including the maternal plant, environment, and seed properties.

- 1. Vertical Transmission: Some seed-associated microbes are transmitted from the maternal plant through the vascular system or floral pathway [99]. These vertically transmitted microbes can be influenced by the genotype and health status of the mother plant.
- 2. **Horizontal Acquisition**: Seeds can also acquire microbes from the environment during development, dispersal, and storage [100]. Soil, air, and insect vectors can contribute to the horizontal acquisition of seed microbes.
- 3. Seed Properties: The physical and chemical properties of seeds, such as surface texture, moisture content, and exudate composition, can influence microbial colonization [101]. Seeds with rough surfaces or cracks may provide more niches for microbial attachment, while seeds with antimicrobial compounds in their exudates may selectively inhibit certain microbes.

Functions of the Seed Microbiome

The seed microbiome can play diverse roles in seed biology and plant development.

- Seed Germination: Some seed-associated microbes can promote germination by degrading germination inhibitors, producing plant growth regulators, or modifying the seed coat [102]. For example, certain bacteria can produce gibberellins that stimulate germination, while some fungi can soften the seed coat through enzymatic action.
- 2. Seedling Growth: Seed-borne microbes can colonize the developing seedling and influence its growth and nutrient acquisition [103]. Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and mycorrhizal fungi can enhance root development, nutrient uptake, and biomass accumulation.
- Stress Tolerance: Seed microbes can confer tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses by inducing systemic resistance, producing protective compounds, or modulating plant stress responses [104]. For example, some endophytic fungi can produce antioxidants and osmoprotectants that enhance drought tolerance in plants.

 Pathogen Suppression: Certain seed-associated microbes can suppress the growth of pathogens through competition, antibiosis, or induced resistance [105]. These biocontrol agents can provide a natural defense against seedborne diseases and damping-off.

Harnessing the Seed Microbiome

Understanding and manipulating the seed microbiome offers opportunities for improving crop performance and sustainability.

- 1. **Seed Biopriming:** Seed biopriming involves the inoculation of seeds with beneficial microbes during priming [106]. This technique can combine the benefits of priming and microbial inoculation, resulting in enhanced germination, vigor, and stress tolerance.
- Seed Coating with Microbial Inoculants: Microbial inoculants can be incorporated into seed coatings to ensure their delivery to the spermosphere [107]. Coatings can protect the inoculants from environmental stresses and allow for their controlled release during germination.
- 3. **Microbiome Engineering:** Microbiome engineering involves the targeted manipulation of the seed microbiome to promote desired functions [108]. This can be achieved through the selection of beneficial microbial strains, the use of prebiotics to stimulate their growth, or the application of antimicrobial agents to suppress pathogens.
- 4. Breeding for Microbiome-Friendly Traits: Plant breeding programs can incorporate traits that promote the recruitment and retention of beneficial microbes [109]. For example, selecting for seed exudates that attract plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria or for seed coat structures that facilitate microbial colonization.

The seed microbiome represents a promising frontier in plant science, with the potential to revolutionize seed technology and sustainable agriculture. By harnessing the power of seed-associated microbes, we can develop new strategies for enhancing seed quality, crop productivity, and resilience to global challenges.

Seed Systems and Policies

Seed systems encompass the network of actors, institutions, and activities involved in the development, production, distribution, and use of seeds [110].

Seed policies are the legal and regulatory frameworks that govern these systems. Effective seed systems and policies are essential for ensuring farmers' access to high-quality seeds and promoting agricultural development.

Formal Seed Systems

Formal seed systems involve the commercial production and distribution of seeds by public or private entities. They are characterized by a structured process of variety development, seed multiplication, quality control, and certification [111].

- 1. **Plant Breeding:** Public and private plant breeding programs develop new crop varieties with improved yield, quality, and resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. These programs rely on genetic resources, biotechnology tools, and participatory approaches to meet the needs of farmers and consumers.
- Seed Production: Formal seed production involves the multiplication of breeder, foundation, and certified seeds under controlled conditions. Seed companies and government agencies oversee the production process to ensure genetic purity, physical quality, and sanitary standards [112].
- 3. **Quality Control and Certification:** Seed quality control involves testing for germination, purity, moisture content, and seed health. Certification schemes, such as the OECD Seed Schemes or national certification programs, provide assurance of seed quality and varietal identity [113].
- 4. **Distribution and Marketing:** Formal seed systems rely on a network of distributors, retailers, and agro-dealers to deliver seeds to farmers. Marketing strategies, such as demonstrations, field days, and promotional campaigns, are used to create awareness and demand for improved varieties.

Informal Seed Systems

Informal seed systems, also known as farmer-managed seed systems, involve the local production, exchange, and saving of seeds by farmers and communities. They are characterized by a reliance on traditional knowledge, social networks, and on-farm seed management practices [114].

 Farmer Seed Saving: Farmers save a portion of their harvest as seed for the next planting season. This practice allows for the maintenance of local varieties and the adaptation of crops to specific environments and cultural preferences.

- 2. **Community Seed Banks:** Community seed banks are local institutions that conserve, multiply, and distribute seeds of traditional and improved varieties [115]. They serve as a source of genetic diversity, a safety net for farmers, and a platform for participatory plant breeding.
- 3. Seed Fairs and Exchanges: Seed fairs and exchanges are events where farmers and communities come together to display, trade, and exchange seeds. They facilitate the sharing of knowledge, the dissemination of new varieties, and the maintenance of crop diversity.

Seed Policies and Regulations

Seed policies and regulations aim to promote the development of a vibrant seed sector, protect farmers' rights, and ensure the quality and safety of seeds.

- 1. Variety Registration and Release: National variety release committees evaluate the performance, distinctiveness, uniformity, and stability of new varieties before approving their commercialization [116]. This process ensures that only superior varieties are released to farmers.
- Intellectual Property Rights: Plant variety protection (PVP) laws, such as plant breeders' rights or patents, provide exclusive rights to breeders for the commercialization of their varieties [117]. These laws aim to incentivize innovation and investment in plant breeding.
- Seed Quality Regulation: Seed laws and regulations set standards for seed quality, labeling, and certification. They establish the responsibilities of seed producers, dealers, and inspectors in ensuring the quality and traceability of seeds [118].
- 4. Farmers' Rights: The International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture recognizes farmers' rights to save, use, exchange, and sell farm-saved seeds [119]. National laws and policies can protect these rights while balancing them with the interests of breeders and the seed industry.

Challenges and Opportunities

Seed systems and policies face several challenges and opportunities in the context of globalization, technological advancement, and climate change.

1. Access and Affordability: Ensuring farmers' access to high-quality and affordable seeds is a major challenge, particularly in developing countries.

Strategies such as seed subsidies, community seed production, and publicprivate partnerships can help bridge the access gap [120].

- 2. Varietal Diversity: The narrow focus on a few high-yielding varieties in formal seed systems can lead to the erosion of crop diversity. Policies that promote the conservation and use of plant genetic resources, such as benefit-sharing mechanisms and niche market development, can help maintain diversity [121].
- Climate Change Adaptation: Climate change poses significant challenges to seed systems, as existing varieties may become unsuitable for changing environments. Breeding programs and seed policies need to prioritize the development and dissemination of climate-resilient varieties, as well as the strengthening of local seed systems [122].
- 4. **Digital Technologies:** Digital technologies, such as mobile apps, blockchain, and big data analytics, can transform seed systems by improving information access, quality assurance, and supply chain management [123]. Policies that enable the responsible use of these technologies can enhance the efficiency and transparency of seed systems.

Strengthening seed systems and policies is crucial for achieving food security, poverty reduction, and sustainable development goals. It requires a holistic approach that engages all stakeholders, from farmers to policymakers, and that balances the needs of innovation, conservation, and equity. By addressing the challenges and leveraging the opportunities in seed systems and policies, we can create an enabling environment for the development and use of high-quality seeds that benefit farmers, consumers, and the planet.

Seed Biology in Space

The exploration of space and the establishment of human settlements beyond Earth raise new challenges and opportunities for seed biology. Space environments, characterized by microgravity, radiation, and limited resources, can have significant effects on seed development, germination, and plant growth [124].

Effects of Microgravity on Seeds

Microgravity, or the near absence of gravity, is a hallmark of spaceflight environments. It can influence various aspects of seed biology, from embryo **development to germination and seedling growth.**

1. Seed Development: Studies have shown that microgravity can alter the orientation and structure of the embryo and endosperm in developing seeds

[125]. These changes may affect seed shape, size, and storage reserve **accumulation.**

- 2. Seed Germination: Microgravity can influence the direction and rate of seed germination. In the absence of a clear gravitational cue, roots may exhibit random growth orientation or skewing [126]. However, many seeds can still germinate successfully in microgravity, as long as they have access to water and oxygen.
- 3. Seedling Growth: Microgravity can affect the growth and morphology of seedlings, leading to elongated hypocotyls, reduced root growth, and altered leaf orientation [127]. These changes may impact the overall fitness and productivity of space-grown plants.

Radiation Effects on Seeds

Space radiation, including cosmic rays and solar particle events, can damage seeds and affect their viability and performance.

- DNA Damage: High-energy radiation can cause direct damage to DNA, leading to mutations, chromosomal aberrations, and reduced germination [128]. The extent of damage depends on the type and dose of radiation, as well as the seed's radio-sensitivity.
- Oxidative Stress: Radiation can also induce oxidative stress in seeds by generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) [129]. ROS can damage cellular membranes, proteins, and DNA, leading to seed deterioration and reduced vigor.
- 3. **Protective Mechanisms:** Seeds have evolved various mechanisms to protect against radiation damage, such as DNA repair pathways, antioxidant systems, and the accumulation of protective compounds like flavonoids and carotenoids [130]. Understanding and enhancing these mechanisms can help develop radiation-tolerant seeds for space agriculture.

Seed-Based Space Agriculture

Seeds are the foundation of space agriculture, which aims to provide fresh food, oxygen, and psychological benefits to space travelers and settlers.

1. **Crop Selection:** Selecting crops with suitable traits for space environments, such as compact growth, high yield, and nutritional value, is crucial for space agriculture [131]. Candidate crops include leafy greens, tomatoes, peppers, and legumes.

- Controlled Environment Agriculture: Space agriculture relies on controlled environment systems, such as hydroponics, aeroponics, and vertical farming, to optimize plant growth in limited spaces [132]. These systems can regulate light, temperature, humidity, and nutrient supply to maximize seed germination and plant productivity.
- Seed Storage and Packaging: Proper storage and packaging of seeds are essential for maintaining their viability and performance during long-duration spaceflights. Techniques such as seed priming, coating, and vacuum packaging can enhance seed longevity and protect against environmental stresses [133].
- 4. In Situ Resource Utilization: The use of local resources, such as Martian soil or recycled waste, for growing plants can reduce the reliance on resupply missions [134]. However, these resources may require processing and supplementation to support seed germination and plant growth.

Research and Innovations

Advancing seed biology for space applications requires interdisciplinary research and innovative approaches.

- 1. **Space Omics:** The application of omics technologies, such as genomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics, can provide insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying seed responses to space environments [135]. These technologies can help identify key genes, pathways, and biomarkers for space adaptation.
- 2. **Synthetic Biology:** Synthetic biology tools, such as gene editing and metabolic engineering, can be used to design seeds with enhanced traits for space agriculture [136]. For example, seeds could be engineered to produce higher levels of nutrients, resist radiation damage, or tolerate limited water and nutrient availability.
- 3. Seed Microbiome Engineering: The seed microbiome can play a crucial role in supporting plant growth and stress tolerance in space environments. Engineering the seed microbiome, by inoculating seeds with beneficial microbes or modulating microbial communities, can enhance the performance of space-grown plants [137].
- 4. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services: Incorporating diverse plant species and supporting ecosystem services, such as pollination and nutrient cycling, can improve the sustainability and resilience of space agriculture systems [138]. Seeds of companion plants, nitrogen-fixing legumes, and insect-

pollinated crops can contribute to the creation of self-sustaining space ecosystems.

Conclusion

Seeds are remarkable structures that hold the key to plant life and the future of agriculture. This chapter has provided an in-depth exploration of seed biology and the latest technological advances in seed science. From seed development and dormancy to germination and vigor, the complex interplay of genetic, physiological, and environmental factors shapes the performance and potential of seeds. Advances in seed storage, enhancement, and microbiome engineering offer exciting opportunities for improving seed quality, longevity, and resilience. Seed priming, coating, and biotechnological approaches can help optimize seed performance under optimal and suboptimal conditions. Harnessing the power of seed-associated microbes can open up new avenues for sustainable agriculture and plant health management. Seed systems and policies play a crucial role in ensuring farmers' access to high-quality seeds and promoting agricultural innovation and equity. Strengthening formal and informal seed systems, protecting farmers' rights, and enabling responsible use of digital technologies are key priorities for seed sector development. The frontier of seed biology in space exploration and extraterrestrial agriculture presents both challenges and opportunities. Understanding the effects of microgravity, radiation, and limited resources on seeds can inform the design of resilient space agriculture systems. Advances in omics technologies, synthetic biology, and microbiome engineering can help develop seeds adapted to space environments and support long-term human missions. As we face the grand challenges of feeding a growing population, adapting to climate change, and preserving biodiversity, seeds hold immense potential for providing sustainable solutions. By integrating cutting-edge science, technology, and policy, we can unlock the full potential of seeds and create a more resilient, equitable, and sustainable future for all. The field of seed biology and technology is rapidly evolving, and there are still many questions to be answered and innovations to be made. This chapter has provided a foundation for understanding the current state of knowledge and the exciting possibilities that lie ahead. It is hoped that this information will inspire further research, collaboration, and application of seed science to address the pressing challenges of our time.

References:

[1] Li, D. Z., & Pritchard, H. W. (2009). The science and economics of ex situ plant conservation. Trends in Plant Science, 14(11), 614-621.

[2] Bewley, J. D., Bradford, K. J., Hilhorst, H. W., & Nonogaki, H. (2013).Seeds: physiology of development, germination and dormancy. Springer Science & Business Media.

[3] Finch-Savage, W. E., & Bassel, G. W. (2016). Seed vigour and crop establishment: extending performance beyond adaptation. Journal of Experimental Botany, 67(3), 567-591.

[4] Walck, J. L., Hidayati, S. N., Dixon, K. W., Thompson, K. E. N., & Poschlod,P. (2011). Climate change and plant regeneration from seed. Global Change Biology, 17(6), 2145-2161.

[5] Bentsink, L., & Koornneef, M. (2008). Seed dormancy and germination. The Arabidopsis Book/American Society of Plant Biologists, 6.

[6] North, H., Baud, S., Debeaujon, I., Dubos, C., Dubreucq, B., Grappin, P., ...& Marion-Poll, A. (2010). Arabidopsis seed secrets unravelled after a decade of genetic and omics-driven research. The Plant Journal, 61(6), 971-981.

[7] Santos-Mendoza, M., Dubreucq, B., Baud, S., Parcy, F., Caboche, M., & Lepiniec, L. (2008). Deciphering gene regulatory networks that control seed development and maturation in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 54(4), 608-620.

[8] Angelovici, R., Galili, G., Fernie, A. R., & Fait, A. (2010). Seed desiccation: a bridge between maturation and germination. Trends in Plant Science, 15(4), 211-218.

[9] Rajjou, L., Duval, M., Gallardo, K., Catusse, J., Bally, J., Job, C., & Job, D.(2012). Seed germination and vigor. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 63, 507-533.

[10] Yan, D., Duermeyer, L., Leoveanu, C., & Nambara, E. (2014). The functions of the endosperm during seed germination. Plant and Cell Physiology, 55(9), 1521-1533.

[11] Olsen, O. A. (2020). The modular control of cereal endosperm development. Trends in Plant Science, 25(3), 279-290.

[12] Gehring, M., & Satyaki, P. R. (2017). Endosperm and imprinting, inextricably linked. Plant Physiology, 173(1), 143-154.

[13] Fatihi, A., Zbierzak, A. M., & Dörmann, P. (2013). Alterations in seed development gene expression affect size and oil content of Arabidopsis seeds. Plant Physiology, 163(2), 973-985.

[14] Baskin, J. M., & Baskin, C. C. (2004). A classification system for seed dormancy. Seed Science Research, 14(1), 1-16.

[15] Finch-Savage, W. E., & Leubner-Metzger, G. (2006). Seed dormancy and the control of germination. New Phytologist, 171(3), 501-523.

[16] Shu, K., Liu, X. D., Xie, Q., & He, Z. H. (2016). Two faces of one seed: hormonal regulation of dormancy and germination. Molecular Plant, 9(1), 34-45.

[17] Graeber, K., Nakabayashi, K., Miatton, E., Leubner-Metzger, G., & Soppe,
W. J. (2012). Molecular mechanisms of seed dormancy. Plant, Cell & Environment, 35(10), 1769-1786.

[18] Chahtane, H., Kim, W., & Lopez-Molina, L. (2017). Primary seed dormancy: a temporally multilayered riddle waiting to be unlocked. Journal of Experimental Botany, 68(4), 857-869.

[19] Penfield, S., & MacGregor, D. R. (2017). Effects of environmental variation during seed production on seed dormancy and germination. Journal of Experimental Botany, 68(4), 819-825.

[20] Long, R. L., Gorecki, M. J., Renton, M., Scott, J. K., Colville, L., Goggin, D. E., ... & Finch-Savage, W. E. (2015). The ecophysiology of seed persistence: a mechanistic view of the journey to germination or demise. Biological Reviews, 90(1), 31-59.

[21] Bewley, J. D. (1997). Seed germination and dormancy. The Plant Cell, 9(7), 1055.

[22] Finch-Savage, W. E., & Footitt, S. (2017). Seed dormancy cycling and the regulation of dormancy mechanisms to time germination in variable field environments. Journal of Experimental Botany, 68(4), 843-856.

[23] Pružinská, A., Shemetova, E., Tóth, S. Z., & Tanaka, A. (2020). Phytochromes and other photoreceptors. The Arabidopsis Book/American Society of Plant Biologists, 18.

[24] Yamaguchi, S. (2008). Gibberellin metabolism and its regulation. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 59, 225-251.

[25] Piskurewicz, U., Turečková, V., Lacombe, E., & Lopez-Molina, L. (2009).Far-red light inhibits germination through DELLA-dependent stimulation of ABA synthesis and ABI3 activity. The EMBO Journal, 28(15), 2259-2271.

[26] Corbineau, F., Xia, Q., Bailly, C., & El-Maarouf-Bouteau, H. (2014). Ethylene, a key factor in the regulation of seed dormancy. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5, 539.

[27] Steber, C. M., & McCourt, P. (2001). A role for brassinosteroids in germination in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 125(2), 763-769.

[28] Wang, Y., Li, L., Ye, T., Zhao, S., Liu, Z., Feng, Y. Q., & Wu, Y. (2011). Cytokinin antagonizes ABA suppression to seed germination of Arabidopsis by downregulating ABI5 expression. The Plant Journal, 68(2), 249-261.

[29] Han, C., & Yang, P. (2015). Studies on the molecular mechanisms of seed germination. Proteomics, 15(10), 1671-1679.

[30] Finkelstein, R., Reeves, W., Ariizumi, T., & Steber, C. (2008). Molecular aspects of seed dormancy. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 59, 387-415.

[31] Paparella, S., Araújo, S. S., Rossi, G., Wijayasinghe, M., Carbonera, D., & Balestrazzi, A. (2015). Seed priming: state of the art and new perspectives. Plant Cell Reports, 34(8), 1281-1293.

[32] Kimura, E., & Islam, M. A. (2012). Seed scarification methods and their use in forage legumes. Research Journal of Seed Science, 5(2), 38-50.

[33] Baskin, C. C., & Baskin, J. M. (2014). Seeds: ecology, biogeography, and, evolution of dormancy and germination. Academic press.

[34] Nelson, D. C., Flematti, G. R., Ghisalberti, E. L., Dixon, K. W., & Smith, S. M. (2012). Regulation of seed germination and seedling growth by chemical signals from burning vegetation. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 63, 107-130.

[35] Marcos Filho, J. (2015). Seed vigor testing: an overview of the past, present and future perspective. Scientia Agricola, 72, 363-374.

[36] Finch-Savage, W. E., Clay, H. A., Lynn, J. R., & Morris, K. (2010). Towards a genetic understanding of seed vigour in small-seeded crops using natural variation in Brassica oleracea. Plant Science, 179(6), 582-589.

[37] Rajjou, L., Duval, M., Gallardo, K., Catusse, J., Bally, J., Job, C., & Job, D.(2012). Seed germination and vigor. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 63, 507-533.

[38] Finch-Savage, W. E., & Bassel, G. W. (2016). Seed vigour and crop establishment: extending performance beyond adaptation. Journal of Experimental Botany, 67(3), 567-591.

[39] Waterworth, W. M., Bray, C. M., & West, C. E. (2015). The importance of safeguarding genome integrity in germination and seed longevity. Journal of Experimental Botany, 66(12), 3549-3558.

[40] Ventura, L., Donà, M., Macovei, A., Carbonera, D., Buttafava, A., Mondoni,
A., ... & Balestrazzi, A. (2012). Understanding the molecular pathways associated with seed vigor. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 60, 196-206.

[41] Carrera, E., Holman, T., Medhurst, A., Dietrich, D., Footitt, S., Theodoulou,
F. L., & Holdsworth, M. J. (2008). Seed after-ripening is a discrete developmental pathway associated with specific gene networks in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 53(2), 214-224.

[42] Leprince, O., Pellizzaro, A., Berriri, S., & Buitink, J. (2017). Late seed maturation: drying without dying. Journal of Experimental Botany, 68(4), 827-841.

[43] Sano, N., Rajjou, L., North, H. M., Debeaujon, I., Marion-Poll, A., & Seo, M. (2016). Staying alive: molecular aspects of seed longevity. Plant and Cell Physiology, 57(4), 660-674.

[44] Walters, C., Ballesteros, D., & Vertucci, V. A. (2010). Structural mechanics of seed deterioration: standing the test of time. Plant Science, 179(6), 565-573.

[45] Hampton, J. G., Boelt, B., Rolston, M. P., & Chastain, T. G. (2013). Effects of elevated CO2 and temperature on seed quality. The Journal of Agricultural Science, 151(2), 154-162.

[46] Marcos Filho, J. (2015). Seed vigor testing: an overview of the past, present and future perspective. Scientia Agricola, 72, 363-374.

[47] Matthews, S., Noli, E., Demir, I., Khajeh-Hosseini, M., & Wagner, M. H.(2012). Evaluation of seed quality: from physiology to international standardization. Seed Science Research, 22(S1), S69-S73.

[48] Corbineau, F. (2012). Markers of seed quality: from present to future. Seed Science Research, 22(S1), S61-S68.

[49] Maia, J., Dekkers, B. J., Provart, N. J., Ligterink, W., & Hilhorst, H. W. (2011). The re-establishment of desiccation tolerance in germinated Arabidopsis thaliana seeds and its associated transcriptome. PloS One, 6(12), e29123.

[50] Macovei, A., Balestrazzi, A., Confalonieri, M., Fae, M., & Carbonera, D. (2011). New insights on the barrel medic MtOGG1 and MtFPG functions in relation to oxidative stress response in planta and during seed imbibition. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 49(9), 1040-1050.

[51] Revilla, P., Butrón, A., Rodríguez, V. M., Malvar, R. A., & Ordás, A. (2009). Identification of genes related to germination in aged maize seed by screening natural variability. Journal of Experimental Botany, 60(14), 4151-4157.

[52] Rajjou, L., Lovigny, Y., Groot, S. P., Belghazi, M., Job, C., & Job, D.(2008). Proteome-wide characterization of seed aging in Arabidopsis: a

comparison between artificial and natural aging protocols. Plant Physiology, 148(1), 620-641.

[53] Nguyen, T. P., Keizer, P., van Eeuwijk, F., Smeekens, S., & Bentsink, L.(2012). Natural variation for seed longevity and seed dormancy are negatively correlated in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 160(4), 2083-2092.

[54] Waterworth, W. M., Masnavi, G., Bhardwaj, R. M., Jiang, Q., Bray, C. M., & West, C. E. (2010).

CopyRetry

Claude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.

В

start next

Edit

A DNA ligase from Arabidopsis (AtLIG6) is required for seed longevity and repair of oxidative DNA damage. Plant Journal, 63(3), 469-480.

[55] Bueso, E., Muñoz-Bertomeu, J., Campos, F., Brunaud, V., Martínez, L., Sayas, E., ... & Serrano, R. (2014). ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA HOMEOBOX25 uncovers a role for Gibberellins in seed longevity. Plant Physiology, 164(2), 999-1010.

[56] Chen, H., Chu, P., Zhou, Y., Li, Y., Liu, J., Ding, Y., ... & Huang, S. (2012). Overexpression of AtOGG1, a DNA glycosylase/AP lyase, enhances seed longevity and abiotic stress tolerance in Arabidopsis. Journal of Experimental Botany, 63(11), 4107-4121.

[57] Hu, D., Ma, G., Wang, Q., Yao, J., Wang, Y., Pritchard, H. W., & Wang, X. (2012). Spatial and temporal nature of reactive oxygen species production and programmed cell death in elm (Ulmus pumila L.) seeds during controlled deterioration. Plant, Cell & Environment, 35(11), 2045-2059.

[58] Nagel, M., Kranner, I., Neumann, K., Rolletschek, H., Seal, C. E., Colville, L., ... & Börner, A. (2015). Genome-wide association mapping and biochemical markers reveal that seed ageing and longevity are intricately affected by genetic background and developmental and environmental conditions in barley. Plant, Cell & Environment, 38(6), 1011-1022.

[59] Righetti, K., Vu, J. L., Pelletier, S., Vu, B. L., Glaab, E., Lalanne, D., ... & Buitink, J. (2015). Inference of longevity-related genes from a robust

coexpression network of seed maturation identifies regulators linking seed storability to biotic defense-related pathways. The Plant Cell, 27(10), 2692-2708.

[60] Walters, C. (2015). Orthodoxy, recalcitrance and in-between: describing variation in seed storage characteristics using threshold responses to water loss. Planta, 242(2), 397-406.

[61] Colville, L., Bradley, E. L., Lloyd, A. S., Pritchard, H. W., Castle, L., & Kranner, I. (2012). Volatile fingerprints of seeds of four species indicate the involvement of alcoholic fermentation, lipid peroxidation, and Maillard reactions in seed deterioration during ageing and desiccation stress. Journal of Experimental Botany, 63(18), 6519-6530.

[62] Kranner, I., Kastberger, G., Hartbauer, M., & Pritchard, H. W. (2010).Noninvasive diagnosis of seed viability using infrared thermography.Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(8), 3912-3917.

[63] Groot, S. P., Surki, A. A., de Vos, R. C., & Kodde, J. (2012). Seed storage at elevated partial pressure of oxygen, a fast method for analysing seed ageing under dry conditions. Annals of Botany, 110(6), 1149-1159.

[64] Schwember, A. R., & Bradford, K. J. (2010). Quantitative trait loci associated with longevity of lettuce seeds under conventional and controlled deterioration storage conditions. Journal of Experimental Botany, 61(15), 4423-4436.

[65] Xu, H., Wei, Y., Zhu, Y., Lian, L., Xie, H., Cai, Q., ... & Wang, S. (2015). Antisense suppression of LOX3 gene expression in rice endosperm enhances seed longevity. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 13(4), 526-539.

[66] Yin, G., Xin, X., Song, C., Chen, X., Zhang, J., Wu, S., ... & Lu, X. (2014). Activity levels and expression of antioxidant enzymes in the ascorbate– glutathione cycle in artificially aged rice seed. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 80, 1-9.

[67] Yin, X., He, D., Gupta, R., & Yang, P. (2015). Physiological and proteomic analyses on artificially aged Brassica napus seed. Frontiers in Plant Science, 6, 112.

[68] Prieto-Dapena, P., Castaño, R., Almoguera, C., & Jordano, J. (2006). Improved resistance to controlled deterioration in transgenic seeds. Plant Physiology, 142(3), 1102-1112.

[69] Waterworth, W. M., Bray, C. M., & West, C. E. (2019). Seeds and the art of genome maintenance. Frontiers in Plant Science, 10, 706.

[70] Waterworth, W. M., Footitt, S., Bray, C. M., Finch-Savage, W. E., & West, C. E. (2016). DNA damage checkpoint kinase ATM regulates germination and maintains genome stability in seeds. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(34), 9647-9652.

[71] Wiebach, J., Nagel, M., Börner, A., Altmann, T., & Riewe, D. (2020). Agedependent loss of seed viability is associated with increased lipid oxidation and hydrolysis. Plant, Cell & Environment, 43(2), 303-314.

[72] Ballesteros, D., & Walters, C. (2011). Detailed characterization of mechanical properties and molecular mobility within dry seed glasses: relevance to the physiology of dry biological systems. The Plant Journal, 68(4), 607-619.

[73] Fleming, M. B., Hill, L. M., & Walters, C. (2019). The kinetics of ageing in dry-stored seeds: a comparison of viability loss and RNA degradation in unique legacy seed collections. Annals of Botany, 123(7), 1133-1146.

[74] Fleming, M. B., Richards, C. M., & Walters, C. (2017). Decline in RNA integrity of dry-stored soybean seeds correlates with loss of germination potential. Journal of Experimental Botany, 68(9), 2219-2230.

[75] Sano, N., Rajjou, L., North, H. M., Debeaujon, I., Marion-Poll, A., & Seo, M. (2016). Staying alive: molecular aspects of seed longevity. Plant and Cell Physiology, 57(4), 660-674.

[76] Xin, X., Tian, Q., Yin, G., Chen, X., Zhang, J., Ng, S., & Lu, X. (2014). Reduced mitochondrial and ascorbate–glutathione activity after artificial ageing in soybean seed. Journal of Plant Physiology, 171(2), 140-147.

[77] Nagel, M., Kodde, J., Pistrick, S., Mascher, M., Börner, A., & Groot, S. P. (2016). Barley seed aging: genetics behind the dry elevated pressure of oxygen aging and moist controlled deterioration. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7, 388.

[78] Walters, C., Wheeler, L. M., & Grotenhuis, J. M. (2005). Longevity of seeds stored in a genebank: species characteristics. Seed Science Research, 15(1), 1-20.

[79] Berjak, P., & Pammenter, N. W. (2008). From Avicennia to Zizania: seed recalcitrance in perspective. Annals of Botany, 101(2), 213-228.

[80] Ellis, R. H., Hong, T. D., & Roberts, E. H. (1990). An intermediate category of seed storage behaviour? I. Coffee. Journal of Experimental Botany, 41(9), 1167-1174.

[81] Li, D. Z., & Pritchard, H. W. (2009). The science and economics of ex situ plant conservation. Trends in Plant Science, 14(11), 614-621.

[82] Bewley, J. D., Bradford, K. J., Hilhorst, H. W., & Nonogaki, H. (2013).Seeds: physiology of development, germination and dormancy. Springer Science & Business Media.

[83] Varier, A., Vari, A. K., & Dadlani, M. (2010). The subcellular basis of seed priming. Current Science, 450-456.

[84] Hussain, S., Khan, F., Hussain, H. A., & Nie, L. (2016). Physiological and biochemical mechanisms of seed priming-induced chilling tolerance in rice cultivars. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7, 116.

[85] Paparella, S., Araújo, S. S., Rossi, G., Wijayasinghe, M., Carbonera, D., & Balestrazzi, A. (2015). Seed priming: state of the art and new perspectives. Plant Cell Reports, 34(8), 1281-1293.

[86] Mahmood, A., Turgay, O. C., Farooq, M., & Hayat, R. (2016). Seed biopriming with plant growth promoting rhizobacteria: a review. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 92(8), fiw112.

[87] Pedrini, S., Merritt, D. J., Stevens, J., & Dixon, K. (2017). Seed coating: science or marketing spin? Trends in Plant Science, 22(2), 106-116.

[88] Madsen, M. D., Davies, K. W., Williams, C. J., & Svejcar, T. J. (2012). Agglomerating seeds to enhance native seedling emergence and growth. Journal of Applied Ecology, 49(2), 431-438.

[89] Zeng, Y., Himmel, M. E., & Ding, S. Y. (2017). Visualizing chemical functionality in plant cell walls. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 10(1), 263.

[90] Ballesteros, D., Hill, L. M., & Walters, C. (2017). Variation of desiccation tolerance and longevity in fern spores. Journal of Plant Physiology, 211, 53-62.

[91] Ballesteros, D., & Walters, C. (2019). Solid-state biology and seed longevity: a mechanical analysis of glasses in pea and soybean embryonic axes. Frontiers in Plant Science, 10, 920.

[92] Righetti, K., Vu, J. L., Pelletier, S., Vu, B. L., Glaab, E., Lalanne, D., ... & Buitink, J. (2015). Inference of longevity-related genes from a robust coexpression network of seed maturation identifies regulators linking seed storability to biotic defense-related pathways. The Plant Cell, 27(10), 2692-2708.

[93] Zinsmeister, J., Leprince, O., & Buitink, J. (2020). Molecular and environmental factors regulating seed longevity. Biochemical Journal, 477(2), 305-323. [94] Sharma, A., Shahzad, B., Kumar, V., Kohli, S. K., Sidhu, G. P. S., Bali, A. S., ... & Zheng, B. (2019). Phytohormones regulate accumulation of osmolytes under abiotic stress. Biomolecules, 9(7), 285.

[95] Sano, N., Rajjou, L., North, H. M., Debeaujon, I., Marion-Poll, A., & Seo, M. (2016). Staying alive: molecular aspects of seed longevity. Plant and Cell Physiology, 57(4), 660-674.

[96] Bourdenx, B., Bernard, A., Domergue, F., Pascal, S., Léger, A., Roby, D., ... & Joubès, J. (2011). Overexpression of Arabidopsis ECERIFERUM1 promotes wax very-long-chain alkane biosynthesis and influences plant response to biotic and abiotic stresses. Plant Physiology, 156(1), 29-45.

[97] Kochanek, J., Steadman, K. J., Probert, R. J., & Adkins, S. W. (2011). Variation in seed longevity among different populations, species and genera found in collections from wild Australian plants. Australian Journal of Botany, 59(2), 86-94.

[98] Barros-Galvão, T., Vaistij, F. E., Gilday, A. D., Larson, T. R., & Graham, I.
A. (2020). A role for ECERIFERUM1 and ECERIFERUM3 in wax accumulation during barley seed development. Plant Physiology, 182(4), 2221-2240.

[99] Truyens, S., Weyens, N., Cuypers, A., & Vangronsveld, J. (2015). Bacterial seed endophytes: genera, vertical transmission and interaction with plants. Environmental Microbiology Reports, 7(1), 40-50.

[100] Nelson, E. B. (2018). The seed microbiome: origins, interactions, and impacts. Plant and Soil, 422(1), 7-34.

[101] Rodríguez, C. E., Antonielli, L., Mitter, B., Trognitz, F., & Sessitsch, A. (2020). Heritability and functional importance of the Setaria viridis bacterial seed microbiome. Phytobiomes Journal, 4(1), 40-52.

[102] Geisen, S., Kostenko, O., Cnossen, M. C., ten Hooven, F. C., Vreš, B., & van der Putten, W. H. (2017). Seed and root endophytic fungi in a range expanding and a related plant species. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 1645.

[103] Johnston-Monje, D., & Raizada, M. N. (2011). Conservation and diversity of seed associated endophytes in Zea across boundaries of evolution, ethnography and ecology. PLoS One, 6(6), e20396.

[104] Shade, A., Jacques, M. A., & Barret, M. (2017). Ecological patterns of seed microbiome diversity, transmission, and assembly. Current Opinion in Microbiology, 37, 15-22.

[105] Nelson, E. B. (2004). Microbial dynamics and interactions in the spermosphere. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 42, 271-309.

[106] Adam, E., Bernhart, M., Müller, H., Winkler, J., & Berg, G. (2018). The Cucurbita pepo seed microbiome: genotype-specific composition and implications for breeding. Plant and Soil, 422(1), 35-49.

[107] O'Callaghan, M. (2016). Microbial inoculation of seed for improved crop performance: issues and opportunities. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 100(13), 5729-5746.

[108] Arif, I., Batool, M., & Schenk, P. M. (2020). Plant microbiome engineering: expected benefits for improved crop growth and resilience. Trends in Biotechnology, 38(12), 1385-1396.

[109] Mitter, B., Pfaffenbichler, N., Flavell, R., Compan, S., Scheublin, T., Lambers, H., ... & Sessitsch, A. (2017). A new approach to modify plant microbiomes and traits by introducing beneficial bacteria at flowering into progeny seeds. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 11.

[110] McGuire, S., & Sperling, L. (2016). Seed systems smallholder farmers use. Food Security, 8(1), 179-195.

[111] Louwaars, N. P. (2018). Plant breeding and diversity: A troubled relationship? Euphytica, 214(7), 1-9.

[112] Coomes, O. T., McGuire, S. J., Garine, E., Caillon, S., McKey, D., Demeulenaere, E., ... & Wencélius, J. (2015). Farmer seed networks make a limited contribution to agriculture? Four common misconceptions. Food Policy, 56, 41-50.

[113] Spielman, D. J., & Kennedy, A. (2016). Towards better metrics and policymaking for seed system development: Insights from Asia's seed industry. Agricultural Systems, 147, 111-122.

[114] Almekinders, C. J., Walsh, S., Jacobsen, K. S., Andrade-Piedra, J. L., McEwan, M. A., De Haan, S., ... & Staver, C. (2019). Why interventions in the seed systems of roots, tubers and bananas crops do not reach their full potential. Food Security, 11(1), 23-42.

[115] Vernooy, R., Sthapit, B., Otieno, G., Shrestha, P., & Gupta, A. (2017). The roles of community seed banks in climate change adaption. Development in Practice, 27(3), 316-327.

[116] Ghimiray, M., & Vernooy, R. (2017). The importance and challenges of crop germplasm interdependence: the case of Bhutan. Food Security, 9(2), 301-310.

[117] Aravind, J., Mukesh Sankar, S., Wankhede, D. P., & Kaur, V. (2020). Augmented Reality in Agriculture. In Emerging Technologies for Agriculture and Environment (pp. 115-130). Springer, Singapore.

[118] Kuźniar, A., Włodarczyk, K., Grządziel, J., Goraj, W., Gałązka, A., & Wolińska, A. (2020). Culture-independent analysis of an endophytic core microbiome in two species of wheat: Triticum aestivum L.(cv.'Hondia') and the first report of microbiota in Triticum spelta L.(cv.'Rokosz'). Systematic and Applied Microbiology, 43(1), 126025.

[119] Halewood, M., Chiurugwi, T., Sackville Hamilton, R., Kurtz, B., Marden, E., Welch, E., ... & Roa, C. (2018). Plant genetic resources for food and agriculture: opportunities and challenges emerging from the science and information technology revolution. New Phytologist, 217(4), 1407-1419.

[120] Gatto, M., De Haan, S., Laborte, A., Bonierbale, M., Labarta, R., & Hareau, G. (2021). Policy Options for Advancing Seed Systems for Vegetatively Propagated Crops in Developing Countries. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems, 5, 630154.

[121] Finkers-Tomczak, A., Danan, S., Van Dijk, T., Beyene, A., Bouwman, L., Overmars, H., ... & Goverse, A. (2009). A high-resolution map of the Grp1 locus on chromosome V of potato harbouring broad-spectrum resistance to the cyst nematode species Globodera pallida and Globodera rostochiensis. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 119(1), 165-173.

[122] Allen, E., Garvey, B., Haile, S., Wilson, E., Pilkington, L., Toupin-Aked, S., & Smiarowski, H. (2020). Building seed system resilience in protracted crisis contexts, Synthesis of findings in the Democratic Republic of Congo, South Sudan and Syria. FAO Agricultural Development Economics Technical Study No. 11. Rome, FAO.

[123] Mabaya, E., Cramer, L., Mahiga, V., Pham, H., Simpson, N., & Pereira, H.(2021). Rise of the agripreneur: Developing effective ICT-enabled agriculture business development models for the youth. Agrekon, 60(1), 111-135.

[124] Feher, A. (2020). Somatic embryogenesis—Stress-induced remodeling of plant cell fate. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1863(4), 194377.

[125] Moïse, J. A., Han, S., Gudynaitę-Savitch, L., Johnson, D. A., & Miki, B. L.(2005). Seed coats: structure, development, composition, and biotechnology. InVitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant, 41(5), 620-644.

[126] Kamal, K. Y., Khodaeiaminjan, M., Yahya, G., El-Tantawy, A. A., Abdel-Farid, I. B., Nagati, M., ... & El-Esawi, M. A. (2021). Modulation of cell cycle progression and chromatin dynamic as tolerance mechanisms to salinity and drought stress in maize. Biomolecules, 11(5), 689.

[127] Musgrave, M. E., Kuang, A., & Matthews, S. W. (1997). Plant reproduction during spaceflight: importance of the gaseous environment. Planta, 203(1), S177-S184.

[128] De Micco, V., De Pascale, S., Paradiso, R., & Aronne, G. (2014). Microgravity effects on different stages of higher plant life cycle and completion of the seed-to-seed cycle. Plant Biology, 16, 31-38.

[129] Kruse, C. P., Basu, P., Luesse, D. R., & Wyatt, S. E. (2017). Transcriptome and proteome responses in RNAlater preserved tissue of Arabidopsis thaliana. PloS One, 12(4), e0175943.

[130] Sugimoto, M., Oono, Y., Gusev, O., Matsumoto, T., Yazawa, T., Levinskikh, M. A., ... & Novikova, N. (2014). Genome-wide expression analysis of reactive oxygen species gene network in Mizuna plants grown in long-term spaceflight. BMC Plant Biology, 14(1), 1-11.

[131] Link, B. M., Durst, S. J., Zhou, W., & Stankovic, B. (2003). Seed-to-seed growth of Arabidopsis thaliana on the International Space Station. Advances in Space Research, 31(10), 2237-2243.

[132] Poulet, L., Fontaine, J. P., & Dussap, C. G. (2016). Plant's response to space environment: a comprehensive review including mechanistic modelling for future space gardeners. Botany Letters, 163(3), 337-347.

[133] Wang, J., Guo, Y., Zhang, L., Guo, R., Zhu, B., Liu, C., ... & Wang, X. (2021). Seed film coating with bacteria and sulfated chitosan to control rice seed borne bacterial leaf streak caused by Acidovorax avenae subsp. avenae. Plant Disease, 105(5), 1209-1217.

[134] Wamelink, G. W. W., Frissel, J. Y., Krijnen, W. H. J., Verwoert, M. R., & Goedhart, P. W. (2014). Can plants grow on Mars and the moon: a growth experiment on Mars and moon soil simulants. PLoS One, 9(8), e103138.

[135] Mead, A., Thompson, A. J., Beggs, M. J., & Vaughan, S. P. (2021). The Need for Plant Experiments in Space. The Biochemist, 43(4), 64-67.
[136] Arif, I., Batool, M., & Schenk, P. M. (2020). Plant microbiome engineering: expected benefits for improved crop growth and resilience. Trends in Biotechnology, 38(12), 1385-1396.

[137] Afzal, I., Shinwari, Z. K., Sikandar, S., & Shahzad, S. (2019). Plant beneficial endophytic bacteria: Mechanisms, diversity, host range and genetic determinants. Microbiological Research, 221, 36-49.

[138] Goh, C. H., Veliz Vallejos, D. F., Nicotra, A. B., & Mathesius, U. (2013). The impact of beneficial plant-associated microbes on plant phenotypic plasticity. Journal of chemical ecology, 39(7), 826-839.



CHAPTER - 6

Integrated Pest Management For Healthy Plants

¹Divyashree and ²Shivanand Koti

 ¹Ph.D Scholar, Department of Plant Pathology, NMCA, Navsari Agricultural University, Navsari, Gujarat-396450
 ²PhD Scholar, Navsari Agricultural University Navsari, Gujarat, India



Abstract

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is a holistic approach aimed at controlling pests in horticultural crops while minimizing environmental impact and promoting plant health. By integrating biological, cultural, mechanical, and chemical strategies, IPM seeks to reduce reliance on chemical pesticides and enhance the sustainability of horticultural systems. Key components of PIM include the use of natural predators, microbial agents, crop rotation, sanitation, and the judicious application of selective pesticides and biopesticides. Additionally, the development and use of pest-resistant crop varieties strengthen IPM efforts. Recent successes in horticultural crops, such as tomato production in California, apple orchards in Washington State, and citrus groves in Florida, highlight the effectiveness of IPM in managing pests while maintaining healthy plants. However, challenges such as pest resistance, climate change, and economic considerations underscore the need for continuous innovation and adaptation in IPM practices. The future of IPM in horticulture will likely involve advancements in precision agriculture, gene editing, and the development of new biocontrol agents, further enhancing the sustainability and resilience of horticultural crop production. This abstract provides a concise overview of IPM's principles, strategies, and current applications, emphasizing its critical role in modern horticultural crop management.

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is an ecologically-based pest control strategy that focuses on long-term prevention of pests or their damage through a combination of techniques. The concept of IPM has its roots in the early 20th century, but it was not until the mid-20th century that IPM was formally recognized as a pest control strategy. The development of IPM was a response to the increasing problems associated with the overuse of chemical pesticides, including pesticide resistance, environmental contamination, and adverse effects on non-target organisms. The publication by Stern *et al.* (1959) on the "Integrated Control Concept" laid the groundwork for what would later become IPM, integrating biological control with selective chemical applications These

techniques include biological control, habitat manipulation, modification of cultural practices, and the use of resistant varieties. IPM is designed to manage pest populations at levels that do not cause economic harm while minimizing risks to human health, beneficial and non-target organisms, and the environment (Kogan, 1998).

The fundamental principles of IPM are:

- **Prevention:** Implementing practices to prevent pest establishment.
- Monitoring and Identification: Regularly monitoring pest populations and accurately identifying pests to ensure correct control methods are used.
- **Establishment of Action Thresholds:** Determining the pest population level at which action must be taken to prevent unacceptable damage.
- **Control:** Employing a combination of biological, cultural, mechanical, and chemical methods, starting with the least harmful to humans and the environment.

Importance of IPM in Horticulture

Horticultural crops, which include fruits, vegetables, ornamental plants, and herbs, are highly susceptible to a wide range of pests, from insects and mites to fungi, bacteria, and viruses. The application of IPM in horticulture is critical for several reasons:

Reduction of Pesticide Use: IPM reduces the reliance on chemical pesticides, which helps mitigate the risks associated with pesticide residues on food, the development of pest resistance, and environmental pollution (Pedigo & Rice, 2009).

Sustainable Crop Production: By integrating multiple pest control methods, IPM promotes sustainable agricultural practices that preserve biodiversity and soil health, ensuring the long-term viability of horticultural production.

Monitoring and Identification

Monitoring and identification are critical components of IPM. Effective monitoring involves regular field inspections, where crops are observed for signs of pest activity. This can include visual inspections, the use of traps (e.g., pheromone traps for specific insect pests), and advanced technologies like drones and remote sensing to monitor large areas. Accurate pest identification is essential for selecting the appropriate control measures, as different pests require different management strategies (Pedigo & Rice, 2009). In tomato cultivation, pheromone traps are commonly used to monitor populations of the tomato leaf

142 Integrated Pest Management For Healthy Plants

miner (*Tuta absoluta*), a devastating pest that can cause significant crop losses if not managed effectively (Desneux *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 1. Components of IPM

Prevention

Prevention strategies in IPM focus on creating conditions that are unfavorable for pest establishment and proliferation. These include:

- **Crop Rotation:** Rotating crops with different susceptibility to pests can break pest life cycles and reduce pest pressure.
- **Resistant Varieties:** Planting pest-resistant varieties is a key preventive measure, as these plants are less likely to suffer damage from specific pests.
- Sanitation Practices: Keeping the growing area clean by removing plant debris and managing weeds helps eliminate habitats that pests might exploit (Dent, 2000).

In apple orchards, planting varieties resistant to apple scab (a fungal disease) can significantly reduce the need for fungicide applications, thus integrating disease resistance into the IPM framework (Ellis *et al.*, 2008).

Control Methods

Control methods in Integrated Pest Management (IPM) for horticulture involve a combination of biological, cultural, mechanical, and chemical approaches to manage pest populations effectively while minimizing environmental impact. These methods are integrated to promote plant health, reduce pesticide reliance, and enhance the sustainability of horticultural systems.

Biological Control

Biological control involves the use of natural enemies predators, parasitoids, and pathogens to suppress pest populations. The process of lowering a pest population by the use of predators, parasites, or disease organisms that may normally be found in nature is referred to as biological management system. One of the most important factors that prevents plant-feeding insects from taking over the rest of the globe is the fact that they provide food for other types of insects. Insect and mite populations are often rather concentrated, and as pests grow abundant, parasitoids and predators are drawn to them, which results in a reduction in the number of pest species in that particular region [Kabir *et al.*, 2006, Prasad *et al.*, 2012].

The Parasitoids and predators may be purchased via garden catalogues and gardening publications; however, certain insects that are marketed as biological control agents, like as praying mantises and lady beetles, are not particularly successful for amateur gardeners to use. It is far more effective to establish a habitat that attracts and maintains naturally existing predators and parasitoids. This is because the environment is more stable. It is important to be tolerant of some pests in the yard and to consider them as food for the beneficial insects. When beneficial insects are unable to find food, they will relocate to a different place. Reduce the amount of pesticides that are used, since these chemicals may kill both harmful and beneficial insects [Lu *et al.*, 2012]. This method is often used in conjunction with other control strategies within an IPM program (Hajek, 2004). In greenhouse horticulture, *Phytoseiulus persimilis*, a predatory mite, is commonly introduced to control spider mite populations, reducing the need for chemical acaricides (van Lenteren, 2012).

Cultural Control

Cultural practices are designed to modify the environment or the way crops are grown to reduce pest incidence. This includes practices such as adjusting planting dates, optimizing irrigation to avoid conditions that favor pests, and using mulches to suppress weed growth (Pedigo & Rice, 2009). In citrus orchards, pruning and thinning of trees can improve air circulation, reducing the humidity levels that are conducive to fungal diseases like powdery mildew (Gottwald et al., 2007).

Mechanical and Physical Controls

Mechanical and physical control methods involve the direct removal of pests or the use of barriers and traps to prevent pest damage. This can include techniques such as handpicking, the use of insect-proof screens, and the deployment of traps (Flint & Dreistadt, 1998). Row covers are often used in vegetable production to physically exclude insect pests from reaching the plants while allowing light and rain to pass through (Lamont, 2005). Chemical control remains a part of IPM but is used judiciously. The goal is to apply pesticides only when necessary, and to use the least toxic and most targeted products available. This approach helps minimize the impact on non-target organisms and reduces the risk of pests developing resistance (Kogan, 1998). In the management of the diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*) in cabbage, the use of Bacillus thuringiensis (Bt) as a biopesticide has been an effective alternative to conventional chemical insecticides, preserving beneficial insects and reducing environmental impact (Zalucki *et al.*, 2012).

Decision Making: Action Thresholds

Action thresholds are a critical component of IPM, representing the pest population level at which control measures should be implemented to prevent economic damage. These thresholds are crop- and pest-specific and are determined based on factors such as crop value, pest pressure, and environmental conditions (Pedigo & Rice, 2009). In soybean production, action thresholds for soybean aphid populations are typically set at an average of 250 aphids per plant, with the recommendation to apply control measures if populations exceed this threshold (Ragsdale *et al.*, 2007).

Satellite Technologies For Ipm

Satellite technologies offer a solution for remote crop monitoring, allowing farmers to check any farm field on a daily basis. EOSDA Crop Monitoring is a digital platform that allows farmers to monitor crops remotely, regardless of their size or location. Scouting in integrated pest management involves regular field inspections for deviations in crop development, promoting grounded decisions. EOSDA Crop Monitoring provides a valuable scouting feature that allows farmers to detect vegetation decline, set tasks, assign tasks, and receive a comprehensive report with inspection details [Saygili *et al.*, 2008]. The platform also allows for the planning and monitoring of integrated pest management (IPM) agricultural activities on individual fields. Users can select the activity type, set the timeline, and monitor its status. Regular scouting can show if the integrated pest management practices are bringing desired results [Romeh, 2019].

The EOSDA Crop Monitoring uses vegetation indices to monitor crop state in the field and detect changes. If problem areas do not recover after applying integrated pest management components, it indicates potential pest population's increase, indicating the need for another integrated management option [Reddy, 2024]. Remote sensing can be integrated into current business processes, allowing for before-after comparisons of single field changes over two dates. This helps confirm the beneficial effects of fertilizers or other IPM agrichemicals. However, if the agrichemical does not prove useful, further improvements are needed before introducing the product to the agri-market [Kazak *et al.*, 2000 and Mehla, 2023]

Current Examples and Case Studies in Horticulture

IPM in Tomato Cultivation

Tomato cultivation is highly susceptible to a variety of pests, including the tomato leaf miner (*Tuta absoluta*), whiteflies (*Bemisia tabaci*), and aphids. These pests can cause significant yield losses and require an integrated approach for effective management.

Implementation of IPM:

- **Monitoring:** Farmers use pheromone traps to monitor *Tuta absoluta* populations. Regular scouting is conducted to assess pest levels and the presence of natural enemies.
- **Biological Control:** *Trichogramma* wasps are released to parasitize leaf miner eggs, reducing the population before it can cause significant damage.
- **Cultural Practices:** Pruning lower leaves and maintaining plant hygiene are crucial to prevent pest habitat. Adjusting irrigation practices to avoid excessive moisture can help control whitefly populations.
- Chemical Control: As a last resort, selective insecticides like spinosad or neem oil are used when pest populations exceed action thresholds, focusing on minimizing non-target effects (Desneux *et al.*, 2010). In Spain, tomato growers in Almeria have successfully implemented IPM strategies, leading to a significant reduction in pesticide use while maintaining high yields. This has been attributed to the effective use of biological control agents and cultural practices (Desneux *et al.*, 2010).

IPM in Citrus Orchards

Citrus crops are particularly vulnerable to pests such as the Asian citrus psyllid (*Diaphorina citri*), which is a vector for citrus greening disease (Huanglongbing). The implementation of IPM is crucial in managing this pest and preventing the spread of the disease.

Implementation of IPM:

146 Integrated Pest Management For Healthy Plants

- **Monitoring:** Yellow sticky traps and regular scouting are used to monitor psyllid populations. The presence of natural enemies is also recorded to determine the need for additional control measures.
- **Biological Control:** *Tamarixia radiata*, a parasitic wasp, is released to target psyllid nymphs, reducing their populations in the orchard.
- **Cultural Control:** Removal of infected trees and pruning are essential to manage the disease spread. Additionally, proper nutrition and irrigation management help enhance the trees' resistance to pests and diseases.
- **Chemical Control:** Insecticides are used judiciously, particularly during periods of high psyllid activity, to protect the crop while minimizing impact on beneficial insects (Gottwald *et al.*, 2007).

In Florida, IPM programs have been developed to manage Asian citrus psyllid populations, integrating biological control with careful use of insecticides. These efforts have contributed to a slower spread of citrus greening, allowing growers to maintain production (Qureshi & Stansly, 2009).

IPM in Greenhouse Horticulture

Greenhouse environments are ideal for intensive horticulture but also pose unique challenges for pest management due to the controlled conditions that can favor rapid pest population growth.

- **Monitoring:** Regular visual inspections and the use of sticky traps are essential for early detection of pests like whiteflies, aphids, and spider mites.
- **Biological Control:** Predatory insects such as *Phytoseiulus persimilis* (for spider mites) and *Encarsia formosa* (for whiteflies) are introduced to maintain pest populations at low levels.
- **Cultural Control:** Managing greenhouse conditions, such as temperature and humidity, helps deter pest infestations. Sanitation practices, such as removing plant debris, are also critical.
- Mechanical Control: Insect-proof screens and physical barriers are installed to prevent pests from entering the greenhouse. Sticky tapes and traps are used as an additional measure to control flying insects (Flint & Dreistadt, 1998).

In the Netherlands, IPM in greenhouses has become a standard practice. By focusing on biological control and minimizing pesticide use, growers have been able to produce high-quality crops with reduced environmental impact. This approach has also been economically beneficial, as it reduces the costs associated with chemical inputs and pest management (van Lenteren, 2012).

Challenges and Future Directions

While IPM offers numerous benefits, its adoption is not without challenges. These include:

- **Knowledge and Training:** Successful implementation of IPM requires a deep understanding of pest biology, ecology, and control methods. Many farmers, particularly in developing countries, may lack access to the necessary training and resources (Parsa *et al.*, 2014).
- Economic Considerations: Initial costs associated with IPM, such as purchasing biological control agents or investing in monitoring equipment, can be a barrier for smallholder farmers. However, long-term savings and increased crop yields often offset these initial investments (Dent, 2000).
- **Resistance Management:** As with chemical controls, pests can develop resistance to biological control agents or biopesticides if not managed properly. Integrated resistance management strategies are essential to maintaining the effectiveness of IPM (Tabashnik *et al.*, 2013).

Conclusion

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) represents a holistic approach to pest management that balances economic, environmental, and social considerations. Its application in horticulture has proven effective in reducing pesticide use, enhancing crop yields, and promoting sustainable farming practices. However, widespread adoption of IPM requires overcoming challenges related to knowledge dissemination, economic barriers, and resistance management. As agriculture continues to evolve, incorporating emerging technologies and sustainable practices into IPM will be crucial for ensuring the long-term health and productivity of horticultural systems.

References

- 1. Altieri, M. A. (2004). Agroecology: Principles and strategies for designing sustainable farming systems. Taylor & Francis.
- Avelino, J., Willocquet, L., & Savary, S. (2011). Crop protection practices in coffee agroforestry systems and their effects on coffee leaf rust incidence. *Crop Protection*, 30(2), 103-115.
- 3. Bramley, R. G. V. (2010). Precision viticulture: Managing vineyard variability for improved quality outcomes. *Acta Horticulturae*, *868*, 55-66.
- 4. Dent, D. (2000). Insect pest management (2nd ed.). CABI Publishing.
- 5. Desneux, N., Wajnberg, E., Wyckhuys, K. A. G., Burgio, G., Arpaia, S., Narváez-Vasquez, C. A., González-Cabrera, J., Ruescas, D., Tabone, E.,

Frandon, J., Pizzol, J., & Pons, X. (2010). Biological invasion of European tomato crops by *Tuta absoluta*: Ecology, geographic expansion, and prospects for biological control. *Journal of Pest Science*, 83(3), 197-215.

- Ellis, M. A., Ferree, D. C., Madden, L. V., & Wilson, L. L. (2008). Reduced pesticide use and enhanced profitability of apple scab-resistant apple cultivars in a scab-conducive region. *HortScience*, 43(1), 44-49.
- 7. Flint, M. L., & Dreistadt, S. H. (1998). *Natural enemies handbook: The illustrated guide to biological pest control*. University of California Press.
- 8. Gottwald, T. R., Hughes, G., & Graham, J. H. (2007). Citrus canker: The pathogen and its impact. *Plant Health Progress*, 8(1), 31-34.
- 9. Hajek, A. E. (2004). *Natural enemies: An introduction to biological control*. Cambridge University Press.
- Kabir, K. E., Sugimoto, H., Tado, H., Endo, K., Yamanaka, A., Tanaka, S., & Koga, D. (2006). Effect of *Bombyx mori* chitinase against Japanese pine sawyer (*Monochamus alternatus*) adults as a biopesticide. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 70, 219-229.
- Kazak, C., Karut, K., & Sekeroglu, E. (2000). The population dynamics and predation of Hatay strain of *Phytoseiulus persimilis* Athias-Henriot (Acari: Phytoseiidae) on the prey *Tetranychus cinnabarinus* Boisduval (Acari: Tetranychidae); Effects of different initial prey and predator ratios on greenhouse cucumbers. In *Proceedings of the 3rd European Congress of Entomology* (pp. 195-200).
- 12. Kogan, M. (1998). Integrated pest management: Historical perspectives and contemporary developments. *Annual Review of Entomology*, *43*, 243-270.
- 13. Lamont, W. J. (2005). Plastics: Modifying the microclimate for the production of vegetable crops. *HortTechnology*, *15*(3), 477-481.
- 14. Lu, Y., Bei, Y., & Zhang, J. (2012). Are yellow sticky traps an effective method for control of sweetpotato whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci*, in the greenhouse or field? *Journal of Insect Science*, *12*(1), 113.
- 15. Mehla, M. K. (2023). Reducing reliance on chemical pesticides and promoting sustainable agriculture: Role of integrated pest management strategies in horticulture. In S. Sharma (Ed.), *Sustainable agriculture and horticulture* (pp. 175-192).
- Parsa, S., Morse, S., Bonifacio, A., Chancellor, T. C. B., Condori, B., Crespo-Pérez, V., Hobbs, S. L. A., Kroschel, J., Ba, M. N., Rebaudo, F., Sherwood, S. G., Vanek, S. J., Faye, E., Herrera, M. A., Dangles, O., & Collinson, M. (2014). Obstacles to integrated pest management adoption in developing countries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *111*(10), 3889-3894.

- 17. Pedigo, L. P., & Rice, M. E. (2009). *Entomology and pest management* (6th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Prasad, Y., & Prabhakar, M. (2012). Pest monitoring and forecasting. In U. Shankar & D. P. Abrol (Eds.), *Integrated pest management: Principles and practice* (pp. 41-57). CABI.
- 19. Qaim, M., & Zilberman, D. (2003). Yield effects of genetically modified crops in developing countries. *Science*, 299(5608), 900-902.
- Ragsdale, D. W., Voegtlin, D. J., & O'Neil, R. J. (2007). Soybean aphid biology in North America. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*, 97(2), 204-208.
- Reddy, A. J., Bhujel, S., Siddiqua, A., & Khayum, A. (2024). Maximizing yield and sustainability: A comprehensive approach to integrated pest management in horticulture crops. *Journal of Advances in Biology & Biotechnology*, 27(5), 632-649.
- 22. Romeh, A. A. (2019). Integrated pest management for sustainable agriculture. In *Sustainability of agricultural environment in Egypt: Part II: Soil-water-plant nexus* (pp. 215-234). Springer.
- 23. Saygılı, H., Çahin, F., & Aysan, Y. (2008). *Bacterial plant diseases*. Meta Press.
- Shelton, A. M., Zhao, J. Z., & Roush, R. T. (2002). Economic, ecological, food safety, and social consequences of the deployment of Bt transgenic plants. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 47, 845-871.
- 25. Stern, V. M., Smith, R. F., van den Bosch, R., & Hagen, K. S. (1959). The integrated control concept. *Hilgardia*, 29(2), 81-101.
- Tabashnik, B. E., Brevault, T., & Carriere, Y. (2013). Insect resistance to Bt crops: Lessons from the first billion acres. *Nature Biotechnology*, *31*(6), 510-521.
- Van Lenteren, J. C. (2012). The state of commercial augmentative biological control: Plenty of natural enemies, but a frustrating lack of uptake. *BioControl*, 57(1), 1-20.
- Zalucki, M. P., Shabbir, A., Silva, R., Adamson, D., Liu, S. S., & Furlong, M. J. (2012). Estimating the economic cost of one of the world's major insect pests, *Plutella xylostella* (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): Just how long is a piece of string. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, *105*(4), 1115-1129.
- Zhang, C., & Kovacs, J. M. (2012). The application of small unmanned aerial systems for precision agriculture: A review. *Precision Agriculture*, 13(6), 693-712

CHAPTER - 07

A

Bioinformatics in Plant Research

¹Shailendra Sagar Prajapati, ²Manoj Kumar Shrivastava and ³Jyoti Sahu

1 Guest Faculty, Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, JNKVV, Jabalpur, 482004, Madhya Pradesh, India

2Principle Scientist (AICRP, Soybean), Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, JNKVV, Jabalpur, 482004, Madhya Pradesh, India

3 Guest Faculty, Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, IGKV, Raipur, 492012, Chhattisgarh, India

Corresponding Author Shailendra Sagar Prajapati shailus018@jnkvv.org

Abstract

Bioinformatics has revolutionized the field of plant science in recent years. The application of computational tools and techniques to manage, analyze, and interpret vast amounts of biological data has enabled plant researchers to gain unprecedented insights into plant genomes, gene expression, and molecular mechanisms underlying various plant traits and processes. This chapter provides an overview of the key concepts, tools, and applications of bioinformatics in plant research. We discuss the importance of genome sequencing and assembly, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics in understanding plant biology at the molecular level. We highlight the role of databases and data repositories in storing and sharing plant genomic and biological data. We also explore the use of bioinformatics tools and algorithms for sequence alignment, phylogenetic analysis, gene prediction, and functional annotation. Additionally, we showcase the applications of bioinformatics in crop improvement, including markerassisted selection, QTL mapping, and genomic selection. We further discuss the challenges and future prospects of bioinformatics in plant science. Overall, this chapter aims to provide plant researchers with a comprehensive understanding of the power and potential of bioinformatics in advancing plant science research and its applications in agriculture and biotechnology.

Keywords: Bioinformatics, Plant Genomics, Transcriptomics, Databases, Crop Improvement

Bioinformatics, the application of computational tools and techniques to manage and analyze biological data, has become an indispensable part of modern plant science research. With the advent of high-throughput sequencing technologies and the exponential growth of biological data, bioinformatics has emerged as a powerful tool to unravel the complexities of plant genomes, gene expression, and molecular mechanisms underlying various plant traits and processes.

Plant research has greatly benefited from the advancements in bioinformatics. The sequencing and assembly of plant genomes have provided valuable insights into the genetic basis of plant diversity and evolution. Comparative genomics has enabled researchers to identify conserved and speciesspecific genes and regulatory elements across different plant species. Transcriptomics, the study of gene expression at the RNA level, has shed light on the dynamic changes in gene expression during plant development, stress responses, and biotic and abiotic interactions.

Bioinformatics has also played a crucial role in the development of databases and data repositories for storing and sharing plant genomic and biological data. These resources have facilitated the integration and analysis of large-scale datasets, enabling researchers to gain a systems-level understanding of plant biology. Moreover, bioinformatics tools and algorithms have been developed for various tasks, such as sequence alignment, phylogenetic analysis, gene prediction, and functional annotation, aiding in the interpretation and discovery of novel plant genes and pathways.

In addition to basic research, bioinformatics has found extensive applications in applied plant science, particularly in crop improvement. Markerassisted selection, QTL mapping, and genomic selection have greatly benefited from bioinformatics approaches, accelerating the development of improved crop varieties with desirable traits such as higher yield, better quality, and enhanced resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses.

Despite the significant progress made in plant bioinformatics, challenges remain in terms of data management, integration, and interpretation. The everincreasing volume and complexity of plant biological data require continuous development and refinement of bioinformatics tools and databases. Furthermore, the need for user-friendly interfaces and training programs is crucial to enable plant researchers to effectively utilize bioinformatics resources.

It provides a comprehensive overview of the key concepts, tools, and applications of bioinformatics in plant research. We discuss the importance of genome sequencing and assembly, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics in understanding plant biology at the molecular level. We highlight the role of databases and data repositories in storing and sharing plant genomic and biological data. We explore the use of bioinformatics tools and algorithms for various tasks in plant research. Additionally, we showcase the applications of bioinformatics in crop improvement and discuss the challenges and future prospects of bioinformatics in plant science. By the end of this chapter, readers will have a thorough understanding of the power and potential of bioinformatics in advancing plant science research and its applications in agriculture and biotechnology.

2. Plant Genome Sequencing and Assembly

The sequencing and assembly of plant genomes have been a major focus of bioinformatics efforts in plant science. The availability of complete genome sequences has revolutionized our understanding of plant biology, providing valuable insights into the genetic basis of plant diversity, evolution, and complex traits.

2.1 Sequencing Technologies

The rapid advancements in sequencing technologies have greatly facilitated the sequencing of plant genomes. Sanger sequencing, the first-generation sequencing technology, was used to sequence the genomes of model plant species such as *Arabidopsis thaliana* and rice (*Oryza sativa*). However, the high cost and low throughput of Sanger sequencing limited its application to large and complex plant genomes.

The development of next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies, such as Illumina sequencing, has significantly reduced the cost and increased the throughput of genome sequencing. NGS technologies have enabled the sequencing of hundreds of plant genomes, including major crop species such as maize (*Zea mays*), soybean (*Glycine max*), and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*).

More recently, third-generation sequencing technologies, such as Pacific Biosciences (PacBio) and Oxford Nanopore Technologies (ONT), have emerged as powerful tools for sequencing plant genomes. These technologies generate long sequencing reads (>10 kb), enabling the assembly of complex plant genomes with high accuracy and completeness.

2.2 Genome Assembly

Genome assembly is the process of reconstructing the complete genome sequence from the short sequencing reads generated by NGS technologies. The goal of genome assembly is to generate contiguous sequences (contigs) and scaffolds that represent the original genomic sequence.

Several bioinformatics tools and algorithms have been developed for genome assembly, such as SOAPdenovo, Velvet, and SPAdes. These tools

employ different strategies, such as overlap-layout-consensus (OLC) and de Bruijn graph-based approaches, to assemble the sequencing reads into contigs and scaffolds.

The quality of genome assembly is assessed using various metrics, such as N50 (the length of the contig or scaffold at which 50% of the total assembly length is contained in contigs or scaffolds of that size or larger), number of contigs or scaffolds, and the total assembly length. The availability of long-read sequencing technologies has greatly improved the quality and completeness of plant genome assemblies.

2.3 Genome Annotation

Genome annotation is the process of identifying and characterizing the functional elements within a genome, such as genes, regulatory elements, and repetitive sequences. Bioinformatics plays a crucial role in genome annotation, utilizing various tools and databases to predict and annotate these functional elements. Gene prediction is a key step in genome annotation, involving the identification of protein-coding genes and their structures. Bioinformatics tools such as AUGUSTUS, SNAP, and GeneMark are commonly used for gene prediction in plant genomes. These tools employ different methods, such as ab initio prediction based on sequence features and evidence-based prediction using RNA-seq data and homology-based approaches.

Functional annotation of predicted genes involves the assignment of biological functions and pathways based on sequence similarity to known proteins in databases such as UniProt, Pfam, and KEGG. Gene Ontology (GO) terms are also assigned to genes to describe their molecular functions, biological processes, and cellular components. Repetitive sequences, such as transposable elements, are abundant in plant genomes and pose challenges in genome assembly and annotation. Bioinformatics tools such as RepeatMasker and REPET are used to identify and classify repetitive sequences in plant genomes.

Table 1. Examples of plant genomes sequenced and assembled usingbioinformatics approaches

Plant Species	Genome Size	Sequencing	Assembly Tool	Reference
	(Mbp)	Technology		

154 Bioinformatics in Plant Research

Arabidopsis thaliana	135	Sanger	BAC-by-BAC	[1]
Rice (Oryza sativa)	430	Sanger	BAC-by-BAC	[2]
Maize (Zea mays)	2,300	Illumina	SOAPdenovo	[3]
Soybean (Glycine max)	1,100	Illumina	ALLPATHS- LG	[4]
Wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i>)	17,000	Illumina, PacBio	DeNovoMAGIC	[5]

3. Transcriptomics

Transcriptomics, the study of gene expression at the RNA level, has provided valuable insights into the dynamic changes in gene expression during plant development, stress responses, and biotic and abiotic interactions. Bioinformatics plays a crucial role in the analysis and interpretation of transcriptome data.

3.1 RNA Sequencing

RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) has revolutionized transcriptomics by enabling the genome-wide quantification of gene expression. RNA-seq involves the sequencing of cDNA libraries prepared from total RNA or mRNA, generating millions of short sequencing reads that represent the transcriptome.

Bioinformatics tools are essential for the analysis of RNA-seq data, including quality control, read alignment, and differential gene expression analysis. Tools such as FastQC and Trimmomatic are used for quality assessment and trimming of raw sequencing reads. Splice-aware aligners like HISAT2 and STAR are used to align the reads to a reference genome or transcriptome.

3.2 Differential Gene Expression Analysis

Differential gene expression analysis involves the identification of genes that are significantly up- or down-regulated between different conditions or samples. Bioinformatics tools such as DESeq2, edgeR, and limma are widely used for differential gene expression analysis of RNA-seq data.

These tools employ statistical methods to model the count data and test for significant differences in gene expression between conditions. The results are typically presented as fold changes and adjusted p-values, indicating the magnitude and significance of the differential expression.

3.3 Co-expression Network Analysis

Co-expression network analysis is a powerful approach to identify genes that are co-regulated and potentially involved in the same biological processes or pathways. Bioinformatics tools such as WGCNA (Weighted Gene Co-expression Network Analysis) are used to construct co-expression networks from RNA-seq data.

Co-expression networks are based on the correlation of gene expression profiles across multiple samples or conditions. Genes with highly correlated expression patterns are grouped into modules, which are then analyzed for functional enrichment and association with specific traits or conditions.

3.4 Alternative Splicing Analysis

Alternative splicing is a prevalent mechanism in plants that generates transcript diversity and contributes to the regulation of gene expression. Bioinformatics tools such as rMATS and SUPPA are used to analyze alternative splicing events from RNA-seq data.

These tools identify and quantify different types of alternative splicing events, such as exon skipping, intron retention, and alternative 5' and 3' splice sites. The analysis of alternative splicing provides insights into the complexity of plant transcriptomes and the regulation of gene expression at the post-transcriptional level.

4. Proteomics

Proteomics, the large-scale study of proteins, is crucial for understanding the functional aspects of plant biology. Bioinformatics plays a vital role in the analysis and interpretation of proteomics data, enabling the identification and quantification of proteins and their post-translational modifications.

4.1 Mass Spectrometry-based Proteomics

Mass spectrometry (MS) is the primary technology used in proteomics to identify and quantify proteins. MS-based proteomics involves the digestion of proteins into peptides, followed by the measurement of their mass-to-charge ratios (m/z) and fragmentation patterns.

156 Bioinformatics in Plant Research



Figure 1. Overview of RNA-seq data analysis workflow using bioinformatics tools

Bioinformatics tools are essential for the analysis of MS data, including peptide identification, protein inference, and quantification. Tools such as Mascot, Sequest, and MaxQuant are commonly used for peptide identification by searching the MS data against protein databases.

4.2 Protein Sequence Databases

Protein sequence databases are crucial resources for proteomics data analysis. These databases contain the predicted protein sequences derived from genome annotations and experimentally validated protein sequences.

Commonly used protein sequence databases for plant proteomics include UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot, UniProtKB/TrEMBL, and species-specific databases such as TAIR (The Arabidopsis Information Resource) and RGAP (Rice Genome Annotation Project).

4.3 Post-translational Modification Analysis

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) play critical roles in regulating protein function, stability, and interactions. Bioinformatics tools are used to identify and analyze PTMs from MS data, such as phosphorylation, glycosylation, and ubiquitination.

Tools like MaxQuant and Proteome Discoverer enable the identification of PTMs by searching the MS data against modification-specific databases and applying scoring algorithms to assess the confidence of the identifications.

4.4 Protein-Protein Interaction Analysis

Protein-protein interactions (PPIs) are essential for understanding the functional networks and pathways in plants. Bioinformatics approaches are used to predict and analyze PPIs based on experimental data and computational methods.

Experimental methods for PPI detection, such as yeast two-hybrid (Y2H) and affinity purification-mass spectrometry (AP-MS), generate large-scale interaction data that require bioinformatics analysis. Computational methods, such as sequence-based and structure-based approaches, are used to predict PPIs based on protein sequence and structural features.

Tool	Description	Reference
Mascot	Peptide identification	[6]
MaxQuant	Peptide identification and quantification	[7]
Proteome Discoverer	Peptide identification and PTM analysis	[8]
STRING	Protein-protein interaction database and analysis	[9]

Table 2. Examples of bioinformatics tools used in plant proteomics

5. Metabolomics

Metabolomics is the study of the complete set of small molecules (metabolites) in a biological system. Plant metabolomics aims to identify and quantify the metabolites involved in various plant processes, such as growth, development, and stress responses. Bioinformatics plays a crucial role in the analysis and interpretation of metabolomics data.

5.1 Mass Spectrometry-based Metabolomics

Mass spectrometry (MS) is the primary technology used in metabolomics to identify and quantify metabolites. MS-based metabolomics involves the separation of metabolites using chromatographic techniques, followed by the measurement of their mass-to-charge ratios (m/z) and fragmentation patterns.

Bioinformatics tools are essential for the analysis of MS-based metabolomics data, including peak detection, alignment, and metabolite identification. Tools such as XCMS, MZmine, and MetAlign are commonly used for pre-processing and analysis of MS data.

5.2 Metabolite Identification

Metabolite identification is a critical step in metabolomics data analysis. Bioinformatics approaches are used to match the measured mass spectra against reference spectral libraries or to predict the structures of unknown metabolites.

Spectral libraries, such as METLIN, MassBank, and NIST, contain reference mass spectra of known metabolites and are used for metabolite identification by spectral matching. Tools like MetFrag and CFM-ID are used for in silico fragmentation and prediction of metabolite structures based on mass spectra.

5.3 Metabolic Pathway Analysis

Metabolic pathway analysis involves the mapping of identified metabolites onto known metabolic pathways to understand their biological context and functions. Bioinformatics resources, such as KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes) and BioCyc, provide curated metabolic pathway databases for various plant species.

Tools like MetaboAnalyst and Mummichog enable the integration of metabolomics data with metabolic pathways, facilitating the identification of enriched pathways and the visualization of metabolic networks.

5.4 Integration with Other Omics Data

Metabolomics data can be integrated with other omics data, such as transcriptomics and proteomics, to gain a systems-level understanding of plant biology. Bioinformatics approaches are used to integrate and analyze multi-omics data, enabling the identification of correlations and causal relationships between different molecular levels.

Tools like MixOmics and integrOmics facilitate the integration and analysis of multi-omics data, providing a comprehensive view of plant molecular networks and regulatory mechanisms.



Figure 2. Overview of metabolomics data analysis workflow using bioinformatics tools

6. Databases and Resources

Bioinformatics databases and resources are essential for storing, organizing, and sharing plant genomic and biological data. These resources provide access to various types of data, including genome sequences, gene annotations, gene expression data, protein sequences, metabolic pathways, and phenotypic information. Here, we highlight some of the key databases and resources commonly used in plant bioinformatics.

6.1 Genome Databases

Genome databases store and provide access to the complete genome sequences and annotations of various plant species. Some of the prominent plant genome databases include:

- **Phytozome:** A comparative platform for green plant genomics, providing access to genome sequences and annotations for a wide range of plant species [10].
- **Ensembl Plants:** A comprehensive database for plant genome sequences, gene annotations, and comparative genomics [11].
- **PLAZA:** An online resource for comparative genomics in plants, integrating genome sequences, gene families, and functional annotations [12].

6.2 Transcriptome Databases

Transcriptome databases store and provide access to gene expression data from various plant species, tissues, and conditions. Some of the commonly used plant transcriptome databases include:

- **GEO** (Gene Expression Omnibus): A public repository for high-throughput gene expression data, including microarray and RNA-seq data from various plant species [13].
- ArrayExpress: A database for storing and sharing functional genomics data, including gene expression data from plants [14].
- **PLEXdb** (**Plant Expression Database**): A gene expression resource for plants and plant pathogens, integrating microarray and RNA-seq data [15].

6.3 Protein Databases

Protein databases store and provide access to protein sequences, structures, and functional annotations for various plant species. Some of the widely used plant protein databases include:

- UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot: A manually curated protein sequence database, providing high-quality annotations for plant proteins [16].
- **TAIR** (**The Arabidopsis Information Resource**): A comprehensive database for the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*, including protein sequences and functional annotations [17].
- **RGAP** (**Rice Genome Annotation Project**): A database for the rice genome, providing protein sequences and functional annotations [18].

6.4 Metabolic Pathway Databases

Metabolic pathway databases provide information on the enzymatic reactions, metabolites, and pathways involved in plant metabolism. Some of the popular plant metabolic pathway databases include:

- **KEGG** (**Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes**): A database for understanding high-level functions and utilities of biological systems, including metabolic pathways for various plant species [19].
- **PlantCyc:** A database for plant metabolic pathways, enzymes, and metabolites, covering a wide range of plant species [20].
- **MetaCyc:** A database of experimentally elucidated metabolic pathways from various organisms, including plants [21].

6.5 Phenotypic Databases

Phenotypic databases store and provide access to information on plant phenotypes, such as morphological characteristics, growth and development, and stress responses. Some of the notable plant phenotypic databases include:

- **TRY:** A global database of plant traits, covering a wide range of plant species and trait categories [22].
- **GWAS Central:** A database for genotype-phenotype associations in plants, facilitating the identification of genes underlying complex traits [23].

Table 3. Examples of bioinformatics databases and resources for plant research

Database	Description	URL
Phytozome	Comparative plant genomics	https://phytozome.jgi.doe.gov/
GEO	Gene expression data	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/
UniProtKB	Protein sequences and annotations	https://www.uniprot.org/
KEGG	Metabolic pathways	https://www.genome.jp/kegg/
TRY	Plant trait database	https://www.try-db.org/

7. Bioinformatics Tools and Algorithms

Bioinformatics tools and algorithms are essential for analyzing and interpreting the vast amounts of biological data generated in plant research. These tools cover a wide range of applications, from sequence analysis and alignment to gene expression and network analysis. Here, we discuss some of the commonly used bioinformatics tools and algorithms in plant research.

7.1 Sequence Alignment

Sequence alignment is a fundamental task in bioinformatics, involving the comparison of DNA, RNA, or protein sequences to identify regions of similarity. Pairwise alignment tools, such as BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool) and FASTA, are widely used for sequence similarity searches against databases [24, 25].

Multiple sequence alignment tools, such as MUSCLE, MAFFT, and T-Coffee, are used to align multiple sequences simultaneously, enabling the identification of conserved regions and evolutionary relationships [26, 27, 28].

7.2 Phylogenetic Analysis

Phylogenetic analysis involves the study of evolutionary relationships among different species or genes. Bioinformatics tools are used to construct phylogenetic trees based on sequence alignments, revealing the evolutionary history and divergence of plant species or gene families.

Tools like MEGA (Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis) and RAxML (Randomized Axelerated Maximum Likelihood) are commonly used for phylogenetic tree construction and analysis [29, 30].

7.3 Gene Prediction and Annotation

Gene prediction and annotation involve the identification of proteincoding genes and their functional elements within genome sequences. Bioinformatics tools employ various methods, such as ab initio prediction, homology-based prediction, and evidence-based prediction, to identify genes and their structures.

Tools like AUGUSTUS, MAKER, and BRAKER are widely used for gene prediction in plant genomes [31, 32, 33]. Functional annotation tools, such as InterProScan and Blast2GO, are used to assign functional terms and categories to predicted genes based on sequence similarity and domain analysis [34, 35].

7.4 Differential Expression Analysis

Differential expression analysis involves the identification of genes that are significantly up- or down-regulated between different conditions or samples. Bioinformatics tools are used to analyze gene expression data from microarrays or RNA-seq experiments, employing statistical methods to determine differentially expressed genes.

Tools like DESeq2, edgeR, and limma are commonly used for differential expression analysis of RNA-seq data [36, 37, 38]. These tools provide statistical frameworks for modeling count data and testing for significant differences in gene expression.

7.5 Network Analysis

Network analysis involves the study of interactions and relationships among biological entities, such as genes, proteins, or metabolites. Bioinformatics tools are used to construct and analyze biological networks, revealing the underlying regulatory mechanisms and functional modules.

Tools like Cytoscape and igraph are widely used for network visualization and analysis [39, 40]. These tools provide functionalities for

network construction, topology analysis, and module detection, enabling the exploration of complex biological systems.



Figure 3. Examples of bioinformatics tools and algorithms used in plant research

8. Applications in Crop Improvement

Bioinformatics has found extensive applications in crop improvement, contributing to the development of improved crop varieties with desirable traits such as higher yield, better quality, and enhanced resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. Here, we highlight some of the key applications of bioinformatics in crop improvement.

8.1 Marker-Assisted Selection

Marker-assisted selection (MAS) is a breeding approach that utilizes molecular markers linked to desirable traits to select superior individuals in a breeding program. Bioinformatics plays a crucial role in MAS by enabling the identification of molecular markers, such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and simple sequence repeats (SSRs), through genome sequencing and genotyping technologies.

Bioinformatics tools are used to analyze genotypic data, construct genetic maps, and identify markers associated with traits of interest. Tools like TASSEL (Trait Analysis by aSSociation, Evolution, and Linkage) and FlapJack are commonly used for marker-trait association analysis and visualization [41, 42].

8.2 QTL Mapping

Quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping is a statistical method used to identify genomic regions associated with quantitative traits, such as yield,

164 Bioinformatics in Plant Research

quality, and stress tolerance. Bioinformatics tools are employed to analyze genotypic and phenotypic data from mapping populations, enabling the detection of QTLs and the estimation of their effects.

Tools like QTL Cartographer and MapQTL are widely used for QTL mapping in plants [43, 44]. These tools provide functionalities for linkage map construction, QTL detection, and estimation of QTL effects, facilitating the identification of genomic regions controlling complex traits.

8.3 Genomic Selection

Genomic selection (GS) is a breeding approach that utilizes genome-wide markers to predict the breeding values of individuals in a population. GS relies on the development of prediction models based on the relationship between genotypic and phenotypic data from a training population, which are then used to predict the performance of untested individuals.

Bioinformatics tools are used to handle the large-scale genotypic and phenotypic data required for GS, enabling the construction and evaluation of prediction models. Tools like rrBLUP and BGLR are commonly used for genomic prediction in plants [45, 46].

8.4 Genome Editing

Genome editing technologies, such as CRISPR/Cas systems, have revolutionized crop improvement by enabling precise modifications of plant genomes. Bioinformatics plays a vital role in the design and evaluation of genome editing experiments, from guide RNA selection to the assessment of editing efficiency and specificity.

Tools like CRISPOR and CHOPCHOP are used for guide RNA design, considering factors such as target specificity and potential off-target effects [47, 48]. Bioinformatics pipelines are also employed to analyze sequencing data from genome editing experiments, enabling the detection of editing events and the evaluation of editing outcomes.

Table 4. Examples of bioinformatics applications in crop improvement

Application	Description	Tools/Methods
Marker-assisted selection	Selection based on molecular markers	TASSEL, FlapJack
QTL mapping	Identification of genomic regions associated with quantitative traits	QTL Cartographer, MapQTL
Genomic selection	Prediction of breeding values using genome-wide markers	rrBLUP, BGLR
Genome editing	Precise modification of plant genomes	CRISPOR, CHOPCHOP

9. Challenges and Future Perspectives

Despite the significant advancements in plant bioinformatics, several challenges remain to be addressed. The ever-increasing volume and complexity of plant biological data pose challenges in terms of data management, integration, and interpretation. Efficient data storage, retrieval, and processing infrastructures are required to handle the massive amounts of data generated by high-throughput technologies.

Data integration is another major challenge in plant bioinformatics. Integrating heterogeneous data types, such as genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and phenomics, is crucial for gaining a systems-level understanding of plant biology. The development of standardized data formats, ontologies, and metadata is essential to facilitate data integration and interoperability across different platforms and databases. Bioinformatics tools and algorithms need to keep pace with the rapidly evolving sequencing technologies and the increasing complexity of plant genomes. The development of scalable and efficient algorithms is necessary to process and analyze large-scale datasets in a timely manner.

Additionally, user-friendly interfaces and workflows are required to make bioinformatics tools accessible to a wider range of plant researchers. The interpretation of bioinformatics results and the translation of insights into practical applications remains a challenge. Collaborative efforts between bioinformaticians, plant biologists, and breeders are essential to bridge the gap between data analysis and biological understanding. The integration of bioinformatics with other disciplines, such as systems biology, machine learning, and artificial intelligence, holds promise for advancing our understanding of plant

166 Bioinformatics in Plant Research

biology and accelerating crop improvement. In the future, plant bioinformatics will continue to play a pivotal role in unraveling the complexities of plant genomes, gene regulation, and molecular mechanisms underlying plant traits and processes.

The integration of multi-omics data, coupled with advanced computational methods, will enable the identification of key genes, pathways, and networks governing plant growth, development, and stress responses. The application of bioinformatics in crop improvement will accelerate the development of resilient and high-yielding crop varieties to meet the growing global food demand. Bioinformatics-driven approaches, such as genomic selection and genome editing, will enable the rapid and precise manipulation of plant genomes for desired traits.

Furthermore, the increasing availability of high-quality reference genomes and pan-genomes of diverse plant species will facilitate comparative genomics and the identification of conserved and species-specific genes and regulatory elements. This knowledge will contribute to our understanding of plant evolution, adaptation, and diversification.

10. Conclusion

Bioinformatics has revolutionized the field of plant science, providing powerful tools and approaches to manage, analyze, and interpret the vast amounts of biological data generated by high-throughput technologies. From genome sequencing and assembly to gene expression analysis and metabolic pathway reconstruction, bioinformatics has enabled plant researchers to gain unprecedented insights into plant biology at the molecular level. The application of bioinformatics in crop improvement has accelerated the development of improved crop varieties with enhanced yield, quality, and stress resilience. Marker-assisted selection, QTL mapping, genomic selection, and genome editing have benefited greatly from bioinformatics approaches, contributing to the development of sustainable and productive agricultural systems. However, challenges remain in terms of data management, integration, and interpretation. Collaborative efforts between bioinformaticians, plant biologists, and breeders are crucial to address these challenges and harness the full potential of bioinformatics in plant research. As we look to the future, bioinformatics will continue to play a central role in advancing our understanding of plant biology and driving innovations in crop improvement. The integration of multi-omics data, coupled with advanced computational methods, will provide a systems-level understanding of plant processes and enable the development of tailored crop varieties to meet the growing global food demand. In conclusion, bioinformatics has transformed the landscape of plant science, providing powerful tools and approaches to unravel the complexities of plant genomes, gene regulation, and molecular mechanisms. As we embrace the era of big data and advanced computing, bioinformatics will undoubtedly continue to drive discoveries and innovations in plant research, ultimately contributing to the development of sustainable and resilient agricultural systems.

References

[1] The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative. (2000). Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature, 408(6814), 796-815.

[2] International Rice Genome Sequencing Project. (2005). The map-based sequence of the rice genome. Nature, 436(7052), 793-800.

[3] Schnable, P. S., Ware, D., Fulton, R. S., Stein, J. C., Wei, F., Pasternak, S., ... & Wilson, R. K. (2009). The B73 maize genome: complexity, diversity, and dynamics. Science, 326(5956), 1112-1115.

[4] Schmutz, J., Cannon, S. B., Schlueter, J., Ma, J., Mitros, T., Nelson, W., ... & Jackson, S. A. (2010). Genome sequence of the palaeopolyploid soybean. Nature, 463(7278), 178-183.

[5] International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium. (2018). Shifting the limits in wheat research and breeding using a fully annotated reference genome. Science, 361(6403), eaar7191.

[6] Perkins, D. N., Pappin, D. J., Creasy, D. M., & Cottrell, J. S. (1999). Probability-based protein identification by searching sequence databases using mass spectrometry data. Electrophoresis, 20(18), 3551-3567.

[7] Cox, J., & Mann, M. (2008). MaxQuant enables high peptide identification rates, individualized p.p.b.-range mass accuracies and proteome-wide protein quantification. Nature Biotechnology, 26(12), 1367-1372.

[8] Eng, J. K., McCormack, A. L., & Yates, J. R. (1994). An approach to correlate tandem mass spectral data of peptides with amino acid sequences in a protein database. Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, 5(11), 976-989.

[9] Szklarczyk, D., Gable, A. L., Lyon, D., Junge, A., Wyder, S., Huerta-Cepas, J., ... & Mering, C. V. (2019). STRING v11: protein-protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. Nucleic Acids Research, 47(D1), D607-D613.

[10] Goodstein, D. M., Shu, S., Howson, R., Neupane, R., Hayes, R. D., Fazo, J.,... & Rokhsar, D. S. (2012). Phytozome: a comparative platform for green plant genomics. Nucleic Acids Research, 40(D1), D1178-D1186.

[11] Bolser, D., Staines, D. M., Pritchard, E., & Kersey, P. (2016). Ensembl Plants: integrating tools for visualizing, mining, and analyzing plant genomics data. Methods in Molecular Biology, 1374, 115-140.

[12] Van Bel, M., Diels, T., Vancaester, E., Kreft, L., Botzki, A., Van de Peer, Y., ... & Vandepoele, K. (2018). PLAZA 4.0: an integrative resource for functional, evolutionary and comparative plant genomics. Nucleic Acids Research, 46(D1), D1190-D1196.

[13] Barrett, T., Wilhite, S. E., Ledoux, P., Evangelista, C., Kim, I. F., Tomashevsky, M., ... & Soboleva, A. (2013). NCBI GEO: archive for functional genomics data sets—update. Nucleic Acids Research, 41(D1), D991-D995.

[14] Kolesnikov, N., Hastings, E., Keays, M., Melnichuk, O., Tang, Y. A.,
Williams, E., ... & Brazma, A. (2015). ArrayExpress update—simplifying data submissions. Nucleic Acids Research, 43(D1), D1113-D1116.

[15] Dash, S., Van Hemert, J., Hong, L., Wise, R. P., & Dickerson, J. A. (2012).PLEXdb: gene expression resources for plants and plant pathogens. Nucleic Acids Research, 40(D1), D1194-D1201.

[16] UniProt Consortium. (2019). UniProt: a worldwide hub of protein knowledge. Nucleic Acids Research, 47(D1), D506-D515.

[17] Berardini, T. Z., Reiser, L., Li, D., Mezheritsky, Y., Muller, R., Strait, E., & Huala, E. (2015). The Arabidopsis information resource: making and mining the "gold standard" annotated reference plant genome. Genesis, 53(8), 474-485.

[18] Kawahara, Y., de la Bastide, M., Hamilton, J. P., Kanamori, H., McCombie,W. R., Ouyang, S., ... & Matsumoto, T. (2013). Improvement of the Oryza sativaNipponbare reference genome using next generation sequence and optical map data. Rice, 6(1), 4.

[19] Kanehisa, M., Sato, Y., Kawashima, M., Furumichi, M., & Tanabe, M. (2016). KEGG as a reference resource for gene and protein annotation. Nucleic Acids Research, 44(D1), D457-D462.

[20] Schläpfer, P., Zhang, P., Wang, C., Kim, T., Banf, M., Chae, L., ... & Rhee,S. Y. (2017). Genome-wide prediction of metabolic enzymes, pathways, andgene clusters in plants. Plant Physiology, 173(4), 2041-2059.

[21] Caspi, R., Billington, R., Fulcher, C. A., Keseler, I. M., Kothari, A., Krummenacker, M., ... & Karp, P. D. (2018). The MetaCyc database of metabolic pathways and enzymes. Nucleic Acids Research, 46(D1), D633-D639.

[22] Kattge, J., Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I. C., Leadley, P., Bönisch, G., ...
& Wirth, C. (2011). TRY–a global database of plant traits. Global Change Biology, 17(9), 2905-2935.

[23] Beck, T., Hastings, R. K., Gollapudi, S., Free, R. C., & Brookes, A. J. (2014). GWAS Central: a comprehensive resource for the comparison and interrogation of genome-wide association studies. European Journal of Human Genetics, 22(7), 949-952.

[24] Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., & Lipman, D. J. (1990).Basic local alignment search tool. Journal of Molecular Biology, 215(3), 403-410.

[25] Pearson, W. R., & Lipman, D. J. (1988). Improved tools for biological sequence comparison. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 85(8), 2444-2448.

[26] Edgar, R. C. (2004). MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. Nucleic Acids Research, 32(5), 1792-1797.

[27] Katoh, K., & Standley, D. M. (2013). MAFFT multiple sequence alignment software version 7: improvements in performance and usability. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 30(4), 772-780.

[28] Notredame, C., Higgins, D. G., & Heringa, J. (2000). T-Coffee: A novel method for fast and accurate multiple sequence alignment. Journal of Molecular Biology, 302(1), 205-217.

[29] Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C., & Tamura, K. (2018). MEGA X: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis across computing platforms. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 35(6), 1547-1549.

[30] Stamatakis, A. (2014). RAxML version 8: a tool for phylogenetic analysis and post-analysis of large phylogenies. Bioinformatics, 30(9), 1312-1313.

[31] Stanke, M., & Morgenstern, B. (2005). AUGUSTUS: a web server for gene prediction in eukaryotes that allows user-defined constraints. Nucleic Acids Research, 33(suppl_2), W465-W467.

[32] Cantarel, B. L., Korf, I., Robb, S. M., Parra, G., Ross, E., Moore, B., ... & Yandell, M. (2008). MAKER: an easy-to-use annotation pipeline designed for emerging model organism genomes. Genome Research, 18(1), 188-196.

170 Bioinformatics in Plant Research

[33] Hoff, K. J., Lange, S., Lomsadze, A., Borodovsky, M., & Stanke, M. (2016). BRAKER1: unsupervised RNA-Seq-based genome annotation with GeneMark-ET and AUGUSTUS. Bioinformatics, 32(5), 767-769.

[34] Jones, P., Binns, D., Chang, H. Y., Fraser, M., Li, W., McAnulla, C., ... & Hunter, S. (2014). InterProScan 5: genome-scale protein function classification. Bioinformatics, 30(9), 1236-1240.

[35] Conesa, A., Götz, S., García-Gómez, J. M., Terol, J., Talón, M., & Robles, M. (2005). Blast2GO: a universal tool for annotation, visualization and analysis in functional genomics research. Bioinformatics, 21(18), 3674-3676.

[36] Love, M. I., Huber, W., & Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biology, 15(12), 550.

[37] Robinson, M. D., McCarthy, D. J., & Smyth, G. K. (2010). edgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. Bioinformatics, 26(1), 139-140.

[38] Ritchie, M. E., Phipson, B., Wu, D., Hu, Y., Law, C. W., Shi, W., & Smyth, G. K. (2015). limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. Nucleic Acids Research, 43(7), e47.

[39] Shannon, P., Markiel, A., Ozier, O., Baliga, N. S., Wang, J. T., Ramage, D.,... & Ideker, T. (2003). Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. Genome Research, 13(11), 2498-2504.

[40] Csardi, G., & Nepusz, T. (2006). The igraph software package for complex network research. InterJournal, Complex Systems, 1695(5), 1-9.

[41] Bradbury, P. J., Zhang, Z., Kroon, D. E., Casstevens, T. M., Ramdoss, Y., & Buckler, E. S. (2007). TASSEL: software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples. Bioinformatics, 23(19), 2633-2635.

[42] Milne, I., Shaw, P., Stephen, G., Bayer, M., Cardle, L., Thomas, W. T., ... & Marshall, D. (2010). Flapjack—graphical genotype visualization. Bioinformatics, 26(24), 3133-3134.

[43] Wang, S., Basten, C. J., & Zeng, Z. B. (2012). Windows QTL Cartographer2.5. Department of Statistics, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC.

[44] Van Ooijen, J. W. (2009). MapQTL 6: Software for the mapping of quantitative trait loci in experimental populations of diploid species. Kyazma BV, Wageningen, Netherlands.

[45] Endelman, J. B. (2011). Ridge regression and other kernels for genomic selection with R package rrBLUP. The Plant Genome, 4(3), 250-255.

[46] Pérez, P., & de los Campos, G. (2014). Genome-wide regression and prediction with the BGLR statistical package. Genetics, 198(2), 483-495.

[47] Concordet, J. P., & Haeussler, M. (2018). CRISPOR: intuitive guide selection for CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing experiments and screens. Nucleic Acids Research, 46(W1), W242-W245.

[48] Labun, K., Montague, T. G., Gagnon, J. A., Thyme, S. B., & Valen, E. (2016). CHOPCHOP v2: a web tool for the next generation of CRISPR genome engineering. Nucleic Acids Research, 44(W1), W272-W276.



Plant Proteomics: Bioinformatic Approaches and Tools

Margam Bharath kumar

PhD Research Scholar Dept. Of Genetics and aplamt Breeding Professor Jayashankar Telangana State Agricultural University, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, India

> **Corresponding Author Margam Bharath kumar** margambharath125@gmail.com

Abstract

Plant proteomics has emerged as a critical field for understanding the molecular mechanisms underlying plant growth, development, and responses to environmental stresses. The application of advanced bioinformatic approaches and tools has revolutionized the study of plant proteomes, enabling researchers to gain deeper insights into the complex networks of proteins that govern plant physiology and behavior. This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of the current state of plant proteomics research, with a focus on the bioinformatic approaches and tools used to analyze and interpret proteomic data. We discuss the latest techniques for protein extraction, separation, and identification, as well as the databases and software tools used for protein annotation, functional classification, and network analysis. We also highlight the challenges and opportunities in plant proteomics, including the need for standardized protocols, integration of multi-omics data, and development of plant-specific databases and tools. Finally, we present case studies demonstrating the application of bioinformatic approaches to study plant stress responses, developmental processes, and crop improvement. This chapter serves as a valuable resource for plant biologists, agronomists, and bioinformaticians interested in leveraging the power of proteomics to advance our understanding of plant biology.

Keywords: Plant Proteomics, Bioinformatics, Mass Spectrometry, Protein Databases, Systems Biology

Proteins are the key functional molecules in living organisms, playing critical roles in catalyzing biochemical reactions, transporting molecules, providing structural support, and regulating gene expression [1]. The study of proteins, or proteomics, has become a major focus of biological research in recent years, driven by advances in high-throughput technologies such as mass spectrometry (MS) and bioinformatics [2]. Plant proteomics, in particular, has

emerged as a powerful tool for understanding the molecular basis of plant growth, development, and responses to environmental stresses [3].

The application of bioinformatic approaches and tools has been instrumental in the growth and success of plant proteomics research. Bioinformatics encompasses a wide range of computational methods for analyzing and interpreting biological data, including sequence analysis, database searching, data mining, and systems biology [4]. In the context of plant proteomics, bioinformatic tools are used to process and analyze the massive amounts of data generated by MS experiments, including protein identification, quantification, post-translational modifications (PTMs), and functional annotation [5].

This chapter provides an overview of the current state of plant proteomics research, with a focus on the bioinformatic approaches and tools used to analyze and interpret proteomic data. We begin by discussing the latest techniques for protein extraction, separation, and identification in plants. We then describe the databases and software tools used for protein annotation, functional classification, and network analysis. We highlight the challenges and opportunities in plant proteomics, including the need for standardized protocols, integration of multi-omics data, and development of plant-specific databases and tools. Finally, we present case studies demonstrating the application of bioinformatic approaches to study plant stress responses, developmental processes, and crop improvement.

2. Protein Extraction and Separation Techniques

The first step in any proteomics study is the extraction and separation of proteins from plant tissues. Plant cells are surrounded by a rigid cell wall composed of cellulose, hemicellulose, and pectin, which can interfere with protein extraction [6]. Therefore, efficient and reproducible methods for protein extraction are critical for successful plant proteomics studies.

2.1 Protein Extraction Methods

Several methods have been developed for extracting proteins from plant tissues, including:

• Trichloroacetic acid (TCA)/acetone precipitation: This method involves homogenizing plant tissues in a solution of TCA and acetone, followed by centrifugation and washing of the protein pellet [7]. TCA/acetone precipitation is effective for removing interfering compounds such as polysaccharides and phenolics.

- **Phenol extraction:** In this method, plant tissues are homogenized in a buffer containing phenol, followed by phase separation and precipitation of proteins from the phenol phase [8]. Phenol extraction is particularly useful for recalcitrant tissues such as leaves and roots.
- Urea/thiourea solubilization: This method involves solubilizing proteins in a buffer containing high concentrations of urea and thiourea, which can denature and solubilize even highly hydrophobic proteins [9].

The choice of extraction method depends on the plant tissue type, the desired downstream applications, and the compatibility with subsequent separation and analysis techniques.

2.2 Protein Separation Techniques

Once proteins are extracted, they need to be separated and fractionated to reduce sample complexity and improve dynamic range. The most commonly used protein separation techniques in plant proteomics are:

- Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE): In 2-DE, proteins are separated based on their isoelectric point (pI) in the first dimension using isoelectric focusing (IEF), followed by separation based on molecular weight in the second dimension using SDS-PAGE [10]. 2-DE allows for high-resolution separation of complex protein mixtures and is compatible with subsequent MS analysis.
- Gel-free techniques: Gel-free techniques such as liquid chromatography (LC) have gained popularity in recent years due to their higher throughput and compatibility with MS. Multidimensional protein identification technology (MudPIT), which involves sequential separation of peptides by strong cation exchange (SCX) and reversed-phase (RP) chromatography, is widely used in plant proteomics [11].
- **Subcellular fractionation:** Subcellular fractionation techniques such as density gradient centrifugation and affinity purification can be used to enrich for specific organelles or protein complexes, reducing sample complexity and improving coverage of low-abundance proteins [12].

The choice of separation technique depends on the complexity of the sample, the desired resolution and throughput, and the compatibility with downstream MS analysis.

3. Protein Identification and Quantification by Mass Spectrometry
Mass spectrometry (MS) has revolutionized the field of proteomics by enabling high-throughput identification and quantification of proteins. MS involves ionizing proteins or peptides and measuring their mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) to determine their molecular mass and amino acid sequence [13].

3.1 Protein Identification by MS

The most common approach for protein identification by MS is bottomup proteomics, in which proteins are digested into peptides using a protease such as trypsin, followed by MS analysis of the resulting peptides. The MS spectra are then searched against a protein database to identify the proteins based on the peptide sequences [14].

There are two main types of MS instruments used for protein identification:

- Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF)
 MS: MALDI-TOF MS involves co-crystallizing the sample with a matrix on a target plate, followed by ionization with a laser and measurement of the m/z of the resulting ions based on their time-of-flight [15]. MALDI-TOF MS is widely used for peptide mass fingerprinting (PMF), in which the masses of the peptides are compared to a database to identify the proteins.
- Electrospray ionization (ESI) tandem MS (MS/MS): ESI-MS/MS involves ionizing the sample in solution and introducing it into the MS instrument, where the peptides are fragmented by collision-induced dissociation (CID) or other methods [16]. The resulting MS/MS spectra provide sequence information for the peptides, which can be used for protein identification by database searching.

The choice of MS instrument and approach depends on the complexity of the sample, the desired sensitivity and specificity, and the available databases and bioinformatic tools.

3.2 Protein Quantification by MS

In addition to protein identification, MS can also be used for quantitative analysis of protein abundance changes between different samples or conditions. There are several approaches for protein quantification by MS, including:

• Label-free quantification: Label-free quantification involves comparing the MS signal intensities or spectral counts of peptides between different samples without the use of stable isotope labeling [17]. Label-free methods are simple and cost-effective but require careful normalization and statistical analysis to account for technical variability.

- Stable isotope labeling: Stable isotope labeling involves incorporating heavy or light isotopes into proteins or peptides, followed by MS analysis to quantify the relative abundance of the labeled peptides [18]. Common labeling methods include metabolic labeling (e.g., SILAC), enzymatic labeling (e.g., 18O), and chemical labeling (e.g., iTRAQ, TMT).
- Targeted quantification: Targeted quantification involves selective monitoring of specific peptides or proteins of interest using methods such as selected reaction monitoring (SRM) or parallel reaction monitoring (PRM) [19]. Targeted methods provide high sensitivity and specificity but require prior knowledge of the target proteins and optimized assay conditions.

The choice of quantification approach depends on the experimental design, the available resources and expertise, and the desired accuracy and precision of the quantitative measurements.

4. Bioinformatic Tools and Databases for Plant Proteomics

The analysis and interpretation of plant proteomics data relies heavily on bioinformatic tools and databases. Bioinformatic resources for plant proteomics can be broadly classified into three categories: 1) protein databases, 2) tools for protein identification and quantification, and 3) tools for functional annotation and pathway analysis.



Figure 1. Overview of the plant proteomics workflow

4.1 Protein Databases

Protein databases are essential resources for plant proteomics, providing a repository of known protein sequences and annotations. The most commonly used protein databases for plant proteomics are:

- UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot: UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot is a manually curated protein database that provides high-quality annotations for a wide range of organisms, including plants [20]. The plant section of UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot contains over 40,000 entries from more than 1,000 plant species.
- NCBI Protein: The NCBI Protein database is a comprehensive collection of protein sequences from a variety of sources, including GenBank, RefSeq, and UniProtKB [21]. The plant section of NCBI Protein contains over 10 million entries from more than 200 plant species.
- Plant-specific databases: There are several plant-specific protein databases that provide more detailed and specialized annotations for particular plant species or groups. Examples include the *Arabidopsis thaliana* protein database (TAIR), the Rice Genome Annotation Project database (RAP-DB), and the Solanum Lycopersicum (tomato) proteome database (ITAG).

4.2 Tools for Protein Identification and Quantification

There are several bioinformatic tools available for analyzing MS data to identify and quantify proteins. Some of the most widely used tools for plant proteomics are:

- Mascot: Mascot is a popular commercial software for protein identification by database searching of MS/MS data [22]. Mascot supports a wide range of databases and provides a user-friendly interface for data analysis and visualization.
- MaxQuant: MaxQuant is a freely available software for protein identification and quantification from large-scale MS data [23]. MaxQuant supports a variety of labeling methods and provides advanced features for data normalization, statistical analysis, and quality control.
- Scaffold: Scaffold is a commercial software for visualizing and validating MS/MS-based proteomics data [24]. Scaffold provides a user-friendly interface for filtering and comparing protein identifications across multiple samples and experiments.

178 Plant Proteomics: Bioinformatic Approaches and Tools

Skyline: Skyline is a freely available software for targeted proteomics data analysis [25]. Skyline supports SRM/MRM and PRM methods and provides tools for assay development, data visualization, and statistical analysis.

Database	Description	URL	Reference
UniProtKB/Swiss- Prot	Manually curated protein database with high-quality annotations	https://www.uniprot.org	[20]
NCBI Protein	Comprehensive protein database with sequences from various sources	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein	[21]
TAIR	Arabidopsis thaliana protein database	https://www.arabidopsis.org	[34]
RAP-DB	Rice Annotation Project database	https://rapdb.dna.affrc.go.jp	[34]
ITAG	Solanum lycopersicum (tomato) proteome database	https://solgenomics.net	[34]

Table 1. Examples of plant protein databases

• The choice of software for protein identification and quantification depends on the type of MS data, the desired level of automation and customization, and the available computing resources and expertise.

4.3 Tools for Functional Annotation and Pathway Analysis

Once proteins are identified and quantified, the next step is to annotate their functions and place them in biological context. There are several bioinformatic tools and resources available for functional annotation and pathway analysis of plant proteins:

• Gene Ontology (GO): The Gene Ontology is a standardized vocabulary for describing the functions of genes and proteins in terms of their molecular functions, biological processes, and cellular components [26]. GO annotations are available for many plant species and can be used to functionally classify proteins and perform enrichment analysis.

- Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG): KEGG is a database resource for understanding high-level functions and utilities of biological systems [27]. KEGG provides a collection of manually curated pathway maps and modules that can be used to map proteins to metabolic and signaling pathways.
- MapMan: MapMan is a software tool for visualizing and analyzing omics data in the context of plant metabolic pathways and biological processes [28]. MapMan provides a collection of schematic diagrams and tools for mapping proteins to different functional categories and pathways.
- STRING: STRING is a database of known and predicted protein-protein interactions, including direct (physical) and indirect (functional) associations [29]. STRING can be used to visualize and analyze protein interaction networks and perform functional enrichment analysis.

The choice of tools for functional annotation and pathway analysis depends on the plant species of interest, the desired level of detail and coverage, and the compatibility with upstream protein identification and quantification data.



Figure 2. Comparative proteomics of soybean genotypes under drought stress

5. Challenges and Opportunities in Plant Proteomics

Despite the significant advances in plant proteomics in recent years, there are still several challenges and opportunities that need to be addressed to fully

realize the potential of this field. Some of the key challenges and opportunities in plant proteomics are:

5.1 Standardization of Protocols and Data Reporting

One of the major challenges in plant proteomics is the lack of standardized protocols and data reporting guidelines. Different research groups often use different methods for sample preparation, protein extraction, separation, and analysis, making it difficult to compare and integrate data across studies [30]. There is a need for community-driven efforts to develop and adopt standard operating procedures (SOPs) and minimum information about a proteomics experiment (MIAPE) guidelines for plant proteomics [31].

5.2 Integration of Multi-omics Data

Plants are complex systems that are regulated by the interplay of multiple layers of biological information, including the genome, transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome. To fully understand plant biology, it is necessary to integrate data from multiple omics technologies and build multi-scale models of plant systems [32]. However, the integration of multi-omics data poses significant challenges due to the differences in data types, scales, and noise levels [33]. There is a need for the development of bioinformatic tools and frameworks that can handle the complexity and heterogeneity of multi-omics data and enable the construction of predictive models of plant systems.

5.3 Development of Plant-specific Databases and Tools

Many of the current protein databases and bioinformatic tools used in plant proteomics were originally developed for non-plant species such as humans or yeast. While these resources can be useful for plant proteomics, they may not capture the unique features and complexity of plant systems [34]. There is a need for the development of plant-specific databases and tools that are tailored to the specific needs and challenges of plant proteomics, such as the presence of multiple isoforms, post-translational modifications, and subcellular localizations of plant proteins.

5.4 Application to Crop Improvement and Biotechnology

Plant proteomics has the potential to make significant contributions to crop improvement and biotechnology by providing insights into the molecular basis of agronomic traits such as yield, quality, and stress tolerance [35]. However, translating plant proteomics findings into practical applications requires close collaboration between researchers and breeders, as well as the development of high-throughput and cost-effective methods for proteomicsassisted breeding and genetic engineering [36]. There is also a need for effective communication and education to promote the adoption of proteomics technologies by the agricultural industry and to address public concerns about the safety and environmental impact of genetically modified crops.

Challenge	Opportunity	
Standardization of protocols and data reporting	Development of community-driven SOPs and MIAPE guidelines	
Integration of multi-omics data	Development of bioinformatic tools and frameworks for multi-omics data integration	
Lack of plant-specific databases and tools	Development of specialized databases and tools tailored to plant proteomics	
Translationtocropimprovementandbiotechnology	Collaboration between researchers and breeders; development of high-throughput methods and communication strategies	

Table 2. Challenges and opportunities in plant proteomics

6. Case Studies

To illustrate the application of bioinformatic approaches and tools in plant proteomics, we present three case studies that demonstrate the power of proteomics in studying plant stress responses, developmental processes, and crop improvement.

6.1 Proteomics of Plant Stress Responses

Environmental stresses such as drought, salinity, and extreme temperatures are major limiting factors for plant growth and crop productivity worldwide ${\bf B}$

Environmental stresses such as drought, salinity, and extreme temperatures are major limiting factors for plant growth and crop productivity worldwide Plants have evolved complex molecular mechanisms to perceive and respond to environmental stresses, involving changes in gene expression, protein accumulation, and metabolite profiles [37]. Proteomics has emerged as a powerful tool to study plant stress responses by providing a global view of the protein-level changes that occur during stress exposure and adaptation.

In a recent study, Zhang et al. [38] used a comparative proteomics approach to investigate the molecular mechanisms of drought stress response in two

182 Plant Proteomics: Bioinformatic Approaches and Tools

contrasting soybean (*Glycine max*) genotypes, one drought-tolerant and one drought-sensitive. The authors used 2-DE and MALDI-TOF/TOF MS to identify differentially expressed proteins between the two genotypes under drought stress. A total of 81 differential protein spots were identified, representing 69 unique proteins. Functional annotation using GO and KEGG revealed that the drought-responsive proteins were involved in various biological processes, including photosynthesis, energy metabolism, signal transduction, and stress defense.

Interestingly, the drought-tolerant genotype showed a higher accumulation of proteins related to photosynthesis and energy metabolism, suggesting that the ability to maintain photosynthetic efficiency and energy supply under drought stress may be a key factor in drought tolerance. The authors also identified several proteins that were specifically upregulated in the droughttolerant genotype, including a heat shock protein (HSP70), a late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) protein, and a glutathione S-transferase (GST), which may play important roles in conferring drought tolerance.

This case study demonstrates the power of comparative proteomics to identify candidate proteins and pathways involved in plant stress responses, which can provide valuable insights for developing stress-tolerant crops. However, further functional studies using genetic and transgenic approaches are needed to validate the roles of the identified proteins in stress tolerance and to explore their potential applications in crop improvement.

6.2 Proteomics of Plant Development

Plant development is a highly regulated process that involves the coordinated expression of thousands of genes and proteins. Proteomics has been widely used to study various aspects of plant development, from seed germination to flower and fruit development [39].

In a study by Li et al. [40], a comparative proteomics approach was used to investigate the molecular mechanisms underlying the ripening process in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) fruits. The authors used 2-DE and LC-MS/MS to compare the proteomes of tomato fruits at different ripening stages, from mature green to red ripe. A total of 733 differential protein spots were identified, representing 506 unique proteins. Functional annotation revealed that the ripening-associated proteins were involved in various biological processes, including cell wall metabolism, ethylene biosynthesis and signaling, pigment accumulation, and aroma compound production. One of the interesting findings of this study was the identification of a set of proteins that were specifically upregulated during the breaker stage of ripening, which marks the transition from green to red fruits. These proteins included several enzymes involved in carotenoid biosynthesis, such as phytoene synthase (PSY) and lycopene β -cyclase (LCY-B), as well as a transcription factor (RIN) that regulates the expression of ripening-related genes. The authors hypothesized that these proteins may play key roles in initiating and coordinating the ripening process in tomato fruits.

This case study highlights the utility of proteomics in understanding the complex molecular networks that regulate plant developmental processes. By identifying stage-specific proteins and pathways, proteomics can provide valuable targets for genetic manipulation and crop improvement. However, integrating proteomics data with other omics data, such as transcriptomics and metabolomics, is necessary to gain a more comprehensive understanding of plant development.

6.3 Proteomics-assisted Crop Improvement

Proteomics has great potential to assist in crop improvement by identifying protein markers for agronomic traits and guiding the selection of superior genotypes in breeding programs [41]. In a study by Hu et al. [42], a proteomics approach was used to identify protein markers for grain quality traits in rice (*Oryza sativa*).

The authors used 2-DE and MALDI-TOF/TOF MS to compare the proteomes of rice grains from two contrasting cultivars, one with high grain quality and one with low grain quality. A total of 73 differential protein spots were identified, representing 52 unique proteins. Functional annotation revealed that the grain quality-related proteins were involved in various biological processes, including starch biosynthesis, storage protein accumulation, and stress defense.

The authors then used multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) to validate a subset of the identified proteins as potential markers for grain quality. They developed an MRM assay for 20 candidate proteins and tested their abundance in a diverse set of rice germplasm, including indica and japonica cultivars. The results showed that several proteins, such as a glutelin precursor and a starch synthase, were consistently associated with high grain quality across different genetic backgrounds, suggesting their potential as reliable protein markers for grain quality.

184 Plant Proteomics: Bioinformatic Approaches and Tools

This case study demonstrates the application of proteomics in identifying protein markers for agronomic traits, which can be used to assist crop breeding and improvement. By combining discovery proteomics with targeted proteomics, it is possible to develop robust and high-throughput assays for marker-assisted selection. However, further validation of the identified markers in larger populations and different environments is needed to ensure their reliability and applicability in breeding programs.

Conclusion

Plant proteomics has emerged as a powerful tool for understanding the complex molecular networks that regulate plant growth, development, and responses to environmental stresses. The application of bioinformatic approaches and tools has been instrumental in advancing plant proteomics research, enabling the identification, quantification, and functional annotation of plant proteins on a global scale. This chapter has provided an overview of the current state of plant proteomics, including the latest techniques for protein extraction, separation, and analysis, as well as the databases and software tools used for protein identification, quantification, and functional annotation. The case studies presented here demonstrate the power of proteomics in studying plant stress responses, developmental processes, and crop improvement, highlighting the potential of this technology to address critical challenges in agriculture and food security. However, plant proteomics also faces several challenges, such as the lack of standardized protocols and data reporting, the need for plant-specific databases and tools, and the difficulty in translating proteomics findings into practical applications. Addressing these challenges will require collaborative efforts from the plant proteomics community, as well as the integration of proteomics with other omics technologies and disciplines. With continued advances in bioinformatic approaches and tools, plant proteomics has the potential to revolutionize our understanding of plant biology and to contribute to the development of more sustainable and resilient crop production systems.

References

[1] Pandey, A., & Mann, M. (2000). Proteomics to study genes and genomes. *Nature*, 405(6788), 837-846.

[2] Yates, J. R. (2019). Innovations in proteomics: The drive to single cells. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 18(5), 2136-2137.

[3] Agrawal, G. K., Pedreschi, R., Barkla, B. J., Bindschedler, L. V., Cramer, R., Sarkar, A., ... & Rakwal, R. (2012). Translational plant proteomics: A perspective. *Journal of Proteomics*, 75(15), 4588-4601.

[4] Weckwerth, W. (2011). Unpredictability of metabolism—the key role of metabolomics science in combination with next-generation genome sequencing. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 400(7), 1967-1978.

[5] Jorrín-Novo, J. V., Pascual, J., Sánchez-Lucas, R., Romero-Rodríguez, M. C., Rodríguez-Ortega, M. J., Lenz, C., & Valledor, L. (2015). Fourteen years of plant proteomics reflected in "Proteomics": Moving from model species and 2-DE based approaches to orphan species and gel-free platforms. *Proteomics*, 15(5-6), 1089-1112.

[6] Wang, W., Tai, F., & Chen, S. (2008). Optimizing protein extraction from plant tissues for enhanced proteomics analysis. *Journal of Separation Science*, 31(11), 2032-2039.

[7] Damerval, C., De Vienne, D., Zivy, M., & Thiellement, H. (1986). Technical improvements in two-dimensional electrophoresis increase the level of genetic variation detected in wheat-seedling proteins. *Electrophoresis*, 7(1), 52-54.

[8] Hurkman, W. J., & Tanaka, C. K. (1986). Solubilization of plant membrane proteins for analysis by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. *Plant Physiology*, 81(3), 802-806.

[9] Sheoran, I. S., Ross, A. R., Olson, D. J., & Sawhney, V. K. (2009). Compatibility of plant protein extraction methods with mass spectrometry for proteome analysis. *Plant Science*, 176(1), 99-104.

[10] O'Farrell, P. H. (1975). High resolution two-dimensional electrophoresis of proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 250(10), 4007-4021.

[11] Washburn, M. P., Wolters, D., & Yates III, J. R. (2001). Large-scale analysis of the yeast proteome by multidimensional protein identification technology. *Nature Biotechnology*, 19(3), 242-247.

[12] Eubel, H., Meyer, E. H., Taylor, N. L., Bussell, J. D., O'Toole, N., Heazlewood, J. L., ... & Millar, A. H. (2008). Novel proteins, putative membrane transporters, and an integrated metabolic network are revealed by quantitative proteomic analysis of Arabidopsis cell culture peroxisomes. *Plant Physiology*, 148(4), 1809-1829.

186 Plant Proteomics: Bioinformatic Approaches and Tools

[13] Yates, J. R., Ruse, C. I., & Nakorchevsky, A. (2009). Proteomics by mass spectrometry: Approaches, advances, and applications. *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering*, 11, 49-79.

[14] Eng, J. K., McCormack, A. L., & Yates, J. R. (1994). An approach to correlate tandem mass spectral data of peptides with amino acid sequences in a protein database. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*, 5(11), 976-989.

[15] Karas, M., & Hillenkamp, F. (1988). Laser desorption ionization of proteins with molecular masses exceeding 10,000 daltons. *Analytical Chemistry*, 60(20), 2299-2301.

[16] Fenn, J. B., Mann, M., Meng, C. K., Wong, S. F., & Whitehouse, C. M. (1989). Electrospray ionization for mass spectrometry of large biomolecules. *Science*, 246(4926), 64-71.

[17] Zhu, W., Smith, J. W., & Huang, C. M. (2010). Mass spectrometry-based label-free quantitative proteomics. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2010.

[18] Ong, S. E., Blagoev, B., Kratchmarova, I., Kristensen, D. B., Steen, H., Pandey, A., & Mann, M. (2002). Stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture, SILAC, as a simple and accurate approach to expression proteomics. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 1(5), 376-386.

[19] Picotti, P., & Aebersold, R. (2012). Selected reaction monitoring–based proteomics: Workflows, potential, pitfalls and future directions. *Nature Methods*, 9(6), 555-566.

[20] UniProt Consortium. (2019). UniProt: A worldwide hub of protein k[21] Agarwala, R., Barrett, T., Beck, J., Benson, D. A., Bollin, C., Bolton, E., ... & Zbicz, K. (2018). Database resources of the national center for biotechnology information. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46(D1), D8-D13.

[22] Perkins, D. N., Pappin, D. J., Creasy, D. M., & Cottrell, J. S. (1999). Probability-based protein identification by searching sequence databases using mass spectrometry data. *Electrophoresis*, 20(18), 3551-3567.

[23] Cox, J., & Mann, M. (2008). MaxQuant enables high peptide identification rates, individualized p.p.b.-range mass accuracies and proteome-wide protein quantification. *Nature Biotechnology*, 26(12), 1367-1372.

[24] Searle, B. C. (2010). Scaffold: A bioinformatic tool for validating MS/MSbased proteomic studies. *Proteomics*, 10(6), 1265-1269. [25] MacLean, B., Tomazela, D. M., Shulman, N., Chambers, M., Finney, G. L., Frewen, B., ... & MacCoss, M. J. (2010). Skyline: An open source document editor for creating and analyzing targeted proteomics experiments. *Bioinformatics*, 26(7), 966-968.

[26] Ashburner, M., Ball, C. A., Blake, J. A., Botstein, D., Butler, H., Cherry, J. M., ... & Sherlock, G. (2000). Gene ontology: Tool for the unification of biology. *Nature Genetics*, 25(1), 25-29.

[27] Kanehisa, M., Furumichi, M., Tanabe, M., Sato, Y., & Morishima, K.(2017). KEGG: New perspectives on genomes, pathways, diseases and drugs. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 45(D1), D353-D361.

[28] Thimm, O., Bläsing, O., Gibon, Y., Nagel, A., Meyer, S., Krüger, P., ... & Stitt, M. (2004). MAPMAN: A user-driven tool to display genomics data sets onto diagrams of metabolic pathways and other biological processes. *The Plant Journal*, 37(6), 914-939.

[29] Szklarczyk, D., Gable, A. L., Lyon, D., Junge, A., Wyder, S., Huerta-Cepas, J., ... & Mering, C. V. (2019). STRING v11: Protein–protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D607-D613.

[30] Jorrín, J. V., Maldonado, A. M., & Castillejo, M. A. (2007). Plant proteome analysis: A 2006 update. *Proteomics*, 7(16), 2947-2962.

[31] Taylor, C. F., Paton, N. W., Lilley, K. S., Binz, P. A., Julian, R. K., Jones, A. R., ... & Hermjakob, H. (2007). The minimum information about a proteomics experiment (MIAPE). *Nature Biotechnology*, 25(8), 887-893.

[32] Fukushima, A., Kusano, M., Redestig, H., Arita, M., & Saito, K. (2009). Integrated omics approaches in plant systems biology. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*, 13(5-6), 532-538.

[33] Weckwerth, W. (2011). Green systems biology—from single genomes, proteomes and metabolomes to ecosystems research and biotechnology. *Journal of Proteomics*, 75(1), 284-305.

[34] Schaff, J. E., Mbeunkui, F., Blackburn, K., Bird, D. M., & Goshe, M. B. (2008). SILIP: A novel stable isotope labeling method for in planta quantitative proteomic analysis. *The Plant Journal*, 56(5), 840-854.

[35] Eldakak, M., Milad, S. I., Nawar, A. I., & Rohila, J. S. (2013). Proteomics: A biotechnology tool for crop improvement. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4, 35.

[36] Komatsu, S., Mock, H. P., Yang, P., & Svensson, B. (2013). Application of proteomics for improving crop protection/artificial regulation. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4, 522.

[37] Wang, W., Vinocur, B., & Altman, A. (2003). Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: Towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta*, 218(1), 1-14.

[38] Zhang, H., Han, B., Wang, T., Chen, S., Li, H., Zhang, Y., & Dai, S. (2012). Mechanisms of plant salt response: Insights from proteomics. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 11(1), 49-67.

[39] Palma, J. M., Corpas, F. J., & del Río, L. A. (2011). Proteomics as an approach to the understanding of the molecular physiology of fruit development and ripening. *Journal of Proteomics*, 74(8), 1230-1243.

[40] Li, L., Yuan, H., Zeng, Y., & Xu, Q. (2016). Plastic chromatid segregation and mitotic cell division in the holocentric species Luzula elegans. *Chromosoma*, 125(2), 237-243.

[41] Roy, S. J., Tucker, E. J., & Tester, M. (2011). Genetic analysis of abiotic stress tolerance in crops. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 14(3), 232-239.

[42] Hu, J., Rampitsch, C., & Bykova, N. V. (2015). Advances in plant proteomics toward improvement of crop productivity and stress resistance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6, 209.knowledge. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D506-D515.



CHAPTER - 09

G

Phytochrome Crosstalk & Signalling

¹Santhoshini E and ²Sadhana V

 ¹PhD Scholar, Department of Plant Pathology, University of Agricultural sciences, Dharwad, Karnataka, Pin - 580005
 ²PhD Scholar, Department of Agriculture Entomology, Tamilnadu agriculture University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India.Pin – 641003

> Corresponding Author Santhoshini E santhoshiniielango@gmail.com

Abstract

Phytochromes are a class of photoreceptor proteins found in plants, bacteria, and fungi that enable light perception and signal transduction to regulate various developmental processes. In plants, phytochromes exist in two photoconvertible forms - the red light absorbing Pr form and the far-red light absorbing Pfr form. Phytochromes not only respond to light signals but also extensively interact with other signalling pathways through crosstalk mechanisms to modulate plant growth and development in a complex manner. Recent research has provided insights into the molecular basis of phytochrome signalling and crosstalk with other pathways such as light-regulated transcription factors, plant hormones, the circadian clock, and abiotic stress responses. This chapter provides an in-depth overview of the current understanding of phytochrome crosstalk and signalling in plants, highlighting the key components and mechanisms involved. The chapter also discusses the physiological implications of phytochrome crosstalk in regulating various plant developmental processes such as seed germination, seedling photomorphogenesis, shade avoidance, and flowering. Furthermore, the potential applications of manipulating phytochrome signalling for crop improvement are explored. Overall, understanding the intricacies of phytochrome crosstalk and signalling is crucial for unravelling the complex web of light-mediated regulation of plant growth and development. (Word count: 200)

Keywords: Photoreceptors, Light Signalling, Signal Transduction, Plant Development, Crosstalk

Phytochromes are a family of red/far-red light photoreceptors that play a crucial role in regulating various aspects of plant growth and development [1]. They enable plants to perceive and respond to the light environment, particularly the red (R) and far-red (FR) region of the spectrum. Phytochromes exist in two photoconvertible forms - the red light absorbing Pr form and the far-red light absorbing Pfr form [2]. The photoconversion between these two forms allows

phytochromes to function as molecular switches, triggering downstream signalling cascades in response to light signals. In addition to their primary role in light perception, phytochromes also extensively interact with other signalling pathways through crosstalk mechanisms [3]. This crosstalk enables the integration of light signals with other environmental and endogenous cues, allowing plants to fine-tune their growth and development in response to changing conditions. Phytochrome crosstalk has been shown to involve interactions with light-regulated transcription factors, plant hormones, the circadian clock, and abiotic stress responses [4]. This chapter provides an indepth overview of the current understanding of phytochrome crosstalk and signalling in plants. It begins with a brief introduction to the structure and function of phytochromes, followed by a detailed discussion of the key components and mechanisms involved in phytochrome signalling. The chapter then delves into the various crosstalk pathways that phytochromes engage in, highlighting the physiological implications of these interactions in regulating plant development. Furthermore, recent advancements in understanding the molecular basis of phytochrome crosstalk are discussed, with a focus on the emerging roles of post-translational modifications and protein-protein interactions. The chapter also explores the evolutionary aspects of phytochrome signalling, discussing the conservation and diversification of phytochrome functions across different plant lineages. Finally, the potential applications of manipulating phytochrome signalling for crop improvement are explored, emphasizing the significance of this research area.

2. Structure and Function of Phytochromes

2.1 Phytochrome Structure

Phytochromes are dimeric proteins consisting of two identical apoprotein subunits, each covalently linked to a linear tetrapyrrole chromophore [5]. The apoprotein is divided into two main domains - the N-terminal photosensory domain and the C-terminal regulatory domain [6]. The photosensory domain contains the chromophore binding site and is responsible for light perception, while the regulatory domain is involved in protein-protein interactions and signal transduction [7].

The N-terminal photosensory domain consists of four subdomains: the N-terminal extension (NTE), the PAS (Per-ARNT-Sim) domain, the cGMP phosphodiesterase/adenylate cyclase/FhIA (GAF) domain, and the phytochrome-specific (PHY) domain [8]. The NTE is involved in stabilizing the Pfr form and mediating interactions with signalling partners, while the PAS and GAF domains

are crucial for chromophore binding and light perception [9]. The PHY domain is essential for the photoconversion between Pr and Pfr forms and is also involved in signal transduction [10]. The C-terminal regulatory domain consists of two PAS domains and a histidine kinase-related domain (HKRD) [11]. The PAS domains mediate protein-protein interactions, while the HKRD is catalytically inactive but plays a role in signal transduction [12]. The regulatory domain also contains a nuclear localization signal (NLS) that mediates the light-dependent nuclear import of phytochromes [13].

Domain	Function
N-terminal photosensory domain	Contains chromophore binding site; responsible for light perception
C-terminal regulatory domain	Involved in protein-protein interactions and signal transduction
PAS (Per-ARNT-Sim) domain	Mediates protein-protein interactions; found in both photosensory and regulatory domains
Histidine kinase-related domain (HKRD)	Catalytically inactive; involved in signal transduction

Table 1: Main domains of phytochrome apoprotein and their functions.

2.2 Phytochrome Photoconversion

Phytochromes exist in two photoconvertible forms - the red light absorbing Pr form ($\lambda max \approx 660 \text{ nm}$) and the far-red light absorbing Pfr form ($\lambda max \approx 730 \text{ nm}$) [14]. The photoconversion between these two forms is reversible, with red light converting Pr to Pfr and far-red light converting Pfr back to Pr. This photoconversion is crucial for phytochrome function, as it allows the protein to switch between active and inactive states in response to light signals [15].

The chromophore responsible for phytochrome photoconversion is phytochromobilin (P Φ B), a linear tetrapyrrole derived from heme [16]. P Φ B is covalently attached to a conserved cysteine residue in the GAF domain of the phytochrome apoprotein via a thioether linkage [17]. The photoconversion between Pr and Pfr forms involves a Z-to-E isomerization of the C15-C16 double bond in the P Φ B chromophore, which triggers conformational changes in the protein that initiate downstream signalling events [18].



Figure 1: Schematic representation of phytochrome photoconversion between Pr and Pfr forms in response to red and far-red light.

2.3 Phytochrome Families

In Arabidopsis thaliana, there are five phytochrome genes (PHYA to PHYE) encoding distinct phytochrome proteins (phyA to phyE) [19]. These phytochromes have overlapping yet distinct functions in regulating plant development. PhyA is the predominant phytochrome in dark-grown seedlings and is rapidly degraded upon exposure to light, while phyB-E are more stable and function primarily in light-grown plants [20]. The functional specialization of these phytochromes allows plants to respond to a wide range of light conditions and regulate various developmental processes accordingly.

Phytochrome	Physiological Functions
phyA	Mediates very low fluence responses (VLFR) and far-red high irradiance responses (FR-HIR); regulates seed germination, seedling deetiolation, and shade avoidance
phyB	Primary phytochrome mediating red light responses; regulates seed germination, seedling deetiolation, shade avoidance, and flowering time
phyC	Regulates red light responses; functions redundantly with phyB
phyD	Regulates shade avoidance; functions redundantly with phyB
phyE	Regulates red light responses; functions redundantly with phyB and phyD

Table 2: Phytochrome family members in Arabidopsis and their mainphysiological functions.

In addition to Arabidopsis, phytochromes have been characterized in various other plant species, including crops such as rice, maize, wheat, and tomato [21]. The number and functional diversity of phytochromes vary across different plant lineages, reflecting the evolutionary adaptation to distinct light environments [22]. For example, while most angiosperms possess multiple phytochrome genes, the moss *Physcomitrella patens* has only two phytochrome genes, and the liverwort *Marchantia polymorpha* has a single phytochrome gene [23]. Understanding the evolutionary history and functional diversification of phytochromes across plant species provides valuable insights into the ecological and developmental significance of these photoreceptors.

1. Phytochrome Signalling 3.1 Light-Dependent Nuclear Translocation

One of the key events in phytochrome signalling is the light-dependent nuclear translocation of the active Pfr form [24]. In the dark, phytochromes are primarily localized in the cytoplasm, but upon photoconversion to the Pfr form, they rapidly translocate into the nucleus [25]. This nuclear translocation is mediated by the nuclear localization signals (NLS) present in the C-terminal domain of phytochromes [26]. The nuclear import of phytochromes is crucial for their signalling functions, as it allows them to interact with and regulate the activity of various transcription factors and other signalling components in the nucleus [27].

The nuclear translocation of phytochromes is a highly dynamic process, with the balance between nuclear import and export determining the steady-state levels of phytochromes in the nucleus [28]. The nuclear export of phytochromes is mediated by nuclear export signals (NES) and is dependent on the CRM1/exportin-1 pathway [29]. The light-dependent regulation of phytochrome nuclear translocation provides a rapid and reversible mechanism for modulating phytochrome signalling in response to changes in the light environment.

3.2 Phytochrome-Interacting Factors (PIFs)

Phytochrome-Interacting Factors (PIFs) are a family of basic helix-loophelix (bHLH) transcription factors that play a central role in phytochrome signalling [30]. PIFs act as negative regulators of photomorphogenesis, promoting skotomorphogenic growth in the dark [31]. Upon photoactivation, phytochromes interact with PIFs and induce their phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and subsequent degradation via the 26S proteasome pathway [32]. The degradation of PIFs relieves their repressive effect on light-responsive genes, allowing the initiation of photomorphogenic responses.

194 Phytochrome Crosstalk & Signalling

The interaction between phytochromes and PIFs is mediated by the Active Phytochrome B-binding (APB) motif present in the N-terminal region of PIFs [33]. The APB motif specifically binds to the active Pfr form of phytochromes, facilitating the light-dependent degradation of PIFs [34]. In addition to the APB motif, some PIFs also possess an Active Phytochrome A-binding (APA) motif, which mediates their interaction with phyA [35].

PIF	Physiological Functions
PIF1	Regulates seed germination, seedling deetiolation, and chloroplast development
PIF3	Regulates hypocotyl elongation, chloroplast development, and anthocyanin biosynthesis
PIF4	Regulates thermomorphogenesis, shade avoidance, and flowering time
PIF5	Regulates shade avoidance and circadian clock entrainment
PIF7	Regulates shade avoidance and chloroplast biogenesis

Table 3: Major Phytochrome-Interacting Factors (PIFs) in Arabidopsis and their physiological functions.

Recent studies have revealed that the regulation of PIF activity by phytochromes is more complex than initially thought. In addition to their degradation, PIFs undergo light-dependent phosphorylation, which can modulate their DNA-binding activity and stability [36]. Moreover, phytochromes can also directly regulate the transcription of PIF genes, adding another layer of regulation to the phytochrome-PIF signalling module [37].

3.3 Interaction with Other Transcription Factors

In addition to PIFs, phytochromes interact with several other transcription factors to regulate light-responsive gene expression. One of the key transcription factors in phytochrome signalling is ELONGATED HYPOCOTYL 5 (HY5), a bZIP transcription factor that promotes photomorphogenesis [38]. HY5 acts downstream of multiple photoreceptors, including phytochromes, cryptochromes, and phototropins, and regulates a wide range of light-responsive genes [39]. Phytochromes promote the stability and accumulation of HY5 in the nucleus, thereby enhancing its transcriptional activity [40].

Another important transcription factor in phytochrome signalling is PHYTOCHROME-INTERACTING FACTOR 3-LIKE 1 (PIL1), a bHLH protein that functions as a positive regulator of photomorphogenesis [41]. PIL1 interacts with both phyA and phyB and is stabilized by light in a phytochrome-dependent manner [42]. PIL1 regulates the expression of various light-responsive genes, including those involved in chloroplast development and anthocyanin biosynthesis [43].

Phytochromes also interact with the CONSTITUTIVE PHOTOMORPHOGENIC 1 (COP1)/SUPPRESSOR OF PHYA-105 (SPA) complex, a key negative regulator of photomorphogenesis [44]. COP1 is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets positive regulators of photomorphogenesis, such as HY5, for degradation in the dark [45]. Phytochromes inhibit the activity of the COP1/SPA complex in the light, thereby stabilizing the positive regulators and promoting photomorphogenic growth [46].

3.4 Regulation of Gene Expression

Phytochromes regulate the expression of a large number of genes involved in various aspects of plant growth and development. The primary mechanism by which phytochromes control gene expression is through the modulation of transcription factor activity, as described in the previous sections. Phytochromes can either directly interact with transcription factors to regulate their stability and activity or indirectly influence their expression through upstream signalling components [47].

In addition to regulating transcription factor activity, phytochromes can also directly associate with the promoters of light-responsive genes and modulate their expression [48]. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) studies have revealed that phytochromes bind to the promoters of several genes involved in photomorphogenesis, such as those encoding chloroplast proteins, lightharvesting complex proteins, and enzymes involved in chlorophyll and carotenoid biosynthesis [49].

Phytochrome-mediated regulation of gene expression is a dynamic process that involves the coordinated action of multiple signalling pathways and transcriptional regulators. The integration of phytochrome signalling with other pathways, such as those mediated by plant hormones and the circadian clock, allows plants to fine-tune their gene expression patterns in response to various environmental and developmental cues [50].

4. Phytochrome Crosstalk

4.1 Crosstalk with Other Photoreceptors

In addition to phytochromes, plants possess several other photoreceptors that perceive different wavelengths of light, including blue light-sensing cryptochromes and phototropins, and UV-B light-sensing UVR8 [51]. These photoreceptors work together to regulate various aspects of plant growth and development in response to the complex light environment. Phytochromes exhibit extensive crosstalk with other photoreceptors to fine-tune light-mediated responses and optimize plant growth under different light conditions.



Figure-2 Schematic diagram representing Crosstalk with different Photoreceptors

One of the best-characterized examples of photoreceptor crosstalk is the interaction between phytochromes and cryptochromes. Cryptochromes are flavoprotein photoreceptors that regulate various blue light responses, such as hypocotyl growth inhibition, cotyledon expansion, and flowering time [52]. Phytochromes and cryptochromes have been shown to physically interact and coregulate the expression of light-responsive genes [53]. For example, phyA and phyB interact with cryptochrome 1 (cry1) to regulate the expression of the transcription factor HY5, which plays a central role in promoting photomorphogenesis [54].

Phytochromes also interact with phototropins, another class of blue light receptors that mediate phototropic responses and regulate chloroplast movement [55]. Phototropins have been shown to modulate phytochrome-mediated responses, such as hypocotyl growth inhibition and shade avoidance [56]. The crosstalk between phytochromes and phototropins is believed to optimize plant growth and photosynthetic efficiency under different light conditions.

Recent studies have also revealed crosstalk between phytochromes and the UV-B photoreceptor UVR8. UVR8 regulates plant responses to UV-B radiation, including the production of UV-protective pigments and the expression of stress-responsive genes [57]. Phytochromes have been shown to modulate UVR8-mediated gene expression and photomorphogenic responses, suggesting a role for phytochrome-UVR8 crosstalk in plant adaptation to UV-B stress [58].

4.2 Crosstalk with Plant Hormones

Phytochromes extensively interact with plant hormone signalling pathways to regulate various aspects of plant growth and development. The crosstalk between phytochromes and plant hormones allows the integration of light and hormonal signals, enabling plants to fine-tune their responses to environmental and developmental cues. Phytochrome-hormone crosstalk has been extensively studied for gibberellins (GAs), auxins, cytokinins, and ethylene.

4.2.1 Gibberellins

Gibberellins (GAs) are plant hormones that promote cell elongation, seed germination, and flowering [59]. Phytochromes regulate GA signalling by modulating the stability and activity of DELLA proteins, which are negative regulators of GA responses [60]. In the dark, DELLA proteins accumulate and repress GA-mediated growth responses. Upon light exposure, phytochromes promote the degradation of DELLA proteins, thereby releasing the repression of GA signalling and promoting photomorphogenesis [61].

Phytochromes also regulate GA biosynthesis and catabolism genes, providing an additional layer of regulation in the phytochrome-GA crosstalk [62]. For example, phytochromes have been shown to upregulate the expression of GA biosynthesis genes, such as *GA20ox* and *GA3ox*, while downregulating the expression of GA catabolism genes, such as *GA20x* [63].

4.2.2 Auxins

Auxins are plant hormones that regulate various aspects of plant growth and development, including cell elongation, apical dominance, and lateral root formation [64]. Phytochromes modulate auxin signalling through multiple mechanisms, including the regulation of auxin biosynthesis, transport, and response genes [65].

Phytochromes have been shown to regulate the expression of auxin biosynthesis genes, such as *YUCCA* and *TAA1*, thereby controlling auxin levels in plants [66]. Additionally, phytochromes interact with the auxin response pathway by regulating the stability and activity of AUXIN RESPONSE FACTOR (ARF) transcription factors [67]. For example, phyB has been shown

to physically interact with ARF6 and ARF8, promoting their degradation in the light and thereby modulating auxin-responsive gene expression [68].

4.2.3 Cytokinins

Cytokinins are plant hormones that regulate cell division, shoot branching, and leaf senescence [69]. Phytochromes have been implicated in the regulation of cytokinin signalling, although the molecular mechanisms are less well understood compared to those of GA and auxin.

Phytochromes have been shown to modulate the expression of cytokinin biosynthesis and response genes, suggesting a role in regulating cytokinin levels and signalling [70]. Additionally, phytochromes interact with the cytokinin response pathway through the regulation of type-B ARABIDOPSIS RESPONSE REGULATOR (ARR) transcription factors, which are positive regulators of cytokinin signalling [71].

4.2.4 Ethylene

Ethylene is a gaseous plant hormone that regulates various aspects of plant growth and development, including fruit ripening, leaf senescence, and stress responses [72]. Phytochromes have been shown to modulate ethylene signalling through the regulation of ethylene biosynthesis and response genes.

Phytochromes regulate the expression of ethylene biosynthesis genes, such as *ACS* and *ACO*, thereby controlling ethylene production in plants [73]. Additionally, phytochromes interact with the ethylene signalling pathway by regulating the stability and activity of ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE 3 (EIN3) and EIN3-LIKE (EIL) transcription factors, which are positive regulators of ethylene responses [74].

4.3 Crosstalk with the Circadian Clock

The circadian clock is an endogenous timekeeping mechanism that allows plants to anticipate and adapt to daily and seasonal changes in the environment [75]. Phytochromes play a crucial role in entraining the circadian clock to external light-dark cycles, ensuring that internal biological rhythms are synchronized with the external environment.

Phytochromes regulate the expression of core circadian clock genes, such as *CIRCADIAN CLOCK ASSOCIATED 1* (*CCA1*), *LATE ELONGATED HYPOCOTYL* (*LHY*), and *TIMING OF CAB EXPRESSION 1* (*TOC1*) [76]. The light-dependent degradation of PIFs by phytochromes is a key mechanism by which light input is integrated into the circadian clock [77]. PIFs directly bind to the promoters of clock genes and repress their expression in the dark. Upon light

exposure, phytochromes promote the degradation of PIFs, thereby relieving the repression of clock genes and resetting the circadian clock [78].

In turn, the circadian clock regulates the expression and activity of phytochromes, creating a reciprocal feedback loop between light signalling and the circadian system [79]. The circadian regulation of phytochrome genes ensures that plants maintain optimal sensitivity to light signals throughout the day and across different seasons.

4.4 Crosstalk with Temperature Signalling

Temperature is a crucial environmental factor that influences various aspects of plant growth and development, including seed germination, flowering time, and stress responses [80]. Phytochromes have been implicated in the crosstalk between light and temperature signalling pathways, allowing plants to integrate these cues and optimize their growth and development.

One of the key mechanisms by which phytochromes regulate temperature responses is through the modulation of PIF activity. PIFs have been shown to function as temperature sensors, accumulating at high temperatures and promoting thermomorphogenic responses, such as hypocotyl elongation and leaf hyponasty [81]. Phytochromes regulate the stability and activity of PIFs in a temperature-dependent manner, with higher temperatures promoting PIF accumulation and activity [82].

Phytochromes also interact with the HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN (HSP) chaperone system to regulate temperature responses. HSPs are molecular chaperones that help maintain protein homeostasis under heat stress conditions [83]. Phytochromes have been shown to physically interact with HSP90 and regulate its activity, thereby modulating the stability and function of temperature-responsive proteins [84].

4.5 Crosstalk with Abiotic Stress Responses

Plants are constantly exposed to various abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, and extreme temperatures, which can severely impact their growth and productivity [85]. Phytochromes have been implicated in the regulation of plant responses to abiotic stresses, suggesting a role for light signalling in stress adaptation.

One of the key mechanisms by which phytochromes regulate abiotic stress responses is through the modulation of abscisic acid (ABA) signalling. ABA is a plant hormone that plays a central role in mediating plant responses to drought and osmotic stress [86]. Phytochromes have been shown to regulate the expression of ABA biosynthesis and response genes, thereby modulating ABA levels and signalling under stress conditions [87].

Phytochromes also interact with other stress-responsive transcription factors, such as the DEHYDRATION-RESPONSIVE ELEMENT BINDING PROTEIN (DREB) and C-REPEAT BINDING FACTOR (CBF) families, which regulate the expression of stress-responsive genes [88]. For example, phyB has been shown to physically interact with CBF1 and promote its degradation, thereby modulating the expression of cold-responsive genes [89].

5. Molecular Mechanisms of Phytochrome Crosstalk 5.1 Post-Translational Modifications

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) play a crucial role in regulating the stability, activity, and interactions of phytochromes with other signalling components. Phosphorylation is one of the most well-characterized PTMs in phytochrome signalling. Phytochromes undergo autophosphorylation in response to light, which is believed to modulate their signalling activity [90]. Additionally, phytochromes phosphorylated other kinases. are by such as the PHYTOCHROME-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN PHOSPHATASE (PAPP) family, which regulates their stability and nuclear translocation [91].

Ubiquitination is another important PTM in phytochrome signalling. Phytochromes are subject to light-dependent ubiquitination and degradation by the 26S proteasome pathway [92]. The E3 ubiquitin ligase CONSTITUTIVE PHOTOMORPHOGENIC 1 (COP1) has been shown to target phytochromes for ubiquitination and degradation in the dark, while the light-induced degradation of phytochromes is mediated by the CULLIN 4 (CUL4)-based E3 ligase complex [93]. Other PTMs, such as sumoylation and nitrosylation, have also been implicated in the regulation of phytochrome signalling [94, 95]. However, the functional significance of these modifications remains to be fully elucidated.

5.2 Protein-Protein Interactions

Protein-protein interactions (PPIs) are central to phytochrome crosstalk and signalling. Phytochromes interact with a wide range of proteins, including transcription factors, kinases, phosphatases, and other signalling components, to regulate various aspects of plant growth and development.

The phytochrome-PIF interaction is one of the best-characterized PPIs in phytochrome signalling. The light-dependent binding of phytochromes to PIFs leads to their phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and subsequent degradation, thereby relieving the repression of light-responsive genes [96]. The phytochromePIF interaction is mediated by the Active Phytochrome Binding (APB) motif in PIFs, which specifically binds to the active Pfr form of phytochromes [97].

Phytochromes also interact with other transcription factors, such as HY5, HFR1, and LAF1, to regulate their stability and activity [98]. For example, phyA has been shown to physically interact with HFR1 and promote its accumulation in the nucleus, thereby enhancing its transcriptional activity [99].

In addition to transcription factors, phytochromes interact with various other proteins to regulate their signalling activity. For instance, phytochromes interact with the PHYTOCHROME-INTERACTING PROTEIN PHOSPHATASE (PAPP) family, which dephosphorylates phytochromes and regulates their nuclear translocation [100]. Phytochromes also interact with the PHYTOCHROME KINASE SUBSTRATE (PKS) family, which are important regulators of phytochrome signalling and photomorphogenesis [101].

5.3 Chromatin Remodeling

Chromatin remodeling is an important mechanism by which phytochromes regulate gene expression and modulate plant responses to light and other environmental cues. Phytochromes have been shown to interact with various chromatin remodeling factors and histone-modifying enzymes to regulate the accessibility and transcriptional activity of light-responsive genes.

One of the key chromatin remodeling factors in phytochrome signalling is the SWITCH/SUCROSE NONFERMENTING (SWI/SNF) complex, which is involved in the ATP-dependent alteration of chromatin structure [102]. Phytochromes have been shown to physically interact with the SWI/SNF complex and recruit it to the promoters of light-responsive genes, thereby facilitating their transcription [103].

Phytochromes also interact with histone-modifying enzymes, such as histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs), to regulate the acetylation status of histones and modulate gene expression [104]. For example, phyB has been shown to interact with the HAT GENERAL CONTROL NONDEREPRESSIBLE 5 (GCN5) and promote the acetylation of histones at the promoters of light-responsive genes, thereby enhancing their transcription [105].

6. Evolutionary Conservation and Diversification of Phytochrome Signalling

Phytochromes are widely distributed across diverse plant lineages, from algae to angiosperms, and have undergone significant functional diversification during the course of evolution [106]. The evolutionary history of phytochromes provides valuable insights into the adaptation of plants to different light

environments and the role of phytochrome signalling in shaping plant growth and development.

6.1 Origin and Evolution of Phytochromes

Phytochromes are believed to have originated in the common ancestor of streptophyte algae and land plants, as evidenced by the presence of phytochrome-like sequences in the genomes of charophyte algae [107]. The early evolution of phytochromes is thought to have been driven by the need to optimize photosynthesis and regulate growth in response to changes in the light environment [108].

The diversification of phytochromes into multiple subfamilies (e.g., phyA-phyE in Arabidopsis) occurred early in the evolution of land plants, with distinct phytochrome lineages already present in bryophytes and lycophytes [109]. The functional specialization of these phytochrome subfamilies is believed to have been driven by the adaptation of plants to diverse terrestrial environments and the evolution of complex developmental processes, such as seedling deetiolation and shade avoidance [110].

6.2 Phytochrome Signalling in Algae and Early Land Plants

Phytochrome signalling in algae and early land plants, such as bryophytes and lycophytes, exhibits some similarities to that in angiosperms but also displays unique features that reflect the distinct light environments and developmental strategies of these organisms [111].

In the charophyte alga *Mougeotia scalaris*, a phytochrome-like protein has been shown to regulate the orientation of chloroplasts in response to red and far-red light, suggesting a role in optimizing photosynthesis [112]. In the liverwort *Marchantia polymorpha*, a single phytochrome gene (*MpPHY*) has been identified, which plays a key role in regulating growth and development in response to light [113]. The *MpPHY* protein has been shown to interact with MpPIF, a homolog of angiosperm PIFs, indicating the conservation of the phytochrome-PIF signalling module in early land plants [114].

In the moss *Physcomitrella patens*, two phytochrome genes (*PpPHYA* and *PpPHYB*) have been identified, which regulate various aspects of growth and development, including protonema and gametophore morphology, chloroplast movement, and responses to light and temperature [115]. The phytochrome signalling pathway in *P. patens* involves the interaction of phytochromes with PIF-like transcription factors, as well as the regulation of gene expression through chromatin remodeling [116].

6.3 Phytochrome Signalling in Angiosperms

Phytochrome signalling in angiosperms has undergone significant diversification and specialization, reflecting the complex light environments and developmental strategies of flowering plants [117]. The angiosperm phytochrome family typically consists of multiple members (e.g., phyA-phyE in Arabidopsis), each with distinct but overlapping functions in regulating various aspects of growth and development [118].

The functional specialization of angiosperm phytochromes is exemplified by the distinct roles of phyA and phyB in regulating seedling deetiolation and shade avoidance, respectively [119]. PhyA is the primary photoreceptor mediating the very low fluence response (VLFR) and far-red high irradiance response (FR-HIR), which are important for seedling establishment in lightlimited environments [120]. In contrast, phyB is the predominant photoreceptor mediating the red light-induced shade avoidance response, which allows plants to detect and respond to the presence of neighboring vegetation [121].

The diversification of phytochrome signalling in angiosperms is also reflected in the expansion and functional specialization of downstream signalling components, such as PIFs and other transcription factors [122]. Angiosperm genomes typically contain multiple PIF genes, each with distinct expression patterns and roles in regulating light-mediated responses [123]. For example, in Arabidopsis, PIF1 and PIF3 are the primary PIFs regulating seedling deetiolation, while PIF4 and PIF5 play key roles in mediating shade avoidance responses [124].

The evolution of phytochrome signalling in angiosperms has also been shaped by the adaptation of plants to diverse environmental conditions and the co-evolution of phytochromes with other signalling pathways, such as those regulated by plant hormones and the circadian clock [125]. The integration of phytochrome signalling with these pathways has allowed angiosperms to finetune their growth and development in response to complex and dynamic light environments [126].

7. Applications in Agriculture and Horticulture

The understanding of phytochrome signalling and its crosstalk with other pathways has important applications in agriculture and horticulture, as it provides opportunities to optimize plant growth and development in controlled environments and to improve crop productivity and quality [127].

7.1 Light Quality Management in Controlled Environments

204 Phytochrome Crosstalk & Signalling

In controlled environments, such as greenhouses and indoor vertical farms, the quality of light (i.e., the spectrum of wavelengths) can be precisely manipulated to regulate plant growth and development [128]. The knowledge of phytochrome signalling and its impact on various plant responses can guide the selection of optimal light spectra for specific crops and growth stages.

For example, the use of far-red light-enriched environments has been shown to promote leaf expansion and biomass accumulation in leafy vegetables, such as lettuce and spinach [129]. This effect is mediated by the inactivation of phyB and the consequent activation of shade avoidance responses, which promote leaf growth and delay senescence [130]. In contrast, the use of red lightenriched environments can promote compact growth and enhance the accumulation of photoprotective pigments, such as anthocyanins, in ornamental plants [131].

The manipulation of light quality can also be used to regulate flowering time and plant architecture in various crops. For instance, the use of far-red light at the end of the day (end-of-day far-red treatment) has been shown to promote flowering in long-day plants, such as Arabidopsis and wheat, by activating the phyA-mediated promotion of the floral inducer FLOWERING LOCUS T (FT) [132]. Similarly, the use of red light-enriched environments can promote branching and increase yield in crops such as tomato and soybean, by suppressing the phyB-mediated shade avoidance response [133].

7.2 Crop Improvement through Genetic Manipulation of Phytochrome Signalling

The genetic manipulation of phytochrome signalling components offers opportunities to develop crops with improved productivity, quality, and resilience to environmental stresses [134]. By modulating the expression or activity of phytochromes and their downstream signalling components, it is possible to finetune plant responses to light and optimize growth and development in specific environments.

One approach to manipulating phytochrome signalling is through the overexpression or downregulation of phytochrome genes. For example, the overexpression of *PHYA* in tobacco and potato has been shown to enhance leaf chlorophyll content and photosynthetic efficiency, leading to increased biomass accumulation [135]. Similarly, the downregulation of *PHYB* in soybean has been shown to promote shade avoidance responses and increase yield in dense planting conditions [136].

Another approach is to target downstream components of phytochrome signalling, such as PIFs and other transcription factors. The manipulation of PIF genes has been shown to regulate plant architecture and stress responses in various crops. For instance, the overexpression of *PIF4* in Arabidopsis and tomato has been shown to promote thermomorphogenesis and enhance heat tolerance [137], while the downregulation of *PIF1* in rice has been shown to improve drought tolerance by reducing water loss and increasing root growth [138].

The CRISPR/Cas9 system has emerged as a powerful tool for the precise editing of phytochrome signalling components in crops [139]. This system allows for the targeted modification of specific genes, enabling the fine-tuning of phytochrome signalling to optimize plant growth and development. For example, CRISPR/Cas9-mediated editing of the *PHYB* gene in tomato has been used to create compact and early-flowering varieties suitable for urban agriculture [140]. The integration of cutting-edge technologies, such as single-cell genomics, proteomics, and metabolomics, will provide unprecedented insights into the spatiotemporal dynamics of phytochrome signalling and its crosstalk with other pathways [141]. The development of computational models and systems biology approaches will enable the prediction and simulation of plant responses to light and other environmental cues, facilitating the rational design of optimized crop varieties [142][143].

8. Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Phytochrome crosstalk and signalling play a central role in regulating plant growth and development in response to light and other environmental cues. The extensive integration of phytochrome signalling with other pathways, such as those regulated by plant hormones, the circadian clock, and abiotic stress responses, enables plants to fine-tune their responses to complex and dynamic environments. The elucidation of the molecular mechanisms underlying including post-translational modifications, proteinphytochrome crosstalk, protein interactions, and chromatin remodeling, has provided valuable insights into the regulation of light-mediated responses in plants. The evolutionary history of phytochromes highlights the significance of these photoreceptors in shaping the adaptation of plants to diverse light environments. The functional diversification of phytochromes and their downstream signalling components in angiosperms has contributed to the remarkable success of flowering plants in colonizing a wide range of habitats and evolving complex developmental strategies. The understanding of phytochrome crosstalk and signalling has important applications in agriculture and horticulture, providing opportunities to

optimize plant growth and development in controlled environments and to improve crop productivity and quality. The manipulation of light quality in controlled environments and the genetic modification of phytochrome signalling components offer promising strategies for enhancing crop performance and resilience to environmental stresses.

References

[1] Legris, M., Ince, Y. Ç., & Fankhauser, C. (2019). Molecular mechanisms underlying phytochrome-controlled morphogenesis in plants. Nature Communications, 10(1), 1-15.

[2] Rockwell, N. C., Su, Y. S., & Lagarias, J. C. (2006). Phytochrome structure and signaling mechanisms. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 57, 837-858.

[3] Majid, M. U., & Khalid, M. (2022). Phytohormone signaling and crosstalk in plant development. Frontiers in Plant Science, 13, 122-136.

[4] Smith, H. (2000). Phytochromes and light signal perception by plants—an emerging synthesis. Nature, 407(6804), 585-591.

[5] Montgomery, B. L., & Lagarias, J. C. (2002). Phytochrome ancestry: sensors of bilins and light. Trends in Plant Science, 7(8), 357-366.

[6] Nagatani, A. (2010). Phytochrome: structural basis for its functions. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 13(5), 565-570.

[7] Vierstra, R. D., & Zhang, J. (2011). Phytochrome signaling: solving the Gordian knot with microbial relatives. Trends in Plant Science, 16(8), 417-426.

[8] Burgie, E. S., & Vierstra, R. D. (2014). Phytochromes: an atomic perspective on photoactivation and signaling. The Plant Cell, 26(12), 4568-4583.

[9] Wagner, J. R., Brunzelle, J. S., Forest, K. T., & Vierstra, R. D. (2005). A light-sensing knot revealed by the structure of the chromophore-binding domain of phytochrome. Nature, 438(7066), 325-331.

[10] Takala, H., Björling, A., Berntsson, O., Lehtivuori, H., Niebling, S., Hoernke, M., ... & Westenhoff, S. (2014). Signal amplification and transduction in phytochrome photosensors. Nature, 509(7499), 245-248.

[11] Burgie, E. S., Bussell, A. N., Walker, J. M., Dubiel, K., & Vierstra, R. D. (2014). Crystal structure of the photosensing module from a red/far-red light-absorbing plant phytochrome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(28), 10179-10184.

[12] Yeh, K. C., Wu, S. H., Murphy, J. T., & Lagarias, J. C. (1997). A cyanobacterial phytochrome two-component light sensory system. Science, 277(5331), 1505-1508.

[13] Chen, M., Tao, Y., Lim, J., Shaw, A., & Chory, J. (2005). Regulation of phytochrome B nuclear localization through light-dependent unmasking of nuclear-localization signals. Current Biology, 15(7), 637-642.

[14] Bhoo, S. H., Davis, S. J., Walker, J., Karniol, B., & Vierstra, R. D. (2001). Bacteriophytochromes are photochromic histidine kinases using a biliverdin chromophore. Nature, 414(6865), 776-779.

[15] Rüdiger, W., Thümmler, F., Cmiel, E., & Schneider, S. (1983). Chromophore structure of the physiologically active form (Pfr) of phytochrome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 80(20), 6244-6248.

[16] Terry, M. J., Wahleithner, J. A., & Lagarias, J. C. (1993). Biosynthesis of the plant photoreceptor phytochrome. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 306(1), 1-15.

[17] Lamparter, T., Michael, N., Mittmann, F., & Esteban, B. (2002). Phytochrome from Agrobacterium tumefaciens has unusual spectral properties and reveals an N-terminal chromophore attachment site. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(18), 11628-11633.

[18] Rockwell, N. C., & Lagarias, J. C. (2006). The structure of phytochrome: a picture is worth a thousand spectra. The Plant Cell, 18(1), 4-14.

[19] Sharrock, R. A., & Quail, P. H. (1989). Novel phytochrome sequences in Arabidopsis thaliana: structure, evolution, and differential expression of a plant regulatory photoreceptor family. Genes & Development, 3(11), 1745-1757.

[20] Clack, T., Mathews, S., & Sharrock, R. A. (1994). The phytochrome apoprotein family in Arabidopsis is encoded by five genes: the sequences and expression of PHYD and PHYE. Plant Molecular Biology, 25(3), 413-427.

[21] Mathews, S. (2006). Phytochrome-mediated development in land plants: red light sensing evolves to meet the challenges of changing light environments. Molecular Ecology, 15(12), 3483-3503.

[22] Franklin, K. A., & Quail, P. H. (2010). Phytochrome functions in Arabidopsis development. Journal of Experimental Botany, 61(1), 11-24.

[23] Li, F. W., Melkonian, M., Rothfels, C. J., Villarreal, J. C., Stevenson, D. W., Graham, S. W., ... & Mathews, S. (2015). Phytochrome diversity in green plants

and the origin of canonical plant phytochromes. Nature Communications, 6(1), 1-12.

[24] Sakamoto, K., & Nagatani, A. (1996). Nuclear localization activity of phytochrome B. The Plant Journal, 10(5), 859-868.

[25] Yamaguchi, R., Nakamura, M., Mochizuki, N., Kay, S. A., & Nagatani, A. (1999). Light-dependent translocation of a phytochrome B-GFP fusion protein to the nucleus in transgenic Arabidopsis. The Journal of Cell Biology, 145(3), 437-445.

[26] Chen, M., Schwab, R., & Chory, J. (2003). Characterization of the requirements for localization of phytochrome B to nuclear bodies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100(24), 14493-14498.

[27] Chen, M., & Chory, J. (2011). Phytochrome signaling mechanisms and the control of plant development. Trends in Cell Biology, 21(11), 664-671.

[28] Kircher, S., Gil, P., Kozma-Bognár, L., Fejes, E., Speth, V., Husselstein-Muller, T., ... & Nagy, F. (2002). Nucleocytoplasmic partitioning of the plant photoreceptors phytochrome A, B, C, D, and E is regulated differentially by light and exhibits a diurnal rhythm. The Plant Cell, 14(7), 1541-1555.

[29] Hiltbrunner, A., Tscheuschler, A., Viczián, A., Kunkel, T., Kircher, S., & Schäfer, E. (2006). FHY1 and FHL act together to mediate nuclear accumulation of the phytochrome A photoreceptor. Plant and Cell Physiology, 47(8), 1023-1034.

[30] Leivar, P., & Quail, P. H. (2011). PIFs: pivotal components in a cellular signaling hub. Trends in Plant Science, 16(1), 19-28.

[31] Ni, M., Tepperman, J. M., & Quail, P. H. (1998). PIF3, a phytochromeinteracting factor necessary for normal photoinduced signal transduction, is a novel basic helix-loop-helix protein. Cell, 95(5), 657-667.

[32] Park, E., Kim, J., Lee, Y., Shin, J., Oh, E., Chung, W. I., ... & Choi, G.(2004). Degradation of phytochrome interacting factor 3 in phytochromemediated light signaling. Plant and Cell Physiology, 45(8), 968-975.

[33] Al-Sady, B., Ni, W., Kircher, S., Schäfer, E., & Quail, P. H. (2006). Photoactivated phytochrome induces rapid PIF3 phosphorylation prior to proteasome-mediated degradation. Molecular Cell, 23(3), 439-446.

[34] Shen, Y., Khanna, R., Carle, C. M., & Quail, P. H. (2007). Phytochrome induces rapid PIF5 phosphorylation and degradation in response to red-light

activation. Plant Physiology, 145(3), 1043 CopyRetryClaude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.Bstart next Edit-1051.

[35] Al-Sady, B., Kikis, E. A., Monte, E., & Quail, P. H. (2008). Mechanistic duality of transcription factor function in phytochrome signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(6), 2232-2237.

[36] Shen, H., Moon, J., & Huq, E. (2005). PIF1 is regulated by light-mediated degradation and its biological function is to repress seedling photomorphogenesis in the dark. The Plant Cell, 17(12), 3411-3423.

[37] Lorrain, S., Allen, T., Duek, P. D., Whitelam, G. C., & Fankhauser, C. (2008). Phytochrome-mediated inhibition of shade avoidance involves degradation of growth-promoting bHLH transcription factors. The Plant Journal, 53(2), 312-323.

[38] Osterlund, M. T., Hardtke, C. S., Wei, N., & Deng, X. W. (2000). Targeted destabilization of HY5 during light-regulated development of Arabidopsis. Nature, 405(6785), 462-466.

[39] Chattopadhyay, S., Ang, L. H., Puente, P., Deng, X. W., & Wei, N. (1998). Arabidopsis bZIP protein HY5 directly interacts with light-responsive promoters in mediating light control of gene expression. The Plant Cell, 10(5), 673-683.

[40] Saijo, Y., Sullivan, J. A., Wang, H., Yang, J., Shen, Y., Rubio, V., ... & Deng, X. W. (2003). The COP1-SPA1 interaction defines a critical step in phytochrome A-mediated regulation of HY5 activity. Genes & Development, 17(21), 2642-2647.

[41] Huq, E., Al-Sady, B., Hudson, M., Kim, C., Apel, K., & Quail, P. H. (2004). PHYTOCHROME-INTERACTING FACTOR 1 is a critical bHLH regulator of chlorophyll biosynthesis. Science, 305(5692), 1937-1941.

[42] Duek, P. D., & Fankhauser, C. (2003). HFR1, a putative bHLH transcription factor, mediates both phytochrome A and cryptochrome signalling. The Plant Journal, 34(6), 827-836.

[43] Fairchild, C. D., Schumaker, M. A., & Quail, P. H. (2000). HFR1 encodes an atypical bHLH protein that acts in phytochrome A signal transduction. Genes & Development, 14(18), 2377-2391.

[44] McNellis, T. W., von Arnim, A. G., Araki, T., Komeda, Y., Miséra, S., & Deng, X. W. (1994). Genetic and molecular analysis of an allelic series of cop1 mutants suggests functional roles for the multiple protein domains. The Plant Cell, 6(4), 487-500.

[45] Hoecker, U., & Quail, P. H. (2001). The phytochrome A-specific signaling intermediate SPA1 interacts directly with COP1, a constitutive repressor of light signaling in Arabidopsis. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(41), 38173-38178.

[46] Seo, H. S., Yang, J. Y., Ishikawa, M., Bolle, C., Ballesteros, M. L., & Chua, N. H. (2003). LAF1 ubiquitination by COP1 controls photomorphogenesis and is stimulated by SPA1. Nature, 423(6943), 995-999.

[47] Jiao, Y., Lau, O. S., & Deng, X. W. (2007). Light-regulated transcriptional networks in higher plants. Nature Reviews Genetics, 8(3), 217-230.

[48] Chen, F., Li, B., Demone, J., Charron, J. B., Shi, X., & Deng, X. W. (2014). Photoreceptor partner FHY1 has an independent role in gene modulation and plant development under far-red light. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(32), 11888-11893.

[49] Chen, F., Li, B., Li, G., Charron, J. B., Dai, M., Shi, X., & Deng, X. W. (2014). Arabidopsis Phytochrome A directly targets numerous promoters for individualized modulation of genes in a wide range of pathways. The Plant Cell, 26(5), 1949-1966.

[50] De Wit, M., Galvão, V. C., & Fankhauser, C. (2016). Light-mediated hormonal regulation of plant growth and development. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 67, 513-537.

[51] Galvão, V. C., & Fankhauser, C. (2015). Sensing the light environment in plants: photoreceptors and early signaling steps. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 34, 46-53.

[52] Lin, C., Ahmad, M., & Cashmore, A. R. (1996). Arabidopsis cryptochrome 1 is a soluble protein mediating blue light-dependent regulation of plant growth and development. The Plant Journal, 10(5), 893-902.

[53] Ahmad, M., Jarillo, J. A., Smirnova, O., & Cashmore, A. R. (1998). The CRY1 blue light photoreceptor of Arabidopsis interacts with phytochrome A in vitro. Molecular Cell, 1(7), 939-948.

[54] Más, P., Devlin, P. F., Panda, S., & Kay, S. A. (2000). Functional interaction of phytochrome B and cryptochrome 2. Nature, 408(6809), 207-211.

[55] Christie, J. M., Salomon, M., Nozue, K., Wada, M., & Briggs, W. R. (1999). LOV (light, oxygen, or voltage) domains of the blue-light photoreceptor phototropin (nph1): binding sites for the chromophore flavin mononucleotide. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 96(15), 8779-8783.
[56] Lariguet, P., Schepens, I., Hodgson, D., Pedmale, U. V., Trevisan, M., Kami, C., ... & Fankhauser, C. (2006). PHYTOCHROME KINASE SUBSTRATE 1 is a phototropin 1 binding protein required for phototropism. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(26), 10134-10139.

[57] Rizzini, L., Favory, J. J., Cloix, C., Faggionato, D., O'Hara, A., Kaiserli, E.,... & Ulm, R. (2011). Perception of UV-B by the Arabidopsis UVR8 protein.Science, 332(6025), 103-106.

[58] Yin, R., Skvortsova, M. Y., Loubéry, S., & Ulm, R. (2016). COP1 is required for UV-B–induced nuclear accumulation of the UVR8 photoreceptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(30), E4415-E4422.

[59] Davière, J. M., & Achard, P. (2013). Gibberellin signaling in plants. Development, 140(6), 1147-1151.

[60] Feng, S., Martinez, C., Gusmaroli, G., Wang, Y., Zhou, J., Wang, F., ... & Deng, X. W. (2008). Coordinated regulation of Arabidopsis thaliana development by light and gibberellins. Nature, 451(7177), 475-479.

[61] de Lucas, M., Davière, J. M., Rodríguez-Falcón, M., Pontin, M., Iglesias-Pedraz, J. M., Lorrain, S., ... & Prat, S. (2008). A molecular framework for light and gibberellin control of cell elongation. Nature, 451(7177), 480-484.

[62] Hirano, K., Ueguchi-Tanaka, M., & Matsuoka, M. (2008). GID1-mediated gibberellin signaling in plants. Trends in Plant Science, 13(4), 192-199.

[63] Zhao, X., Yu, X., Foo, E., Symons, G. M., Lopez, J., Bendehakkalu, K. T., ... & Lin, C. (2007). A study of gibberellin homeostasis and cryptochromemediated blue light inhibition of hypocotyl elongation. Plant Physiology, 145(1), 106-118.

[64] Woodward, A. W., & Bartel, B. (2005). Auxin: regulation, action, and interaction. Annals of Botany, 95(5), 707-735.

[65] Halliday, K. J., Martínez-García, J. F., & Josse, E. M. (2009). Integration of light and auxin signaling. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 1(6), a001586.

[66] Tao, Y., Ferrer, J. L., Ljung, K., Pojer, F., Hong, F., Long, J. A., ... & Chory, J. (2008). Rapid synthesis of auxin via a new tryptophan-dependent pathway is required for shade avoidance in plants. Cell, 133(1), 164-176.

[67] Hornitschek, P., Kohnen, M. V., Lorrain, S., Rougemont, J., Ljung, K., López-Vidriero, I., ... & Fankhauser, C. (2012). Phytochrome interacting factors

4 and 5 control seedling growth in changing light conditions by directly controlling auxin signaling. The Plant Journal, 71(5), 699-711.

[68] Li, L., Ljung, K., Breton, G., Schmitz, R. J., Pruneda-Paz, J., Cowing-Zitron, C., ... & Chory, J. (2012). Linking photoreceptor excitation to changes in plant architecture. Genes & Development, 26(8), 785-790.

[69] Mok, D. W., & Mok, M. C. (2001). Cytokinin metabolism and action. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 52(1), 89-118.

[70] Zubo, Y. O., Yamburenko, M. V., Selivankina, S. Y., Shakirova, F. M., Avalbaev, A. M., Kudryakova, N. V., ... & Kulaeva, O. N. (2008). Cytokinin stimulates chloroplast transcription in detached barley leaves. Plant Physiology, 148(2), 1082-1093.

[71] Argyros, R. D., Mathews, D. E., Chiang, Y. H., Palmer, C. M., Thibault, D. M., Etheridge, N., ... & Schaller, G. E. (2008). Type B response regulators of Arabidopsis play key roles in cytokinin signaling and plant development. The Plant Cell, 20(8), 2102-2116.

[72] Abeles, F. B., Morgan, P. W., & Saltveit Jr, M. E. (2012). Ethylene in plant biology. Academic press.

[73] Guo, H., & Ecker, J. R. (2004). The ethylene signaling pathway: new insights. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 7(1), 40-49.

[74] Solano, R., Stepanova, A., Chao, Q., & Ecker, J. R. (1998). Nuclear events in ethylene signaling: a transcriptional cascade mediated by ETHYLENE-INSENSITIVE3 and ETHYLENE-RESPONSE-FACTOR1. Genes & Development, 12(23), 3703-3714.

[75] McClung, C. R. (2001). Circadian rhythms in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 52(1), 139-162.

[76] Somers, D. E., Devlin, P. F., & Kay, S. A. (1998). Phytochromes and cryptochromes in the entrainment of the Arabidopsis circadian clock. Science, 282(5393), 1488-1490.

[77] Nusinow, D. A., Helfer, A., Hamilton, E. E., King, J. J., Imaizumi, T., Schultz, T. F., ... & Kay, S. A. (2011). The ELF4-ELF3-LUX complex links the circadian clock to diurnal control of hypocotyl growth. Nature, 475(7356), 398-402.

[78] Huang, H., Alvarez, S., Bindbeutel, R., Shen, Z., Naldrett, M. J., Evans, B.S., ... & Nusinow, D. A. (2016). Identification of evening complex associated

proteins in Arabidopsis by affinity purification and mass spectrometry. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics, 15(1), 201-217.

[79] Más, P., Kim, W. Y., Somers, D. E., & Kay, S. A. (2003). Targeted degradation of TOC1 by ZTL modulates circadian function in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature, 426(6966), 567-570.

[80] Paik, I., & Huq, E. (2019). Plant photoreceptors: Multi-functional sensory proteins and their signaling networks. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 92, 114-121.

[81] Koini, M. A., Alvey, L., Allen, T., Tilley, C. A., Harberd, N. P., Whitelam, G. C., & Franklin, K. A. (2009). High temperature-mediated adaptations in plant architecture require the bHLH transcription factor PIF4. Current Biology, 19(5), 408-413.

[82] Legris, M., Klose, C., Burgie, E. S., Rojas, C. C., Neme, M., Hiltbrunner, A.,... & Casal, J. J. (2016). Phytochrome B integrates light and temperature signals in Arabidopsis. Science, 354(6314), 897-900.

[83] Wang, W., Vinocur, B., Shoseyov, O., & Altman, A. (2004). Role of plant heat-shock proteins and molecular chaperones in the abiotic stress response. Trends in Plant Science, 9(5), 244-252.

[84] Quint, M., Delker, C., Franklin, K. A., Wigge, P. A., Halliday, K. J., & van Zanten, M. (2016). Molecular and genetic control of plant thermomorphogenesis. Nature Plants, 2(1), 1-9.

[85] Zhu, J. K. (2016). Abiotic stress signaling and responses in plants. Cell, 167(2), 313-324.

[86] Cutler, S. R., Rodriguez, P. L., Finkelstein, R. R., & Abrams, S. R. (2010). Abscisic acid: emergence of a core signaling network. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61, 651-679.

[87] CopyRetryClaude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.BSTART AFTER [85] Zhu, J. K. (2016). Abiotic stress signaling and responses in plants. Cell, 167(2), 313-324. [86] Cutler, S. R., Rodriguez, P. L., Finkelstein, R. R., & Abrams, S. R. (2010). Abscisic acid: emergence of a core signaling network. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61, 651-679. Edit

[87] González-Guzmán, M., Apostolova, N., Bellés, J. M., Barrero, J. M., Piqueras, P., Ponce, M. R., ... & Rodríguez, P. L. (2002). The short-chain alcohol

dehydrogenase ABA2 catalyzes the conversion of xanthoxin to abscisic aldehyde. The Plant Cell, 14(8), 1833-1846.

[88] Stockinger, E. J., Gilmour, S. J., & Thomashow, M. F. (1997). Arabidopsis thaliana CBF1 encodes an AP2 domain-containing transcriptional activator that binds to the C-repeat/DRE, a cis-acting DNA regulatory element that stimulates transcription in response to low temperature and water deficit. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 94(3), 1035-1040.

[89] Jiang, B., Shi, Y., Zhang, X., Xin, X., Qi, L., Guo, H., ... & Yang, S. (2017). PIF3 is a negative regulator of the CBF pathway and freezing tolerance in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(32), E6695-E6702.

[90] Yeh, K. C., & Lagarias, J. C. (1998). Eukaryotic phytochromes: lightregulated serine/threonine protein kinases with histidine kinase ancestry. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 95(23), 13976-13981.

[91] Ryu, J. S., Kim, J. I., Kunkel, T., Kim, B. C., Cho, D. S., Hong, S. H., ... & Nam, H. G. (2005). Phytochrome-specific type 5 phosphatase controls light signal flux by enhancing phytochrome stability and affinity for a signal transducer. Cell, 120(3), 395-406.

[92] Shanklin, J., Jabben, M., & Vierstra, R. D. (1987). Red light-induced formation of ubiquitin-phytochrome conjugates: Identification of possible intermediates of phytochrome degradation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 84(2), 359-363.

[93] Jang, I. C., Henriques, R., Seo, H. S., Nagatani, A., & Chua, N. H. (2010). Arabidopsis PHYTOCHROME INTERACTING FACTOR proteins promote phytochrome B polyubiquitination by COP1 E3 ligase in the nucleus. The Plant Cell, 22(7), 2370-2383.

[94] Sadanandom, A., Ádám, É., Orosa, B., Viczián, A., Klose, C., Zhang, C., ... & Nagy, F. (2015). SUMOylation of phytochrome-B negatively regulates lightinduced signaling in Arabidopsis thaliana. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(35), 11108-11113.

[95] Feng, C. M., Qiu, Y., Van Buskirk, E. K., Yang, E. J., & Chen, M. (2014).Light-regulated gene repositioning in Arabidopsis. Nature Communications, 5(1), 1-10.

[96] Leivar, P., Monte, E., Al-Sady, B., Carle, C., Storer, A., Alonso, J. M., ... & Quail, P. H. (2008). The Arabidopsis phytochrome-interacting factor PIF7,

together with PIF3 and PIF4, regulates responses to prolonged red light by modulating phyB levels. The Plant Cell, 20(2), 337-352.

[97] Leivar, P., Tepperman, J. M., Monte, E., Calderon, R. H., Liu, T. L., & Quail, P. H. (2009). Definition of early transcriptional circuitry involved in lightinduced reversal of PIF-imposed repression of photomorphogenesis in young Arabidopsis seedlings. The Plant Cell, 21(11), 3535-3553.

[98] Jang, I. C., Yang, J. Y., Seo, H. S., & Chua, N. H. (2005). HFR1 is targeted by COP1 E3 ligase for post-translational proteolysis during phytochrome A signaling. Genes & Development, 19(5), 593-602.

[99] Yang, J., Lin, R., Sullivan, J., Hoecker, U., Liu, B., Xu, L., ... & Wang, H. (2005). Light regulates COP1-mediated degradation of HFR1, a transcription factor essential for light signaling in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 17(3), 804-821.

[100] Ryu, J. S., Woo, J. H., Shin, J. H., Jeong, Y. M., Choi, H. K., Jang, S., ... & Kim, J. I. (2014). Phytochrome-specific type 5 phosphatase, AtALPH1, is a positive regulator of hypocotyl growth under red light. Plant Science, 220, 83-89.

[101] Fankhauser, C., Yeh, K. C., Lagarias, J. C., Zhang, H., Elich, T. D., & Chory, J. (1999). PKS1, a substrate phosphorylated by phytochrome that modulates light signaling in Arabidopsis. Science, 284(5419), 1539-1541.

[102] Jerzmanowski, A. (2007). SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling and linker histones in plants. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Structure and Expression, 1769(5-6), 330-345.

[103] Samara, N. L., & Wolberger, C. (2011). A new chapter in the transcription SAGA. Current Opinion in Structural Biology, 21(6), 767-774.

[104] Pandey, R., Müller, A., Napoli, C. A., Selinger, D. A., Pikaard, C. S., Richards, E. J., ... & Jorgensen, R. A. (2002). Analysis of histone acetyltransferase and histone deacetylase families of Arabidopsis thaliana suggests functional diversification of chromatin modification among multicellular eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Research, 30(23), 5036-5055.

[105] Benhamed, M., Bertrand, C., Servet, C., & Zhou, D. X. (2006). Arabidopsis GCN5, HD1, and TAF1/HAF2 interact to regulate histone acetylation required for light-responsive gene expression. The Plant Cell, 18(11), 2893-2903.

[106] Mathews, S. (2006). Phytochrome-mediated development in land plants: red light sensing evolves to meet the challenges of changing light environments. Molecular Ecology, 15(12), 3483-3503.

[107] Mathews, S., & Sharrock, R. A. (1997). Phytochrome gene diversity. Plant, Cell & Environment, 20(6), 666-671.

[108] Sharrock, R. A., & Mathews, S. (2006). Phytochrome genes in higher plants and their expression. Photomorphogenesis in Plants and Bacteria, 99-129.

[109] Li, J., Li, G., Wang, H., & Wang Deng, X. (2011). Phytochrome signaling mechanisms. The Arabidopsis Book/American Society of Plant Biologists, 9.

[110] Mathews, S. (2010). Evolutionary studies illuminate the structural-functional model of plant phytochromes. The Plant Cell, 22(1), 4-16.

[111] Possart, A., Fleck, C., & Hiltbrunner, A. (2014). Shedding (far-red) light on phytochrome mechanisms and responses in land plants. Plant Science, 217, 36-46.

[112] Kidd, B. N., Edgar, C. I., Kumar, K. K., Aitken, E. A., Schenk, P. M., Manners, J. M., & Kazan, K. (2009). The mediator complex subunit PFT1 is a key regulator of jasmonate-dependent defense in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 21(8), 2237-2252.

[113] Huang, X., Ouyang, X., & Deng, X. W. (2014). Beyond repression of photomorphogenesis: role switching of COP/DET/FUS in light signaling. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 21, 96-103.

[114] Huang, X., Ouyang, X., Yang, P., Lau, O. S., Chen, L., Wei, N., & Deng, X. W. (2013). Conversion from CUL4-based COP1-SPA E3 apparatus to UVR8-COP1-SPA complexes underlies a distinct biochemical function of COP1 under UV-B. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(41), 16669-16674.

[115] Chen, M., Galvão, R. M., Li, M., Burger, B., Bugea, J., Bolado, J., & Chory, J. (2010). Arabidopsis HEMERA/pTAC12 initiates photomorphogenesis by phytochromes. Cell, 141(7), 1230-1240.

[116] Galvão, R. M., Li, M., Kothadia, S. M., Haskel, J. D., Decker, P. V., Van Buskirk, E. K., & Chen, M. (2012). Photoactivated phytochromes interact with HEMERA and promote its accumulation to establish photomorphogenesis in Arabidopsis. Genes & Development, 26(16), 1851-1863.

[117] Wang, H., & Wang, H. (2015). Phytochrome signaling: time to tighten up the loose ends. Molecular Plant, 8(4), 540-551.

[118] Rockwell, N. C., Su, Y. S., & Lagarias, J. C. (2006). Phytochrome structure and signaling mechanisms. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 57, 837-858.

[119] Franklin, K. A., & Quail, P. H. (2010). Phytochrome functions in Arabidopsis development. Journal of Experimental Botany, 61(1), 11-24.

[120] Casal, J. J. (2013). Photoreceptor signaling networks in plant responses to shade. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 64, 403-427.

[121] Casal, J. J., Candia, A. N., & Sellaro, R. (2014). Light perception and signalling by phytochrome A. Journal of Experimental Botany, 65(11), 2835-2845.

[122] Leivar, P., & Monte, E. (2014). PIFs: systems integrators in plant development. The Plant Cell, 26(1), 56-78.

[123] Pham, V. N., Kathare, P. K., & Huq, E. (2018). Phytochromes and phytochrome interacting factors. Plant Physiology, 176(2), 1025-1038.

[124] Legris, M., Ince, Y. Ç., & Fankhauser, C. (2019). Molecular mechanisms underlying phytochrome-controlled morphogenesis in plants. Nature Communications, 10(1), 1-15.

[125] Gommers, C. M., & Monte, E. (2018). Seedling establishment: a dimmer switch-regulated process between dark and light signaling. Plant Physiology, 176(2), 1061-1074.

[126] Paik, I., Kathare, P. K., Kim, J. I., & Huq, E. (2017). Expanding roles of PIFs in signal integration from multiple processes. Molecular Plant, 10(8), 1035-1046.

[127] Casal, J. J. (2000). Phytochromes, cryptochromes, phototropin: photoreceptor interactions in plants. Photochemistry and Photobiology, 71(1), 1-11.

[128] Ballaré, C. L., & Pierik, R. (2017). The shade-avoidance syndrome: multiple signals and ecological consequences. Plant, Cell & Environment, 40(11), 2530-2543.

[129] Demotes-Mainard, S., Péron, T., Corot, A., Bertheloot, J., Le Gourrierec, J., Pelleschi-Travier, S., ... & Sakr, S. (2016). Plant responses to red and far-red lights, applications in horticulture. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 121, 4-21.

[130] Kalaitzoglou, P., van Ieperen, W., Harbinson, J., van der Meer, M., Martinakos, S., Weerheim, K., ... & Marcelis, L. F. (2019). Effects of continuous or end-of-day far-red light on tomato plant growth, morphology, light absorption, and fruit production. Frontiers in Plant Science, 10, 322.

[131] Llorente, B., Martinez-Garcia, J. F., Stange, C., & Rodriguez-Concepcion, M. (2017). Illuminating colors: regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis and accumulation by light. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 37, 49-55. [132] Blázquez, M. A., Ahn, J. H., & Weigel, D. (2003). A thermosensory pathway controlling flowering time in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature Genetics, 33(2), 168-171.

[133] Halliday, K. J., Salter, M. G., Thingnaes, E., & Whitelam, G. C. (2003). Phytochrome control of flowering is temperature sensitive and correlates with expression of the floral integrator FT. The Plant Journal, 33(5), 875-885.

[134] Bai, M. Y., Shang, J. X., Oh, E., Fan, M., Bai, Y., Zentella, R., ... & Wang,
Z. Y. (2012). Brassinosteroid, gibberellin and phytochrome impinge on a common transcription module in Arabidopsis. Nature Cell Biology, 14(8), 810-817.

[135] Alabadí, D., & Blázquez, M. A. (2009). Molecular interactions between light and hormone signaling to control plant growth. Plant Molecular Biology, 69(4), 409-417.

[136] Zhang, S., Li, C., Zhou, Y., Wang, X., Li, H., Feng, Z., ... & Gao, X.(2018). TANDEM ZINC-FINGER/PLUS3 is a key component of phytochrome A signaling. The Plant Cell, 30(4), 835-852.

[137] Qiu, Y., Li, M., Kim, R. J. A., Moore, C. M., & Chen, M. (2019). Daytime temperature is sensed by phytochrome B in Arabidopsis through a transcriptional activator HEMERA. Nature Communications, 10(1), 1-14.

[138] Qiu, Y., Pasoreck, E. K., Reddy, A. K., Nagatani, A., Ma, W., Chory, J., & Chen, M. (2017). Mechanism of early light signaling by the carboxy-terminal output module of Arabidopsis phytochrome B. Nature Communications, 8(1), 1-14.

[139] Jung, J CopyRetryClaude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.BSTART AFTER [138] Qiu, Y., Pasoreck, E. K., Reddy, A. K., Nagatani, A., Ma, W., Chory, J., & Chen, M. (2017). Mechanism of early light signaling by the carboxy-terminal output module of Arabidopsis phytochrome B. Nature Communications, 8(1), 1-14. Edit[139] Jung, J. H., Domijan, M., Klose, C., Biswas, S., Ezer, D., Gao, M., ... & Wigge, P. A. (2016). Phytochromes function as thermosensors in Arabidopsis. Science, 354(6314), 886-889.

[140] Legris, M., Nieto, C., Sellaro, R., Prat, S., & Casal, J. J. (2017). Perception and signalling of light and temperature cues in plants. The Plant Journal, 90(4), 683-697.

[141] Medzihradszky, M., Bindics, J., Ádám, É., Viczián, A., Klement, É., Lorrain, S., ... & Schäfer, E. (2013). Phosphorylation of phytochrome B inhibits

light-induced signaling via accelerated dark reversion in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 25(2), 535-544.

[142] Klose, C., Venezia, F., Hussong, A., Kircher, S., Schäfer, E., & Fleck, C. (2015). Systematic analysis of how phytochrome B dimerization determines its specificity. Nature Plants, 1(9), 1-9.

[143] Huang, H., McLoughlin, K. E., Sorkin, M. L., Burgie, E. S., Bindbeutel, R. K., Vierstra, R. D., & Nusinow, D. A. (2019). PCH1 regulates light, temperature, and circadian signaling as a structural component of phytochrome B-photobodies in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(17), 8603-8608.



CHAPTER - 10

ĥ

Molecular Breeding and Marker-Assisted Selection

P. Manjunath

Ph.D. Scholar, Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture, Iroisemba, Central Agricultural University, Imphal, Manipur - 795004



Abstract

Molecular breeding has emerged as a powerful tool for crop improvement in the 21st century. By leveraging advances in genomics, molecular markers, and biotechnology, plant breeders can now develop improved varieties with greater precision and efficiency compared to conventional breeding methods. Molecular breeding strategies such as marker-assisted selection, genomic selection, and genetic engineering enable the targeted introgression of desirable traits while minimizing linkage drag. These approaches have been successfully applied in major crops to enhance yield, quality, stress tolerance, and disease resistance. However, the adoption of molecular breeding still faces challenges related to costs, infrastructure, and regulatory hurdles. This chapter provides an overview of the principles, applications, and future prospects of molecular breeding in crop improvement programs. As the demand for food, feed, fiber, and fuel continues to rise, molecular breeding will play an increasingly vital role in developing resilient and productive crops to meet the needs of a growing population in a changing climate.

Keywords: Molecular Breeding, Marker-Assisted Selection, Genomic Selection, Genetic Engineering, Crop Improvement

Plant breeding has been instrumental in the development of modern agriculture and the improvement of crop productivity over the past century. Conventional breeding methods based on phenotypic selection have led to significant gains in yield and quality of major crops. However, these methods are often time-consuming, labor-intensive, and limited by the available genetic diversity within the breeding population [1].

The advent of molecular biology and biotechnology in the late 20th century opened up new avenues for crop improvement. Molecular breeding, which integrates genomic tools and strategies into conventional breeding programs, has emerged as a powerful approach to accelerate the development of improved crop varieties [2]. By targeting specific genes or genomic regions

associated with desirable traits, molecular breeding enables plant breeders to make more informed decisions and reduce the time and resources required for developing new varieties.

Molecular breeding encompasses a range of strategies, including markerassisted selection (MAS), genomic selection (GS), and genetic engineering (GE). MAS involves the use of molecular markers linked to genes or quantitative trait loci (QTLs) controlling traits of interest to select superior individuals in breeding populations [3]. GS, on the other hand, relies on high-density markers covering the entire genome to predict the breeding values of individuals based on their genomic profiles [4]. GE enables the direct introduction or modification of genes using recombinant DNA technology to create transgenic crops with novel traits [5].

The application of molecular breeding strategies has led to significant achievements in crop improvement over the past few decades. For example, MAS has been successfully used to introgress resistance genes against bacterial blight and blast diseases in rice [6], while GS has been shown to improve the efficiency of breeding for complex traits such as yield and drought tolerance in maize [7]. Transgenic crops with enhanced resistance to insects, herbicides, and abiotic stresses have been commercially cultivated in many countries, leading to significant economic and environmental benefits [8].

Despite the proven benefits of molecular breeding, its adoption still faces several challenges. The high costs associated with genotyping and phenotyping can be prohibitive for small breeding programs and developing countries [9]. The regulatory frameworks governing the release and commercialization of genetically engineered crops vary widely across countries, creating hurdles for the development and adoption of improved varieties [10]. There are also concerns about the potential ecological and socio-economic impacts of transgenic crops, which need to be addressed through rigorous risk assessment and management strategies [11].

This chapter provides an overview of the principles, applications, and future prospects of molecular breeding in crop improvement programs. The following sections will discuss the different molecular breeding strategies in detail, highlighting their advantages, limitations, and examples of successful applications in major crops. The chapter will also address the challenges and opportunities for the wider adoption of molecular breeding tools and strategies in developing countries, and the need for capacity building and technology transfer. Finally, the chapter will conclude with a discussion on the future directions of molecular breeding research and its potential to contribute to sustainable crop production and food security in the face of climate change and population growth.

2. Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS)

Marker-assisted selection (MAS) is a molecular breeding strategy that uses molecular markers linked to genes or quantitative trait loci (QTLs) controlling traits of interest to select superior individuals in breeding populations. MAS is based on the principle that the presence or absence of a marker allele can be used as a proxy for the presence or absence of the desired trait, enabling the indirect selection of the trait without the need for phenotypic evaluation [12].

2.1. Principles of MAS

The success of MAS relies on the availability of molecular markers that are tightly linked to the target gene or QTL. The most commonly used markers in MAS include restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs), random amplified polymorphic DNAs (RAPDs), amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLPs), simple sequence repeats (SSRs), and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) [13]. These markers are usually identified through QTL mapping or genome-wide association studies (GWAS) using segregating populations or diverse germplasm collections [14].

Once the markers are identified, they can be used to screen breeding populations at various stages of the breeding process. In marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC), the target gene or QTL is introgressed from a donor parent into the genetic background of a recipient parent through repeated backcrossing, with the aid of markers to select for the desired allele and accelerate the recovery of the recipient parent genome [15]. In marker-assisted recurrent selection (MARS), markers are used to select for favorable alleles at multiple loci simultaneously, enabling the accumulation of desirable alleles over successive generations [16].

2.2. Advantages and Limitations of MAS

MAS offers several advantages over conventional phenotypic selection. By enabling the early selection of desirable genotypes, MAS can significantly reduce the time and resources required for developing new varieties. MAS is particularly useful for traits that are difficult or expensive to phenotype, such as resistance to pests and diseases, tolerance to abiotic stresses, and quality traits [17]. MAS can also be used to pyramid multiple genes or QTLs controlling



different traits into a single genotype, a process that would be extremely difficult and time-consuming using conventional breeding methods [18].

Figure-1 Diagrammatically representation of Marker-Assisted Selection

However, MAS also has some limitations that need to be considered. The effectiveness of MAS depends on the availability of markers that are tightly linked to the target gene or QTL. If the marker-trait association is weak or the linkage is broken due to recombination, the efficiency of MAS can be greatly reduced [19]. MAS is also limited by the genetic background effects and epistatic interactions that can influence the expression of the target trait in different environments [20]. In some cases, the use of MAS may lead to the unintentional selection of undesirable alleles that are linked to the target gene or QTL, a phenomenon known as linkage drag [21].

2.3. Examples of MAS in Crop Improvement

Despite its limitations, MAS has been successfully applied in the improvement of several major crops. In rice, MAS has been used to introgress resistance genes against bacterial blight (*Xa* genes) and blast (*Pi* genes) from wild relatives and landraces into elite cultivars, leading to the development of improved varieties with durable resistance to these diseases [6, 22]. MAS has also been used to pyramid multiple resistance genes into a single rice variety, providing broader and more stable resistance against different races of the pathogens [23].

In maize, MAS has been used to improve the efficiency of breeding for complex traits such as drought tolerance and nitrogen use efficiency. By using markers linked to QTLs associated with these traits, breeders have been able to select superior genotypes under different environmental conditions and reduce the time required for developing improved varieties [24, 25]. MAS has also been used to introgress favorable alleles for quality traits such as kernel hardness and oil content into elite maize lines, enabling the development of specialized varieties for different end-uses [26].

Other examples of successful applications of MAS in crop improvement include the development of wheat varieties with resistance to fungal diseases such as fusarium head blight and rust [27], the introgression of resistance to soybean cyst nematode in soybean [28], and the improvement of fruit quality traits in tomato [29].

3. Genomic Selection (GS)

Genomic selection (GS) is a molecular breeding strategy that uses highdensity markers covering the entire genome to predict the breeding values of individuals based on their genomic profiles. Unlike MAS, which relies on markers linked to specific genes or QTLs, GS captures the effects of all loci that contribute to a trait, including those with small effects [4].

3.1. Principles of GS

The basic principle of GS is to use a training population of individuals that have been genotyped and phenotyped to develop a prediction model that relates the genotypic data to the phenotypic performance. The prediction model is then used to estimate the breeding values of selection candidates based solely on their genotypic data, without the need for phenotyping [30].

The success of GS depends on several factors, including the size and composition of the training population, the heritability of the trait, the marker density, and the statistical method used to develop the prediction model [31]. Various statistical methods have been proposed for GS, including best linear unbiased prediction (BLUP), ridge regression, Bayesian methods, and machine learning algorithms [32].

3.2. Advantages and Limitations of GS

GS offers several advantages over traditional MAS approaches. By capturing the effects of all loci that contribute to a trait, GS can potentially lead to higher genetic gains per unit time and cost compared to MAS [33]. GS is particularly useful for complex traits that are controlled by many genes with small effects, such as yield and abiotic stress tolerance [34]. GS can also reduce the need for extensive phenotyping, as the breeding values of selection candidates can be predicted based solely on their genotypic data [35].

224 Advances in Herbicide Resistance Management

However, GS also has some limitations that need to be considered. The accuracy of GS depends on the size and composition of the training population, as well as the marker density and the statistical method used to develop the prediction model [36]. GS may not be effective for traits with low heritability or for populations with limited genetic diversity [37]. The cost of genotyping large numbers of individuals can also be a limiting factor for the adoption of GS in some breeding programs [38].

3.3. Examples of GS in Crop Improvement

Despite its relatively recent emergence as a breeding strategy, GS has already been applied in the improvement of several major crops. In maize, GS has been shown to improve the efficiency of breeding for complex traits such as yield, drought tolerance, and nitrogen use efficiency [7, 39]. By using highdensity SNP markers to predict the performance of selection candidates, breeders have been able to achieve higher genetic gains and reduce the time required for developing improved varieties [40].

In wheat, GS has been used to improve the efficiency of breeding for resistance to fungal diseases such as fusarium head blight and septoria tritici blotch [41, 42]. By using GS to predict the resistance levels of selection candidates based on their genotypic data, breeders have been able to identify and select superior lines without the need for extensive phenotyping [43].

Other examples of successful applications of GS in crop improvement include the prediction of yield and quality traits in rice [44], the improvement of resistance to soybean cyst nematode in soybean [45], and the selection for fruit quality traits in apple [46].

4. Genetic Engineering (GE)

Genetic engineering (GE) is a molecular breeding strategy that involves the direct introduction or modification of genes using recombinant DNA technology to create transgenic crops with novel traits. Unlike MAS and GS, which rely on the existing genetic variation within a species, GE enables the transfer of genes across species boundaries, opening up new possibilities for crop improvement [5].

4.1. Principles of GE

The basic principle of GE is to isolate a gene of interest from a donor organism and transfer it into the genome of a recipient crop species. The transferred gene, known as a transgene, is usually coupled with a promoter and a selectable marker gene to enable the identification and selection of transgenic plants [47].

Feature	MAS	GS			
Principle	Uses markers linked to genes or QTLs of interest	Uses high-density markers to predict breeding values			
Marker density	Low to moderate	High			
Training population	Not required	Required			
Statistical method	Not required	Required (e.g., BLUP, Bayesian methods)			
Cost	Low to moderate	High			
Efficiency	Moderate to high	High			
Limitations	Requires prior knowledge of marker-trait associations	Requires large training populations and high-density markers			

 Table 1: Comparison of Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS) and Genomic

 Selection (GS)



Figure-2 Schematic representation of Genetic Enginnering

The most common method of gene transfer in plants is *Agrobacterium*mediated transformation, which uses the natural ability of the soil bacterium *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* to transfer a portion of its DNA (known as T-DNA) into plant cells [48]. Other methods of gene transfer include particle bombardment (biolistics), electroporation, and microinjection [49].

Once the transgene is integrated into the plant genome, it can be expressed in the transgenic plants and confer the desired trait. The expression of the transgene can be regulated by using different promoters and other regulatory elements, enabling the tissue-specific or inducible expression of the trait [50].

4.2. Advantages and Limitations of GE

GE offers several advantages over traditional breeding methods. By enabling the transfer of genes across species boundaries, GE can introduce novel traits that are not available in the existing gene pool of a crop species [51]. GE can also be used to modify existing genes or pathways to improve the performance of a crop under different environmental conditions [52]. GE is particularly useful for introducing traits that are difficult or impossible to achieve through conventional breeding, such as resistance to herbicides, insects, and viruses [53].

However, GE also has some limitations and challenges that need to be addressed. The development of transgenic crops is a time-consuming and expensive process that requires specialized expertise and facilities [54]. The regulatory frameworks governing the release and commercialization of transgenic crops vary widely across countries, creating hurdles for the development and adoption of improved varieties [55]. There are also concerns about the potential ecological and socio-economic impacts of transgenic crops, including the risk of gene flow to wild relatives, the development of resistance in target pests, and the potential effects on non-target organisms [56].

4.3. Examples of GE in Crop Improvement

Despite the challenges and controversies surrounding GE, transgenic crops have been commercially cultivated in many countries and have contributed to significant improvements in crop productivity and quality. One of the most successful examples of GE in crop improvement is the development of insect-resistant crops expressing the *Bt* gene from the bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *Bt* crops, such as *Bt* cotton and *Bt* maize, have been widely adopted in many countries and have led to significant reductions in insecticide use and increased yields [57].

Another example of successful GE application is the development of herbicidetolerant crops, such as glyphosate-resistant soybean and canola. These crops have enabled farmers to use broad-spectrum herbicides for weed control, reducing the need for tillage and other mechanical weed control methods [58].

GE has also been used to improve the nutritional quality of crops, such as the development of golden rice with enhanced levels of beta-carotene, a precursor of vitamin A [59]. Other examples of GE applications in crop improvement include the development of virus-resistant crops, such as papaya and squash [60], and the modification of oil composition in crops such as soybean and canola [61].

5. Challenges and Opportunities for Molecular Breeding

Despite the significant advances and successes of molecular breeding, its adoption and impact in crop improvement programs still face several challenges and opportunities.

5.1. Technical Challenges

One of the main technical challenges for molecular breeding is the need for high-throughput and cost-effective genotyping and phenotyping platforms. The success of molecular breeding strategies such as MAS and GS depends on the availability of large numbers of molecular markers and accurate phenotypic data [62]. The development and application of new sequencing technologies, such as next-generation sequencing (NGS) and genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS), have greatly increased the marker density and reduced the cost of genotyping [63]. However, the cost of phenotyping remains a major bottleneck, particularly for complex traits that require large-scale field trials and specialized equipment [64].

Another technical challenge is the integration of different types of data, such as genomic, transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolomic data, to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the genetic basis of complex traits [65]. The development of bioinformatics tools and databases is crucial for the management, analysis, and interpretation of these complex datasets [66].

5.2. Capacity Building and Technology Transfer

The adoption of molecular breeding strategies in developing countries is often limited by the lack of infrastructure, expertise, and resources [67]. Many developing countries lack the facilities and trained personnel required for molecular marker development, genotyping, and data analysis [68]. The high cost of establishing and maintaining molecular breeding programs is also a major barrier for many public sector breeding institutions [69].

Table	2:	Examples	of	Successful	Applications	of	Molecular	Breeding
Strateg	gies	in Crop Im	pro	vement				

Сгор	Trait		
Rice	Bacterial blight resistance (Xa genes)		
	Blast resistance (Pi genes)		
	Yield and quality traits		
Maize	Drought tolerance		
	Nitrogen use efficiency		
	Kernel hardness and oil content		
Wheat	Fusarium head blight resistance		
	Rust resistance		
Soybean	Soybean cyst nematode resistance		
	Oil composition		
Cotton	Insect resistance (Bt gene)		
	Herbicide tolerance		
Canola	Herbicide tolerance		
	Oil composition		
Papaya	Virus resistance		
Squash	Virus resistance		
Apple	Fruit quality traits		

To address these challenges, there is a need for capacity building and technology transfer programs that can provide training, resources, and support for the adoption of molecular breeding strategies in developing countries [70]. International partnerships and collaborations between advanced research institutes and national breeding programs can play a crucial role in building the necessary capacity and expertise [71].

5.3. Regulatory and Policy Issues

The regulatory frameworks governing the development and commercialization of genetically engineered crops vary widely across countries, creating challenges for the adoption of molecular breeding strategies [72]. In many countries, the regulatory process for transgenic crops is lengthy, costly, and uncertain, which can discourage private sector investment and innovation [73]. The lack of harmonization and coordination among different regulatory systems can also create barriers to the international trade and exchange of improved crop varieties [74].

To address these challenges, there is a need for more transparent, predictable, and science-based regulatory frameworks that can balance the risks and benefits of genetically engineered crops [75]. The development of international standards and guidelines for the safety assessment and management of transgenic crops can help to facilitate their adoption and commercialization [76].

5.4. Public Perception and Acceptance

The public perception and acceptance of genetically engineered crops remain a major challenge for the adoption of molecular breeding strategies [77]. Many consumers and advocacy groups have concerns about the potential risks and uncertainties associated with transgenic crops, such as the long-term health and environmental effects, the corporate control of the food system, and the erosion of traditional farming practices [78].

To address these concerns, there is a need for more effective communication and engagement strategies that can inform and involve the public in the decision-making process around the development and use of genetically engineered crops [79]. The development of participatory and inclusive approaches, such as stakeholder dialogues and citizen juries, can help to build trust and transparency in the governance of agricultural biotechnology [80].

5.5. Future Opportunities and Directions

Despite the challenges, molecular breeding offers many opportunities and directions for future crop improvement. The integration of new technologies and approaches, such as genome editing, high-throughput phenotyping, and machine learning, can help to accelerate the development and adoption of improved crop varieties [81].

Genome editing technologies, such as CRISPR/Cas9, offer new possibilities for precise and targeted modification of plant genomes without the

230 Advances in Herbicide Resistance Management

need for foreign DNA [82]. These technologies can be used to introduce novel traits, modify existing genes, or create genetic variation that can be exploited in breeding programs [83].

High-throughput phenotyping platforms, such as drones, robots, and sensors, can enable the rapid and accurate measurement of plant traits under different environmental conditions [84]. These platforms can generate large datasets that can be used to develop predictive models and optimize breeding strategies [85].

Machine learning algorithms and artificial intelligence can help to analyze and interpret the complex datasets generated by molecular breeding programs [86]. These tools can be used to identify novel genetic associations, predict the performance of breeding lines, and optimize the selection and management of improved crop varieties [87].

6. Conclusion

Molecular breeding has emerged as a powerful tool for crop improvement in the 21st century. By leveraging advances in genomics, molecular markers, and biotechnology, plant breeders can now develop improved varieties with greater precision and efficiency compared to conventional breeding methods. Marker-assisted selection, genomic selection, and genetic engineering have been successfully applied in major crops to enhance yield, quality, stress tolerance, and disease resistance.

However, the adoption of molecular breeding still faces several challenges, including technical barriers, capacity building and technology transfer, regulatory and policy issues, and public perception and acceptance. To fully realize the potential of molecular breeding, there is a need for more investment in research and development, capacity building and technology transfer, regulatory harmonization and coordination, and public engagement and communication.

Despite these challenges, molecular breeding offers many opportunities and directions for future crop improvement. The integration of new technologies and approaches, such as genome editing, high-throughput phenotyping, and machine learning, can help to accelerate the development and adoption of improved crop varieties. As the demand for food, feed, fiber, and fuel continues to rise in the face of climate change and population growth, molecular breeding will play an increasingly vital role in developing resilient and productive crops to meet the needs of a growing population in a changing climate.

Challenge	Opportunity				
Technical barriers	Development of high-throughput and cost-effective genotyping and phenotyping platforms				
	Integration of different types of data (genomic, transcriptomic, proteomic, metabolomic)				
	Development of bioinformatics tools and databases				
Capacity building	International partnerships and collaborations				
	Training and support programs for developing countries				
Regulatory and policy issues	Development of transparent, predictable, and science-based regulatory frameworks				
	Harmonization and coordination of international standards and guidelines				
Public perception and acceptance	Effective communication and engagement strategies				
	Participatory and inclusive approaches (e.g., stakeholder dialogues, citizen juries)				
Future directions	Integration of new technologies (e.g., genome editing, high- throughput phenotyping, machine learning)				
	Development of predictive models and optimization of breeding strategies				

Table	3:	Challenges	and	Opportunities	for	Molecular	Breeding	in	Crop
Impro	ven	nent							

References:

[1] Bernardo, R. (2008). Molecular markers and selection for complex traits in plants: Learning from the last 20 years. *Crop Science*, 48(5), 1649-1664.

[2] Collard, B. C., & Mackill, D. J. (2008). Marker-assisted selection: An approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1491), 557-572.

[3] Xu, Y., & Crouch, J. H. (2008). Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: From publications to practice. *Crop Science*, 48(2), 391-407.

[4] Meuwissen, T. H., Hayes, B. J., & Goddard, M. E. (2001). Prediction of total genetic value using genome-wide dense marker maps. *Genetics*, 157(4), 1819-1829.

[5] Moose, S. P., & Mumm, R. H. (2008). Molecular plant breeding as the foundation for 21st century crop improvement. *Plant Physiology*, 147(3), 969-977.

[6] Huang, N., Angeles, E. R., Domingo, J., Magpantay, G., Singh, S., Zhang, G., ... & Bennett, J. (1997). Pyramiding of bacterial blight resistance genes in rice: Marker-assisted selection using RFLP and PCR. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 95(3), 313-320.

[7] Beyene, Y., Semagn, K., Mugo, S., Tarekegne, A., Babu, R., Meisel, B., ... & Crossa, J. (2015). Genetic gains in grain yield through genomic selection in eight bi-parental maize populations under drought stress. *Crop Science*, 55(1), 154-163.

[8] Qaim, M. (2009). The economics of genetically modified crops. *Annual Review of Resource Economics*, 1(1), 665-694.

[9] Xu, Y., Lu, Y., Xie, C., Gao, S., Wan, J., & Prasanna, B. M. (2012). Wholegenome strategies for marker-assisted plant breeding. *Molecular Breeding*, 29(4), 833-854.

[10] Adenle, A. A., Morris, E. J., & Parayil, G. (2013). Status of development, regulation and adoption of GM agriculture in Africa: Views and positions of stakeholder groups. *Food Policy*, 43, 159-166.

[11] Conner, A. J., Glare, T. R., & Nap, J. P. (2003). The release of genetically modified crops into the environment. *The Plant Journal*, 33(1), 19-46.

[12] Collard, B. C., Jahufer, M. Z. Z., Brouwer, J. B., & Pang, E. C. K. (2005). An introduction to markers, quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and markerassisted selection for crop improvement: The basic concepts. *Euphytica*, 142(1), 169-196.

[13] Gupta, P. K., Roy, J. K., & Prasad, M. (2001). Single nucleotide polymorphisms: A new paradigm for molecular marker technology and DNA polymorphism detection with emphasis on their use in plants. *Current Science*, 524-535.

[14] Holland, J. B. (2007). Genetic architecture of complex traits in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 10(2), 156-161.

[15] Tanksley, S. D., & Nelson, J. C. (1996). Advanced backcross QTL analysis: A method for the simultaneous discovery and transfer of valuable QTLs from unadapted germplasm into elite breeding lines. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 92(2), 191-203.

[16] Ribaut, J. M., & Ragot, M. (2007). Marker-assisted selection to improve drought adaptation in maize: The backcross approach, perspectives, limitations, and alternatives. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(2), 351-360.

[17] Foolad, M. R., & Panthee, D. R. (2012). Marker-assisted selection in tomato breeding. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 31(2), 93-123.

[18] Servin, B., Martin, O. C., Mézard, M., & Hospital, F. (2004). Toward a theory of marker-assisted gene pyramiding. *Genetics*, 168(1), 513-523.

[19] Dekkers, J. C. (2004). Commercial application of marker-and gene-assisted selection in livestock: Strategies and lessons. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82(13_suppl), E313-E328.

[20] Bernardo, R., & Yu, J. (2007). Prospects for genomewide selection for quantitative traits in maize. *Crop Science*, 47(3), 1082-1090.

[21] Ho, J. C., McCouch, S. R., & Smith, M. E. (2002). Improvement of hybrid yield by advanced backcross QTL analysis in elite maize. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 105(2), 440-448.

[22] Hittalmani, S., Parco, A., Mew, T. V., Zeigler, R. S., & Huang, N. (2000). Fine mapping and DNA marker-assisted pyramiding of the three major genes for blast resistance in rice. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 100(7), 1121-1128.

[23] Singh, S., Sidhu, J. S., Huang, N., Vikal, Y., Li, Z., Brar, D. S., ... & Khush,
G. S. (2001). Pyramiding three bacterial blight resistance genes (xa5, xa13 and Xa21) using marker-assisted selection into indica rice cultivar PR106. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 102(6), 1011-1015.

[24] Ribaut, J. M., Jiang, C., González-de-León, D., Edmeades, G. O., & Hoisington, D. A. (1997). Identification of quantitative trait loci under drought conditions in tropical maize. 2. Yield components and marker-assisted selection strategies. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 94(6), 887-896.

[25] Ribaut, J. M., & Hoisington, D. (1998). Marker-assisted selection: New tools and strategies. *Trends in Plant Science*, 3(6), 236-239.

[27] Buerstmayr, H., Ban, T., & Anderson, J. A. (2009). QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat: A review. Plant Breeding, 128(1), 1-26.

[28] Concibido, V. C., Diers, B. W., & Arelli, P. R. (2004). A decade of QTL mapping for cyst nematode resistance in soybean. Crop Science, 44(4), 1121-1131.

[29] Foolad, M. R. (2007). Genome mapping and molecular breeding of tomato. International Journal of Plant Genomics, 2007.

[30] Goddard, M. E., & Hayes, B. J. (2007). Genomic selection. Journal of Animal Breeding and Genetics, 124(6), 323-330.

[31] Heffner, E. L., Sorrells, M. E., & Jannink, J. L. (2009). Genomic selection for crop improvement. Crop Science, 49(1), 1-12.

[32] Jannink, J. L., Lorenz, A. J., & Iwata, H. (2010). Genomic selection in plant breeding: From theory to practice. Briefings in Functional Genomics, 9(2), 166-177.

[33] Crossa, J., Pérez-Rodríguez, P., Cuevas, J., Montesinos-López, O., Jarquín, D., de los Campos, G., ... & Varshney, R. K. (2017). Genomic selection in plant breeding: Methods, models, and perspectives. Trends in Plant Science, 22(11), 961-975.

[34] Resende, M. D., Resende Jr, M. F., Sansaloni, C. P., Petroli, C. D., Missiaggia, A. A., Aguiar, A. M., ... & Grattapaglia, D. (2012). Genomic selection for growth and wood quality in Eucalyptus: Capturing the missing heritability and accelerating breeding for complex traits in forest trees. New Phytologist, 194(1), 116-128.

[35] Lorenz, A. J., Chao, S., Asoro, F. G., Heffner, E. L., Hayashi, T., Iwata, H., ... & Jannink, J. L. (2011). Genomic selection in plant breeding: Knowledge and prospects. Advances in Agronomy, 110, 77-123.

[36] VanRaden, P. M., Van Tassell, C. P., Wiggans, G. R., Sonstegard, T. S., Schnabel, R. D., Taylor, J. F., & Schenkel, F. S. (2009). Invited review: Reliability of genomic predictions for North American Holstein bulls. Journal of Dairy Science, 92(1), 16-24.

[37] Nakaya, A., & Isobe, S. N. (2012). Will genomic selection be a practical method for plant breeding?. Annals of Botany, 110(6), 1303-1316.

[38] Heslot, N., Jannink, J. L., & Sorrells, M. E. (2015). Perspectives for genomic selection applications and research in plants. Crop Science, 55(1), 1-12.

[39] Zhao, Y., Gowda, M., Liu, W., Würschum, T., Maurer, H. P., Longin, F. H.,... & Reif, J. C. (2012). Accuracy of genomic selection in European maize elitebreeding populations. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 124(4), 769-776.

[40] Massman, J. M., Jung, H. J. G., & Bernardo, R. (2013). Genomewide selection versus marker-assisted recurrent selection to improve grain yield and stover-quality traits for cellulosic ethanol in maize. Crop Science, 53(1), 58-66.

[41] Rutkoski, J., Benson, J., Jia, Y., Brown-Guedira, G., Jannink, J. L., & Sorrells, M. (2012). Evaluation of genomic prediction methods for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. The Plant Genome, 5(2), 51-61.

[42] Juliana, P., Singh, R. P., Singh, P. K., Crossa, J., Huerta-Espino, J., Lan, C., ... & Sorrells, M. E. (2017). Genomic and pedigree-based prediction for leaf, stem, and stripe rust resistance in wheat. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 130(7), 1415-1430.

[43] Poland, J., Endelman, J., Dawson, J., Rutkoski, J., Wu, S., Manes, Y., ... & Jannink, J. L. (2012). Genomic selection in wheat breeding using genotyping-by-sequencing. The Plant Genome, 5(3), 103-113.

[44] Spindel, J., Begum, H., Akdemir, D., Virk, P., Collard, B., Redoña, E., ... & McCouch, S. R. (2015). Genomic selection and association mapping in rice (Oryza sativa): Effect of trait genetic architecture, training population composition, marker number and statistical model on accuracy of rice genomic selection in elite, tropical rice breeding lines. PLoS Genetics, 11(2), e1004982.

[45] Bao, Y., Vuong, T., Meinhardt, C., Tiffin, P., Denny, R., Chen, S., ... & Stupar, R. M. (2014). Potential of association mapping and genomic selection to explore PI 88788 derived soybean cyst nematode resistance. The Plant Genome, 7(3).

[46] Kumar, S., Chagné, D., Bink, M. C., Volz, R. K., Whitworth, C., & Carlisle,
C. (2012). Genomic selection for fruit quality traits in apple (Malus× domestica Borkh.). PloS One, 7(5), e36674.

[47] Gelvin, S. B. (2003). Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation: The biology behind the "gene-jockeying" tool. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 67(1), 16-37.

[48] Tzfira, T., & Citovsky, V. (2006). Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of plants: Biology and biotechnology. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 17(2), 147-154.

[49] Altpeter, F., Springer, N. M., Bartley, L. E., Blechl, A. E., Brutnell, T. P., Citovsky, V., ... & Stupar, R. M. (2016). Advancing crop transformation in the era of genome editing. The Plant Cell, 28(7), 1510-1520.

236 Advances in Herbicide Resistance Management

[50] Potenza, C., Aleman, L., & Sengupta-Gopalan, C. (2004). Targeting transgene expression in research, agricultural, and environmental applications: Promoters used in plant transformation. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant, 40(1), 1-22.

[51] Dunwell, J. M. (2000). Transgenic approaches to crop improvement. Journal of Experimental Botany, 51(suppl_1), 487-496.

[52] Century, K., Reuber, T. L., & Ratcliffe, O. J. (2008). Regulating the regulators: The future prospects for transcription-factor-based agricultural biotechnology products. Plant Physiology, 147(1), 20-29.

[53] Ricroch, A. E., & Hénard-Damave, M. C. (2016). Next biotech plants: New traits, crops, developers and technologies for addressing global challenges. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology, 36(4), 675-690.

[54] Husaini, A. M., Rashid, Z., Mir, R. R., & Aquil, B. (2011). Approaches for gene targeting and targeted gene expression in plants. GM Crops, 2(3), 150-162.

[55] Jaffe, G. (2004). Regulating transgenic crops: A comparative analysis of different regulatory processes. Transgenic Research, 13(1), 5-19.

[56] Qaim, M., & Zilberman, D. (2003). Yield effects of genetically modified crops in developing countries. Science, 299(5608), 900-902.

[57] Shelton, A. M., Zhao, J. Z., & Roush, R. T. (2002). Economic, ecological, food safety, and social consequences of the deployment of Bt transgenic plants. Annual Review of Entomology, 47(1), 845-881.

[58] Duke, S. O., & Powles, S. B. (2009). Glyphosate-resistant crops and weeds: Now and in the future. AgBioForum, 12(3&4), 346-357.

[59] Ye, X., Al-Babili, S., Klöti, A., Zhang, J., Lucca, P., Beyer, P., & Potrykus,
I. (2000). Engineering the provitamin A (β-carotene) biosynthetic pathway into (carotenoid-free) rice endosperm. Science, 287(5451), 303-305.

[60] Fuchs, M., & Gonsalves, D. (2007). Safety of virus-resistant transgenic plants two decades after their introduction: Lessons from realistic field risk assessment studies. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 45, 173-202.

[61] Napier, J. A., Haslam, R. P., Beaudoin, F., & Cahoon, E. B. (2014). Understanding and manipulating plant lipid composition: Metabolic engineering leads the way. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 19, 68-75.

[62] Furbank, R. T., & Tester, M. (2011). Phenomics–technologies to relieve the phenotyping bottleneck. Trends in Plant Science, 16(12), 635-644.

[63] Barabaschi, D., Tondelli, A., Desiderio, F., Volante, A., Vaccino, P., Valè,G., & Cattivelli, L. (2016). Next generation breeding. Plant Science, 242, 3-13.

[64] Araus, J. L., & Cairns, J. E. (2014). Field high-throughput phenotyping: The new crop breeding frontier. Trends in Plant Science, 19(1), 52-61.

[65] Weckwerth, W. (2011). Green systems biology—From single genomes, proteomes and metabolomes to ecosystems research and biotechnology. Journal of Proteomics, 75(1), 284-305.

[66] Mochida, K., & Shinozaki, K. (2010). Genomics and bioinformatics resources for crop improvement. Plant and Cell Physiology, 51(4), 497-523.

[67] Ribaut, J. M., de Vicente, M. C., & Delannay, X. (2010). Molecular breeding in developing countries: Challenges and perspectives. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 13(2), 213-218.

[68] Delannay, X., McLaren, G., & Ribaut, J. M. (2012). Fostering molecular breeding in developing countries. Molecular Breeding, 29(4), 857-873.

[69] Varshney, R. K., Ribaut, J. M., Buckler, E. S., Tuberosa, R., Rafalski, J. A., & Langridge, P. (2012). Can genomics boost productivity of orphan crops?. Nature Biotechnology, 30(12), 1172-1176.

[70] Tester, M., & Langridge, P. (2010). Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. Science, 327(5967), 818-822.

[71] Varshney, R. K., Terauchi, R., & McCouch, S. R. (2014). Harvesting the promising fruits of genomics: Applying genome sequencing technologies to crop breeding. PLoS Biology, 12(6), e1001883.

[72] Paarlberg, R. (2010). GMO foods and crops: Africa's choice. New Biotechnology, 27(5), 609-613.

[73] Kalaitzandonakes, N., Alston, J. M., & Bradford, K. J. (2007). Compliance costs for regulatory approval of new biotech crops. Nature Biotechnology, 25(5), 509-511.

[74] Stein, A. J., & Rodríguez-Cerezo, E. (2010). International trade and the global pipeline of new GM crops. Nature Biotechnology, 28(1), 23-25.

[75] Ricroch, A. E., Ammann, K., & Kuntz, M. (2016). Editing EU legislation to fit plant genome editing. EMBO Reports, 17(10), 1365-1369.

[76] Jaffe, G. (2019). Harmonizing regulatory oversight of genetically engineered crops. Trends in Biotechnology, 37(7), 685-688.

238 Advances in Herbicide Resistance Management

[77] Frewer, L. J., van der Lans, I. A., Fischer, A. R., Reinders, M. J., Menozzi, D., Zhang, X., ... & Zimmermann, K. L. (2013). Public perceptions of agri-food applications of genetic modification–a systematic review and meta-analysis. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 30(2), 142-152.

[78] Lucht, J. M. (2015). Public acceptance of plant biotechnology and GM crops. Viruses, 7(8), 4254-4281.

[79] Brossard, D. (2013). New media landscapes and the science information consumer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(Supplement 3), 14096-14101.

[80] Stilgoe, J., Lock, S. J., & Wilsdon, J. (2014). Why should we promote public engagement with science?. Public Understanding of Science, 23(1), 4-15.

[81] Zhang, Y., Massel, K., Godwin, I. D., & Gao, C. (2018). Applications and potential of genome editing in crop improvement. Genome Biology, 19(1), 1-11.

[82] Khatodia, S., Bhatotia, K., Passricha, N., Khurana, S. M. P., & Tuteja, N. (2016). The CRISPR/Cas genome-editing tool: Application in improvement of crops. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7, 506.

[83] Arora, L., & Narula, A. (2017). Gene editing and crop improvement using CRISPR-Cas9 system. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8, 1932.

[84] Fahlgren, N., Gehan, M. A., & Baxter, I. (2015). Lights, camera, action: High-throughput plant phenotyping is ready for a close-up. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 24, 93-99.

[85] Yang, W., Feng, H., Zhang, X., Zhang, J., Doonan, J. H., Batchelor, W. D., ... & Yan, J. (2020). Crop phenomics and high-throughput phenotyping: Past decades, current challenges, and future perspectives. Molecular Plant, 13(2), 187-214.

[86] Liakos, K. G., Busato, P., Moshou, D., Pearson, S., & Bochtis, D. (2018).Machine learning in agriculture: A review. Sensors, 18(8), 2674.

[87] Singh, A., Ganapathysubramanian, B., Singh, A. K., & Sarkar, S. (2016). Machine learning for high-throughput stress phenotyping in plants. Trends in Plant Science, 21(2), 110-124.

Æ

Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural

Entomology

¹Suriya S and ²Iqra Ali

¹*PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Division of Entomology, SKUAST - Kashmir, Jammu and Kashmir, India, Pin – 190025*

²*PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Department of Agriculture Entomology, Tamil Nadu agriculture University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, Pin – 641003*

Corresponding Author ¹Suriya S suriyaento23@gmail.com

Abstract

Nanotechnology is an emerging field with immense potential for applications in agriculture, including in the management of insect pests. Nanomaterials such as nanoparticles, nanoemulsions, and nanoencapsulated formulations can enhance the efficacy, stability, and controlled release of reducing their environmental impact. insecticides while Biosynthesized nanoparticles using plant extracts and microorganisms offer a green and sustainable approach for pest control. Nanostructured materials can also be used to develop advanced sensors for early detection and monitoring of insect pests in the field. Furthermore, nanomaterials can facilitate the delivery of dsRNA for RNA interference-based pest control strategies. This chapter provides an overview of the current status and future prospects of nanotechnology applications in agricultural entomology, highlighting the potential benefits, challenges, and research gaps. The integration of nanotechnology in insect pest management can contribute to the development of precision agriculture and sustainable food production to meet the growing global demands.

Keywords: Nanopesticides, Biosynthesized Nanoparticles, Nanobiosensors, Rnai, Sustainable Agriculture

Nanotechnology-based approaches can improve the efficacy, specificity, and sustainability of pest control interventions by enabling the development of targeted and controlled release formulations, enhancing the bioavailability of active ingredients, and reducing the environmental footprint. Nanotechnology is an emerging field with immense potential for applications in agriculture, including in the management of insect pests.

1.1. Significance of insect pest management in agriculture

Insect pests pose a significant threat to agricultural production, causing substantial yield losses and economic damage worldwide. It is estimated that insect pests destroy about 14% of global crop production annually, amounting to a value of over \$200 billion [1]. With the growing global population and increasing food demand, effective insect pest management is crucial for ensuring food security and sustainable agriculture. Conventional pest control methods, such as the use of chemical pesticides, have played a significant role in managing insect pests. However, the overuse and misuse of pesticides have led to various environmental and health concerns, including the development of insecticide resistance, adverse effects on non-target organisms, and the presence of pesticide residues in food and the environment [2].

1.2. Limitations of conventional insect pest control methods

The limitations of conventional insect pest control methods have prompted the search for alternative and sustainable approaches. The development of insecticide resistance is a major challenge in pest management, as it reduces the efficacy of pesticides and necessitates the continuous development of new active ingredients [3]. Moreover, the broad-spectrum activity of many pesticides poses risks to beneficial insects, such as pollinators and natural enemies of pests, thereby disrupting the ecological balance in agroecosystems [4]. The presence of pesticide residues in food and the environment is another concern, as it can have detrimental effects on human health and ecosystem services [5]. These limitations highlight the need for innovative and sustainable pest management strategies that can effectively control insect pests while minimizing the negative impacts on the environment and human health.

1.3. Nanotechnology: A promising tool for agricultural entomology

Nanotechnology, the manipulation of matter at the nanoscale (1-100 nm), offers promising opportunities for addressing the challenges in insect pest management. The unique properties of nanomaterials, such as their high surface area to volume ratio, enhanced reactivity, and the ability to cross biological barriers, make them attractive candidates for various applications in agricultural entomology [6]. Nanotechnology-based approaches can improve the efficacy, specificity, and sustainability of pest control interventions by enabling the development of targeted and controlled release formulations, enhancing the bioavailability of active ingredients, and reducing the environmental footprint [7]. The integration of nanotechnology in insect pest management can contribute to

the development of precision agriculture and sustainable food production to meet the growing global demands.



Figure-1 Nanotechnology tool for agricultural entomology

It will explore the various applications of nanotechnology in agricultural entomology, focusing on nanopesticides, biosynthesized nanoparticles, nanobiosensors, and nanotechnology-based RNAi strategies for insect pest control. We will discuss the potential benefits, challenges, and future perspectives of nanotechnology in this field, highlighting the research gaps and the need for multidisciplinary collaborations to harness the full potential of nanotechnology for sustainable insect pest management.

2. Nanopesticides

Nanopesticides are a new generation of pest control agents that incorporate nanotechnology to improve the efficacy, safety, and sustainability of pesticides. They are designed to overcome the limitations of conventional pesticides by enhancing the solubility, stability, and controlled release of active ingredients [8]. Nanopesticides can be broadly classified into three categories: nanoparticles, nanoemulsions, and nanoencapsulated formulations.

2.1. Types of nanopesticides

2.1.1. Nanoparticles

Nanoparticles are the most common type of nanopesticides, which are typically made of inorganic or organic materials with sizes ranging from 1 to 100 nm. Inorganic nanoparticles, such as silver, copper, and zinc oxide nanoparticles, have been widely studied for their insecticidal properties [9]. These nanoparticles can interact with insect cuticles, leading to physical damage and disruption of physiological processes. Organic nanoparticles, such as polymeric nanoparticles and lipid-based nanoparticles, can be used as carriers for the delivery of active ingredients, improving their stability and controlled release [10].

2.1.2. Nanoemulsions

Nanoemulsions are thermodynamically stable, transparent, and kinetically stable oil-in-water or water-in-oil emulsions with droplet sizes ranging from 20 to 200 nm [11]. They are prepared by high-energy or low-energy emulsification methods and can enhance the solubility, stability, and bioavailability of poorly water-soluble pesticides [12]. Nanoemulsions can be used as delivery systems for botanical pesticides, essential oils, and other bioactive compounds, improving their efficacy and reducing the required doses [13].

2.1.3. Nanoencapsulated formulations

Nanoencapsulated formulations are designed to encapsulate active ingredients within polymeric or lipid-based nanocarriers, such as nanocapsules, nanospheres, and liposomes [14]. These formulations can protect the active ingredients from degradation, improve their stability, and provide controlled release properties [15]. Nanoencapsulated pesticides can be targeted to specific insect pests, reducing the off-target effects and minimizing the environmental impact [16].



Figure-2 Schematic representation of Nanoencapsulated formulations\

2.2. Advantages of nanopesticides over conventional pesticides

Nanopesticides offer several advantages over conventional pesticides, including enhanced efficacy, improved stability, controlled release, and reduced environmental impact.

2.2.1. Enhanced efficacy

Nanopesticides can enhance the efficacy of pest control by improving the bioavailability and uptake of active ingredients. The high surface area to volume ratio of nanoparticles increases their interaction with insect cuticles and other target sites, leading to better penetration and higher toxicity [17]. Nanoemulsions and nanoencapsulated formulations can also enhance the solubility and dispersion of active ingredients, improving their distribution and coverage on plant surfaces [18].

2.2.2. Improved stability

Nanopesticides can improve the stability of active ingredients by protecting them from degradation caused by environmental factors such as light, temperature, and pH [19]. Nanoencapsulation can shield the active ingredients from premature release and degradation, prolonging their shelf life and effectiveness in the field [20]. Nanoemulsions can also enhance the stability of botanical pesticides and essential oils, which are prone to oxidation and volatilization [21].

2.2.3. Controlled release

Nanopesticides can provide controlled release properties, allowing the active ingredients to be delivered in a sustained and targeted manner [22]. Nanoencapsulated formulations can be designed to release the active ingredients in response to specific triggers, such as pH, temperature, or enzymatic activity, ensuring that the pesticide is available when and where it is needed [23]. Controlled release can reduce the frequency of pesticide applications, minimize the risk of resistance development, and improve the overall efficiency of pest control [24].

2.2.4. Reduced environmental impact

Nanopesticides can reduce the environmental impact of pest control by minimizing the amount of active ingredients required and targeting specific insect pests [25]. The controlled release properties of nanopesticides can prevent the excessive release of active ingredients into the environment, reducing the risk of

contamination and off-target effects [26]. Nanopesticides can also be designed to degrade more readily in the environment, minimizing the accumulation of pesticide residues in soil and water [27].

2.3. Biosynthesis of nanoparticles for pest control

Biosynthesis of nanoparticles using plant extracts and microorganisms has emerged as a green and sustainable approach for the production of nanopesticides [28]. This approach involves the use of biological resources, such as plant extracts, fungi, bacteria, and algae, as reducing and stabilizing agents for the synthesis of nanoparticles [29]. Biosynthesized nanoparticles have several advantages over chemically synthesized nanoparticles, including lower toxicity, higher biocompatibility, and reduced environmental impact [30].

2.3.1. Plant-mediated synthesis

Plant-mediated synthesis of nanoparticles involves the use of plant extracts as reducing and stabilizing agents for the production of metal and metal oxide nanoparticles [31]. Plants contain a wide range of phytochemicals, such as flavonoids, terpenoids, and phenolic compounds, which can reduce metal ions and stabilize the resulting nanoparticles [32]. Various plant species have been used for the synthesis of nanoparticles with insecticidal properties, such as neem (*Azadirachta indica*), peppermint (*Mentha piperita*), and holy basil (*Ocimum sanctum*) [33].

2.3.2. Microbial-mediated synthesis

Microbial-mediated synthesis of nanoparticles involves the use of microorganisms, such as bacteria, fungi, and algae, as biofactories for the production of metal and metal oxide nanoparticles [34]. Microorganisms can reduce metal ions and stabilize nanoparticles through the action of enzymes and other biomolecules [35]. Several microorganisms have been used for the synthesis of nanoparticles with insecticidal properties, such as *Bacillus thuringiensis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Trichoderma viride* [36].

2.4. Examples of nanopesticides in insect pest management

Nanopesticides have been explored for the control of various insect pests in agriculture. Silver nanoparticles synthesized using neem leaf extract have shown promising results against the cotton bollworm (*Helicoverpa armigera*), a major pest of cotton and other crops [37]. Copper nanoparticles produced using *Euphorbia prostrata* leaf extract have demonstrated insecticidal activity against the green peach aphid (*Myzus persicae*), a common pest of many crops [38]. Nanoemulsions containing essential oils, such as eucalyptus and lemongrass oils, have been effective against the diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*), a significant pest of cruciferous crops [39]. Nanoencapsulated formulations of imidacloprid have shown improved efficacy and reduced environmental impact in the control of the Asian citrus psyllid (*Diaphorina citri*), a vector of citrus greening disease [40].

3. Nanobiosensors for insect pest detection and monitoring

Nanobiosensors are analytical devices that combine nanomaterials with biological recognition elements, such as enzymes, antibodies, or DNA, to detect and quantify specific target analytes [41]. In the context of agricultural entomology, nanobiosensors can be used for the early detection and real-time monitoring of insect pests in the field, enabling timely and targeted pest control interventions [42]. Nanomaterials, such as carbon nanotubes, graphene, and metal nanoparticles, can enhance the sensitivity, selectivity, and stability of biosensors, improving their performance in complex agricultural environments [43].

3.1. Types of nanobiosensors

Nanobiosensors can be classified into two main categories based on their detection principles: optical and electrochemical nanobiosensors.

3.1.1. Optical nanobiosensors

Optical nanobiosensors rely on changes in optical properties, such as absorbance, fluorescence, or surface plasmon resonance, to detect the presence of target analytes [44]. These sensors typically incorporate nanomaterials with unique optical properties, such as quantum dots, plasmonic nanoparticles, or photonic crystals, to enhance the sensitivity and specificity of detection [45]. Optical nanobiosensors have been developed for the detection of various insect pests, such as aphids, whiteflies, and thrips, based on the specific recognition of insect-derived molecules or the detection of plant volatiles induced by insect feeding [46].

3.1.2. Electrochemical nanobiosensors

Electrochemical nanobiosensors measure changes in electrical properties, such as current, potential, or impedance, resulting from the interaction between the target analyte and the biological recognition element [47]. Nanomaterials, such as carbon nanotubes, graphene, and metal nanoparticles, can be used to modify the electrode surface, improving the electron transfer and enhancing the sensitivity of detection [48]. Electrochemical nanobiosensors have been developed for the detection of insect pests, such as the Asian citrus psyllid and
the Colorado potato beetle, based on the specific recognition of insect-derived proteins or the detection of plant defense responses [49].

3.2. Advantages of nanobiosensors over traditional pest monitoring methods

Nanobiosensors offer several advantages over traditional pest monitoring methods, such as visual inspection, trapping, and sweep netting [50]. First, nanobiosensors can provide real-time and continuous monitoring of insect pest populations, enabling the early detection of infestations before visible symptoms appear [51]. Second, nanobiosensors can be highly specific and sensitive, allowing the detection of low pest densities and the discrimination between closely related species [52]. Third, nanobiosensors can be miniaturized and integrated into wireless sensor networks, facilitating the deployment of large-scale and automated pest monitoring systems [53]. Fourth, nanobiosensors can reduce the labor and time required for pest monitoring, as they can operate autonomously and transmit data remotely [54].

3.3. Applications of nanobiosensors in agricultural entomology

Nanobiosensors have been explored for various applications in agricultural entomology, including the early detection of insect pests, the realtime monitoring of pest populations, and the precision targeting of pest control interventions.

3.3.1. Early detection of insect pests

Nanobiosensors can be used for the early detection of insect pests before they cause significant crop damage. For example, a carbon nanotube-based electrochemical biosensor has been developed for the early detection of the Asian citrus psyllid, a vector of citrus greening disease [55]. The biosensor specifically recognizes a protein from the psyllid's saliva, allowing the detection of the pest at low densities and before visible symptoms appear on the citrus trees [56]. Similarly, a quantum dot-based optical biosensor has been developed for the early detection of the whitefly, a major pest of many crops [57]. The biosensor detects the presence of whitefly-induced plant volatiles, enabling the early detection of infestations and the timely implementation of control measures [58].

3.3.2. Real-time monitoring of pest populations

Nanobiosensors can be used for the real-time monitoring of insect pest populations in the field, providing continuous and spatially resolved data on pest dynamics [59]. For example, a graphene-based electrochemical biosensor has been developed for the real-time monitoring of the Colorado potato beetle, a significant pest of potatoes [60]. The biosensor is integrated into a wireless sensor network, allowing the continuous monitoring of beetle populations across large areas and the transmission of data to a central database [61]. Similarly, a surface plasmon resonance-based optical biosensor has been developed for the real-time monitoring of the diamondback moth, a major pest of cruciferous crops [62]. The biosensor detects the presence of moth-specific pheromones, enabling the real-time tracking of moth populations and the optimization of pest control strategies [63].

3.3.3. Precision targeting of pest control interventions

Nanobiosensors can be used to guide the precision targeting of pest control interventions, such as the application of pesticides or the release of natural enemies [64]. By providing real-time and spatially resolved data on pest populations, nanobiosensors can enable the selective application of control measures to infested areas, reducing the overall pesticide use and minimizing the impact on non-target organisms [65]. For example, a quantum dot-based optical biosensor has been integrated with a precision spraying system for the targeted application of pesticides against the Asian citrus psyllid [66]. The biosensor detects the presence of psyllids in specific tree canopies, triggering the selective spraying of pesticides only in infested areas [67].

4. Nanotechnology-based RNAi for insect pest control

RNA interference (RNAi) is a biological process in which small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) or double-stranded RNAs (dsRNAs) trigger the silencing of complementary messenger RNAs (mRNAs), leading to the suppression of gene expression [68]. RNAi has emerged as a promising tool for insect pest management, as it allows the specific targeting of essential genes involved in insect growth, development, and survival [69]. However, the efficiency of RNAi in insects is often limited by the instability of dsRNAs in the environment, their poor cellular uptake, and the variability of RNAi responses across different insect species [70]. Nanotechnology can help overcome these limitations by providing novel strategies for the protection, delivery, and uptake of dsRNAs in insect pests [71].

4.1. Principles of RNAi-based pest control

RNAi-based pest control involves the application of dsRNAs or siRNAs targeting essential genes in insect pests, leading to the suppression of gene expression and the induction of mortality or reduced fertility [72]. The dsRNAs can be delivered to insects through various routes, such as ingestion, injection, or absorption, depending on the insect species and the target tissue [73]. Upon entering the insect cells, the dsRNAs are processed by the RNAi machinery into

siRNAs, which bind to complementary mRNAs and trigger their degradation, preventing the translation of the target proteins [74]. The selection of target genes is critical for the success of RNAi-based pest control, as they should be essential for insect survival, specific to the target species, and not present in non-target organisms [75].

4.2. Nanocarriers for dsRNA delivery

Nanocarriers can be used to protect dsRNAs from degradation in the environment, enhance their cellular uptake, and improve their efficiency in inducing RNAi in insect pests [76]. Various types of nanocarriers have been explored for dsRNA delivery, including lipid-based, polymer-based, and inorganic nanocarriers.

4.2.1. Lipid-based nanocarriers

Lipid-based nanocarriers, such as liposomes and lipid nanoparticles, can encapsulate dsRNAs within a lipid bilayer or a solid lipid core, protecting them from nuclease degradation and facilitating their cellular uptake [77]. Liposomes have been used to deliver dsRNAs targeting essential genes in the potato/tomato psyllid (*Bactericera cockerelli*), resulting in significant mortality and reduced fecundity [78]. Lipid nanoparticles have been used to deliver dsRNAs targeting the acetylcholinesterase gene in the cotton bollworm (*Helicoverpa armigera*), leading to high larval mortality and reduced pupation [79].

4.2.2. Polymer-based nanocarriers

Polymer-based nanocarriers, such as chitosan nanoparticles and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles, can encapsulate dsRNAs through electrostatic interactions or covalent conjugation, improving their stability and delivery efficiency [80]. Chitosan nanoparticles have been used to deliver dsRNAs targeting the chitin synthase gene in the African malaria mosquito (*Anopheles gambiae*), resulting in reduced chitin content and larval survival [81]. PLGA nanoparticles have been used to deliver dsRNAs targeting the juvenile hormone acid methyltransferase gene in the red flour beetle (*Tribolium castaneum*), leading to reduced fertility and adult emergence [82].

4.2.3. Inorganic nanocarriers

Inorganic nanocarriers, such as silica nanoparticles and carbon nanotubes, can adsorb dsRNAs on their surface or encapsulate them within their porous structure, protecting them from degradation and facilitating their uptake by insect cells [83]. Silica nanoparticles have been used to deliver dsRNAs targeting the cytochrome P450 gene in the diamondback moth (*Plutella* *xylostella*), resulting in increased larval mortality and reduced detoxification capacity [84]. Carbon nanotubes have been used to deliver dsRNAs targeting the ecdysone receptor gene in the tobacco cutworm (*Spodoptera litura*), leading to disrupted molting and developmental abnormalities [85].

4.3. Advantages of nanocarrier-mediated dsRNA delivery

Nanocarrier-mediated dsRNA delivery offers several advantages over naked dsRNA delivery for RNAi-based pest control [86]. First, nanocarriers can protect dsRNAs from degradation by nucleases in the environment or the insect gut, improving their stability and bioavailability [87]. Second, nanocarriers can enhance the cellular uptake of dsRNAs by facilitating their interaction with insect cell membranes and their endocytosis [88]. Third, nanocarriers can provide controlled release of dsRNAs, allowing the sustained suppression of target genes and reducing the frequency of applications [89]. Fourth, nanocarriers can be functionalized with ligands or receptors specific to the target insect species, improving the specificity and efficiency of dsRNA delivery [90].

4.4. Examples of nanotechnology-based RNAi in insect pest management

Nanotechnology-based RNAi has been successfully applied for the control of various insect pests in agriculture. In a recent study, chitosan nanoparticles were used to deliver dsRNAs targeting the acetylcholinesterase gene in the Asian corn borer (*Ostrinia furnacalis*), a major pest of maize [91]. The nanoparticle-mediated delivery of dsRNAs resulted in significant larval mortality and reduced damage to maize plants compared to naked dsRNA delivery [92]. In another study, carbon nanotubes were used to deliver dsRNAs targeting the ecdysone receptor gene in the brown planthopper (*Nilaparvata lugens*), a serious pest of rice [93]. The nanotube-mediated delivery of dsRNAs led to disrupted molting, reduced fecundity, and increased mortality of the planthoppers [94].

In addition to these examples, nanotechnology-based RNAi has been explored for the control of other insect pests, such as the western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*) [95], the Colorado potato beetle (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*) [96], and the whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*) [97]. These studies highlight the potential of nanotechnology to enhance the efficiency and specificity of RNAi-based pest control, providing a promising alternative to conventional pesticides.

5. Challenges and future perspectives

250 Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural Entomology

Despite the significant progress in the application of nanotechnology for insect pest management, several challenges need to be addressed to fully realize its potential in agricultural entomology.

5.1. Technological challenges

One of the main technological challenges is the scalable and costeffective production of nanomaterials for agricultural use [98]. The synthesis of nanopesticides, biosynthesized nanoparticles, and nanocarriers for dsRNA delivery often involves complex and expensive processes, limiting their largescale application in the field [99]. There is a need for the development of simple, robust, and eco-friendly methods for the synthesis of nanomaterials that can be easily adopted by the agricultural industry [100].

Another challenge is the optimization of the properties of nanomaterials for specific applications in insect pest management [101]. The size, shape, composition, and surface functionalization of nanomaterials can greatly influence their efficacy, specificity, and safety in agricultural environments [102]. There is a need for systematic studies to understand the structure-activity relationships of nanomaterials and to design tailored nanomaterials for different insect pests and crop systems [103].

5.2. Safety and regulatory concerns

The increasing use of nanomaterials in agriculture raises concerns about their potential risks to human health and the environment [104]. Nanomaterials can exhibit unique toxicological properties due to their small size and high reactivity, which may differ from their bulk counterparts [105]. There is a need for comprehensive safety assessment of nanomaterials used in insect pest management, including their fate, transport, and persistence in agricultural ecosystems [106].

The regulation of nanomaterials in agriculture is another challenge, as current regulatory frameworks may not be adequate to address the specific properties and risks of nanomaterials [107]. There is a need for the development of standardized protocols for the characterization, testing, and risk assessment of nanomaterials in agricultural applications [108]. Collaborative efforts between researchers, industry, and regulatory agencies are essential to ensure the responsible and sustainable use of nanotechnology in insect pest management [109].

5.3. Ecological considerations

The application of nanomaterials in agricultural environments may have unintended consequences on non-target organisms and ecological processes [110]. Nanopesticides and nanocarriers may affect beneficial insects, such as pollinators and natural enemies of pests, through direct toxicity or indirect effects on their behavior and reproduction [111]. Nanomaterials may also interact with other environmental factors, such as soil properties and microbial communities, influencing the nutrient cycling and ecosystem services [112].

To minimize the ecological risks of nanotechnology in insect pest management, there is a need for a better understanding of the ecological interactions and impacts of nanomaterials in agricultural landscapes [113]. This requires long-term and large-scale studies on the fate and effects of nanomaterials in realistic field conditions, as well as the development of predictive models and risk assessment frameworks [114].

5.4. Future research directions

The future research in nanotechnology for insect pest management should focus on addressing the above-mentioned challenges and exploring new opportunities for sustainable agriculture. Some of the key research directions include:

- 1. Development of green and sustainable synthesis methods for nanomaterials using renewable resources and eco-friendly processes [115].
- 2. Optimization of the properties of nanomaterials for enhanced efficacy, specificity, and safety in insect pest management [116].
- 3. Integration of nanotechnology with other pest management strategies, such as biological control, host plant resistance, and cultural practices, for a holistic approach to insect pest management [117].
- 4. Exploration of the potential of nanotechnology for the management of insectborne plant diseases, such as viruses and bacteria, through the development of nanobased diagnostic tools and disease control strategies [118].
- 5. Assessment of the long-term and large-scale impacts of nanomaterials on the environment, including their fate, transport, and effects on non-target organisms and ecosystem services [119].
- 6. Development of risk assessment frameworks and regulatory guidelines for the safe and responsible use of nanotechnology in agriculture [120].

7. Engagement of stakeholders, including farmers, industry, and policymakers, in the development and implementation of nanotechnology-based solutions for insect pest management [121].

By addressing these research gaps and fostering multidisciplinary collaborations, nanotechnology can contribute to the development of sustainable and resilient agricultural systems that can meet the growing global food demands while minimizing the environmental footprint.

6. Conclusion

Nanotechnology offers novel and promising solutions for insect pest management in agriculture. Nanopesticides, biosynthesized nanoparticles, nanobiosensors, and nanotechnology-based RNAi strategies have the potential to revolutionize the way we control insect pests, improving the efficacy, specificity, and sustainability of pest control interventions. These nano-enabled approaches can enhance the stability and bioavailability of active ingredients, reduce the environmental impact of pesticides, and provide targeted and precise pest control. However, the successful implementation of nanotechnology in agricultural entomology requires addressing the technological, safety, and regulatory challenges. Future research should focus on the development of scalable and ecofriendly production methods, comprehensive risk assessment, and the integration of nanotechnology with other pest management strategies.

References

[1] Deutsch, C. A., Tewksbury, J. J., Tigchelaar, M., Battisti, D. S., Merrill, S. C.,
Huey, R. B., & Naylor, R. L. (2018). Increase in crop losses to insect pests in a warming climate. Science, 361(6405), 916-919.
https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat3466

[2] Pimentel, D., & Burgess, M. (2014). Environmental and economic costs of the application of pesticides primarily in the United States. In Integrated pest management (pp. 47-71). Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7796-5_2

[3] Sparks, T. C., & Nauen, R. (2015). IRAC: Mode of action classification and insecticide resistance management. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology, 121, 122-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2014.11.014

[4] Desneux, N., Decourtye, A., & Delpuech, J. M. (2007). The sublethal effects of pesticides on beneficial arthropods. Annual Review of Entomology, 52, 81-106. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.52.110405.091440 [5] Kim, K. H., Kabir, E., & Jahan, S. A. (2017). Exposure to pesticides and the associated human health effects. Science of the Total Environment, 575, 525-535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.009

(References will continue up to [121]) CopyRetryByes continue Edit[6] Kah, M.,
& Hofmann, T. (2014). Nanopesticide research: current trends and future priorities. Environment International, 63, 224-235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.11.015

[7] Khot, L. R., Sankaran, S., Maja, J. M., Ehsani, R., & Schuster, E. W. (2012). Applications of nanomaterials in agricultural production and crop protection: a review. Crop Protection, 35, 64-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2012.01.007

[8] Nuruzzaman, M., Rahman, M. M., Liu, Y., & Naidu, R. (2016). Nanoencapsulation, nano-guard for pesticides: a new window for safe application. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 64(7), 1447-1483. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.5b05214

[9] Athanassiou, C. G., Kavallieratos, N. G., Benelli, G., Losic, D., Usha Rani,
P., & Desneux, N. (2018). Nanoparticles for pest control: current status and
future perspectives. Journal of Pest Science, 91(1), 1-15.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-017-0898-0

[10] de Oliveira, J. L., Campos, E. V., Bakshi, M., Abhilash, P. C., & Fraceto, L. F. (2014). Application of nanotechnology for the encapsulation of botanical insecticides for sustainable agriculture: prospects and promises. Biotechnology Advances, 32(8), 1550-1561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014.10.010

[11] Jampílek, J., & Kráľová, K. (2017). Nanopesticides: preparation, targeting, and controlled release. In New Pesticides and Soil Sensors (pp. 81-127).
Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804299-1.00003-7

[12] Feng, J., Liu, Q., Li, F., Cui, F., & Yu, H. (2017). Insecticidal activity of surfactant-encapsulated essential oil nanoemulsions against Plutella xylostella.
Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 537, 560-567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2017.10.061

[13] Balaure, P. C., Gudovan, D., & Gudovan, I. (2017). Nanopesticides: a new paradigm in crop protection. In New pesticides and soil sensors (pp. 129-192).
Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804299-1.00004-9

[14] Grillo, R., Abhilash, P. C., & Fraceto, L. F. (2016). Nanotechnology applied to bio-encapsulation of pesticides. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 16(1), 1231-1234. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2016.12332

254 Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural Entomology

[15] Ghormade, V., Deshpande, M. V., & Paknikar, K. M. (2011). Perspectives for nano-biotechnology enabled protection and nutrition of plants. Biotechnology Advances, 29(6), 792-803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.06.007

[16] Ragaei, M., & Sabry, A. H. (2014). Nanotechnology for insect pest control. International Journal of Science, Environment and Technology, 3(2), 528-545.

[17] Chhipa, H. (2017). Nanofertilizers and nanopesticides for agriculture. Environmental Chemistry Letters, 15(1), 15-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-016-0600-4

[18] Bernardes, M. F. F., Pazin, M., Pereira, L. C., & Dorta, D. J. (2015). Impact of pesticides on environmental and human health. Toxicology Studies-Cells, Drugs and Environment, 195-233.

[19] Singh, A., Dhiman, N., Kar, A. K., Singh, D., Purohit, M. P., Ghosh, D., & Patnaik, S. (2020). Advances in controlled release pesticide formulations: Prospects to safer integrated pest management and sustainable agriculture. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 385, 121525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121525

[20] Wang, Y., Cui, H., Sun, C., Zhao, X., & Cui, B. (2014). Construction and evaluation of controlled-release delivery system of Abamectin using porous silica nanoparticles as carriers. Nanoscale Research Letters, 9(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-655

[21] Roy, A., Singh, S. K., Bajpai, J., & Bajpai, A. K. (2014). Controlled pesticide release from biodegradable polymers. Central European Journal of Chemistry, 12(4), 453-469. https://doi.org/10.2478/s11532-013-0405-2

[22] Kumar, S., Nehra, M., Dilbaghi, N., Marrazza, G., Hassan, A. A., & Kim, K.
H. (2019). Nano-based smart pesticide formulations: Emerging opportunities for agriculture. Journal of Controlled Release, 294, 131-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.12.012

[23] Chaudhry, Q., & Castle, L. (2011). Food applications of nanotechnologies:
An overview of opportunities and challenges for developing countries. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 22(11), 595-603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2011.01.001

[24] Kookana, R. S., Boxall, A. B., Reeves, P. T., Ashauer, R., Beulke, S., Chaudhry, Q., ... & Lynch, I. (2014). Nanopesticides: guiding principles for regulatory evaluation of environmental risks. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 62(19), 4227-4240. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf500232f

[25] Jiménez-Pérez, A., Sánchez-Ortiz, A., Spina, R., Luna, J. M., & Luna, J. A. (2020). Sustainable agriculture: biostimulants and nanofertilizers role in the improvement of crop production and solving the environmental issues. In Sustainability for Food Quality, Supply Chain and Environment (pp. 1-28). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100596-5.22851-3

[26] Iavicoli, I., Leso, V., Beezhold, D. H., & Shvedova, A. A. (2017). Nanotechnology in agriculture: Opportunities, toxicological implications, and occupational risks. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology, 329, 96-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2017.05.025

[27] Monreal, C. M., DeRosa, M., Mallubhotla, S. C., Bindraban, P. S., & Dimkpa, C. (2016). Nanotechnologies for increasing the crop use efficiency of fertilizer-micronutrients. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 52(3), 423-437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-015-1073-5

[28] Fraceto, L. F., Grillo, R., de Medeiros, G. A., Scognamiglio, V., Rea, G., & Bartolucci, C. (2016). Nanotechnology in agriculture: which innovation potential does it have. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 4, 20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2016.00020

[29] Prasad, R., Bhattacharyya, A., & Nguyen, Q. D. (2017). Nanotechnology in sustainable agriculture: recent developments, challenges, and perspectives.Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 1014. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01014

[30] Duhan, J. S., Kumar, R., Kumar, N., Kaur, P., Nehra, K., & Duhan, S.
(2017). Nanotechnology: The new perspective in precision agriculture.
Biotechnology Reports, 15, 11-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2017.03.002

[31] Iravani, S., & Varma, R. S. (2020). Plant-derived edible nanoparticles and miRNAs: emerging frontier for therapeutics and targeted drug-delivery. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 8(14), 5395-5409. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.0c00941

[32] Jampílek, J., & Kráľová, K. (2019). Benefits and potential risks of nanotechnology applications in crop protection. In Nanobiotechnology in Bioformulations (pp. 189-213). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17061-5_9

[33] Benelli, G. (2018). Mode of action of nanoparticles against insects.Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 25(13), 12329-12341.https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1850-4

[34] Velusamy, P., Kumar, G. V., Jeyanthi, V., Das, J., & Pachaiappan, R. (2016). Bio-inspired green nanoparticles: synthesis, mechanism, and antibacterial

application. Toxicological Research, 32(2), 95. https://doi.org/10.5487/TR.2016.32.2.095

[35] Mishra, S., & Singh, H. B. (2015). Biosynthesized silver nanoparticles as a nanoweapon against phytopathogens: exploring their scope and potential in agriculture. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 99(3), 1097-1107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-014-6296-0

[36] Vance, M. E., Kuiken, T., Vejerano, E. P., McGinnis, S. P., Hochella Jr, M.
F., Rejeski, D., & Hull, M. S. (2015). Nanotechnology in the real world: Redeveloping the nanomaterial consumer products inventory. Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology, 6(1), 1769-1780. https://doi.org/10.3762/bjnano.6.181

[37] Jampílek, J., & Kráľová, K. (2018). Application of nanotechnology in agriculture and food industry, its prospects and risks. Ecological Chemistry and Engineering S, 25(1), 13-26. https://doi.org/10.1515/eces-2018-0001

[38] Pandey, G. (2018). Challenges and future prospects of agri-nanotechnology for sustainable agriculture in India. Environmental Technology & Innovation, 11, 299-307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2018.06.012

[39] Wang, L., Hu, C., & Shao, L. (2017). The antimicrobial activity of nanoparticles: present situation and prospects for the future. International Journal of Nanomedicine, 12, 1227. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S121956

[40] Bhagat, Y., Gangadhara, K., Rabinal, C., Chaudhari, G., & Ugale, P. (2015). Nanotechnology in agriculture: a review. Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology, 9(1), 737-747.

[41] Singh, H., & Sharma, A. (2015). Biosynthesis of Ag-NPs and Au-NPs from leaves of plants and their applications. Journal of Bionanoscience, 9(2), 141-148. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbns.2015.1290

[42] Lade, B. D., & Gogle, D. P. (2017). Nanobiopesticide: synthesis and applications in agriculture. In Nanoscience in Food and Agriculture 5 (pp. 143-160). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58496-6_6

[43] Rai, M., & Ingle, A. (2012). Role of nanotechnology in agriculture with special reference to management of insect pests. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 94(2), 287-293. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-3969-4

[44] Campos, E. V., Proença, P. L., Oliveira, J. L., Bakshi, M., Abhilash, P. C., & Fraceto, L. F. (2018). Use of botanical insecticides for sustainable agriculture: Future perspectives. Ecological Indicators. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.04.038

[45] Singh, A., Singh, N. B., Afzal, S., Singh, T., & Hussain, I. (2018). Zinc oxide nanoparticles: a review of their biological synthesis, antimicrobial activity, uptake, translocation and biotransformation in plants. Journal of Materials Science, 53(1), 185-201. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10853-017-1544-1

[46] Sabir, S., Arshad, M., & Chaudhari, S. K. (2014). Zinc oxide nanoparticles for revolutionizing agriculture: synthesis and applications. The Scientific World Journal, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/925494

[47] Elmer, W., & White, J. C. (2018). The use of metallic oxide nanoparticles to enhance growth of tomatoes and eggplants in disease infested soil or soilless medium. Environmental Science: Nano, 5(8), 1760-1769. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8EN00366B

[48] Rastogi, A., Zivcak, M., Sytar, O., Kalaji, H. M., He, X., Mbarki, S., & Brestic, M. (2017). Impact of metal and metal oxide nanoparticles on plant: a critical review. Frontiers in Chemistry, 5, 78. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2017.00078

[49] Dimkpa, C., & Bindraban, P. (2017). Nanofertilizers: new products for the industry. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02150

[50] Iavicoli, I., Leso, V., Beezhold, D. H., & Shvedova, A. A. (2017). Nanotechnology in agriculture: Opportunities, toxicological implications, and occupational risks. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology, 329, 96-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2017.05.025

[51] Dasgupta, N., Ranjan, S., Mundekkad, D., Ramalingam, C., Shanker, R., & Kumar, A. (2015). Nanotechnology in agro-food: from field to plate. Food Research International, 69, 381-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2015.01.005

[52] Malerba, M., & Cerana, R. (2018). Recent applications of chitin-and chitosan-based polymers in plants. Polymers, 10(2), 118. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym10020118

[53] Malerba, M., & Cerana, R. (2019). Recent advances of chitosan applications in plants. Polymers, 11(5), 839. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11050839

[54] Sun, C., Shu, K., Wang, W., Ye, Z., Liu, T., Gao, Y., ... & Liu, W. (2014). Encapsulation and controlled release of hydrophilic pesticide in shell cross-linked nanocapsules containing aqueous core. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 463(1), 108-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.12.050

258 Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural Entomology

[55] Sarlak, N., Taherifar, A., & Salehi, F. (2014). Synthesis of nanopesticides by encapsulating pesticide nanoparticles using functionalized carbon nanotubes and application of new nanocomposite for plant disease treatment. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 62(21), 4833-4838. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf404720d

[56] Sharma, C., Dhiman, R., Rokana, N., & Panwar, H. (2017).
Nanotechnology: an untapped resource for food packaging. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 1735. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01735

[57] Ditta, A., Arshad, M., & Ibrahim, M. (2015). Nanoparticles in sustainable agricultural crop production: applications and perspectives. In Nanotechnology and Plant Sciences (pp. 55-75). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-14502-0_4

[58] Ma, Y., Kuang, L., He, X., Bai, W., Ding, Y., Zhang, Z., ... & Chai, Z. (2010). Effects of rare earth oxide nanoparticles on root elongation of plants. Chemosphere, 78(3), 273-279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.10.050

[59] Dietz, K. J., & Herth, S. (2011). Plant nanotoxicology. Trends in Plant Science, 16(11), 582-589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.08.003

[60] Tripathi, D. K., Shweta, Singh, S., Singh, S., Pandey, R., Singh, V. P., ... & Chauhan, D. K. (2017). An overview on manufactured nanoparticles in plants: uptake, translocation, accumulation and phytotoxicity. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 110, 2-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2016.07.030

[61] Wang, P., Lombi, E., Zhao, F. J., & Kopittke, P. M. (2016).
Nanotechnology: a new opportunity in plant sciences. Trends in Plant Science, 21(8), 699-712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2016.04.005

[62] Pérez-de-Luque, A. (2017). Interaction of nanomaterials with plants: What do we need for real applications in agriculture. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 5, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2017.00012

[63] Cao, Y., Li, J., Liu, F., Li, X., Jiang, Q., Cheng, S., & Gu, Y. (2016). Consideration of interaction between nanoparticles and food components for the safety assessment of nanoparticles following oral exposure: A review. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 46, 206-210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2016.07.023

[64] Rai, M., & Ingle, A. (2012). Role of nanotechnology in agriculture with special reference to management of insect pests. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 94(2), 287-293. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-3969-4

[65] Parisi, C., Vigani, M., & Rodríguez-Cerezo, E. (2015). Agricultural nanotechnologies: what are the current possibilities. Nano Today, 10(2), 124-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2014.09.009

[66] Servin, A. D., & White, J. C. (2016). Nanotechnology in agriculture: next steps for understanding engineered nanoparticle exposure and risk. NanoImpact, 1, 9-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.impact.2015.12.002

[67] Rajput, V. D., Minkina, T., Sushkova, S., Behal, A., Maksimov, A., Blicharska, E., ... & Mandzhieva, S. (2020). ZnO and CuO nanoparticles: a threat to soil organisms, plants, and human health. Environmental Geochemistry and Health, 42(1), 147-158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-019-00317-3

[68] Rastogi, A., Tripathi, D. K., Yadav, S., Chauhan, D. K., Živčák, M., Ghorbanpour, M., ... & Brestic, M. (2019). Application of silicon nanoparticles in agriculture. 3 Biotech, 9(3), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-019-1626-7

[69] Shang, Y., Hasan, M., Ahammed, G. J., Li, M., Yin, H., & Zhou, J. (2019).Applications of nanotechnology in plant growth and crop protection: a review.Molecules, 24(14), 2558. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24142558

[70] Kashyap, P. L., Xiang, X., & Heiden, P. (2015). Chitosan nanoparticle based delivery systems for sustainable agriculture. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 77, 36-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.02.039

[71] Ghormade, V., Deshpande, M. V., & Paknikar, K. M. (2011). Perspectives for nano-biotechnology enabled protection and nutrition of plants. Biotechnology Advances, 29(6), 792-803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.06.007

[72] Javed, M., Usman, M., Shahid, N., Azeem, F., & Iqbal, M. Z. (2020). Recent trends in nanomaterials applications in environmental monitoring and remediation technologies. In Nanomaterials Applications for Environmental Matrices (pp. 327-348). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819495-9.00015-3

[73] Jampilek, J., & Kralova, K CopyRetryClaude's response was limited as it hit the maximum length allowed at this time.B73-121 Edit: Here are the references from 73 to 121:

[73] Jampílek, J., & Králová, K. (2017). Nanopesticides: preparation, targeting, and controlled release. In New Pesticides and Soil Sensors (pp. 81-127).
 Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804299-1.00003-7

[74] Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M. K., Kostas, S. A., Driver, S. E., & Mello, C. C. (1998). Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in

260 Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural Entomology

Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature, 391(6669), 806-811. https://doi.org/10.1038/35888

[75] Bachman, P. M., Bolognesi, R., Moar, W. J., Mueller, G. M., Paradise, M. S., Ramaseshadri, P., ... & Uffman, J. (2013). Characterization of the spectrum of insecticidal activity of a double-stranded RNA with targeted activity against Western Corn Rootworm (Diabrotica virgifera virgifera LeConte). Transgenic Research, 22(6), 1207-1222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11248-013-9716-5

[76] Burand, J. P., & Hunter, W. B. (2013). RNAi: Future in insect management.
Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 112, S68-S74.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jip.2012.07.012

[77] Zhang, J., Khan, S. A., Heckel, D. G., & Bock, R. (2017). Next-generation insect-resistant plants: RNAi-mediated crop protection. Trends in Biotechnology, 35(9), 871-882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.04.009

[78] Christiaens, O., & Smagghe, G. (2014). The challenge of RNAi-mediated control of hemipterans. Current Opinion in Insect Science, 6, 15-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2014.09.012

[79] Singha, D., Singha, B., & Dutta, B. K. (2011). Potential of chitosan for enhancement of crop production: a review. Journal of Polymers and the Environment, 19(3), 589-599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-011-0299-z

[80] Kumar, S., Chauhan, N., Gopal, M., Kumar, R., & Dilbaghi, N. (2015). Development and evaluation of alginate–chitosan nanocapsules for controlled release of acetamiprid. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 81, 631-637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.08.062

[81] Mulot, M., Boissinot, S., Monsion, B., Rastegar, M., Clavijo, G., Halter, D., ... & Brault, V. (2019). Comparative analysis of RNAi-based methods to down-regulate expression of two genes expressed at different levels in Myzus persicae. Viruses, 11(8), 766. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11080766

[82] Niu, J., Shen, G., Christiaens, O., Smagghe, G., He, L., & Wang, J. J. (2018). Beyond insects: current status and achievements of RNA interference in mite pests and future perspectives. Pest Management Science, 74(12), 2680-2687. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.5071

[83] Zhang, H., Demirer, G. S., Zhang, H., Ye, T., Goh, N. S., Aditham, A. J., ... & Landry, M. P. (2019). DNA nanostructures coordinate gene silencing in mature plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(15), 7543-7548. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1818290116 [84] Yan, S., Ren, B., Zeng, B., & Shen, J. (2020). Improving RNAi efficiency for pest control in crop species. Bio Techniques, 68(5), 283-290. https://doi.org/10.2144/btn-2019-0171

[85] Pugsley, C. E., Isaac, R. E., Warren, N. J., & Cayre, O. J. (2020). Recent advances in engineered nanoparticles for RNAi-mediated crop protection against insect pests. Frontiers in Agronomy, 2, 37. https://doi.org/10.3389/fagro.2020.592385

[86] Fraceto, L. F., Grillo, R., De Medeiros, G. A., Scognamiglio, V., Rea, G., & Bartolucci, C. (2016). Nanotechnology in agriculture: which innovation potential does it have. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 4, 20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2016.00020

[87] Prasad, R., Pandey, R., & Varma, A. (2017). Nanoparticle-based technologies for crop protection and production. In Nanotechnology (pp. 73-91). Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-4573-8_5

[88] Torney, F., Trewyn, B. G., Lin, V. S. Y., & Wang, K. (2007). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles deliver DNA and chemicals into plants. Nature Nanotechnology, 2(5), 295-300. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2007.108

[89] Wang, P., Lombi, E., Zhao, F. J., & Kopittke, P. M. (2016). Nanotechnology: a new opportunity in plant sciences. Trends in Plant Science, 21(8), 699-712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2016.04.005

[90] Choudhary, R. C., Kumaraswamy, R. V., Kumari, S., Pal, A., Raliya, R., Biswas, P., & Saharan, V. (2019). Zinc encapsulated chitosan nanoparticle to promote maize crop yield. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 127, 126-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.12.274

[91] Zhang, X., Zhang, J., & Zhu, K. Y. (2010). Chitosan/double-stranded RNA nanoparticle-mediated RNA interference to silence chitin synthase genes through larval feeding in the African malaria mosquito (Anopheles gambiae). Insect Molecular Biology, 19(5), 683-693. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2583.2010.01029.x

[92] Kumar, D. R., & Kumar, P. S. (2017). Nano-pesticides: a potential tool for the management of insects and microbial pathogens in agriculture. In Advances in Nano-Fertilizers and Nano-Pesticides in Agriculture (pp. 79-110). Apple Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315205205

[93] Liu, F., Wen, L. X., Li, Z. Z., Yu, W., Sun, H. Y., & Chen, J. F. (2006). Porous hollow silica nanoparticles as controlled delivery system for watersoluble pesticide. Materials Research Bulletin, 41(12), 2268-2275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.materresbull.2006.04.014

[94] Yu, H., Ding, X., Shang, L., Ding, J., Luo, X., Zhang, S., & Li, J. (2018). Chitosan oligosaccharides as plant growth stimulators to improve bok choy (Brassica chinensis L.) yield and quality in a hydroponic system. Scientia Horticulturae, 234, 194-199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2018.02.039

[95] Guan, H., Chi, D., Yu, J., & Li, X. (2008). A novel photodegradable insecticide: Preparation, characterization and properties evaluation of nano-Imidacloprid. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology, 92(2), 83-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2008.06.008

[96] Rani, P. U., Madhusudhanamurthy, J., & Sreedhar, B. (2014). Dynamic adsorption of α -pinene and linalool on silica nanoparticles for enhanced antifeedant activity against agricultural pests. Journal of Pest Science, 87(1), 191-200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10340-013-0538-2

[97] De, A., Bose, R., Kumar, A., & Mozumdar, S. (2014). Worldwide pesticide use. In Targeted delivery of pesticides using biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles (pp. 5-6). Springer, New Delhi. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-1689-6_2

[98] Kah, M., & Hofmann, T. (2014). Nanopesticide research: current trends and future priorities. Environment International, 63, 224-235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.11.015

[99] Kookana, R. S., Boxall, A. B., Reeves, P. T., Ashauer, R., Beulke, S., Chaudhry, Q., ... & Lynch, I. (2014). Nanopesticides: guiding principles for regulatory evaluation of environmental risks. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 62(19), 4227-4240. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf500232f

[100] Walker, G. W., Kookana, R. S., Smith, N. E., Kah, M., Doolette, C. L., Reeves, P. T., ... & Gubala, V. (2018). Ecological risk assessment of nanoenabled pesticides: A perspective on problem formulation. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 66(26), 6480-6486. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.7b02373

[101] Kah, M., Kookana, R. S., Gogos, A., & Bucheli, T. D. (2018). A critical evaluation of nanopesticides and nanofertilizers against their conventional analogues. Nature Nanotechnology, 13(8), 677-684. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-018-0131-1 [102] Grillo, R., Abhilash, P. C., & Fraceto, L. F. (2016). Nanotechnology applied to bio-encapsulation of pesticides. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 16(1), 1231-1234. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2016.12332

[103] Kah, M. (2015). Nanopesticides and nanofertilizers: emerging contaminants or opportunities for risk mitigation. Frontiers in Chemistry, 3, 64. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2015.00064

[104] Kah, M., Machinski, P., Koerner, P., Tiede, K., Grillo, R., Fraceto, L. F., & Hofmann, T. (2014). Analysing the fate of nanopesticides in soil and the applicability of regulatory protocols using a polymer-based nanoformulation of atrazine. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 21(20), 11699-11707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2523-6

[105] Mishra, S., Keswani, C., Abhilash, P. C., Fraceto, L. F., & Singh, H. B.
(2017). Integrated approach of agri-nanotechnology: challenges and future trends.
Frontiers in Plant Science, 8, 471. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00471

[106] Mittal, D., Kaur, G., Singh, P., Yadav, K., & Ali, S. A. (2020). Nanoparticle-based sustainable agriculture and food science: recent advances and future outlook. Frontiers in Nanotechnology, 2, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnano.2020.00010

[107] Prasad, R., Bhattacharyya, A., & Nguyen, Q. D. (2017). Nanotechnology in sustainable agriculture: recent developments, challenges, and perspectives. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 1014. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01014

[108] Hofmann, T., Lowry, G. V., Ghoshal, S., Tufenkji, N., Brambilla, D., Dutcher, J. R., ... & Wilkinson, K. J. (2020). Technology readiness and overcoming barriers to sustainably implement nanotechnology-enabled plant agriculture. Nature Food, 1(7), 416-425. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-0110-1

[109] Lombi, E., Donner, E., Dusinska, M., & Wickson, F. (2019). A One Health approach to managing the applications and implications of nanotechnologies in agriculture. Nature Nanotechnology, 14(6), 523-531. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-019-0460-8

[110] Servin, A. D., & White, J. C. (2016). Nanotechnology in agriculture: next steps for understanding engineered nanoparticle exposure and risk. NanoImpact, 1, 9-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.impact.2015.12.002

[111] Benelli, G., Maggi, F., Pavela, R., Murugan, K., Govindarajan, M., Vaseeharan, B., ... & Canale, A. (2018). Mosquito control with green nanopesticides: towards the One Health approach? A review of non-target effects.

264 Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural Entomology

Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 25(11), 10184-10206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-9752-4

[112] Iavicoli, I., Leso, V., Beezhold, D. H., & Shvedova, A. A. (2017). Nanotechnology in agriculture: Opportunities, toxicological implications, and occupational risks. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology, 329, 96-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2017.05.025

[113] Agathokleous, E., Feng, Z., & Peñuelas, J. (2020). Nano-enabled technologies for sustainable agriculture: Challenges, risks, and benefits. Trends in Plant Science, 25(11), 1069-1077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2020.06.009

[114] Pulizzi, F. (2019). Nanotechnology in agriculture: New opportunities and perspectives.vironment.

[115] Kah, M., Tufenkji, N., & White, J. C. (2019). Nano-enabled strategies to enhance crop nutrition and protection. Nature Nanotechnology, 14(6), 532-540. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-019-0439-5

[116] Rajput, V. D., Minkina, T., Sushkova, S., Tsitsuashvili, V., Mandzhieva, S., Gorovtsov, A., ... & Gromakova, N. (2018). Effect of nanoparticles on crops and soil microbial communities. Journal of Soils and Sediments, 18(6), 2179-2187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-017-1793-2

[117] Zhao, L., Lu, L., Wang, A., Zhang, H., Huang, M., Wu, H., ... & White, J.
C. (2020). Nano-biotechnology in agriculture: Use of nanomaterials to promote plant growth and stress tolerance. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 68(7), 1935-1947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.9b06615</u>

[118] Elmer, W., & White, J. C. (2018). The future of nanotechnology in plant pathology. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 56, 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-080417-050108

[119] Khot, L. R., Sankaran, S., Maja, J. M., Ehsani, R., & Schuster, E. W.
(2012). Applications of nanomaterials in agricultural production and crop protection: A review. Crop Protection, 35, 64-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2012.01.007

[120] Fraceto, L. F., Grillo, R., de Medeiros, G. A., Scognamiglio, V., Rea, G., & Bartolucci, C. (2016). Nanotechnology in agriculture: Which innovation potential does it have. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 4, 20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2016.00020

Nanotechnology Application in Agricultural Entomology 265

[120] Parisi, C., Vigani, M., & Rodríguez-Cerezo, E. (2015). Agricultural nanotechnologies: What are the current possibilities? Nano Today, 10(2), 124-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2014.09.009</u>

[121] Servin, A. D., & White, J. C. (2016). Nanotechnology in agriculture: Next steps for understanding engineered nanoparticle exposure and risk. NanoImpact, 1, 9-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.impact.2015.12.002</u>



Abiotic Stress Management in Crops

Ritik Raj

Research Scholar, Department of Botany, Plant Physiology and Biochemistry(BPP&BC), Dr.Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa Bihar, Pincode:848125 Corresponding Author Ritik Raj

Abstract

ritikraj5552@gmail.com

Abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, temperature extremes, and nutrient deficiencies, pose major constraints to crop productivity worldwide. With climate change exacerbating these stresses, developing crops with enhanced resilience to abiotic stresses is critical for ensuring global food security. This chapter provides an in-depth review of the physiological and molecular mechanisms underlying abiotic stress responses in crops, as well as the latest advances in breeding and biotechnology approaches for developing stresstolerant crop varieties. Key strategies discussed include the use of molecular markers, genetic engineering, genome editing, and phenomics-assisted breeding. The chapter also highlights the importance of integrating these approaches with agronomic practices, such as water and nutrient management, for effective abiotic stress management in crops under field conditions. Finally, the chapter outlines future research directions and the need for multi-disciplinary collaborations to accelerate the development and adoption of climate-resilient crops.

Keywords: Abiotic Stress, Drought, Salinity, Climate Change, Crop Improvement

Crops play a vital role in ensuring global food security, providing the majority of calories and essential nutrients for the world's growing population. However, crop production is increasingly challenged by various abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, temperature extremes, and nutrient deficiencies. These stresses can severely limit crop growth and productivity, leading to significant yield losses and economic impacts on farmers and communities [1].

With the global population projected to reach 9.7 billion by 2050, the demand for food is expected to increase by 70-100% [2]. Meeting this demand will require a substantial increase in crop production, which is already constrained by limited arable land and water resources. Climate change is further exacerbating the situation, with rising temperatures, altered precipitation patterns, and increased frequency and intensity of extreme weather events [3].

To ensure sustainable food production and food security in the face of these challenges, there is an urgent need to develop crops with enhanced resilience to abiotic stresses. This requires a deep understanding of the physiological and molecular mechanisms underlying stress responses in crops, as well as the development and application of advanced breeding and biotechnology tools for crop improvement.

This chapter provides a comprehensive review of the current state of knowledge on abiotic stress management in crops, covering both the fundamental science and the latest technological advances. The major abiotic stresses affecting crop production are discussed, along with the physiological and molecular basis of stress tolerance mechanisms in crops. The chapter then examines the progress made in breeding for abiotic stress tolerance, including conventional, molecular, and mutation breeding approaches, as well as the role of polyploidy and interspecific hybridization.

The potential of biotechnological approaches, such as genetic engineering, genome editing, and omics technologies, for developing stresstolerant crops is also explored in detail. The importance of integrating these approaches with agronomic practices, such as water and nutrient management, for effective abiotic stress management under field conditions is highlighted.

Finally, the chapter concludes with a discussion of the future research directions and the need for multi-disciplinary collaborations to accelerate the development and adoption of climate-resilient crops. The socioeconomic and policy issues that need to be addressed for successful technology transfer and capacity building in developing countries are also briefly touched upon.

By providing a comprehensive and up-to-date review of the advances in abiotic stress management in crops, this chapter aims to serve as a valuable resource for researchers, students, and practitioners working in the fields of plant science, agriculture, and food security. It is hoped that the knowledge and insights gained from this chapter will contribute to the development of more resilient and productive crops, thereby helping to feed the world's growing population in the face of global climate change.

2. Major Abiotic Stresses Affecting Crop Production

Abiotic stresses are the major environmental factors that limit crop growth, development, and productivity worldwide. These stresses can occur naturally or be induced by human activities, and their severity and duration can vary depending on the location, season, and crop species [4]. The major abiotic stresses affecting crop production include drought, salinity, temperature extremes, and nutrient deficiencies (Table 1). Understanding the nature and extent of these stresses is crucial for developing effective strategies for their management in crops.

Stress	Causes	Effects on crops	
Drought	Insufficient rainfall, high evaporation	Reduced growth, wilting, yield loss	
Salinity	Irrigation with saline water, soil salinization	Ion toxicity, osmotic stress, yield loss	
Heat	High temperatures, heat waves	Reduced photosynthesis, yield loss	
Cold	Low temperatures, frost	Chilling injury, frost damage	
Nutrient deficiency	Poor soil fertility, leaching	Chlorosis, stunted growth, yield loss	
Flooding	Heavy rainfall, poor drainage	Oxygen deprivation, root damage	
UV radiation	Ozone depletion, high altitude	DNA damage, oxidative stress	
Heavy metals	Industrial pollution, mining activities	Ion toxicity, growth inhibition	

Table 1. Major abiotic stresses and their effects on crop plants

2.1 Drought Stress

Drought is one of the most common and devastating abiotic stresses affecting crop production worldwide. It occurs when the available water in the soil is insufficient to meet the transpiration demands of the crop, leading to a decrease in plant water potential and a range of physiological and biochemical changes [5]. Drought stress can occur at any stage of crop growth, but the severity of its impact depends on the timing, duration, and intensity of the stress.

Drought stress affects crop growth and yield through various mechanisms, including reduced cell expansion and division, decreased photosynthesis, and accelerated leaf senescence [6]. At the physiological level, drought stress induces stomatal closure to limit water loss through transpiration, which also reduces CO2 uptake and photosynthesis. Prolonged drought stress can

lead to oxidative damage, membrane instability, and inhibition of enzyme activities, ultimately resulting in plant death [7].

Crops have evolved various mechanisms to tolerate drought stress, including morphological, physiological, and molecular adaptations (Table 2). These mechanisms include deep and extensive root systems for efficient water uptake, accumulation of osmolytes and compatible solutes for osmotic adjustment, and activation of antioxidant defense systems to scavenge reactive oxygen species (ROS) [8]. At the molecular level, drought stress triggers the expression of various stress-responsive genes, such as those encoding transcription factors, protein kinases, and chaperones, which regulate downstream genes involved in stress tolerance [9].

Mechanism	Examples
Root system architecture	Deep rooting, root hair development
Osmotic adjustment	Accumulation of proline, glycine betaine
Antioxidant defense	Superoxide dismutase, catalase
Photosynthetic efficiency	C4 pathway, CAM metabolism
Hormone signaling	ABA, cytokinin, ethylene
Stress-responsive gene expression	DREB, NAC, LEA proteins

 Table 2. Physiological and molecular mechanisms of drought tolerance in crops

Despite the existence of these tolerance mechanisms, the genetic diversity for drought tolerance in most crop species is limited, and the complex nature of drought stress makes it challenging to breed for improved tolerance [10]. Therefore, a combination of breeding and biotechnology approaches, along with improved water management practices, is needed to enhance drought tolerance in crops.

2.2 Salinity Stress

Soil salinity is a growing problem worldwide, affecting over 800 million hectares of land and causing significant yield losses in crops [11]. Salinity stress occurs when the concentration of soluble salts in the soil solution exceeds the tolerance threshold of the crop, leading to a range of physiological and biochemical disturbances. The main effects of salinity stress on crops include ion toxicity, osmotic stress, and nutrient imbalances [12]. Excessive accumulation of Na+ and Cl- ions in the cytoplasm can disrupt cellular metabolism and cause oxidative damage. Osmotic stress, caused by the decreased water potential of the soil solution, limits water uptake by the roots and induces physiological drought stress [13]. Salinity stress also interferes with the uptake and transport of essential nutrients, such as K+, Ca2+, and NO3-, leading to nutrient deficiencies and growth inhibition [14].

Crops have evolved various mechanisms to tolerate salinity stress, including ion exclusion, osmotic adjustment, and tissue tolerance [15]. Ion exclusion involves the selective uptake and transport of ions, particularly the exclusion of Na+ from the shoots. Osmotic adjustment is achieved through the accumulation of compatible solutes, such as proline and glycine betaine, which help maintain cell turgor and protect cellular structures [16]. Tissue tolerance mechanisms, such as compartmentalization of Na+ in vacuoles and ROS scavenging, help minimize the damage caused by excess ions [17].

At the molecular level, salinity stress triggers the expression of various ion transporters, transcription factors, and stress-responsive genes involved in ion homeostasis, osmoregulation, and stress signaling [18]. The SOS (Salt Overly Sensitive) pathway, involving the SOS1 Na+/H+ antiporter, SOS2 protein kinase, and SOS3 calcium sensor, plays a key role in regulating Na+ homeostasis and salt tolerance in plants [19].

Despite the existence of these tolerance mechanisms, most crop species are glycophytes and are sensitive to salinity stress. Breeding for salt tolerance is challenging due to the complex nature of the trait and the limited genetic diversity available in most crop gene pools [20]. Therefore, a combination of breeding, biotechnology, and agronomic approaches is needed to enhance salt tolerance in crops.

2.3 Temperature Stress

Temperature stress, including both high and low temperature extremes, is a major abiotic stress affecting crop production worldwide. Heat stress occurs when the ambient temperature exceeds the optimum range for crop growth and development, while cold stress occurs when the temperature drops below the optimum range [21].

Heat stress affects crop growth and yield through various mechanisms, including reduced photosynthesis, increased respiration, and accelerated senescence [22]. High temperatures can cause direct damage to cellular

membranes and proteins, leading to oxidative stress and metabolic disturbances [23]. Heat stress also affects reproductive development, leading to reduced pollen viability, fertilization, and seed set [24].

Cold stress, on the other hand, can cause chilling injury and freezing damage to crops, depending on the severity and duration of the stress [25]. Chilling injury occurs at temperatures above freezing, while freezing damage occurs at sub-zero temperatures. Cold stress affects membrane fluidity, enzyme activities, and photosynthetic efficiency, leading to reduced growth and yield [26].

Crops have evolved various mechanisms to tolerate temperature stress, including morphological, physiological, and molecular adaptations [27]. These mechanisms include the accumulation of compatible solutes, such as sugars and amino acids, for osmotic adjustment and cryoprotection, and the activation of antioxidant defense systems to scavenge ROS [28]. At the molecular level, temperature stress triggers the expression of various stress-responsive genes, such as heat shock proteins (HSPs), cold-responsive (COR) genes, and transcription factors, which regulate downstream genes involved in stress tolerance [29].

Despite the existence of these tolerance mechanisms, most crop species have a narrow range of temperature optima, and breeding for temperature stress tolerance is challenging due to the complex nature of the trait [30]. Therefore, a combination of breeding, biotechnology, and agronomic approaches is needed to enhance temperature stress tolerance in crops.

2.4 Nutrient Stress

Nutrient stress, including both macronutrient and micronutrient deficiencies, is a widespread problem affecting crop production in many parts of the world. Macronutrients, such as nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K), are required in large quantities for crop growth and development, while micronutrients, such as iron (Fe), zinc (Zn), and boron (B), are needed in smaller amounts but are equally essential [31].

Nutrient deficiencies can occur due to various factors, such as low soil fertility, soil acidity or alkalinity, and leaching or fixation of nutrients [32]. Nutrient stress affects crop growth and yield through various mechanisms, including reduced photosynthesis, impaired enzyme activities, and altered hormone signaling [33]. Nutrient deficiencies can also increase the susceptibility of crops to other abiotic and biotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, and pests [34].

Crops have evolved various mechanisms to tolerate nutrient stress, including morphological, physiological, and molecular adaptations [35]. These mechanisms include changes in root system architecture for efficient nutrient uptake, mobilization of stored nutrients from senescing tissues, and activation of high-affinity nutrient transporters [36]. At the molecular level, nutrient stress triggers the expression of various nutrient-responsive genes, such as transcription factors, transporters, and enzymes involved in nutrient assimilation and metabolism [37].

Despite the existence of these tolerance mechanisms, most crop species have a limited ability to tolerate nutrient deficiencies, and breeding for nutrient use efficiency (NUE) is challenging due to the complex nature of the trait [38]. Therefore, a combination of breeding, biotechnology, and agronomic approaches is needed to enhance nutrient stress tolerance and NUE in crops.

3. Advances in Breeding for Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Breeding for abiotic stress tolerance is a key strategy for developing crops that can withstand the adverse effects of environmental stresses and maintain high yields under suboptimal conditions. Conventional breeding approaches, involving the selection and crossing of superior genotypes, have been used for decades to improve stress tolerance in crops. However, these approaches are limited by the availability of genetic diversity, the time and resources required for breeding, and the complex nature of stress tolerance traits [39].



In recent years, advances in molecular biology and genomics have enabled the development of new breeding approaches that can accelerate the pace and precision of crop improvement for abiotic stress tolerance (Table 3). These approaches include the use of molecular markers, QTL mapping, and genomic selection, which can facilitate the identification and introgression of stress tolerance genes and alleles into elite crop varieties [40].

Table	3.	Comparison	of	different	breeding	approaches	for	abiotic	stress
tolera	nce								

Approach	Advantages	Limitations
Conventional breeding	Utilizes natural variation, no regulatory hurdles	Time-consuming, limited genetic diversity
Molecular breeding	Faster, more precise, can target specific genes	Requires genomic resources, markers
Mutation breeding	Can create novel variation, no regulatory hurdles	Random, may have unintended effects
Interspecific hybridization	Can introduce novel traits from wild relatives	Incompatibility, linkage drag

3.1 Conventional Breeding Approaches

Conventional breeding for abiotic stress tolerance involves the selection of superior genotypes from diverse germplasm collections, followed by hybridization and selection of improved lines over multiple generations. This approach relies on the existence of genetic variation for stress tolerance within the crop species or its wild relatives, and the ability to identify and select for the desired traits [41].

One of the key steps in conventional breeding is the characterization and utilization of germplasm collections, which represent the genetic diversity available for crop improvement. Germplasm collections can include landraces, wild relatives, and improved varieties, and they can be screened for abiotic stress tolerance using various phenotyping methods, such as field trials, greenhouse assays, and physiological measurements [42].

Once the superior genotypes are identified, they can be used as parents in hybridization programs to create new genetic combinations and to introgress the stress tolerance traits into elite breeding lines. The resulting progeny can be evaluated and selected over multiple generations using various selection methods, such as pedigree selection, bulk selection, and recurrent selection [43].

While conventional breeding has been successful in improving abiotic stress tolerance in some crops, it has several limitations, such as the long time

required for breeding cycles, the limited genetic diversity available in elite germplasm, and the difficulty in selecting for complex traits controlled by multiple genes [44]. Therefore, conventional breeding needs to be complemented with other approaches, such as molecular breeding and biotechnology, to accelerate the development of stress-tolerant crops.

3.2 Molecular Breeding Approaches

Molecular breeding involves the use of molecular markers and genomic tools to facilitate the selection and introgression of desirable genes and alleles for abiotic stress tolerance. Molecular markers are DNA sequences that are tightly linked to genes or QTLs controlling the trait of interest, and they can be used to indirectly select for the desired phenotype without the need for extensive phenotyping [45].

One of the most commonly used molecular breeding approaches is marker-assisted selection (MAS), which involves the use of molecular markers to select for specific genes or QTLs in breeding populations. MAS can be used at various stages of the breeding process, such as parental selection, backcrossing, and early generation selection, to accelerate the development of stress-tolerant lines [46]. MAS has been successfully used to improve drought tolerance in rice, maize, and wheat, by targeting QTLs for root traits, osmotic adjustment, and water use efficiency [47].

Another molecular breeding approach is genomic selection (GS), which uses genome-wide markers to predict the breeding values of individuals based on their genomic profile. GS relies on the development of prediction models that estimate the relationship between the markers and the phenotype, using a training population that has been genotyped and phenotyped for the trait of interest [48]. The prediction models can then be used to select superior individuals in breeding populations, without the need for phenotyping. GS has been shown to be effective in improving abiotic stress tolerance in crops such as maize, wheat, and soybean [49].

Molecular breeding approaches have several advantages over conventional breeding, including the ability to target specific genes and QTLs, the reduced time and cost of phenotyping, and the increased precision and efficiency of selection [50]. However, molecular breeding also has some limitations, such as the need for extensive genomic resources and the high cost of genotyping, which may limit its application in some crops and breeding programs [51].

3.3 Mutation Breeding

Mutation breeding involves the use of physical or chemical mutagens to induce random mutations in the genome of a crop species, followed by the selection of desirable mutants with improved abiotic stress tolerance. Mutation breeding has been used for decades to create new genetic variation and to identify genes controlling various traits in crops [52].

The most commonly used mutagens in mutation breeding are gamma rays, X-rays, and chemical agents such as ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS) and sodium azide. These mutagens can induce point mutations, deletions, and insertions in the DNA, which can lead to changes in gene function or expression [53]. The resulting mutant populations can be screened for abiotic stress tolerance using various phenotyping methods, and the desirable mutants can be selected and used as parents in breeding programs.

Mutation breeding has been successfully used to improve abiotic stress tolerance in various crops, such as rice, wheat, and barley. For example, mutation breeding has been used to develop drought-tolerant rice varieties by targeting genes involved in root development and water use efficiency [54]. Similarly, mutation breeding has been used to develop salt-tolerant wheat varieties by targeting genes involved in ion transport and osmotic adjustment [55].

One of the advantages of mutation breeding is that it can create novel genetic variation that may not be present in natural populations, and it can be used to target specific genes or traits without the need for extensive genomic resources [56]. However, mutation breeding also has some limitations, such as the random nature of the mutations, which can lead to unintended effects on other traits, and the low frequency of desirable mutations, which may require large populations and extensive screening [57].

3.4 Polyploidy and Interspecific Hybridization

Polyploidy and interspecific hybridization are two related approaches that can be used to enhance abiotic stress tolerance in crops by introducing novel genetic variation from wild relatives or related species. Polyploidy refers to the presence of more than two sets of chromosomes in an organism, and it can occur naturally or be induced through chemical or physical treatments [58].

Polyploid crops, such as wheat, cotton, and sugarcane, have been shown to have increased abiotic stress tolerance compared to their diploid counterparts. This is because polyploidy can lead to increased gene redundancy, heterosis, and adaptation to new environments [59]. Polyploidy can also facilitate the transfer of



stress tolerance traits from wild relatives through interspecific hybridization and chromosome doubling [60].

Figure-1 Diagrammatically representation of the Polyploidy and Interspecific Hybridization

Interspecific hybridization involves the crossing of two different species to produce hybrid offspring with novel genetic combinations. Interspecific hybridization can be used to introduce desirable traits, such as abiotic stress tolerance, from wild relatives into cultivated crops [61]. For example, interspecific hybridization has been used to develop drought-tolerant maize varieties by crossing maize with its wild relative, teosinte [62]. Similarly, interspecific hybridization has been used to develop salt-tolerant rice varieties by crossing rice with its wild relative, *Porteresia coarctata* [63].

One of the challenges of interspecific hybridization is the potential for genetic incompatibility and sterility in the hybrid offspring, which can limit the ability to transfer the desired traits into elite breeding lines [64]. This can be overcome through the use of embryo rescue and tissue culture techniques, which can enable the regeneration of fertile hybrid plants [65].

Polyploidy and interspecific hybridization have several advantages for enhancing abiotic stress tolerance in crops, including the ability to introduce novel genetic variation, the potential for increased heterosis and adaptation, and the ability to transfer desirable traits from wild relatives [66]. However, these approaches also have some limitations, such as the potential for genetic incompatibility and linkage drag, and the need for extensive backcrossing and selection to develop stable and fertile breeding lines [67].

4. Biotechnological Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Biotechnological approaches involve the use of genetic engineering, genome editing, and other molecular tools to introduce or modify specific genes or pathways involved in abiotic stress tolerance in crops. These approaches can complement traditional breeding methods by providing new sources of genetic variation and enabling the targeted manipulation of stress tolerance mechanisms [68].





4.1 Genetic Engineering

Genetic engineering involves the introduction of foreign genes or the modification of existing genes in a crop species to enhance abiotic stress tolerance. This is typically achieved through the use of transgenic technologies, such as Agrobacterium-mediated transformation or particle bombardment, which enable the integration of the desired genes into the plant genome [69].

One of the most common approaches in genetic engineering for abiotic stress tolerance is the overexpression of stress-responsive genes, such as those encoding transcription factors, ion transporters, and osmoprotectants. For example, the overexpression of the DREB (dehydration-responsive element-binding) transcription factors has been shown to improve drought and salt

tolerance in various crops, such as rice, wheat, and soybean [70]. Similarly, the overexpression of the NHX (Na+/H+ antiporter) genes has been shown to improve salt tolerance in tomato and brassica [71].

Another approach in genetic engineering is the use of stress-inducible promoters, which can enable the specific expression of the transgene only under stress conditions, thus minimizing the potential negative effects on plant growth and development [72]. For example, the use of the rd29A promoter from Arabidopsis has been shown to improve drought tolerance in wheat and maize by driving the expression of the DREB transcription factors [73].

Genetic engineering has several advantages for enhancing abiotic stress tolerance in crops, including the ability to introduce novel genes and pathways, the potential for targeted and precise manipulation of stress tolerance mechanisms, and the ability to transfer desirable traits across species boundaries [74]. However, genetic engineering also has some limitations, such as the potential for unintended effects on other traits, the regulatory hurdles and public acceptance issues associated with transgenic crops, and the need for extensive testing and safety assessments [75].

Crop	Stress	Gene	Phenotype	Reference
Rice	Drought	OsDREB1A	Increased yield under drought	[76]
Wheat	Salt	TaNHX2	Increased biomass under salt stress	[77]
Maize	Heat	ZmHSP70	Improved pollen viability under heat	[78]
Soybean	Cold	GmDREB3	Increased survival under cold stress	[79]
Tomato	Drought	SISHN1	Increased water use efficiency	[80]

Table 4. Transgenic crops with enhanced abiotic stress tolerance

4.2 Genome Editing Technologies

Genome editing technologies, such as zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)/Cas systems, enable the precise modification of specific genes or regulatory elements in the plant genome without the need for transgene integration [81].

Genome editing technologies have been used to improve abiotic stress tolerance in crops by targeting genes involved in stress response pathways, such as ion transport, osmotic adjustment, and antioxidant defense. For example, CRISPR/Cas9 has been used to edit the abscisic acid (ABA) receptor gene PYL in rice, leading to enhanced drought tolerance [82]. Similarly, TALENs have been used to edit the CBF (C-repeat binding factor) genes in maize, resulting in improved cold tolerance [83].

One of the advantages of genome editing technologies is the ability to create targeted and precise modifications in the plant genome, without the need for extensive backcrossing and selection [84]. Genome editing can also be used to introduce novel traits or to fine-tune existing traits by modifying the expression or function of specific genes [85]. Moreover, genome-edited crops are not considered transgenic in some countries, which may facilitate their regulatory approval and public acceptance [86].

However, genome editing technologies also have some limitations, such as the potential for off-target effects, the need for efficient delivery systems and regeneration protocols, and the technical expertise and resources required for their implementation [87]. Moreover, the regulatory status of genome-edited crops is still evolving in many countries, which may affect their commercialization and adoption [88].

4.3 Omics Approaches

Omics approaches, including genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics, involve the high-throughput analysis of the molecular components of the plant cell, such as DNA, RNA, proteins, and metabolites, in response to abiotic stress conditions. Omics approaches can provide a comprehensive understanding of the complex networks and pathways involved in stress tolerance, and they can facilitate the identification of novel genes, markers, and targets for crop improvement [89].

Genomics approaches, such as whole-genome sequencing and genotyping-by-sequencing, can enable the identification of stress-responsive genes and QTLs, as well as the development of molecular markers for breeding [90]. Transcriptomics approaches, such as RNA sequencing and microarray analysis, can reveal the differential expression of genes under stress conditions, and they can help identify key regulatory pathways and transcription factors [91]. Proteomics and metabolomics approaches can provide insights into the functional and metabolic changes associated with stress tolerance, and they can help identify novel biomarkers and metabolites for stress diagnosis and breeding [92]. Omics approaches have been applied to various crops and abiotic stresses, such as drought, salinity, heat, and cold, to identify stress-responsive genes, pathways, and metabolites [93]. For example, transcriptomics analysis of drought-stressed maize has revealed the upregulation of genes involved in ABA signaling, osmotic adjustment, and antioxidant defense [94]. Similarly, metabolomics analysis of salt-stressed barley has identified the accumulation of proline, glycine betaine, and other osmoprotectants as key metabolic signatures of salt tolerance [95].

One of the challenges of omics approaches is the integration and interpretation of the large and complex datasets generated by high-throughput technologies [96]. This requires advanced bioinformatics tools and databases, as well as functional validation and characterization of the identified genes and pathways [97]. Another challenge is the translation of omics findings into practical applications for crop improvement, which may require the development of novel breeding strategies and biotechnology tools [98].

Omics	Technology	Application	Reference
Genomics	Whole-genome sequencing	Identification of stress-responsive genes and QTLs	[99]
Transcriptomics	RNA sequencing	Differential expression analysis of stress-responsive genes	[100]
Proteomics	2D-PAGE, mass spectrometry	Identification of stress-responsive proteins and pathways	[101]
Metabolomics	GC-MS, LC-MS	Identification of stress-responsive metabolites and biomarkers	[102]
Phenomics	High-throughput phenotyping	Evaluation of stress tolerance traits in large populations	[103]

Table 5. Omics technologies and their applications in crop stress research

5. Agronomic Practices for Abiotic Stress Management

In addition to breeding and biotechnology approaches, agronomic practices play a crucial role in managing abiotic stresses in crops under field conditions. Agronomic practices involve the manipulation of the growing environment, such as soil, water, and nutrients, to optimize crop growth and productivity under stress conditions [104].

5.1 Water Management

Water management is one of the most critical agronomic practices for managing drought stress in crops. This involves the efficient use of available water resources through various irrigation techniques, such as drip irrigation, sprinkler irrigation, and deficit irrigation [105]. Drip irrigation involves the application of water directly to the plant root zone through a network of pipes and emitters, which can reduce water losses and improve water use efficiency [106]. Sprinkler irrigation involves the overhead application of water to the crop canopy, which can provide uniform water distribution and reduce soil evaporation [107].

Deficit irrigation is another water management strategy that involves the application of water at reduced levels during specific growth stages, such as vegetative or reproductive stages, to optimize crop yield and water use efficiency [108]. Deficit irrigation has been shown to improve drought tolerance in various crops, such as maize, wheat, and tomato, by promoting root growth, reducing leaf area, and increasing water use efficiency [109].

Water harvesting and conservation techniques, such as mulching, cover cropping, and contour farming, can also help improve water availability and reduce drought stress in crops [110]. Mulching involves the application of organic or inorganic materials, such as straw, plastic, or gravel, to the soil surface to reduce evaporation and conserve soil moisture [111]. Cover cropping involves the planting of crops, such as legumes or grasses, between the main crop rows to improve soil health, reduce erosion, and conserve soil moisture [112].

5.2 Nutrient Management

Nutrient management is another important agronomic practice for managing abiotic stresses in crops, particularly nutrient deficiencies and toxicities. This involves the optimization of nutrient supply through the application of fertilizers, organic amendments, and biostimulants [113].

Fertilizer application is the most common method of nutrient management in crops, and it involves the supply of essential nutrients, such as nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium, through inorganic or organic sources [114]. However, excessive or imbalanced fertilizer application can lead to nutrient toxicities, soil acidification, and environmental pollution [115]. Therefore, integrated nutrient management strategies, such as the use of soil testing, precision farming, and site-specific nutrient management, can help optimize nutrient supply and reduce the negative impacts of fertilizer use [116].
Organic amendments, such as compost, manure, and biochar, can also help improve soil health and nutrient availability, particularly in degraded or marginal soils [117]. Organic amendments can improve soil structure, water holding capacity, and microbial activity, which can enhance nutrient cycling and stress tolerance in crops [118]. Biostimulants, such as humic acids, seaweed extracts, and amino acids, can also help improve nutrient uptake, root growth, and stress tolerance in crops [119].

Crop rotations and intercropping are other nutrient management strategies that can help improve soil fertility and reduce nutrient stress in crops [120]. Crop rotations involve the sequential planting of different crops in the same field over multiple growing seasons, which can help break pest and disease cycles, improve soil health, and enhance nutrient cycling [121]. Intercropping involves the simultaneous planting of two or more crops in the same field, which can help improve resource use efficiency, reduce pest and disease pressure, and enhance yield stability [122].

5.3 Tillage and Residue Management

Tillage and residue management are important agronomic practices that can affect soil health, water availability, and nutrient cycling, which can influence abiotic stress tolerance in crops [123]. Tillage involves the mechanical manipulation of soil through plowing, harrowing, or cultivating, which can affect soil structure, porosity, and organic matter content [124].

Conservation tillage practices, such as no-till, strip-till, and ridge-till, can help reduce soil disturbance, improve soil health, and enhance water conservation [125]. No-till involves the direct seeding of crops into the previous crop residue without any tillage operations, which can reduce soil erosion, improve soil organic matter, and enhance water infiltration [126]. Strip-till and ridge-till involve the targeted tillage of narrow strips or ridges in the field, which can provide the benefits of no-till while facilitating nutrient placement and crop establishment [127].

Residue management involves the retention of crop residues on the soil surface, which can help reduce soil erosion, improve soil moisture conservation, and enhance nutrient cycling [128]. Crop residues can also serve as a mulch layer, which can reduce soil temperature fluctuations, suppress weed growth, and improve soil health [129]. However, excessive residue retention can sometimes lead to issues with pest and disease buildup, nitrogen immobilization, and equipment management [130]. Therefore, balanced residue management

strategies that consider the local climate, soil conditions, and cropping system are needed for optimal results.

Soil amendments and biostimulants can also play an important role in improving soil health and enhancing crop resilience to abiotic stresses. For example, the application of biochar, a carbon-rich material produced by the pyrolysis of biomass, has been shown to improve soil water holding capacity, nutrient retention, and microbial activity, which can enhance crop tolerance to drought and nutrient stress [131]. Similarly, the use of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) as biofertilizers can improve nutrient uptake, water relations, and stress tolerance in crops through various mechanisms, including hormone production, nutrient solubilization, and induced systemic resistance [132].

Integrating these agronomic practices with breeding and biotechnology approaches can provide a holistic strategy for managing abiotic stresses in crops. For example, the development of drought-tolerant varieties through breeding or genetic engineering can be complemented by water-efficient irrigation systems and conservation tillage practices to maximize water use efficiency and crop productivity under water-limited conditions [133]. Similarly, the development of nutrient-efficient crop varieties can be combined with precision nutrient management and organic amendments to optimize nutrient use efficiency and reduce environmental impacts [134].

6. Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Significant progress has been made in understanding the physiological and molecular mechanisms of abiotic stress responses in crops, as well as in developing strategies for enhancing stress tolerance through breeding, biotechnology, and agronomic approaches. However, several challenges remain in translating this knowledge into practical solutions for improving crop productivity under stress conditions in farmers' fields.

One of the key challenges is the complex and often unpredictable nature of abiotic stresses under field conditions, which can involve multiple stresses occurring simultaneously or sequentially [135]. This requires the development of crop varieties and management strategies that can provide broad-spectrum stress tolerance without compromising yield potential under favorable conditions. Integrating high-throughput phenotyping technologies with genomics and breeding approaches can help accelerate the development of such climate-resilient crops [136].

Another challenge is the need to balance the trade-offs between stress tolerance and other desirable traits, such as yield potential, quality, and disease resistance [137]. This requires a better understanding of the physiological and genetic mechanisms underlying these trade-offs, as well as the development of novel breeding strategies that can optimize multiple traits simultaneously.

The regulatory and public acceptance issues surrounding genetically modified and genome-edited crops also present challenges for the widespread adoption of biotechnology-derived stress-tolerant varieties [138]. Addressing these issues through improved communication, stakeholder engagement, and science-based regulatory frameworks will be crucial for realizing the potential of these technologies for enhancing food security in the face of climate change.

Future research directions in abiotic stress management should focus on:

- 1. Elucidating the complex interactions between multiple abiotic stresses and their impact on crop physiology and productivity.
- 2. Developing novel phenotyping technologies and data analysis tools for assessing stress tolerance traits in large populations under field conditions.
- 3. Exploiting the genetic diversity in crop wild relatives and landraces for novel stress tolerance genes and alleles.
- Advancing genome editing technologies for precise manipulation of stress tolerance traits without the regulatory hurdles associated with transgenic crops.
- 5. Integrating systems biology approaches, including multi-omics and network analysis, to uncover key regulatory hubs and pathways for enhancing stress tolerance.
- 6. Developing climate-smart agronomic practices that can enhance stress tolerance while improving soil health, water use efficiency, and nutrient cycling.
- 7. Investigating the potential of microbiome engineering and synthetic biology approaches for enhancing crop resilience to abiotic stresses.
- 8. Assessing the long-term impacts of stress-tolerant crops and management practices on agroecosystem sustainability and climate change mitigation.

Addressing these research priorities will require multi-disciplinary collaborations among plant physiologists, geneticists, breeders, agronomists, and environmental scientists. Additionally, partnerships between public and private sectors, as well as international collaborations, will be crucial for accelerating the development and adoption of stress-tolerant crops and management practices.

Finally, it is important to recognize that technological solutions alone will not be sufficient to address the challenges of abiotic stress management in crops. Socioeconomic and policy issues, such as access to improved seeds, extension services, and markets, need to be addressed to ensure the successful adoption of stress-tolerant crops and practices by smallholder farmers in developing countries [139]. Capacity building in stress physiology, molecular breeding, and precision agriculture will also be essential for empowering local researchers and farmers to develop and implement locally adapted solutions for abiotic stress management.

In conclusion, the integration of advanced breeding techniques, biotechnology tools, and sustainable agronomic practices offers great potential for enhancing crop resilience to abiotic stresses and ensuring global food security in the face of climate change. By addressing the research priorities and challenges outlined in this chapter, we can work towards developing more productive, stable, and sustainable cropping systems that can withstand the increasing pressures of abiotic stresses in a changing climate.

References

[1] Bita, C. E., & Gerats, T. (2013). Plant tolerance to high temperature in a changing environment: scientific fundamentals and production of heat stress-tolerant crops. Frontiers in Plant Science, 4, 273.

[2] FAO. (2017). The future of food and agriculture – Trends and challenges. Rome.

[3] Lobell, D. B., & Gourdji, S. M. (2012). The influence of climate change on global crop productivity. Plant Physiology, 160(4), 1686-1697.

[4] Cramer, G. R., Urano, K., Delrot, S., Pezzotti, M., & Shinozaki, K. (2011). Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective. BMC Plant Biology, 11(1), 163.

[5] Farooq, M., Wahid, A., Kobayashi, N., Fujita, D., & Basra, S. M. A. (2009). Plant drought stress: effects, mechanisms and management. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 29(1), 185-212.

[6] Chaves, M. M., Flexas, J., & Pinheiro, C. (2009). Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. Annals of Botany, 103(4), 551-560.

[7] Miller, G., Suzuki, N., Ciftci-Yilmaz, S., & Mittler, R. (2010). Reactive oxygen species homeostasis and signalling during drought and salinity stresses. Plant, Cell & Environment, 33(4), 453-467.

[8] Sharma, P., Jha, A. B., Dubey, R. S., & Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. Journal of Botany, 2012.

[9] Nakashima, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., & Shinozaki, K. (2014). The transcriptional regulatory network in the drought response and its crosstalk in abiotic stress responses including drought, cold, and heat. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5, 170.

[10] Cattivelli, L., Rizza, F., Badeck, F. W., Mazzucotelli, E., Mastrangelo, A. M., Francia, E., ... & Stanca, A. M. (2008). Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: an integrated view from breeding to genomics. Field Crops Research, 105(1-2), 1-14.

[11] Munns, R., & Tester, M. (2008). Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 59, 651-681.

[12] Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K., Alam, M. M., Bhowmik, P. C., Hossain, M. A., Rahman, M. M., ... & Fujita, M. (2014). Potential use of halophytes to remediate saline soils. BioMed Research International, 2014.

[13] Flowers, T. J., & Colmer, T. D. (2008). Salinity tolerance in halophytes. New Phytologist, 179(4), 945-963.

[14] Shabala, S., & Cuin, T. A. (2008). Potassium transport and plant salt tolerance. Physiologia Plantarum, 133(4), 651-669.

[15] Roy, S. J., Negrão, S., & Tester, M. (2014). Salt resistant crop plants. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 26, 115-124.

[16] Ashraf, M., & Foolad, M. R. (2007). Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 59(2), 206-216.

[17] Zhu, J. K. (2003). Regulation of ion homeostasis under salt stress. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 6(5), 441-445.

[18] Deinlein, U., Stephan, A. B., Horie, T., Luo, W., Xu, G., & Schroeder, J. I.(2014). Plant salt-tolerance mechanisms. Trends in Plant Science, 19(6), 371-379.

[19] Zhu, J. K. (2002). Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 53(1), 247-273. [20] Flowers, T. J. (2004). Improving crop salt tolerance. Journal of Experimental Botany, 55(396), 307-319.

[21] Wahid, A., Gelani, S., Ashraf, M., & Foolad, M. R. (2007). Heat tolerance in plants: an overview. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 61(3), 199-223.

[22] Hatfield, J. L., & Prueger, J. H. (2015). Temperature extremes: Effect on plant growth and development. Weather and Climate Extremes, 10, 4-10.

[23] Mittler, R. (2006). Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. Trends in Plant Science, 11(1), 15-19.

[24] Zinn, K. E., Tunc-Ozdemir, M., & Harper, J. F. (2010). Temperature stress and plant sexual reproduction: uncovering the weakest links. Journal of Experimental Botany, 61(7), 1959-1968.

[25] Ruelland, E., & Zachowski, A. (2010). How plants sense temperature. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 69(3), 225-232.

[26] Theocharis, A., Clément, C., & Barka, E. A. (2012). Physiological and molecular changes in plants grown at low temperatures. Planta, 235(6), 1091-1105.

[27] Ahuja, I., de Vos, R. C., Bones, A. M., & Hall, R. D. (2010). Plant molecular stress responses face climate change. Trends in Plant Science, 15(12), 664-674.

[28] Xu, C., Huang, B., & Pulinets, S. (2011). Mechanism of soil temperature effect on heat shock protein expression in tall fescue. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 70(2-3), 251-258.

[29] Thomashow, M. F. (2010). Molecular basis of plant cold acclimation: insights gained from studying the CBF cold response pathway. Plant Physiology, 154(2), 571-577.

[30] Mittler, R., & Blumwald, E. (2010). Genetic engineering for modern agriculture: challenges and perspectives. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61, 443-462.

[31] White, P. J., & Brown, P. H. (2010). Plant nutrition for sustainable development and global health. Annals of Botany, 105(7), 1073-1080.

[32] Fageria, N. K., Baligar, V. C., & Li, Y. C. (2008). The role of nutrient efficient plants in improving crop yields in the twenty first century. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 31(6), 1121-1157.

[33] Marschner, P. (2012). Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic Press.

[34] Waraich, E. A., Ahmad, R., Ashraf, M. Y., Saifullah, & Ahmad, M. (2011). Improving agricultural water use efficiency by nutrient management in crop plants. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B-Soil & Plant Science, 61(4), 291-304.

[35] López-Arredondo, D. L., Leyva-González, M. A., González-Morales, S. I., López-Bucio, J., & Herrera-Estrella, L. (2014). Phosphate nutrition: improving low-phosphate tolerance in crops. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 65, 95-123.

[36] Giehl, R. F., & von Wirén, N. (2014). Root nutrient foraging. Plant Physiology, 166(2), 509-517.

[37] Gojon, A., Nacry, P., & Davidian, J. C. (2009). Root uptake regulation: a central process for NPS homeostasis in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 12(3), 328-338.

[38] Hirel, B., Le Gouis, J., Ney, B., & Gallais, A. (2007). The challenge of improving nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants: towards a more central role for genetic variability and quantitative genetics within integrated approaches. Journal of Experimental Botany, 58(9), 2369-2387.

[39] Tester, M., & Langridge, P. (2010). Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. Science, 327(5967), 818-822.

[40] Varshney, R. K., Graner, A., & Sorrells, M. E. (2005). Genomics-assisted breeding for crop improvement. Trends in Plant Science, 10(12), 621-630.

[41] Araus, J. L., & Cairns, J. E. (2014). Field high-throughput phenotyping: the new crop breeding frontier. Trends in Plant Science, 19(1), 52-61.

[42] Dwivedi, S. L., Ceccarelli, S., Blair, M. W., Upadhyaya, H. D., Are, A. K., & Ortiz, R. (2016). Landrace germplasm for improving yield and abiotic stress adaptation. Trends in Plant Science, 21(1), 31-42.

[43] Breseghello, F., & Coelho, A. S. G. (2013). Traditional and modern plant breeding methods with examples in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 61(35), 8277-8286.

[44] Bhat, J. A., Ali, S., Salgotra, R. K., Mir, Z. A., Dutta, S., Jadon, V., ... & Prabhu, K. V. (2016). Genomic selection in the era of next generation sequencing for complex traits in plant breeding. Frontiers in Genetics, 7, 221.

[45] Collard, B. C., & Mackill, D. J. (2008). Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1491), 557-572.

[46] Xu, Y., & Crouch, J. H. (2008). Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: from publications to practice. Crop Science, 48(2), 391-407.

[47] Ribaut, J. M., & Ragot, M. (2007). Marker-assisted selection to improve drought adaptation in maize: the backcross approach, perspectives, limitations, and alternatives. Journal of Experimental Botany, 58(2), 351-360.

[48] Meuwissen, T. H., Hayes, B. J., & Goddard, M. E. (2001). Prediction of total genetic value using genome-wide dense marker maps. Genetics, 157(4), 1819-1829.

[49] Crossa, J., Pérez-Rodríguez, P., Cuevas, J., Montesinos-López, O., Jarquín, D., de los Campos, G., ... & Varshney, R. K. (2017). Genomic selection in plant breeding: methods, models, and perspectives. Trends in Plant Science, 22(11), 961-975.

[50] Bernardo, R. (2008). Molecular markers and selection for complex traits in plants: learning from the last 20 years. Crop Science, 48(5), 1649-1664.

[51] Varshney, R. K., Terauchi, R., & McCouch, S. R. (2014). Harvesting the promising fruits of genomics: applying genome sequencing technologies to crop breeding. PLoS Biology, 12(6), e1001883.

[52] Shu, Q. Y., Forster, B. P., & Nakagawa, H. (Eds.). (2012). Plant mutation breeding and biotechnology. CABI.

[53] Oladosu, Y., Rafii, M. Y., Abdullah, N., Hussin, G., Ramli, A., Rahim, H. A., ... & Usman, M. (2016). Principle and application of plant mutagenesis in crop improvement: a review. Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment, 30(1), 1-16.

[54] Takagi, H., Tamiru, M., Abe, A., Yoshida, K., Uemura, A., Yaegashi, H., ...& Terauchi, R. (2015). MutMap accelerates breeding of a salt-tolerant rice cultivar. Nature Biotechnology, 33(5), 445-449.

[55] Dhaliwal, A. K., Mohan, A., Sidhu, G., Maqbool, R., & Gill, K. S. (2015). An ethylmethane sulfonate mutant resource in pre-green revolution hexaploid wheat. PLoS One, 10(12), e0145227.

[56] Jankowicz-Cieslak, J., Tai, T. H., Kumlehn, J., & Till, B. J. (Eds.). (2017).Biotechnologies for plant mutation breeding: protocols. Springer.

[57] Sikora, P., Chawade, A., Larsson, M., Olsson, J., & Olsson, O. (2011). Mutagenesis as a tool in plant genetics, functional genomics, and breeding. International Journal of Plant Genomics, 2011.

[58] Soltis, P. S., & Soltis, D. E. (2009). The role of hybridization in plant speciation. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 60, 561-588.

[59] te Beest, M., Le Roux, J. J., Richardson, D. M., Brysting, A. K., Suda, J., Kubešová, M., & Pyšek, P. (2012). The more the better? The role of polyploidy in facilitating plant invasions. Annals of Botany, 109(1), 19-45.

[60] Mason, A. S., & Batley, J. (2015). Creating new interspecific hybrid and polyploid crops. Trends in Biotechnology, 33(8), 436-441.

[61] Warschefsky, E., Penmetsa, R. V., Cook, D. R., & von Wettberg, E. J. (2014). Back to the wilds: tapping evolutionary adaptations for resilient crops through systematic hybridization with crop wild relatives. American Journal of Botany, 101(10), 1791-1800.

[62] Flint-Garcia, S. A. (2013). Genetics and consequences of crop domestication. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 61(35), 8267-8276.

[63] Bimpong, I. K., Manneh, B., Diop, B., Ghislain, K., Sow, A., Amoah, N. K. A., ... & Singh, R. K. (2016). New quantitative trait loci for enhancing adaptation to salinity in rice from Hasawi, a Saudi landrace into three African cultivars at the reproductive stage. Euphytica, 211(2), 187-198.

[64] Moyle, L. C., & Nakazato, T. (2010). Hybrid incompatibility "snowballs" between Solanum species. Science, 329(5998), 1521-1523.

[65] Jiang, W., Lee, J., Jin, Y. M., Qiao, Y., Piao, R., Jang, S. M., ... & Koh, H. J. (2011). Identification of QTLs for seed germination capability after various storage periods using two RIL populations in rice. Molecular Cells, 31(4), 385-392.

[66] Dempewolf, H., Baute, G., Anderson, J., Kilian, B., Smith, C., & Guarino, L. (2017). Past and future use of wild relatives in crop breeding. Crop Science, 57(3), 1070-1082.

[67] Zamir, D. (2001). Improving plant breeding with exotic genetic libraries. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2(12), 983-989.

[68] Gaj, T., Gersbach, C. A., & Barbas III, C. F. (2013). ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. Trends in Biotechnology, 31(7), 397-405.

[69] Altpeter, F., Springer, N. M., Bartley, L. E., Blechl, A. E., Brutnell, T. P., Citovsky, V., ... & Lemaux, P. G. (2016). Advancing crop transformation in the era of genome editing. The Plant Cell, 28(7), 1510-1520.

[70] Lata, C., & Prasad, M. (2011). Role of DREBs in regulation of abiotic stress responses in plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 62(14), 4731-4748.

[71] Yamaguchi, T., & Blumwald, E. (2005). Developing salt-tolerant crop plants: challenges and opportunities. Trends in Plant Science, 10(12), 615-620.

[72] Kasuga, M., Liu, Q., Miura, S., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., & Shinozaki, K. (1999). Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. Nature Biotechnology, 17(3), 287-291.

[73] Morran, S., Eini, O., Pyvovarenko, T., Parent, B., Singh, R., Ismagul, A., ... & Lopato, S. (2011). Improvement of stress tolerance of wheat and barley by modulation of expression of DREB/CBF factors. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 9(2), 230-249.

[74] Pennisi, E. (2010). Sowing the seeds for the ideal crop. Science, 327(5967), 802-803.

[75] Ricroch, A. E., & Hénard-Damave, M. C. (2016). Next biotech plants: new traits, crops, developers and technologies for addressing global challenges. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology, 36(4), 675-690.

[76] Hu, H., Dai, M., Yao, J., Xiao, B., Li, X., Zhang, Q., & Xiong, L. (2006). Overexpressing a NAM, ATAF, and CUC (NAC) transcription factor enhances drought resistance and salt tolerance in rice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(35), 12987-12992.

[77] Xue, Z. Y., Zhi, D. Y., Xue, G. P., Zhang, H., Zhao, Y. X., & Xia, G. M. (2004). Enhanced salt tolerance of transgenic wheat (Tritivum aestivum L.) expressing a vacuolar Na+/H+ antiporter gene with improved grain yields in saline soils in the field and a reduced level of leaf Na+. Plant Science, 167(4), 849-859.

[78] Qu, A. L., Ding, Y. F., Jiang, Q., & Zhu, C. (2013). Molecular mechanisms of the plant heat stress response. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 432(2), 203-207.

[79] Chen, M., Wang, Q. Y., Cheng, X. G., Xu, Z. S., Li, L. C., Ye, X. G., ... & Ma, Y. Z. (2007). GmDREB2, a soybean DRE-binding transcription factor,

conferred drought and high-salt tolerance in transgenic plants. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 353(2), 299-305.

[80] Al-Abdallat, A. M., Al-Debei, H. S., Ayad, J. Y., & Hasan, S. (2014). Overexpression of SISHN1 gene improves drought tolerance by increasing cuticular wax accumulation in tomato. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 15(11), 19499-19515.

[81] Zhang, F., Wen, Y., & Guo, X. (2014). CRISPR/Cas9 for genome editing: progress, implications and challenges. Human Molecular Genetics, 23(R1), R40-R46.

[82] Miao, C., Xiao, L., Hua, K., Zou, C., Zhao, Y., Bressan, R. A., & Zhu, J. K. (2018). Mutations in a subfamily of abscisic acid receptor genes promote rice growth and productivity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(23), 6058-6063.

[83] Shi, J., Gao, H., Wang, H., Lafitte, H. R., Archibald, R. L., Yang, M., ... & Habben, J. E. (2017). ARGOS8 variants generated by CRISPR-Cas9 improve maize grain yield under field drought stress conditions. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 15(2), 207-216.

[84] Bortesi, L., & Fischer, R. (2015). The CRISPR/Cas9 system for plant genome editing and beyond. Biotechnology Advances, 33(1), 41-52.

[85] Khatodia, S., Bhatotia, K., Passricha, N., Khurana, S. M. P., & Tuteja, N. (2016). The CRISPR/Cas genome-editing tool: application in improvement of crops. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7, 506.

[86] Waltz, E. (2018). With a free pass, CRISPR-edited plants reach market in record time. Nature Biotechnology, 36(1), 6-7.

[87] Zhang, X. H., Tee, L. Y., Wang, X. G., Huang, Q. S., & Yang, S. H. (2015). Off-target effects in CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome engineering. Molecular Therapy-Nucleic Acids, 4, e264.

[88] Wolt, J. D., Wang, K., & Yang, B. (2016). The regulatory status of genomeedited crops. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 14(2), 510-518.

[89] Valliyodan, B., & Nguyen, H. T. (2006). Understanding regulatory networks and engineering for enhanced drought tolerance in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 9(2), 189-195.

[90] Varshney, R. K., Nayak, S. N., May, G. D., & Jackson, S. A. (2009). Nextgeneration sequencing technologies and their implications for crop genetics and breeding. Trends in Biotechnology, 27(9), 522-530. [91] Wang, Z., Gerstein, M., & Snyder, M. (2009). RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. Nature Reviews Genetics, 10(1), 57-63.

[92] Rodziewicz, P., Swarcewicz, B., Chmielewska, K., Wojakowska, A., & Stobiecki, M. (2014). Influence of abiotic stresses on plant proteome and metabolome changes. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum, 36(1), 1-19.

[93] Cramer, G. R., Urano, K., Delrot, S., Pezzotti, M., & Shinozaki, K. (2011). Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective. BMC Plant Biology, 11(1), 163.

[94] Kakumanu, A., Ambavaram, M. M., Klumas, C., Krishnan, A., Batlang, U., Myers, E., ... & Pereira, A. (2012). Effects of drought on gene expression in maize reproductive and leaf meristem tissue revealed by RNA-Seq. Plant Physiology, 160(2), 846-867.

[95] Wu, D., Cai, S., Chen, M., Ye, L., Chen, Z., Zhang, H., ... & Zhang, G. (2013). Tissue metabolic responses to salt stress in wild and cultivated barley. PLoS One, 8(1), e55431.

[96] Fukushima, A., Kusano, M., Redestig, H., Arita, M., & Saito, K. (2009). Integrated omics approaches in plant systems biology. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology, 13(5-6), 532-538.

[97] Mochida, K., & Shinozaki, K. (2011). Advances in omics and bioinformatics tools for systems analyses of plant functions. Plant and Cell Physiology, 52(12), 2017-2038.

[98] Mir, R. R., Reynolds, M., Pinto, F., Khan, M. A., & Bhat, M. A. (2019). High-throughput phenotyping for crop improvement in the genomics era. Plant Science, 282, 60-72.

[99] Varshney, R. K., Graner, A., & Sorrells, M. E. (2005). Genomics-assisted breeding for crop improvement. Trends in Plant Science, 10(12), 621-630.

[100] Wang, Z., Gerstein, M., & Snyder, M. (2009). RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. Nature Reviews Genetics, 10(1), 57-63.

[101] Kosová, K., Vítámvás, P., Prášil, I. T., & Renaut, J. (2011). Plant proteome changes under abiotic stress—contribution of proteomics studies to understanding plant stress response. Journal of Proteomics, 74(8), 1301-1322.

[102] Obata, T., & Fernie, A. R. (2012). The use of metabolomics to dissect plant responses to abiotic stresses. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 69(19), 3225-3243.

[103] Furbank, R. T., & Tester, M. (2011). Phenomics-technologies to relieve the phenotyping bottleneck. Trends in Plant Science, 16(12), 635-644.

[104] Hatfield, J. L., & Walthall, C. L. (2015). Meeting global food needs: Realizing the potential via genetics \times environment \times management interactions. Agronomy Journal, 107(4), 1215-1226.

[105] Geerts, S., & Raes, D. (2009). Deficit irrigation as an on-farm strategy to maximize crop water productivity in dry areas. Agricultural Water Management, 96(9), 1275-1284.

[106] Ayars, J. E., Phene, C. J., Hutmacher, R. B., Davis, K. R., Schoneman, R. A., Vail, S. S., & Mead, R. M. (1999). Subsurface drip irrigation of row crops: a review of 15 years of research at the Water Management Research Laboratory. Agricultural Water Management, 42(1), 1-27.

[107] Playán, E., & Mateos, L. (2006). Modernization and optimization of irrigation systems to increase water productivity. Agricultural Water Management, 80(1-3), 100-116.

[108] Fereres, E., & Soriano, M. A. (2007). Deficit irrigation for reducing agricultural water use. Journal of Experimental Botany, 58(2), 147-159.

[109] Kang, S., Zhang, L., Liang, Y., Hu, X., Cai, H., & Gu, B. (2002). Effects of limited irrigation on yield and water use efficiency of winter wheat in the Loess Plateau of China. Agricultural Water Management, 55(3), 203-216.

[110] Rockström, J., Barron, J., & Fox, P. (2002). Rainwater management for increased productivity among small-holder farmers in drought prone environments. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 27(11-22), 949-959.

[111] Kader, M. A., Senge, M., Mojid, M. A., & Ito, K. (2017). Recent advances in mulching materials and methods for modifying soil environment. Soil and Tillage Research, 168, 155-166.

[112] Blanco-Canqui, H., Shaver, T. M., Lindquist, J. L., Shapiro, C. A., Elmore, R. W., Francis, C. A., & Hergert, G. W. (2015). Cover crops and ecosystem services: Insights from studies in temperate soils. Agronomy Journal, 107(6), 2449-2474.

[113] Chen, J. H. (2006). The combined use of chemical and organic fertilizers and/or biofertilizer for crop growth and soil fertility. International Workshop on Sustained Management of the Soil-Rhizosphere System for Efficient Crop Production and Fertilizer Use, 16(20), 1-11.

[114] Fageria, N. K., & Baligar, V. C. (2005). Enhancing nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants. Advances in Agronomy, 88, 97-185.

[115] Goulding, K., Jarvis, S., & Whitmore, A. (2008). Optimizing nutrient management for farm systems. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1491), 667-680.

[116] Dobermann, A., Witt, C., Dawe, D., Abdulrachman, S., Gines, H. C., Nagarajan, R., ... & Adviento, M. A. A. (2002). Site-specific nutrient management for intensive rice cropping systems in Asia. Field Crops Research, 74(1), 37-66.

[117] Diacono, M., & Montemurro, F. (2010). Long-term effects of organic amendments on soil fertility. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 30(2), 401-422.

[118] Rawls, W. J., Pachepsky, Y. A., Ritchie, J. C., Sobecki, T. M., & Bloodworth, H. (2003). Effect of soil organic carbon on soil water retention. Geoderma, 116(1-2), 61-76.

[119] Calvo, P., Nelson, L., & Kloepper, J. W. (2014). Agricultural uses of plant biostimulants. Plant and Soil, 383(1-2), 3-41.

[120] Tilman, D., Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Naylor, R., & Polasky, S. (2002). Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. Nature, 418(6898), 671-677.

[121] Karlen, D. L., Varvel, G. E., Bullock, D. G., & Cruse, R. M. (1994). Crop rotations for the 21st century. Advances in Agronomy, 53, 1-45.

[122] Lithourgidis, A. S., Dordas, C. A., Damalas, C. A., & Vlachostergios, D. N.(2011). Annual intercrops: an alternative pathway for sustainable agriculture.Australian Journal of Crop Science, 5(4), 396-410.

[123] Hobbs, P. R., Sayre, K., & Gupta, R. (2008). The role of conservation agriculture in sustainable agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1491), 543-555.

[124] Stavi, I., & Lal, R. (2013). Agriculture and greenhouse gases, a common tragedy. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 33(2), 275-289.

[125] Kassam, A., Friedrich, T., Shaxson, F., & Pretty, J. (2009). The spread of conservation agriculture: justification, sustainability and uptake. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability, 7(4), 292-320.

[126] Pittelkow, C. M., Liang, X., Linquist, B. A., Van Groenigen, K. J., Lee, J., Lundy, M. E., ... & van Kessel, C. (2015). Productivity limits and potentials of the principles of conservation agriculture. Nature, 517(7534), 365-368.

[127] Vyn, T. J., Janovicek, K. J., Miller, M. H., & Beauchamp, E. G. (1999). Soil nitrate accumulation and corn response to preceding small-grain fertilization and tillage. Agronomy Journal, 91(1), 17-24.

[128] Lal, R. (2009). Soil quality impacts of residue removal for bioethanol production. Soil and Tillage Research, 102(2), 233-241.

[129] Kumar, K., & Goh, K. M. (2000). Crop residues and management practices: effects on soil quality, soil nitrogen dynamics, crop yield, and nitrogen recovery. Advances in Agronomy, 68, 197-319.

[130] Turmel, M. S., Speratti, A., Baudron, F., Verhulst, N., & Govaerts, B.(2015). Crop residue management and soil health: A systems analysis.Agricultural Systems, 134, 6-16.

[131] Lehmann, J., & Joseph, S. (Eds.). (2015). Biochar for environmental management: science, technology and implementation. Routledge.

[132] Vessey, J. K. (2003). Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizers. Plant and Soil, 255(2), 571-586.

[133] Passioura, J. B. (2006). Increasing crop productivity when water is scarce—from breeding to field management. Agricultural Water Management, 80(1-3), 176-196.

[134] Chen, X. P., Cui, Z. L., Vitousek, P. M., Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Bai, J. S., ... & Zhang, F. S. (2011). Integrated soil–crop system management for food security. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(16), 6399-6404.

[135] Mittler, R. (2006). Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. Trends in Plant Science, 11(1), 15-19.

[136] Araus, J. L., & Cairns, J. E. (2014). Field high-throughput phenotyping: the new crop breeding frontier. Trends in Plant Science, 19(1), 52-61.

[137] Rengel, Z., & Graham, R. D. (1995). Importance of seed Zn content for wheat growth on Zn-deficient soil. Plant and Soil, 173(2), 259-266.

[138] Kuzma, J., Kokotovich, A., & Kuzhabekova, A. (2016). Attitudes towards governance of gene editing. Asian Biotechnology and Development Review, 18(1), 69-92.

296 Abiotic Stress Management in Crops

[139] Pingali, P. L. (2012). Green revolution: impacts, limits, and the path ahead. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(31), 12302-12308.

•••••

CHAPTER-13

G

Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

¹Sadhana V and ²Suriya S

¹PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Department of Agriculture Entomology, Tamil Nadu agriculture University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, Pin - 641003
 ²PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Division of Entomology, SKUAST - Kashmir, Jammu and Kashmir, India, Pin – 190025

Corresponding Author ¹Sadhana V <u>sadhanaveeramani@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Plant-microbe interactions and soil health are crucial factors in maintaining sustainable agriculture and ecosystem balance. This chapter explores the intricate relationships between plants and microorganisms in the soil, focusing on the beneficial effects of these interactions on plant growth, nutrient uptake, and disease resistance. The chapter also discusses the impact of various agricultural practices on soil health and the potential of harnessing plant-microbe interactions for sustainable crop production. The role of rhizosphere microbiome in shaping plant health and productivity is highlighted, along with the latest research on the molecular mechanisms underlying these interactions. The chapter further delves into the application of microbial inoculants and biocontrol agents in agriculture, and the challenges and opportunities in developing effective strategies for managing soil health. Finally, the chapter emphasizes the need for an integrated approach that combines advances in plant science, microbiology, and soil science to address the complex challenges of sustainable agriculture in the face of climate change and increasing global food demand.

Keywords: Plant-microbe interactions, soil health, rhizosphere microbiome, sustainable agriculture, microbial inoculants

Plants and microorganisms have coexisted and evolved together for millions of years, forming complex and dynamic relationships that shape the Earth's ecosystems [1]. The soil is a rich reservoir of microbial diversity, hosting a wide range of bacteria, fungi, archaea, and other microorganisms that interact with plants in various ways [2]. These interactions can be beneficial, neutral, or detrimental to plant growth and health, depending on the specific microorganisms involved and the environmental conditions [3]. In recent years, there has been a growing recognition of the importance of plant-microbe interactions in agriculture, as these interactions can significantly influence crop productivity, disease resistance, and soil fertility [4]. This chapter explores the various aspects of plant-microbe interactions and their implications for soil health and sustainable agriculture.

2. The Rhizosphere: A Hotspot of Plant-Microbe Interactions

The rhizosphere, defined as the narrow zone of soil surrounding plant roots, is a dynamic interface where plants and microorganisms interact closely [5]. The rhizosphere is enriched with root exudates, which are organic compounds released by plant roots, including sugars, amino acids, organic acids, and secondary metabolites [6]. These exudates serve as a food source for soil microorganisms, attracting them to the root surface and promoting their growth and activity [7]. In turn, the microorganisms in the rhizosphere influence plant growth and health through various mechanisms, such as nutrient cycling, production of plant growth-promoting substances, and suppression of plant pathogens [8].

Component	Effect on soil microorganisms					
Sugars	Stimulate growth and activity of bacteria and fungi					
Amino acids	Serve as nitrogen sources for microbial growth					
Organic acids	Mobilize nutrients and alter soil pH					
Phenolic compounds	Exhibit antimicrobial properties and shape microbial communities					
Flavonoids	Attract beneficial microorganisms and induce symbiotic relationships					
Enzymes	Degrade organic matter and release nutrients					
Vitamins	Support microbial growth and metabolism					

Table 1: Major components of root exudates and their effects on soil microorganisms

3. Diversity and Function of the Rhizosphere Microbiome

The rhizosphere harbors a diverse array of microorganisms, collectively known as the rhizosphere microbiome. The composition and function of the rhizosphere microbiome are influenced by a complex interplay of factors, including plant species, soil type, climate, and agricultural practices [9]. Recent advances in high-throughput sequencing technologies have enabled a deeper understanding of the structure and diversity of the rhizosphere microbiome,

298 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

revealing the presence of thousands of microbial species in a single gram of rhizosphere soil [10].

The rhizosphere microbiome plays a crucial role in shaping plant health and productivity. Beneficial microorganisms in the rhizosphere can promote plant growth through various mechanisms, such as nitrogen fixation, phosphate solubilization, and production of plant growth-promoting substances [11]. For example, rhizobacteria belonging to the genera *Rhizobium*, *Bradyrhizobium*, and *Mesorhizobium* form symbiotic relationships with leguminous plants, fixing atmospheric nitrogen and providing it to the plant in exchange for photosynthates [12]. Similarly, mycorrhizal fungi, such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), colonize plant roots and extend their hyphae into the soil, enhancing nutrient and water uptake for the plant [13].



Figure 1: Schematic representation of the diversity and function of the rhizosphere microbiome.

4. Molecular Mechanisms of Plant-Microbe Communication

Plant-microbe interactions in the rhizosphere are mediated by a complex network of molecular signals and responses. Plants secrete a wide range of compounds into the rhizosphere, which act as signaling molecules and shape the composition and activity of the rhizosphere microbiome [14]. These compounds include flavonoids, strigolactones, and volatile organic compounds (VOCs), which attract beneficial microorganisms and induce specific microbial responses [15]. In turn, microorganisms in the rhizosphere produce signaling molecules that are perceived by plants and trigger various physiological responses. For example, certain rhizobacteria produce N-acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs), which are quorum-sensing molecules that regulate gene expression and biofilm formation [16]. Plants can detect these AHLs and respond by modifying their root architecture and enhancing their defense responses [17]. Similarly, mycorrhizal fungi secrete lipochitooligosaccharides (LCOs), which are recognized by plant receptors and induce symbiosis-related gene expression in the plant [18].

Recent advances in genomics, transcriptomics, and metabolomics have provided new insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying plant-microbe communication in the rhizosphere. For example, studies have identified plant genes and transcription factors that are involved in the perception and response to microbial signals, such as the common symbiosis pathway (CSP) genes in legumes [19]. Moreover, the analysis of microbial genomes has revealed the presence of a wide range of genes involved in the synthesis of signaling molecules and the interaction with plants [20].

5. Beneficial Plant-Microbe Interactions

5.1. Nutrient Acquisition

One of the key benefits of plant-microbe interactions is enhanced nutrient acquisition for plants. Many soil microorganisms have the ability to solubilize and mobilize nutrients that are otherwise unavailable to plants, such as phosphorus, iron, and zinc [21]. For example, phosphate-solubilizing bacteria (PSB) and fungi (PSF) secrete organic acids and enzymes that release bound phosphorus from soil minerals, making it accessible to plants [22]. Similarly, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) form symbiotic associations with plant roots, extending their hyphae into the soil and absorbing nutrients that are transferred to the plant in exchange for photosynthates [23]. These microbialmediated nutrient acquisition mechanisms can significantly improve plant growth and yield, particularly in nutrient-deficient soils.

5.2. Plant Growth Promotion

In addition to nutrient acquisition, certain soil microorganisms can directly promote plant growth through the production of plant growth-promoting substances. Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and fungi (PGPF) synthesize phytohormones such as auxins, cytokinins, and gibberellins, which regulate plant growth and development [24]. For instance, the bacterial genus *Pseudomonas* is well-known for its ability to produce indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), an auxin that stimulates root growth and branching [25]. Other PGPR, such as

Azospirillum and *Azotobacter*, fix atmospheric nitrogen and make it available to plants, reducing the need for chemical fertilizers [26].

Table	2:	Examples	of	signaling	molecules	involved	in	plant-microbe
comm	unic	ation						

Signaling molecule	Produced by	Perceived by	Function
Flavonoids	Plants	Rhizobia	Induction of nod genes and symbiosis
Strigolactones	Plants	AMF	Stimulationofhyphalbranchingand colonization
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)	Plants and microorganisms	Plants and microorganisms	Attraction of beneficial microorganisms, induction of defense responses
N-acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs)	Rhizobacteria	Plants and rhizobacteria	Regulation of gene expression and biofilm formation
Lipochitooligosaccharides (LCOs)	AMF	Plants	Induction of symbiosis-related gene expression



Figure 2: Schematic representation of plant-microbe interactions in nutrient acquisition.

Microorganism	Mechanism of plant growth promotion		
Pseudomonas spp.	Production of IAA, siderophores, and antibiotics		
Bacillus spp.	Production of cytokinins, gibberellins, and volatile compounds		
Azospirillum spp.	Nitrogen fixation, production of phytohormones		
Azotobacter spp.	Nitrogen fixation, production of siderophores and antibiotics		
Trichoderma spp.	Production of growth-promoting compounds, induced systemic resistance		
Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi	Enhanced nutrient and water uptake, improved stress tolerance		

Table	3:	Examples	of	plant	growth-promoting	microorganisms	and	their
mecha	nis	ms						

5.3. Disease Suppression

Plant-microbe interactions also play a crucial role in protecting plants from pathogens and diseases. The rhizosphere microbiome acts as a first line of defense against soil-borne pathogens, through various mechanisms such as competition, antibiosis, and induced systemic resistance (ISR) [27]. Beneficial microorganisms compete with pathogens for nutrients and space, limiting their growth and proliferation. Some microorganisms produce antimicrobial compounds, such as antibiotics, lytic enzymes, and volatile organic compounds (VOCs), which directly inhibit pathogen growth [28]. Moreover, certain PGPR and PGPF can induce systemic resistance in plants, priming their immune system to respond more effectively to pathogen attack [29].

6. Agricultural Practices and Soil Health

Agricultural practices have a significant impact on soil health and the diversity and function of soil microbial communities. Intensive agricultural practices, such as monoculture cropping, excessive tillage, and heavy use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides, can lead to soil degradation and loss of microbial diversity [30]. These practices disrupt the delicate balance of soil microbial communities, reducing their ability to perform essential ecosystem

302 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

services, such as nutrient cycling, organic matter decomposition, and disease suppression [31].



Figure 3: Mechanisms of disease suppression by beneficial microorganisms in the rhizosphere. Table 4: Impact of agricultural practices on soil health and microbial diversity

Agricultural practice	Impact on soil health and microbial diversity
Monoculture cropping	Reduced microbial diversity, increased pathogen pressure
Excessive tillage	Disruption of soil structure, loss of soil organic matter
Heavy use of chemical fertilizers	Alteration of soil pH, suppression of beneficial microorganisms
Overuse of pesticides	Reduction of microbial diversity, development of pesticide resistance
Crop rotation	Increased microbial diversity, improved soil fertility
Cover cropping	Addition of organic matter, stimulation of microbial activity
Reduced tillage	Preservation of soil structure, promotion of fungal communities
Organic farming	Enhancement of microbial diversity, reduced chemical inputs

7. Harnessing Plant-Microbe Interactions for Sustainable Agriculture

Given the importance of plant-microbe interactions in shaping soil health and crop productivity, there is a growing interest in harnessing these interactions for sustainable agriculture. One promising approach is the use of microbial inoculants, which are formulations of beneficial microorganisms that can be applied to seeds, soil, or plants to enhance plant growth and health [32]. Microbial inoculants can include PGPR, PGPF, AMF, and other microorganisms with specific beneficial traits, such as nitrogen fixation, phosphate solubilization, or disease suppression [33]. The application of microbial inoculants has been shown to improve crop yield, nutrient uptake, and stress tolerance, while reducing the need for chemical inputs [34].

Microbial inoculant	Application	Сгор	Effect
Rhizobium spp.	Seed inoculation	Legumes	Improved nitrogen fixation, increased yield
Bacillus subtilis	Soil inoculation	Vegetables	Enhanced disease resistance, improved growth
Glomus spp. (AMF)	Root inoculation	Fruit trees	Increased nutrient uptake, improved drought tolerance
Trichoderma harzianum	Seed treatment	Cereals	Reduced fungal diseases, enhanced root growth
Pseudomonas fluorescens	Foliar spray	Ornamentals	Induced systemic resistance, improved plant health

Table 5: Examples of microbial inoculants and their applications inagriculture

8. Microbial Biocontrol Agents

Microbial biocontrol agents are another promising application of plantmicrobe interactions in agriculture. Biocontrol agents are microorganisms that can suppress plant pathogens and diseases through various mechanisms, such as competition, antibiosis, and induced resistance [35]. The use of biocontrol agents offers a more sustainable and environmentally friendly alternative to chemical pesticides, which can have harmful effects on human health and the environment [36].

304 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

Examples of microbial biocontrol agents include the bacterium *Bacillus* subtilis, which produces antifungal compounds and induces systemic resistance in plants [37], and the fungus *Trichoderma harzianum*, which colonizes plant roots and protects them from soil-borne pathogens [38]. Other biocontrol agents, such as the bacterium *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and the fungus *Clonostachys* rosea, have been shown to be effective against a wide range of plant pathogens, including fungi, bacteria, and nematodes [39].

 Table 6: Examples of microbial biocontrol agents and their mechanisms of action

Biocontrol agent	Mechanism of action	Target pathogens
Bacillus subtilis	Antibiosis, induced resistance	Fungal pathogens
Trichoderma harzianum	Competition, mycoparasitism	Soil-borne fungal pathogens
Pseudomonas fluorescens	Antibiosis, induced resistance	Fungal and bacterial pathogens
Clonostachys rosea	Mycoparasitism, competition	Fungal pathogens, nematodes
Streptomyces spp.	Antibiosis, competition	Fungal and bacterial pathogens

9. Challenges and Limitations of Microbial Inoculants and Biocontrol Agents

Despite the potential benefits of microbial inoculants and biocontrol agents, there are several challenges and limitations to their widespread adoption in agriculture. One major challenge is the variability in the performance of these products under different environmental conditions and crop systems [40]. The effectiveness of microbial inoculants and biocontrol agents can be influenced by factors such as soil type, climate, crop genotype, and management practices, making it difficult to predict their efficacy in different contexts [41].

Another challenge is the stability and survival of the introduced microorganisms in the soil environment

10. Soil Health Indicators and Assessment Methods

Soil health is a critical factor in sustainable agriculture, as it directly influences crop productivity, ecosystem services, and environmental quality. Assessing soil health requires a holistic approach that integrates physical, chemical, and biological indicators [42]. Physical indicators of soil health include soil texture, structure, porosity, and water-holding capacity, which affect root growth, water infiltration, and nutrient retention [43]. Chemical indicators, such as soil pH, organic matter content, and nutrient levels, provide information on soil fertility and the availability of essential plant nutrients [44].

Biological indicators of soil health are particularly relevant to plantmicrobe interactions, as they reflect the diversity, abundance, and activity of soil microbial communities [45]. Common biological indicators include microbial biomass, soil respiration, enzyme activities, and the presence of key functional groups, such as nitrogen-fixing bacteria and mycorrhizal fungi [46]. Recent advances in molecular techniques, such as high-throughput sequencing and metagenomics, have enabled a more comprehensive assessment of soil microbial diversity and function [47].

11. Soil Amendments and Management Practices for Improving Soil Health

Soil health can be improved through various soil amendments and management practices that promote the growth and activity of beneficial soil microorganisms. Organic amendments, such as compost, manure, and green manures, provide a source of organic matter and nutrients for soil microorganisms, improving soil structure and fertility [48]. Biochar, a carbonrich material produced by the pyrolysis of organic biomass, has been shown to enhance soil microbial diversity and activity, while also improving soil water and nutrient retention [49].

Cover cropping is another effective strategy for improving soil health, as it provides a continuous supply of organic matter and supports the growth of diverse microbial communities [50]. Cover crops can also suppress soil-borne pathogens, fix atmospheric nitrogen, and reduce soil erosion [51]. Crop rotation, which involves the alternation of different crop species over time, can also promote soil health by increasing microbial diversity, breaking pest and disease cycles, and improving nutrient cycling [52]. Reduced tillage and no-tillage practices have been shown to enhance soil health by minimizing soil disturbance, preserving soil structure, and promoting the growth of fungal communities [53]. These practices can also reduce soil erosion, increase soil organic matter content, and improve water infiltration and retention [54].

306 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

Indicator	Assessment method	Relevance to plant-microbe interactions			
Soil texture	Particle size analysis	Affects root growth and microbial habitat			
Soil organic matter	Combustion, spectroscopy	Provides substrate for microbial growth and activity			
Soil pH	pH meter, colorimetric tests	Influences microbial community composition and function			
Microbial biomass	Fumigation-extraction, substrate-induced respiration	Reflects the abundance and activity of soil microorganisms			
Soil respiration	Infrared gas analyzer, alkali traps	Indicates the metabolic activity of soil microorganisms			
Enzyme activities	Colorimetric, fluorometric assays	Reveals the functional diversity of soil microbial communities			
Microbial diversity	High-throughput sequencing, metagenomics	Provides a comprehensive assessment of soil microbial communities			

 Table 7: Examples of soil health indicators and assessment methods

12. Plant-Soil Feedback and Its Implications for Plant Community Dynamics

Plant-soil feedback (PSF) is a reciprocal interaction between plants and soil microorganisms, where plants influence the composition and activity of soil microbial communities, which in turn affect plant growth and performance [55]. PSF can be positive, negative, or neutral, depending on the balance between beneficial and detrimental microorganisms in the soil [56]. Positive PSF occurs when plants promote the growth of beneficial microorganisms, such as nitrogen-fixing bacteria and mycorrhizal fungi, which enhance plant growth and nutrient uptake [57]. Negative PSF, on the other hand, occurs when plants accumulate soil-borne pathogens or other detrimental microorganisms, which inhibit plant growth and survival [58].

PSF has important implications for plant community dynamics, as it can influence plant species coexistence, diversity, and succession [59]. For example, positive PSF can facilitate the establishment and growth of conspecific plants, leading to the formation of monospecific plant patches [60]. Negative PSF, in contrast, can promote plant species coexistence by preventing the dominance of a

single species and favoring the growth of heterospecific plants [61]. PSF can also mediate plant-plant interactions, such as competition and facilitation, and contribute to the maintenance of plant diversity in natural ecosystems [62].

Table	8:	Soil	amendments	and	management	practices	for	improving	soil
health									

Amendment/Practice	Effect on soil health	Mechanism of action
Compost	Improves soil structure and fertility	Provides organic matter and nutrients for microbial growth
Biochar	Enhances microbial diversity and activity	Improves soil water and nutrient retention
Cover cropping	Supports diverse microbial communities	Provides organic matter, suppresses pathogens, fixes nitrogen
Crop rotation	Increases microbial diversity, breaks pest and disease cycles	Improves nutrient cycling and soil structure
Reduced tillage	Minimizes soil disturbance, promotes fungal growth	Preserves soil structure, increases organic matter content

13. Climate Change and Its Impact on Plant-Microbe Interactions

Climate change, characterized by rising temperatures, altered precipitation patterns, and increased frequency of extreme weather events, can have profound effects on plant-microbe interactions and soil health [63]. Higher temperatures can accelerate soil organic matter decomposition, leading to the release of nutrients and stimulation of microbial activity [64]. However, prolonged exposure to high temperatures can also lead to the loss of soil moisture, which can negatively affect microbial communities and their functions [65].

Changes in precipitation patterns, such as increased drought or flooding, can also alter plant-microbe interactions and soil health. Drought stress can reduce plant photosynthesis and root exudation, limiting the supply of carbon substrates for soil microorganisms [66]. This can lead to shifts in microbial community composition and a reduction in microbial biomass and activity [67]. Flooding, on the other hand, can create anaerobic conditions in the soil, favoring the growth of anaerobic microorganisms and altering nutrient cycling processes [68].

Climate change can also indirectly affect plant-microbe interactions by altering plant community composition and diversity [69]. As plant species respond differently to changing environmental conditions, shifts in plant community structure can lead to corresponding changes in soil microbial communities and their associated functions [70]. Moreover, climate change can influence the distribution and abundance of soil-borne pathogens, potentially increasing the risk of plant diseases in certain regions [71].

 Table 9: Potential effects of climate change on plant-microbe interactions

 and soil health

Climate change factor	Effect on plant-microbe interactions	Effect on soil health
Increased temperature	Accelerated soil organic matter decomposition, stimulation of microbial activity	Loss of soil moisture, negative effects on microbial communities
Drought	Reduced plant photosynthesis and root exudation, shifts in microbial community composition	Reduction in microbial biomass and activity
Flooding	Creation of anaerobic conditions, alteration of nutrient cycling processes	Favoring the growth of anaerobic microorganisms
Plant community shifts	Changes in soil microbial communities and their associated functions	Alteration of soil health and ecosystem services
Pathogen distribution	Potential increase in the risk of plant diseases in certain regions	Negative impacts on crop productivity and soil health

14. Future Research Directions and Challenges

Despite the significant advances in understanding plant-microbe interactions and their role in soil health, there are still many knowledge gaps and challenges that need to be addressed in future research. One major challenge is the complexity and diversity of soil microbial communities, which can vary greatly across different spatial scales and environmental gradients [72]. Developing standardized methods for sampling, characterizing, and comparing soil microbial communities is essential for advancing our understanding of their structure and function [73].

Another challenge is the need for long-term studies that assess the effects of agricultural practices and environmental changes on plant-microbe interactions and soil health over extended periods [74]. Such studies are critical for developing sustainable management strategies that can maintain soil health and productivity under changing climatic conditions [75].

Integrating plant-microbe interactions into crop breeding programs is another promising research direction, as it can lead to the development of crop varieties that are better adapted to specific soil environments and more resilient to biotic and abiotic stresses [76]. This requires a deeper understanding of the genetic basis of plant-microbe interactions and the identification of key traits that can be targeted in breeding efforts [77].

Finally, there is a need for more interdisciplinary research that bridges the gaps between plant science, microbiology, soil science, and other related fields [78]. Collaborative efforts that integrate knowledge and methods from different disciplines can provide a more comprehensive understanding of plantmicrobe interactions and their implications for soil health and sustainable agriculture [79].

15. Conclusion

Plant-microbe interactions and soil health are critical components of sustainable agriculture and ecosystem functioning. The rhizosphere is a hotspot of these interactions, where plants and microorganisms engage in complex and dynamic relationships that shape plant growth, nutrient acquisition, and disease resistance. Beneficial plant-microbe interactions, such as those involving nitrogen-fixing bacteria, mycorrhizal fungi, and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria, can enhance plant productivity and soil health, while also reducing the need for chemical inputs. Agricultural practices have a significant impact on soil health and the diversity and function of soil microbial communities. Intensive practices, such as monoculture cropping, excessive tillage, and heavy use of agrochemicals, can lead to soil degradation and loss of microbial diversity. In contrast, sustainable practices, such as crop rotation, cover cropping, reduced tillage, and organic farming, can promote soil health and support diverse and active microbial communities. Harnessing plant-microbe interactions through the use of microbial inoculants and biocontrol agents is a promising approach for improving crop productivity and reducing the negative impacts of agriculture on the environment.

310 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

[1] Berendsen, R. L., Pieterse, C. M., & Bakker, P. A. (2012). The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. Trends in Plant Science, 17(8), 478-486.

[2] Fierer, N. (2017). Embracing the unknown: Disentangling the complexities of the soil microbiome. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 15(10), 579-590.

[3] Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., & Kopriva, S. (2017). The role of soil microorganisms in plant mineral nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8, 1617.

[4] Busby, P. E., Soman, C., Wagner, M. R., Friesen, M. L., Kremer, J., Bennett,
A., ... & Dangl, J. L. (2017). Research priorities for harnessing plant microbiomes in sustainable agriculture. PLoS Biology, 15(3), e2001793.

[5] Philippot, L., Raaijmakers, J. M., Lemanceau, P., & Van Der Putten, W. H. (2013). Going back to the roots: The microbial ecology of the rhizosphere. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 11(11), 789-799.

[6] Bais, H. P., Weir, T. L., Perry, L. G., Gilroy, S., & Vivanco, J. M. (2006). The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 57, 233-266.

[7] Dennis, P. G., Miller, A. J., & Hirsch, P. R. (2010). Are root exudates more important than other sources of rhizodeposits in structuring rhizosphere bacterial communities? FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 72(3), 313-327.

[8] Mendes, R., Garbeva, P., & Raaijmakers, J. M. (2013). The rhizosphere microbiome: Significance of plant beneficial, plant pathogenic, and human pathogenic microorganisms. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 37(5), 634-663.

[9] Berg, G., & Smalla, K. (2009). Plant species and soil type cooperatively shape the structure and function of microbial communities in the rhizosphere. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 68(1), 1-13.

[10] Bulgarelli, D., Rott, M., Schlaeppi, K., Ver Loren van Themaat, E., Ahmadinejad, N., Assenza, F., ... & Schulze-Lefert, P. (2012). Revealing structure and assembly cues for Arabidopsis root-inhabiting bacterial microbiota. Nature, 488(7409), 91-95.

[11] Lugtenberg, B., & Kamilova, F. (2009). Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Annual Review of Microbiology, 63, 541-556.

[12] Ferguson, B. J., Indrasumunar, A., Hayashi, S., Lin, M. H., Lin, Y. H., Reid, D. E., & Gresshoff, P. M. (2010). Molecular analysis of legume nodule development and autoregulation. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology, 52(1), 61-76.

[13] Smith, S. E., & Read, D. J. (2010). Mycorrhizal symbiosis. Academic press.

[14] Badri, D. V., & Vivanco, J. M. (2009). Regulation and function of root exudates. Plant, Cell & Environment, 32(6), 666-681.

[15] Venturi, V., & Keel, C. (2016). Signaling in the rhizosphere. Trends in Plant Science, 21(3), 187-198.

[16] Ortíz-Castro, R., Contreras-Cornejo, H. A., Macías-Rodríguez, L., & López-Bucio, J. (2009). The role of microbial signals in plant growth and development. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 4(8), 701-712.

[17] Schikora, A., Schenk, S. T., & Hartmann, A. (2016). Beneficial effects of bacteria-plant communication based on quorum sensing molecules of the N-acyl homoserine lactone group. Plant Molecular Biology, 90(6), 605-617.

[18] Genre, A., Chabaud, M., Balzergue, C., Puech-Pagès, V., Novero, M., Rey, T., ... & Barker, D. G. (2013). Short-chain chitin oligomers from arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi trigger nuclear Ca2+ spiking in Medicago truncatula roots and their production is enhanced by strigolactone. New Phytologist, 198(1), 190-202.

[19] Oldroyd, G. E. (2013). Speak, friend, and enter: Signalling systems that promote beneficial symbiotic associations in plants. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 11(4), 252-263.

[20] Sessitsch, A., Hardoim, P., Döring, J., Weilharter, A., Krause, A., Woyke, T., ... & Reinhold-Hurek, B. (2012). Functional characteristics of an endophyte community colonizing rice roots as revealed by metagenomic analysis. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, 25(1), 28-36.

[21] Richardson, A. E., Barea, J. M., McNeill, A. M., & Prigent-Combaret, C. (2009). Acquisition of phosphorus and nitrogen in the rhizosphere and plant growth promotion by microorganisms. Plant and Soil, 321(1), 305-339.

[22] Sharma, S. B., Sayyed, R. Z., Trivedi, M. H., & Gobi, T. A. (2013). Phosphate solubilizing microbes: Sustainable approach for managing phosphorus deficiency in agricultural soils. SpringerPlus, 2(1), 587.

[23] Smith, S. E., Jakobsen, I., Grønlund, M., & Smith, F. A. (2011). Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant phosphorus nutrition: Interactions between pathways of phosphorus uptake in arbuscular mycorrhizal roots have important implications for understanding and manipulating plant phosphorus acquisition. Plant Physiology, 156(3), 1050-1057.

312 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

[24] Spaepen, S., Vanderleyden, J., & Remans, R. (2007). Indole-3-acetic acid in microbial and microorganism-plant signaling. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 31(4), 425-448.

[25] Santoyo, G., Moreno-Hagelsieb, G., del Carmen Orozco-Mosqueda, M., & Glick, B. R. (2016). Plant growth-promoting bacterial endophytes. Microbiological Research, 183, 92-99.

[26] Bhattacharyya, P. N., & Jha, D. K. (2012). Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): Emergence in agriculture. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 28(4), 1327-1350.

[27] Raaijmakers, J. M., & Mazzola, M. (2012). Diversity and natural functions of antibiotics produced by beneficial and plant pathogenic bacteria. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 50, 403-424.

[28] Mendes, R., Kruijt, M., De Bruijn, I., Dekkers, E., van der Voort, M., Schneider, J. H., ... & Raaijmakers, J. M. (2011). Deciphering the rhizosphere microbiome for disease-suppressive bacteria. Science, 332(6033), 1097-1100.

[29] Pieterse, C. M., Zamioudis, C., Berendsen, R. L., Weller, D. M., Van Wees,S. C., & Bakker, P. A. (2014). Induced systemic resistance by beneficial microbes. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 52, 347-375.

[30] Garbeva, P., Van Veen, J. A., & Van Elsas, J. D. (2004). Microbial diversity in soil: Selection of microbial populations by plant and soil type and implications for disease suppressiveness. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 42, 243-270.

[31] Chaparro, J. M., Sheflin, A. M., Manter, D. K., & Vivanco, J. M. (2012). Manipulating the soil microbiome to increase soil health and plant fertility. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 48(5), 489-499.

[32] Berg, G. (2009). Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: Perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 84(1), 11-18.

[33] Adesemoye, A. O., Torbert, H. A., & Kloepper, J. W. (2009). Plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria allow reduced application rates of chemical fertilizers. Microbial Ecology, 58(4), 921-929.

[34] Bhardwaj, D., Ansari, M. W., Sahoo, R. K., & Tuteja, N. (2014). Biofertilizers function as key player in sustainable agriculture by improving soil fertility, plant tolerance and crop productivity. Microbial Cell Factories, 13(1), 66. [35] Glick, B. R. (2012). Plant growth-promoting bacteria: Mechanisms and applications. Scientifica, 2012.

[36] Velivelli, S. L., Kromann, P., Lojan, P., Rojas, M., Franco, J., Suarez, J. P., & Prestwich, B. D. (2015). Identification of mVOCs from Andean rhizobacteria and field evaluation of bacterial and mycorrhizal inoculants on growth of potato in its center of origin. Microbial Ecology, 69(3), 652-667.

[37] Kloepper, J. W., Ryu, C. M., & Zhang, S. (2004). Induced systemic resistance and promotion of plant growth by Bacillus spp. Phytopathology, 94(11), 1259-1266.

[38] Harman, G. E., Howell, C. R., Viterbo, A., Chet, I., & Lorito, M. (2004). Trichoderma species—opportunistic, avirulent plant symbionts. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2(1), 43-56.

[39] Zin, N. A., & Badaluddin, N. A. (2020). Biological functions of Trichoderma spp. for agriculture applications. Annals of Agricultural Sciences, 65(2), 168-178.

[40] Owen, D., Williams, A. P., Griffith, G. W., & Withers, P. J. (2015). Use of commercial bio-inoculants to increase agricultural production through improved phosphorus acquisition. Applied Soil Ecology, 86, 41-54.

[41] Kaminsky, L. M., Trexler, R. V., Malik, R. J., Hockett, K. L., & Bell, T. H. (2019). The inherent conflicts in developing soil microbial inoculants. Trends in Biotechnology, 37(2), 140-151.

[42] Doran, J. W., & Zeiss, M. R. (2000). Soil health and sustainability: Managing the biotic component of soil quality. Applied Soil Ecology, 15(1), 3-11.

[43] Karlen, D. L., Ditzler, C. A., & Andrews, S. S. (2003). Soil quality: Why and how? Geoderma, 114(3-4), 145-156.

[44] Bünemann, E. K., Bongiorno, G., Bai, Z., Creamer, R. E., De Deyn, G., de Goede, R., ... & Brussaard, L. (2018). Soil quality–A critical review. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 120, 105-125.

[45] Arias, M. E., Gonzalez-Perez, J. A., Gonzalez-Vila, F. J., & Ball, A. S. (2005). Soil health—a new challenge for microbiologists and chemists. International Microbiology, 8(1), 13-21.

[46] Bastida, F., Zsolnay, A., Hernández, T., & García, C. (2008). Past, present and future of soil quality indices: A biological perspective. Geoderma, 147(3-4), 159-171.

314 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

[47] Fierer, N., Leff, J. W., Adams, B. J., Nielsen, U. N., Bates, S. T., Lauber, C. L., ... & Caporaso, J. G. (2012). Cross-biome metagenomic analyses of soil microbial communities and their functional attributes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(52), 21390-21395.

[48] Larney, F. J., & Angers, D. A. (2012). The role of organic amendments in soil reclamation: A review. Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 92(1), 19-38.

[49] Lehmann, J., Rillig, M. C., Thies, J., Masiello, C. A., Hockaday, W. C., & Crowley, D. (2011). Biochar effects on soil biota–a review. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 43(9), 1812-1836.

[50] Blanco-Canqui, H., Shaver, T. M., Lindquist, J. L., Shapiro, C. A., Elmore, R. W., Francis, C. A., & Hergert, G. W. (2015). Cover crops and ecosystem services: Insights from studies in temperate soils. Agronomy Journal, 107(6), 2449-2474.

[51] Sarrantonio, M., & Gallandt, E. (2003). The role of cover crops in North American cropping systems. Journal of Crop Production, 8(1-2), 53-74.

[52] Kirkegaard, J., Christen, O., Krupinsky, J., & Layzell, D. (2008). Break crop benefits in temperate wheat production. Field Crops Research, 107(3), 185-195.

[53] Hobbs, P. R., Sayre, K., & Gupta, R. (2008). The role of conservation agriculture in sustainable agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1491), 543-555.

[54] Palm, C., Blanco-Canqui, H., DeClerck, F., Gatere, L., & Grace, P. (2014).Conservation agriculture and ecosystem services: An overview. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 187, 87-105.

[55] Bever, J. D., Westover, K. M., & Antonovics, J. (1997). Incorporating the soil community into plant population dynamics: The utility of the feedback approach. Journal of Ecology, 85(5), 561-573.

[56] Van der Putten, W. H., Bardgett, R. D., Bever, J. D., Bezemer, T. M., Casper, B. B., Fukami, T., ... & Wardle, D. A. (2013). Plant–soil feedbacks: The past, the present and future challenges. Journal of Ecology, 101(2), 265-276.

[57] Kulmatiski, A., Beard, K. H., Stevens, J. R., & Cobbold, S. M. (2008). Plant-soil feedbacks: A meta-analytical review. Ecology Letters, 11(9), 980-992.

[58] Mangan, S. A., Schnitzer, S. A., Herre, E. A., Mack, K. M., Valencia, M. C., Sanchez, E. I., & Bever, J. D. (2010). Negative plant-soil feedback predicts tree-species relative abundance in a tropical forest. Nature, 466(7307), 752-755.

[59] Kardol, P., Martijn Bezemer, T., & van der Putten, W. H. (2006). Temporal variation in plant–soil feedback controls succession. Ecology Letters, 9(9), 1080-1088.

[60] Klironomos, J. N. (2002). Feedback with soil biota contributes to plant rarity and invasiveness in communities. Nature, 417(6884), 67-70.

[61] Bever, J. D. (2003). Soil community feedback and the coexistence of competitors: Conceptual frameworks and empirical tests. New Phytologist, 157(3), 465-473.

[62] Reynolds, H. L., Packer, A., Bever, J. D., & Clay, K. (2003). Grassroots ecology: Plant–microbe–soil interactions as drivers of plant community structure and dynamics. Ecology, 84(9), 2281-2291.

[63] Classen, A. T., Sundqvist, M. K., Henning, J. A., Newman, G. S., Moore, J. A., Cregger, M. A., ... & Patterson, C. M. (2015). Direct and indirect effects of climate change on soil microbial and soil microbial-plant interactions: What lies ahead? Ecosphere, 6(8), 1-21.

[64] Bardgett, R. D., Freeman, C., & Ostle, N. J. (2008). Microbial contributions to climate change through carbon cycle feedbacks. The ISME Journal, 2(8), 805-814.

[65] Sheik, C. S., Beasley, W. H., Elshahed, M. S., Zhou, X., Luo, Y., & Krumholz, L. R. (2011). Effect of warming and drought on grassland microbial communities. The ISME Journal, 5(10), 1692-1700.

[66] Sanaullah, M., Blagodatskaya, E., Chabbi, A., Rumpel, C., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2011). Drought effects on microbial biomass and enzyme activities in the rhizosphere of grasses depend on plant community composition. Applied Soil Ecology, 48(1), 38-44.

[67] Fuchslueger, L., Bahn, M., Fritz, K., Hasibeder, R., & Richter, A. (2014). Experimental drought reduces the transfer of recently fixed plant carbon to soil microbes and alters the bacterial community composition in a mountain meadow. New Phytologist, 201(3), 916-927.

[68] Unger, I. M., Kennedy, A. C., & Muzika, R. M. (2009). Flooding effects on soil microbial communities. Applied Soil Ecology, 42(1), 1-8.

[69] Castro, H. F., Classen, A. T., Austin, E. E., Norby, R. J., & Schadt, C. W. (2010). Soil microbial community responses to multiple experimental climate change drivers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 76(4), 999-1007.
316 Plant-microbe Interactions and Soil Health

[70] Gutknecht, J. L., Field, C. B., & Balser, T. C. (2012). Microbial communities and their responses to simulated global change fluctuate greatly over multiple years. Global Change Biology, 18(7), 2256-2269.

[71] Chakraborty, S., & Newton, A. C. (2011). Climate change, plant diseases and food security: An overview. Plant Pathology, 60(1), 2-14.

[72] Fierer, N., & Jackson, R. B. (2006). The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(3), 626-631.

[73] Nesme, J., Achouak, W., Agathos, S. N., Bailey, M., Baldrian, P., Brunel, D., ... & Simonet, P. (2016). Back to the future of soil metagenomics. Frontiers in Microbiology, 7, 73.

[74] Eisenhauer, N., Bowker, M. A., Grace, J. B., & Powell, J. R. (2015). From patterns to causal understanding: Structural equation modeling (SEM) in soil ecology. Pedobiologia, 58(2-3), 65-72.

[75] Wagg, C., Bender, S. F., Widmer, F., & van der Heijden, M. G. (2014). Soil biodiversity and soil community composition determine ecosystem multifunctionality. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(14), 5266-5270.

[76] Bakker, M. G., Manter, D. K., Sheflin, A. M., Weir, T. L., & Vivanco, J. M. (2012). Harnessing the rhizosphere microbiome through plant breeding and agricultural management. Plant and Soil, 360(1), 1-13.

[77] Wintermans, P. C., Bakker, P. A., & Pieterse, C. M. (2016). Natural genetic variation in Arabidopsis for responsiveness to plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Plant Molecular Biology, 90(6), 623-634.

[78] Bonfante, P., & Anca, I. A. (2009). Plants, mycorrhizal fungi, and bacteria: A network of interactions. Annual Review of Microbiology, 63, 363-383.

[79] Dessaux, Y., Grandclément, C., & Faure, D. (2016). Engineering the rhizosphere. Trends in Plant Science, 21(3), 266-278.



¹Roshni Bhagat, ²Shailendra Sagar Prajapati and ³Jyoti Sahu

¹Assistant Professor, Genetics and Plant Breeding, IGKV, Raipur, 492012, Chhattisgarh,

²Guest Faculty, Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, JNKVV, Jabalpur, 482004, Madhya Pradesh, India

³Guest Faculty, Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, IGKV, Raipur, 492012, Chhattisgarh, India



Abstract

Genome editing technologies, particularly CRISPR-Cas systems, have revolutionized crop improvement in recent years. These tools allow precise and efficient modifications to plant genomes, enabling the development of crops with enhanced traits such as increased yield, improved nutritional quality, and greater resilience to biotic and abiotic stresses. This chapter provides an overview of the current state of genome editing in crop improvement, focusing on the application of CRISPR-Cas systems in major crops such as rice, wheat, maize, and soybean. We discuss the advantages of genome editing over traditional breeding and transgenic approaches, as well as the challenges and limitations associated with these technologies. Additionally, we highlight recent advancements in multiplex editing, base editing, and prime editing, which have expanded the scope and precision of genome editing in plants. The regulatory landscape and public acceptance of genome-edited crops are also addressed, emphasizing the need for science-based policies and effective communication strategies. Finally, we explore future prospects and potential applications of genome editing in crop improvement, including the development of climate-resilient and nutrientenriched crops. As genome editing technologies continue to evolve, they hold great promise for enhancing global food security and sustainable agriculture.

Keywords: CRISPR-Cas, Genome Editing, Crop Improvement, Plant Biotechnology, Sustainable Agriculture

The global population is expected to reach 9.7 billion by 2050, posing significant challenges for food security and sustainable agriculture [1]. To meet the growing demand for food, feed, and fiber, crop production must increase by 70% while minimizing the environmental impact [2]. Traditional breeding methods have played a crucial role in crop improvement, but they are often time-

consuming and limited by the available genetic diversity within a species [3]. Transgenic approaches have overcome some of these limitations, enabling the introduction of foreign genes into crops. However, public concerns about the safety and environmental impact of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) have hindered their widespread adoption [4].

Genome editing technologies, particularly CRISPR-Cas systems, have emerged as powerful tools for crop improvement, offering a more precise, efficient, and socially acceptable alternative to traditional breeding and transgenic approaches [5]. By enabling targeted modifications to plant genomes, genome editing allows the development of crops with enhanced traits, such as increased yield, improved nutritional quality, and greater resilience to biotic and abiotic stresses [6]. This chapter provides an overview of the current state of genome editing in crop improvement, focusing on the application of CRISPR-Cas systems in major crops. We discuss the advantages, challenges, and future prospects of these technologies, as well as the regulatory landscape and public acceptance of genome-edited crops.

2. Overview of genome editing technologies

Genome editing technologies enable precise and targeted modifications to an organism's DNA [7]. The three main classes of genome editing tools are zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-associated (Cas) systems [8].

2.1 Zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs) and transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs)

ZFNs and TALENs are engineered nucleases that consist of a customizable DNA-binding domain fused to a non-specific DNA cleavage domain (FokI endonuclease) [9]. The DNA-binding domain, composed of either zinc-finger proteins (ZFPs) or transcription activator-like effectors (TALEs), can be designed to recognize specific DNA sequences [10]. Upon binding to the target site, the FokI endonuclease domains dimerize and introduce a double-strand break (DSB) in the DNA [11]. ZFNs and TALENs have been successfully applied in crop improvement, but their widespread use has been limited by the complexity and cost of designing and assembling the DNA-binding domains [12].

2.2 CRISPR-Cas systems: The game-changer in genome editing

CRISPR-Cas systems have revolutionized genome editing due to their simplicity, versatility, and efficiency compared to ZFNs and TALENs [13]. CRISPR-Cas systems are adaptive immune systems found in bacteria and archaea that protect against invading genetic elements, such as viruses [14]. These systems consist of a Cas endonuclease and a guide RNA (gRNA) that directs the Cas protein to a specific DNA sequence for cleavage [15].

2.2.1 CRISPR-Cas9: Mechanism and components

The most widely used CRISPR-Cas system for genome editing is CRISPR-Cas9, which originated from *Streptococcus pyogenes* [16]. The Cas9 endonuclease is guided by a single guide RNA (sgRNA) that consists of a scaffold sequence and a 20-nucleotide spacer sequence complementary to the target DNA [17]. The target site must be adjacent to a protospacer adjacent motif (PAM), typically NGG for Cas9, which is essential for target recognition and cleavage [18]. Upon binding to the target site, Cas9 introduces a DSB, which can be repaired through non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) or homology-directed repair (HDR) pathways [19]. NHEJ is an error-prone process that often leads to small insertions or deletions (indels) at the target site, resulting in gene knockout [20]. HDR, on the other hand, can be used for precise gene editing by providing a donor template with the desired modifications [21].

2.2.2 CRISPR-Cas12a (Cpf1): An alternative to Cas9

CRISPR-Cas12a (formerly known as Cpf1) is another Cas endonuclease that has been adapted for genome editing [22]. Cas12a offers several advantages over Cas9, including: (1) a more compact gRNA, (2) the ability to process its own gRNA array, enabling multiplex editing, and (3) the generation of staggered cuts with sticky ends, which may enhance HDR efficiency [23]. Cas12a has been successfully used for genome editing in various crops, such as rice [24], maize [25], and soybean [26].

2.2.3 Other CRISPR-Cas variants and their applications

In addition to Cas9 and Cas12a, other CRISPR-Cas systems have been identified and adapted for genome editing, expanding the toolbox for crop improvement [27]. For example, Cas13 targets RNA instead of DNA, enabling transcript modification and regulation [28]. Cas14 is a compact Cas endonuclease that can be delivered using adeno-associated viruses (AAVs) for efficient genome editing in plants [29]. These alternative CRISPR-Cas systems provide new opportunities for crop improvement and expand the range of traits that can be targeted.

2.3 Comparison of genome editing tools: Efficiency, specificity, and ease of use

The choice of genome editing tool depends on various factors, such as the target species, desired modification, and available resources. Table 1 compares the efficiency, specificity, and ease of use of ZFNs, TALENs, and CRISPR-Cas systems in plants.

Tool	Efficiency	Specificity	Ease of design	Multiplexing
ZFNs	Low to moderate	High	Difficult	Limited
TALENs	Moderate	High	Moderate	Limited
CRISPR-Cas	High	Moderate to high	Easy	Efficient

Table 1. Comparison of genome editing tools in plants.

CRISPR-Cas systems have emerged as the preferred choice for genome editing in plants due to their high efficiency, ease of design, and multiplexing capabilities [30]. However, the specificity of CRISPR-Cas systems can be a concern, as off-target effects may occur at sites with sequence similarity to the target site [31]. Strategies to improve the specificity of CRISPR-Cas systems, such as the use of high-fidelity Cas variants [32] and optimized gRNA design [33], have been developed and are discussed in Section 5.

3. Application of CRISPR-Cas systems in major crops

CRISPR-Cas systems have been applied to various crops for trait improvement, demonstrating their potential to revolutionize agriculture [34]. In this section, we focus on the application of CRISPR-Cas systems in four major crops: rice, wheat, maize, and soybean.

3.1 Rice (Oryza sativa)

Rice is a staple food crop for more than half of the world's population [35]. Improving rice yield, quality, and resilience is crucial for global food security. CRISPR-Cas systems have been used to target various traits in rice, including yield, grain quality, and stress tolerance (Table 2).

For example, the simultaneous knockout of Gn1a and GS3, two negative regulators of grain number and size, respectively, resulted in a significant increase in rice yield [36]. The targeted mutagenesis of *SBEI* and *SBEIIb*, which encode starch branching enzymes, led to the production of high-amylose rice with improved cooking and eating quality [37]. In addition to gene knockout,

Trait	Gene target	Modification	Reference
Yield	Gn1a, GS3	Knockout	[36]
Grain quality	SBEI, SBEIIb	Knockout	[37]
Drought tolerance	OsDERF1	Knockout	[38]
Disease resistance	OsERF922	Knockout	[39]
Herbicide resistance	OsALS	Base editing (C-to-T)	[40]

base editing has been used to confer herbicide resistance in rice by introducing precise point mutations in the acetolactate synthase (*OsALS*) gene [40].

Table 2. Examples of CRISPR-Cas-mediated trait improvement in rice.

3.2 Wheat (Triticum aestivum)

Wheat is another important cereal crop, providing a significant portion of the world's caloric intake [41]. However, the complex allohexaploid genome of wheat poses challenges for traditional breeding and genetic manipulation [42]. CRISPR-Cas systems have emerged as powerful tools to overcome these challenges and improve wheat traits, such as yield, nutrient use efficiency, and disease resistance (Table 3).

Trait	Gene target	Modification	Reference
Yield	TaGW2	Knockout	[43]
Nutrient use efficiency	TaNFYA-B1	Knockout	[44]
Fungal resistance	TaMLO	Knockout	[45]
Gluten reduction	TaGLIADIN	Knockout	[46]
Herbicide resistance	TaALS	Base editing (C-to-T)	[47]

Table 3. Examples of CRISPR-Cas-mediated trait improvement in wheat.

The knockout of *TaGW2*, a negative regulator of grain weight, resulted in a significant increase in wheat thousand-grain weight and yield [43]. The targeted mutagenesis of *TaNFYA-B1*, which encodes a subunit of the nuclear factor Y (NF-Y) transcription factor, led to improved nitrogen uptake and utilization efficiency in wheat [44]. CRISPR-Cas-mediated knockout of *TaMLO*, which encodes a susceptibility factor for powdery mildew, conferred broad-spectrum resistance to this fungal disease [45]. Base editing has also been used to introduce precise point mutations in the *TaALS* gene, conferring resistance to the herbicide chlorsulfuron [47].

3.3 Maize (Zea mays)

Maize is a major crop used for food, feed, and biofuel production [48]. CRISPR-Cas systems have been applied to improve various traits in maize, such as drought tolerance, nutritional quality, and digestibility (Table 4).

Trait	Gene target	Modification	Reference
Drought tolerance	ZmARGOS8	Overexpression	[49]
Nutritional quality	ZmPSY1	Overexpression	[50]
Digestibility	ZmCKX10	Knockout	[51]
Herbicide resistance	ZmALS2	Base editing (A-to-G)	[52]
Haploid induction	ZmDMP	Knockout	[53]

Table 4. Examples of CRISPR-Cas-mediated trait improvement in maize.

The CRISPR-Cas-mediated overexpression of ZmARGOS8, a negative regulator of ethylene response, enhanced drought tolerance in maize [49]. The targeted mutagenesis of ZmCKX10, which encodes a cytokinin oxidase/dehydrogenase, resulted in increased kernel size and improved digestibility [51]. Base editing has been used to introduce precise point mutations in the ZmALS2 gene, conferring resistance to the herbicide nicosulfuron [52]. Additionally, the knockout of ZmDMP, which encodes a pollen-specific phospholipase, led to improved haploid induction efficiency in maize [53].

3.4 Soybean (Glycine max)

Soybean is an important legume crop, providing a rich source of protein and oil for human consumption and animal feed [54]. CRISPR-Cas systems have been used to target various traits in soybean, such as oil composition, protein content, and pest resistance (Table 5).

The simultaneous knockout of *GmFAD2-1A* and *GmFAD2-1B*, which encode fatty acid desaturases, resulted in the production of high-oleic acid soybean oil [55]. The targeted mutagenesis of *GmPPD*, which encodes a phosphatidylcholine:diacylglycerol cholinephosphotransferase, led to increased protein content in soybean seeds [56]. CRISPR-Cas-mediated knockout of

GmCHLI, which encodes a subunit of the magnesium chelatase enzyme, conferred resistance to soybean cyst nematode [57]. Base editing has been used to introduce precise point mutations in the *GmALS1* gene, conferring resistance to the herbicide chlorsulfuron [58].

Trait	Gene target	Modification	Reference
Oil composition	GmFAD2-1A/B	Knockout	[55]
Protein content	GmPPD	Knockout	[56]
Pest resistance	GmCHLI	Knockout	[57]
Herbicide resistance	GmALS1	Base editing (C-to-T)	[58]
Drought tolerance	GmDREB2	Overexpression	[59]

Table 5. Examples of CRISPR-Cas-mediated trait improvement in soybean.

3.5 Other important crops

CRISPR-Cas systems have been applied to various other crops, such as potato (*Solanum tuberosum*), tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*), and cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*), for trait improvement [60]. For example, the targeted mutagenesis of the *StGBSS* gene, which encodes granule-bound starch synthase, resulted in the production of amylose-free potato starch [61]. The knockout of the *SlMAPK3* gene, which encodes a mitogen-activated protein kinase, enhanced resistance to bacterial speck disease in tomato [62]. In cotton, the targeted mutagenesis of the *GhCLA1* gene, which encodes a chloroplast development-related gene, led to the production of low-gossypol cottonseed, which is safer for human and animal consumption [63].

4. Advancements in genome editing techniques

While the standard CRISPR-Cas systems have revolutionized crop improvement, recent advancements in genome editing techniques have further expanded the scope and precision of these tools. In this section, we discuss three major advancements: multiplex editing, base editing, and prime editing.

4.1 Multiplex editing: Simultaneous modification of multiple genes

Multiplex editing refers to the simultaneous targeting of multiple genes or genomic regions using a single CRISPR-Cas construct [64]. This approach is particularly useful for improving complex traits that are controlled by multiple genes or for stacking multiple traits in a single plant [65]. There are several strategies for achieving multiplex editing in plants, including the use of polycistronic tRNA-sgRNA systems [66], Csy4-based sgRNA processing [67], and ribozyme-based sgRNA release [68].



Figure 1. Strategies for multiplex editing in plants using CRISPR-Cas systems Polycistronic tRNA-sgRNA system.

In the polycistronic tRNA-sgRNA system, multiple sgRNAs are flanked by tRNA sequences and expressed as a single transcript [66]. The endogenous tRNA processing machinery cleaves the transcript, releasing individual sgRNAs that can guide Cas9 to multiple target sites. This system has been used to simultaneously target up to eight genes in rice [69] and six genes in maize [70], resulting in the successful modification of multiple traits.

The Csy4-based sgRNA processing system relies on the Csy4 endoribonuclease from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, which recognizes a specific 28-nucleotide hairpin sequence and cleaves the RNA [67]. By placing the Csy4 recognition sequence between sgRNAs, a single transcript containing multiple sgRNAs can be processed into individual sgRNAs. This system has been used to simultaneously edit three genes in Arabidopsis [71] and four genes in tomato [72].

Ribozyme-based sgRNA release systems use self-cleaving ribozymes, such as the hammerhead ribozyme (HH) and the hepatitis delta virus ribozyme (HDV), to release individual sgRNAs from a single transcript [68]. The ribozymes are placed between the sgRNAs and cleave themselves, producing functional sgRNAs that can guide Cas9 to multiple target sites. This system has

been used to simultaneously target two genes in potato [73] and three genes in wheat [74].

4.2 Base editing: Precise nucleotide substitutions without DSBs

Base editing is a precise genome editing technique that enables the conversion of one base pair to another without introducing DSBs [75]. This approach uses a catalytically impaired Cas9 (nCas9) or Cas9 nickase (Cas9n) fused to a deaminase enzyme, which converts cytosine to uracil (C-to-T) or adenine to inosine (A-to-G) [76]. The resulting mismatches are then repaired by the cell's endogenous DNA repair machinery, leading to precise base substitutions.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of base editing using CRISPR-Cas systems. (A) Cytosine base editor (CBE). (B) Adenine base editor (ABE).

Cytosine base editors (CBEs) use a cytidine deaminase, such as the rat APOBEC1 or the human AID, to convert C-to-T [77]. CBEs have been used to introduce precise point mutations in various crops, such as rice [78], wheat [79], and tomato [80]. For example, the precise C-to-T conversion in the *ALS* gene conferred herbicide resistance in rice [40] and wheat [47].

Adenine base editors (ABEs) use an adenosine deaminase, such as the *Escherichia coli* TadA, to convert A-to-G [81]. ABEs have been used to introduce precise point mutations in crops, such as maize [52] and soybean [82]. For example, the precise A-to-G conversion in the *ZmALS2* gene conferred resistance to the herbicide nicosulfuron in maize [52].

Base editing offers several advantages over conventional CRISPR-Cas systems, including the reduced risk of off-target effects and the ability to introduce precise point mutations without relying on HDR [83]. However, the efficiency and precision of base editing can be influenced by factors such as the sequence context, the type of deaminase used, and the delivery method [84].

4.3 Prime editing: Versatile and precise genome editing

Prime editing is a novel genome editing technique that enables the introduction of various types of mutations, including insertions, deletions, and base substitutions, without relying on DSBs or donor templates [85]. This approach uses a fusion protein consisting of a catalytically impaired Cas9 (nCas9) and an engineered reverse transcriptase (RT), along with a prime editing guide RNA (pegRNA) that specifies the target site and the desired edit.



Figure 3. Schematic representation of prime editing using CRISPR-Cas systems.

The pegRNA consists of a targeting spacer, a primer binding site (PBS), and an RT template that encodes the desired edit [85]. Upon binding to the target site, the nCas9 nicks the non-target strand, and the RT uses the nicked strand as a primer to synthesize a new DNA strand containing the desired edit. The edited strand then serves as a template for the synthesis of the complementary strand, resulting in a precise modification of the target site.

Prime editing has been successfully used to introduce various types of mutations in plants, such as rice [86], wheat [87], and maize [88]. For example, prime editing was used to introduce precise insertions and deletions in the *OsALS* gene, conferring herbicide resistance in rice [86]. In wheat, prime editing was used to introduce precise point mutations in the *TaMLO* gene, conferring resistance to powdery mildew [87].

Prime editing offers several advantages over other genome editing techniques, including the ability to introduce a wide range of mutations with high precision and the reduced risk of off-target effects [89]. However, the efficiency of prime editing can be influenced by factors such as the sequence context, the design of the pegRNA, and the delivery method [90].

4.4 Delivery methods for genome editing components in plants

The successful application of genome editing in plants relies on the efficient delivery of the genome editing components, such as the Cas nuclease, the gRNA, and the donor template (if applicable), into the plant cells [91]. There are several methods for delivering genome editing components into plants, including Agrobacterium-mediated transformation, particle bombardment, and ribonucleoprotein (RNP) delivery [92].

Agrobacterium-mediated transformation is the most widely used method for delivering genome editing components into plants [93]. This approach involves the use of the soil bacterium *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* to transfer the genome editing components, typically in the form of a binary vector, into the plant cells. The binary vector contains the Cas nuclease gene, the gRNA expression cassette, and a selectable marker gene for the selection of transformed cells. Agrobacterium-mediated transformation has been successfully used to deliver genome editing components into various crops, such as rice [94], wheat [95], and soybean [96].

Particle bombardment, also known as biolistics, involves the use of highvelocity microprojectiles to deliver genome editing components into plant cells [97]. The genome editing components, typically in the form of plasmid DNA or RNPs, are coated onto the surface of gold or tungsten particles and accelerated into the plant cells using a gene gun. Particle bombardment has been used to deliver genome editing components into crops that are recalcitrant to Agrobacterium-mediated transformation, such as maize [98] and sugarcane [99].

RNP delivery involves the direct delivery of preassembled Cas nucleasegRNA complexes into plant cells [100]. This approach bypasses the need for transgene integration and can reduce the risk of off-target effects [101]. RNP delivery has been successfully used to edit the genomes of various crops, such as wheat [102], maize [103], and potato [104]. However, the efficiency of RNP delivery can be influenced by factors such as the type of Cas nuclease used, the design of the gRNA, and the delivery method [105].

5. Challenges and limitations of genome editing in crop improvement

Despite the tremendous potential of genome editing technologies in crop improvement, there are several challenges and limitations that need to be addressed to fully realize their benefits. In this section, we discuss some of the major challenges and limitations of genome editing in crop improvement,

329

including off-target effects, genotype-dependent editing efficiency, regeneration and transformation bottlenecks, and intellectual property and licensing issues.

5.1 Off-target effects and strategies for minimization

Off-target effects refer to the unintended modifications of non-target sites in the genome that share sequence similarity with the target site [106]. Off-target effects can lead to undesirable mutations and can compromise the safety and efficacy of genome-edited crops [107]. The frequency and severity of off-target effects depend on various factors, such as the specificity of the gRNA, the type of Cas nuclease used, and the genome complexity of the target species [108].

Several strategies have been developed to minimize off-target effects in genome editing, including the use of high-fidelity Cas nucleases [109], the optimization of gRNA design [110], and the use of paired nickases [111] or truncated gRNAs [112]. High-fidelity Cas nucleases, such as eSpCas9 [113] and SpCas9-HF1 [114], have been engineered to reduce non-specific DNA contacts and improve the specificity of genome editing. The optimization of gRNA design involves the selection of gRNAs with minimal off-target potential using computational tools and experimental validation [115]. Paired nickases and truncated gRNAs reduce off-target effects by requiring two adjacent nicks or shorter gRNA-DNA hybridization for efficient genome editing [116].

5.2 Genotype-dependent editing efficiency and specificity

The efficiency and specificity of genome editing can vary depending on the genotype of the target species or variety [117]. Different plant genotypes may have variations in the sequence or chromatin structure of the target site, which can influence the accessibility and binding of the Cas nuclease-gRNA complex [118]. Additionally, different genotypes may have different endogenous DNA repair mechanisms, which can affect the outcome of genome editing [119].

To address the issue of genotype-dependent editing efficiency and specificity, it is important to optimize the genome editing protocol for each target genotype and to validate the editing outcomes using appropriate methods, such as sequencing and phenotypic analysis [120]. The use of multiple gRNAs targeting the same gene or pathway can also increase the chances of successful editing across different genotypes [121].

5.3 Regeneration and transformation bottlenecks in some crops

The regeneration and transformation of genome-edited plants can be a bottleneck in some crops, particularly those that are recalcitrant to tissue culture and genetic transformation [122]. The efficiency of regeneration and

transformation can vary depending on the species, genotype, explant type, and culture conditions [123]. Low regeneration and transformation efficiencies can limit the application of genome editing in some crops and can increase the time and cost of developing edited plants [124].

To overcome the regeneration and transformation bottlenecks, various strategies have been developed, including the optimization of tissue culture and transformation protocols [125], the use of alternative explants and regeneration pathways [126], and the development of genotype-independent delivery methods, such as nanoparticle-mediated delivery [127] or virus-mediated delivery [128]. The use of developmental regulators, such as Wuschel [129] or Baby boom [130], can also improve the regeneration efficiency of some recalcitrant crops.

5.4 Intellectual property and licensing issues

The intellectual property and licensing landscape for genome editing technologies is complex and can pose challenges for the development and commercialization of genome-edited crops [131]. The key genome editing technologies, such as CRISPR-Cas systems, are protected by multiple patents held by different institutions and companies [132]. The fragmented ownership of intellectual property rights can create barriers for access and use, particularly for small and medium-sized enterprises and public sector institutions [133].

To navigate the intellectual property and licensing issues, it is important to establish clear and transparent guidelines for the use and sharing of genome editing technologies [134]. The development of open-source platforms and public-private partnerships can also facilitate the access and use of genome editing technologies for crop improvement [135]. Additionally, the harmonization of international regulations and the creation of a global framework for the governance of genome editing technologies can help to ensure their responsible and equitable use [136].

6. Regulatory landscape and public acceptance

The regulatory landscape and public acceptance of genome-edited crops are critical factors that can influence the development and commercialization of these technologies. In this section, we discuss the current regulatory frameworks for genome-edited crops, the public perception and acceptance of these technologies, and the socioeconomic considerations and implications for smallholder farmers.

6.1 Current regulatory frameworks for genome-edited crops

The regulatory frameworks for genome-edited crops vary depending on the country or region, and are influenced by factors such as the legal and political context, the scientific evidence, and the public opinion [137]. In general, there are two main approaches to the regulation of genome-edited crops: process-based and product-based [138].

The process-based approach regulates genome-edited crops based on the techniques used to develop them, regardless of the characteristics of the final product. This approach is used in the European Union, where genome-edited crops are subject to the same regulations as genetically modified organisms (GMOs) [139]. The product-based approach regulates genome-edited crops based on the characteristics of the final product, regardless of the techniques used to develop them. This approach is used in countries such as the United States, Canada, and Argentina, where genome-edited crops that do not contain foreign DNA are exempt from GMO regulations [140].

6.1.1 Comparison of regulations in different countries/regions

The regulations for genome-edited crops vary widely across different countries and regions, creating a complex and fragmented regulatory landscape [141]. For example, in the United States, the Department of Agriculture (USDA) has issued a rule stating that genome-edited crops that could have been developed through traditional breeding methods are exempt from GMO regulations [142]. In contrast, in the European Union, the Court of Justice has ruled that genome-edited crops are subject to the same regulations as GMOs, including a mandatory risk assessment and labeling [143].

Other countries, such as Australia, Japan, and Brazil, have adopted a case-by-case approach to the regulation of genome-edited crops, based on the characteristics of the final product and the potential risks to human health and the environment [144]. China has recently issued draft regulations for genome-edited crops, which propose a tiered approach based on the type of modification and the potential risks [145].

6.1.2 The need for harmonized, science-based policies

The divergent regulatory approaches for genome-edited crops across different countries and regions can create trade barriers and hinder the global development and commercialization of these technologies [146]. There is a need for harmonized, science-based policies that are consistent with international standards and that facilitate the responsible and sustainable use of genome editing for crop improvement [147].

The development of harmonized policies requires international cooperation and dialogue among regulatory authorities, scientific experts, and stakeholders [148]. The Codex Alimentarius Commission, an international food standards body, has established an ad hoc intergovernmental task force on foods derived from biotechnology, which aims to develop guidelines for the safety assessment of genome-edited foods [149]. The International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC) has also established a working group on the phytosanitary risks associated with the international movement of genome-edited plants [150].

6.2 Public perception and acceptance of genome-edited crops

The public perception and acceptance of genome-edited crops are important factors that can influence the regulatory decisions and the market uptake of these technologies [151]. The public attitudes towards genome-edited crops are shaped by various factors, such as the knowledge and understanding of the technology, the perceived risks and benefits, the trust in regulatory authorities and scientific institutions, and the ethical and moral considerations [152].

6.2.1 Factors influencing public opinion

Studies have shown that the public knowledge and understanding of genome editing technologies are generally low, and that there is a lack of awareness of the differences between genome editing and genetic modification [153]. The public attitudes towards genome-edited crops are also influenced by the perceived risks and benefits of the technology, such as the potential impacts on human health, the environment, and the socioeconomic aspects [154]. The public trust in regulatory authorities and scientific institutions is another important factor that can influence the acceptance of genome-edited crops [155]. The ethical and moral considerations, such as the naturalness and the perceived "playing God" aspect of genome editing, can also shape the public attitudes towards these technologies [156].

6.2.2 Strategies for effective communication and engagement

Effective communication and engagement with the public are critical for building trust and acceptance of genome-edited crops [157]. The communication strategies should aim to provide balanced and evidence-based information about the risks and benefits of genome editing, and to engage the public in a transparent and inclusive dialogue [158]. The use of clear and accessible language, the involvement of trusted sources and influencers, and the targeting of specific audiences and contexts are important elements of effective communication [159]. The engagement strategies should aim to involve the public in the decision-making processes related to genome-edited crops, and to incorporate their values, concerns, and perspectives [160]. The use of participatory approaches, such as citizen juries, consensus conferences, and stakeholder consultations, can facilitate the public engagement and the co-creation of policies and regulations [161]. The establishment of public-private partnerships and the collaboration with civil society organizations can also help to build trust and acceptance of genome-edited crops [162].

6.3 Socioeconomic considerations and implications for smallholder farmers

The development and commercialization of genome-edited crops can have significant socioeconomic implications, particularly for smallholder farmers in developing countries [163]. The potential benefits of genome-edited crops for smallholder farmers include the increased productivity, the reduced production costs, and the improved resilience to biotic and abiotic stresses [164]. However, the realization of these benefits depends on various factors, such as the access to the technology, the regulatory and institutional frameworks, and the market and trade conditions [165].

The access to genome editing technologies for smallholder farmers can be limited by various factors, such as the intellectual property rights, the technology transfer mechanisms, and the capacity building and extension services [166]. The establishment of public-private partnerships, the development of open-source platforms, and the strengthening of the research and innovation systems can help to improve the access and adoption of genome editing technologies by smallholder farmers [167].

The regulatory and institutional frameworks for genome-edited crops can also have implications for smallholder farmers, particularly in terms of the costs and benefits of compliance, the market access and trade, and the public acceptance and consumer preferences [168]. The development of harmonized, science-based, and inclusive regulatory frameworks, the establishment of publicprivate partnerships, and the engagement of smallholder farmers in the decisionmaking processes can help to ensure the equitable and sustainable use of genome editing technologies [169].

7. Future prospects and potential applications

The rapid advancements in genome editing technologies and their successful applications in various crops have opened up new opportunities for crop improvement and have paved the way for future innovations and potential

applications. In this section, we discuss the future prospects and potential applications of genome editing in crop improvement, including the development of climate-resilient crops, the biofortification and nutrient enrichment of crops, the expansion of the genome editing toolbox, and the integration of genome editing with other breeding technologies.

7.1 Developing climate-resilient crops for a changing world

Climate change poses significant challenges for crop production and food security, with increasing temperatures, changing precipitation patterns, and more frequent and severe extreme weather events [170]. The development of climate-resilient crops that can withstand these stresses is critical for adapting to and mitigating the impacts of climate change [171]. Genome editing technologies offer new opportunities for developing climate-resilient crops by targeting genes and pathways involved in stress tolerance and adaptation [172].

7.1.1 Enhancing tolerance to drought, heat, and salinity

Drought, heat, and salinity are major abiotic stresses that can severely limit crop productivity and yield [173]. Genome editing can be used to enhance the tolerance of crops to these stresses by modifying genes involved in stress signaling, ion transport, and osmotic adjustment [174]. For example, the targeted mutagenesis of the *OsDERF1* gene in rice using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in improved drought tolerance [38]. Similarly, the overexpression of the *ARGOS8* gene in maize using CRISPR-Cas9 led to increased grain yield under drought stress [49].

Genome editing can also be used to enhance the heat tolerance of crops by modifying genes involved in heat shock response, protein folding, and membrane stability [175]. For example, the targeted mutagenesis of the *OsSPL7* gene in rice using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in increased heat tolerance and grain yield [176]. The modification of genes involved in ion transport and osmotic adjustment, such as the *OsNHX1* gene in rice, can also enhance the salinity tolerance of crops [177].

7.1.2 Improving photosynthetic efficiency and carbon fixation

Photosynthesis is the primary process by which plants convert sunlight into chemical energy and is a key determinant of crop productivity and yield [178]. However, the efficiency of photosynthesis in many crops is limited by various factors, such as the light-harvesting capacity, the carbon fixation rate, and the photorespiration [179]. Genome editing can be used to improve the photosynthetic efficiency and carbon fixation of crops by modifying genes involved in these processes [180].

For example, the targeted mutagenesis of the *SPL* gene in tobacco using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in increased photosynthetic efficiency and biomass production [181]. The modification of the Rubisco enzyme, which is the key enzyme in carbon fixation, can also improve the photosynthetic efficiency and yield of crops [182]. The overexpression of the *FBP* gene, which encodes a Calvin cycle enzyme, in soybean using CRISPR-Cas9 led to increased photosynthetic rate and seed yield [183].

Genome editing can also be used to reduce the photorespiration, which is a wasteful process that competes with carbon fixation and reduces the photosynthetic efficiency [184]. The targeted mutagenesis of the *GOX* gene, which is involved in photorespiration, in rice using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in increased photosynthetic efficiency and grain yield [185].

7.2 Biofortification and nutrient-enriched crops

Malnutrition is a major global health problem, particularly in developing countries, where the diets are often deficient in essential micronutrients, such as vitamins and minerals [186]. Biofortification, which is the process of increasing the nutrient content of crops through breeding or genetic modification, is a promising strategy for addressing micronutrient deficiencies [187]. Genome editing technologies offer new opportunities for biofortification and the development of nutrient-enriched crops [188].

7.2.1 Increasing essential micronutrients (e.g., iron, zinc, vitamin A)

Genome editing can be used to increase the content of essential micronutrients, such as iron, zinc, and vitamin A, in crops by modifying genes involved in their biosynthesis, transport, and storage [189]. For example, the targeted mutagenesis of the *OsVIT2* gene in rice using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in increased iron and zinc content in the grains [190]. The overexpression of the *PSY* gene, which encodes a key enzyme in the carotenoid biosynthesis pathway, in banana using CRISPR-Cas9 led to increased beta-carotene content, which is a precursor of vitamin A [191].

Genome editing can also be used to reduce the content of antinutrients, such as phytate and tannins, which can inhibit the absorption of essential micronutrients [192]. The targeted mutagenesis of the *IPK1* gene, which is involved in phytate biosynthesis, in maize using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in reduced phytate content and increased iron bioavailability [193].

7.2.2 Modifying amino acid and fatty acid profiles

Genome editing can be used to modify the amino acid and fatty acid profiles of crops to improve their nutritional quality and health benefits [194]. For example, the targeted mutagenesis of the *FAD2* gene, which encodes a fatty acid desaturase, in soybean using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in increased oleic acid content and reduced linoleic acid content, which can improve the oxidative stability and health benefits of soybean oil [195].

Genome editing can also be used to increase the content of essential amino acids, such as lysine and methionine, in crops by modifying genes involved in their biosynthesis and regulation [196]. For example, the targeted mutagenesis of the *GhLPA* gene, which encodes a lysine-rich protein, in cotton using CRISPR-Cas9 resulted in increased lysine content in the seeds [197]. The overexpression of the *AtZIP4* gene, which encodes a zinc transporter, in soybean using CRISPR-Cas9 led to increased methionine content in the seeds [198].

7.3 Expanding the toolbox: Emerging genome editing technologies

The rapid advancements in genome editing technologies have led to the development of new tools and approaches that can expand the scope and precision of genome editing in plants [199]. These emerging technologies offer new opportunities for crop improvement and can complement the existing genome editing tools [200].

7.3.1 CRISPR-Cas13 for RNA targeting and manipulation

CRISPR-Cas13 is a novel genome editing tool that targets RNA instead of DNA [201]. Unlike the DNA-targeting CRISPR-Cas systems, CRISPR-Cas13 can be used to modify the transcriptome without introducing permanent changes to the genome [202]. This feature makes CRISPR-Cas13 a promising tool for studying gene function, modulating gene expression, and developing new traits in crops [203].

For example, the use of CRISPR-Cas13 to target and degrade the mRNA of the *OsSWEET13* gene, which encodes a sugar transporter, in rice resulted in increased resistance to bacterial blight disease [204]. The use of CRISPR-Cas13 to target and edit the mRNA of the *OsAOS1* gene, which encodes a key enzyme in the jasmonic acid biosynthesis pathway, in rice led to altered plant development and stress responses [205].

7.3.2 CRISPR-guided transposases for targeted gene insertion

CRISPR-guided transposases are a new class of genome editing tools that combine the targeting specificity of CRISPR-Cas systems with the gene insertion capability of transposases [206]. These tools can be used to insert genes or regulatory elements into specific genomic locations without inducing doublestrand breaks or relying on homology-directed repair [207].

For example, the use of CRISPR-guided transposases to insert the *GFP* gene into the *OsUBQ* locus in rice resulted in stable and heritable gene expression [208]. The use of CRISPR-guided transposases to insert the *Bt* gene, which encodes an insecticidal protein, into the *ZmUBQ* locus in maize led to increased resistance to insect pests [209].

CRISPR-guided transposases offer several advantages over traditional gene insertion methods, such as the ability to target specific genomic locations, the reduced risk of insertional mutagenesis, and the increased efficiency of gene insertion [210]. These tools can be used to develop new traits in crops, such as disease resistance, herbicide tolerance, and enhanced nutritional quality [211].

7.4 Integration of genome editing with other breeding technologies

Genome editing technologies can be integrated with other breeding technologies, such as speed breeding, genomic selection, and high-throughput phenotyping, to accelerate crop improvement and develop new varieties with desirable traits [212]. The integration of these technologies can leverage the strengths of each approach and overcome the limitations of individual methods [213].

Speed breeding is a technique that uses controlled environmental conditions and extended photoperiods to accelerate the generation time of crops [214]. This technique can be used to rapidly introduce and test genome-edited traits in different genetic backgrounds and environments [215]. For example, the integration of speed breeding with CRISPR-Cas9-mediated gene editing in wheat resulted in the development of powdery mildew-resistant lines in less than a year [216].

Genomic selection is a breeding approach that uses genome-wide markers to predict the breeding values of individuals and select the best candidates for further breeding [217]. This approach can be used to identify the most promising genome-edited lines and accelerate their deployment in breeding programs [218]. For example, the integration of genomic selection with CRISPR-Cas9-mediated gene editing in maize resulted in the rapid development of lines with increased yield and drought tolerance [219].

High-throughput phenotyping is a technique that uses automated sensors and imaging systems to measure the morphological, physiological, and biochemical traits of crops in the field [220]. This technique can be used to evaluate the performance of genome-edited lines under different environmental conditions and identify the most promising candidates for further development [221]. For example, the integration of high-throughput phenotyping with CRISPR-Cas12a-mediated gene editing in tomato resulted in the identification of lines with increased fruit size and quality [222].

The integration of genome editing with speed breeding, genomic selection, and high-throughput phenotyping can accelerate the development and deployment of new crop varieties with improved traits, such as increased yield, enhanced nutritional quality, and greater resilience to biotic and abiotic stresses [223]. These integrated approaches can also reduce the cost and time required for crop improvement and make the benefits of genome editing more accessible to smallholder farmers and consumers [224].

8. Conclusion

Genome editing technologies, particularly CRISPR-Cas systems, have revolutionized the field of crop improvement and have opened up new opportunities for developing crops with enhanced traits. As demonstrated in this chapter, the application of genome editing in major crops, such as rice, wheat, maize, and soybean, has already yielded promising results in improving yield, nutritional quality, and resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. The recent advancements in genome editing techniques, such as multiplex editing, base editing, and prime editing, have further expanded the scope and precision of these tools, enabling the introduction of multiple traits and the fine-tuning of gene expression. The emerging technologies, such as CRISPR-Cas13 for RNA targeting and CRISPR-guided transposases for targeted gene insertion, offer new possibilities for crop improvement and the development of novel traits.

References:

[1] United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division.

[2] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). The future of food and agriculture – Trends and challenges. Rome, 2017.

[3] Tester M, Langridge P. Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. Science. 2010;327(5967):818-822.

[4] Zilberman D, Holland TG, Trilnick I. Agricultural GMOs—What we know and where scientists disagree. Sustainability. 2018;10(5):1514.

[5] Chen K, Wang Y, Zhang R, Zhang H, Gao C. CRISPR/Cas genome editing and precision plant breeding in agriculture. Annu Rev Plant Biol. 2019;70:667-697.

[6] Zhang Y, Massel K, Godwin ID, Gao C. Applications and potential of genome editing in crop improvement. Genome Biol. 2018;19(1):210.

[7] Gaj T, Gersbach CA, Barbas CF 3rd. ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. Trends Biotechnol. 2013;31(7):397-405.

[8] Voytas DF, Gao C. Precision genome engineering and agriculture: opportunities and regulatory challenges. PLoS Biol. 2014;12(6):e1001877.

[9] Urnov FD, Rebar EJ, Holmes MC, Zhang HS, Gregory PD. Genome editing with engineered zinc finger nucleases. Nat Rev Genet. 2010;11(9):636-646.

[10] Joung JK, Sander JD. TALENs: a widely applicable technology for targeted genome editing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14(1):49-55.

[11] Kim YG, Cha J, Chandrasegaran S. Hybrid restriction enzymes: zinc finger fusions to Fok I cleavage domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(3):1156-1160.

[12] Osakabe Y, Osakabe K. Genome editing with engineered nucleases in plants. Plant Cell Physiol. 2015;56(3):389-400.

[13] Doudna JA, Charpentier E. Genome editing. The new frontier of genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. Science. 2014;346(6213):1258096.

[14] Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, et al. CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science. 2007;315(5819):1709-1712.

[15] Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E. A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science. 2012;337(6096):816-821.

[16] Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D, et al. Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science. 2013;339(6121):819-823.

[17] Mali P, Yang L, Esvelt KM, et al. RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. Science. 2013;339(6121):823-826.

[18] Sternberg SH, Redding S, Jinek M, Greene EC, Doudna JA. DNA interrogation by the CRISPR RNA-guided endonuclease Cas9. Nature. 2014;507(7490):62-67.

[19] Symington LS, Gautier J. Double-strand break end resection and repair pathway choice. Annu Rev Genet. 2011;45:247-271.

[20] Puchta H. The repair of double-strand breaks in plants: mechanisms and consequences for genome evolution. J Exp Bot. 2005;56(409):1-14.

[21] Puchta H, Fauser F. Gene targeting in plants: 25 years later. Int J Dev Biol. 2013;57(6-8):629-637.

[22] Zetsche B, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, et al. Cpf1 is a single RNAguided endonuclease of a class 2 CRISPR-Cas system. Cell. 2015;163(3):759-771.

[23] Yin K, Gao C, Qiu JL. Progress and prospects in plant genome editing. Nat Plants. 2017;3:17107.

[24] Wang M, Mao Y, Lu Y, Tao X, Zhu JK. Multiplex gene editing in rice using the CRISPR-Cpf1 system. Mol Plant. 2017;10(7):1011-1013.

[25] Lee K, Zhang Y, Kleinstiver BP, et al. Activities and specificities of CRISPR/Cas9 and Cas12a nucleases for targeted mutagenesis in maize. Plant Biotechnol J. 2019;17(2):362-372.

[26] Kim H, Kim ST, Ryu J, et al. CRISPR/Cpf1-mediated DNA-free plant genome editing. Nat Commun. 2017;8:14406.

[27] Anzalone AV, Koblan LW, Liu DR. Genome editing with CRISPR-Cas nucleases, base editors, transposases and prime editors. Nat Biotechnol. 2020;38(7):824-844.

[28] Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Essletzbichler P, et al. RNA targeting with CRISPR-Cas13. Nature. 2017;550(7675):280-284.

[29] Harrington LB, Burstein D, Chen JS, et al. Programmed DNA destruction by miniature CRISPR-Cas14 enzymes. Science. 2018;362(6416):839-842.

[30] Zhang Y, Liang Z, Zong Y, et al. Efficient and transgene-free genome editing in wheat through transient expression of CRISPR/Cas9 DNA or RNA. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12617.

Here is a continuation of the references, starting from number 31 and going up to 224:

[31] Zhang XH, Tee LY, Wang XG, Huang QS, Yang SH. Off-target effects in CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome engineering. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids. 2015;4:e264.

[32] Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, et al. High-fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature. 2016;529(7587):490-495.

[33] Doench JG, Fusi N, Sullender M, et al. Optimized sgRNA design to maximize activity and minimize off-target effects of CRISPR-Cas9. Nat Biotechnol. 2016;34(2):184-191.

[34] Zhu H, Li C, Gao C. Applications of CRISPR-Cas in agriculture and plant biotechnology. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2020;21(11):661-677.

[35] Khush GS. What it will take to feed 5.0 billion rice consumers in 2030. Plant Mol Biol. 2005;59(1):1-6.

[36] Li M, Li X, Zhou Z, et al. Reassessment of the four yield-related genes Gn1a, DEP1, GS3, and IPA1 in rice using a CRISPR/Cas9 system. Front Plant Sci. 2016;7:377.

[37] Sun Y, Jiao G, Liu Z, et al. Generation of high-amylose rice through CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis of starch branching enzymes. Front Plant Sci. 2017;8:298.

[38] Cui Y, Hu X, Liang G, et al. Production of novel beneficial alleles of a rice yield-related QTL by CRISPR/Cas9. Plant Biotechnol J. 2020;18(10):1987-1989.

[39] Wang F, Wang C, Liu P, et al. Enhanced rice blast resistance by CRISPR/Cas9-targeted mutagenesis of the ERF transcription factor gene OsERF922. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0154027.

[40] Shimatani Z, Kashojiya S, Takayama M, et al. Targeted base editing in rice and tomato using a CRISPR-Cas9 cytidine deaminase fusion. Nat Biotechnol. 2017;35(5):441-443.

[41] Braun HJ, Atlin G, Payne T. Multi-location testing as a tool to identify plant response to global climate change. In: Reynolds MP, ed. Climate Change and Crop Production. CABI; 2010:115-138.

[42] Borrill P, Adamski N, Uauy C. Genomics as the key to unlocking the polyploid potential of wheat. New Phytol. 2015;208(4):1008-1022.

[43] Zhang Y, Li D, Zhang D, et al. Analysis of the functions of TaGW2 homoeologs in wheat grain weight and protein content traits. Plant J. 2018;94(5):857-866.

[44] Liu W, Xie X, Ma X, et al. DSDecode: A web-based tool for decoding of sequencing chromatograms for genotyping of targeted mutations. Mol Plant. 2015;8(9):1431-1433.

[45] Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, et al. Simultaneous editing of three homoeoalleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(9):947-951.

[46] Sánchez-León S, Gil-Humanes J, Ozuna CV, et al. Low-gluten, nontransgenic wheat engineered with CRISPR/Cas9. Plant Biotechnol J. 2018;16(4):902-910.

[47] Zhang R, Liu J, Chai Z, et al. Generation of herbicide tolerance traits and a new selectable marker in wheat using base editing. Nat Plants. 2019;5(5):480-485.

[48] Ranum P, Peña-Rosas JP, Garcia-Casal MN. Global maize production, utilization, and consumption. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2014;1312:105-112.

[49] Shi J, Gao H, Wang H, et al. ARGOS8 variants generated by CRISPR-Cas9 improve maize grain yield under field drought stress conditions. Plant Biotechnol J. 2017;15(2):207-216.

[50] Zhu G, Wang S, Huang Z, et al. Rewiring of the fruit metabolome in tomato breeding. Cell. 2018;172(1-2):249-261.e12.

[51] Li Q, Zhang D, Chen M, et al. Development of japonica photo-sensitive genic male sterile rice lines by editing carbon starved anther using CRISPR/Cas9. J Genet Genomics. 2016;43(6):415-419.

[52] Li J, Sun Y, Du J, Zhao Y, Xia L. Generation of targeted point mutations in rice by a modified CRISPR/Cas9 system. Mol Plant. 2017;10(3):526-529.

[53] Kelliher T, Starr D, Richbourg L, et al. MATRILINEAL, a sperm-specific phospholipase, triggers maize haploid induction. Nature. 2017;542(7639):105-109.

[54] Liu K. Soybeans: Chemistry, Technology, and Utilization. Springer; 2012.

[55] Do PT, Nguyen CX, Bui HT, et al. Demonstration of highly efficient dual gRNA CRISPR/Cas9 editing of the homeologous GmFAD2-1A and GmFAD2-1B genes to yield a high oleic, low linoleic and α -linolenic acid phenotype in soybean. BMC Plant Biol. 2019;19(1):311.

[56] Zhang H, Zhang J, Wei P, et al. The CRISPR/Cas9 system produces specific and homozygous targeted gene editing in rice in one generation. Plant Biotechnol J. 2014;12(6):797-807.

[57] Bai Y, Sunarti S, Kissoudis C, et al. The natural genetic variation in tomato flavor and its implications for future breeding. Hortic Res. 2022;9:uhac036.

[58] Cai Y, Chen L, Liu X, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated targeted mutagenesis of GmFT2a delays flowering time in soya bean. Plant Biotechnol J. 2018;16(1):176-185.

[59] Li Z, Liu ZB, Xing A, et al. Cas9-guide RNA directed genome editing in soybean. Plant Physiol. 2015;169(2):960-970.

[60] Zsögön A, Čermák T, Naves ER, et al. De novo domestication of wild tomato using genome editing. Nat Biotechnol. 2018;36(12):1211-1216.

[61] Andersson M, Turesson H, Nicolia A, et al. Efficient targeted multiallelic mutagenesis in tetraploid potato (Solanum tuberosum) by transient CRISPR-Cas9 expression in protoplasts. Plant Cell Rep. 2017;36(1):117-128.

[62] Luo S, Li J, Stoddard TJ, et al. Non-transgenic plant genome editing using purified sequence-specific nucleases. Mol Plant. 2015;8(9):1425-1427.

[63] Gao W, Long L, Tian X, et al. Genome editing in cotton with the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Front Plant Sci. 2017;8:1364.

[64] Lowder LG, Zhang D, Baltes NJ, et al. A CRISPR/Cas9 toolbox for multiplexed plant genome editing and transcriptional regulation. Plant Physiol. 2015;169(2):971-985.

[65] Zhang Z, Hua L, Gupta A, et al. Development of an Agrobacteriumdelivered CRISPR/Cas9 system for wheat genome editing. Plant Biotechnol J. 2019;17(8):1623-1635.

[66] Xie K, Minkenberg B, Yang Y. Boosting CRISPR/Cas9 multiplex editing capability with the endogenous tRNA-processing system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(11):3570-3575.

[67] Čermák T, Curtin SJ, Gil-Humanes J, et al. A multipurpose toolkit to enable advanced genome engineering in plants. Plant Cell. 2017;29(6):1196-1217.

[68] Gao Y, Zhao Y. Self-processing of ribozyme-flanked RNAs into guide RNAs in vitro and in vivo for CRISPR-mediated genome editing. J Integr Plant Biol. 2014;56(4):343-349.

[69] Wang M, Mao Y, Lu Y, et al. Multiplex gene editing in rice using the CRISPR-Cpf1 system. Mol Plant. 2017;10(7):1011-1013.

[70] Qi W, Zhu T, Tian Z, et al. High-efficiency CRISPR/Cas9 multiplex gene editing using the glycine tRNA-processing system-based strategy in maize. BMC Biotechnol. 2016;16(1):58.

[71] Tsai SQ, Wyvekens N, Khayter C, et al. Dimeric CRISPR RNA-guided FokI nucleases for highly specific genome editing. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(6):569-576.

[72] Čermák T, Baltes NJ, Čegan R, Zhang Y, Voytas DF. High-frequency, precise modification of the tomato genome. Genome Biol. 2015;16:232.

[73] Andersson M, Turesson H, Olsson N, et al. Genome editing in potato via CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoprotein delivery. Physiol Plant. 2018;164(4):378-384.

[74] Zhang Y, Liang Z, Zong Y, et al. Efficient and transgene-free genome editing in wheat through transient expression of CRISPR/Cas9 DNA or RNA. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12617.

[75] Komor AC, Kim YB, Packer MS, Zuris JA, Liu DR. Programmable editing of a target base in genomic DNA without double-stranded DNA cleavage. Nature. 2016;533(7603):420-424.

[76] Gaudelli NM, Komor AC, Rees HA, et al. Programmable base editing of A•T to G•C in genomic DNA without DNA cleavage. Nature. 2017;551(7681):464-471.

[77] Zong Y, Wang Y, Li C, et al. Precise base editing in rice, wheat and maize with a Cas9-cytidine deaminase fusion. Nat Biotechnol. 2017;35(5):438-440.

[78] Li J, Sun Y, Du J, Zhao Y, Xia L. Generation of targeted point mutations in rice by a modified CRISPR/Cas9 system. Mol Plant. 2017;10(3):526-529.

[79] Zhang R, Liu J, Chai Z, et al. Generation of herbicide tolerance traits and a new selectable marker in wheat using base editing. Nat Plants. 2019;5(5):480-485.

[80] Shimatani Z, Kashojiya S, Takayama M, et al. Targeted base editing in rice and tomato using a CRISPR-Cas9 cytidine deaminase fusion. Nat Biotechnol. 2017;35(5):441-443.

[81] Kang BC, Yun JY, Kim ST, et al. Precision genome engineering through adenine base editing in plants. Nat Plants. 2018;4(7):427-431.

[82] Cai Y, Chen L, Sun S, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated deletion of large genomic fragments in soybean. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(12):3835.

[83] Rees HA, Liu DR. Base editing: precision chemistry on the genome and transcriptome of living cells. Nat Rev Genet. 2018;19(12):770-788.

[84] Kim YB, Komor AC, Levy JM, et al. Increasing the genome-targeting scope and precision of base editing with engineered Cas9-cytidine deaminase fusions. Nat Biotechnol. 2017;35(4):371-376.

[85] Anzalone AV, Randolph PB, Davis JR, et al. Search-and-replace genome editing without double-strand breaks or donor DNA. Nature. 2019;576(7785):149-157.

[86] Lin Q, Zong Y, Xue C, et al. Prime genome editing in rice and wheat. Nat Biotechnol. 2020;38(5):582-585.

[87] Li H, Li J, Chen J, Yan L, Xia L. Precise modifications of both exogenous and endogenous genes in rice by prime editing. Mol Plant. 2020;13(5):671-674.

[88] Jiang YY, Chai YP, Lu MH, et al. Prime editing efficiently generates W542L and S621I double mutations in two ALS genes in maize. Genome Biol. 2020;21(1):257.

[89] Molla KA, Yang Y. CRISPR/Cas-mediated base editing: technical considerations and practical applications. Trends Biotechnol. 2019;37(10):1121-1142.

[90] Anzalone AV, Koblan LW, Liu DR. Genome editing with CRISPR-Cas nucleases, base editors, transposases and prime editors. Nat Biotechnol. 2020;38(7):824-844.

[91] Altpeter F, Springer NM, Bartley LE, et al. Advancing crop transformation in the era of genome editing. Plant Cell. 2016;28(7):1510-1520.

[92] Baltes NJ, Gil-Humanes J, Cermak T, Atkins PA, Voytas DF. DNA replicons for plant genome engineering. Plant Cell. 2014;26(1):151-163.

[93] Gelvin SB. Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation: the biology behind the "gene-jockeying" tool. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2003;67(1):16-37.

[94] Hiei Y, Ohta S, Komari T, Kumashiro T. Efficient transformation of rice (Oryza sativa L.) mediated by Agrobacterium and sequence analysis of the boundaries of the T-DNA. Plant J. 1994;6(2):271-282.

[95] Ishida Y, Tsunashima M, Hiei Y, Komari T. Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) transformation using immature embryos. Methods Mol Biol. 2015;1223:189-198.

[96] Paz MM, Martinez JC, Kalvig AB, Fonger TM, Wang K. Improved cotyledonary node method using an alternative explant derived from mature seed for efficient Agrobacterium-mediated soybean transformation. Plant Cell Rep. 2006;25(3):206-213.

[97] Altpeter F, Baisakh N, Beachy R, et al. Particle bombardment and the genetic enhancement of crops: myths and realities. Mol Breed. 2005;15(3):305-327.

[98] Svitashev S, Schwartz C, Lenderts B, Young JK, Mark Cigan A. Genome editing in maize directed by CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoprotein complexes. Nat Commun. 2016;7:13274.

[99] Bower R, Birch RG. Transgenic sugarcane plants via microprojectile bombardment. Plant J. 1992;2(3):409-416.

[100] Woo JW, Kim J, Kwon SI, et al. DNA-free genome editing in plants with preassembled CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoproteins. Nat Biotechnol. 2015;33(11):1162-1164.

[101] Liang Z, Chen K, Li T, et al. Efficient DNA-free genome editing of bread wheat using CRISPR/Cas9 ribonucleoprotein complexes. Nat Commun. 2017;8:14261.

[102] Zhang Y, Liang Z, Zong Y, et al. Efficient and transgene-free genome editing in wheat through transient expression of CRISPR/Cas9 DNA or RNA. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12617.

[103] Svitashev S, Schwartz C, Lenderts B, Young JK, Mark Cigan A. Genome editing in maize directed by CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoprotein complexes. Nat Commun. 2016;7:13274.

[104] Andersson M, Turesson H, Olsson N, et al. Genome editing in potato via CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoprotein delivery. Physiol Plant. 2018;164(4):378-384.

[105] Liang Z, Chen K, Zhang Y, et al. Genome editing of bread wheat using biolistic delivery of CRISPR/Cas9 in vitro transcripts or ribonucleoproteins. Nat Protoc. 2018;13(3):413-430.

[106] Zhang XH, Tee LY, Wang XG, Huang QS, Yang SH. Off-target effects in CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome engineering. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids. 2015;4:e264.

[107] Zhao H, Wolt JD. Risk associated with off-target plant genome editing and methods for its limitation. Emerg Top Life Sci. 2017;1(2):231-240.

[108] Hsu PD, Scott DA, Weinstein JA, et al. DNA targeting specificity of RNAguided Cas9 nucleases. Nat Biotechnol. 2013;31(9):827-832.

[109] Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, et al. High-fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature. 2016;529(7587):490-495.

[110] Doench JG, Fusi N, Sullender M, et al. Optimized sgRNA design to maximize activity and minimize off-target effects of CRISPR-Cas9. Nat Biotechnol. 2016;34(2):184-191.

[111] Ran FA, Hsu PD, Lin CY, et al. Double nicking by RNA-guided CRISPR Cas9 for enhanced genome editing specificity. Cell. 2013;154(6):1380-1389.

[112] Fu Y, Sander JD, Reyon D, Cascio VM, Joung JK. Improving CRISPR-Cas nuclease specificity using truncated guide RNAs. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(3):279-284.

[113] Slaymaker IM, Gao L, Zetsche B, et al. Rationally engineered Cas9 nucleases with improved specificity. Science. 2016;351(6268):84-88.

[114] Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, et al. High-fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature. 2016;529(7587):490-495.

[115] Haeussler M, Schönig K, Eckert H, et al. Evaluation of off-target and ontarget scoring algorithms and integration into the guide RNA selection tool CRISPOR. Genome Biol. 2016;17(1):148.

[116] Ran FA, Hsu PD, Lin CY, et al. Double nicking by RNA-guided CRISPR Cas9 for enhanced genome editing specificity. Cell. 2013;154(6):1380-1389.

[117] Zhang H, Zhang J, Wei P, et al. The CRISPR/Cas9 system produces specific and homozygous targeted gene editing in rice in one generation. Plant Biotechnol J. 2014;12(6):797-807.

[118] Liu H, Ding Y, Zhou Y, et al. CRISPR-P 2.0: An improved CRISPR-Cas9 tool for genome editing in plants. Mol Plant. 2017;10(3):530-532.

[119] Feng Z, Mao Y, Xu N, et al. Multigeneration analysis reveals the inheritance, specificity, and patterns of CRISPR/Cas-induced gene modifications in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(12):4632-4637.

[120] Nekrasov V, Wang C, Win J, et al. Rapid generation of a transgene-free powdery mildew resistant tomato by genome deletion. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):482.

[121] Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, et al. Simultaneous editing of three homoeoalleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(9):947-951.

[122] Altpeter F, Springer NM, Bartley LE, et al. Advancing crop transformation in the era of genome editing. Plant Cell. 2016;28(7):1510-1520.

[123] Hiei Y, Ishida Y, Komari T. Progress of cereal transformation technology mediated by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Front Plant Sci. 2014;5:628.

[124] Lowe K, Wu E, Wang N, et al. Morphogenic regulators Baby boom and Wuschel improve monocot transformation. Plant Cell. 2016;28(9):1998-2015.

[125] Ikeuchi M, Sugimoto K, Iwase A. Plant callus: mechanisms of induction and repression. Plant Cell. 2013;25(9):3159-3173.

[126] Maher MF, Nasti RA, Vollbrecht M, et al. Plant gene editing through de novo induction of meristems. Nat Biotechnol. 2020;38(1):84-89.

[127] Demirer GS, Zhang H, Matos JL, et al. High aspect ratio nanomaterials enable delivery of functional genetic material without DNA integration in mature plants. Nat Nanotechnol. 2019;14(5):456-464.

[128] Gil-Humanes J, Wang Y, Liang Z, et al. High-efficiency gene targeting in hexaploid wheat using DNA replicons and CRISPR/Cas9. Plant J. 2017;89(6):1251-1262.

[129] Lowe K, Wu E, Wang N, et al. Morphogenic regulators Baby boom and Wuschel improve monocot transformation. Plant Cell. 2016;28(9):1998-2015.

[130] Mookkan M, Nelson-Vasilchik K, Hague J, et al. Selectable marker independent transformation of recalcitrant maize inbred B73 and sorghum P898012 mediated by morphogenic regulators BABY BOOM and WUSCHEL2. Plant Cell Rep. 2017;36(9):1477-1491.

[131] Egelie KJ, Graff GD, Strand SP, Johansen B. The emerging patent landscape of CRISPR-Cas gene editing technology. Nat Biotechnol. 2016;34(10):1025-1031.

[132] Martin-Laffon J, Kuntz M, Ricroch AE. Worldwide CRISPR patent landscape shows strong geographical biases. Nat Biotechnol. 2019;37(6):613-620.

[133] Sherkow JS. The CRISPR patent landscape: past, present, and future. CRISPR J. 2018;1(1):5-9.

[134] Kuzma J. Regulating gene-edited crops. Issues Sci Technol. 2018;35(1):80-85.

[135] Kuzma J, Kokotovich A, Kuzhabekova A. Attitudes towards governance of gene editing. Asian Biotechnol Dev Rev. 2016;18(1):69-92.

[136] Smyth SJ. Canadian regulatory perspectives on genome engineered crops.GM Crops Food. 2017;8(1):35-43.

[137] Friedrichs S, Takasu Y, Kearns P, et al. An overview of regulatory approaches to genome editing in agriculture. Biotechnol Res Innov. 2019;3(2):208-220.

[138] Sprink T, Eriksson D, Schiemann J, Hartung F. Regulatory hurdles for genome editing: process- vs. product-based approaches in different regulatory contexts. Plant Cell Rep. 2016;35(7):1493-1506.

[139] European Court of Justice. Judgment in Case C-528/16. 2018. http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=204387&doclang=EN

[140] Whelan AI, Lema MA. Regulatory framework for gene editing and other new breeding techniques (NBTs) in Argentina. GM Crops Food. 2015;6(4):253-265.

[141] Eriksson D, Kershen D, Nepomuceno A, et al. A comparison of the EU regulatory approach to directed mutagenesis with that of other jurisdictions, consequences for international trade and potential steps forward. New Phytol. 2019;222(4):1673-1684.

 [142] USDA. Secretary Perdue Issues USDA Statement on Plant Breeding

 Innovation.
 2018.

 <u>https://www.usda.gov/media/press-</u>

 releases/2018/03/28/secretary-perdue-issues-usda-statement-plant-breeding

 innovation

[143] European Court of Justice. Judgment in Case C-528/16. 2018. http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=204387&doclang=EN

[144] Ishii T, Araki M. A future scenario of the global regulatory landscape regarding genome-edited crops. GM Crops Food. 2017;8(1):44-56.

[145] Gao W, Xu WT, Huang KL, Guo MZ, Luo YB. Risk analysis for genome editing-derived food safety in China. Food Control. 2018;84:128-137.

[146] Smyth SJ. Canadian regulatory perspectives on genome engineered crops.GM Crops Food. 2017;8(1):35-43.

[147] Fears R, Ter Meulen V. How should the applications of genome editing be assessed and regulated? Elife. 2017;6:e26295.

[148] Kuzma J. Regulating gene-edited crops. Issues Sci Technol. 2018;35(1):80-85.

[149] Codex Alimentarius Commission. Proposed draft guideline for food safety assessment of foods derived from recombinant-DNA plants. 2003. http://www.fao.org/input/download/standards/10021/CXG_045e.pdf

[150] International Plant Protection Convention. IPPC Strategic Framework2020-2030.2019.

https://www.ippc.int/static/media/files/publication/en/2019/10/IPPC_Strategic_Fr amework_2020-2030_FINAL_EN.pdf

[151] Malyska A, Bolla R, Twardowski T. The role of public opinion in shaping trajectories of agricultural biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol. 2016;34(7):530-534.

[152] Frewer LJ, van der Lans IA, Fischer AR, et al. Public perceptions of agrifood applications of genetic modification – a systematic review and metaanalysis. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2013;30(2):142-152.

[153] Kuzma J. Regulating gene-edited crops. Issues Sci Technol. 2018;35(1):80-85.

[154] Malyska A, Bolla R, Twardowski T. The role of public opinion in shaping trajectories of agricultural biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol. 2016;34(7):530-534.

[155] Siegrist M, Sütterlin B. Importance of perceived naturalness for acceptance of food additives and cultured meat. Appetite. 2017;113:320-326.

[156] Rozin P, Fischler C, Shields-Argelès C. European and American perspectives on the meaning of natural. Appetite. 2012;59(2):448-455.

[157] Bain C, Selfa T, Dandachi T, Velardi S. 'Superweeds' or 'survivors'? Framing the problem of glyphosate resistant weeds and genetically engineered crops. J Rural Stud. 2017;51:211-221.

[158] Helliwell R, Hartley S, Pearce W, O'Neill L. Why are NGOs sceptical of genome editing? EMBO Rep. 2017;18(12):2090-2093.

[159] Ishii T, Araki M. Consumer acceptance of food crops developed by genome editing. Plant Cell Rep. 2016;35(7):1507-1518.

[160] Einsiedel EF, Eastlick DL. Consensus conferences as deliberative democracy: A communications perspective. Sci Commun. 2000;21(4):323-343.

[161] Rowe G, Frewer LJ. Public participation methods: A framework for evaluation. Sci Technol Human Values. 2000;25(1):3-29.

[162] Hartley S, Gillund F, van Hove L, Wickson F. Essential features of responsible governance of agricultural biotechnology. PLoS Biol. 2016;14(5):e1002453.

[163] Qaim M. Role of new plant breeding technologies for food security and sustainable agricultural development. Appl Econ Perspect Policy. 2020;42(2):129-150.

[164] Pingali PL. Green revolution: impacts, limits, and the path ahead. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(31):12302-12308.

[165] Klümper W, Qaim M. A meta-analysis of the impacts of genetically modified crops. PLoS One. 2014;9(11):e111629.

[166] Adenle AA, Alhassan WS, Solomon BO. Potential benefits of genetic modification (GM) technology for food security and health improvement in West Africa: Assessing the perception of farmers in Ghana and Nigeria. Afr J Biotechnol. 2014;13(2):245-256.

Continuing from reference 167:

[167] Pixley KV, Falck-Zepeda JB, Giller KE, et al. Genome-edited crops for improved food security of smallholder farmers. Nat Genet. 2019;51(10):1435-1438.

[168] Adenle AA, Alhassan WS, Solomon BO. Potential benefits of genetic modification (GM) technology for food security and health improvement in West Africa: Assessing the perception of farmers in Ghana and Nigeria. Afr J Biotechnol. 2014;13(2):245-256.

[169] Qaim M. Role of new plant breeding technologies for food security and sustainable agricultural development. Appl Econ Perspect Policy. 2020;42(2):129-150.

[170] Lobell DB, Burke MB, Tebaldi C, et al. Prioritizing climate change adaptation needs for food security in 2030. Science. 2008;319(5863):607-610.

[171] Bailey-Serres J, Parker JE, Ainsworth EA, Oldroyd GED, Schroeder JI. Genetic strategies for improving crop yields. Nature. 2019;575(7781):109-118.

[172] Zhang H, Mittal N, Leamy LJ, Barazani O, Song BH. Back into the wild— Apply untapped genetic diversity of wild relatives for crop improvement. Evol Appl. 2017;10(1):5-24.

[173] Zhu JK. Abiotic stress signaling and responses in plants. Cell. 2016;167(2):313-324.

[174] Nuccio ML, Paul M, Bate NJ, Cohn J, Cutler SR. Where are the drought tolerant crops? An assessment of more than two decades of plant biotechnology effort in crop improvement. Plant Sci. 2018;273:110-119.

[175] Ohama N, Sato H, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. Transcriptional regulatory network of plant heat stress response. Trends Plant Sci. 2017;22(1):53-65.

[176] Zhang C, Feng G, Kong D, et al. Disruption of OsSPL7 results in semidwarf and heat-sensitive phenotypes in rice. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):13484.

[177] Amin US, Biswas S, Elias SM, et al. Identification of salt tolerant rice lines among interspecific BILs developed by crossing Oryza sativa \times O. rufipogon and O. sativa \times O. nivara. Acta Physiol Plant. 2016;38(2):42.

[178] Long SP, Marshall-Colon A, Zhu XG. Meeting the global food demand of the future by engineering crop photosynthesis and yield potential. Cell. 2015;161(1):56-66.

[179] Zhu XG, Long SP, Ort DR. Improving photosynthetic efficiency for greater yield. Annu Rev Plant Biol. 2010;61:235-261.

[180] South PF, Cavanagh AP, Liu HW, Ort DR. Synthetic glycolate metabolism pathways stimulate crop growth and productivity in the field. Science. 2019;363(6422):eaat9077.

[181] Wang L, Czedik-Eysenberg A, Mertz RA, et al. Comparative analyses of C_4 and C_3 photosynthesis in developing leaves of maize and rice. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(11):1158-1165.

[182] Lin MT, Occhialini A, Andralojc PJ, Parry MA, Hanson MR. A faster Rubisco with potential to increase photosynthesis in crops. Nature. 2014;513(7519):547-550.

[183] Simkin AJ, López-Calcagno PE, Raines CA. Feeding the world: improving photosynthetic efficiency for sustainable crop production. J Exp Bot. 2019;70(4):1119-1140.
[184] Foyer CH, Bloom AJ, Queval G, Noctor G. Photorespiratory metabolism: genes, mutants, energetics, and redox signaling. Annu Rev Plant Biol. 2009;60:455-484.

[185] Shen BR, Wang LM, Lin XL, et al. Engineering a new chloroplastic photorespiratory bypass to increase photosynthetic efficiency and productivity in rice. Mol Plant. 2019;12(2):199-214.

[186] Bailey-Serres J, Parker JE, Ainsworth EA, Oldroyd GED, Schroeder JI. Genetic strategies for improving crop yields. Nature. 2019;575(7781):109-118.

[187] Bouis HE, Saltzman A. Improving nutrition through biofortification: A review of evidence from HarvestPlus, 2003 through 2016. Glob Food Sec. 2017;12:49-58.

[188] Garg M, Sharma N, Sharma S, et al. Biofortified crops generated by breeding, agronomy, and transgenic approaches are improving lives of millions of people around the world. Front Nutr. 2018;5:12.

[189] Trijatmiko KR, Dueñas C, Tsakirpaloglou N, et al. Biofortified indica rice attains iron and zinc nutrition dietary targets in the field. Sci Rep. 2016;6:19792.

[190] Wu TY, Gruissem W, Bhullar NK. Facilitated citrate-dependent iron translocation increases rice endosperm iron and zinc concentrations. Plant Sci. 2018;270:13-22.

[191] Paul JY, Khanna H, Kleidon J, et al. Golden bananas in the field: elevated fruit pro-vitamin A from the expression of a single banana transgene. Plant Biotechnol J. 2017;15(4):520-532.

[192] Bohn L, Meyer AS, Rasmussen SK. Phytate: impact on environment and human nutrition. A challenge for molecular breeding. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B. 2008;9(3):165-191.

[193] Shi J, Wang H, Schellin K, et al. Embryo-specific silencing of a transporter reduces phytic acid content of maize and soybean seeds. Nat Biotechnol. 2007;25(8):930-937.

[194] Kinney AJ, Cahoon EB, Hitz WD. Manipulating desaturase activities in transgenic crop plants. Biochem Soc Trans. 2002;30(Pt 6):1099-1103.

[195] Haun W, Coffman A, Clasen BM, et al. Improved soybean oil quality by targeted mutagenesis of the fatty acid desaturase 2 gene family. Plant Biotechnol J. 2014;12(7):934-940.

[196] Yang QQ, Zhang CQ, Chan ML, et al. Biofortification of rice with the essential amino acid lysine: molecular characterization, nutritional evaluation, and field performance. J Exp Bot. 2016;67(14):4285-4296.

[197] Liu F, Guo Y, Gu M, et al. Genetic engineering of Lysine-rich protein gene in rice grain can increase its nutritional quality. Biotechnol J. 2019;14(10):e1900108.

[198] Ishimaru Y, Bashir K, Nishizawa NK. Zn uptake and translocation in rice plants. Rice. 2011;4(1):21-27.

[199] Chen K, Wang Y, Zhang R, Zhang H, Gao C. CRISPR/Cas genome editing and precision plant breeding in agriculture. Annu Rev Plant Biol. 2019;70:667-697.

[200] Zhu H, Li C, Gao C. Applications of CRISPR-Cas in agriculture and plant biotechnology. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2020;21(11):661-677.

[201] Abudayyeh OO, Gootenberg JS, Essletzbichler P, et al. RNA targeting with CRISPR-Cas13. Nature. 2017;550(7675):280-284.

[202] Kushawah G, Hernandez-Huertas L, Abugattas-Nuñez Del Prado J, et al. CRISPR-Cas13d induces efficient mRNA knockdown in animal embryos. Dev Cell. 2020;54(6):805-817.e7.

[203] Mahas A, Aman R, Mahfouz M. CRISPR-Cas13d mediates robust RNA virus interference in plants. Genome Biol. 2019;20(1):263.

[204] Zhang T, Zheng Q, Yi X, et al. Establishing RNA virus resistance in plants by harnessing CRISPR immune system. Plant Biotechnol J. 2018;16(8):1415-1423.

[205] Zhang T, Zhao Y, Ye J, et al. Establishing CRISPR/Cas13a immune system conferring RNA virus resistance in both dicot and monocot plants. Plant Biotechnol J. 2019;17(7):1185-1187.

[206] Anzalone AV, Koblan LW, Liu DR. Genome editing with CRISPR-Cas nucleases, base editors, transposases and prime editors. Nat Biotechnol. 2020;38(7):824-844.

[207] Strecker J, Ladha A, Gardner Z, et al. RNA-guided DNA insertion with CRISPR-associated transposases. Science. 2019;365(6448):48-53.

[208] Hua K, Jiang Y, Tao X, Zhu JK. Precision genome engineering in rice using prime editing system. Plant Biotechnol J. 2020;18(11):2167-2169.

[209] Lin Q, Zong Y, Xue C, et al. Prime genome editing in rice and wheat. Nat Biotechnol. 2020;38(5):582-585.

[210] Klompe SE, Vo PLH, Halpin-Healy TS, Sternberg SH. Transposonencoded CRISPR-Cas systems direct RNA-guided DNA integration. Nature. 2019;571(7764):219-225.

[211] Anzalone AV, Randolph PB, Davis JR, et al. Search-and-replace genome editing without double-strand breaks or donor DNA. Nature. 2019;576(7785):149-157.

[212] Hickey LT, Hafeez AN, Robinson H, et al. Breeding crops to feed 10 billion. Nat Biotechnol. 2019;37(7):744-754.

[213] Watson A, Ghosh S, Williams MJ, et al. Speed breeding is a powerful tool to accelerate crop research and breeding. Nat Plants. 2018;4(1):23-29.

[214] Ghosh S, Watson A, Gonzalez-Navarro OE, et al. Speed breeding in growth chambers and glasshouses for crop breeding and model plant research. Nat Protoc. 2018;13(12):2944-2963.

[215] Hickey LT, Hafeez AN, Robinson H, et al. Breeding crops to feed 10 billion. Nat Biotechnol. 2019;37(7):744-754.

[216] Wang Y, Cheng X, Shan Q, et al. Simultaneous editing of three homoeoalleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32(9):947-951.

[217] Meuwissen TH, Hayes BJ, Goddard ME. Prediction of total genetic value using genome-wide dense marker maps. Genetics. 2001;157(4):1819-1829.

[218] Crossa J, Pérez-Rodríguez P, Cuevas J, et al. Genomic selection in plant breeding: methods, models, and perspectives. Trends Plant Sci. 2017;22(11):961-975.

[219] Beyene Y, Semagn K, Mugo S, et al. Genetic gains in grain yield through genomic selection in eight bi-parental maize populations under drought stress. Crop Sci. 2015;55(1):154-163.

[220] Araus JL, Kefauver SC, Zaman-Allah M, Olsen MS, Cairns JE. Translating high-throughput phenotyping into genetic gain. Trends Plant Sci. 2018;23(5):451-466.

[221] Yang W, Feng H, Zhang X, et al. Crop phenomics and high-throughput phenotyping: past decades, current challenges, and future perspectives. Mol Plant. 2020;13(2):187-214.

356 Genome editing in crop improvement

[222] Li T, Yang X, Yu Y, et al. Domestication of wild tomato is accelerated by genome editing. Nat Biotechnol. 2018;36(12):1160-1163.

[223] Hickey LT, Hafeez AN, Robinson H, et al. Breeding crops to feed 10 billion. Nat Biotechnol. 2019;37(7):744-754.

[224] Bailey-Serres J, Parker JE, Ainsworth EA, Oldroyd GED, Schroeder JI. Genetic strategies for improving crop yields. Nature. 2019;575(7781):109-118.



CHAPTER -15

Plant Phenomics and High Throughput Screening

Asit Prasad Dash

Associate Professor, Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences (IAS), Siksha 'O' Anusandhan (Deemed to be University), Bhubaneswar, 751029



Abstract

Plant phenomics is a rapidly advancing field that combines highthroughput imaging, robotics, and data analytics to study plant growth, development, and responses to environmental factors at unprecedented scales. By capturing and analyzing multi-dimensional phenotypic data from large plant populations, phenomics enables researchers to dissect complex traits, accelerate breeding efforts, and optimize crop management strategies. High-throughput screening technologies, such as RGB imaging, hyperspectral imaging, thermal imaging, and 3D scanning, allow non-destructive measurements of various plant traits. including morphology, physiology, and biochemical composition. Integration of these phenotyping platforms with automated environmental control systems and advanced data management solutions has revolutionized our ability to study gene-environment interactions and identify superior genotypes for crop improvement. However, the massive datasets generated by phenomics pose significant challenges in terms of data storage, processing, and interpretation. Machine learning and artificial intelligence approaches are increasingly being employed to extract meaningful insights from phenomics data and bridge the genotype-to-phenotype gap. An overview of the latest advances in plant phenomics and high-throughput screening, discusses their applications in basic and applied plant research, and highlights the key challenges and future directions in this exciting field. By harnessing the power of phenomics, we can develop climate-resilient crops, enhance food security, and ensure sustainable agriculture in the face of global challenges.

Keywords: Plant Phenomics, High-Throughput Screening, Crop Improvement, Machine Learning, Sustainable Agriculture

Plant phenomics is an emerging field that combines advanced imaging technologies, robotics, and data analytics to study plant phenotypes at large scales [1]. Phenotypes are the observable characteristics of plants resulting from the complex interplay between genotypes and environmental factors [2]. Traditional plant phenotyping methods, such as visual scoring and manual

measurements, are labor-intensive, time-consuming, and prone to human error [3]. In contrast, high-throughput phenotyping platforms enable automated, nondestructive measurements of various plant traits, including morphology, physiology, and biochemical composition, on hundreds to thousands of plants simultaneously [4].

The advent of plant phenomics has revolutionized our understanding of plant biology and accelerated crop improvement efforts. By capturing multidimensional phenotypic data from large plant populations under different environmental conditions, researchers can dissect complex traits, identify superior genotypes, and optimize crop management practices [5]. Phenomics data, when integrated with genomic and environmental information, can provide unprecedented insights into gene-environment interactions and facilitate the development of climate-resilient crops [6]. It provides an overview of the latest advances in plant phenomics and high-throughput screening technologies. We discuss their applications in basic and applied plant research, highlight key challenges and limitations, and explore future directions in this rapidly evolving field.

2. High-Throughput Phenotyping Technologies

High-throughput phenotyping platforms employ various imaging and sensor technologies to capture plant traits at different scales, from individual organs to whole plants and canopies. Some of the commonly used technologies include:

2.1. RGB Imaging

RGB imaging is the most basic and widely used phenotyping technology. It involves capturing visible light images of plants using digital cameras [7]. RGB images provide information on plant morphology, such as plant height, leaf area, and shoot biomass. Automated image analysis algorithms can extract these traits from large image datasets, enabling high-throughput measurements [8].

2.2. Hyperspectral Imaging

Hyperspectral imaging captures plant reflectance spectra in hundreds of narrow wavebands, from visible to near-infrared regions [9]. These spectral signatures provide information on plant pigments, water content, and biochemical composition, which can be used to assess plant health, nutrition status, and stress responses [10]. Hyperspectral imaging has been applied to study various plant traits, such as chlorophyll content, nitrogen uptake, and disease resistance [11].

2.3. Thermal Imaging

Thermal imaging captures the infrared radiation emitted by plants, which is a function of their temperature [12]. Plant temperature is a sensitive indicator of water status, stomatal conductance, and transpiration rate [13]. Thermal imaging has been used to study plant responses to drought, heat, and biotic stresses, as well as to optimize irrigation scheduling [14].

2.4. 3D Imaging

3D imaging technologies, such as LIDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) and structured-light scanning, capture the three-dimensional structure of plants [15]. These techniques provide detailed information on plant architecture, canopy volume, and leaf angle distribution, which are important traits for understanding plant growth and light interception [16]. 3D imaging has been applied to study plant responses to competition, pruning, and training systems [17].

Technology	Spectral Range	Spatial Resolution	Temporal Resolution	Applications
RGB Imaging	Visible (400- 700 nm)	High (mm to cm)	High (seconds to minutes)	Morphology, growth, biomass
Hyperspectral Imaging	Visible to NIR (400- 2500 nm)	Moderate (cm to m)	Moderate (minutes to hours)	Pigments, water content, biochemistry
Thermal Imaging	Infrared (8- 14 µm)	Low (cm to m)	High (seconds to minutes)	Temperature, water status, transpiration
3D Imaging	Visible to NIR (400- 1000 nm)	High (mm to cm)	Low (minutes to hours)	Architecture, canopy structure, leaf angle

Table 1. Comparison of high-throughput phenotyping technologies.

3. Phenotyping Platforms

High-throughput phenotyping platforms integrate multiple imaging and sensor technologies with automated plant handling systems and environmental control units. These platforms can be classified based on their scale and mobility:

3.1. Greenhouse-Based Platforms

Greenhouse-based phenotyping platforms are designed for controlled environment studies [18]. They typically consist of a conveyor system that moves plants through imaging chambers equipped with various sensors [19]. The environmental conditions, such as temperature, humidity, and light intensity, can be precisely controlled and monitored [20]. Greenhouse platforms are ideal for studying plant responses to specific environmental factors and for conducting high-throughput screening of germplasm collections [21].



Figure-1 Diagram representing Phenotyping Platforms

3.2. Field-Based Platforms

Field-based phenotyping platforms are designed for outdoor studies under natural conditions [22]. They can be further classified into ground-based and aerial systems. Ground-based platforms, such as tractor-mounted or gantrybased systems, move sensors over the crop canopy to capture plant traits [23]. Aerial platforms, such as drones and satellites, provide high-resolution images of large field trials [24]. Field-based platforms are essential for studying plant performance under realistic growing conditions and for evaluating genotype-byenvironment interactions [25].

4. Data Management and Analysis

High-throughput phenotyping generates massive datasets that require efficient storage, processing, and analysis pipelines. Some of the key aspects of phenomics data management and analysis include:

4.1. Data Storage and Retrieval

Phenomics datasets, including images, sensor data, and metadata, are typically stored in specialized databases or data repositories [26]. These databases should support fast data retrieval, versioning, and access control to facilitate collaborative research [27]. Cloud-based storage solutions, such as Amazon Web Services and Microsoft Azure, are increasingly being adopted to handle the growing data volumes and enable scalable computing [28].

Table 2. Comparison of greenhouse-based and field-based phenotypingplatforms.

Platform	Environment	Throughput	Cost	Applications
Greenhouse- based	Controlled	High	High	Environmental responses, germplasm screening
Ground-based Field	Natural	Moderate	Moderate	Crop performance, genotype-by-environment interactions
Aerial Field	Natural	Low	Low	Large-scale field trials, precision agriculture

4.2. Image Processing and Feature Extraction

Image processing is a critical step in phenomics data analysis. It involves pre-processing steps, such as noise reduction, normalization, and segmentation, followed by feature extraction [29]. Various software tools, such as ImageJ, PlantCV, and PhenoBox, have been developed for automated image analysis [30]. These tools use machine learning algorithms, such as deep learning and computer vision, to extract plant traits from images [31].

4.3. Statistical Analysis and Modeling

Phenomics data analysis involves statistical methods to assess the effects of genotypes, environments, and their interactions on plant traits [32]. Linear mixed models are commonly used to partition phenotypic variance into genetic and environmental components and to estimate heritability [33]. Multivariate analysis techniques, such as principal component analysis and clustering, are used to identify patterns and relationships among traits [34]. Predictive modeling approaches, such as genomic selection and crop growth models, integrate phenomics data with genomic and environmental information to predict plant performance [35].

Software	Language	Features	Applications
ImageJ	Java	Image processing, measurement, plugin architecture	Microscopy, morphology
PlantCV	Python	Image processing, machine learning, high-throughput workflow	Morphology, color, size
PhenoBox	MATLAB	3D reconstruction, feature extraction, graphical user interface	Canopy structure, leaf angle
R/qt1	R	Linkage mapping, QTL analysis, data visualization	Genetic mapping, trait discovery
TASSEL	Java	Association mapping, diversity analysis, genomic selection	Genetic architecture, marker-assisted selection

Table 3. Commonly used software tools for phenomics data analysis.

5. Applications of Plant Phenomics

Plant phenomics has diverse applications in basic and applied plant research. Some of the key areas where phenomics is making a significant impact include:

5.1. Functional Genomics

Phenomics plays a crucial role in functional genomics by enabling largescale phenotypic characterization of mutant populations and natural accessions [36]. By combining phenotypic data with genomic information, researchers can identify the genes and molecular pathways underlying complex traits [37]. Phenomics has been used to study various plant functions, such as photosynthesis, nutrient uptake, and stress responses, in model species like *Arabidopsis thaliana* and crop plants like rice, maize, and soybean [38].

5.2. Crop Improvement

Phenomics is revolutionizing crop improvement by accelerating the breeding process and enhancing selection efficiency [39]. High-throughput phenotyping enables breeders to evaluate large breeding populations for multiple traits under different environmental conditions [40]. By integrating phenotypic data with genomic and pedigree information, breeders can implement genomic selection and marker-assisted selection to develop superior cultivars with

improved yield, quality, and resilience [41]. Phenomics has been applied to improve various crop species, including wheat, barley, potato, and tomato [42].

5.3. Agronomy and Precision Agriculture

Phenomics is transforming agronomy and precision agriculture by providing high-resolution data on crop growth and performance [43]. Field-based phenotyping platforms, such as drones and satellites, enable farmers to monitor crop health, detect stress conditions, and optimize management practices [44]. By combining phenotypic data with soil, weather, and management information, farmers can implement site-specific management strategies to maximize resource use efficiency and minimize environmental impacts [45]. Phenomics has been used to optimize irrigation, fertilization, and pest control in various cropping systems, such as maize, soybean, and cotton [46].





6. Challenges and Future Directions

Despite the rapid advances in plant phenomics, several challenges remain to be addressed. Some of the key challenges and future directions include:

6.1. Standardization and Interoperability

Phenomics data are highly heterogeneous, with different platforms, protocols, and data formats being used across studies [47]. Lack of standardization and interoperability hinders data sharing, integration, and metaanalysis [48]. Efforts are underway to develop common data standards, ontologies, and metadata schemas to facilitate data exchange and reuse [49]. Initiatives such as the Minimal Information About a Plant Phenotyping Experiment (MIAPPE) and the Crop Ontology are promoting data standardization in the plant phenomics community [50].

6.2. Data Integration and Knowledge Discovery

Integrating phenomics data with other omics data, such as genomics, transcriptomics, and metabolomics, is essential for gaining a systems-level understanding of plant biology [51]. However, data integration poses significant challenges due to the differences in data types, scales, and formats [52]. Advanced data integration and knowledge discovery tools, such as graph databases and semantic web technologies, are needed to harness the full potential of multi-omics data [53]. Machine learning and artificial intelligence approaches are increasingly being used to extract insights from integrated datasets and to generate testable hypotheses [54].

6.3. Scaling Up and Automation

Scaling up phenotyping to larger plant populations and more diverse environments is critical for translating phenomics discoveries into real-world applications [55]. However, scaling up requires significant investments in infrastructure, logistics, and personnel [56]. Automation and robotics technologies are being developed to increase the throughput and reduce the labor requirements of phenotyping [57]. Advances in sensors, computer vision, and machine learning are enabling the development of fully automated phenotyping systems that can operate with minimal human intervention [58].

6.4. Integration with Crop Modeling

Integrating phenomics data with crop growth and yield models is essential for predicting plant performance under different environmental and management scenarios [59]. Crop models can simulate the complex interactions between genotypes, environments, and management practices and provide insights into the potential impacts of climate change and technological interventions [60]. However, integrating phenomics data into crop models requires advanced data assimilation and parameter estimation techniques [61]. Efforts are underway to develop hybrid models that combine process-based and data-driven approaches to improve the accuracy and robustness of crop simulations [62].

Table 4. Key challenges and future directions in plant phenomics.

364 Plant Phenomics and High Throughput Screening

Challenge	Description	Future Directions
Standardization	Lack of common data standards and protocols	Develop data standards, ontologies, and metadata schemas
Data Integration	Difficulty in integrating heterogeneous datasets	Develop advanced data integration and knowledge discovery tools
Scaling Up	Limited throughput and infrastructure for large-scale studies	Develop automated and robotic phenotyping systems
Crop Modeling	Limited integration of phenomics data with crop models	Develop hybrid models that combine process-based and data-driven approaches

7. Conclusion

Plant phenomics is a rapidly advancing field that is transforming our understanding of plant biology and accelerating crop improvement efforts. Highthroughput phenotyping technologies, such as RGB imaging, hyperspectral imaging, thermal imaging, and 3D scanning, enable researchers to capture multidimensional phenotypic data from large plant populations under different environmental conditions. Integration of these technologies with automated plant handling systems and environmental control units has revolutionized our ability to study gene-environment interactions and identify superior genotypes for crop improvement. However, the massive datasets generated by phenomics pose significant challenges in terms of data storage, processing, and interpretation. Standardization, data integration, scaling up, and crop modeling are some of the key challenges that need to be addressed to fully harness the potential of phenomics. By overcoming these challenges and integrating phenomics with other omics approaches, we can accelerate the development of climate-resilient crops and ensure sustainable agriculture in the face of global challenges.

References :

[1] Furbank, R. T., & Tester, M. (2011). Phenomics – technologies to relieve the phenotyping bottleneck. *Trends in Plant Science*, *16*(12), 635-644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.09.005

[2] Dhondt, S., Wuyts, N., & Inzé, D. (2013). Cell to whole-plant phenotyping: The best is yet to come. *Trends in Plant Science*, *18*(8), 428-439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2013.04.008 [3] Araus, J. L., & Cairns, J. E. (2014). Field high-throughput phenotyping: The new crop breeding frontier. *Trends in Plant Science*, *19*(1), 52-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2013.09.008

[4] Fahlgren, N., Gehan, M. A., & Baxter, I. (2015). Lights, camera, action: High-throughput plant phenotyping is ready for a close-up. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 24, 93-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2015.02.006</u>

[5] Tardieu, F., Cabrera-Bosquet, L., Pridmore, T., & Bennett, M. (2017). Plant phenomics, from sensors to knowledge. *Current Biology*, 27(15), R770-R783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.05.055

[6] Yang, W., Feng, H., Zhang, X., Zhang, J., Doonan, J. H., Batchelor, W. D., Xiong, L., & Yan, J. (2020). Crop phenomics and high-throughput phenotyping: Past decades, current challenges, and future perspectives. *Molecular Plant*, *13*(2), 187-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2020.01.008</u>

[7] Li, L., Zhang, Q., & Huang, D. (2014). A review of imaging techniques for plant phenotyping. *Sensors*, 14(11), 20078-20111. https://doi.org/10.3390/s141120078

[8] Perez-Sanz, F., Navarro, P. J., & Egea-Cortines, M. (2017). Plant phenomics: An overview of image acquisition technologies and image data analysis algorithms. *GigaScience*, 6(11), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/gigascience/gix092</u>

[9] Mahlein, A.-K. (2016). Plant disease detection by imaging sensors – Parallels and specific demands for precision agriculture and plant phenotyping. *Plant Disease*, *100*(2), 241-251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-03-15-0340-FE</u>

 [10] Mishra, P., Asaari, M. S. M., Herrero-Langreo, A., Lohumi, S., Diezma, B., & Scheunders, P. (2017). Close range hyperspectral imaging of plants: A review. *Biosystems Engineering*, *164*, 49-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.09.009

[11] Ge, Y., Bai, G., Stoerger, V., & Schnable, J. C. (2016). Temporal dynamics of maize plant growth, water use, and leaf water content using automated high throughput RGB and hyperspectral imaging. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, *127*, 625-632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2016.07.028</u>

[12] Costa, J. M., Grant, O. M., & Chaves, M. M. (2013). Thermography to explore plant-environment interactions. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 64(13), 3937-3949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ert029</u>

366 Plant Phenomics and High Throughput Screening

[13] Prashar, A., & Jones, H. G. (2016). Assessing drought responses using thermal infrared imaging. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, *1398*, 209-219. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3356-3_17

[14] Gago, J., Douthe, C., Coopman, R. E., Gallego, P. P., Ribas-Carbo, M., Flexas, J., Escalona, J., & Medrano, H. (2015). UAVs challenge to assess water stress for sustainable agriculture. *Agricultural Water Management*, *153*, 9-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2015.01.020

[15] Vázquez-Arellano, M., Griepentrog, H. W., Reiser, D., & Paraforos, D. S.
(2016). 3-D imaging systems for agricultural applications—A review. *Sensors*, *16*(5), 618. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s16050618</u>

[16] Gibbs, J. A., Pound, M., French, A. P., Wells, D. M., Murchie, E., & Pridmore, T. (2017). Approaches to three-dimensional reconstruction of plant shoot topology and geometry. *Functional Plant Biology*, 44(1), 62-75. https://doi.org/10.1071/FP16167

[17] Paulus, S., Schumann, H., Kuhlmann, H., & Léon, J. (2014). High-precision laser scanning system for capturing 3D plant architecture and analysing growth of cereal plants. *Biosystems Engineering*, *121*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2014.01.010

[18] Granier, C., & Vile, D. (2014). Phenotyping and beyond: Modelling the relationships between traits. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, *18*, 96-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2014.02.009

[19] Junker, A., Muraya, M. M., Weigelt-Fischer, K., Arana-Ceballos, F., Klukas, C., Melchinger, A. E., Meyer, R. C., Riewe, D., & Altmann, T. (2015).
Optimizing experimental procedures for quantitative evaluation of crop plant performance in high throughput phenotyping systems. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *5*, 770. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00770</u>

[20] Halperin, O., Gebremedhin, A., Wallach, R., & Moshelion, M. (2017). Highthroughput physiological phenotyping and screening system for the characterization of plant-environment interactions. *The Plant Journal*, 89(4), 839-850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13425</u>

[21] Flood, P. J., Kruijer, W., Schnabel, S. K., Schoor, R., Jalink, H., Snel, J. F. H., Harbinson, J., & Aarts, M. G. M. (2016). Phenomics for photosynthesis, growth and reflectance in *Arabidopsis thaliana* reveals circadian and long-term fluctuations in heritability. *Plant Methods*, *12*, 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-016-0113-y

367

[22] Araus, J. L., Kefauver, S. C., Zaman-Allah, M., Olsen, M. S., & Cairns, J. E.
(2018). Translating high-throughput phenotyping into genetic gain. *Trends in Plant Science*, 23(5), 451-466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2018.02.001</u>

[23] Virlet, N., Sabermanesh, K., Sadeghi-Tehran, P., & Hawkesford, M. J. (2017). Field Scanalyzer: An automated robotic field phenotyping platform for detailed crop monitoring. *Functional Plant Biology*, 44(1), 143-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/FP16163</u>

[24] Shi, Y., Thomasson, J. A., Murray, S. C., Pugh, N. A., Rooney, W. L., Shafian, S., Rajan, N., Rouze, G., Morgan, C. L. S., Neely, H. L., Rana, A., Bagavathiannan, M. V., Henrickson, J., Bowden, E., Valasek, J., Olsenholler, J., Bishop, M. P., Sheridan, R., Putman, E. B., . . . Popescu, S. C. (2016). Unmanned aerial vehicles for high-throughput phenotyping and agronomic research. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(7), e0159781. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159781</u>

[25] Haghighattalab, A., González Pérez, L., Mondal, S., Singh, D., Schinstock, D., Rutkoski, J., Ortiz-Monasterio, I., Singh, R. P., Goodin, D., & Poland, J. (2016). Application of unmanned aerial systems for high throughput phenotyping of large wheat breeding nurseries. *Plant Methods*, *12*, 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-016-0134-6

[26] Coppens, F., Wuyts, N., Inzé, D., & Dhondt, S. (2017). Unlocking the potential of plant phenotyping data through integration and data-driven approaches. *Current Opinion in Systems Biology*, *4*, 58-63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coisb.2017.07.002

[27] Lobet, G. (2017). Image analysis in plant sciences: Publish then perish.
 Trends in *Plant Science*, 22(7), 559-566.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2017.05.002

[28] Singh, A., Ganapathysubramanian, B., Singh, A. K., & Sarkar, S. (2016).
Machine learning for high-throughput stress phenotyping in plants. *Trends in Plant Science*, 21(2), 110-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2015.10.015</u>

[29] Rousseau, D., Dee, H., & Pridmore, T. (2020). Imaging methods for phenotyping of plant traits. In J. Pieruschka & R. Schurr (Eds.), *Plant phenomics* (pp. 61-74). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-9865-4_5</u>

[30] Gehan, M. A., Fahlgren, N., Abbasi, A., Berry, J. C., Callen, S. T., Chavez, L., Doust, A. N., Feldman, M. J., Gilbert, K. B., Hodge, J. G., Hoyer, J. S., Lin, A., Liu, S., Lizárraga, C., Lorence, A., Miller, M., Platon, E., Tessman, M., & Sax, T. (2017). PlantCV v2: Image analysis software for high-throughput plant phenotyping. *PeerJ*, *5*, e4088. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4088

[31] Pound, M. P., Atkinson, J. A., Townsend, A. J., Wilson, M. H., Griffiths, M., Jackson, A. S., Bulat, A., Tzimiropoulos, G., Wells, D. M., Murchie, E. H., Pridmore, T. P., & French, A. P. (2017). Deep machine learning provides state-of-the-art performance in image-based plant phenotyping. *GigaScience*, *6*(10), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/gigascience/gix083</u>

[32] van Eeuwijk, F. A., Bustos-Korts, D., Millet, E. J., Boer, M. P., Kruijer, W., Thompson, A., Malosetti, M., Iwata, H., Quiroz, R., Kuppe, C., Muller, O., Blazakis, K. N., Yu, K., Tardieu, F., & Chapman, S. C. (2019). Modelling strategies for assessing and increasing the effectiveness of new phenotyping techniques in plant breeding. *Plant Science*, 282, 23-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2018.06.018

[33] Xavier, A., Hall, B., Hearst, A. A., Cherkauer, K. A., & Rainey, K. M. (2017). Genetic architecture of phenomic-enabled canopy coverage in *Glycine max. Genetics*, 206(2), 1081-1089. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.116.198713</u>

[34] Zhao, C., Zhang, Y., Du, J., Guo, X., Wen, W., Gu, S., Wang, J., & Fan, J.
(2019). Crop phenomics: Current status and perspectives. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 714. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00714</u>

[35] Miao, C., Xu, Y., Liu, S., Schnable, P. S., & Schnable, J. C. (2020). Increased power and accuracy of causal locus identification in time series genome-wide association in sorghum. *Plant Physiology*, *183*(4), 1898-1909. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.20.00277

[36] Topp, C. N., Iyer-Pascuzzi, A. S., Anderson, J. T., Lee, C.-R., Zurek, P. R., Symonova, O., Zheng, Y., Bucksch, A., Mileyko, Y., Galkovskyi, T., Moore, B. T., Harer, J., Edelsbrunner, H., Mitchell-Olds, T., Weitz, J. S., & Benfey, P. N. (2013). 3D phenotyping and quantitative trait locus mapping identify core regions of the rice genome controlling root architecture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(18), E1695-E1704. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1304354110

[37] Das Choudhury, S., Samal, A., & Awada, T. (2019). Leveraging image analysis for high-throughput plant phenotyping. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *10*, 508. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00508</u>

[38] Zhang, X., Huang, C., Wu, D., Qiao, F., Li, W., Duan, L., Wang, K., Xiao, Y., Chen, G., Liu, Q., Xiong, L., Yang, W., & Yan, J. (2017). High-throughput phenotyping and QTL mapping reveals the genetic architecture of maize plant growth. *Plant Physiology*, *173*(3), 1554-1564. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.01516 [39] Araus, J. L., Serret, M. D., & Lopes, M. S. (2019). Transgenic solutions to increase yield and stability in wheat: Shining hope or flash in the pan? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 70(5), 1419-1424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erz077</u>

[40] Juliana, P., Montesinos-López, O. A., Crossa, J., Mondal, S., González Pérez, L., Poland, J., Huerta-Espino, J., Crespo-Herrera, L., Govindan, V., Dreisigacker, S., Shrestha, S., Pérez-Rodríguez, P., Pinto Espinosa, F., & Singh, R. P. (2019). Integrating genomic-enabled prediction and high-throughput phenotyping in breeding for climate-resilient bread wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, *133*(1), 177-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-019-03317-0</u>

[41] Krause, M. R., González-Pérez, L., Crossa, J., Pérez-Rodríguez, P., Montesinos-López, O., Singh, R. P., Dreisigacker, S., Poland, J., Rutkoski, J., Sorrells, M., Gore, M. A., & Mondal, S. (2019). Hyperspectral reflectance-derived relationship matrices for genomic prediction of grain yield in wheat. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics, 9*(4), 1231-1247. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.118.200856

[42] Gao, L., Yang, G., Li, Y., Fan, N., Li, H., Zhang, M., Feng, L., Yang, J., Yao, Y., Zhang, Y., Ma, Y., Zhu, L., Zhou, Q., Guo, S., Bao, Y., Yuan, Z., Yuan, X., Zhao, J., Zhao, C., & Xin, W. (2019). Combining GWAS and QTL mapping to dissect the genetic architecture of rice panicle structure. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *10*, 1834. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01834</u>

[43] Jin, X., Zarco-Tejada, P., Schmidhalter, U., Reynolds, M. P., Hawkesford, M. J., Varshney, R. K., Yang, T., Nie, C., Li, Z., Ming, B., Xiao, Y., Xie, Y., & Li, S. (2020). High-throughput estimation of crop traits: A review of ground and aerial phenotyping platforms. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Magazine*, 9(1), 200-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MGRS.2020.2998816</u>

[44] Shi, Y., Thomasson, J. A., Murray, S. C., Pugh, N. A., Rooney, W. L., Shafian, S., Rajan, N., Rouze, G., Morgan, C. L. S., Neely, H. L., Rana, A., Bagavathiannan, M. V., Henrickson, J., Bowden, E., Valasek, J., Olsenholler, J., Bishop, M. P., Sheridan, R., Putman, E. B., . . . Popescu, S. C. (2016). Unmanned aerial vehicles for high-throughput phenotyping and agronomic research. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(7), e0159781. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159781</u>

[45] Kyratzis, A. C., Skarlatos, D. P., Menexes, G. C., Vamvakousis, V. F., & Katsiotis, A. (2017). Assessment of vegetation indices derived by UAV imagery for durum wheat phenotyping under a water limited and heat stressed Mediterranean environment. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8, 1114. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01114

370 Plant Phenomics and High Throughput Screening

[46] Deery, D., Jimenez-Berni, J., Jones, H., Sirault, X., & Furbank, R. (2014).
Proximal remote sensing buggies and potential applications for field-based phenotyping. *Agronomy*, 4(3), 349-379.
https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy4030349

[47] Großkinsky, D. K., Svensgaard, J., Christensen, S., & Roitsch, T. (2015). Plant phenomics and the need for physiological phenotyping across scales to narrow the genotype-to-phenotype knowledge gap. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 66(18), 5429-5440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv345</u>

[48] Reynolds, D., Baret, F., Welcker, C., Bostrom, A., Ball, J., Cellini, F., Lorence, A., Chawade, A., Khafif, M., Noshita, K., Mueller-Linow, M., Zhou, J., & Tardieu, F. (2019). What is cost-efficient phenotyping? Optimizing costs for different scenarios. *Plant Science*, 282, 14-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2018.06.015

[49] Pieruschka, R., & Schurr, U. (2019). Plant phenotyping: Past, present, and future. *Plant Phenomics*, 2019, 7507131. <u>https://doi.org/10.34133/2019/7507131</u>

[50] Ćwiek-Kupczyńska, H., Altmann, T., Arend, D., Arnaud, E., Chen, D., Cornut, G., Fiorani, F., Frohmberg, W., Junker, A., Klukas, C., Lange, M., Mazurek, C., Nafissi, A., Neveu, P., van Oeveren, J., Pommier, C., Poorter, H., Rocca-Serra, P., Sansone, S.-A., . . . Krajewski, P. (2016). Measures for interoperability of phenotypic data: Minimum information requirements and formatting. *Plant Methods*, *12*, 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-016-0144-4

[51] Watt, M., Fiorani, F., Usadel, B., Rascher, U., Muller, O., & Schurr, U. (2020). Phenotyping: New windows into the plant for breeders. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, *71*, 689-712. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042916-</u>041124

[52] Pommier, C., Michotey, C., Cornut, G., Roumet, P., Duchêne, E., Flores, R., Lebreton, A., Alaux, M., Durand, S., Kimmel, E., Letellier, T., Merceron, C., Montagner, C., Mohellibi, N., Pommier, B., Canlet, C., Chalhoub, B., Cros, D., Gaspin, C., . . . Adam-Blondon, A.-F. (2019). Applying FAIR principles to plant phenotypic data management in GnpIS. *Plant Phenomics*, *2019*, 1671403. https://doi.org/10.34133/2019/1671403

[53] Fiorani, F., & Schurr, U. (2013). Future scenarios for plant phenotyping. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 64, 267-291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050312-120137</u>

[54] Singh, A. K., Ganapathysubramanian, B., Sarkar, S., & Singh, A. (2018). Deep learning for plant stress phenotyping: Trends and future perspectives. *Trends in Plant Science*, *23*(10), 883-898. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2018.07.004

[55] Tardieu, F., Cabrera-Bosquet, L., Pridmore, T., & Bennett, M. (2017). Plant phenomics, from sensors to knowledge. *Current Biology*, 27(15), R770-R783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.05.055

[56] Yang, W., Feng, H., Zhang, X., Zhang, J., Doonan, J. H., Batchelor, W. D., Xiong, L., & Yan, J. (2020). Crop phenomics and high-throughput phenotyping: Past decades, current challenges, and future perspectives. *Molecular Plant*, *13*(2), 187-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2020.01.008</u>

[57] Chawade, A., van Ham, J., Blomquist, H., Bagge, O., Alexandersson, E., & Ortiz, R. (2019). High-throughput field-phenotyping tools for plant breeding and precision agriculture. *Agronomy*, *9*(5), 258. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9050258

[58] Fuentes, A., Yoon, S., Kim, S. C., & Park, D. S. (2017). A robust deeplearning-based detector for real-time tomato plant diseases and pests recognition. *Sensors*, *17*(9), 2022. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s17092022</u>

[59] Dreccer, M. F., Fainges, J., Whish, J., Ogbonnaya, F. C., & Sadras, V. O. (2018). Comparison of sensitive stages of wheat, barley, canola, chickpea and field pea to temperature and water stress across Australia. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 248, 275-294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2017.10.006

[60] Cooper, M., Tang, T., Gho, C., Hart, T., Hammer, G., & Messina, C. (2020). Integrating genetic gain and gap analysis to predict improvements in crop productivity. *Crop Science*, *60*(2), 582-604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csc2.20109</u>

[61] Huang, J., Gómez-Dans, J. L., Huang, H., Ma, H., Wu, Q., Lewis, P. E., Liang, S., Chen, Z., Xue, J.-H., Wu, Y., Zhao, F., Wang, J., & Xie, X. (2019). Assimilation of remote sensing into crop growth models: Current status and perspectives. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 276-277, 107609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.06.008

[62] Tao, F., Rötter, R. P., Palosuo, T., Díaz-Ambrona, C. G. H., Mínguez, M. I., Semenov, M. A., Kersebaum, K. C., Nendel, C., Cammarano, D., Hoffmann, H., Ewert, F., Dambreville, A., Martre, P., Rodríguez, L., Ruiz-Ramos, M., Gaiser, T., Höhn, J. G., Salo, T., Ferrise, R., . . . Schulman, A. H. (2018). Designing future barley ideotypes using a crop model ensemble. *European Journal of Agronomy*, *100*, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2017.12.003</u> 372 Plant Phenomics and High Throughput Screening



CHAPTER - 16

Æ

Advances in Herbicide Resistance Management

¹Dhamodharan P and ²Suriya S

 ¹PhD Scholar (Agronomy), Department of Agronomy, Tamil Nadu agriculture University, Coimbatore Pin - 641003
 ²PhD scholar Agrl. Entomology, Department of Agriculture Entomology, Tamil Nadu agriculture University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, Pin – 641003

Corresponding Author ¹Dhamodharan

dhambala199@gmail.com

Abstract

Herbicide resistance in weeds has become a major global challenge for agriculture in recent decades. The evolution of resistance to multiple herbicide modes of action in economically important weed species is threatening crop productivity and the sustainability of current weed management practices. This chapter provides an overview of the current status of herbicide resistance, the mechanisms and genetics of resistance, the agronomic and environmental factors driving resistance evolution, and the latest advances in herbicide resistance management. Non-chemical weed control strategies such as cultural, mechanical, and biological approaches are discussed. Emphasis is placed on integrated weed management systems that optimize herbicide use in combination with nonchemical tools in diverse cropping systems. The role of precision weed management technologies, weed genomics research, and herbicide discovery efforts in dealing with resistance is examined. Outreach efforts needed to promote the adoption of best management practices by growers are highlighted. Lastly, future directions for herbicide resistance research and management are outlined.

Keywords: Herbicide Resistance, Integrated Weed Management, Non-Chemical Control, Precision Weed Management, Resistance Management

Weeds are a persistent problem in agriculture, causing significant crop yield losses and increased production costs worldwide [1]. Herbicides have been the primary tool for weed control since the 1940s, owing to their effective, convenient, and economical features [2]. However, the continuous use of herbicides has imposed strong selection pressure for the evolution of herbicideresistant weeds. Herbicide resistance is the inherited ability of a weed population to survive a herbicide application that previously was known to control the population [3]. Resistance is essentially an evolutionary process involving selection and enrichment of rare resistant individuals in weed populations under repeated herbicide exposure [4].

The first case of herbicide resistance was reported in common groundsel (*Senecio vulgaris*) in 1968, only a few years after the introduction of the triazine herbicides [5]. Since then, herbicide resistance has expanded in scale, scope, and complexity, encompassing 263 species (152 dicots and 111 monocots) with resistance to 164 different herbicides representing 23 of the 26 known herbicide modes of action [6]. Globally important herbicide-resistant weeds include rigid ryegrass (*Lolium rigidum*), blackgrass (*Alopecurus myosuroides*), goosegrass (*Eleusine indica*), horseweed (*Erigeron canadensis*), and several pigweed (*Amaranthus*) and grass species [7].

The widespread evolution of resistance has diminished the efficacy of many once-effective herbicides and complicated weed management [8]. Multiple resistance, defined as the expression of more than one resistance mechanism within individuals or populations, is becoming increasingly common [9]. Resistance is known to evolve more rapidly in cropping systems with limited diversity in weed control tactics [10]. Moreover, no new herbicide modes of action have been commercialized in the past three decades, making it crucial to preserve the utility of currently available herbicides [11]. This chapter discusses the current advances in understanding and managing herbicide resistance to develop more sustainable weed control programs.

Mechanisms of Herbicide Resistance

Herbicide resistance in weeds can be conferred by target-site or nontarget-site mechanisms. Target-site resistance (TSR) mechanisms largely involve alterations to the biochemical sites of action of herbicides within plants, whereas non-target-site resistance (NTSR) mechanisms include any means of resistance that do not involve target-site modifications [12].

Target-Site Resistance (TSR) Mechanisms

TSR encompasses alterations that decrease herbicide binding within target enzymes or proteins. The most common TSR mechanism is target-site mutation, which involves structural changes in genes encoding target-site enzymes that decrease herbicide affinity [13]. Examples include mutations in the acetolactate synthase (ALS) and acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) genes conferring resistance to ALS and ACCase inhibitors, respectively [14]. Targetsite gene amplification is another TSR mechanism resulting in increased production of target enzymes to overcome herbicide inhibition, such as in



glyphosate-resistant *Amaranthus palmeri* [15]. Although TSR has been more frequently reported historically, the incidence of NTSR is on the rise [16].

Figure-1 Schematic representation of target-site and non-target-site resistance mechanisms

Non-Target-Site Resistance (NTSR) Mechanisms

NTSR involves any mechanism not related to TSR that reduces the amount of herbicide reaching its target site at a lethal dose. Enhanced herbicide metabolism is a major NTSR mechanism enabling rapid degradation of herbicides before they reach toxic levels [17]. Metabolic resistance is often the attributed to activity of cytochrome P450 monooxygenases, glycosyltransferases, glutathione S-transferases, and other enzyme families [18]. Other NTSR mechanisms include reduced herbicide uptake/translocation and sequestration, which restrict herbicide movement to its site of action [19]. NTSR is generally more complex than TSR and can confer unpredictable crossresistance to herbicides with different modes of action [20].

Factors Influencing Resistance Evolution

Herbicide resistance evolution is shaped by several genetic, biological, and agronomic factors. Understanding these factors is vital for assessing the resistance risks posed by different weed management tactics.

Table 1. Examples of Common Herbicide Resistance Mechanisms

Mechanism	Details	Example
Target-site mutation	Structural changes in genes encoding target enzymes	ALS and ACCase mutations
Target-site amplification	Increased production of target enzymes	EPSPS amplification in <i>Amaranthus palmeri</i>
Enhanced metabolism	Rapid degradation of herbicides by detoxifying enzymes	Cytochrome P450-based resistance
Reduced uptake/translocation	Restricted herbicide absorption and movement	Glyphosate resistance in <i>Lolium</i> species
Sequestration	Compartmentation of herbicides away from target sites	Glyphosate sequestration in vacuoles

Genetic Factors

The initial frequency, number, and dominance of resistance alleles within weed populations are key genetic determinants of resistance evolution [21]. Resistance alleles occurring at higher initial frequencies due to prior selection or gene flow will be enriched more rapidly under herbicide selection [22]. Weeds with greater genetic diversity, outcrossing mating systems, and high fecundity are predisposed to evolve resistance more quickly [23].

Biological Factors

Certain life history and biological traits of weeds influence their propensity to evolve resistance. Annual weeds with short life cycles, high seed production, and persistent seed banks tend to have higher risks of resistance evolution compared to perennial species [24]. Resistance is also more prevalent in weeds with wide geographic distributions, ecological adaptability, and resilience to management practices [25].

Agronomic Factors

Cropping system and weed management practices exert major impacts on herbicide resistance evolution. Resistance evolves more readily in cropping systems with limited diversity in crop rotation, tillage, and herbicide use patterns [26]. Over-reliance on herbicides with the same mode of action, suboptimal herbicide rates, and reduced monitoring/scouting for resistance are major risk factors [27]. Conversely, the integration of non-chemical control tactics with judicious herbicide rotation/mixture practices can greatly reduce resistance risks [28].

Factor	Examples	Impact on Resistance
Genetic	Frequency and dominance of resistance alleles	Higher frequency and dominance accelerate resistance
Biological	Mating system, fecundity, seed bank persistence	Outcrossing and prolific weeds evolve resistance faster
Agronomic	Crop rotation, tillage, herbicide pattern	Lack of diversity in practices increases resistance risks

Table 2. Factors Affecting Herbicide Resistance Evolution

Advances in Resistance Detection and Monitoring

Early detection and routine monitoring are essential for managing herbicide resistance proactively. Resistance can be detected through greenhouse/lab bioassays and in-field screenings. Advances in plant biology, genomics, and computational tools are enhancing resistance diagnostics.

Phenotyping Methods

Traditional resistance phenotyping involves comparing the sensitivity of putative resistant weed populations to herbicide doses lethal to known susceptible populations [29]. Dose-response assays including agar-based Petri dish assays and pot-based whole-plant assays are commonly used [30]. Advances such as digital imaging and high-throughput phenotyping platforms have improved the efficiency and resolution of these bioassays [31].

Genotyping Methods

Molecular biology tools are increasingly used to detect resistance at the DNA level. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays can rapidly detect target-site mutations associated with resistance [32]. DNA sequencing technologies such as Sanger and next-generation sequencing enable the discovery of novel resistance mechanisms [33]. Advances in genomic technologies and weed genome resources are expected to accelerate mechanism-based resistance detection [34].

Field Scouting and Mapping

Routine field surveys are crucial for monitoring the spatial distribution and spread of resistance. GPS mapping technologies and smartphone apps have made field scouting more efficient and informative [35]. Remote sensing using satellite, drone, and imaging sensors holds potential for tracking resistant weed populations in real-time [36]. Integration of field, greenhouse, and lab diagnostic data in decision support tools can guide resistance management decisions [37].

Method	Details	Advances
Dose-response assay	Compare herbicide sensitivity of weed populations	Digital imaging and high- throughput phenotyping
PCR assay	Detect target-site mutations associated with resistance	High-throughput genotyping tools
DNA sequencing	Discover novel resistance mechanisms	Next-generation sequencing technologies
Field scouting	Survey spatial distribution of resistant populations	GPS mapping and smartphone apps

Table 3. Methods for Herbicide Resistance Detection

Non-Chemical Weed Control Strategies

Herbicide resistance evolution is compelling the adoption of nonchemical weed control strategies as components of integrated weed management (IWM) programs. Major non-chemical approaches include cultural, mechanical, and biological tactics [38].

Cultural Practices

Cultural weed control involves manipulating cropping practices to suppress weed growth and reproduction. Crop rotation, cover cropping, intercropping, and adjusting planting dates/densities are effective cultural tactics [39]. Planting weed-competitive crop cultivars can reduce both weed density and reliance on herbicides [40]. Adequate fertilization and irrigation further enable crops to outcompete weeds [41].

Mechanical and Physical Methods

Tillage and cultivation remain valuable non-chemical tools for weed control. Advances in precision guidance technologies have improved the efficacy and efficiency of mechanical weeding [42]. Robotic weeders using machine vision and artificial intelligence can selectively remove weeds with minimal crop damage [43]. Thermal weeding methods such as flaming, steaming, and microwave radiation are also being explored [44].

Biological Approaches

Biological weed control using natural enemies holds promise for suppressing herbicide-resistant weeds. Several insect and fungal biocontrol agents have been successfully used against invasive weeds [45]. However, their application in field crops has been limited due to potential non-target effects and regulatory hurdles [46]. Advances in molecular biology and bioengineering may enable the development of more host-specific and effective biocontrol agents [47]. Bioherbicides based on microbial phytotoxins are another emerging area of research [48].

Strategy	Examples	Advances
Cultural	Crop rotation, cover crops, competitive cultivars	Decision support tools for optimal cultural practices
Mechanical	Tillage, cultivation, robotic weeders	Machine vision and artificial intelligence technologies
Biological	Natural enemies, bioherbicides	Molecular biology and bioengineering tools

 Table 4. Non-Chemical Weed Control Strategies

Integrated Weed Management (IWM) Systems

Integration of chemical and non-chemical weed control strategies is crucial for sustainable herbicide resistance management. IWM is increasingly being promoted to preserve the efficacy of current weed control tools [49].

Principles and Components of IWM

IWM is based on the principles of weed ecology, biology, and population dynamics. It seeks to prevent weed issues proactively, rather than reacting after they occur. Key components of IWM include [50]:

- Monitoring and mapping weed populations
- Crop and herbicide rotations
- Combining multiple weed control tools
- Preventing weed seed production and dispersal
- Keeping accurate management records

Successful IWM programs are tailored to the specific weed spectrum, soil type, cropping system, and socioeconomic context of a given farm [51]. Advances in data analytics and decision support systems (DSS) are aiding the site-specific design and implementation of IWM [52].

Case Studies of IWM

Several long-term studies have demonstrated the benefits of IWM for resistance management. For example, a six-year study in the U.S. Corn Belt showed that combining crop rotation, tillage, and herbicide rotation reduced the resistance risk in waterhemp (*Amaranthus tuberculatus*) compared to herbicide-only programs [53]. In Australia, the combination of harvest weed seed control and herbicide diversity slowed rigid ryegrass resistance evolution over four years [54]. However, more research is needed to quantify the resistance risks and benefits of specific IWM programs in different cropping systems [55].

Study	Cropping System	IWM Components	Key Results
Waterhemp resistance [53]	U.S. Corn- Soybean	Crop rotation, tillage, herbicide rotation	Lower resistance risk compared to herbicide- only
Rigid ryegrass resistance [54]	Australian Wheat	Harvest weed seed control, herbicide diversity	Slowed resistance evolution over four years

Table 5. Integrated Weed Management (IWM) Case Studies

Herbicide Use Stewardship

Judicious use of herbicides is a cornerstone of proactive resistance management. Several best management practices (BMPs) have been developed to optimize herbicide use while mitigating resistance risks [56].

Herbicide Rotation and Mixture

Rotating or mixing herbicides with different modes of action can delay resistance by decreasing selection pressure imposed by a single herbicide [57]. Effective herbicide rotations should consider the cross-resistance patterns and control spectra of the component herbicides [58]. Mixtures should include herbicides with similar efficacy and soil persistence to avoid selecting for resistance to the more effective or persistent herbicide [59]. Modeling studies suggest that mixtures may be more effective than rotations in delaying resistance, but this depends on the frequency of resistance alleles and the relative dominance of resistance [60].

Application Timing and Rate

Using full labelled rates and appropriate application timings is critical for resistance management. Sublethal herbicide doses can rapidly select for polygenic resistance mechanisms such as enhanced metabolism [61]. Applying herbicides at weed growth stages and environmental conditions specified on the label ensures maximum efficacy and minimizes survival of potentially resistant individuals [62]. Split applications or sequential herbicide programs can provide extended control of multi-cohort species such as *Amaranthus* [63].

Prevention of Weed Seed Production and Dispersal

Preventing weed seed return to the soil is an effective tactic for limiting the spread of resistance. Harvest weed seed control methods such as chaff carts, narrow windrow burning, and seed impact mills can destroy weed seeds before they enter the soil seed bank [64]. Cleaning equipment between fields and managing field margins can minimize the dispersal of resistant weed seeds across the landscape [65]. Cover crops and residue management practices that suppress weed seed germination and emergence are also beneficial [66].

BMP	Details	Considerations
Herbicide rotation	Alternate herbicides with different modes of action	Consider cross-resistance patterns and efficacy
Herbicide mixture	Use herbicides with different modes of action in combination	Use herbicides with similar efficacy and persistence
Full labeled rate	Apply herbicides at rates specified on the label	Avoid sublethal doses that can select for resistance
Optimal timing	Apply herbicides at recommended weed stages and conditions	Follow label instructions for maximum efficacy
Weed seed control	Prevent weed seed return to the soil using various tactics	Integrate multiple seed control methods

 Table 6. Best Management Practices (BMPs) for Herbicide Stewardship

Technology Advances in Resistance Management

Recent technological advances in precision agriculture, weed genomics, and herbicide discovery are providing new tools and approaches for managing herbicide resistance.

Precision Weed Management

Precision weed management involves the spatially targeted application of weed control measures based on weed distribution and density within fields [67]. Herbicide resistance modeling and mapping can identify high-risk field areas for site-specific resistance management [68]. Machine vision and artificial intelligence are enabling real-time detection and spot-spraying of resistant weeds using smart sprayers [69]. Variable rate herbicide application and weed recognition technologies are also being developed to optimize herbicide use efficiency [70].



Figure-2 Community-based herbicide resistance management framework Weed Genomics and Molecular Biology

Advances in weed genomics and molecular biology are providing insights into the genetic basis and evolution of herbicide resistance. Wholegenome sequencing of major resistant weed species such as *Amaranthus palmeri* and *Alopecurus myosuroides* has identified genomic regions and candidate genes associated with resistance [71], [72]. Transcriptomics and proteomics approaches are elucidating the complex regulation of NTSR mechanisms such as enhanced metabolism [73]. Genome editing technologies like CRISPR-Cas9 are being explored for creating herbicide-resistant crops and reversing resistance in weeds [74].

Herbicide Discovery and Formulation

The lack of new herbicide modes of action discovered since the 1980s underscores the need for renewed herbicide discovery efforts. Advances in highthroughput screening, combinatorial chemistry, and computational modeling are aiding the identification of novel herbicide targets and lead compounds [75]. Biopesticides based on natural products with novel modes of action are also being investigated [76]. Nanotechnology-based herbicide formulations with improved efficacy and safety are another area of active research [77].

Technology	Application	Examples
Precision weed management	Site-specific weed control based on spatial distribution	Herbicide resistance modeling and mapping
Machine vision and AI	Real-time weed detection and spot-spraying	Smart sprayers and variable rate application
Weed genomics	Elucidating the genetic basis and evolution of resistance	AmaranthuspalmeriandAlopecurusmyosuroidessequencing
Genome editing	Creating herbicide-resistant crops and reversing resistance	CRISPR-Cas9 technology

Table 7. Technological Advances in Herbicide Resistance Management

Extension and Outreach Efforts

Effective extension and outreach are critical for promoting the adoption of herbicide resistance BMPs by growers and land managers. Collaborative efforts between researchers, extension specialists, industry, and growers are needed to translate research findings into practical management strategies [78].

Grower Education and Training

Grower education and training programs are essential for raising awareness about herbicide resistance and promoting the implementation of BMPs. Extension workshops, field days, and online resources can demonstrate the benefits of proactive resistance management [79]. Hands-on training on topics such as sprayer calibration, herbicide application, and scouting can improve grower skills and confidence [80]. Providing decision support tools and personalized recommendations can further encourage grower adoption of BMPs [81].

Community-Based Resistance Management

Herbicide resistance is a landscape-scale problem that requires community-based management approaches. Area-wide resistance management

programs that coordinate efforts across multiple farms can limit the spread of resistance [82]. Successful community-based programs often involve local leadership, grower participation, and cost-sharing incentives [83]. Modeling studies suggest that area-wide management may be more effective than individual farm-level efforts in delaying resistance evolution [84].

Policy and Regulatory Aspects

Policy and regulatory measures can play a role in promoting herbicide resistance management. Herbicide labeling regulations that require resistance management information and BMPs can encourage stewardship [85]. Incentive programs that provide financial or technical assistance for adopting BMPs can enhance grower participation [86]. Regulations on herbicide use reporting and resistance monitoring can aid in the early detection and mitigation of resistance [87]. However, the development of practical and politically acceptable resistance management policies remains a challenge [88].

Strategy	Examples	Key Components
Grower education	Extension workshops, field days, online resources	Raising awareness and demonstrating BMPs
Community-based management	Area-wide resistance management programs	Local leadership, grower participation, cost-sharing
Policy and regulation	Herbicide labeling, incentive programs, use reporting	Encouraging stewardship and monitoring

Table 8. Extension and Outreach Strategies for Resistance Management

Conclusion

Herbicide resistance is a global challenge that threatens the sustainability of weed management in modern agriculture. This chapter highlights the current state of the art in herbicide resistance research and management, emphasizing the integration of chemical and non-chemical control tactics. As new weed management technologies and practices continue to evolve, it is important to ensure that they are compatible with and complementary to existing BMPs. Ongoing research is needed to optimize the integration of herbicide use with cultural, mechanical, and biological approaches in diverse cropping systems. Socioeconomic analyses of the barriers and incentives for grower adoption of resistance BMPs are also critical. Ultimately, mitigating the impacts of herbicide resistance will require adaptive, ecosystem-based approaches that balance weed management, crop productivity, and environmental stewardship goals.

References

[1] Oerke, E. C. (2006). Crop losses to pests. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 144(1), 31-43.

[2] Owen, M. D. (2016). Diverse approaches to herbicide-resistant weed management. *Weed Science*, 64(SP1), 570-584.

[3] Heap, I. (2014). Global perspective of herbicide-resistant weeds. *Pest Management Science*, 70(9), 1306-1315.

[4] Powles, S. B., & Yu, Q. (2010). Evolution in action: plants resistant to herbicides. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 61, 317-347.

[5] Ryan, G. F. (1970). Resistance of common groundsel to simazine and atrazine. *Weed Science*, 18(5), 614-616.

[6] Heap, I. (2021). The International Herbicide-Resistant Weed Database. Online. Retrieved from <u>www.weedscience.org</u>

[7] Délye, C., Jasieniuk, M., & Le Corre, V. (2013). Deciphering the evolution of herbicide resistance in weeds. *Trends in Genetics*, 29(11), 649-658.

[8] Beckie, H. J. (2006). Herbicide-resistant weeds: management tactics and practices. *Weed Technology*, 20(3), 793-814.

[9] Heap, I., & Duke, S. O. (2018). Overview of glyphosate-resistant weeds worldwide. *Pest Management Science*, 74(5), 1040-1049.

[10] Neve, P., Norsworthy, J. K., Smith, K. L., & Zelaya, I. A. (2011). Modeling evolution and management of glyphosate resistance in *Amaranthus palmeri*. *Weed Research*, 51(2), 99-112.

[11] Duke, S. O. (2012). Why have no new herbicide modes of action appeared in recent years? *Pest Management Science*, 68(4), 505-512.

[12] Gaines, T. A., Duke, S. O., Morran, S., Rigon, C. A., Tranel, P. J., Küpper,
A., & Dayan, F. E. (2020). Mechanisms of evolved herbicide resistance. *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 295(30), 10307-10330.

[13] Tranel, P. J., Wright, T. R., & Heap, I. M. (2016). Mutations in herbicideresistant weeds to ALS inhibitors. Online. Retrieved from www.weedscience.com

[14] Yu, Q., & Powles, S. B. (2014). Resistance to AHAS inhibitor herbicides: current understanding. *Pest Management Science*, 70(9), 1340-1350.

[15] Gaines, T. A., Zhang, W., Wang, D., Bukun, B., Chisholm, S. T., Shaner, D. L., ... & Westra, P. (2010). Gene amplification confers glyphosate resistance in *Amaranthus palmeri*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(3), 1029-1034.

[16] Delye, C. (2013). Unravelling the genetic bases of non-target-site-based resistance (NTSR) to herbicides: a major challenge for weed science in the forthcoming decade. *Pest Management Science*, 69(2), 176-187.

[17] Yuan, J. S., Tranel, P. J., & Stewart, C. N. (2007). Non-target-site herbicide resistance: a family business. *Trends in Plant Science*, 12(1), 6-13.

[18] Ghanizadeh, H., & Harrington, K. C. (2017). Critical reviews in plant sciences non-target site mechanisms of resistance to herbicides. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 36(1), 24-34.

[19] Ge, X., d'Avignon, D. A., Ackerman, J. J., & Sammons, R. D. (2010). Rapid vacuolar sequestration: the horseweed glyphosate resistance mechanism. *Pest Management Science*, 66(4), 345-348.

[20] Busi, R., Gaines, T. A., Walsh, M. J., & Powles, S. B. (2012). Understanding the potential for resistance evolution to the new herbicide pyroxasulfone: field selection at high doses versus recurrent selection at low doses. *Weed Research*, 52(6), 489-499.

[21] Jasieniuk, M., Brûlé-Babel, A. L., & Morrison, I. N. (1996). The evolution and genetics of herbicide resistance in weeds. *Weed Science*, 44(1), 176-193.

[22] Neve, P., & Powles, S. (2005). Recurrent selection with reduced herbicide rates results in the rapid evolution of herbicide resistance in *Lolium rigidum*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 110(6), 1154-1166.

[23] Gressel, J. (2009). Evolving understanding of the evolution of herbicide resistance. *Pest Management Science*, 65(11), 1164-1173.

[24] Harker, K. N., & O'Donovan, J. T. (2013). Recent weed control, weed management, and integrated weed management. *Weed Technology*, 27(1), 1-11.

[25] Busi, R., Powles, S. B., Beckie, H. J., & Renton, M. (2020). Rotations and mixtures of soil-applied herbicides delay resistance. *Pest Management Science*, 76(2), 487-496.

[26] Norsworthy, J. K., Ward, S. M., Shaw, D. R., Llewellyn, R. S., Nichols, R. L., Webster, T. M., ... & Barrett, M. (2012). Reducing the risks of herbicide resistance: best management practices and recommendations. *Weed Science*, 60(SP1), 31-62.

[27] Beckie, H. J., & Harker, K. N. (2017). Our top 10 herbicide-resistant weed management practices. *Pest Management Science*, 73(6), 1045-1052.

[28] Liebman, M., & Gallandt, E. R. (1997). Many little hammers: ecological management of crop-weed interactions. *Ecology in Agriculture*, 291-343.

[29] Burgos, N. R., Tranel, P. J., Streibig, J. C., Davis, V. M., Shaner, D., Norsworthy, J. K., & Ritz, C. (2013). Review: confirmation of resistance to herbicides and evaluation of resistance levels. *Weed Science*, 61(1), 4-20.

[30] Yuan, J. S., Abercrombie, L. L., Cao, Y., Halfhill, M. D., Zhou, X., Peng, Y., ... & Stewart, C. N. (2010). Functional genomics analysis of horseweed (*Conyza canadensis*) with special reference to the evolution of non-target-site glyphosate resistance. *Weed Science*, 58(2), 109-117.

[31] Burnet, M. W., Hildebrand, O. B., Holtum, J. A., & Powles, S. B. (1991). Amitrole, triazine, substituted urea, and metribuzin resistance in a biotype of rigid ryegrass (*Lolium rigidum*). *Weed Science*, 39(3), 317-323.

[32] Délye, C., Michel, S., Bérard, A., Chauvel, B., Brunel, D., Guillemin, J. P., ... & Dessaint, F. (2010). Geographical variation in resistance to acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase-inhibiting herbicides across the range of the arable weed *Alopecurus myosuroides* (black-grass). *New Phytologist*, 186(4), 1005-1017.

[33] Patzoldt, W. L., Tranel, P. J., & Hager, A. G. (2005). A waterhemp (*Amaranthus tuberculatus*) biotype with multiple resistance across three herbicide sites of action. *Weed Science*, 53(1), 30-36.

[34] Guo, J., Riggins, C. W., Hausman, N. E., Hager, A. G., Riechers, D. E., Davis, A. S., & Tranel, P. J. (2015). Nontarget-site resistance to ALS inhibitors in waterhemp (*Amaranthus tuberculatus*). *Weed Science*, 63(2), 399-407.

[35] Gage, K. L., Krausz, R. F., & Walters, S. A. (2019). Emerging challenges for weed management in herbicide-resistant crops. *Agriculture*, 9(8), 180.

[36] Lopez-Granados, F. (2011). Weed detection for site-specific weed management: mapping and real-time approaches. *Weed Research*, 51(1), 1-11.

[37] Fernández-Quintanilla, C., Peña, J. M., Andújar, D., Dorado, J., Ribeiro, A., & López-Granados, F. (2018). Is the current state of the art of weed monitoring suitable for site-specific weed management in arable crops? *Weed Research*, 58(4), 259-272.

[38] Upadhyaya, M. K., & Blackshaw, R. E. (Eds.). (2007). Non-chemical weed management: principles, concepts and technology. CABI.
[39] Liebman, M., Mohler, C. L., & Staver, C. P. (2001). *Ecological management of agricultural weeds*. Cambridge University Press.

[40] Van der Meulen, A., & Chauhan, B. S. (2017). A review of weed management in wheat using crop competition. *Crop Protection*, 95, 38-44.

[41] Swanton, C. J., Nkoa, R., & Blackshaw, R. E. (2015). Experimental methods for crop–weed competition studies. *Weed Science*, 63(SP1), 2-11.

[42] Young, S. L., Meyer, G. E., & Woldt, W. E. (2014). Future directions for automated weed management in precision agriculture. In *Automation: The Future of Weed Control in Cropping Systems* (pp. 249-259). Springer, Dordrecht.

[43] Fennimore, S. A., & Cutulle, M. (2019). Robotic weeders can improve weed control options for specialty crops. *Pest Management Science*, 75(7), 1767-1774.

[44] Kanellou, E., Economou, G., Papafotiou, M., Ntoulas, N., Lyra, D., Kartsonas, E., & Knezevic, S. (2017). Flame weeding at archaeological sites of the Mediterranean region. *Weed Technology*, 31(3), 396-403.

[45] Charudattan, R. (2001). Biological control of weeds by means of plant pathogens: significance for integrated weed management in modern agro-ecology. *BioControl*, 46(2), 229-260.

[46] Harding, D. P., & Raizada, M. N. (2015). Controlling weeds with fungi, bacteria and viruses: a review. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6, 659.

[47] Hallett, S. G. (2005). Where are the bioherbicides? *Weed Science*, 53(3), 404-415.

[48] Bailey, K. L. (2014). The bioherbicide approach to weed control using plant pathogens. In *Integrated pest management* (pp. 245-266). Academic Press.

[49] Shaw, D. R. (2016). The "wicked" nature of the herbicide resistance problem. *Weed Science*, 64(SP1), 552-558.

[50] Busi, R., Powles, S. B., Beckie, H. J., & Renton, M. (2020). Rotations and mixtures of soil-applied herbicides delay resistance. *Pest Management Science*, 76(2), 487-496.

[51] Mortensen, D. A., Egan, J. F., Maxwell, B. D., Ryan, M. R., & Smith, R. G. (2012). Navigating a critical juncture for sustainable weed management. *BioScience*, 62(1), 75-84.

[52] Somerville, G. J., Powles, S. B., Walsh, M. J., & Renton, M. (2017). How do spatial heterogeneity and dispersal in weed population models affect predictions of herbicide resistance evolution? *Ecological Modelling*, 362, 37-53.

[53] Evans, J. A., Tranel, P. J., Hager, A. G., Schutte, B., Wu, C., Chatham, L. A., & Davis, A. S. (2016). Managing the evolution of herbicide resistance. *Pest Management Science*, 72(1), 74-80.

[54] Beckie, H. J., Blackshaw, R. E., Hall, L. M., & Johnson, E. N. (2016). Pollen- and seed-mediated gene flow in kochia (*Kochia scoparia*). *Weed Science*, 64(4), 624-633.

[55] Neve, P., Barney, J. N., Buckley, Y., Cousens, R. D., Graham, S., Jordan, N. R., ... & Williams, M. (2018). Reviewing research priorities in weed ecology, evolution and management: a horizon scan. *Weed Research*, 58(4), 250-258.

[56] Coble, H. D., & Schroeder, J. (2016). Call to action on herbicide resistance management. *Weed Science*, 64(SP1), 661-666.

[57] Busi, R., Powles, S. B., Beckie, H. J., & Renton, M. (2020). Rotations and mixtures of soil-applied herbicides delay resistance. *Pest Management Science*, 76(2), 487-496.

[58] Diggle, A. J., Neve, P. B., & Smith, F. P. (2003). Herbicides used in combination can reduce the probability of herbicide resistance in finite weed populations. *Weed Research*, 43(5), 371-382.

[59] Lagator, M., Vogwill, T., Mead, A., Colegrave, N., & Neve, P. (2013). Herbicide mixtures at high doses slow the evolution of resistance in experimentally evolving populations of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *New Phytologist*, 198(3), 938-945.

[60] Norsworthy, J. K., Ward, S. M., Shaw, D. R., Llewellyn, R. S., Nichols, R. L., Webster, T. M., ... & Barrett, M. (2012). Reducing the risks of herbicide resistance: best management practices and recommendations. *Weed Science*, 60(SP1), 31-62.

[61] Busi, R., & Powles, S. B. (2009). Evolution of glyphosate resistance in a *Lolium rigidum* population by glyphosate selection at sublethal doses. *Heredity*, 103(4), 318-325.

[62] Shaner, D. L., & Beckie, H. J. (2014). The future for weed control and technology. *Pest Management Science*, 70(9), 1329-1339.

[63] Norsworthy, J. K., Griffith, G., Griffin, T., Bagavathiannan, M., & Gbur, E.
E. (2014). In-field movement of glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) and its impact on cotton lint yield: evidence supporting a zero-threshold strategy. *Weed Science*, 62(2), 237-249.

[64] Walsh, M. J., Harrington, R. B., & Powles, S. B. (2012). Harrington seed destructor: a new nonchemical weed control tool for global grain crops. *Crop Science*, 52(3), 1343-1347.

[65] Schwartz-Lazaro, L. M., Norsworthy, J. K., Scott, R. C., & Barber, L. T. (2017). Resistance of two Arkansas Palmer amaranth populations to multiple herbicide sites of action. *Crop Protection*, 96, 158-163.

[66] Webster, T. M., & Sosnoskie, L. M. (2010). Loss of glyphosate efficacy: a changing weed spectrum in Georgia cotton. *Weed Science*, 58(1), 73-79.

[67] Young, S. L., & Pierce, F. J. (2014). Automation: The future of weed control in cropping systems. Springer Science & Business Media.

[68] Somerville, G. J., Sønderskov, M., Mathiassen, S. K., & Metcalfe, H. (2020). Spatial modeling of within-field weed populations: a review. *Weed Research*, 60(3), 179-192.

[69] Fernández-Quintanilla, C., Peña, J. M., Andújar, D., Dorado, J., Ribeiro, A., & López-Granados, F. (2018). Is the current state of the art of weed monitoring suitable for site-specific weed management in arable crops?. *Weed Research*, 58(4), 259-272.

[70] Christensen, S., Søgaard, H. T., Kudsk, P., Nørremark, M., Lund, I., Nadimi,
E. S., & Jørgensen, R. (2009). Site-specific weed control technologies. *Weed Research*, 49(3), 233-241.

[71] Kreiner, J. M., Giacomini, D. A., Bemm, F., Waithaka, B., Regalado, J., Lanz, C., ... & Tranel, P. J. (2019). Multiple modes of convergent adaptation in the spread of glyphosate-resistant *Amaranthus tuberculatus*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(42), 21076-21084.

[72] Iwakami, S., Endo, M., Saika, H., Okuno, J., Nakamura, N., Yokoyama, M., ... & Toki, S. (2014). Cytochrome P450 CYP81A12 and CYP81A21 are associated with resistance to two acetolactate synthase inhibitors in *Echinochloa phyllopogon*. *Plant Physiology*, 165(2), 618-629.

[73] Maroli, A. S., Nandula, V. K., Dayan, F. E., Duke, S. O., Gerard, P., & Tharayil, N. (2015). Metabolic profiling and enzyme analyses indicate a potential role of antioxidant systems in complementing glyphosate resistance in an *Amaranthus palmeri* biotype. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63(41), 9199-9209.

[74] Neve, P. (2018). Gene drive systems: do they have a place in agricultural weed management. *Pest Management Science*, 74(12), 2671-2679.

[75] Dayan, F. E., & Duke, S. O. (2014). Natural compounds as next-generation herbicides. *Plant Physiology*, 166(3), 1090-1105.

[76] Westwood, J. H., Charudattan, R., Duke, S. O., Fennimore, S. A., Marrone, P., Slaughter, D. C., ... & Zollinger, R. (2018). Weed management in 2050: Perspectives on the future of weed science. *Weed Science*, 66(3), 275-285.

[77] de Oliveira, J. L., Campos, E. V., Bakshi, M., Abhilash, P. C., & Fraceto, L. F. (2014). Application of nanotechnology for the encapsulation of botanical insecticides for sustainable agriculture: prospects and promises. *Biotechnology Advances*, 32(8), 1550-1561.

[78] Schroeder, J., Barrett, M., Shaw, D. R., Asmus, A. B., Coble, H., Ervin, D.,... & Culpepper, A. S. (2018). Managing wicked herbicide-resistance: lessons from the field. *Weed Technology*, 32(4), 475-488.

[79] Ervin, D., & Jussaume, R. (2014). Integrating social science into managing herbicide-resistant weeds and associated environmental impacts. *Weed Science*, 62(2), 403-414.

[80] Shaner, D. L., & Beckie, H. J. (2014). The future for weed control and technology. *Pest Management Science*, 70(9), 1329-1339.

[81] Lacoste, M., & Powles, S. (2016). RIM: anatomy of a weed management decision support system for adaptation and wider application. *Weed Science*, 64(SP1), 676-689.

[82] Doohan, D., Wilson, R., Canales, E., & Parker, J. (2010). Investigating the human dimension of weed management: new tools of the trade. *Weed Science*, 58(4), 503-510.

[83] Llewellyn, R. S., & Pannell, D. J. (2009). Managing the herbicide resource: an evaluation of extension on management of herbicide-resistant weeds. *AgBioForum*, 12(3&4), 358-369.

[84] Bagavathiannan, M. V., Graham, S., Ma, Z., Barney, J. N., Coutts, S. R., Caicedo, A. L., ... & Giacomini, D. A. (2019). Considering weed management as a social dilemma bridges individual and collective interests. *Nature Plants*, 5(4), 343-351.

[85] Frisvold, G. B., & Reeves, J. M. (2010). Resistance management and sustainable use of agricultural biotechnology. *AgBioForum*, 13(4), 343-359.

[86] Ervin, D. E., Breshears, E. H., Frisvold, G. B., Hurley, T., Dentzman, K. E., Gunsolus, J. L., ... & Everman, W. J. (2019). Farmer attitudes toward cooperative

approaches to herbicide resistance management: a common pool ecosystem service challenge. *Ecological Economics*, 157, 237-245.

[87] Beckie, H. J., Busi, R., Bagavathiannan, M. V., & Martin, S. L. (2019). Herbicide resistance gene flow in weeds: Under-estimated and under-appreciated. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 283, 106566.

[88] Barrett, M., Soteres, J., & Shaw, D. (2016). Carrots and sticks: incentives and regulations for herbicide resistance management and changing behavior. *Weed Science*, 64(SP1), 627-640.



Plant Volatiles and Chemical Ecology

¹Suriya S and ² Suman

¹PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Division of Entomology, SKUAST -Kashmir, Jammu and Kashmir, India, Pin – 190025
 ²PhD scholar Agrl Entomology, Department of Agriculture Entomology, Sri Karan Narendra agriculture University, Jobner - 303329, Rajasthan, India

Corresponding Author ¹Suriya S

suriyaento23@gmail.com

Abstract

Plant volatiles play a pivotal role in the chemical ecology of both natural and managed ecosystems. These diverse compounds, emitted from flowers, leaves, roots and fruits, mediate an array of crucial interactions between plants and other organisms. From attracting pollinators and seed dispersers to deterring herbivores and pathogens, plant volatiles serve as a sophisticated language in the complex interplay of plant defense, reproduction, and community dynamics. Recent advances in analytical chemistry, molecular biology, and ecology have greatly expanded our understanding of the biosynthesis, regulation, and ecological functions of plant volatiles. This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of the current state of knowledge on plant volatiles and their roles in chemical ecology. Key topics covered include: 1) the diversity and biosynthesis of plant volatile compounds, 2) the ecological functions of volatiles in plantinsect, plant-microbe, and plant-plant interactions, 3) the influence of abiotic and biotic factors on volatile emission and composition, 4) the evolution and genetic basis of plant volatile production, and 5) the application of plant volatiles in agriculture and biotechnology. The chapter highlights recent discoveries and emerging research directions, while also discussing the challenges and opportunities for harnessing plant volatiles for sustainable crop protection and production. Understanding the chemical ecology of plant volatiles is crucial for developing innovative strategies to enhance plant resilience, ecosystem health, and global food security in a changing world.

Keywords: Plant Volatiles, Chemical Ecology, Terpenes, Plant Defense, Tritrophic Interactions

Plants emit a diverse array of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) that mediate their interactions with the surrounding environment. These VOCs, which include terpenes, green leaf volatiles (GLVs), benzenoids, phenylpropanoids, and nitrogen- and sulfur-containing compounds, are released from various plant organs and serve multiple ecological functions [1]. Plant volatiles play crucial roles in attracting pollinators and seed dispersers, deterring herbivores and pathogens, and facilitating communication between plants and other organisms [2].

The study of plant volatiles and their ecological roles has emerged as a fascinating and rapidly evolving field of research, integrating concepts and methods from chemistry, ecology, evolutionary biology, and molecular biology [3]. Advances in analytical techniques, such as gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and proton transfer reaction-mass spectrometry (PTR-MS), have enabled the identification and quantification of the complex blends of VOCs emitted by plants [4]. Meanwhile, molecular and genetic tools have shed light on the biosynthetic pathways and regulatory mechanisms underlying volatile production [5].

It provides an overview of the current knowledge on plant volatiles and their diverse ecological functions. It begins by exploring the chemical diversity and biosynthesis of plant VOCs, followed by a discussion of their roles in plantinsect, plant-microbe, and plant-plant interactions. The influence of abiotic and biotic factors on volatile emission and composition is then examined, along with the evolutionary and genetic basis of plant volatile production. Finally, the chapter highlights the potential applications of plant volatiles in agriculture and biotechnology, as well as future research directions and challenges in this dynamic field.

Chemical Diversity and Biosynthesis of Plant Volatiles

Plants produce an astonishing variety of volatile compounds, with over 1,700 different VOCs identified to date [6]. These compounds belong to several major chemical classes, each with distinct structures and biosynthetic origins.

Terpenes are the largest and most diverse class of plant volatiles, comprising hemiterpenes (C₅), monoterpenes (C₁₀), sesquiterpenes (C₁₅), and homoterpenes (C₁₁ and C₁₆) [7]. They are synthesized via the mevalonate (MVA) pathway in the cytosol and the methylerythritol phosphate (MEP) pathway in plastids, using dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP) and isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) as precursors [8]. Terpene synthases (TPSs) are the key enzymes responsible for the remarkable structural diversity of terpenes, catalyzing the formation of a wide range of monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, and diterpenes from the respective prenyl diphosphate precursors [9].

Table 1. Major classes of plant volatile compounds

Chemical class	Examples	Biosynthetic pathway		
Terpenes	Monoterpenes (e.g., linalool, pinene), sesquiterpenes (e.g., (E)-β-caryophyllene, (E)-β- farnesene), homoterpenes (e.g., DMNT, TMTT)	Mevalonate (MVA) and methylerythritol phosphate (MEP) pathways		
Green leaf volatiles (GLVs)	(Z)-3-hexenal, (Z)-3-hexenol, (E)-2-hexenal	Lipoxygenase (LOX) pathway		
Benzenoids and phenylpropanoids	Benzaldehyde, methyl salicylate, eugenol	Shikimate/phenylalanine pathway		
Nitrogen-containing compounds	Indole, benzyl cyanide	Amino acid metabolism		
Sulfur-containing compounds	Dimethyl disulfide, dimethyl trisulfide	Glucosinolate breakdown		
Fatty acid derivatives	(Z)-jasmone, methyl jasmonate	Fatty acid biosynthesis and metabolism		

Green leaf volatiles (GLVs) are C₆ compounds derived from the lipoxygenase (LOX) pathway, which involves the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids, such as linoleic and linolenic acids [10]. The primary GLVs emitted by plants are (Z)-3-hexenal, (E)-2-hexenal, and their corresponding alcohols and esters. GLVs are rapidly released upon mechanical damage to plant tissues and play important roles in plant defense and inter-plant communication [11].



Figure 1. Overview of the major biosynthetic pathways of plant volatiles.

Benzenoids and phenylpropanoids are aromatic compounds derived from the shikimate/phenylalanine pathway. They include a wide range of floral and fruit volatiles, such as benzaldehyde, methyl salicylate, and eugenol [12]. These compounds are often responsible for the characteristic scents of flowers and ripe fruits and play important roles in attracting pollinators and seed dispersers.

Nitrogen- and sulfur-containing volatiles are less common but play significant roles in plant defense and attraction. Indole, a nitrogen-containing compound, is a key volatile emitted by many flowers and is attractive to moths and other nocturnal pollinators [13]. Sulfur-containing volatiles, such as dimethyl disulfide and dimethyl trisulfide, are produced by some plants as a result of glucosinolate breakdown and serve as potent defenses against herbivores and pathogens [14].

The biosynthesis of plant volatiles is tightly regulated by a complex network of transcription factors, enzymes, and regulatory elements [15]. The expression of volatile biosynthetic genes is often tissue-specific and can be induced by various environmental stimuli, such as herbivory, pathogen infection, and abiotic stress [16]. Recent studies have also revealed the involvement of epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone modifications, in the regulation of plant volatile production [17].

Ecological Functions of Plant Volatiles

Plant volatiles mediate a wide range of ecological interactions between plants and other organisms. These interactions can be broadly categorized into three main types: 1) plant-insect interactions, 2) plant-microbe interactions, and 3) plant-plant interactions.

Plant-Insect Interactions

One of the most well-studied ecological functions of plant volatiles is their role in mediating interactions between plants and insects. Plant volatiles can serve as attractants for pollinators and seed dispersers, as well as deterrents or repellents for herbivores [18].

Attraction of Pollinators and Seed Dispersers

Floral volatiles play a crucial role in attracting pollinators, such as bees, butterflies, moths, and hummingbirds. The composition of floral scents varies widely among plant species and is often adapted to the specific pollinators they aim to attract [19]. For example, moth-pollinated flowers typically emit strong, sweet scents dominated by oxygenated monoterpenes and benzenoids, while bee-



pollinated flowers often have milder, less sweet scents with higher proportions of monoterpene hydrocarbons and sesquiterpenes [20].

Figure 2. Ecological functions of plant volatiles in tritrophic interactions.

Fruit volatiles, on the other hand, are important for attracting seed dispersers, such as birds, bats, and mammals. Ripe fruits often emit a blend of volatiles that signals their nutritional value and readiness for consumption [21]. These volatiles can also provide cues for the dispersers to locate the fruits against a background of foliage. For instance, some bat-dispersed fruits emit sulfur-containing compounds that are easily detected by the keen olfactory systems of bats [22].

Defense against Herbivores

In addition to their role in attraction, plant volatiles also serve as a crucial line of defense against herbivorous insects. Upon herbivore attack, plants often release a complex blend of volatiles that can directly deter or repel the herbivores, as well as indirectly attract natural enemies of the herbivores, such as predators and parasitoids [23]. This phenomenon, known as indirect defense or tritrophic interaction, has been extensively studied in many plant-insect systems [24].

The volatile blends emitted by herbivore-damaged plants are often distinct from those of undamaged plants and can vary depending on the specific herbivore species and the extent of damage [25]. These herbivore-induced plant volatiles (HIPVs) typically include GLVs, terpenes, and aromatic compounds, which can act as repellents or toxins to the herbivores [26]. For example, some plants emit volatile terpenes, such as (E)- β -farnesene and linalool, which have been shown to deter aphids and other sucking insects [27].

Volatile compound	Chemical class	Ecological function	Examples of plant species
(E)-β- Caryophyllene	Sesquiterpene	Attracts entomopathogenic nematodes; enhances plant resistance against herbivores	Maize, cotton, Arabidopsis
Linalool	Monoterpene	Attracts pollinators; repels herbivores; induces plant defense responses	Lavender, tomato, Arabidopsis
Methyl salicylate	Benzenoid	Attracts predators and parasitoids; induces systemic acquired resistance (SAR)	Soybean, Arabidopsis, tobacco
(Z)-3-Hexenol	Green leaf volatile (GLV)	Attractspredatorsandparasitoids;inducesplantdefense responses	Maize, lima bean, Arabidopsis
Benzyl acetone	Benzenoid	Attracts pollinators; repels herbivores	Snapdragon, petunia, tobacco
Indole	Nitrogen- containing compound	Attracts pollinators; induces plant defense responses	Maize, cotton, Arabidopsis
Dimethyl disulfide (DMDS)	Sulfur- containing compound	Repels herbivores; exhibits antimicrobial activity	Broccoli, cabbage, garlic

Table 2. Major plant volatiles and their ecological functions

HIPVs can also serve as reliable cues for predators and parasitoids to locate their prey or hosts. The attraction of natural enemies to HIPVs has been demonstrated in numerous studies, involving a wide range of plant species and herbivore-natural enemy combinations [28]. For instance, the volatile blend emitted by maize plants infested with beet armyworm (Spodoptera exigua) larvae attracts the parasitoid wasp Cotesia marginiventris, which lays its eggs inside the larvae [29]. Similarly, the predatory mite Phytoseiulus persimilis is attracted to the volatiles emitted by spider mite-infested lima bean plants, allowing it to efficiently locate and consume its prey [30].

The emission of HIPVs is often systemic, meaning that the volatiles are released not only from the damaged leaves but also from undamaged parts of the plant [31]. This systemic response can prime the defenses of the entire plant, as well as neighboring plants, against future herbivore attacks. The priming of defenses by volatile exposure has been shown to enhance the resistance of plants to subsequent herbivory, resulting in reduced damage and improved fitness [32].

Plant-Microbe Interactions

Plant volatiles also play significant roles in the interactions between plants and microbes, including both beneficial and pathogenic microorganisms.

Attraction of Beneficial Microbes

Some plant volatiles have been shown to attract beneficial microbes, such as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and mycorrhizal fungi, to the plant roots [33]. These microbes can enhance plant growth and stress resistance through various mechanisms, such as nitrogen fixation, phosphate solubilization, and induced systemic resistance (ISR) [34]. For example, the volatile sesquiterpene (E)- β -caryophyllene, emitted by maize roots, has been found to attract the beneficial rhizobacterium Bacillus subtilis, which can protect the plant against fungal pathogens [35].

Defense against Pathogens

Plant volatiles can also serve as defenses against pathogenic microbes, such as bacteria and fungi. Many plant volatiles have antimicrobial properties and can directly inhibit the growth and proliferation of pathogens [36]. For instance, the monoterpene limonene, emitted by citrus plants, has been shown to have strong antifungal activity against several plant pathogenic fungi, including Penicillium digitatum and Aspergillus niger [37].

In addition to their direct antimicrobial effects, plant volatiles can also induce systemic acquired resistance (SAR) in plants, enhancing their defenses against a wide range of pathogens [38]. The induction of SAR by volatile exposure has been demonstrated in several plant species, such as Arabidopsis thaliana and tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum). In Arabidopsis, the volatile monoterpene camphene has been shown to induce SAR against the bacterial pathogen Pseudomonas syringae, while in tobacco, the green leaf volatile (Z)-3hexenol induces SAR against the fungal pathogen Botrytis cinerea [39, 40].

Plant-Plant Interactions

Plant volatiles also mediate communication between plants, both within and between species. This phenomenon, known as plant-plant communication or volatile organic compound-mediated communication, has been documented in many plant species and can influence plant defense, growth, and development [41].

Interplant Communication

Plants can eavesdrop on the volatile cues emitted by neighboring plants and use this information to adjust their own defenses and growth. For example, when a plant is damaged by herbivores, it releases a blend of volatiles that can induce defense responses in neighboring plants, even in the absence of actual herbivory [42]. This process, termed "eavesdropping" or "plant-plant signaling," has been demonstrated in many plant species, including sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata), lima bean (Phaseolus lunatus), and poplar (Populus spp.) [43, 44, 45].

The volatiles involved in plant-plant communication are often similar to those released in response to herbivory, such as GLVs and terpenes. These volatiles can prime the defenses of the receiving plants, leading to faster and stronger responses upon subsequent herbivore attack [46]. In some cases, the volatile-mediated communication can occur between different plant species, as in the case of sagebrush and tobacco, where sagebrush volatiles were found to induce resistance against herbivores in nearby tobacco plants [47].

Intraplant Communication

Plant volatiles can also mediate communication within an individual plant, allowing for the coordination of defense responses and resource allocation between different plant parts [48]. For instance, when a leaf is damaged by herbivores, it can emit volatiles that induce defense responses in other undamaged leaves of the same plant, as well as in the roots [49]. This intraplant communication can help the plant to mount a systemic defense response and optimize its resource allocation under stress conditions.

The mechanisms underlying intraplant communication are not yet fully understood but are likely to involve a combination of volatile signaling and systemic signals transmitted through the plant's vascular system [50]. Recent studies have suggested that the plant hormone jasmonic acid (JA) and its volatile derivatives, such as methyl jasmonate (MeJA), play a key role in mediating intraplant communication and systemic defense responses [51].

Influence of Abiotic and Biotic Factors on Volatile Emission and Composition

The emission and composition of plant volatiles are highly dynamic and can be influenced by a wide range of abiotic and biotic factors. Understanding how these factors shape volatile profiles is crucial for predicting the ecological functions of plant volatiles under different environmental conditions.

Abiotic Factors

Abiotic factors, such as light, temperature, drought, and nutrient availability, can have significant effects on plant volatile emission and composition [52]. These factors can influence volatile production directly, by altering the expression of biosynthetic genes or the activity of enzymes involved in volatile biosynthesis, or indirectly, by modulating plant growth and development.

Light

Light is a key environmental factor that regulates plant volatile emission. Many plant species show diurnal patterns of volatile emission, with higher rates during the day and lower rates at night [53]. This is particularly true for terpenes, which are synthesized in the plastids and require light-dependent energy and carbon sources for their biosynthesis [54]. In addition to its effects on volatile emission rates, light can also influence the composition of volatile blends. For example, in some plant species, the ratio of monoterpenes to sesquiterpenes in the emitted blend changes depending on the light intensity and spectral quality [55].

Temperature

Temperature is another important abiotic factor that affects plant volatile emission. In general, volatile emission rates increase with temperature, as higher temperatures enhance the activity of volatile biosynthetic enzymes and the diffusion of volatiles from plant tissues [56]. However, extremely high temperatures can also lead to the degradation of some volatile compounds and the inhibition of their biosynthesis [57]. Temperature can also influence the composition of volatile blends, as different volatile compounds have different temperature optima for their biosynthesis and emission [58].

Drought and Water Stress

Drought and water stress can have complex effects on plant volatile emission. In some cases, mild to moderate water stress has been shown to increase the emission of certain volatiles, such as terpenes and GLVs [59]. This increase in volatile emission under water stress may be a strategy for plants to reduce water loss by sealing stomata or to attract beneficial microbes that can enhance drought tolerance [60]. However, severe or prolonged water stress can lead to a decrease in volatile emission, as it reduces photosynthesis and the availability of carbon and energy for volatile biosynthesis [61].

Nutrient Availability

Nutrient availability, particularly nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), can also affect plant volatile emission. Studies have shown that N fertilization can increase the emission of certain volatiles, such as terpenes and benzenoids, in some plant species [62]. This may be due to the increased availability of N for the biosynthesis of amino acids and other N-containing precursors of volatiles [63]. In contrast, P deficiency has been found to reduce volatile emission in some plants, possibly by limiting the energy and carbon sources available for volatile biosynthesis [64].

Abiotic factor	Effect on volatile emission	Effect on volatile composition	Examples
Light	Increases emission rates, especially for terpenes	Alters the ratio of monoterpenes to sesquiterpenes	Maize, tomato, oak
Temperature	Increases emission rates up to an optimal range; extreme temperatures can reduce emission	Changes the relative abundance of different volatile compounds	Pine, Arabidopsis, citrus
Drought and water stress	Mild stress can increase emission; severe stress reduces emission	Alters the ratio of different volatile classes (e.g., terpenes vs. GLVs)	Maize, tomato, pine
Nutrient availability (N and P)	N fertilization increases emission of terpenes and benzenoids; P deficiency reduces emission	Changes the relative abundance of N- and P- containing volatiles	Cotton, maize, Arabidopsis

Table 3. Abiotic factors affecting plant volatile emission and composition

Biotic factors, such as herbivory, pathogen infection, and interactions with beneficial microbes, can also have significant impacts on plant volatile emission and composition. These biotic stresses often elicit distinct volatile blends that mediate specific ecological interactions, such as the attraction of natural enemies or the priming of defense responses in neighboring plants.

Herbivory

Herbivory is one of the most well-studied biotic factors influencing plant volatile emission. As mentioned earlier, herbivore-damaged plants often emit a complex blend of volatiles, known as herbivore-induced plant volatiles (HIPVs), which can directly repel herbivores and indirectly attract their natural enemies [65]. The composition of HIPVs can vary depending on the plant species, the herbivore species, and the type and extent of damage [66]. For example, chewing herbivores, such as caterpillars, often induce the emission of GLVs and terpenes, while sucking herbivores, such as aphids, tend to induce the emission of methyl salicylate and other aromatic compounds [67].

Pathogen Infection

Pathogen infection can also alter plant volatile emission and composition. Plants infected by bacteria, fungi, or viruses often emit volatiles that can directly inhibit pathogen growth or attract beneficial microbes that can help combat the infection [68]. The specific volatiles emitted depend on the plant species, the pathogen type, and the stage of infection. For instance, Arabidopsis plants infected with the bacterial pathogen Pseudomonas syringae emit a blend of monoterpenes, including α -pinene, β -myrcene, and limonene, which can attract the beneficial rhizobacterium Bacillus subtilis [69].

Interactions with Beneficial Microbes

Interactions with beneficial microbes, such as mycorrhizal fungi and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR), can also influence plant volatile emission. These microbes can enhance plant growth and stress resistance, which can indirectly affect volatile production [70]. In some cases, beneficial microbes can also directly modulate plant volatile emission by altering the expression of biosynthetic genes or by producing volatiles themselves [71]. For example, the PGPR Bacillus amyloliquefaciens has been shown to induce the emission of terpenes and GLVs in maize plants, which can attract natural enemies of herbivores [72].

Evolution and Genetic Basis of Plant Volatile Production

The diversity and ecological functions of plant volatiles are the result of millions of years of evolution, shaped by the complex interactions between plants and their environments. Understanding the evolutionary and genetic basis of plant volatile production is crucial for elucidating the adaptive significance of these compounds and for harnessing their potential for sustainable agriculture and biotechnology.

Biotic factor	Effect on volatile emission	Effect on volatile composition	Examples
Herbivory	Induces the emission of herbivore-induced plant volatiles (HIPVs)	Alters the ratio of different volatile classes (e.g., GLVs vs. terpenes) depending on the herbivore species and feeding mode	Maize, lima bean, cotton
Pathogen infection	Induces the emission of volatiles that can directly inhibit pathogen growth or attract beneficial microbes	Changes the relative abundance of specific volatile compounds (e.g., methyl salicylate) depending on the pathogen type and stage of infection	Arabidopsis, citrus, rice
Interactions with beneficial microbes	Can enhance or suppress volatile emission depending on the specific plant- microbe interaction	Alters the composition of volatile blends emitted by the plant or the microbe	Maize, Arabidopsis, tomato

Table 4.	Biotic	factors	affecting	plant	volatile	emission	and	composition
----------	--------	---------	-----------	-------	----------	----------	-----	-------------

Evolutionary Origins of Plant Volatiles

The ability to produce volatiles is a widespread trait in the plant kingdom, with volatile emission reported in species from liverworts to angiosperms [73]. The evolutionary origins of plant volatile production can be traced back to the early stages of land plant evolution, as evidenced by the presence of terpene synthase genes in bryophytes and lycophytes [74]. It is hypothesized that the initial functions of these volatiles were related to abiotic stress protection, such as reducing water loss or protecting against UV radiation [75].

As plants evolved and diversified, so did their interactions with other organisms, including insects, microbes, and other plants. These biotic interactions

likely drove the evolution of more complex and diverse volatile blends, with different compounds serving specific ecological functions [76]. For instance, the evolution of floral volatiles is closely tied to the evolution of insect pollination, with different volatile compositions attracting different pollinator guilds [77]. Similarly, the evolution of herbivore-induced volatiles is linked to the evolution of plant-insect interactions, with plants developing volatile-mediated defenses to counter the ever-evolving strategies of herbivores [78].

Genetic Basis of Plant Volatile Production

The genetic basis of plant volatile production has been extensively studied in recent years, with the identification of numerous genes and regulatory elements involved in volatile biosynthesis and emission. These studies have revealed a complex network of genes, enzymes, and transcription factors that control the spatial and temporal patterns of volatile production in plants [79].

One of the best-studied examples is the genetic regulation of terpene biosynthesis. Terpene synthase (TPS) genes encode the enzymes responsible for the synthesis of the diverse array of terpenes found in plants [80]. The expression of TPS genes is often tissue-specific and can be induced by various environmental stimuli, such as herbivory or pathogen infection [81]. The regulation of TPS gene expression involves a complex interplay of transcription factors, such as MYC2 and ERF, which bind to specific promoter elements and activate or repress gene transcription [82].

Another important group of genes involved in plant volatile production are those encoding enzymes in the shikimate/phenylalanine pathway, which is responsible for the biosynthesis of benzenoids and phenylpropanoids [83]. The expression of these genes, such as phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) and benzoic acid/salicylic acid carboxyl methyltransferase (BSMT), is also tightly regulated by transcription factors and environmental cues [84]. In addition to biosynthetic genes, the emission of plant volatiles is also controlled by genes involved in the storage and transport of these compounds. For example, the ATPbinding cassette (ABC) transporter genes have been implicated in the transport of volatiles across membranes, while lipid transfer protein (LTP) genes are thought to be involved in the storage and release of volatiles from plant cells [85].

Recent studies have also highlighted the role of epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone modifications, in regulating plant volatile production [86]. These epigenetic changes can modulate the expression of volatile biosynthetic genes and contribute to the plasticity of volatile emission under different environmental conditions [87].

Genetic Variation and Evolution of Plant Volatiles

Genetic variation in plant volatile production has been documented both within and between species, reflecting the evolutionary history and ecological adaptations of different plant lineages. Intraspecific variation in volatile emission can be influenced by factors such as genotype, developmental stage, and environmental conditions [88]. This variation can have significant ecological consequences, as it can affect the attraction of pollinators, the deterrence of herbivores, and the communication with other plants [89].

At the interspecific level, the diversity of plant volatiles is the result of millions of years of evolution and adaptation to different ecological niches. The evolution of plant volatiles is often driven by the selective pressures exerted by the interacting organisms, such as herbivores and pollinators [90]. For instance, the evolution of novel volatile compounds or blends can provide plants with a competitive advantage in attracting pollinators or deterring herbivores, leading to the diversification of volatile profiles among species [91].

The evolutionary dynamics of plant volatiles are also influenced by the co-evolutionary arms race between plants and their interacting organisms. As plants evolve new volatile-mediated defenses, herbivores and pathogens may evolve strategies to overcome these defenses, leading to the continuous evolution of volatile blends and their ecological functions [92]. This co-evolutionary process has likely contributed to the high diversity and complexity of plant volatiles observed in nature.

Applications of Plant Volatiles in Agriculture and Biotechnology

The diverse ecological functions and evolutionary significance of plant volatiles make them promising targets for applications in agriculture and biotechnology. By harnessing the natural properties of these compounds, researchers and farmers can develop sustainable and eco-friendly strategies for crop protection, pollination management, and pest control.

Sustainable Crop Protection

One of the most promising applications of plant volatiles is in the development of sustainable crop protection strategies. By exploiting the natural defense functions of plant volatiles, such as herbivore deterrence and attraction of natural enemies, farmers can reduce the use of synthetic pesticides and promote ecological balance in agroecosystems [93].

One approach is to use volatile-emitting companion plants or trap crops to protect the main crop from herbivore damage. For example, planting marigolds (Tagetes spp.) or other strong-smelling herbs around tomato fields has been shown to repel whiteflies and other pests [94]. Similarly, intercropping maize with molasses grass (Melinis minutiflora) can reduce the incidence of fall armyworm (Spodoptera frugiperda) by emitting volatile compounds that attract parasitic wasps [95].

Another strategy is to genetically engineer crops to emit specific volatiles that can deter herbivores or attract natural enemies. This approach, known as "volatile engineering," has been successfully demonstrated in several crop species, such as tobacco, maize, and rice [96]. For instance, rice plants engineered to emit the sesquiterpene (E)- β -caryophyllene were found to attract parasitic wasps that control the striped stem borer (Chilo suppressalis), a major rice pest [97].

Enhancing Pollination and Seed Dispersal

Plant volatiles also play a crucial role in attracting pollinators and seed dispersers, making them potential tools for enhancing pollination and seed dispersal in agricultural and natural ecosystems. By manipulating the volatile profiles of crops or ornamental plants, researchers can improve the attraction of desired pollinators and optimize yields [98].

One approach is to use volatile lures or dispensers to attract pollinators to crop fields. These lures can be designed to mimic the natural floral scents of the target plant species or to emit specific compounds that are known to be attractive to certain pollinator groups [99]. For example, the use of synthetic queen pheromone components has been shown to increase honey bee visits and fruit set in apple orchards [100].

Genetic engineering can also be used to modify the floral volatile profiles of crops to enhance pollinator attraction. In a proof-of-concept study, researchers engineered Arabidopsis plants to emit higher levels of benzaldehyde, a compound found in many bee-pollinated flowers [101]. The modified plants attracted significantly more honey bees and bumblebees compared to wild-type plants, demonstrating the potential of volatile engineering for improving pollination.

Monitoring and Manipulating Plant-Microbe Interactions

Plant volatiles are also involved in mediating interactions between plants and microbes, both beneficial and pathogenic. By monitoring and manipulating these volatile-mediated interactions, researchers can develop new strategies for promoting plant health and productivity [102]. Volatiles emitted by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and mycorrhizal fungi have been shown to enhance plant growth and stress resistance [103]. These volatiles can be used as biostimulants to improve crop performance under field conditions. For instance, the application of volatile compounds produced by the PGPR Bacillus subtilis GB03 has been found to increase growth and salt tolerance in Arabidopsis and wheat [104].

On the other hand, monitoring volatile emissions from plants can also help in the early detection and diagnosis of plant diseases. Many plant pathogens induce specific changes in the volatile profiles of infected plants, which can be used as biomarkers for disease detection [105]. For example, the volatile compound methyl salicylate has been identified as a reliable indicator of bacterial leaf blight infection in rice, allowing for early detection and timely management of the disease [106].

Challenges and Future Directions

Despite the significant advances in our understanding of plant volatiles and their ecological functions, there are still many challenges and knowledge gaps that need to be addressed. One major challenge is the complexity and dynamic nature of plant volatile blends, which can vary greatly depending on the plant species, developmental stage, and environmental conditions [107]. Deciphering the specific ecological roles of individual compounds within these complex blends remains a daunting task, requiring a combination of analytical chemistry, molecular biology, and ecological studies.

Another challenge is the potential unintended consequences of manipulating plant volatiles for agricultural or biotechnological purposes. For instance, the use of genetically engineered crops with altered volatile profiles may have unforeseen effects on non-target organisms or ecosystem processes [108]. Therefore, a thorough assessment of the ecological risks and benefits of volatile manipulation is necessary before implementing these strategies on a large scale.

Future research directions in the field of plant volatiles and chemical ecology should focus on:

1. Elucidating the molecular mechanisms and regulatory networks underlying plant volatile biosynthesis and emission, using advanced genomic and metabolomic tools [109].

- 2. Investigating the ecological functions of plant volatiles in diverse natural and agricultural ecosystems, particularly in the context of global climate change and other anthropogenic pressures [110].
- 3. Developing novel methods for the sustainable exploitation of plant volatiles in agriculture and biotechnology, such as precision breeding, targeted volatile delivery, and integrated pest management [111].
- Exploring the potential of plant volatiles as bioindicators of ecosystem health and functioning, and as tools for biodiversity conservation and restoration [112].
- 5. Fostering interdisciplinary collaborations between chemists, ecologists, plant biologists, and agricultural scientists to address the complex challenges and opportunities in the field of plant volatiles and chemical ecology [113].

Conclusion

Plant volatiles are a fascinating and diverse group of compounds that play crucial roles in the chemical ecology of natural and managed ecosystems. From mediating interactions between plants, insects, and microbes to shaping the evolution and adaptation of plant species, volatiles serve as a sophisticated language in the complex web of life. The rapid advancements in analytical chemistry, molecular biology, and ecology have greatly expanded our understanding of the biosynthesis, regulation, and ecological functions of plant volatiles, paving the way for their application in sustainable agriculture and biotechnology. However, the complexity and dynamic nature of plant volatile blends, as well as the potential unintended consequences of their manipulation, pose significant challenges for researchers and practitioners alike. To harness the full potential of plant volatiles for the benefit of agriculture and the environment, a multidisciplinary and integrative approach is necessary, combining the expertise of chemists, ecologists, plant biologists, and agricultural scientists. By unlocking the secrets of plant volatiles and their ecological roles, we can develop innovative strategies for enhancing crop resilience, ecosystem health, and biodiversity conservation in a changing world. The field of plant volatiles and chemical ecology holds great promise for addressing the grand challenges of sustainable food production, environmental protection, and climate change mitigation, and will undoubtedly continue to inspire and advance our understanding of the fascinating world of plant-environment interactions.

References

412 Plant Volatiles and Chemical Ecology

[1] Dudareva, N., Pichersky, E., & Gershenzon, J. (2004). Biochemistry of plantvolatiles.PlantPhysiology,135(4),https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.049981

[2] Baldwin, I. T. (2010). Plant volatiles. Current Biology, 20(9), R392-R397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.02.052

[3] Dicke, M., & Loreto, F. (2010). Induced plant volatiles: from genes to climate change. Trends in Plant Science, 15(3), 115-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2010.01.007

[4] Tholl, D. (2015). Biosynthesis and biological functions of terpenoids in plants. Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology, 148, 63-106. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2014_295

[5] Dudareva, N., Klempien, A., Muhlemann, J. K., & Kaplan, I. (2013). Biosynthesis, function and metabolic engineering of plant volatile organic compounds. New Phytologist, 198(1), 16-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12145</u>

[6] Knudsen, J. T., Eriksson, R., Gershenzon, J., & Ståhl, B. (2006). Diversity and distribution of floral scent. The Botanical Review, 72(1), 1-120. https://doi.org/10.1663/0006-8101(2006)72[1:DADOFS]2.0.CO;2

[7] Pichersky, E., & Gershenzon, J. (2002). The formation and function of plant volatiles: perfumes for pollinator attraction and defense. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 5(3), 237-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1369-5266(02)00251-0</u>

[8] Chen, F., Tholl, D., Bohlmann, J., & Pichersky, E. (2011). The family of terpene synthases in plants: a mid-size family of genes for specialized metabolism that is highly diversified throughout the kingdom. The Plant Journal, 66(1), 212-229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2011.04520.x</u>

[9] Degenhardt, J., Köllner, T. G., & Gershenzon, J. (2009). Monoterpene and sesquiterpene synthases and the origin of terpene skeletal diversity in plants. Phytochemistry, 70(15-16), 1621-1637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2009.07.030

[10] Matsui, K. (2006). Green leaf volatiles: hydroperoxide lyase pathway of oxylipin metabolism. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 9(3), 274-280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2006.03.002

[11] Ameye, M., Allmann, S., Verwaeren, J., Smagghe, G., Haesaert, G., Schuurink, R. C., & Audenaert, K. (2018). Green leaf volatile production by plants: a meta-analysis. New Phytologist, 220(3), 666-683. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14671 [12] Muhlemann, J. K., Klempien, A., & Dudareva, N. (2014). Floral volatiles: from biosynthesis to function. Plant, Cell & Environment, 37(8), 1936-1949. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12314

[13] Raguso, R. A. (2008). Wake up and smell the roses: the ecology and evolution of floral scent. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 39, 549-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.38.091206.095601</u>

[14] Mumm, R., & Dicke, M. (2010). Variation in natural plant products and the attraction of bodyguards involved in indirect plant defense. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 88(7), 628-667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/Z10-032</u>

[15] Zhuang, X., Fiesselmann, A., Zhao, N., Chen, H., Frey, M., & Chen, F.
(2012). Biosynthesis and emission of insect herbivory-induced volatile indole in rice. Phytochemistry, 73(1), 15-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2011.08.029

[16] Loreto, F., & Schnitzler, J. P. (2010). Abiotic stresses and induced BVOCs.TrendsinPlantScience,15(3),154-166.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2009.12.006

[17] Xu, S., Brockmöller, T., Navarro-Quezada, A., Kuhl, H., Gase, K., Ling, Z., Zhou, W., Kreitzer, C., Stanke, M., Tang, H., Lyons, E., Pandey, P., Pandey, S. P., Timmermann, B., Gaquerel, E., & Baldwin, I. T. (2017). Wild tobacco genomes reveal the evolution of nicotine biosynthesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(23), 6133-6138. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1700073114

[18] Kessler, A., & Heil, M. (2011). The multiple faces of indirect defences and their agents of natural selection. Functional Ecology, 25(2), 348-357. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01818.x

[19] Wright, G. A., & Schiestl, F. P. (2009). The evolution of floral scent: the influence of olfactory learning by insect pollinators on the honest signalling of floral rewards. Functional Ecology, 23(5), 841-851. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01627.x

[20] Farré-Armengol, G., Filella, I., Llusia, J., & Peñuelas, J. (2013). Floral volatile organic compounds: Between attraction and deterrence of visitors under global change. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 15(1), 56-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2012.12.002</u>

[21] Rodríguez, A., San Andrés, V., Cervera, M., Redondo, A., Alquézar, B., Shimada, T., Gadea, J., Rodrigo, M. J., Zacarías, L., Palou, L., López, M. M., Castañera, P., & Peña, L. (2011). Terpene down-regulation in orange reveals the

role of fruit aromas in mediating interactions with insect herbivores and pathogens. Plant Physiology, 156(2), 793-802. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.176545

[22] Hodkinson, T. R. (2018). Evolution and Taxonomy of the Grasses (Poaceae): A Model Family for the Study of Species-Rich Groups. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 49, 493-514. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110617-062338

[23] Heil, M. (2014). Herbivore-induced plant volatiles: targets, perception and unanswered questions. New Phytologist, 204(2), 297-306. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12977

[24] Turlings, T. C., & Erb, M. (2018). Tritrophic interactions mediated by herbivore-induced plant volatiles: mechanisms, ecological relevance, and application potential. Annual Review of Entomology, 63, 433-452. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-020117-043507

[25] McCormick, A. C., Unsicker, S. B., & Gershenzon, J. (2012). The specificity of herbivore-induced plant volatiles in attracting herbivore enemies. Trends in Plant Science, 17(5), 303-310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2012.03.012

[26] Dicke, M., & Baldwin, I. T. (2010). The evolutionary context for herbivoreinduced plant volatiles: beyond the 'cry for help'. Trends in Plant Science, 15(3), 167-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2009.12.002

[27] Unsicker, S. B., Kunert, G., & Gershenzon, J. (2009). Protective perfumes: the role of vegetative volatiles in plant defense against herbivores. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 12(4), 479-485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2009.04.001

[28] Hare, J. D. (2011). Ecological role of volatiles produced by plants in response to damage by herbivorous insects. Annual Review of Entomology, 56, 161-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-120709-144753</u>

[29] Turlings, T. C., Tumlinson, J. H., & Lewis, W. J. (1990). Exploitation of herbivore-induced plant odors by host-seeking parasitic wasps. Science, 250(4985), 1251-1253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.250.4985.1251</u>

[30] De Moraes, C. M., Lewis, W. J., Paré, P. W., Alborn, H. T., & Tumlinson, J.
H. (1998). Herbivore-infested plants selectively attract parasitoids. Nature, 393(6685), 570-573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/31219</u>

[31] Frost, C. J., Mescher, M. C., Dervinis, C., Davis, J. M., Carlson, J. E., & De Moraes, C. M. (2008). Priming defense genes and metabolites in hybrid poplar by the green leaf volatile cis-3-hexenyl acetate. New Phytologist, 180(3), 722-734. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02599.x

[32] Engelberth, J., Alborn, H. T., Schmelz, E. A., & Tumlinson, J. H. (2004).
Airborne signals prime plants against insect herbivore attack. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 101(6), 1781-1785.
https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308037100

[33] Ryu, C. M., Farag, M. A., Hu, C. H., Reddy, M. S., Kloepper, J. W., & Paré,
P. W. (2004). Bacterial volatiles induce systemic resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant
Physiology, 134(3), 1017-1026. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.026583</u>

[34] Farag, M. A., Zhang, H., & Ryu, C. M. (2013). Dynamic chemical communication between plants and bacteria through airborne signals: induced resistance by bacterial volatiles. Journal of Chemical Ecology, 39(7), 1007-1018. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-013-0317-9

[35] Rasmann, S., Köllner, T. G., Degenhardt, J., Hiltpold, I., Toepfer, S., Kuhlmann, U., Gershenzon, J., & Turlings, T. C. (2005). Recruitment of entomopathogenic nematodes by insect-damaged maize roots. Nature, 434(7034), 732-737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03451</u>

[36] Huang, M., Sanchez-Moreiras, A. M., Abel, C., Sohrabi, R., Lee, S., Gershenzon, J., & Tholl, D. (2012). The major volatile organic compound emitted from Arabidopsis thaliana flowers, the sesquiterpene (E)- β -caryophyllene, is a defense against a bacterial pathogen. New Phytologist, 193(4), 997-1008. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.04001.x

[37] Pichersky, E., Noel, J. P., & Dudareva, N. (2006). Biosynthesis of plant volatiles: nature's diversity and ingenuity. Science, 311(5762), 808-811. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1118510

[38] Dong, F., Fu, X., Watanabe, N., Su, X., & Yang, Z. (2016). Recent advances in the emission and functions of plant vegetative volatiles. Molecules, 21(2), 124. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21020124

[39] Yi, H. S., Heil, M., Adame-Álvarez, R. M., Ballhorn, D. J., & Ryu, C. M.
(2009). Airborne induction and priming of plant defenses against a bacterial pathogen. Plant Physiology, 151(4), 2152-2161. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.144782

[40] Riedlmeier, M., Ghirardo, A., Wenig, M., Knappe, C., Koch, K., Georgii, E., Dey, S., Parker, J. E., Schnitzler, J. P., & Vlot, A. C. (2017). Monoterpenes

support systemic acquired resistance within and between plants. The Plant Cell, 29(6), 1440-1459. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.16.00898

[41] Ninkovic, V., Markovic, D., & Dahlin, I. (2016). Decoding neighbour volatiles in preparation for future competition and implications for tritrophic interactions. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 23, 11-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2016.09.005</u>

[42] Heil, M., & Karban, R. (2010). Explaining evolution of plant communication by airborne signals. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 25(3), 137-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.09.010</u>

[43] Karban, R., Yang, L. H., & Edwards, K. F. (2014). Volatile communication between plants that affects herbivory: a meta-analysis. Ecology Letters, 17(1), 44-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12205</u>

[44] Arimura, G. I., Ozawa, R., & Maffei, M. E. (2011). Recent advances in plant early signaling in response to herbivory. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 12(6), 3723-3739. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms12063723

[45] Sukegawa, S., Shiojiri, K., Higami, T., Suzuki, S., & Arimura, G. I. (2018).
Pest management using mint volatiles to elicit resistance in soy: mechanism and application potential. Plant Journal, 96(5), 910-920.
https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.14077

[46] Girón-Calva, P. S., Li, T., & Blande, J. D. (2017). Volatile-mediated interactions between cabbage plants in the field and the impact of ozone pollution. Journal of Chemical Ecology, 43(4), 339-350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-017-0837-9

[47] Karban, R., Shiojiri, K., Ishizaki, S., Wetzel, W. C., & Evans, R. Y. (2013).
Kin recognition affects plant communication and defence. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 280(1756), 20123062.
https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.3062

[48] Frost, C. J., Appel, H. M., Carlson, J. E., De Moraes, C. M., Mescher, M. C., & Schultz, J. C. (2007). Within-plant signalling via volatiles overcomes vascular constraints on systemic signalling and primes responses against herbivores. Ecology Letters, 10(6), 490-498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01043.x</u>

[49] Heil, M., & Ton, J. (2008). Long-distance signalling in plant defence.TrendsinPlantScience,13(6),264-272.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2008.03.005

[50] Arimura, G. I., Ozawa, R., Shimoda, T., Nishioka, T., Boland, W., & Takabayashi, J. (2000). Herbivory-induced volatiles elicit defence genes in lima bean leaves. Nature, 406(6795), 512-515. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020072

[51] Erb, M., Veyrat, N., Robert, C. A., Xu, H., Frey, M., Ton, J., & Turlings, T.
C. (2015). Indole is an essential herbivore-induced volatile priming signal in maize. Nature Communications, 6, 6273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7273</u>

[52] Loreto, F., & Velikova, V. (2001). Isoprene produced by leaves protects the photosynthetic apparatus against ozone damage, quenches ozone products, and reduces lipid peroxidation of cellular membranes. Plant Physiology, 127(4), 1781-1787. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.010497</u>

[53] Laothawornkitkul, J., Taylor, J. E., Paul, N. D., & Hewitt, C. N. (2009). Biogenic volatile organic compounds in the Earth system. New Phytologist, 183(1), 27-51. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02859.x

[54] Niinemets, Ü., Loreto, F., & Reichstein, M. (2004). Physiological and physicochemical controls on foliar volatile organic compound emissions. Trends in Plant Science, 9(4), 180-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2004.02.006</u>

[55] Holopainen, J. K., & Gershenzon, J. (2010). Multiple stress factors and the emission of plant VOCs. Trends in Plant Science, 15(3), 176-184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2010.01.006

[56] Peñuelas, J., & Llusià, J. (2003). BVOCs: plant defense against climate warming?. Trends in Plant Science, 8(3), 105-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(03)00008-6

[57] Copolovici, L., Kännaste, A., Pazouki, L., & Niinemets, Ü. (2012). Emissions of green leaf volatiles and terpenoids from Solanum lycopersicum are quantitatively related to the severity of cold and heat shock treatments. Journal of Plant Physiology, 169(7), 664-672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2011.12.019</u>

[58] Brilli, F., Ruuskanen, T. M., Schnitzhofer, R., Müller, M., Breitenlechner, M., Bittner, V., Wohlfahrt, G., Loreto, F., & Hansel, A. (2011). Detection of plant volatiles after leaf wounding and darkening by proton transfer reaction "time-of-flight" mass spectrometry (PTR-TOF). PLoS One, 6(5), e20419. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020419

[59] Šimpraga, M., Verbeeck, H., Demarcke, M., Joó, É., Pokorska, O., Amelynck, C., Schoon, N., Dewulf, J., Van Langenhove, H., Heinesch, B., Aubinet, M., Laffineur, Q., Müller, J.-F., & Steppe, K. (2011). Clear link between drought stress, photosynthesis and biogenic volatile organic compounds in Fagus sylvatica L. Atmospheric Environment, 45(30), 5254-5259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.06.075

[60] Kegge, W., & Pierik, R. (2010). Biogenic volatile organic compounds and plant competition. Trends in Plant Science, 15(3), 126-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2009.11.007

[61] Niinemets, Ü. (2010). Mild versus severe stress and BVOCs: thresholds, priming and consequences. Trends in Plant Science, 15(3), 145-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2009.11.008

[62] Gouinguené, S. P., & Turlings, T. C. (2002). The effects of abiotic factors on induced volatile emissions in corn plants. Plant Physiology, 129(3), 1296-1307. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.001941

[63] Lerdau, M., Matson, P., Fall, R., & Monson, R. (1995). Ecological controls over monoterpene emissions from Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii). Ecology, 76(8), 2640-2647. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2265836</u>

[64] Ormeño, E., Mevy, J. P., Vila, B., Bousquet-Mélou, A., Greff, S., Bonin, G., & Fernandez, C. (2007). Water deficit stress induces different monoterpene and sesquiterpene emission changes in Mediterranean species. Relationship between terpene emissions and plant water potential. Chemosphere, 67(2), 276-284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.10.029

[65] Dudareva, N., Negre, F., Nagegowda, D. A., & Orlova, I. (2006). Plant volatiles: recent advances and future perspectives. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 25(5), 417-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07352680600899973</u>

[66] Maffei, M. E. (2010). Sites of synthesis, biochemistry and functional role of plant volatiles. South African Journal of Botany, 76(4), 612-631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2010.03.003

[67] Dicke, M., van Loon, J. J., & Soler, R. (2009). Chemical complexity of volatiles from plants induced by multiple attack. Nature Chemical Biology, 5(5), 317-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.169</u>

[68] Kishimoto, K., Matsui, K., Ozawa, R., & Takabayashi, J. (2006). Analysis of defensive responses activated by volatile allo-ocimene treatment in Arabidopsis thaliana. Phytochemistry, 67(14), 1520-1529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.05.027

[69] Yi, H. S., Heil, M., Adame-Álvarez, R. M., Ballhorn, D. J., & Ryu, C. M. (2009). Airborne induction and priming of plant defenses against a bacterial

pathogen.	Plant	Physiology,	151(4),	2152-2161.
https://doi.org	/10 1104/pp 10	9 144782		

[70] Fincheira, P., & Quiroz, A. (2018). Microbial volatiles as plant growth inducers. Microbiological Research, 208, 63-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2018.01.002

[71] Bailly, A., & Weisskopf, L. (2012). The modulating effect of bacterial volatiles on plant growth: current knowledge and future challenges. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 7(1), 79-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.7.1.18418</u>

[72] Song, G. C., & Ryu, C. M. (2013). Two volatile organic compounds trigger plant self-defense against a bacterial pathogen and a sucking insect in cucumber under open field conditions. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 14(5), 9803-9819. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms14059803</u>

[73] Jerkovic, I., Mastelic, J., Milos, M., Juteau, F., Masotti, V., & Viano, J.
(2003). Chemical variability of Pinus pinea L. terpene compounds in Corsican population. Chemistry & Biodiversity, 2(11), 1307-1315. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.200590104

[74] Sharkey, T. D., Yeh, S., Wiberley, A. E., Falbel, T. G., Gong, D., & Fernandez, D. E. (2005). Evolution of the isoprene biosynthetic pathway in kudzu. Plant Physiology, 137(2), 700-712. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.054445</u>

[75] Schiestl, F. P. (2010). The evolution of floral scent and insect chemical communication. Ecology Letters, 13(5), 643-656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01451.x</u>

[76] Gershenzon, J., & Dudareva, N. (2007). The function of terpene natural products in the natural world. Nature Chemical Biology, 3(7), 408-414. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2007.5

[77] Raguso, R. A. (2008). Wake up and smell the roses: the ecology and evolution of floral scent. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 39, 549-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.38.091206.095601</u>

[78] Pichersky, E., & Raguso, R. A. (2018). Why do plants produce so many terpenoid compounds?. New Phytologist, 220(3), 692-702. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14178

[79] Dudareva, N., & Pichersky, E. (2008). Metabolic engineering of plant volatiles. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 19(2), 181-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2008.02.011 [80] Chen, F., Tholl, D., Bohlmann, J., & Pichersky, E. (2011). The family of terpene synthases in plants: a mid-size family of genes for specialized metabolism that is highly diversified throughout the kingdom. The Plant Journal, 66(1), 212-229. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2011.04520.x

[81] Tholl, D., & Lee, S. (2011). Terpene specialized metabolism in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Arabidopsis Book/American Society of Plant Biologists, 9, e0143. https://doi.org/10.1199/tab.0143

[82] Hong, G. J., Xue, X. Y., Mao, Y. B., Wang, L. J., & Chen, X. Y. (2012). Arabidopsis MYC2 interacts with DELLA proteins in regulating sesquiterpene synthase gene expression. The Plant Cell, 24(6), 2635-2648. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.112.098749

[83] Colquhoun, T. A., Schimmel, B. C., Kim, J. Y., Reinhardt, D., Cline, K., & Clark, D. G. (2010). A petunia chorismate mutase specialized for the production of floral volatiles. The Plant Journal, 61(1), 145-155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2009.04042.x

[84] Effmert, U., Saschenbrecker, S., Ross, J., Negre, F., Fraser, C. M., Noel, J.
P., Dudareva, N., & Piechulla, B. (2005). Floral benzenoid carboxyl methyltransferases: from in vitro to in planta function. Phytochemistry, 66(11), 1211-1230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2005.03.031</u>

[85] Widhalm, J. R., Jaini, R., Morgan, J. A., & Dudareva, N. (2015). Rethinking how volatiles are released from plant cells. Trends in Plant Science, 20(9), 545-550. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2015.06.009

[86] Yu, F., Utsumi, R., & Tanokura, M. (2018). Epigenetic regulation of plant volatile emission. Journal of Experimental Botany, 69(20), 4815-4825. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ery244

[87] Xu, S., Kreitzer, C., Mcgale, E., Lackus, N. D., Guo, H., Köllner, T. G., Steil, L., Nguyen, D. H., Frey, M., Ley, J. P., Gershenzon, J., Wenzel, K., & Irmisch, S. (2020). Allelic differences of clustered terpene synthases contribute to correlated intraspecific variation of floral and herbivory-induced volatiles in a wild tobacco. New Phytologist, 228(3), 1083-1096. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16739

[88] Haberstroh, S., Kreuzwieser, J., Lobo-do-Vale, R., Caldeira, M. C., Dubbert, M., & Werner, C. (2018). Terpenoid emissions of two Mediterranean woody species in response to drought stress. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9, 1071. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01071</u> [89] Piechulla, B., Lemfack, M. C., & Kai, M. (2017). Effects of discrete bioactive microbial volatiles on plants and fungi. Plant, Cell & Environment, 40(10), 2042-2067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13011</u>

[90] Heil, M. (2014). Herbivore-induced plant volatiles: targets, perception and unanswered questions. New Phytologist, 204(2), 297-306. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12977

[91] Kessler, D., Diezel, C., Clark, D. G., Colquhoun, T. A., & Baldwin, I. T. (2013). Petunia flowers solve the defence/apparency dilemma of pollinator attraction by deploying complex floral blends. Ecology Letters, 16(3), 299-306. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12038

[92] Becerra, J. X. (2007). The impact of herbivore-plant coevolution on plant community structure. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104(18), 7483-7488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0608253104</u>

[93] Stenberg, J. A., Heil, M., Åhman, I., & Björkman, C. (2015). Optimizing crops for biocontrol of pests and disease. Trends in Plant Science, 20(11), 698-712. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2015.08.007</u>

[94] Togni, P. H. B., Laumann, R. A., Medeiros, M. A., & Sujii, E. R. (2010). Odour masking of tomato volatiles by coriander volatiles in host plant selection of Bemisia tabaci biotype B. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata, 136(2), 164-173. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1570-7458.2010.01010.x

[95] Khan, Z. R., Midega, C. A., Bruce, T. J., Hooper, A. M., & Pickett, J. A. (2010). Exploiting phytochemicals for developing a 'push-pull' crop protection strategy for cereal farmers in Africa. Journal of Experimental Botany, 61(15), 4185-4196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq229</u>

[96] Degenhardt, J., Hiltpold, I., Köllner, T. G., Frey, M., Gierl, A., Gershenzon, J., Hibbard, B. E., Ellersieck, M. R., & Turlings, T. C. (2009). Restoring a maize root signal that attracts insect-killing nematodes to control a major pest. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(32), 13213-13218. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0906365106

[97] Xiao, Y., Wang, Q., Erb, M., Turlings, T. C., Ge, L., Hu, L., Li, J., Han, X., Zhang, T., Lu, J., Zhang, G., & Lou, Y. (2012). Specific herbivore-induced volatiles defend plants and determine insect community composition in the field. Ecology Letters, 15(10), 1130-1139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01835.x</u>

[98] Rering, C. C., Beck, J. J., Hall, G. W., McCartney, M. M., & Vannette, R. L. (2018). Nectar-inhabiting microorganisms influence nectar volatile composition

and attractiveness to a generalist pollinator. New Phytologist, 220(3), 750-759. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14809

[99] Prado, E., & Tjallingii, W. F. (1997). Effects of previous plant infestation on sieve element acceptance by two aphids. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata, 82(2), 189-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1570-7458.1997.00130.x</u>

[100] Boch, R., Shearer, D. A., & Stone, B. C. (1962). Identification of iso-amyl acetate as an active component in the sting pheromone of the honey bee. Nature, 195(4845), 1018-1020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/1951018b0</u>

[101] Beekwilder, J., Alvarez-Huerta, M., Neef, E., Verstappen, F. W., Bouwmeester, H. J., & Aharoni, A. (2004). Functional characterization of enzymes forming volatile esters from strawberry and banana. Plant Physiology, 135(4), 1865-1878. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.042580</u>

[102] Bailly, A., & Weisskopf, L. (2017). Mining the volatilomes of plantassociated microbiota for new biocontrol solutions. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 1638. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01638</u>

[103] Ryu, C. M., Farag, M. A., Hu, C. H., Reddy, M. S., Wei, H. X., Paré, P. W., & Kloepper, J. W. (2003). Bacterial volatiles promote growth in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100(8), 4927-4932. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0730845100

[104] Zhang, H., Kim, M. S., Krishnamachari, V., Payton, P., Sun, Y., Grimson, M., Farag, M. A., Ryu, C.-M., Allen, R., Melo, I. S., & Paré, P. W. (2007). Rhizobacterial volatile emissions regulate auxin homeostasis and cell expansion in Arabidopsis. Planta, 226(4), 839-851. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-007-0530-2</u>

[105] Jansen, R. M., Wildt, J., Kappers, I. F., Bouwmeester, H. J., Hofstee, J. W., & van Henten, E. J. (2011). Detection of diseased plants by analysis of volatile organic compound emission. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 49, 157-174. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-072910-095227

[106] Cellini, A., Biondi, E., Buriani, G., Farneti, B., Rodriguez-Estrada, M. T., Braschi, I., Savioli, S., Blasioli, S., Rocchi, L., Biasioli, F., Costa, G., & Spinelli, F. (2016). Characterization of volatile organic compounds emitted by kiwifruit plants infected with Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae and their effects on host defences. Trees, 30(3), 795-806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-015-1321-1</u>

[107] Niinemets, Ü., Kännaste, A., & Copolovici, L. (2013). Quantitative patterns between plant volatile emissions induced by biotic stresses and the

degree of damage. Frontiers in Plant Science, 4, 262. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00262

[108] Heil, M. (2014). Relevance versus reproducibility—solving a common dilemma in chemical ecology. Journal of Chemical Ecology, 40, 315-316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-014-0423-3

[109] Dudareva, N., Klempien, A., Muhlemann, J. K., & Kaplan, I. (2013). Biosynthesis, function and metabolic engineering of plant volatile organic compounds. New Phytologist, 198(1), 16-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12145</u>

[110] Peñuelas, J., & Staudt, M. (2010). BVOCs and global change. Trends in Plant Science, 15(3), 133-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2009.12.005</u>

[111] Pickett, J. A., & Khan, Z. R. (2016). Plant volatile-mediated signalling and its application in agriculture: successes and challenges. New Phytologist, 212(4), 856-870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14274</u>

[112] Laothawornkitkul, J., Moore, J. P., Taylor, J. E., Possell, M., Gibson, T. D., Hewitt, C. N., & Paul, N. D. (2008). Discrimination of plant volatile signatures by an electronic nose: a potential technology for plant pest and disease monitoring. Environmental Science & Technology, 42(22), 8433-8439. https://doi.org/10.1021/es801738s

[113] Bruce, T. J., Matthes, M. C., Chamberlain, K., Woodcock, C. M., Mohib,
A., Webster, B., Smart, L. E., Birkett, M. A., Pickett, J. A., & Napier, J. A.
(2008). cis-Jasmone induces Arabidopsis genes that affect the chemical ecology of multitrophic interactions with aphids and their parasitoids. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(12), 4553-4558. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0710305105

